SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report





Tracking Trends in a Time of Change: The Need for Radical Action Towards Sustainable Transport Decarbonisation





About the SLOCAT Partnership

SLOCAT is the international multi-stakeholder partnership that enables collaborative knowledge and action for sustainable, low carbon transport and brings the voice of the movement into international climate change and sustainability processes. With a primary focus on land transport, and a geographic footprint targeted at the Global South; we deliver on our mission through three mutually-reinforcing work streams; namely knowledge and policy analysis; advocacy and engagement, and dialogue and networking. Our Partnership engages a vibrant international, multi-stakeholder ecosystem of over 90 entities across transport sectors associations, knowledge and academia, governments, multilateral organisations, NGOs, philanthropy and industry; as well as a large community of world-class experts and change-makers. By going there where others do not or cannot go individually, our inclusive, multi-stakeholder Partnership is leveraged to set ambitious global agendas and catalyse new thinking and solutions for the urgent transformation of mobility systems.





Transport Actions for Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals

SLOCAT is committed to articulate the breadth of positive interactions between sustainable, low carbon transport and mobility and the United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.

Sustainable, low carbon mobility is a powerful driver for positive, systemic transformation of our societies. While sustainable, low carbon transport and mobility is not represented by a stand-alone Sustainable Development Goal (SDG), its successful implementation supports the achievement of almost every SDG.



About the Report

The SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition tells the global and regional stories of where we are and where we need to get to urgently on climate action in the transport sector. With contributions from more than 150 world-class experts and organisations, it is a one-stop shop for the latest available data, targets and developments on transport demand, emissions, policies and measures - showing that it is imperative to accelerate radical action for sustainable transport and climate in this time of unprecedented global change.



This report, launched in June 2021, aims to capture data and trends from the period between 2018 and early 2021. Throughout the analysis, the most recent publicly accessible data were used. These data are also provided in the Transport and Knowledge Base (TraKB), an open-source database that has been curated by SLOCAT over the years and that has been updated in conjunction with this second edition of the report.

The report intends to provide a balanced perspective and examples of policy measures, targets, etc. across both the Global North and South. Illustrative measures and case studies from different geographies are provided, with the aim of emphasising new activities in developing and emerging economies where possible.

This edition of the report was guided by a global strategy team consisting of 20 experts from development agencies, intergovernmental organisations, multilateral development banks, multi-stakeholder partnerships, non-governmental organisations, United Nations regional commissions and research organisations. The creation of this report also has relied on the expertise of more than 100 individual contributors as special advisors, section authors, feedback team members and peer reviewers, among other roles (see detailed list in Acknowledgements).

The report has been made possible thanks to financial support from Agence Française de Développement (AFD) and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ).

How to navigate this report

Modular approach: While the report can be downloaded as a single file and read from start to finish, sections of interest can also be accessed individually via the website at tcc-gsr.com.

Structure: The report is divided into five main sections. Sources for the information provided are listed at the end of each section, and cross-references among sections are included where relevant. The five main sections are as follows (and described in detail below):

- C Executive Summary
- Section 1: Global Overview
- 2 Section 2: Transport Demand, Emissions and Targets
- 3 Section 3: Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector
- 4 Section 4: Financing Climate Action in Transport

The *Executive Summary* summarises the trends and conclusions of the report and highlights threats, opportunities and uncertainties for climate action in the transport sector. The Summary describes escalating transport demand and emission trends through 2019 as well as the temporary disruption to these trends following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. The Summary presents three scenarios for climate action in the transport sector: 1) following a *business-as-usual approach* to mobility patterns and investments; 2) continuing *incremental progress* on mitigation and increasing adaptation measures; and 3) creating a *radical change* in transport behaviour and investment. The Summary underscores the imperative of radical action to put transport decarbonisation on the right track.



The remaining sections are divided into relevant sub-sections, each of which highlights key findings on transport demand, emissions, policy measures and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Section 1 - **Global Overview** examines progress towards decarbonising transport on a global scale and includes subsections on each of the six global regions as defined by United Nations classification: Africa, Asia, Europe, Latin America and the Caribbean, North America and Oceania.

Section 2 - Transport Demand, Emissions and Targets assesses transport demand and emission trends in more detail and showcases low carbon pathways for 2050, with a focus on the various transport modes and their impact on emissions. The sub-sections outline the trends in demand and emissions for key areas such as urbanisation, infrastructure development, the carbon efficiency of transport modes, and the decoupling of economic prosperity and emissions.

Section 3 - Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector details transport decarbonisation within climate and development plans such as the Nationally Determined Contributions and Long-Term Strategies under the Paris Agreement. It then outlines climate mitigation and resilience actions across 10 major thematic areas: sustainable mobility planning and transport demand management, walking and cycling, urban passenger and freight transport, passenger and freight railways, shared mobility services, fuel economy, electric mobility, renewable energy in transport, aviation and shipping. Section 4 - Financing Climate Action in Transport provides an overview of the current investment landscape, showing how climate finance and national investments for sustainable transport modes have developed in recent years.

Additionally, **seven Focus Features** put a spotlight on important cross-cutting issues: improving access to opportunities, adaptation policy measures in the transport sector, behavioural change in transport as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, gender and sustainable mobility, the health impacts of transport, paratransit as a complement to formal transport networks, and multistakeholder mobilisation for climate action.

Moreover, **31 Country Fact Sheets** were developed for countries that had the highest absolute transport carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions in 2019. These fact sheets present data on transport demand, emission trends and measures taken at the national level towards achieving a decarbonised, sustainable transport system. Of the 31 countries covered, 8 are in Africa (Algeria, Angola, Egypt, Ghana, Kenya, Morocco, Nigeria and South Africa), 8 are in Latin America and the Caribbean (Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Mexico and Peru), 6 are in Asia (China, India, Indonesia, Iran, Japan and Saudi Arabia), 5 are in Europe (France, Germany, Italy, the Russian Federation and the United Kingdom), 2 are in North America (Canada and the United States) and 2 are in Oceania (Australia and New Zealand).

Disclaimer

SLOCAT releases issue papers and reports to enable collaborative knowledge and action for sustainable, low carbon transport. While SLOCAT papers and reports have benefited from the considerations and input from the SLOCAT community, they do not necessarily represent a consensus among network participants on any given point. Although the information given in this report is the best available to the authors at the time, SLOCAT and its participants cannot be held liable for its accuracy and correctness. The designations employed and the presentation of material in the maps in this report do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever concerning the legal status of any region, country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, and is without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers or boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

Acknowledgements

This report should be cited as:

SLOCAT (2021), Tracking Trends in a Time of Change: The Need for Radical Action Towards Sustainable Transport Decarbonisation, Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition, www.tcc-gsr.com.

Data access and licensing:

Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) Share — copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format. Adapt — remix, transform and build upon the material for any purpose. Attribution — you must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the licence and indicate if changes were made.

\odot

The development of this report was led by Maruxa Cardama, Angel Cortez, Nicolas Cruz, Angela Enriquez, Emily Hosek, Karl Peet, Nikola Medimorec, Arturo Steinvorth and Alice Yiu from the secretariat of the SLOCAT Partnership.

Our warm thanks to the many SLOCAT partners and experts from the wider transport community who have shaped this report. A significant share of the research for this report was conducted on a voluntary basis.

Financial supporters

This edition of the *Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report* has been made possible thanks to financial support from Agence Française de Développement (AFD) and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ).

Strategy team members

(alphabetical by affiliation's full name):

Suzanne Spooner (*AFD*), Carolina Chantrill (*Asociación Sustentar / LEDS LAC*), Nicholas You (*Citistates*), André Eckermann and Friedel Sehlleier (*GIZ*), Tsu Jui Cheng and Tu My Tran (*ICLEI*), Jacob Mason (*ITDP*), Philip Turner (*UITP*), Jacob Teter and Jacopo Tattini (*IEA*), Maisarah Abdul Kadir and Nicholas Wagner (*IRENA*), Wei-Shiuen Ng (*ITF*), Olatunji Yusuf (*ISDB*), Hannah E. Murdock (*REN21*), José Holguin-Veras (*RPI*), Madan Bandhu Regmi (*UNESCAP*), Yarob Badr (*UNESCWA*), Bronwen Thornton (*Walk21*), Thiago Hérick de Sa (*WHO*), Benjamin Welle (*WRI*).

Special advisor

Holger Dalkmann (Sustain2030)

Contributing authors by section

- 1 1.1 Global Transport and Climate Change: Nikola Medimorec (SLOCAT Secretariat)
 - **1.2 Africa Regional Overview:** Karl Peet (*SLOCAT Secretariat*)
 - **1.3 Asia Regional Overview:** Angel Cortez (*SLOCAT Secretariat*)
 - **1.4 Europe Regional Overview:** Angel Cortez and Nicolas Cruz (*SLOCAT Secretariat*)
 - 1.5 Latin America and the Caribbean Regional Overview: Emily Hosek and Arturo Steinvorth (*SLOCAT Secretariat*)
 - 1.6 North America Regional Overview: Carlos Pardo (*NUMO*), Angela Enriquez (*SLOCAT Secretariat*)
 - **1.7 Oceania Regional Overview:** Angel Cortez and Karl Peet (*SLOCAT Secretariat*)
- 2.1. Transport Trends: Tali Trigg (Independent), Nikola Medimorec (SLOCAT Secretariat)
 - 2.2. Transport Emissions: Tali Trigg (Independent), Nikola Medimorec (SLOCAT Secretariat)
 - 2.3. Low Carbon Transport Pathways: Tali Trigg (Independent), Nikola Medimorec (SLOCAT Secretariat)
 - 3.1. Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector: Emily Hosek, Nikola Medimorec and Karl Peet (SLOCAT Secretariat)
 - **3.2. Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Management:** Karl Peet (*SLOCAT Secretariat*), Dario Hidalgo (*WRI*)
 - 3.3. Walking and Cycling: Marina Moscoso Mendonça and Thomas Van Laake (Despacio), Daniel Sauter (Measuring Walking), Bronwen Thornton (Walk21)
 - 3.4. Urban Passenger and Freight Transport: Agnivesh Pani (*University of Memphis*), Angel Cortez and Nikola Medimorec (*SLOCAT Secretariat*)
 - 3.5. Passenger and Freight Railways: Marie Luz-Philippe (UIC)
 - **3.6. Shared Mobility Services:** Carlos Pardo (*NUMO*)
 - 3.7. Fuel Economy:
 - Richard Clarke and Sheila Watson (GFEI)
 - 3.8. Electric Mobility:

Margarita Parra (*Clean Energy Works*), O. P. Agarwal and Neha Yadar (*WRI*)

3.9. Renewable Energy in Transport:

Maisarah Abdul Kadir and Nicholas Wagner (*IRENA*), Hannah Murdock and Flavia Guerra (*REN21*)

3.10.Aviation:

Karl Peet (SLOCAT Secretariat)

3.11.Shipping:

Karl Peet (SLOCAT Secretariat)

4. Financing Climate Action in Transport:

Angel Cortez, Emily Hosek, Nikola Medimorec and Karl Peet (SLOCAT Secretariat)

Atef Soliman (Fuel Economy, Sustainable

	F.1 Impacts of Erika Martin	the COVID-19 pandemic on travel behaviour: Is Silva Ramos (University of Gothenburg)		Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management), Atef Gerges (Gatef)
	F.2 Addressing	climate change and improving access to	Estonia	Mari Jüssi (Estonian Road Administration)
	opportunit	ies: Benjamin Welle (<i>WRI</i>)	Gambia,	Demba Baldeh (<i>Gambia College</i>)
	F.3 Adaptation	policy measures in the transport sector:	Republic of	
	Jan Brooke	(PIANC)	Georgia	Gela Kvashilava (Partnership for Road Safety)
	F.4 Gender and	a sustainable mobility:	Ghana	Adokwei Addo (National Health Insurance
	E F Hoalth imp	la Solelo (UN Women)		Authority), Daniel Asatra Tibu (Centre for
	Thíago de S	a (WHO)		Sustainable Tourism, Environment and
	F.6 Paratransit	as a complement to formal transport networks:		Chibeze Ezekiel (Strategic Youth Network for
	Stanford Tu	rner (<i>ITDP</i>)		Development)
	F.7 Multi-stake	holder mobilisation for climate action in	Guatemala	Andres Aleiandro Calderón Vargas (Rafael
	transport: A	Angela Enriquez and Alice Yiu (SLOCAT Secretariat)		Landivar University / Independent)
			India	Parimal Parashar (Svyam Bane Gopal)
	Section revi	ewers and contributors	Indonesia	Sukma Larastiti (Transportologi)
	Cecile Textier (A	lstom), Leonardo Paoli (IEA), Adam Cohen and	Japan	Masaru Kumai (Eco-Mo Foundation)
	Susan Shaheen	(UC Berkeley)	Jordan	Mona Labadi (University of Saint Joseph –
\mathbf{O}	Executive e	immony authors and contributors		Beirut)
	Executive St	All Helger Dellymenn, Angele Enriquez and Kerl Dest	Kenya	Kaluki Paul Mutuku (<i>350 Kenya</i>), Francisco
	IVIAI UXA Cal UAI II	a, Holger Dalkmann, Angela Ennquez and Kan Peel		Achwoka (Ben-Gurion University of The
				Negev), Faith Njagi (KenGrow Foundation),
Q	National foc	al points		Pauline Atieno Owiti (Parvati Foundation),
	Afghanistan	Mohammad Sameem Raheemi (Ministry of	Liboria	Arthur P. M. Bocker (Environmental Protection
		Transport)	Liberia	Adency of Liberia)
	Bangladesh	Md. Nurul Islam Biplob (British Council,	Malavsia	Nithi Nesadurai (Environmental Protection
		Bangladesh), Muhammad Abdur Rahaman	,	Society Malavsia), Ahmad Jais Alimin
		(Climate Change Adaptation, Mitigation		(Universiti Tun Hussein Onn Malaysia),
		Experiment & Training (CAMET) Park), Md.		Nadhrah A Kadir (Universiti Sains Malaysia),
		Abdur Rakib Khan (<i>Cox's Bazar Development</i>		Azlin Mohd Azmi (Universiti Teknologi MARA)
		Authonity), Monammad Manbubur Ranman	Mali	Adama Toure (Ministry of Higher Education
		(NCC B))		and Scientific Research (MESRS))
	Bhutan	Om Katel (Roval University of Bhutan)	Mexico	José Gil (German Cooperation for Sustainable
	Bolivia	Luis De La Torre (<i>Repsol</i>), Ilias Siddigui (<i>World</i>	N I	Development (GIZ))
	(Plurinational State of)	Youth Bank Network)	Nepal	Shambhu KC (Freelancer / former
	Brazil	André Luiz Lopes Toledo (Federal Institute of		Joint Secretary In the Ministry of Orban
		Rio Grande do Norte (IFRN)); Guilherme Lara		(NEEDS) Bajani Shakya (Bural Area
		Camargos Tampieri (Nossa BH and Federal		Development Programme (RADP))
		University of Minas Gerais (UFMG))	Nigeria	Freeman Elohor Oluowo (African Centre
	Cameroon	Raphael Mbuh (First Modern Agro. Tools –		for Climate Actions and Rural Development
		Common Initiative Group (FI.MO.AT.C.I.G))		(ACCARD) Initiative), Asabe Shehu Yar'Adua
	Costa Rica	Arturo Steinvorth Alvarez (Centro Para la		(Asabe Shehu Yar'adua Foundation
		Sostenibilidad Urbana)		(ASYARFS)), Ibrahim Aminu (Bank of
	Cote a IVolre	Abuel Kader Kone (UNG Les Bras Unis)		Agriculture), Akachukwu Okafor (Change
	Republic of the	Dunal Dayula (IVIII IIstly IVI Transports and Communications) Adolard Kazadi (Ministry of		Partners International), Anthony Alex
	Congo	Environment and Sustainable Development		
		Bernard Lutete Di Lutete (Save the Climat		Faivetole (Federal University of Technology
		(NGO in Consultative Status with UN		Akure, Nigeria), Emmanuel John (Ochenuel
		ECOSOC))		Mobility), Iwuoha Emmanuel Uchenna
	Ecuador	Katherine Latorre Hernández (GAD Municipal		(University of Nigeria)
		Cuenca), Antonio Chamorro (Secretaría de	North	Daniel Pavleski (City of Skopie)

Movilidad del Municipio de Quito)

Egypt

Q Focus Features authors

griculture), Akachukwu Okafor (Change Partners International), Anthony Alex kinola (Environment and Development Advocates (EDA)), Ayodele Adekunle Faiyetole (Federal University of Technology kure, Nigeria), Emmanuel John (Ochenuel Nobility), Iwuoha Emmanuel Uchenna University of Nigeria) Daniel Pavleski (City of Skopje)

Macedonia

Pakistan	Abdul Khalique (<i>Board of Investment</i>), Shayan
	Zuberi (National University of Science and
	Technology)
Papua New	Christian Lohberger (Climate Change and
Guinea	Development Authority)
Peru	Luis De La Torre (<i>Repsol</i>)
Philippines	Maria Golda Hilario (Institute for Climate and
	Sustainable Cities (ICSC))
Rwanda	Michelle DeFreese (Global Green Growth
	Institute (GGGI))
Senegal	Gallo Diop (Club Ohada Thies)
Serbia	Aleksandar Nikolić (Municipality of Vrbas
	/Serbia), Vladimir Djoric and Vladimir
	Momčilović (University of Belgrade – Faculty of
	Transport and Traffic Engineering)
South Sudan	Emmanuel Longo (South Sudan Sustainable
	Solutions Development Network)
Sri Lanka	Eranda Roshan Fernando (Chamber of
	Commerce)
Тодо	Alimou Lembo (Association Global Humaniste)
Turkey	Deger Saygin (SHURA Energy Transition
	Center)
Uganda	John Mark Mwanika (Amalgamated Transport
	and General Workers Union)
Ukraine	Iryna Bondarenko (<i>Ecoaction</i>)
Zambia	Absalom Sakala (Ministry of Lands, Natural
	Resources and Environmental Protection,
	Government of Zambia)
Zimbabwe	Ignatius Gutsa (University of Zimbabwe)
Eastern Africa	Henry Kamau (Sustainable Transport Africa)
Africa	Satya P. Bindra (UNDESA Focal Point Libya)
Latin America	Heloisa Schneider (ECLAC)
Europe	Florinda Boschetti (Polis Network)

E. Murdock and Hend Yaqoob (REN21); Sreenivas Chigullapalli (Rural Technology Action Group); Luis De La Torre (Repsol); Bernard Lutete Di Lutete (Save the Climat); Antonio Chamorro (Secretaría de Movilidad del Municipio de Quito); Deger Saygin (SHURA Energy Transition Center); Holger Dalkmann (Sustain 2030); Andrew Murphy (T&E); Sukma Larastiti (Transportologi); Bhupendra Das (Tribhuvan University); Adam Cohen (UC Berkeley); Lucie Anderton and Philippe Stefanos (UIC); Janene Tuniz (UNEP); Madan Bandhu Regmi (UNESCAP); Jan Brooke (PIANC); Karla Solis (UNFCCC-Regional Collaboration Centre); Nadhrah A. Kadir (Universiti Sains Malaysia); Ahmad Jais Alimin (Universiti Tun Hussein Onn Malaysia); Vladimir Momčilović (University of Belgrade); Marie Venner (Venner Consulting); Dong Phoung Tran (Vietnam National University); Bronwen Thornton (Walk21); Annika Berlin (World Bank); Sebastian Castellanos and Benjamin Welle (WRI); Demba Baldeh (Independent); Tyrrell Duncan (Independent); José Gil (Independent); Shambhu KC (Independent); Paul Kompfner (Independent); Sara Paiva (Independent); Heloisa Schneider (Independent); Tanguy Tomes (Independent).

Editing, design and layout

Lisa Mastny (Editor)

Kadi (Design) - Alexander Moolman, Kerry Moolman, Madelie Snyman

Peer reviewers

Elah Matt (Astar Policy); Carolina Chantrill (Asociación Sustentar /LEDSLAC); Walter Cont (CAF); Seble Samuel (CCAFS); Arturo Steinvorth (Centro para la Sostenibilidad Urbana); Xumei Chen (China Urban Sustainable Transport Research Center); Margarita Parra (Clean Energy Works); Muhammad Abdur Rahaman (Climate Change Adaptation, Mitigation Experiment & Training Park); Cornie Huizenga (Climate and Environment Services Group); Jackie Klopp (Columbia University); Henrik Gudmundsson (CONCITO); Akachukwu Okafor (CPI); Marion Vieweg (Current Future); Iryna Bondarenko (Ecoaction); Katherine Latorre Hernández (GAD Municipal Cuenca); Daniel Bongardt, Urda Eichhorst, Herman Kwoba, Pablo Juica, Alexander Mahler, Christian Mettke, Martin Schaefer, Friedel Sehlleier, Nadja Taeger and Sasank Vemuri (GIZ); Alimou Lembo (Global Humaniste); Benoit Lefevre (IDB); Beatrice Ch'ng (ICLEI); André Luis Lopez Toledo (IFRN); Maisarah Abdul Kadir and Nicholas Wagner (IRENA); Wei-Shiuen Ng (ITF); Christopher Hitz (IRF); Stefan Bakker (KiM Netherlands Institute for Transport Policy Analysis); Heather Allen (Median scl); Aage Jorgensen (NDF); Mohammad Mahbubur Rahman (Network on Climate Change in Bangladesh); Jyot Chadha (WRI/NUMO); Emmanuel John (Ochenuel Mobility); Flavia Guerra, Hannah

Foreword



While the world continues to recover from the losses, hardships and disruptions of the COVID-19 pandemic, we are in a critical moment to collectively reflect on the future that we want and how we can achieve it.

With emissions from the transport sector growing faster than those from any other major economic sector, action in transport is needed urgently to deliver on the sustainable, low carbon future outlined in the goals of the Paris Agreement on climate change and of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.

The SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition continues the legacy of the report's inaugural edition to tell the global and regional stories of where we are and where we need to get to urgently on climate action in the transport sector. With contributions from more than 150 world-class experts and organisations, it is a one-stop shop for the latest available data, targets and developments on transport demand, emissions, policies and measures - showing that it is imperative to accelerate radical action for sustainable transport and climate in this time of unprecedented global change.

We hope this report helps identify some of the key levers of change in this uncertain time, and we look forward to continuing to track the latest developments in sustainable, low carbon transport for the next editions.

We warmly invite colleagues to continue to contribute more current and comprehensive data, amplify the analysis of this report, and use it to help reach our collective goal of mobility for an equitable world that is able to keep planetary warming below 1.5 degrees Celsius.

Bronwen Thornton

Chair, SLOCAT Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer, Walk21



We are excited to launch this second edition of the SLOCAT *Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report*, which introduces several new elements compared to the report's inaugural edition. These include seven "Focus Features" highlighting interlinkages of sustainable transport with broader sustainability themes, 31 country fact sheets taking a deep dive into progress at the national level, and an interactive website at www.tcc-gsr.com.

In addition, the Executive Summary summarises the trends and conclusions of the report and highlights threats, opportunities and uncertainties for climate action in the transport sector, illustrating the imperative for accelerating radical action. An updated version of the open-source SLOCAT Transport Knowledge Base that forms the basis of the report is also being released.

Driven by our passion for open-source data and knowledge, one of the aims of the SLOCAT *Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report* is to leverage the collective knowledge of the sustainable, low carbon transport community. Data are important to provide a comprehensive picture of the status of this field, and in this time of change they are essential for policy and investment decision making. We hope that this report can be a useful resource for the SLOCAT Partnership and beyond.

Our warmest gratitude goes to all the colleagues who have helped shape this report. It has been truly our honour to work with more than 150 world-class experts across transport sector associations, knowledge and academia, governments, multilateral organisations, non-governmental organisations, philanthropy and industry. A special thanks to the financial supporters of this edition, Agence Française de Développement (AFD) and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ).

Maruxa Cardama

Secretary General, SLOCAT Partnership

Q

66

246

248

250

Table of Contents

	List of Figures	11
0	Executive Summary for Decision Makers	14
1	Global Overview	27
Ĭ	Global Transport and Climate Change	28
	Africa Regional Overview	36
	Asia Regional Overview	44
	Europe Regional Overview	52
	Latin America and the Caribbean Regional Overview	62
	North America Regional Overview	73
	Oceania Regional Overview	80
2	Transport Demand, Emissions and Targets	87
	Transport Demand	88
	Transport Emissions	99
	Low Carbon Transport Pathways	107
3	Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector	116
	National Policy Frameworks for Transport and Climate Change	118
	Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management	128
	Walking and Cycling	138
	Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	149
	Passenger and Freight Railways	159
	Shared Mobility Services	167
	Fuel Economy	177
	Electric Mobility	186
	Renewable Energy in Transport	198
	Aviation	206
	Shipping	215
4	Financing Climate Action in Transport	223
Q	Focus Features	238
	Impact of COVID 19 on Travel Behaviour	239
	Addressing Climate Change and Improving Access to Opportunities	240
	Adaptation Policy Measures in the Transport Sector	242
	Gender and Sustainable Mobility	244

Health Impacts of Transport

Paratransit as a Complement to Formal Transport Networks

Multi-stakeholder Mobilisation for Climate Action in Transport

Country Fact Sheets	254
Algeria	256
Angola	258
Argentina	260
Australia	262
Bolivia	264
Brazil	266
Canada	268
Chile	270
China	272
Colombia	274
Ecuador	276
Egypt	278
France	280
Germany	282
Ghana	284
India	286
Indonesia	288
Iran	290
Italy	292
Japan	294
Kenya	296
Mexico	298
Могоссо	300
New Zealand	302
Nigeria	304
Peru	306
Russia	308
Saudi Arabia	310
South Africa	312
United Kingdom	314
United States of America	316
Annex: Methodological Note	318
Endnotos	320

List of Figures

Global Overview

Global Transport and Climate Change

Figure 1. Share of passenger transport activity (passenger-kilometres) by mode, 2015 and 2017	29
Figure 2. Share of freight transport activity (tonne-kilometres) by mode, 2015 and 2017	29
Figure 3. Transport CO ₂ emissions by mode, 2000-2018	30
Figure 4. Greenhouse gas emissions from transport, by mode, 2018	30
Figure 5. Share of transport emissions by region and in international aviation and shipping, 2010-2019	31
Figure 6. Growth in transport emissions by region and in international aviation and shipping, 2000-2019	31
Figure 7. Emission growth in international aviation versus shipping	32
Figure 8. Avoid-Shift-Improve Framework	33
Figure 9. Potential emission reductions resulting from actions in the A-S-I framework	34
Figure 10.COVID-19 impacts on CO ₂ emissions from land transport and domestic aviation	35

Africa Regional Overview

38
38
40
41

Asia Regional Overview

Figure 1 Car ownership rates per 1,000 people	in Asia, 2015 4	6
Figure 2. Growth in car ownership in Asia, 2005-	2015 4	6
Figure 3. Per capita transport CO2 emissions in A	Asia, 2019 44	8
Figure 4. Change in transport CO ₂ emissions in A	Asia, 2010-2019 4	9
Figure 4. Change in transport CO ₂ emissions in <i>I</i>	Asia, 2010-2019 4	2

Europe Regional Overview

Figure 1. Growth in car ownership in Europe, 2005-2015	54
Figure 2. Car ownership rates per 1000 people in Europe, 2015	54
Figure 3. Per capita transport CO ₂ emissions in Europe, 2019	56
Figure 4. Change in transport CO ₂ emissions in Europe, 2010-2019	56

Latin America and the Caribbean Regional Overview

Figure 1.	Car ownership rates per 1,000 people in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2015	65
Figure 2.	Growth in car ownership in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2005-2015	65
Figure 3.	Out-of-pocket costs to travel 7 kilometres, by transport mode, in selected cities in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2014	66
Figure 4.	Per capita transport $\rm CO_2emissions$ in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2019	66
Figure 5.	Change in transport \mbox{CO}_2 emissions in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010-2019	67
Figure 6.	Percentage of operation costs covered by ticket fares, selected cities in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2014	68

North America Regional Overview

Figure 1. Car ownership rates per 1,000 people in North America, 2015	75
Figure 2. Growth in car ownership in North America, 2005-2015	75
Figure 3. Change in transport CO ₂ emissions in North America, 2010-2019	76
Figure 4. Per capita transport CO ₂ emissions in North America, 2019	76

Oceania Regional Overview

Figure 1. Car ownership rates per 1,000 people in Oceania, 2015	82
Figure 2. Growth in car ownership in Oceania, 2005-2015	82
Figure 3. Per capita transport CO ₂ emissions in Oceania, 2019	83
Figure 4. Change in transport CO_2 emissions in Oceania, 2010-2019	84

2 Transport Demand, Emissions and Targets

Transport Demand

Figure 1. Drivers and impacts of transport demand, 2010-2019	90
Figure 2A. Total cost of ownership for cars	91
Figure 2B. Total cost of ownership for buses	91
Figure 2C. Total cost of ownership for trucks	92
Figure 3. Growth in bus rapid transit, metro systems and light rail transit, worldwide and by region, 2010-2020	94
Figure 4. High-speed rail development by region, 2010-2020	95
Figure 5. Vehicle sales in OECD and non-OECD countries, 2010-2019	96
Figure 6. Change of motorcycle fleet in India and Vietnam, 2010-2019	97
Transport Emissions	

Figure 1. Global CO ₂ emissions by sector, 2010-2019	101
Figure 2. Annual growth in transport CO ₂ emissions, 2018-2019	101
Figure 3. Share of SUVs in annual passenger car sales in selected countries and regions, 2010 and 2019	102
Figure 4. Decoupling of transport CO ₂ emissions and GDP, 2000-2019	103
Figure 5. Change in GDP and transport CO ₂ emissions in OECD and non-OECD countries, 2000-2018	104
Figure 6. Transport energy intensity by region and country, 2010-2019	105
Figure 7. Improvement of transport energy intensity in selected countries, 2000-2017	105
Figure 8. CO_2 emissions from ground transport, by country, 2020	106

Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Figure 1. CO ₂ emissions in Annex I countries by sector, 1990-2020	109
Figure 2. Transport emission pathways for the business-as-usual, 2 °C and 1.5 °C scenarios, 2018-2050	110
Figure 3. Comparison of business-as-usual projections for transport emissions, 2017 and 2019 studies	111
Figure 4. Projections for business-as-usual transport CO ₂ emissions, 2020-2050	111
Figure 5. Projected emission reductions resulting from various transport measures, 2030 and 2050	112
Figure 6. Projections for global electric vehicle fleet development, 2020-2030	113
Figure 7. Estimated mitigation potential of various low carbon transport options	114

Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector

National Policy Frameworks for Transport and Climate Change

Figure 1. Avoid, Shift and/or Improve transport measures in second-generation NDCs	121
Figure 2. Transport and the SDGs: Four cross-cutting themes	123
Figure 3. Shares of VNRs submitted in 2020 that connect transport with different SDGs	123
Figure 4. Transport measures in Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategies	125

Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management

Figure 1. Potential impacts of congestion charging in three cities in Latin America and the Caribbean	131
Figure 2. Overview of transport demand measures in 2019 and 2020	132
Figure 3. Sustainable urban mobility plans in Europe versus other regions, 2020	132
Figure 4. Responses to manage travel demand during the COVID-19 pandemic, by region, 2020	134
Figure 5. Transport in San Francisco by modal share, 2013-2018	136

SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition

Walking and Cycling

Figure 1. Share of trips by transport mode in selected cities, various years	140
Figure 2. Road fatalities by group in low-, middle- and high-income countries, 2016	141
Figure 3. Global capacity and \mbox{CO}_2 footprints for different transport modes and vehicles	142

Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Figure 1. Growth in major public transport systems (bus rapid transit,	
light rail and metro) by region, 2010-2020	151
Figure 2. Development of new urban rail systems, by region, 2010-2020	152
Figure 3. Evolution of bus rapid transit systems in cities worldwide, 1968-2020	152
Figure 4. Urban transport emissions by group in selected cities worldwide	154

Passenger and Freight Railways

Figure 1. Passenger rail activity by region, 2010-2018	160
Figure 2. Development of high-speed rail by country, 2010-2019	161
Figure 3. Freight rail activity by region, 2010-2018	162
Figure 4. Potential of high-speed rail to displace air travel, by region	164

Shared Mobility Services

Figure 1. Global car-sharing membership by region and total number of vehicles, 2006-2018	168
Figure 2. Total number and annual additions of bike-sharing systems, by region, 2007-2019	170
Figure 3. Number and purpose of bike sharing, shared e-bike and shared e-scooter trips in the USA, 2010-2019	170
Figure 4. Urban scooter services by region, early 2020	171
Figure 5. New autonomous vehicle trials in cities, by region, 2017-2019	171
Figure 6. The effects of increased ride-hailing on transport trends, vehicle-kilometres travelled and greenhouse gas emissions in a USA study	172
Figure 7. Changes in bike-sharing use during the COVID-19 pandemic, in selected cities	176
Fuel Economy	

Figure 1. Light-duty vehicle fuel economy by country, 2005-2017	179
Figure 2. Updated GFEI fuel economy targets (reductions from 2005 baseline)	179
Figure 3. Implementation of vehicle fuel economy labelling programmes in selected countries, 1978-2020	181
Figure 4. Projected emissions reductions through vehicle efficiency- related measures by 2050	182
Figure 5. CO ₂ emissions and fuel consumption of passenger cars in selected countries, 2000-2018 and future targets	183

Electric Mobility

Figure 1. Electric passenger car stock (battery and plug-in electric hybrids), by region, 2010-2020	188
Figure 2. New car registrations in Norway by vehicle type, 2015-2020	188
Figure 3. Shares of bus propulsion systems globally, by type, 2019	189
Figure 4. Average price of an electric vehicle battery pack, 2010-2020	190
Figure 5. Countries, regions and cities with commitments to phase out fossil fuel vehicles, by target year	192
Renewable Energy in Transport	
Figure 1. Share of renewable energy in transport, 2016 and 2018	199
Figure 2. Global biofuel production, 2010-2019	200
Figure 3. Biofuel blending mandates worldwide, by blend level, as of 2020	202
Aviation	
Figure 1. Growth in passenger aviation, 2018	207
Figure 2. Pre- and post-COVID-19 projections for aviation emissions to 2050	208
Figure 3. Fuel economy in aircraft, 2000-2020	209
Figure 4. Fuel economy (litres/100 kilometres) per seat by flight type, 1981-2020	209
Figure 5. Aviation CO ₂ emission projections and potential greenhouse gas reductions to 2050	210
Figure 6. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on international passenger traffic, 2020	212

Shipping

4

Figure 1. World shipping fleet by principal vessel type, 2000-2020	216
Figure 2. Liner Shipping Connectivity Index, improvements by country and region, 2010-2019	217
Figure 3. Emission mitigation potential of major maritime transport measures	219
Figure 4. Historic and projected emissions from international shipping, 2000-2050	220
Financing Climate Action in Transport	
Figure 1. Transport infrastructure investments in OECD countries,	226

	2000 2010	220
Figure 2.	Global investment in energy efficiency by sector, 2014-2019	226
Figure 3.	Potential jobs created through transport investments	227
Figure 4.	Spending for transport connectivity by financier in 2015 and the annual investment gap to 2030	228
Figure 5.	Official development assistance to transport from the top 10 development partners, by sub-sector, 2019	230
Figure 6.	Contributions by the Multilateral Development Bank Working Group on Sustainable Transport, 2012-2018	230
Figure 7.	Climate finance projects and investment volume by year	232
Figure 8.	Total proceeds of green bonds for transport, 2015-2019	232
Figure 9.	Transport oil subsidies, 2010-2019	233
Figure 10.	Countries undertaking fossil fuel subsidy reforms, 2015-2018	234
Figure 11	Stimulus spending for sustainable transport by transport. mode, as of December 2020	236

Addressing Climate Change and Improving Access to Opportunities

Figure 1. Changes from baseline in transport-related physical activity	
Health Impacts of Transport	
Figure 2. Rural Access Index, 2020 update	240
Figure 1. Unequal distribution of accessibility to jobs in Johannesburg and Mexico City	240

Formal Transport Networks	
Paratransit as a Complement to	
diseases and road injuries, under the Compact City scenario	246

Figure 1. Map o	paratransit services in Nairobi, Kenya	
-----------------	----------------------------------------	--

248

List of Tables

National Policy Frameworks for	
Transport and Climate Change	

Table 1.	Second-generation NDC submissions with specific targets	
	for mitigating transport emissions	121

Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management

Table 1. Top 10 cities with the most expensive parking, 2017 and 2019130

List of Abbreviations

Degrees Celsius A-S-I Avoid-Shift-Improve Action towards Climate-friendly Transport ADB Asian Development Bank AFD French Development Agency (Agence française de développement) ALICE Alliance for Logistics Innovation and Collaboration in Europe AIIB Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank APEC Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation ASEAN Association of Southeast Asian Nations ATM Air traffic management **B10** 10% biodiesel blend in diesel B30 30% biodiesel blend in diesel **B100** 100% biodiesel BAIC Beijing Automotive Industry Holding Company BAU Business-as-usual RGD Bangladesh BTS Bureau of Transportation Statistics BRT Bus rapid transit CAD Canadian dollar CAFP Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection CAF Development Bank of Latin America CAT Climate Action Tracker CCAFS Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security CDM Clean Development Mechanism CDP Carbon Disclosure Project CNG Compressed natural gas СОАССН CO-designing the Assessment of Climate Change Costs CO. Carbon dioxide Carbon dioxide equivalent COP Conference of the parties (United Nations Climate Change Conference) CORSIA Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation CPI Change Partners International CRC Costa Rican Colón CTF Climate Technology Fund **F-bike** Electric bike E-scoote Electric scooter FBRD European Bank for Reconstruction and Development FC European Commission ECF

European Cyclists' Federation

FCI AC United Nations Economic Commissions for Latin America and the Caribbean ECOWAS Economic Community of West African States EDGAR Emissions Database for Global Atmospheric Research EEA European Environmental Agency EIA US Energy Information Administration EIB European Investment Bank FPA Environmental Protection Agency ESG Environmental social and corporate governance EU European Union FUR Euro FV Electric vehicle FAME Faster Adoption and Manufacture of Electric and Hybrid Vehicles FAME (biodiesel) Fatty acid methyl esters FTA Federal Transit Administration GAD Decentralised autonomous government (Gobierno autónomo descentralizado) G (CO₂ Grams GBP British pound sterling GCE Green Climate Fund GDC Global Designing Cities Initiative GDP Gross domestic product GHG Greenhouse gas GFF Global Environment Facility GFE Global Fuel Economy Initiative GIZ Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH Gt Gigatonnes GPS Global positioning system HAC High Ambition Coalition HDV Heavy-duty vehicle HE\ Hybrid electric vehicle HGV Heavy goods vehicle Hr Hour HVO Hydrotreated vegetable oil IATA International Air Transport Association ICAO International Civil Aviation Organization ісст International Council on Clean Transportation ICE Internal combustion engine ICI FI Local Governments for Sustainability IDB Inter-American Development Bank International Energy Agency

IKI International Climate Initiative IME International Monetary Fund INDC Intended Nationally Determined Contributions Incl Including Intl. International ІМО International Maritime Organization IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IRFNA International Renewable Energy Agency IRF International Road Federation IsDB Islamic Development Bank ITDP Institute for Transportation and Development Policy ITE International Transport Forum International Road Federation JCM Joint Crediting Mechanism Joint Implementation JR Japan Railway KCCA Kampala Capital City Authority KES Kenyan Shilling <mark>Kg</mark> Kilogram Km Kilometre kW Kilowatt kWh Kilowatt-hour Litre Lae Litres of gasoline-equivalent I AC Latin America and the Caribbean LDV Light-duty vehicle Low Emissions Development Strategies I F7 Low-emissions zone LNG Liquefied natural gas Light rail transit LT-LEDS Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategy М Metres MaaS Mobility as a Service Mboe/d Million barrels of oil equivalent per day MDB Multilateral development bank M.I Megajoule MPGCA Marrakech Partnership for Global Climate Action Mt Metric ton

IFRN

IISD

Federal Institute of Rio Grande

International Institute for

Sustainable Development

do Norte (Instituto Federal de Rio Grande do Norte) MtCO₂e Metric tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent Mtonnes Megatonnes N/A Not available NACTO National Association of City Transportation Officials NAMA Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions NAP National Adaptation Plan NAPA National Adaptation Programmes of Action NCCETC North Carolina Clean Energy Technology Center NDC Nationally Determined Contributions NDF Nordic Development Fund NEDC New European Driving Cycle NGO Non-governmental organisation NUMO New Urban Mobility Alliance NUMP National urban mobility plan ODE Official development finance OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development OEM Original equipment manufacturer OICA Organisation Internationale des Constructeurs d'Automobiles DRSD Pacific Blue Shipping Partnership PHEV Plug-in hybrid electric vehicle Pkm Passenger kilometre PM. Fine particulate matter ppm Parts per Million РРМС Paris Process on Mobility and Climate PSI Private sector involvement RED Renewable Energy Directive REN21 Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century RNG Renewable natural gas RPI Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute RPK Revenue passenger kilometre SAATM Single African Air Transport Market SIDS Small island developing states SDC UN Sustainable Development Goal SLOCAT SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport SMP Shared mobility principles SSATP Africa Transport Policy Programme SuM4AII Sustainable Mobility for All SUMC Shared-Use Mobility Center SUMP Sustainable urban mobility plan SUV Sport utility vehicle

THB Thai baht TDA Transport Decarbonisation Alliance тъе Transport & Environment тор Transit-oriented development TNC Transport network company тимі Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative lic University of California UEMI Urban Electric Mobility Initiative UIC International Union of Railways UITP International Association of Public Transport UK United Kingdom UK PACT United Kingdom Partnering for Accelerated Climate Transitions Ultra-low-emission zone **UN-Habitat** United Nations Human Settlements Programme UN United Nations UNCTAD United Nations Conference on Trade and Development United Nations Office for Disaster **Risk Reduction** UNECOSOC United Nations Economic and Social Council UNFP United Nations Environment Programme UNESCAP United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific UNESCWA United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia UNECCO United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change **LISA** United States of America USD United States Dollar VAT Value-added tax VNR Voluntary National Review voc

TEU

Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit

Volatile organic compounds WEF World Economic Forum WGST

Working group on sustainable transport WHO

World Health Organization WLTP

Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

World Resources Institute

Well-to-wheel

World Wildlife Fund

Zero-emission vehicle

ZEZ Zero-emission zone



Executive Summary for Decision Makers

Tracking Trends in a Time of Change: The Need for Radical Action Towards Sustainable Transport Decarbonisation

SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition



The SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report – 2nd edition tells the global and regional stories of where we are and where we need to get to urgently on climate action in the transport sector. With contributions from more than 150 world-class experts and organisations, it is a one-stop shop for the latest available data, targets and developments on transport demand, emissions, policies and measures – showing that it is imperative to accelerate radical action for sustainable transport and climate in this time of unprecedented global change.

This Executive Summary summarises the trends and conclusions of the report and highlights threats, opportunities and uncertainties for climate action in the transport sector. The Summary describes escalating transport demand and emission trends through 2019 as well as the temporary disruption to these trends following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. The Summary underscores the imperative of radical action to put sustainable transport decarbonisation on the right track.

Please see the full *Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report – 2nd edition* for a more detailed analysis of the topics introduced in this Summary, and the "About the Report" section for more on the development of this report.



C

What is at stake for climate action in the transport sector in a post-pandemic world?

The years 2019 and 2020 have left an indelible mark on human and planetary history. They were two of the three hottest years ever recorded, with atmospheric levels of carbon dioxide (CO₂) reaching their highest point in more than 800,000 years in March 2019 and rising nearly 50% over pre-industrial levels.¹ Within this context, a global pandemic was declared in March 2020, resulting in extensive loss of life and economic hardship that increased social divides both within and between countries. The pandemic has dominated policy and funding discussions, delaying urgent global action on a growing climate crisis and widening inequalities that the United Nations 2030 Agenda on Sustainable Development seeks to address.

The COVID-19 pandemic has transformed transport and mobility patterns in every part of the world. The health crisis brought transport demand to a temporary standstill in much of the world due to lockdowns and distancing measures. While a significant population shifted to work from home, many of those who were required to commute faced reduced transport options. Demand for public transport and air travel plunged, while walking and cycling rates surged on reconfigured streets. Global maritime trade dropped around 4% in 2020, with about 12% of the container fleet idled at the peak of initial lockdowns.² These trends caused oil demand to plummet temporarily, brought transport emissions to a near halt, and cleared some urban skies for the first time in memory. While global CO_2 emissions dropped an estimated 5% overall in 2020, emissions from transport fell nearly 20%, more than any other sector.³

Despite the pandemic's impact on transport demand, transport emissions are still not on the right track. The transport sector was the fastest growing fossil fuel combustion sector worldwide from 2010 to 2019, with sectoral emissions rising more than 17% during this period.⁴ In absolute terms, transport was the secondhighest emitting sector (along with industrial emissions) in 2019.⁵ Increases in road, aviation and shipping activity (both passenger and freight) were leading factors behind global growth in transport CO_2 emissions from 2000 to 2019.⁶

In order to meet Paris Agreement targets and to keep the rise in the average global temperature below 1.5 degrees Celsius (°C), transport emissions will need to drop two-thirds below 2019



levels (or by 8 gigatonnes (Gt) of CO₂) by 2050.⁷ Therefore, the temporary reduction in transport emissions experienced during the pandemic in 2020 is roughly equal to the reductions needed *annually* to meet 2050 targets and to close the transport emissions gap.⁸ However, as of May 2021, only 15% of the 54 second-generation Nationally Determined Contributions submitted by countries under the framework of the Paris Agreement included a specific target for reducing transport emissions, showing limited progress towards meeting key goals.⁹

The pandemic has underscored the need for policy makers to take bold steps to address catastrophic impacts to transport and mobility systems. However, while some leaders and practitioners - often at the local level - have demonstrated willingness to take short-term action on mobility to increase access and well-being (e.g., by reallocating road space and supporting public transport), others have hesitated to take bold steps. These mixed responses have catalysed renewed commitments from policy makers and activists to stabilise the climate while increasing equity, inclusion and social justice, through climate strikes and other actions.

Pandemic recovery packages so far have proven a mixed bag for climate action in the transport sector. While a number of national recovery packages have firmly embraced a goal to "build back better" (e.g., by promoting electric vehicles or shifting from air travel to rail), many have upheld the status quo (e.g., by backtracking on fossil fuel subsidy reform or providing unconditional airline bailouts) rather than adopting green and equitable recovery strategies for transport systems. The pandemic has also led to severe budget cuts in some national aid programmes, threatening to widen social and economic divides between the Global North and South and to push meaningful climate action even further into the future (*see Section 4 on Financing Climate Action in Transport*).¹⁰ In a time of global uncertainty, we face three divergent scenarios for climate action in the transport sector:

Scenario

Abandon meaningful climate action in the transport sector and follow a *business-as-usual* approach to mobility patterns and investment trends (projected to yield a scenario of a 4+ °C increase);

Scenario

Continue *incremental progress* on transport mitigation and increase the focus on adaptation, despite limited progress over the past 40 years amidst economic booms and rapid growth (3-4 °C scenario);

Scenario

Accelerate *radical action* on transport behaviour and investments, while prioritising the triple impacts of transport decarbonisation, job creation and equitable accessibility (1.5-2 °C scenario).¹¹

 Only radical action will contribute to meeting ambitious Paris

 Agreement targets and achieving the Sustainable Development

 Goals. Only radical action will guarantee the balanced Avoid Shift:

 Improve approach that is needed: to Avoid unnecessary motorised

 trips based on proximity and accessibility; Shift to less carbon

 intensive transport modes; and Improve vehicle design, energy

 efficiency and clean energy sources (see Section 1.1 on Global

 transport and Climate Change). Only radical action will ensure that

 usatinable, low carbon transport and mobility is a vital component

 of an equitable, healthy, green and resilient pandemic recovery.¹²

Threats, opportunities and uncertainties for transport climate action

As the world continues to take initial steps to address a pandemic that is still well under way, climate action in the transport sector is faced with a number of threats, opportunities and uncertainties.

Threats

Transport CO_2 emission trends – in most countries and regions – are not moving in the right direction. In 2019, transport was the top or second-highest CO_2 -emitting sector in more than three-quarters of the world's countries, and from 2010 to 2019, total transport emissions decreased in only a fifth of countries.¹³ High-income countries contributed half of transport emissions during this time, with per capita emissions nearly 15 times above 2050 Paris Agreement targets.¹⁴ Rising transport emissions have been driven by rising automobile use and plummeting public transport ridership due to the pandemic. (See Section 1: Global and Regional Overview.)

Transport emission trends have progressed unevenly across regions, sectors and income groups. Europe was the only world region that stabilised its transport CO_2 emissions over the past

decade, while transport emissions surged more than 20% in other regions.¹⁵ International aviation and shipping grew 37% and 10%, respectively, over the decade, yet these sources remain uncounted in most national emission inventories (outside of the European Union, EU).¹⁶ Member countries of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and non-OECD countries currently contribute roughly equal shares of transport CO_2 emissions, reflecting the approximate split of global GDP.¹⁷ However, between 2010 and 2019, transport CO_2 emissions grew 4% in OECD member countries and 34% in non-OECD countries, suggesting a growing divergence.¹⁸ (See Section 2 on Transport Demand, Emissions and Targets.)

In the face of this growth, the ambition to mitigate transport emissions in countries' Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) is falling short. The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change extended the timeline for countries to submit second-generation NDCs until 9 to 12 months before the 2021 UN Climate Change Conference (COP26, postponed to November 2021).¹⁹ However, the sector is not on track to meet emission reduction targets for 2050.



Under a business-as-usual pathway, transport CO₂emissions could increase from 8 Gt in 2019 to 14.5 Gt in 2050.²⁰ Yet, as of May 2021, only 15% of NDC submissions (representing 7 countries and the EU-27, out of 54 total submissions) had set transport mitigation targets in revised NDCs.²¹ Long-term low emissions development strategies (LT-LEDS) focus strongly on *Improve* measures (more than half of all measures), whereas *Shift* and *Avoid* measures (7% each) are less well-represented.²² (*See Section 3 on Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector.*)

Accelerating action on transport sector resilience to climate change impacts is falling short in country plans. Although adaptation strategies are a required element of NDCs, only 28% of submissions (15 total) as of May 2021 included specific transport adaptation measures.²³ Most National Adaptation Plans (NAPs) and National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs) offer few details on transport measures, and only 50% of submissions (11 total) since 2015 have specifically included them.²⁴ With no new NAPAs submitted in the last four years, the adaptation gap in least-developed countries is growing wider.

Financing has not kept pace with growing needs for sustainable, low carbon transport in most cities and countries. Climatefocused transport spending has been overshadowed by "brown investments" in highways and other carbon-intensive transport infrastructure, with two-thirds of infrastructure investments (totalling USD 586 billion per year in the 50 largest economies) in 2015 going to road transport.²⁵ Fossil fuel subsidies continue to outpace renewable energy spending in transport budgets by orders of magnitude. Similarly, many COVID-19 recovery packages and bailout programmes have invested more heavily in fossil fuel-related companies than in clean energy, a trend that is likely to drive transport emissions upward.²⁶ (*See Section 4 on Financing Climate Action in Transport.*)

Electric mobility is not a silver bullet for transport decarbonisation and requires a holistic notion of sustainable mobility. Most policy attention is focused on private vehicles, and much current dialogue fails to consider realities in the Global South (including the widespread import of used vehicles).²⁷ Electric vehicles accounted for around 25% of motorised two- and three-wheelers and 18% of public buses, but only 1% of private passenger cars in 2020.²⁸ Electric mobility has limited potential in aviation, shipping and heavy-duty trucking, and it will only fully decarbonise transport if it is powered with renewable energy. Electric mobility requires differentiated strategies by region and a greater focus on shared fleets (including electric buses, mini-buses, and twoand three-wheelers); otherwise, its expansion will simply lead to cleaner congestion. (*See Section 3.8 on Electric Mobility*.)



Executive Summary

Opportunities

Commitments to phase out internal combustion engines are driving more sustainable emission trajectories. Low carbon transport measures are becoming increasingly efficient and leading to more positive trends than were previously projected. Whereas in 2017 the emission gap between the projected business-as-usual and low carbon transport emission levels was estimated to reach 16 gigatonnes of CO_2 by 2050, newer estimates (based on studies up to 2019) show a smaller gap of around 12 gigatonnes.²⁹

Targets for phasing out the use of internal combustion engines (and for phasing in electric vehicles) are accelerating the pace of transport decarbonisation. So far, 19 countries, at least 11 cities and regions, and a number of automobile manufacturers have announced phase-out commitments.³⁰ Accelerated uptake of electric mobility has been coupled with halting progress towards divestment from fossil fuels – including recent rulings against Chevron, Exxon and Royal Dutch Shell for dragging their feet on climate action – and some oil companies endorsing carbon pricing.³¹

Technological advances are reshaping the landscape, as plunging battery prices are making electric vehicles more affordable for many users, especially in the Global South.³² Moreaffordable batteries are facilitating the rapid scale-up of electric bicycles in Europe, North America and South Asia, and of electric bus fleets in leading e-bus countries such as China, Chile and Colombia.³³ While tested solutions are plentiful, there is a need for more dedicated champions and more sustained financing to make them the rule rather than the exception.

Established emission reduction measures are complementing emerging technological advances. Increasing fuel economy and quality standards for light- and heavy-duty vehicles continues apace, with 30 countries actively improving fuel economy-related policies since 2018, and nearly 80% of all light-duty vehicles sold as of 2017 subject to such regulations.³⁴ Limiting imports of polluting used vehicles in the Global South is progressing, as reflected in the recent commitments of 18 countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America.³⁵

Many low-carbon transport measures can be implemented quickly and inexpensively with sufficient political will. Many short-term policy measures have been implemented during the pandemic, which saw "tactical urbanism" measures – such as the deployment of open streets in more than 194 cities globally as of October 2020 – that allow millions of people to reimagine their daily mobility needs.³⁶ Active transport (walking and cycling) has increased in many cities, and Europe quickly built 1,500 kilometres of bicycle lanes, allocating EUR 1.7 billion (USD 2 billion) for cycling promotion.³⁷

Uncertainties

A number of uncertainties – many of them heightened by the pandemic – have the potential to enhance, accelerate or reverse the positive impacts of climate action in the transport sector. Anticipating and addressing such uncertainties, while capitalising on emerging opportunities and addressing looming threats, can maximise positive outcomes for sustainable, low carbon transport. Important questions remain in a diverse range of issue areas, as outlined below.

Sustainable mobility in cities

- Will public transport systems struggle due to underinvestment, dwindling revenues and remote work?
 Or will they recover ridership in the short term and regain public trust?
- Will tactical urbanism and improved spaces for walking and cycling become default strategies? Or will car traffic surge back on reconfigured streets along with growing economic activity?
- Will ride-hailing continue to revolutionise urban and suburban mobility markets while increasing traffic? Or will these services be deployed more efficiently to support accessible, low-carbon transport?

Inter-urban and international transport and mobility

- Will global supply chains be diminished by the pandemic, with manufacturing relocating to regional and national centres? Or will supply chains innovate and adapt to current challenges?
- Will aviation demand trends be permanently reshaped by behavioural change and reorientation of economic activity? Or will future travel and tourism adopt new patterns and protocols?
- Will land-based freight transport shift more broadly from road to rail and inland waterways (e.g., with fossil fuel phase-outs)? Or will high-carbon investments and operations remain the rule?

Effects of pandemic recovery responses

- Will recovery packages, the largest historical global mobilisation of public funds, yield unintended consequences? Or will there be accountability in how public funds are deployed in practice?
- Will massive post-pandemic government debt mean less money for sustainable, low carbon transport in the future? Or will recovery packages accelerate an irreversible transformation to sustainable, low carbon transport through innovative measures (e.g., shifting from air to rail travel)?

Anticipating and monitoring such uncertainties, while capitalising on emerging opportunities and addressing looming threats, will maximise positive outcomes for climate action in the transport sector.

Sustainable transport decarbonisation trends in thematic areas, from A to Z

Following on the threats, opportunities and uncertainties covered above, we investigate here a number of promising and challenging trends over the past two years – in areas from Aviation to Zeroemission vehicles – that will establish the direction of sustainable, low carbon transport for years to come. (*Note: these are selected highlights from the full* SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report – 2nd edition; *see cross-referenced sections for more detail.*)



Access to sustainable transport is critical for climate action; yet in many cities, more than half of residents lack access to opportunities within 60 minutes' travel time.³⁸ For example, in Mexico City and Johannesburg, South Africa, 56% and 42% of urbanites, respectively, are under-served in their ability to reach job locations.³⁹ Much of the world's rural population lacks adequate transport access: in rural sub-Saharan Africa, 65% of people live more than 2 kilometres from a weatherised road, stranding many from life-saving healthcare and market opportunities that improve farming productivity and earnings.⁴⁰ Increasing access for urban and rural residents requires improving conditions for walking and bicycling, developing better inter-city bus or other shared transport routes, and creating proximity-based transport planning approaches (e.g., 15-minute cities) in cities across both the Global North and South.

T

Aviation has received insufficient climate policy attention, despite a nearly 40% increase in emissions between 2010 and 2019.⁴¹ Passenger and freight aviation were responsible for around 10% of global transport CO₂ emissions in 2018.⁴² The aviation sector is challenging to decarbonise due to high energy requirements, constraints to the scale-up of biofuels and challenges with electrification. The ambition of international bodies fall well short of Paris Agreement targets, and the International Civil Aviation Organization's Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA) has

set a weak baseline, which at best would only stall emission growth, which is projected to increase 290% by 2050.⁴³ While industry commitments to reducing emissions are a step in the right direction, meaningful impacts are decades off.⁴⁴ Aviation provisions in pandemic recovery packages generally prioritise economic health over environmental well-being, delaying climate action further. (See Section 3.10 on Aviation.)

BO

Behavioural change is an essential element of climate action, and policy makers will need to enforce safety measures in public transport to regain trust. During the pandemic, many essential workers and those with low-income jobs (especially in the informal sector) have not had the option to shift to teleworking, and many have had to maintain existing travel patterns. Evidence indicates that people have changed their attitudes towards transport, and the current scenario favours the development of new and sustainable social norms (e.g., the public bike-sharing system in Seoul, Republic of Korea recorded more than 2.7 million rides during June 2020, compared to 1.2 million rides in June 2019).⁴⁵ Trying new ways of travelling during the pandemic and having positive experiences may trigger new behaviours in the future. New policies and investments in infrastructure and enforcing safety measures in public transport will help increase citizens' trust in less carbon-intensive transport options and will nudge behaviours. (See Focus Feature: Impact of COVID-19 on Travel Behaviour.)



Cycling is a near zero-emission transport mode that has gained momentum during the pandemic, yet further investment is needed to maintain increased demand.⁴⁶ Cycling activity and investment have surged during the COVID-19 pandemic (e.g., the cycling mode share in Bogotá, Colombia increased from 23% to 37% pre- and post-pandemic, and more than 2,300 kilometres of new cycling lanes were announced in 37 of the 94 biggest European cities as of December 2020).⁴⁷ Electric bicycle sales increased 120% globally in 2019 and surpassed a 50% market share in the Netherlands.⁴⁸ More than 150 million e-bikes were in use in 2019, a total that is projected to double by 2023.⁴⁹ Despite positive trends, cycling's share of transport trips remains low in most cities and regions. Optimising cycling's potential to mitigate transport emissions will require investing in bike lanes and parking, planning and institutional capacity, and increasing the affordability of e-bikes across regions. (See Section 3.3 on Walking and Cycling.)



Freight transport accounts for around 40% of transport emissions globally, yet green freight measures are not proportionally reflected among policy priorities.⁵⁰ Road freight accounts for a large share of freight impacts (as heavy-duty trucking is difficult to decarbonise), although some multilateral solutions are emerging.⁵¹ Rail, maritime and inland waterway transport can help offset road freight impacts, but investment trends are still insufficient to rein in freight emissions, which are projected to nearly triple between 2015 and 2050.52 Electrified and human-powered two- and three-wheelers are reducing urban freight emissions, and corporate actions are driving low-carbon solutions that leapfrog local and national policies.53 The COVID-19 pandemic increased the demand for home deliveries, with some countries seeing a more than 20% increase in e-commerce between 2019 and 2020.54 At the same time, the disruption of global supply chains led to a sharp decline in seaborne trade and has challenged equitable access to goods and services.55 While "green" logistics strategies have emerged, more must be done to stem rising freight emissions (e.g., investments in freight rail and inland waterways, emission standards for heavy-duty vehicles). (See Section 3.4 on Urban Passenger and Freight Transport, and Section 3.11 on Shipping.)

G

Gender-sensitive sustainable mobility planning is critical to increasing access to essential opportunities for girls and women, while advancing transport decarbonisation.56 Limited access to transport in developing countries is the greatest obstacle to women's participation in the labour market, reducing their probability of participation by 15.5%.⁵⁷ Recognising the crucial role of sustainable infrastructure in advancing gender equality, the 2019 session of the United Nations Commission on the Status of Women recommended the creation of inclusive transport.58 To capitalise on the untapped potential to transform gender inequalities, mobility and urban planning must take into account the different needs of girls, women, boys and men (e.g., in many cities, women take public transport and walk with greater frequency than men).59 This also requires removing barriers to girls' and women's access to sustainable mobility (e.g., by establishing safe physical distance on public transport).

Inter-city passenger transport demand has been steady in recent years, driven largely by fossil fuel subsidies and car-friendly measures in pandemic recovery packages. Inter-city passenger transport accounts for roughly a third of total transport emissions due to longer distances and fewer public transport options.60 Demand has surged due in part to rising car ownership and use in both the Global North and South. At the same time, inter-city railway development has been concentrated in only a handful of countries (e.g., half of the global high-speed rail network is in China).⁶¹ Rural roadways are a lifeline for roughly 45% of the world's population, yet they account for a disproportionate share of road crashes, with inefficient and unsafe vehicles travelling on under-maintained infrastructure (e.g., in Africa, road fatalities are nearly 50% higher than the global average).62 Reducing emissions and casualties from inter-city passenger transport will require shifting demand to lower-carbon rail and bus travel. (See Section 3.5 on Passenger and Freight Railways.)

M ----

Maritime shipping emissions could be reduced more than 75% by 2050 by adopting sustainable biofuels, better utilising capacity and optimising vessel speeds.⁶³ Shipping accounted for more than 80% of trade by volume and 11% of global CO₂ emissions in 2019.⁶⁴ International maritime transport is challenging to decarbonise due to high initial investment costs and the long life spans of vessels.⁶⁵ Despite limited policy action, the shipping industry appears to have attained its 2030 target for improving carbon intensity, even before the onset of the pandemic; however, the industry is far from meeting its 2050 emission reduction target (which is rated "insufficient").⁶⁶ Progress in reducing emissionswill require stronger policy support and increased public-private cooperation. (See Section 3.11 on Shipping.)

Pe

Public transport is a key strategy for decarbonisation, yet the world's public transport systems require far greater investment to recover from the pandemic-driven loss in ridership. Although metros, trams and bus systems are a backbone of low carbon transport in many cities, they have not gained ground over private vehicle use, and investment in and repair of public transport systems continues to lag in many cities. Urban rail is seven times more energy efficient per passenger-kilometre than urban car trips, and electric city buses are up to ten times more efficient.⁶⁷ Urban rail development has grown steadily since 2010, with numerous new systems emerging in the Global South, and systems expanding in many countries, led by Asia.68 However, bus rapid transit has fallen short of its initial promise, with only nine cities adding new systems globally between 2019 and 2020.69 Paratransit (also called "informal transport") is a critical service in the Global South, with minibuses and motorcycle taxis carrying 80% of riders in some cities.⁷⁰ Decarbonising public transport requires increasing investments to address pandemic ridership

loss, generating new funding streams, increasing electrification and properly pricing high-carbon transport modes. (See Section 3.4 on Urban Passenger and Freight Transport.)



Renewable energy is a crucial component of transport decarbonisation, yet renewables accounted for less than 4% of energy use in the sector in 2018.71 Key conduits for greater integration of renewable energy are railways, which account for the highest share of renewables in the sector, and two, three- and four-wheeled electric vehicles.72 However, policies to scale up vehicle electrification and renewable energy remain largely unconnected. Whereas aviation faces obstacles to broad integration of renewables, shipping holds greater potential through the use of hydrogen and ammonia fuels generated from surplus wind and solar energy.73 Moving the needle on renewables for transport requires reducing the cost of advanced fuels; strengthening policy and technical linkages between electric vehicle development and renewable energy generation; and using electric vehicles as energy storage devices though consumer and utility incentives. (See Section 3.9 on Renewable Energy in Transport.)



Shared mobility services will need to be more integrated and electrified to achieve largely untapped decarbonisation potential. Shared mobility services (e.g., shared two-, three- and four-wheelers, and ride-hailing services) have expanded globally following their initial roll-out in Asia, Europe and North America. In the past decade, car-sharing membership in Asia increased nearly 20 times (to more than 22 million members); bike sharing systems in Europe increased four-fold (to around 1,000 systems); and Africa launched more than 180 app-based motorcycle services.74 The COVID-19 pandemic has reshaped the shared mobility landscape, with demand for shared bikes, e-bikes and scooters soaring, and with some ride-hailing companies shifting from passenger transport to food delivery due to falling demand.⁷⁵ Electric scooter and bike-sharing services have helped to reduce emissions by shifting trips from polluting modes, whereas ridehailing services increase the vehicle-kilometres travelled and result in more emissions.⁷⁶ To optimise the potential for shared mobility to reduce emissions, these services need to be made available in poorer and more remote neighborhoods and to bridge the needs of public and private actors. (See Section 3.6 on Shared Mobility Services.)

1

Sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs) offer significant low carbon benefits but require more substantial funding to translate plans to action. SUMPs have expanded as a strategy to meet urban mobility needs through a collaboration of public and private sector actors, citizens and other key stakeholders.⁷⁷ While SUMPs focus on mobility in cities, national urban mobility policies (NUMPs) provide enabling frameworks for local-level planning. During 2019 and 2020, the number of SUMPs and NUMPs increased 6% globally, and growth has been particularly strong in the Global South, with Latin America accounting for 16% of the more than 1,600 global SUMPs as of 2020.⁷⁸ SUMPs are strengthened by measures aimed at transport demand management, such as low-emission zones, which have surged alongside demand for improved urban air quality. As SUMPs reach critical mass in the Global South, peer countries can emulate successful policies and learn from key lessons. (See Section 3.2 on Sustainable Urban Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management.)

W

Walking is the dominant (zero-emission) transport mode in much of the Global South, yet a significant investment gap remains between walking and motorised transport infrastructure.⁷⁹ Walking accounts for 70% of trips globally and is a component of nearly every trip taken.⁸⁰ Walking and cycling can substitute for more than 40% of short car trips; this could save nearly 5% of CO₂ emissions from car travel on top of the existing estimated 5% of "avoided" emissions from walking and cycling trips.⁸¹ Nevertheless, walking shares are declining in many parts of the world, and 21% of road traffic crashes involve pedestrians.⁸² In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, nearly 200 cities globally have created pedestrian-only spaces and/or protected bike lanes.⁸³ It remains to be seen how many temporary measures will be translated to long-term policies and infrastructure investments. (See Section 3.3 on Walking and Cycling.)



Zero-emission vehicles (ZEVs) have gained momentum globally; however, maximising their benefits will require increasing affordability and mobilising dedicated champions. ZEVs (e.g., electric vehicles, fuel cell electric vehicles, solar vehicles) are often misperceived as a silver bullet for transport decarbonisation. Electric vehicles produce around 20% fewer CO22 emissions than internal combustion engines even when the electricity for charging is generated from fossil fuels.⁸⁴ In 2020, sales of plug-in hybrid and electric vehicles increased 70% to reach 4.6% of total new vehicle sales, and roughly 350 million electric vehicles made up 25% of the global motorised two- and three-wheeler stock.85 However, ZEVs remain a small fraction of global fleets, and sales of oversized vehicles (particularly sport utility vehicles, or SUVs) outweigh the emission benefits of ZEVs. Increased fuel economy standards are a crucial complement to ZEVs, and restrictions on the import of used vehicles are reducing emissions and improving air quality in Asia, Africa and Latin America.86 Although electric vehicles are more efficient than conventional vehicles, they offer far greater potential for reducing emissions if powered by clean, renewable energy. (See Section 3.7 on Fuel Economy, and Section 3.8 on Electric Mobility.)

Where do we go from here to achieve more equitable transport trajectories?

This A-to-Z overview of trends in selected thematic areas raises several key questions: How can we accelerate climate action to move transport emissions in the right direction? Can we get there in time to prevent the most severe climate impacts? And, amidst the lingering pandemic, are we building back better? So far, these questions have all been met with a resounding "No... or at least not yet."⁸⁷

Radical action is needed to deliver on Paris Agreement targets and Sustainable Development Goals to achieve an equitable 1.5 °C world and to adopt more sustainable development pathways. However, it will take concerted efforts and dedicated resources to stabilise accelerating climate change. To keep global temperature rise below 1.5 °C, annual transport CO₂ emissions must drop to 2-3 Gt, which means reducing per capita transport emissions from 0.88 tonnes in 2019 to 0.2 tonnes in 2050.⁸⁸ This will require strong policy support, financial incentives and more equitable mobility options worldwide. Radical action will necessitate taking unprecedented risks and creating positive disruptions. It is critical to anticipate and embrace short-term turbulence to ensure a more just transition in the long term. We see four primary building blocks to harness momentum on climate action for transport and to enable the radical action needed to decarbonise the sector:

Tackling major threats

Reversing ongoing threats to climate action in the transport sector will require raising the ambition on mitigation and adaptation in NDCs and LT-LEDS and delivering on that ambition. However, while 13 of the 54 second-generation NDCs submitted as of May 2021 set higher targets for reducing economy-wide emissions, current pledges would still lead to warming of 2.6 °C by 2100, far exceeding Paris Agreement targets.⁸⁹ Aligning NDC and LT-LEDS processes with national transport policies and investment strategies remains a critical need.⁹⁰





- Raising mitigation ambition will require demonstrating that making systemic changes to reduce transport emissions can enhance rather than diminish quality of life – i.e., sustainable urban mobility plans can lead to economic prosperity, personal well-being and decoupling of transport emissions.
- Increasing attention to adaptation will require leveraging the power of reverse linkages (i.e., South-North exchanges), as many successful adaptation solutions are emerging under the most vulnerable conditions (e.g., more resilient pavements, distributed solar energy to avoid electric grid outages).
- Reversing emission trends will require capitalising on proven solutions. In many cases, it will simply require doing less of what has not been working (e.g., phasing out fossil fuel subsidies) and more of what has been working (e.g., improving fuel economy standards and walking/cycling infrastructure).

Expanding and scaling up opportunities

Scaling up opportunities towards lower transport emission trajectories will require significant financing. Globally, achieving low carbon transport pathways will require investments of USD 2.7 trillion per year between 2016 and 2030 (or USD 40.5 trillion in total), with 60-70% of these investments in emerging economies.⁹¹ Achieving this level of investment necessitates leveraging private capital as well as support from high-income countries (through direct assistance) and multilateral development banks (through funding frameworks aligned to the Paris Agreement).

- Leveraging COVID-19 recovery packages towards green and equitable transport financing will require building on successful trends during the pandemic (e.g., tactical urbanism measures) and ensuring that positive changes become permanent (e.g., less congestion, improved urban air quality).
- Expanding opportunities for sustainable, low carbon transport will require adopting measures that support the Sustainable Development Goals, such as decent work and economic prosperity, and affordable and clean energy (e.g., electric freight vehicles powered by small-scale renewables).
- Disseminating proven low carbon transport solutions that pay off quickly on social, economic and environmental dimensions

(e.g., limiting passenger and freight vehicle imports to reduce operating costs and improve air quality) will require expanding capacity building and education programmes.

- Filling funding gaps will require shifting resources from less efficient to more efficient transport measures that balance incentives and disincentives and drive substantive behaviour change (e.g., expanded road and parking pricing, pay-as-youdrive insurance, incentives for car-free living).
- Expanding lending criteria compatible with Paris Agreement targets will require broader commitments from international financial institutions to incorporate fossil-free financing as a core business practice (e.g., European Investment Bank alignment of transport lending criteria with 1.5 °C targets).

Responding to and managing uncertainties

Pandemic recovery packages, which exceeded USD 12 trillion as of October 2020, dwarf existing low carbon investments. A fraction of the investment in these packages could put the world on track to decarbonisation by 2050.⁹² Building a more stable future for transport systems and societies requires learning and applying lessons from the pandemic involving policy responses and funding mobilisation and increasing investments in low carbon transport to address the umbrella issue of climate change.

- Building more resilient societies will require building transport systems that can adapt to rapid climate impacts and be resilient to shocks, in order to maintain social, physical and mental health (e.g., active and shared mobility systems) under all environmental conditions.
- Recovering from the pandemic and building resilience will require strengthening public transport as a backbone of equitable mobility systems (e.g., for essential workers) and leveraging sustainable freight railways as a critical means of conveyance for personnel and goods (e.g., medical supplies).
- Navigating changing economic conditions will require maintaining accessible and affordable transport systems that facilitate and maintain economic growth and drive more predictable investment patterns (e.g., reduced congestion, increased economic activity in commercial centres).

CLOCAT

Executive Summary

Strengthening and expanding the transport dialogue and community

Establishing strategic collaborations beyond the transport community can help deliver on the Paris Agreement and Sustainable Development Goals. An analysis of personal consumption options has identified low carbon transport choices as the most effective area for reducing emissions, well above shifts in food, housing and other sectors.⁹³ Thus, stakeholders from across many sectors have a common interest in supporting efforts to transform transport and mobility systems, and in turn the social and economic systems they underlie.

- Enhancing the transport community will require strengthening linkages among action by multilateral country groupings (e.g., large and small polluters, the Global North and South), small non-governmental organisations and large corporations (e.g., bringing Google, Apple, Amazon and the transport industry to the same table) and leveraging emerging financing sources (e.g., Bezos Earth Fund supporting electric school bus fleets).
- Broadening the transport community will require engaging additional stakeholders in energy (e.g., planning renewable electricity generation in concert with ZEV demand), the just transition (e.g., enabling cycling jobs that benefit local economies and offer a variety of jobs for a skilled workforce) and social services (e.g., ensuring equitable access to low carbon transport for all ages, genders and abilities).⁹⁴
- Strengthening the transport community will require demonstrating that radical action can benefit all parties at

some level. For instance, ZEV roll-out can benefit producers and consumers (e.g., in manufacturing efficiencies combined with purchase incentives) and government and utilities (e.g., in improved healthcare outcomes combined with energy storage to reduce infrastructure costs).

These building blocks demonstrate that radical action in the transport sector is both an imperative and a possibility. Radical action means empowering both large and small carbon emitters to collaborate in shared solutions and to move beyond more calls for action on transport and climate change. It means moving on to scaling up and accelerating actual on-the-ground actions, which translate to positive impacts for access and mobility that help bridge divides among global regions and income groupings.

Through data-driven analysis, the *SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report – 2nd edition* demonstrates that rising transport demand and emission trends are avoidable and not inevitable. While 2019 and 2020 have revealed substantive threats to the world in general and to the transport sector in particular, the report shows that these years set the stage to transform a time of uncertainty into a moment of opportunity. Capitalising on this opportunity will create a lasting positive transformation of transport and mobility for the benefit of the climate, people and the planet.







Global Overview

This section provides an overview of global progress towards decarbonising transport and examines the six major world regions through an assessment of overall transport demand, emissions



1.1 Global Transport and Climate Change

As global emissions from the transport sector continue to rise, gaining a better understanding of the specific sources of these emissions, and how to address them, is critical. Which sub-sectors, regions and actions are leading to the increase in emissions? And where is progress being made towards decarbonisation? This section highlights global transport demand and emission trends, comparing them broadly across regions and framing the policy responses through the *"Avoid-Shift-Improve"* framework. The subsequent section dives deeper into the demand, emissions and policies of each region. (For detailed information by transport sub-sector, see Section 2 of this report.)

Key findings

Demand trends

- Global passenger transport demand remained at similar levels between 2015 and 2017. Road transport accounted for 78% of this demand in 2017.
- More goods than ever before are being transported on trucks as freight activity has continued to grow, surpassing 120 trillion tonne-kilometres in 2017.

Emission trends

- Increases in road vehicles (both passenger and freight), aviation and shipping were the leading factors behind the global growth in transport carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions between 2000 and 2018.
- Transport accounted for 14% of total global greenhouse gas emissions in 2018.
- Asia experienced the highest increase in transport CO₂ emissions among world regions from 2010 to 2019, at 41%, while Europe's emissions fell 2% during this period.
- International aviation and shipping emissions both recorded double-digit growth between 2010 and 2019.
- Between 2010 and 2019, annual growth in gross domestic product (GDP) averaged 2.9%, while transport CO₂ emissions increased only 2.0%.

Policy measures

- Growing evidence shows that Avoid and Shift strategies can account for 40-60% of transport emission reductions, at lower costs than Improve strategies.
- Countries' updated Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) under the Paris Agreement continue to focus strongly on Improve measures, which represent 52% of all measures, whereas Shift measures account for 38% and Avoid measures for only 10%.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- In total, transport emissions declined by 1.5 gigatonnes of CO₂ in 2020.
- For the transport sector, CO₂ emissions in 2020 fell 19.4% below 2019 levels, with emissions dropping 56.4% in international aviation, 31.9% in domestic aviation, 24.8% in international shipping and 14.6% in ground transport (road and railways).
- Sales of new vehicles dropped 14.5% below 2019 levels in 2020.

Overview

The transport sector contributes a growing share of the world's greenhouse gas emissions. During the period from 2010 to 2019, it was the fastest growing combustion (fossil fuel-burning) sector globally. In 2019, transport was the second largest source of CO_2 emissions after the power sector (on par with "other industrial combustion" for manufacturing and fuel production).¹ Transport was responsible for 30% of global final energy demand and for 23% of global direct CO_2 emissions from the energy sector that year.²

In 2020, the worldwide impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic reduced global energy demand by a projected 4%, and total global CO_2 emissions fell an estimated 5.4% (with 1.9 billion fewer tonnes of CO_2 released than in 2019).³ CO_2 emissions from transport plunged 19% for the year, due mainly to rapid emission reductions during the early months of the pandemic; overall, international aviation emissions were down 56%, international shipping down 25%, and ground transport down nearly 15% in 2020, compared to 2019.⁴ (*For more on the impacts of COVID-19, see Box 1 in this section.*)

Demand trends

Road transport (both passenger and freight) accounts for the largest portion of global transport, and its growth is closely related to trends in new vehicle purchases. Sales of new passenger cars (road motor vehicles other than motorcycles) and commercial vehicles (light trucks, heavy trucks and buses) continued to increase up to 2017, with a record 95 million vehicles sold that year.⁵ Sales then declined over the subsequent two years, to 91 million new vehicles sold in 2019.⁶

Growth in commercial vehicle sales is driven mainly by the demand for road freight transport.⁷ In 2019, more than 26 million new commercial vehicles were sold, driven by strong demand in highincome countries.⁸ By 2050, the global fleet of passenger and commercial vehicles is expected to more than double, including many older, polluting vehicles that will likely remain in circulation in Africa, Central Asia and Latin America.⁹

Global passenger transport demand

Global passenger transport demand remained at similar levels between 2015 and 2017. In 2017, global passenger transport activity totalled 55 trillion passenger-kilometres, of which 78% was from road transport.¹⁰ Although rail is by far the most carbonefficient transport mode, with the lowest CO_2 emissions per passenger, it represented less than 8% of passenger activity that year.¹¹ Motorised two- and three-wheelers and aviation accounted for the largest growth in passenger transport activity between 2015 and 2017, a combined increase of around 25% (see Figure 1).¹² In many developing countries, two- and three-wheelers are the fastest growing mode of motorised mobility.¹³

Figure 1.



Share of passenger transport activity (passenger-

Source: See endnote 12 for this section





Source: See endnote 14 for this section.





CO,

Global freight transport demand

More goods than ever before are being transported on trucks as freight activity has continued to grow, surpassing 120 trillion tonne-kilometres in 2017 (see Figure 2).¹⁴ This increase is attributed mainly to the rising demand for consumer goods being transported by road freight and maritime shipping.

The freight sector is widely seen as the most challenging transport segment to decarbonise, due in part to a lack of comprehensive policies and mature technology options. Key barriers to decarbonising road freight include the low supply of zero-emission freight vehicles, the ageing and non-adaptable existing freight fleet, and the lack of resources in under-developed and developing countries to acquire new vehicle fleets.¹⁵

Emission trends

Global emission trends

Increases in road vehicles (both passenger and freight), aviation and shipping were the leading factors behind the global growth in transport CO₂ emissions between 2000 and 2018 (see Figure 3).¹⁶ Improvements in fuel economy for road transport were outpaced by the increased sales of larger, heavier vehicles (see Transport Demand section in Section 2.1). In contrast, CO₂ emissions from railways declined between 2000 and 2018, due mainly to the electrification of major rail corridors and to further efficiency improvements.¹⁷

Transport accounted for 14% of total global greenhouse gas emissions in 2018.¹⁸ Road transport (both passenger and freight) contributed nearly three-quarters (74%) of transport greenhouse gas

Figure 4. Greenhouse gas emissions from transport, by mode, 2018



Source: See endnote 19 for this section.

emissions that year, while rail represented only 5% (see Figure 4).¹⁹ Around 36% of transport CO_2 emissions occur in urban areas, with 31.6% coming from passenger transport and 4.7% from freight.²⁰

Black carbon – a short-lived climate pollutant emitted into the air as a result of incomplete fuel combustion – is both a major contributor





Figure 5. Share of transport emissions by region and in international aviation and shipping, 2010-2019

Source: See endnote 24 for this section.

(2000) — (2019) + 105% + 117% + 5% + 7% + 47% + 77% + 39% + 32% Int. Int. Latin North Africa Oceania Europe Asia Shipping Aviation America America Transport CO₃ emissions from 2000 to 2019 (Gt) 2.8 2.4 2 1.6 1.2 0.8 0.4 0

Figure 6. Growth in transport emissions by region and in international aviation and shipping, 2000-2019

Source: See endnote 29 for this section.



to climate change and a growing public health concern. Black carbon is a key component in fine particulate matter (PM2.5), which can penetrate deep inside the lungs, contributing to premature mortality and a range of cardiovascular and respiratory diseases.²¹ In 2015, around 4,770 gigatonnes of black carbon were emitted worldwide, of which 11% were from road transport and 3.5% from all other transport modes combined.²² Road transport accounts for an estimated 30% of global urban emissions of ambient particulate matter (less than 2.5 micrometres in size).²³

Regional emission trends

Between 2010 and 2019, transport CO_2 emissions rose in all regions except Europe, where they fell 2% (see Figure 5).²⁴ The emission improvement in Europe is attributed to advanced fuel economy regulations and strong sustainable urban mobility planning frameworks, among other factors. Asia, which in 2011 became the top regional emitter of transport CO_2 due to its large population and strong economic growth, continued to lead in 2019 and experienced the highest growth in transport CO_2 emissions among regions from 2010 to 2019, at 41%.²⁵ In Latin America and the Caribbean, transport CO_2 emissions has declined year-on-year since 2015.²⁶ (For more on emissions by region, see Sections 1.2 to 1.7.)

International aviation and shipping emissions both recorded double-digit growth between 2010 and 2019.²⁷ These two transport modes each emit more CO_2 annually than the entire regions of Latin America and the Caribbean, Africa and Oceania (see Figure 6).²⁸

International aviation activity grew 7.1% between 2017 and 2018, from 7,699 billion passenger-kilometres to 8,258 billion passenger-kilometres.²⁹ With the worldwide growth in air travel, CO₂ emissions from international flights increased 3.8% annually between 2010 and 2019, reaching 627 million tonnes.³⁰

Whereas international aviation is focused largely on passenger travel, international maritime transport caters almost exclusively to freight. Maritime shipping is the backbone of global trade. In 2018, 11 billion tonnes of goods were transported over a total distance of 85,864 billion cargo tonne-kilometres.³¹ As international maritime shipping has increased, so too have related CO₂ emissions, totalling 730 million tonnes in 2019.³² However, emissions from maritime shipping have risen more slowly than those from aviation: between 2015 and 2019, average annual emission growth in shipping stayed between 2.4% and 2.8%, and this growth decreased overall in the decades between 1990 and 2019 (*see Figure 7*).³³

Between 2010 and 2019, annual GDP growth averaged 2.9%, while transport CO2 emissions increased only 2.0%.³⁴ This trend is especially apparent in member countries of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), where strong fuel economy regulations and other measures have supported efficiency gains.³⁵ Even as global transport emissions have risen, especially in rapidly developing regions such as Asia, the growth in GDP (historically the main driver of transport CO₂ emissions) has continued to outpace the growth in emissions. This observed decoupling has become more pronounced since 2004, indicating that implementing low carbon solutions in transport likely does not have a negative impact on economic growth.³⁶

Figure 7. Emission growth in international aviation versus shipping





9

83

Policy measures

Applying Avoid-Shift-Improve (A-S-I) measures through integrated, inter-modal and balanced approaches is critical to unleashing the full benefits of sustainable, low carbon transport. The A-S-I framework has been central to sustainable, low carbon transport for more than a decade (see Figure 8).37

The A-S-I approach follows an implicit hierarchy, with appropriate and context-sensitive Avoid measures intended to be implemented first, followed by Shift measures and finally by Improve measures.³⁸ This prioritisation can help reduce environmental impact, improve access to socio-economic opportunities, increase logistics efficiency, reduce congestion, improve air quality and increase road safety. The A-S-I framework calls for:



Avoiding unnecessary motorised trips based on proximity and accessibility;

Shifting to less carbon-intensive modes - that is, from private vehicles to public transport, shared mobility, walking and cycling, water-based freight, electrified road-rail freight, and cargo bikes for last-mile deliveries, among others; and

Improving vehicle design, energy efficiency and clean energy sources for different types of freight and passenger vehicles.

Growing evidence shows that Avoid and Shift strategies can account for 40-60% of transport emission reductions, at lower costs than Improve strategies (see Figure 9).39 There is wide recognition that current policies are over-reliant on technologyfocused Improve strategies, and thus are insufficient to achieve the systemic and rapid transformation that is needed to meet global climate and equity goals.

Avoid and Shift measures (for example, allocating road space for dedicated bus lanes) may be far less costly for improving transport access than many Improve measures, particularly in rapidly urbanising developing countries. However, more research is needed to assess the long-term cost effectiveness.

The narrative of sustainable mobility has evolved over the decade since the creation of the A-S-I concept; in response, a number of stakeholders are engaging in a process to refocus the framework, integrating decades of experience and harnessing momentum on green, equitable pandemic recovery and an unprecedented disbursement of funds through recovery packages. A renewed focus on the framework presents an opportunity to optimise A-S-I strategies through novel lenses, including gender and geographic equity; freight transport; and renewable energy.



Figure 8. Avoid-Shift-Improve Framework

* The A-S-I diagramme presents a non-exhausive list of measures for illustrative purposes only.

An enhanced focus on *Avoid* and *Shift* is of particular relevance to fast-growing, middle-income and low-income economies working to increase access in response to development demands.

However, *Avoid* is often subject to political resistance, especially in the Global South, where a key priority is to maintain an already robust walking and cycling mode share. In areas where the majority of the workforce needs to travel for livelihoods, the call is to *Shift* to more sustainable modes; however, travel alternatives are often limited, especially for lower-income riders. An intended outcome of the refocusing process is to build upon the strengths of the framework to achieve systemic shifts through a more balanced and cost-effective application of *A-S-I* measures.

Countries' updated Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) towards reducing emissions under the Paris Agreement continue to focus strongly on Improve measures, which represent 52% of all measures, whereas *Shift* measures account for 38% and Avoid measures for only 10%.⁴⁰ Given the long-term impacts of some *Avoid* and *Shift* policy measures, it is important that countries' NDCs and Long-Term Climate Strategies include a balanced *A-S-I* approach. However, the over-focus on *Improve* measures, particularly the electrification of vehicles, risks distracting attention from necessary long-term structural changes in business models, supply chains, city planning and behaviour.⁴¹ (see Section 3: Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector)

Shift and Improve measures - and the overall decarbonisation of the transport sector - are most effective when combined with

Figure 9. Potential emission reductions resulting from actions in the A-S-I framework



Ambitious targets require comprehensive actions



Avoid measures. Avoid measures allow cities to limit vehicle traffic to within the capacity of roadways, and they reward travellers who use transport modes that are resource, space and energy efficient. Many Avoid measures aim to actively manage transport demand, with approaches such as congestion charging, carbon pricing for all transport modes, and incentives for behavioural modifications leading to wide-scale changes.

Specific policy measures by region are detailed in Section 2, and sub-sectoral responses are detailed in Section 3.

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on global transport demand and emissions

In total, transport emissions declined by 1.5 gigatonnes of CO_2 in 2020. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, global energy demand fell a projected 4%, and total global CO_2 emissions dropped an estimated 5.4%. The decline in emissions is attributed mainly to the rapid reductions in aviation and road transport activity in the early months of the pandemic. Despite the emission drop, the total amount of CO_2 in the earth's atmosphere was expected to increase 0.6% in 2020, just below the 0.68% rise projected in pre-COVID scenarios.

For the transport sector overall, CO_2 emissions in 2020 fell 19.4% below 2019 levels, with emissions dropping 56.4% in international aviation, 31.9% in domestic aviation, 24.8% in international shipping and 14.6% in ground transport (road and railways). Total emissions from ground transport fell by around 947 million tonnes of CO_2 , and from domestic and international aviation by around 466 million tonnes of CO_2 (see Figure 10).

The COVID-19 pandemic led to a 14.5% drop in new vehicle sales, from 91 million new vehicles sold in 2019 to 78 million sold in 2020.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on freight transport has highlighted the interconnectedness of the global economy and revealed underlying vulnerabilities in international supply chains and transport of goods. While initial projections estimated substantial reductions in freight transport volumes, data from the International Transport Forum's forthcoming 2021 Transport Outlook reveal a roughly 4% decline between 2019 and 2020, attributable in part to the decrease in the consumption and trade of fossil fuels as overall energy demand fell.

In international aviation, the number of seats offered by airlines, as well as the total number of domestic and international flights, each fell 61% in 2020, with an estimated 8.2 million fewer international flights during the year. As airlines sought alternative revenue streams, cargo aviation was up 6.6%, growing by 25,000 flights. In total, emissions from international aviation declined by 354 million tonnes of CO_2 .

In general, the COVID-19 pandemic has laid bare the weaknesses of the transport sector's preparedness for disasters and global shocks. In many cities, public transport systems were pressured to the verge of collapse

in 2020, following significant declines in ridership, revenue and passenger trust. Many people returned to private vehicles as their first choice of mobility, while others, lacking access to safe and reliable transport services, were stranded by lockdowns and deprived of work to maintain their livelihoods, resulting in greater impoverishment among the most vulnerable groups.

At the same time, COVID-19 has pushed us to reflect on how we move both people and goods, and what the pandemic will mean for the future of transport. During early lockdowns, many urban dwellers appreciated the cleaner air and reduced noise pollution due to less traffic. Cities around the world reclaimed streets for pedestrians and cyclists, adopted cost-efficient "tactical urbanism" measures that enable active mobility, and depended more on freight and logistics as residents turned to online deliveries at an unprecedented pace.

The decisions that governments and multilateral entities make to support economic recovery from the pandemic will determine the degree of transformation that will be achieved through the next decade and beyond. The urgency of these decisions must not derail efforts to achieve universal equitable access to mobility, or the push for ambitious, systemic decarbonisation across all transport modes, whether on land, air or sea.

For more on the Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on specific transport modes, see *Box* 1 in Section 2.



Figure 10. COVID-19 impacts on CO₂ emissions from land transport and domestic aviation

Source: See endnote 4 for this section.

The next section examines transport demand and emissions in each world region, helping to illuminate the global trends and figures by narrowing in on the major developments, trends and policy measures that are shaping the transport landscape regionally.



1.2 Africa Regional Overview

Demographics

SLOCAT



Sources: See endnote 1 for this section.

Key findings

Demand trends

- Motorised transport volumes in Africa are the lowest among world regions; however, car ownership rates are rising, with some countries experiencing growth of 250% or more between 2005 and 2015.
- Increased car ownership in Africa is driven largely by imports of used vehicles from other regions, which account for up to 95% of vehicle registrations in some African countries.
- The African region has seen a rapid increase in motorcycles, which are used as taxis in both urban and rural areas and transport 80% of passengers and goods on rural roads.
- More than one-third of all trips globally are made on foot or by bicycle; in some African cities, walking and cycling account for more than 70% of all personal trips.
- Africa has the highest rate of road fatalities, with nearly 40% of these deaths involving pedestrians and another 4% involving cyclists - together accounting for nearly half of the region's road fatalities.

 In some African cities, up to 80% of the population relies on paratransit (sometimes called "informal transport"), and some minibus taxi fleets have grown more than 5% annually.

 \mathbf{Q}

 Freight transport in Africa faces significant infrastructure gaps, resulting in relatively low levels of intra-regional trade.

Emission trends

- Africa had the lowest transport CO₂ levels among all regions in 2019 (at 0.25 tonnes per capita), contributing only 5% of total global transport CO₂ emissions that year.
- Transport emissions in the region are growing rapidly from a low baseline. Africa's transport emissions increased 27% between 2010 and 2019, the second highest regional growth rate after Asia (41%).
- Only 15% of African countries exceeded global average per capita transport emissions during 2010-2019; however, nearly three-quarters of African countries reported above-average emission growth.
8 Policy measures

- Walking and cycling infrastructure improvements are expanding the options for safe, low carbon mobility, accounting for up to 20% of overall transport budgets in some African cities.
- Broader adoption of sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs) reflects more comprehensive planning approaches; however, SUMPs in Africa trail other regions relative to population share.
- Despite recent improvements, only 35% of residents in Sub-Saharan Africa live within 500 metres of access to public transport, the lowest rate in the world and well below the global average of 49%.
- Enhancements to paratransit services including increased regulation, fleet renewals and digital technologies – are increasing access to mobility across Africa.
- Actions aimed at regulating vehicle and fuel quality standards are increasing and include bans on used vehicle imports as well as national and regional fuel economy roadmaps.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Paratransit services have been particularly vulnerable to the COVID-19 pandemic, due to travel restrictions, reduced capacities and rising costs.
- A number of African cities have expanded walking and cycling measures in response to COVID-19 to allow for physical distancing while commuting and recreating.

Overview

Rapid urbanisation trends in Africa continued in 2019 and 2020, and the region's megacities (many in West Africa) are expected to represent all of the world's 10 fastest growing cities (and 21 of the top 30) from 2018 to 2035.² Car ownership has remained low by global standards, with only 38 cars per 1,000 people in 2015, but is rising rapidly in many countries including Ghana, Madagascar and Tanzania (see Figures 1 and 2).³ African populations rely heavily on imported used vehicles and on paratransit as a primary source of mobility (see Focus Feature 6: Paratransit as a Complement to Formal Transport Networks).⁴

Historically, regional transport investments have been focused mainly on developing infrastructure for private vehicles, although most of the African population does not have access to this form of transport. Walking is a dominant mode of travel in the region, but fewer resources have been allocated to pedestrian and cycling infrastructure, exacerbating issues of social inequity and access to transport.⁵ Overall, a lack of robust data on urban and rural transport in Africa makes quantifying trends and calculating emissions difficult, although efforts are being made to fill in critical data and information gaps.⁶ The COVID-19 pandemic has created additional challenges for transport systems in Africa (see Box 1).⁷

Demand trends

Motorised transport volumes in Africa are the lowest among world regions; however, car ownership rates are rising, with some countries experiencing growth of 250% or more between 2005 and 2015 (see Figures 1 and 2).⁸ Despite relatively low vehicle ownership, Africa has the world's highest mortality rate from road traffic accidents (at 32.2 deaths per 100,000 inhabitants), nearly three times that of Europe.⁹ Africa (along with the Middle East) is an emerging hub for automobile manufacturing, led by several new plants being opened in recent years in Morocco.¹⁰

- Morocco has become Africa's leading auto manufacturer, producing 345,000 passenger vehicles in 2017 to surpass South Africa's total (331,000).¹¹ Morocco has also become a key supplier of parts for European auto factories and is expected to soon produce more cars annually than Italy.¹²
- South Africa is Africa's largest commercial vehicle market; however, the shift in demand for domestic and continental freight during the COVID-19 pandemic greatly impacted new commercial vehicle sales.¹³

New vehicle sales in Africa:

- 7% decrease in total new vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 5% decrease in new passenger car sales (2010-2019)
- 841,000 new passenger cars sold (2019)
- 11% decrease in new commercial vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 302,000 new commercial vehicles sold (2019)

Sources: See endnote 14 for this section.

Increased car ownership in Africa is driven largely by imports of used vehicles from other regions, which account for up to 95% of vehicle registrations in some African countries.¹⁵ Used car imports from Europe and Japan make up a large portion of light-duty vehicle fleets in many African countries.

- In Kenya, Rwanda and Uganda, up to 95% of vehicles being added to light-duty vehicle fleets are imported from Japan.¹⁶
- From 2017 to 2018, the Netherlands exported 35,000 lightduty vehicles to Africa, with roughly two-thirds of these going to Libya, Nigeria and Ghana.¹⁷ More than 80% of the vehicles did not meet Euro 4 emission standards.¹⁸

The African region has seen a rapid increase in motorcycles, which are used as taxis in both urban and rural areas and transport 80% of passengers and goods on rural roads.¹⁹

- The African two-wheeler market is predicted to grow 12% annually until 2025.²⁰
- Motorcycle numbers in Rwanda increased 8.5% annually between 2004 and 2017.²¹



Figure 1. Car ownership rates per 1,000 people in Africa, 2015



Figure 2. Growth in car ownership in Africa, 2005-2015



Source: See endnote 3 for this section.

38

9

More than one-third of all trips globally are made on foot or by bicycle; in some African cities, walking and cycling account for more than 70% of all personal trips.²² However, more than 9 out of 10 of the streets in the region that are walked and cycled do not meet minimum levels of service.²³

African cities where pedestrian travel exceeds 30% of all trips include Dar es Salaam, Tanzania; Kampala, Uganda; Nairobi, Kenya; and Quelimane, Mozambique.²⁴

Africa has the highest rate of road fatalities, with nearly 40% of these deaths involving pedestrians and another 4% involving cyclists - together accounting for nearly half of the region's road fatalities.²⁵ Globally, some vehicle manufacturers have begun implementing safety standards to protect people who are outside the vehicle, but these standards typically are targeted at high-income countries.²⁶

- Traffic death rates generally go up as incomes decrease; in Africa, the fatality rate for middle-income countries is 23.6 per 100,000 but for low-income countries is 29.3 per 100,000.²⁷
- Of the more than 90,000 walking and cycling deaths recorded in Africa in 2019, 93% involved pedestrians.²⁸
- Africa is home to only 2% of the countries globally where drunkdriving laws meet best practices, compared to 60% in Europe.²⁹

In some African cities, up to 80% of the population relies on paratransit, and some minibus taxi fleets have grown more than 5% annually.³⁰ Paratransit contributes to urban air pollution because the vehicles are often old and poorly maintained.³¹ A lack of formal scheduling can lead to higher global emissions due to frequent start-and-stop patterns and rapid acceleration and deceleration cycles (see Focus Feature 6: Paratransit as a Complement to Formal Transport Networks).³²

- In Kampala, Uganda, a fleet of 16,000 private minibus taxis carried 82.6% of commuters in 2015, and this fleet has grown 5.4% annually in recent years.³³
- Shares of minibus taxi use in South Africa's provinces reached 45.7% in Gauteng and 38.3% in the Eastern Cape and Mpumalanga in 2019.³⁴
- Paratransit services directly employed around 100,000 people in Kampala, Uganda in 2015.³⁵

Freight transport in Africa faces significant infrastructure gaps, resulting in relatively low levels of intra-regional trade.

- Transport infrastructure in South Africa is rated on par with India and slightly better than Indonesia.³⁶ Many African countries face a continuing need for improvements in road, rail, air and port networks.³⁷
- Sub-Saharan Africa scored 45 out of 100 points for regional infrastructure performance in the World Economic Forum's 2019 Global Competitiveness Report, down nearly three percentage points from 2018.³⁸
- The quality of Africa's transport infrastructure declined 6% between 2015 and 2017, compared with a 7% average improvement in countries in the Association of Southeast Asian

Nations (ASEAN) region.³⁹ During this period, only Botswana and South Africa narrowed transport infrastructure gaps relative to more advanced economies.⁴⁰

Emission trends

Africa had the lowest transport CO_2 levels among all world regions in 2019 (at 0.25 tonnes per capita), contributing only 5% of total global transport CO_2 emissions that year.⁴¹ This is due in part to the region's still large rural population share, whereas in urban areas transport emissions are growing rapidly.⁴²

Regional CO₂ emissions

- Total transport CO₂ emissions (2019): **326.8 million tonnes**
- Share of global transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 5%
- Per capita transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 0.25 tonnes
- Transport CO₂ emissions per USD 10,000 GDP (2019): 1.31 tonnes



Sources: See endnote 43 for this section.

Transport emissions in the region are growing rapidly from a low baseline. Africa's transport emissions increased 27% between 2010 and 2019, the second highest regional growth rate after Asia (41%).⁴⁴ The rise in emissions is driven by factors such as increasing urbanisation, growing demand for consumer goods, widespread import of inefficient used vehicles and a lack of fuel economy standards.

Only 15% of African countries exceeded global average per capita transport emissions during 2010-2019; however, nearly threequarters of African countries reported above-average emission growth (see Figures 3 and 4).⁴⁶ Trends in transport emissions ranged from 198% growth in Cabo Verde to a 16% decline in Djibouti.⁴⁶ Only 2 out of 53 African countries reduced transport emissions during the period.⁴⁷

Policy measures



Africa has continued to experience high urbanisation rates and increasing pressure to accommodate economic activity and population growth. This has resulted in a growing need for sustainable mobility options. Improving access to low carbon transport in Africa will continue to depend on national and private actions, due to a general lack of regional co-operation enabling sustainable planning modes.

Given the relatively small share of investment in transport in Africa (only 5.6% of the region's foreign direct investment portfolio), the strongest

opportunities to improve sustainable transport are likely low-cost, innovative, sustainable transport approaches that focus on planning, regulation and small-scale information technology solutions.⁴⁸

Transport policy measures enacted since 2018 include an increase in comprehensive transport planning, growing (but still insufficient) attention to walking and cycling, expansion of bus rapid transit systems, the integration of digital technologies in transport, and efforts to map and improve the routing of paratransit services. Additionally, public transport reforms in recent years contributed to making formalised transport more viable in several African cities.

Walking and cycling infrastructure improvements are expanding the options for safe, low carbon mobility, accounting for up to 20% of overall transport budgets in some African cities.⁴⁹ Walking is a dominant mode of transport in the region but receives little attention from dedicated infrastructure and policies, which continue to invest heavily in urban highways and flyovers. African cities have faced challenges in expanding cycling due to a lack of dedicated bicycle infrastructure; they also have a unique opportunity to maintain the share of pedestrian travel by improving the walkability of streets.

- Strategies to increase walking and cycling have been implemented in Ethiopia, Kenya (including Mombasa and Nairobi) and Zambia.⁵⁰ Nairobi has earmarked 20% of its transport budget towards development of these modes.⁵¹
- "Open Streets" events have become increasingly popular in several major cities, including Addis Ababa, Ethiopia and Kigali, Rwanda.⁵² Since 2018, Menged Le Sew (Streets for People) has organised monthly car-free days in Addis Ababa and other Ethiopian cities.⁵³
- Infrastructure improvements and Open Streets activities in Kampala, Uganda have been aimed at advancing the uptake of cycling.⁵⁴

Broader adoption of sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs) reflects more comprehensive planning approaches; however, SUMPs in Africa continue to trail other regions relative to population share. Efforts have been made in several African countries to support more comprehensive transport planning that enables public transport, more walking and cycling, and improved paratransit services.

The increased focus on SUMPs and on national urban mobility plans (NUMPs) with wide-ranging transport options provides opportunities to address social inequalities through enhanced accessibility. It can also help maintain Africa's relatively low levels of transport CO₂ emissions, especially given rapid growth in the region's megacities. However, the increased adoption of NUMPs and SUMPs in Africa will only bring about emission reductions and improvements in mobility access if they are soundly implemented.

Since 2018, Burkina Faso, Cameroon and South Africa have all adopted NUMPs.⁵⁵ At the local level, Douala and Yaounde (Cameroon) and Kisumu (Kenya) offer examples of advanced sustainable urban mobility planning.⁵⁶ The MobiliseYourCity

Figure 3. Per capita transport CO₂ emissions in Africa, 2019



Source: See endnote 45 for this section.

Partnership is expected to provide ongoing support to cities in Côte d'Ivoire, Ethiopia, Ghana, Morocco, Mozambique and Senegal, among others.⁵⁷

Diagnostic studies on sustainable urban mobility were conducted in 2020 in Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Ethiopia, Ghana, Guinea, Kenya, Mali, Nigeria, Rwanda, Senegal and Togo, facilitated by the Africa Transport Policy Program (SSATP).⁵⁸



In 2020, GoMetro and Ascendal initiated the Africa Urban Mobility Observatory to collect urban mobility data on 10 African cities, which can support the formulation of SUMPs and other sustainable transport policy measures; these cities are: Addis Ababa (Ethiopia), Blantyre (Malawi), Dar es Salaam (Tanzania), Gaborone (Botswana), Johannesburg (South Africa), Kigali (Rwanda), Kinshasa (Democratic Republic of the Congo), Lagos (Nigeria), Maseru (Lesotho) and Mwanza (Tanzania).⁶⁹

Despite recent improvements, only 35% of residents in Sub-Saharan Africa live within 500 metres of access to public transport, the lowest rate in the world and well below the global average of 49%.⁶⁰ While bus rapid transit and light-rail systems are being launched or expanded in some African cities, greater investment is required to provide needed urban mobility options across the continent.

- Abuja, Nigeria inaugurated the country's first light-rail Phase 1 project in 2018, extending 24 kilometres from the city's central business district to the Murtala Mohammed International Airport.⁶¹
- Lagos, Nigeria inaugurated a 13.6-kilometre bus rapid transit extension in 2020 from Oshodi to Abule Egba, with 550 new buses.⁶²

- In March 2020, Dakar, Senegal started building the first phase of its bus rapid transit system.⁶³ The first section of the city's Train Express Régional, a 55-kilometre commuter rail, was completed in 2019.⁶⁴
- Dar es Salaam, Tanzania started implementing its second and third bus rapid transit lines in 2019, which aim to eventually cover 130 kilometres, and launched a smartphone app for trip planning on the system.⁶⁵

Enhancements to paratransit services – including increased regulation, fleet renewals and digital technologies – are increasing access to mobility across Africa. The paratransit sector, comprising minibuses, taxis and motorcycles, has filled in the gap left by limited public transport options in African cities.⁶⁶ Improvements in the services have been pursued by civil society, company, government and non-governmental entities in many cities across the region (e.g., Accra, Addis Ababa, Cairo, Dar es Salaam, Kampala, Kisumu, Lusaka and Mombasa).⁶⁷ However, the challenge of quantifying the emissions from these services makes it difficult to evaluate policy impacts.⁶⁸

 African cities have increasingly sought to improve the efficiency of paratransit through regulations (e.g., minibus taxi licencing in Kampala, Uganda), support for fleet renewal (e.g., in Burkina Faso) and integration with formal public transport services (see Focus Feature 6: Paratransit as a Complement to Formal Transport Networks).⁶⁹

- App-based ride-hailing services have expanded quickly in many countries in the region (such as Kenya and Nigeria) and have pulled away ridership from traditional taxis and collective transport.⁷⁰
- Digital technologies such as smart phone apps have improved paratransit mapping, route planning and user experience by increasing the predictability of service frequency and wait times; examples include the DAR City Navigator app in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania; the Google Maps paratransit feature in Lagos, Nigeria; and DigitalTransport4Africa mapping of public/ paratransit services across Africa.⁷¹

Actions aimed at regulating vehicle and fuel quality standards are increasing and include bans on used vehicle imports as well as national and regional fuel economy roadmaps. Africa imports the largest share of used passenger cars (40%) of any region, and many of the vehicles have high fuel usage and CO_2 emissions and low safety conditions.⁷² The lack of regulations in many African countries results in lower efficiency levels than in any other region.⁷³ Imports of vehicles that meet minimum emission standards in exporting markets can help lower the pollution impacts of road transport and improve human and environmental health.⁷⁴

- African countries that have imposed total bans on used vehicle imports include Egypt, Morocco, South Africa and Sudan.⁷⁵
- The first-ever regional fuel economy roadmap, introduced through the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), aims to improve the average fuel economy in the 15 member countries 34% over 2015 levels by 2025, with an average target of 5 litres per 100 kilometres by that year.⁷⁶
- Namibia and Nigeria are among the countries using fiscal measures or tougher fuel economy measures in an effort to reduce fuel consumption.⁷⁷

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport in Africa



- 53% decrease in trips to public transport stations (at lowest point in 2020 versus January 2020 average)
- 32% to 50% decline in freight transport activity (below 2019 levels)
- 60% decline in international aviation activity (below 2019 levels)
- 53% decline in domestic aviation (below 2019 levels)

Mobility in most African countries has been heavily impacted by COVID-19. South Africa experienced a significant drop in transport demand for several months in 2020. Whereas global public transport ridership levels dropped 60-80%, ridership in South Africa fell 78-100%.

In Kenya, the government halved the capacity of collective transport providers, causing transport costs to rise and leading 27% of transport users to travel less often, and 17% to be unable to travel. Whereas 62% of users shifted to walking as a primary means of transport, only 6% shifted to private vehicles.

In Nigeria, due to the drop in oil prices (to which the local currency is pegged), public transport fares increased 100% or more (and in some cases 200% or more for paratransit, which provides the majority of services).

Relief funds for increased transport services (including those that are less formal) have not been proportional to needs in many African countries. In **Cairo**, Egypt, the local government has supported bus companies by restructuring loan agreements and service fees to maintain the viability of public transport operations.

Paratransit services have been particularly vulnerable to the COVID-19 pandemic, due to travel restrictions, reduced capacities and rising costs.

- In Kampala, Uganda and elsewhere, travel restrictions and lockdowns led to a temporary halt of all boda boda and minibus services.
- In Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo, social distancing requirements for public and private transport decreased the number of passengers per vehicle, leading to higher fares, lower revenues and vehicle delays due to lack of resources.

A number of African cities expanded walking and cycling measures in response to COVID-19 to allow for physical distancing while commuting and recreating. COVID-19 has underscored the need for improved walking and cycling infrastructure, which are being implemented in cities such as Addis Ababa and Kampala.

- Cape Town, South Africa has constructed 17 kilometres of new walkways for pedestrians and cyclists.
- Mombasa, Kenya has converted a major road into a temporary pedestrian zone to minimise contact while reducing traffic volumes.
- Nairobi, Kenya has widened footpaths and sidewalks to promote walking as a response to the pandemic.

Source: See endnote 7 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Responses

Avoid measures

Sustainable mobility planning

Burkina Faso adopted a national urban mobility policy (NUMP) in 2020 that aims to improve governance in the urban mobility sector; improve safe and equitable access to essential service; promote development of public transport; and drive a shift from private motorised vehicles.⁷⁸

Cameroon enacted a NUMP in 2019 that in turn enabled the creation of sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs) in Douala and Yaounde.⁷⁹

Kenya's third largest city, Kisumu, introduced a SUMP in 2020 with 10-year goals, such as keeping the share of walking and cycling above 55% and lowering greenhouse gas emissions.⁸⁰

South Africa launched its Green Transport Strategy in 2018, with a time frame up to 2050 in support of national climate plans.⁸¹

Shift measures

Public transport

Kigali, Rwanda completed full adoption of electronic fare collection on the city bus system, revolutionising local transport by allowing real-time updates of public transit routes; the city also launched the re-tendering of city bus services.⁸²

Paratransit

- Civil society, non-governmental and governmental partners have documented existing paratransit routes in Accra, Addis Ababa, Cairo, Dar es Salaam, Kampala, Kisumu, Lusaka and Mombasa, among others.⁸³
- Burkina Faso plans to regulate paratransit taxi services by 2025 by renewing fleets, increasing the share of drivers with health insurance and implementing a fare collection system in all vehicles.⁸⁴

By the end of 2019, the Digital Matatus project had mapped 140 routes for paratransit in Nairobi, Kenya, covering more than 3,000 kilometres and 4,000 stops.⁸⁵

- Google officially launched its Maps feature for paratransit in Lagos, Nigeria in 2019.⁸⁶ In February 2020, the city enacted a ban on motorcycle-based ride-hailing due to safety concerns.⁸⁷
- Kampala, Uganda launched a licencing programme for minibus taxis in June 2020 in an effort to better regulate the network and routes.⁸⁸

Walking and cycling

The African Road Safety Observatory was launched in 2018 to improve safety for road users in the region, which has the world's highest rate of road traffic fatalities at 26.6 deaths per 100,000 people.⁸⁹

Ethiopia launched a national Non-Motorised Transport Strategy in 2020, preceded by the Addis Ababa Non-Motorised Transport Strategy of 2019. The national strategy includes targets to increase the share of walking, cycling and public transport, reduce personal vehicle use, improve road safety and improve air quality over a 10-year period.⁹⁰

The "red carpet" project in Mombasa, Kenya expanded walkways in the city centre by nine kilometres.⁹¹ In Nairobi, the first car-free day was held in the city centre in 2019, and the city has begun implementing its 2015 Non-Motorised Transport strategy.⁹²

Improve measures

E-mobility

Egypt started operating its first electric buses, with a fleet of 15 buses in Alexandria in 2018 and Cairo in 2019.⁹³

Kenya reduced excise duties on electric vehicles from 20% to 10% in 2019, while increasing fees for conventional vehicles.⁹⁴ In 2020, **Morocco** launched several hundred electric scooters in Marrakech and its first electric car charging station in Rabat.⁹⁵

In 2019, **Rwanda** announced a national mobility policy to replace all motorcycles with electric motorcycles, as well as plans to launch a national electric bike sharing system.⁹⁶

South Africa's uYilo eMobility Programme, which enables connectivity between electric vehicles and smart grid infrastructure, was named a UK PACT implementation partner in February 2021.⁹⁷

Kampala, Uganda began pilot operations of two electric buses in 2020.98

1.3 Asia Regional Overview

Demographics

SLOCAT



Sources: See endnote 1 for this section.

Key findings

Demand trends

- Asia's car ownership rate increased 87% from 2005 to 2015 (latest available data), more than three times the global average.
- Four of the world's five most congested cities in 2019 were in Asia (Bengaluru, Mumbai and Pune, India; and Manila, the Philippines), due to increased ownership of motorised two-, three- and fourwheeled passenger and freight vehicles.
- Asian countries are ramping up motor vehicle production and accounted for 95% of motorised and electric two-wheelers globally, while also increasing commitments to phase out internal combustion engines.
- Electric two- and three-wheelers are being scaled up rapidly in Asia, with annual e-bike sales in China alone increasing from nearly 12 million in 2010 to 16 million in 2020.

 Asia was the epicentre of dockless bike-sharing systems in 2019 and 2020, but Asian cities accounted for only 8% of e-scooter services worldwide in early 2020, far fewer than the United States (39%) and Europe (37%).

Q

 Asia continued to dominate global maritime trade in 2019, accounting for more than 50% of global trade volume, more than 40% of goods loaded and more than 60% of goods unloaded.

Emission trends

- Transport CO₂ emissions in Asia grew 41% between 2010 and 2019, the highest growth among global regions.
- Two-thirds of Asian countries exceeded the global average for transport emissions growth (16%) between 2010 and 2019.
- Road freight transport increased more than 9% each in China and India from 2016 to 2017 (latest available data).

8 Policy measures

- Metro rail construction and expansion in Asian cities is outpacing other regions. The Asia-Pacific region continues to invest heavily in urban rail systems and in 2018 overtook Europe in the number of new light rail projects for the first time.
- China introduced up to half a million electric buses in its cities between 2015 and 2019, nearing scale, and the buses are also taking hold in neighbouring regions.
- Fuel economy improvements have progressed in China, India, Japan and Saudi Arabia. Average fuel economy improved at least 3% in major Asian countries (China, India, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, the Philippines and Thailand) in 2017 – more than twice the global average.
- Asian countries such as Indonesia, the Philippines and Singapore have introduced walking and cycling campaigns, policies and infrastructure improvements in an attempt to counteract the decline in walking and cycling in rapidly motorising countries and cities in the region.
- Asian countries are advancing policy measures on low carbon freight transport, including efforts in sustainable logistics, electric freight vehicles, ecodriving (i.e., driving techniques to maximise fuel efficiency) and freight exchange platforms.
- In Asia, most policies to increase the share of renewables in transport are related to biofuels, and most efforts to scale up electric vehicle uptake are not directly linked to the use of renewable energy.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Public transport impacts due to the COVID-19 pandemic were less drastic in Asia compared to other world regions, and some countries witnessed rapid recoveries in demand.
- Demand for shared mobility services in Asia was heavily impacted by the pandemic, resulting in reduced revenues and employment while triggering new strategies and innovation.



Overview

Asia accounts for most of the growth in global transport demand since 2000.² The region's transport CO₂ emissions also increased rapidly during this period, representing nearly 40% of the global total in 2019.³ Yet Asia (led by China) also has witnessed some of the strongest emission mitigation responses, leading global growth in high-speed rail, urban public transport (especially metro and bus rapid transit), fuel economy standards and bike sharing. The share of paratransit (sometimes called "informal transport") is high in many cities, contributing to increased mobility but also greater congestion. Overall, Asia is poised to set the pace for new sustainable transport models that can be replicated across both developed and developing countries.

The needed investment in transport infrastructure to drive economic growth in Asia is an estimated USD 500 billion to USD 900 billion annually.⁴ With the demand for private transport rising, finding a balance between economic growth and mobility has proven a challenge. Opportunities in the region are mainly focused on efforts to *"Improve"* vehicle technologies; however, economic growth strategies in Asia must also align with *"Avoid"* and *"Shift"* measures to prevent lock-in effects.

Demand trends

iii

Transport demand has continued to rise in most of Asia in line with economic growth. While the COVID-19 crisis led overall demand for transport to plunge in many Asian countries in 2020, demand was more stable in countries that implemented early virus containment policies and that offered more sustainable transport options (see Box 1).⁵

Asia's car ownership rate increased 87% from 2005 to 2015 (latest available data), more than three times the global average (see Figures 1 and 2).⁶ Imported used vehicles account for a high share of car ownership in Asian countries (including Bangladesh, Cambodia, Myanmar, Pakistan and Sri Lanka), contributing to declining air quality and increasing congestion. New passenger car sales in the region remained brisk from 2010 to 2019 (up 33%), while demand for new commercial vehicles declined.⁷

- **25% increase** in total new vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- **33% increase** in new passenger car sales (2010-2019)
- Over 35 million new passenger cars sold (2019)
- **1% decrease** in new commercial vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 7.8 million new commercial vehicles sold (2019)

Sources: See endnote 8 for this section.

Four of the world's five most congested cities in 2019 were in Asia (Bengaluru, Mumbai and Pune, India; and Manila, the Philippines), due to increased ownership and use of two-, three- and four-wheeled passenger and freight vehicles.⁹ Paratransit in Asia includes national services such as ankhot (Indonesia), jeepneys (Philippines) and si-lor (Thailand), which serve as feeders to public

Figure 1 Car ownership rates per 1,000 people in Asia, 2015



Source: See endnote 6 for this section.





Source: See endnote 6 for this section.

0

transport systems. The paratransit share is high in many Asian cities (e.g., Dhaka 54%, Jakarta 50%, Khulna 58%), contributing to increased mobility but also rising congestion.¹⁰

- Passenger transport demand in China: up 27% during 2010-2019, to 3,534,920 million passenger-kilometres¹¹
- Freight transport demand in China: up 49% during 2010-2019, to 13,998,760 million tonne-kilometres¹²

Asian countries are ramping up motor vehicle production and accounted for 95% of motorised and electric two-wheelers globally, while also increasing commitments to phase out internal combustion engines.¹³ The region dominates the market for electric passenger cars and buses. As countries like China, India and the Republic of Korea increase vehicle manufacturing, there are opportunities to replace polluting internal combustion engines with more efficient, regionally produced low carbon vehicles.

- In 2019, the Republic of Korea announced a goal to produce 6.2 million hydrogen cars by 2040.¹⁴ The country aims to shift all commercial vehicles, including trucks and construction machinery, to fuel cells by 2035 and to have 2,000 hydrogen fuel cell electric buses by 2022.¹⁵
- Hainan Province, China announced in 2019 that it will ban sales of diesel and petrol cars by 2030.¹⁶
- Hong Kong, China announced plans in 2019 to phase out internal combustion engine vehicles and to go fully electric over the next 20 years.¹⁷
- Several Asian auto manufacturers plan to phase out production of cars with internal combustion engines, including two of China's five biggest automakers (Changan Automobile and the BAIC Group) by 2025.¹⁸ The Korean automaker Hyundai halted development of diesel engines in 2020.¹⁹
- In 2020, Singapore announced that it would phase out petrol and diesel vehicles by 2040.²⁰

Electric two- and three-wheelers are being scaled up rapidly in Asia, with annual e-bike sales in China alone increasing from nearly 12 million in 2010 to 16 million in 2020.²¹ Middle and low-income countries in Asia have the world's highest density of two- and three-wheelers, both in absolute terms and as a fraction of the overall fleet.²² Implementing policies to ensure that these vehicles are powered by renewable electricity can reduce global greenhouse gas emissions and improve local air quality.

- In 2020, Delhi Metro Rail Corporation in India added electric rickshaw services to 12 more metro stations, bringing the total to more than 1,000 e-rickshaws at 29 stations.²³
- Solar rickshaws in India debuted on the IIT-Delhi campus in 2019, followed by an expansion of more than 1.5 million solar rickshaws throughout New Delhi in 2020.²⁴
- Bicycle exports from Chinese Taipei included 410,000 electric bicycles in 2020, up 21% from 2019.²⁵
- In Vietnam, the transition to electric two-wheelers was found to have the highest potential to reduce transport CO₂ emissions by 2030.²⁶ One local producer was able to increase production from 50,000 units in 2019 to 112,000 in 2020.²⁷

Asia was the epicentre of dockless bike-sharing systems in 2019 and 2020, but Asian cities accounted for only 8% of e-scooter services worldwide in early 2020, far fewer than the United States (39%) and Europe (37%).²⁸ This could be attributed to the lack of a cohesive regulatory framework for introducing and integrating e-scooter services into existing public transport systems.

- China's initial boom in dockless bike sharing crashed in 2019, with more than 40 private companies competing for limited urban space.²⁹ Cities including Hangzhou and Shanghai later created local guidelines aimed at reducing theft, vandalism and disposal of shared bicycles.³⁰
- Life-cycle emissions of shared bikes in China are significant, with an estimated two years of use required to achieve net carbon savings.³¹

Asia continued to dominate global maritime trade in 2019, accounting for more than 50% of global trade volume, more than 40% of goods loaded and more than 60% of goods unloaded.³² Trade tensions between China and the United States greatly affected maritime trade patterns in 2019, contributing to increased maritime activity in Vietnam and to smaller increases in Cambodia, Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore and Thailand.³³

- In 2019, Asia remained home to 16 of the world's top 20 container ports.³⁴
- Intraregional (within Asia) and South-South trade accounted for around 40% of total container-based trade in 2019.³⁵

Emission trends

Transport CO₂ emissions in Asia grew 41% between 2010 and 2019, the highest growth among global regions.³⁶ Asia is the largest regional contributor to transport CO₂ emissions, as strong population growth has led to increased demand for passenger and freight transport, and because of limited progress in decoupling economic growth from growth in transport emissions. Per capita transport CO₂ emissions in 2019 in Asia are close to the global average (see Figure 3).³⁷

Regional CO₂ emissions

- Total transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 2,606 million tonnes
- Share of global transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 38%
- Per capita transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 0.57 tonnes
- Transport CO₂ emissions per USD 10,000 GDP (2019): 0.88 tonnes



Sources: See endnote 38 for this section.

Figure 3. Per capita transport CO₂ emissions in Asia, 2019



Transport CO, per Capita Emissions

Source: See endnote 37 for this section.

Two-thirds of Asian countries exceeded the global average for transport emissions growth (16%) between 2010 and 2019 (see Figure 4).³⁹ Only 20% of Asian countries reduced their transport CO_2 emissions during this period (in some cases due to political conflicts).⁴⁰

Road freight transport increased more than 9% each in China and India from 2016 to 2017 (latest available data).⁴¹ Road freight transport produces higher emissions than rail, aviation and maritime transport combined.⁴² CO₂ emissions from freight transport in Asia are projected to grow more than 300% from 2010 to 2050.⁴³

Policy measures

Sustainable transport policy measures continued to expand in Asia, offering best practices in electric mobility, shared mobility, urban rail and renewable energy. Densely populated Asian cities have significant potential to expand sustainable mobility planning, including walking and cycling facilities, and more countries in the region are developing policy frameworks supporting low carbon urban mobility.

Metro rail construction and expansion in Asian cities is outpacing other regions.⁴⁴ The Asia-Pacific region continues to invest heavily in urban rail systems and in 2018 overtook Europe in the number of new light rail projects for the first time.⁴⁵ Major metropolitan areas launched and extended light and heavy rail systems, a key opportunity to reduce transport emissions. However, little action was recorded on bus rapid transit systems in the region during 2019 and 2020, with only one new system opening (in Peshawar, Pakistan). Other examples of rail construction and expansion in Asian cities include the following:

- In 2019, cities in China expanded their subway systems by a combined 877 kilometres from the previous year, for a total length of 6,172 kilometres.⁴⁶
- The first metro line in Pakistan opened in Lahore in October 2020, aiming to serve 250,000 passengers daily along its 27-kilometre route.⁴⁷
- The first subway system in Jakarta, Indonesia entered operation in 2019, with the opening of a metro line in March 2019 and a light rail line in December.⁴⁸
- Nagpur, India opened its first subway line in March 2019, followed by second line in January 2020.⁴⁹ Doha, Qatar introduced three subway lines in 2019 with a total length of 76 kilometres.⁵⁰
- The urban rail network in Bangkok, Thailand was expanded in 2018 with a 13-kilometre southern extension of the elevated BTS with nine new stations, followed in 2019 by a 10-kilometre northern extension and an extension of the blue line, completing the loop around the city and enabling capacity of 500,000 passengers per day.⁵¹

China introduced up to half a million electric buses in its cities between 2015 and 2019, nearing scale, and the buses are also taking hold in neighbouring regions.⁵² As local governments

Figure 4. Change in transport CO₂ emissions in Asia, 2010-2019

160%



across Asia replace older buses with new electric versions, there is an opportunity for formalised public transport systems to provide both cleaner and more equitable access. Tendering and contracting of public transport services to acquire electric vehicles could also include stipulations to make vehicles safer for riders and pedestrians and more accessible for persons with disabilities.

- In China, subsidies for electric vehicles (also called "new energy vehicles") were extended in 2020 through the end of 2022.⁵³
- In Singapore, 60 electric buses began operating as part of a trial in early 2020 and are expected to reduce around 7,840 tonnes of CO₂ annually, equivalent to the emissions of 1,700 passenger cars.⁵⁴

Fuel economy improvements have progressed in China, India, Japan and Saudi Arabia. Average fuel economy improved at least 3% in major Asian countries (China, India, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, the Philippines and Thailand) in 2017 – more than twice the global average.⁵⁵

The ASEAN Fuel Economy Roadmap 2018-2025, released in 2019, contains a target to reduce the average fuel consumption of new light-duty vehicles sold in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) region by 26% between 2015 and 2025, reaching 5.3 litres of petrol equivalent per 100 kilometres by 2025.⁵⁶

- In 2018, the Bangladesh Road Transport Authority initiated efforts to improve the fuel economy of light-duty vehicles. Between 2005 and 2017, the country's average fuel economy improved 23% (from 8.98 litres per 100 kilometres to 6.9 litres), and transport CO₂ emissions fell 24%.⁵⁷
- Malaysia aims to reduce carbon emissions by improving the overall fuel consumption of vehicles to 5.3 litres per 100 kilometres, in line with the ASEAN Fuel Economy Roadmap.⁵⁸
- A new fuel economy labelling guideline in the Philippines' Energy Standards and Labeling Program was to be implemented on a voluntary basis for one to two years starting in 2019.⁵⁹
- Vietnam began regulating newly assembled and imported four-wheel vehicles to Euro 4 emission standards in 2018 and is targeting the higher Euro 5 standards from 2022.⁶⁰

Asian countries such as Indonesia, the Philippines and Singapore have introduced walking and cycling campaigns, policies and infrastructure improvements in an attempt to counteract the decline in walking and cycling in rapidly motorising countries and cities in the region. In Beijing, China, cycling's share of transport fell from 39% in 2000 to 17% in 2010, and similar declines have occurred in many Chinese cities.⁶¹

been no regulation to improve cycling conditions in Indonesia, and the new regulation was foundational for the development of cycling policies across the country.⁶⁵
 A National Bicycle Act introduced in the Philippines in 2019 mandated the development of policies infrastructure and

and Udaipur.62

mandated the development of policies, infrastructure and facilities to integrate bicycles into the public transport system.⁶⁶ The country's Urban Mobility Plan, approved in 2020, outlines investments in non-motorised transport infrastructure.⁶⁷

A guidebook for reallocating rights-of-way to prioritise

walking and cycling in Indian cities was released in 2020,

with case studies from Coimbatore, Mumbai, Ranchi, Rohtak

In 2019, Jakarta, Indonesia built 63 kilometres of dedicated bike

lanes to encourage active commuting and reduce congestion.63

In September 2020, the Ministry of Transport in Indonesia

published a regulation for cyclist safety that mandated every

city and regency to provide cycling facilities, such as bike lanes

and bike parking; by December, Jakarta was among several

cities with newly painted bike lanes.⁶⁴ Until 2020, there had

Singapore announced in 2020 that it would double the length of its cycling paths to 800 kilometres by 2023.⁶⁸

Asian countries are advancing policy measures on low carbon freight transport, including efforts in sustainable logistics, electric freight vehicles, eco-driving (i.e., driving techniques to maximise fuel efficiency) and freight exchange platforms.⁶⁹ Rising shares of road freight in Asian countries present a challenge for efforts to reduce transport emissions.

In 2019, China introduced zero- or low-emission zones for freight vehicles in at least 10 cities, resulting in strong uptake of electric freight vehicles.⁷⁰

- INGKA Group, an IKEA franchisee that provides last-mile delivery services, achieved 100% electric home delivery in Shanghai in 2019, a year ahead of its 2020 target.⁷¹
- In 2020, Clean Air Asia concluded a five-year eco-driving programme in Indonesia, with private sector companies and other stakeholders seeking to reduce freight emissions.⁷²

In Asia, most policies to increase the share of renewables in transport are related to biofuels, and most efforts to scale up electric vehicle uptake are not directly linked to the use of renewable energy. Nine Asian countries produce transport biofuels, and China, Indonesia, Thailand and India rank among the world's top producers.⁷³ Biofuel production in the region increased more than 25% between 2017 and 2018, to 12 million tonnes.⁷⁴ Electrification of vehicles coupled with renewable energy can help reduce transport emissions, and pilots are under way to integrate hydrogen, solar and geothermal resources.

- Indonesia trialled 30% biodiesel blending the most ambition target in the region in 2019 and was aiming for 40% blending in 2020.⁷⁵
- Under a hydrogen pilot project in Foshan, China, 70 hydrogen buses were in operation by the end of 2018.⁷⁶
- Vehicle-to-grid integration pilots using solar energy in China included Hanergy Glory Solar Technology's test to run an electric vehicle for 30 consecutive days solely on solar power, without plug-in charging.⁷⁷
- In 2019, an urban rail network in Tokyo, Japan was converted to being powered entirely by geothermal power and hydropower.⁷⁸

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport in Asia

Major COVID-19 impacts:

- 59% decrease in trips to public transport stations (at lowest point in 2020 versus January 2020 average)
- 27% to 53% decline in freight transport activity (below 2019 levels)
- 71% decline in international aviation activity (to and from Asia; below 2019 levels)
- 37% decline in domestic aviation activity (below 2019 levels)

Following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, transport emissions in Asia dropped along with the decline in transport demand.

Public transport impacts due to the COVID-19 pandemic were less drastic in Asia compared to other world regions, and some countries witnessed rapid recoveries in demand. By late May 2020, the number of people accessing public transport stations in Mongolia, the **Republic of Korea** and **Vietnam** had returned to pre-COVID-19 levels of January 2020 (following sharp declines in April). Rail freight flows along the Trans-Asian Railway network avoided major restrictions during the pandemic in 2020.

Demand for shared mobility services in Asia was heavily impacted by the pandemic, resulting in reduced revenues and employment while triggering new strategies and innovation. The Indian ride-hailing company Ola saw a 95% drop in revenue in April and May 2020 and fired 1,400 employees to cut costs, while shifting resources to research and development. In December 2020, Indonesia-based Gojek, a platform providing transport, logistics and food delivery services, began a collaboration with the Asian Development Bank to research the impacts of COVID-19 and digitalisation on micro, small and medium-sized enterprises.

Source: See endnote 5 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Responses



Avoid measures

Sustainable mobility planning and transport demand management

- One of nine key tasks in **China's** 2019 Long-Term Transport Development Plan is to promote green, low carbon, resource- and energy-efficient, low-polluting and eco-friendly transport systems.⁷⁹
- Malaysia's National Transport Policy 2019-2030 includes actions on green transport, such as prioritising public transport networks in urban structures and accelerating the implementation of low carbon mobility initiatives.⁸⁰
- In 2019, after extensive public consultation, **Singapore** released its Land Transport Master Plan 2040, which includes the goal of a 45-minute city with 20-minute towns and 100% zero-emission buses and taxis by 2040.⁸¹
- National strategies to accelerate sustainable mobility were implemented in **Turkey**, aimed at higher fuel efficiency, introducing more transport services and reducing private vehicles in cities.⁸²

Shift measures

Public transport

- In China, recent additions to bus rapid transit systems included a 13-kilometre line in Fuzhou (Jiangxi Province), a 38-kilometre line in Tengzhou (Shandong Province) and a 35-kilometre line in Yongzhou (Hunan Province) in 2019, as well as extensions in Nanchang and Shanghai.⁸³
- The only new bus rapid transit system in Asia in 2020 opened in **Peshawar, Pakistan** with 32 stops, allowing a ridership of 500,000 people.⁸⁴
- TransJakarta, the bus rapid transit system in Jakarta, Indonesia, set an ambitious target in 2019 to shift to a 100% zero-emission fleet by 2030.⁸⁵

Shared mobility services

- In 2019, motorcycle taxis were allowed to legally operate in the **Philippines** for the first time.⁸⁶ In an attempt to regulate the industry, the number of such taxis was restricted in Metro Manila and Cebu to 45,000 riders, divided equally among three operators.⁸⁷
- Uber began using boats to alleviate road congestion on roads in Mumbai, India and partnered with the e-mobility start-up SUN Mobility to deploy electric three-wheelers in selected Indian cities in 2019.⁸⁸
- In early 2020, Grab introduced 20 electric cars to its ridehailing fleet in Jakarta, Indonesia.⁸⁹

Improve measures

Vehicle emissions

Bangladesh announced plans to introduce Euro 6 emission standards in 2025.⁹⁰

In 2018, the government of Indonesia introduced the Euro 4 standard for all vehicles that have two or more wheels.⁹¹

In Malaysia, tentatively, the Euro 4 standard took effect for new models after 1 April 2020, and for existing models after 1 October 2020.⁹²

- In 2019, **Turkey** adopted legislation to improve energy efficiency in the transport sector through the implementation of vehicle efficiency and environmentally friendly alternative fuels.⁹³
- Sarawak, Malaysia started using hydrogen-fuelled buses in 2020. $^{\scriptscriptstyle 94}$

JR East Group, a major passenger railway company in Japan, committed in May 2020 to achieving net-zero $\rm CO_2 emissions$ by 2051.⁹⁵

Indian Railways is on track to be 100% electrified by the end of 2022 and has committed to being carbon neutral by 2030.96

India's National Electric Mobility Mission Plan has the ambitious target of achieving 7 million hybrid and electric vehicles from 2020 onwards, and in 2019 the government implemented the Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of Electric Vehicles in India (FAME) Phase II scheme, allocating USD 1.4 billion in rebates over three years to reduce the purchase price of hybrid and electric vehicles.⁹⁷ The scheme also targets 2,700 electric vehicle charging stations in cities above 4 million inhabitants as well as fast and ultra-fast charging stations along major highways.⁹⁸

In 2019, a decree in Indonesia outlined government support for efforts to build an industry around the production and purchasing of electric vehicles.⁹⁹

1.4 Europe Regional Overview

Demographics

SLOCAT



Sources: See endnote 1 for this section.

Key findings

Demand trends

- In two-thirds of European countries, the growth in car ownership between 2005 and 2015 was below the global average; however, average rates of car ownership in 2015 were nearly three times the global average.
- The share of electric vehicles among new car registrations in Europe increased from 2% in 2018 to 3.5% in 2019, but market penetration remains relatively low.
- Passenger transport demand in the European Union (EU) reached a record high in 2018, with car travel accounting for more than 70% of passenger demand, and rail travel for nearly 7%.
- Freight transport demand increased 11% from 2010 to 2018, with road transport accounting for 73% of this demand, rail for 17% and inland waterways for 6%.
- Tram and metro usage reached an all-time high in the EU-27 in 2018, with growth of more than 10% since 2010. Demand for urban and inter-city buses remained stable during this period.

Emission trends

 Transport is responsible for nearly a quarter of EU greenhouse gas emissions and is the region's only sector without significant emission reductions since 2018.

Q

- Transport CO₂ emissions in Europe remained roughly stable between 2010 and 2019 and accounted for around 18% of global transport CO₂ emissions in 2019.
- Half of all European countries reduced their transport CO₂ emissions between 2010 and 2019, but more than 20% of countries exceeded the global average growth in transport emissions.
- Europe has the cleanest vehicle fleet among world regions; however, average CO₂ emissions from new cars and vans increased between 2017 and 2019, exceeding the 2021 emission standards for passenger cars by more than 25%.

8 Policy measures

- Individual European countries and the EU have established ambitious transport decarbonisation roadmaps to address rising transport emissions, with the aim of achieving climate neutrality by 2050.
- Many European countries have embraced integrated mobility planning to reduce urban transport emissions, and in 2020 the region accounted for 68% of global sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs).
- Electric mobility is a key target of EU policies for a "green transition" and post-pandemic recovery, and several European countries have announced progressive bans on sales of fossil fuel vehicles.
- Europe has emerged as a frontrunner in implementing low-emission zones as an effective strategy to tackle climate change and improve air quality; as of 2020, these zones were present in at least 261 European cities.
- With road freight movement in the region expected to grow steadily, low carbon freight and logistics strategies are emerging to help reduce greenhouse gas emissions and to incorporate the emission goals of the European Green Deal.
- Mobility as a Service (MaaS), which originated in Europe, is more advanced in the region than elsewhere globally; however, it is still transitioning towards broad market integration and remains far from achieving maximum emission reductions.
- The European Investment Bank adopted its Climate Bank Roadmap 2021-2025 to make all of its activities Paris Agreement compatible, and is reviewing its transport lending criteria to align with the Roadmap.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Prolonged lockdowns and travel restrictions due to COVID-19 contributed to a 61% reduction in public transport demand in Europe in 2020, although the region also experienced a swift shift to active mobility.
- By March 2020, most European countries had experienced declines in air passenger transport of 50-70% compared to 2019 levels, with Italy registering the largest drop of 85%.
- COVID-19-related declines in daily EU greenhouse gas emissions (compared to business as usual) began in early March 2020 but had almost returned to pre-lockdown levels by the end of July.
- Investments have been made in Europe to encourage active modes of transport (walking and cycling) as an effective means to guarantee social distance and promote active lifestyles.

Overview

Demand for freight and passenger transport in Europe grew at relatively low rates (1-2%) in 2018, but the region's per capita transport emissions remained high (although still well below North America's).² Europe's transport networks are well developed, with a rich set of public transport systems, walking and cycling infrastructure, and demand management policies. Transport policies aimed at climate change adaptation are also taking shape.

The European Green Deal, which aims to align EU policies with the region's objective to achieve climate neutrality by 2050, includes the goal of "accelerating the shift to sustainable and smart mobility".³ This led to the adoption in 2020 of a strategy and action plan that aims to provide more affordable, safe, competitive, accessible, healthier and cleaner mobility options, with the goal of cutting EU emissions from road, rail, aviation, and waterborne transport 90% by 2050.⁴ Despite the significant effort within Europe to implement planning approaches to ambitiously reduce transportrelated emissions, the region has demonstrated few achievements in effective climate change mitigation.

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted European transport in numerous ways. In the early months of 2020, most European countries experienced sharp declines in air passenger transport, and the region's long-distance, regional and international passenger rail services also plummeted (*see Box 1*).⁵

Demand trends

In two-thirds of European countries, the growth in car ownership between 2005 and 2015 was below the global average; however, average rates of car ownership in 2015 were nearly three times the global average (see *Figures 1 and 2*).⁶ For example, high car ownership in Luxembourg is driven by low taxation of transport fuels, a large number of company cars and high housing prices (which has led to greater numbers of cross-border workers).⁷ Government policies, such as the removal of parking spaces in Amsterdam, reflect efforts to reduce car ownership and ease congestion in rapidly motorising cities and regions.⁸

- In 2019, automobile production in Germany fell to its lowest level since 2010, coinciding with rapidly evolving vehicle technologies (e.g., electric and autonomous vehicles) and tighter emission restrictions.⁹
- A 2019 survey in Finland found that nearly 20% of citizens plan to give up their cars by 2024 in favour of public transport, shared bicycles or carpooling.¹⁰

New vehicle sales

- **13% increase** in total new vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 10% increase in new passenger car sales (2010-2019)
- Over 17.5 million passenger cars sold (2019)
- **33% increase** in new commercial vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 2.7 million new commercial vehicles sold (2019)





Source: See endnote 6 for this section.

Figure 2. Growth in car ownership in Europe, 2005-2015



Source: See endnote 6 for this section.

The share of electric vehicles among new car registrations in Europe increased from 2% in 2018 to 3.5% in 2019, but market penetration remains relatively low.¹² Electric vehicle registration shares were highest in Norway (56%), Iceland (19%), the Netherlands (16%), Sweden (12%) and Switzerland (11%).¹³ The demand for electric vans increased from 0.8% of total vehicle registrations in 2018 to 1.3% in 2019.¹⁴

Passenger transport demand in the EU reached a record high in 2018, with car travel accounting for more than 70% of passenger demand, and rail travel for nearly 7%.¹⁶ Car travel grew 6.7% between 2010 and 2018, while rail travel increased at more than twice that rate (13.6%).¹⁶ Demand for passenger rail varied among Member States, with increases of up to 30% reported in the Czech Republic, Luxembourg, the Slovak Republic and the United Kingdom, while Bulgaria, Croatia, Greece and Slovenia reported stable or declining ridership.¹⁷ In 2017, high-speed rail accounted for 27% of passenger rail transport in the EU overall, and for more than half in both France and Spain.¹⁸

Freight transport demand increased 11% from 2010 to 2018, with road transport accounting for 73% of this demand, rail for 17% and inland waterways for 6%.¹⁹ The main contributors to the increase in demand between 2010 and 2018 were road freight (up 9.7%) and rail freight (up 12.9%), while inland waterway freight fell 13.1%.²⁰

- Passenger transport activity: up 9% during 2010-2018, to 5,916 billion passenger-kilometres²¹
- Freight transport activity: up 11% during 2010-2018, to 3,353 billion tonne-kilometres²²

Tram and metro usage reached an all-time high in the EU-27 in 2018, with growth of more than 10% since 2010.²³ Demand for urban and inter-city buses remained stable during this period.²⁴ Overall, however, tram and metro usage accounted for just 1.7% of total passenger-kilometres in 2018, while buses accounted for 8.5%.²⁵

- Cities in Germany pursued various measures to improve public transport networks in 2019: Berlin announced that it would spend EUR 28 billion (USD 33 billion) on improving public transport until 2035, and Augsburg introduced the country's first "mobility flat rate", enabling local consumers to enjoy bus, car sharing, bicycles, etc. for a set monthly rate of EUR 79 (USD 95).²⁶
- In 2018, Estonia became the world's first country to make all public transport free in an effort to reduce car traffic, followed by Luxembourg in 2020.²⁷

Emission trends

Transport is responsible for nearly a quarter of EU greenhouse gas emissions and is the region's only sector without significant emission reductions since 2018.²⁸ The EU must reduce transport emissions 90% by 2050 to achieve climate neutrality as targeted under the European Green Deal.²⁹

Regional CO₂ emissions

- Total transport CO₂ emissions (2019): **1,226 million tonnes**
- Share of global transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 18%
- Per capita transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 1.64 tonnes
- Transport CO₂ emissions per USD 10,000 GDP (2019): 0.54 tonnes



Source: See endnote 30 for this section.

Transport CO_2 emissions in Europe remained roughly stable between 2010 and 2019 and accounted for around 18% of global transport CO_2 emissions in 2019.³¹ Although transport CO_2 emissions in Europe have not grown considerably, they remain far from the substantive reductions required to achieve the region's 2050 target for carbon neutrality.³² The per capita transport CO_2 emissions of nearly every European country are above the global average (see Figure 3).³³ Luxembourg is shown as an outlier as data is based on fuel consumption, which is extremely high due to the low fuel prices that attract citizens from neighbouring countries.³⁴

Half of all European countries reduced their transport CO_2 emissions between 2010 and 2019, but more than 20% of countries exceeded the global average growth in transport emissions (see Figure 4).³⁵ The region includes examples of both rapid growth and sharp declines in transport CO_2 emissions during this period.

- Transport emissions in North Macedonia have surged mainly because of rising car ownership. This has led to a very high carbon intensity in transport, especially considering the prevalence of old vehicles with low or no emission controls, and the limited provision of public transport.³⁶
- In contrast, the sharp decline in transport emissions in Greece is explained by the economic crisis and subsequent drop in fuel consumption during 2009-2012; since 2013, however, emissions have been continually increasing at a low rate (not including 2020).³⁷

Europe has the cleanest vehicle fleet among world regions; however, average CO_2 emissions from new cars and vans increased between 2017 and 2019, exceeding the 2021 emission standards for passenger cars by more than 25%.³⁸ Sport utility vehicles (SUVs) accounted for nearly 40% of new car sales in Europe in 2019, while electric vehicles accounted for only 2.3%.³⁹ European car industry sales increased in 2019, unlike industry sales in both China and the United States.⁴⁰



Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - $2^{\,\text{nd}}$ edition



Figure 4. Change in transport CO₂ emissions in Europe, 2010-2019



Source: See endnote 31 for this section.

SLOCAT

56

- Average emissions of new cars registered in the EU totalled 122.4 grams of CO₂ per kilometre in 2019, well above the target of 95 grams for 2021 and higher than the 2018 average.⁴¹
- Sales of diesel vehicles as a share of total vehicles sold in the EU fell from 36% in 2018 to 31% in 2019.⁴²
- The EU adopted new CO₂ emission performance standards for cars and vans in 2019 and set a target for 35% zero- and low-emission vehicles in new registrations by 2030 measures that are projected to reduce the region's CO₂ emissions from road transport 23% by 2030 (compared to 2005 levels).⁴³

Policy measures



Strong political will in the region has paved the way for Europe to be an influential leader in global action on transport and climate change. The EU encourages strict fuel economy requirements and the use of advanced biofuels. At a national level, the majority of countries aim to increase investments in public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure.

Europe offers many tested transport solutions (including trams, high-speed rail, shared mobility systems, low-emission zones, etc.) that can be and have been replicated by peers in other regions and adapted by countries and cities across geographies in different socio-economic realities.

Individual European countries and the EU have established ambitious transport decarbonisation roadmaps to address rising transport emissions, with the aim of achieving climate neutrality by 2050. The EU played a key role in negotiating the Paris Agreement and offers examples of ambitious climate change policies. The region is uniquely positioned to influence climate action in other countries because of its economic weight, ability to craft common legislation among 27 Member States and role as the world's largest provider of international development assistance.⁴⁴

- The European Green Deal proposes actions for sustainable, low carbon transport with key priorities including increasing multimodal passenger and freight transport efficiency, fostering automated and smart mobility, ending fossil fuel subsidies, extending emission trading to shipping and ramping up sustainable fuels.⁴⁵
- Many cities in Europe have joined the Global Covenant of Majors for Climate and Energy to jointly tackle both climate change mitigation and adaptation and to support implementation of the EU target to cut greenhouse gases 40% by 2030.⁴⁶ The Covenant commits more than 10,000 cities worldwide to submitting concrete action plans as well as strategies to track their implementation.⁴⁷
- Scotland's Green New Deal of 2019 included GBP 500 million (USD 700 million) for improved bus priority lanes to tackle congestion and increase usage.⁴⁸ In 2020, the UK Government announced a GBP 5 billion (USD 7 billion) boost for greener transport, transforming bus services across the country with simpler fares, bus fleet modernisation, improved routes and higher frequencies.⁴⁹

- The EU's Long-Term Strategy for implementation of the Paris Agreement offers transport innovations by using "alternative means of transport, connected and automated driving combined with the roll-out of electric vehicles and enhanced use of alternative fuels".⁵⁰
- A large share (83%) of international transport experts view the EU as the most influential major international organisation to help increase co-ordination and drive decarbonisation in the transport sector.⁵¹

Many European countries have embraced integrated mobility planning to reduce urban transport emissions, and in 2020 the region accounted for 68% of global sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs).⁵² During the year, SUMPs expanded to seven cities in Ukraine.⁵³

- In 2019, Italy launched an initiative to support the development of SUMPs in at least 64 municipalities.⁵⁴
- Paris, France set several targets in 2019 aimed at establishing a "15-minute city", where all essential needs are within a short walk or bike ride.⁵⁵ Only battery electric and hydrogen fuel cell vehicles will be permitted to enter the city's low-emission zone by 2030.⁵⁶
- Ukraine's comprehensive package of mobility reform measures offers a model for other emerging and transitional economies and includes the expansion of SUMPs, targets for alternative fuels and electric vehicles, and tax waivers.⁵⁷

Electric mobility is a key target of EU policies for a "green transition" and post-pandemic recovery, and several European countries have announced progressive bans on sales of fossil fuel vehicles.⁵⁸ Although electric vehicle sales are increasing rapidly in the region, market penetration remains low at 3.5% in 2019.⁵⁹ Initiatives to boost electric mobility have focused mainly on technological optimisation and market development of battery-powered vehicles.

- Bans on sales of fossil fuel vehicles will enter into force in Norway by 2025; in Denmark, Iceland, Ireland, the Netherlands, Slovenia, Sweden and the United Kingdom by 2030; and in France, Portugal and Spain by 2040.⁶⁰
- Volkswagen announced that it would launch its final generation of internal combustion engine vehicles in 2026, and Volvo pledged to manufacture only electric vehicles by 2030.⁶¹ Europe's seven largest truckmakers have agreed to phase out the use of traditional internal combustion engines.⁶²
- In 2019, France launched a massive fleet of 10,000 electric bicycles in Paris, along with 800 new electric buses to help reduce smog.⁶³
- Portugal developed an electric bike subsidy scheme in 2019, supporting the purchase of 1,000 e-bikes.⁶⁴ In the Netherlands, e-bike sales grew roughly 35% in 2019, while sales of regular city bikes fell 4.1% in the first half of the year.⁶⁵ Across the EU, 3.7 million e-bikes were sold in 2019, far outpacing the half-million electric vehicles sold that year.⁶⁶

Europe has emerged as a frontrunner in implementing lowemission zones as an effective strategy to tackle climate change and improve air quality; as of 2020, these zones were present in at least 261 European cities.⁶⁷ In a 2020 UK poll, 74% of respondents said they want businesses to "do more to cut pollution and traffic after the lock down so that neighbourhoods don't go back to the way they were".⁶⁸ (See Section 3.2 Sustainable Mobility and Transport Demand Management.)

- In 2019, Paris, France banned the use of all diesel cars manufactured before 2006, and by 2030 only zero-emission vehicles will be allowed to enter the city's low-emission zone.⁶⁹
- In 2020, Krakow became the first city in Poland with a lowemission zone.⁷⁰
- London, UK implemented an ultra-low emission zone in April 2019, charging polluting cars and trucks an additional fee for entering the already existing congestion zone.⁷¹
- Spain enacted a law in 2020 to implement low-emission zones in all urban areas with populations larger than 50,000.⁷² Barcelona, which created a low-emission zone that includes neighbouring communities, aims to cut the number of cars in the city by 125,000 within three years, and air pollution by 20% within four years.⁷³
- Under the umbrella of the Dutch National Climate Agreement, Rotterdam adopted its Roadmap Zero-Emission City Logistics strategy in 2019 and is required to implement a zero-emission zone by 2025 (along with the 30 largest cities in the Netherlands).⁷⁴

With road freight movement in Europe expected to grow steadily, low carbon freight and logistics strategies are emerging to help reduce greenhouse gas emissions and to incorporate the emission goals of the European Green Deal.⁷⁶ Shifting road freight to rail and inland waterways can help cut emissions, pending measures to increase the capacity and improve management of these more efficient freight modes.⁷⁶ Two-thirds of freight companies consider decarbonisation to be a priority for the sector, and many shippers and logistics service providers have begun setting mitigation goals.⁷⁷

- In 2019, the Alliance for Logistics Innovation and Collaboration in Europe (ALICE) developed the Roadmap Towards Zero Emissions Logistics 2050, aimed at decarbonising the logistic sector by defining specific stakeholder roles while promoting cleaner vehicles, trains, barges, ships and planes.⁷⁸
- In the Netherlands, in 2019, the Dutch company GoodFuels and partner Reinplus Fiwado Bunker launched the country's first inland vessel that runs on 100% sustainable biofuels.⁷⁹
- A pilot to employ a shared passenger-cargo tram to deliver goods was announced in Frankfurt, Germany in 2018.⁸⁰ Similar schemes have been implemented in Dresden, Germany to supply materials to the Volkswagen factory, in Switzerland to transport garbage and in France to transport goods to supermarkets.⁸¹
- Chronopost has used cargo bikes for last-mile delivery in Lisbon, Portugal, where the municipal light-duty fleet is also 100% electric.⁸²

Mobility as a Service (MaaS), which originated in Europe, is more advanced in the region than elsewhere globally; however, it is still transitioning towards broad market integration and remains far from achieving maximum emission reductions.⁸³ Innovative mobility solutions and the use of information technologies have moved transport services towards a more user-centred paradigm. MaaS aims to make travel by private car less attractive than using collective, shared or active transport modes by integrating different fares and modes in a unified online platform, and has the potential to reduce transport CO₂ emissions up to 50%.⁸⁴

Despite many European initiatives to deploy MaaS at a large scale, few systems are fully operational.⁸⁵ Regulation has been identified as the last resort for MaaS, including complex interlinks between different sectors. In turn, co-ordination across different levels of government is key for its spread.⁸⁶

- In Spain, Bilbao's 2019 declaration "Towards a more sustainable urban mobility" encourages transport, automotive and technology companies to direct their research and development processes and new technologies towards the service of sustainable urban mobility.⁸⁷
- European cities with either pilot or fully developed MaaS strategies include Amsterdam, Antwerp, Birmingham, Ghent, Gothenburg, Hannover, Helsinki, Mulhouse, Stuttgart and Vienna – although operation and commercialisation remain limited.⁸⁸
- In 2019, the Nordic countries created the Nordic Mobility Innovations Platform, aiming to spread MaaS across the Nordic region, open a pan-Nordic market, and share knowledge and collaboration.⁸⁹
- The world's first full MaaS solution, Whim, is available in Helsinki, Finland, allowing users to access public transport, taxis, car rentals, bicycles and e-scooters through a single app and payment system.⁹⁰
- In Barcelona, Spain, a pilot of demand-responsive public transport services was implemented in areas of low population density to increase efficiency.⁹¹

The European Investment Bank (EIB) adopted its Climate Bank Roadmap 2021-2025 to make all of its activities Paris Agreement compatible, and is reviewing its transport lending criteria to align with the Roadmap.⁹² Although only 10% of EIB activities are outside the EU, the Bank is among the world's biggest lenders on climate action, and transport is its largest area of activity.⁹³ The EIB's discussion and conclusions on the transport lending criteria will have global implications, due to both the sheer scale of the Bank's activities and because it is the multilateral development bank with the most ambitious climate policy.

- In 2019, the EIB announced that it would end fossil fuel financing for energy projects by 2021.⁹⁴
- The EIB committed to unlocking EUR 1 trillion (USD 1.2 trillion) for climate action and environmental sustainable investment from 2021-2030.⁹⁵

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport in Europe

Major COVID-19 impacts:

- 61% decrease in trips to public transport stations (at lowest point in 2020 versus average between 3 January and 6 February)
- 40% decline in freight transport activity (below 2019 levels)
- 60% decline in international aviation activity (below 2019 levels)
- 37% decline in domestic aviation activity (below 2019 levels)



Prolonged lockdowns and travel restrictions due to COVID-19 contributed to a 61% reduction in public transport demand in Europe in 2020, although the region also experienced a swift shift to active mobility. The largest declines in trips to public transport stations occurred during the first wave of the pandemic in March/ April and the second wave in October. Meanwhile, steep increases in cycling were recorded in many cities around Europe.

- A study of temporary cycling measures adopted in 106 European cities showed a 7% increase in cycling on average during the first three months after opening a temporary bike lane compared to the average of 12 months before the opening, with an estimated EUR 3 billion (USD 3.5 billion) in annual health benefits due to the implementation of pop-up bike lanes.
- The UK's strict lockdown imposed in March 2020 triggered a 95% decrease in subway trips in London.
- In Barcelona, Spain, public transport use fell 50% and car use fell 10%, whereas walking and cycling have risen to 10% above pre-pandemic levels. Other cities with significant increases in walking and cycling include Milan, Italy; Paris, France; Lisbon, Portugal; London, UK; Brussels, Belgium; and Krakow, Poland.
- A survey in 21 European cities in June 2020 found that 21% of respondents planned to cycle more and 35% planned to walk more once lockdowns were fully lifted.

By March 2020, most European countries had experienced declines in air passenger transport of 50-70% compared to 2019 levels, with Italy registering the largest drop of 85%. The region's long-distance, regional and international passenger rail services also plummeted. The demand for passenger transport fell because of both travel restrictions and reduced commuting, tourism and business travel. The dramatic decline in transport activity during lockdowns may have reduced CO_2 emissions in Europe, but these impacts were expected to be temporary. The overall decline in the region's CO_2 emissions may also be related to the contraction in Europe's GDP.

COVID-19-related declines in daily EU greenhouse gas emissions (compared to business as usual) began in early March 2020 but had almost returned to pre-lockdown levels by the end of July. An estimated 54% of the CO_2 emission reductions came from the transport sector, with the largest declines from aviation and road transport. The most affected activities during the pandemic were wholesale, retail trade, transport, accommodation and food service activities, together with the manufacturing sector. Collectively, these activities accounted for around 62% of the overall reduction in GDP and contributed to more than 93.7% of the total CO_2 emissions reduction due to their traditional high carbon intensity.

Investments have been made in Europe to encourage active modes of transport (walking and cycling) as an effective means to guarantee social distance and promote active lifestyles. As of May 2021, more than 2,500 kilometres of new cycling lanes had been announced, and more than 1,400 kilometres had been implemented, in 42 of the 94 biggest European cities.

The EU's COVID-19 recovery plan focuses on implementation of the European Green Deal to provide safe and healthy conditions and to restore economic growth in a sustainable, fair, strong and inclusive manner. The plan includes NextGenerationEU, an emergency allocation of EUR 750 billion (USD 900 billion) to help repair the immediate economic and social damage from the pandemic, including by boosting rail travel and clean mobility in cities and regions. Together with other targeted funding for 2021-2027, NextGenerationEU will bring the total financial firepower of the EU budget to EUR 1.85 trillion.

At the country level, Austria, France, Germany, Italy and Spain all announced financial measures to advance the deployment of electric vehicles and charging infrastructure during the post-pandemic period. Principles for recovery have focused on safety guidelines and integrating technology in transport to prioritise the health of workers and riders.

Source: See endnote 5 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Responses



Avoid measures

Sustainable mobility planning

Europe leads in the development of sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs), as the European Commission encourages Member States to develop such action frameworks.⁹⁶

- In 2020, the Netherlands lowered its speed limit from 130 to 100 kilometres per hour to reduce emissions, and Amsterdam plans to strip its city centre of parking spaces (removing 10,000 in total) over the coming years, making way for bike lanes, sidewalks and more trees.⁹⁷
- In Ukraine, the cities of Chernivtsi, Poltava, Vinnytsia and Zhytomyr, and Podil District of Kyiv, developed SUMPs in 2019, and Mykolayiv and Lviv approved such plans in 2020.98 In Serbia, Kruševacte was the first town to develop a SUMP, forming the basis for developing others in Belgrade, Pirot and Ŝabac.⁹⁹
- Helsinki and Turku in Finland aim to become carbon neutral by 2035, which will have strong implications for transport systems.¹⁰⁰

Shift measures

Public transport

European cities and countries have extensive public transport systems that are undergoing continuous innovations and improvements.

- **Barcelona**, Spain introduced a new travel card in 2020 offering unlimited public transport trips within the metropolitan area for EUR 40 (USD 48) a month.¹⁰¹
- A recent report concludes that reviving European international rail connections is a key measure to cut greenhouse gas emissions, as a flight from Paris to Berlin contributes six times the CO_2 emissions of train travel.¹⁰² Night-train routes are reemerging across Europe to replace flights, including possible connections from Stockholm to Berlin and from Brussels to Vienna.¹⁰³ (See Section 3.10 on Aviation.)

Shared mobility services

Dockless e-scooters are highly popular in Europe, surpassed only by North America. Also, many pilot projects have been launched related to autonomous vehicles (collective and individual transport).

In Paris, Lime e-scooters replaced 1.2 million motor vehicle trips and avoided more than 330 tonnes of CO_2 in 2019.¹⁰⁴ By 2030, the increasing adoption of e-scooters in Paris could prevent over 10,000 tonnes of CO_2 emissions and 300 kilograms of local particulate pollution annually.¹⁰⁵

Germany passed a law in May 2019 permitting e-scooters only on bicycle lanes and requiring vehicle registrations.¹⁰⁶ Also that year, tests of fully electric, autonomous collective passenger vehicles on public roads took place in Frankfurt.¹⁰⁷ In 2020, Bird announced a partnership with an independent green supplier to offset the company's energy consumption in Paris; for every kilowatt-hour consumed, Bird will finance select green energy producers throughout France.¹⁰⁸

Walking and cycling

As part of their urban planning, many European cities have prioritised the need for better walking and cycling infrastructure. As a "tactical urbanism" response to the pandemic, more than 2,500 kilometres of new cycling infrastructure were implemented in cities across the region since March 2020.¹⁰⁹

Germany pursued a pedestrian policy that aimed to increase the share of walking trips in big cities to 41%, and in rural areas to 35%, by 2020.¹¹⁰

In 2019, **Italy's** Ministry of Environment announced an investment of EUR 500 million (USD 600 million) to expand urban and interurban cycling paths and to promote bike sharing services.¹¹¹

In a push for improved walking and cycling, **Scotland** banned parking on pedestrian walkways in 2019 and allocated GBP 80 million (USD 110 million) for active travel in 2019-2020 as part of a climate change bill.¹¹²

France plans to spend EUR 350 million (USD 420 million) from 2019 to 2025 to boost cycling through better bike lanes and tax incentives.¹¹³

Improve measures

Fuel economy and quality

Throughout Europe, policies to enhance the efficiency of both passenger and freight vehicles have been put in place.

Under new European fuel economy standards that are focused on heavy-duty vehicles, manufacturers will have to reduce emissions from large trucks 30% by 2030. In parallel, the EU has provided incentives for zero-emission and low-emission vehicles.¹¹⁴

Starting in January 2020, France lowered the CO_2 emissions threshold for new cars to 110 grams of CO_2 per kilometre, above which vehicles are subjected to a penalty; this is 7 grams lower than the previous threshold implemented in January 2019.¹¹⁵

As part of its 2019 Climate Programme, **Germany** linked a vehicle's tax outlay to its emissions level; the tax is incremental and depends on the vehicle's carbon output.¹¹⁶

E-mobility

Europe was home to 20% of the sales of new electric passenger cars worldwide in 2019.¹¹⁷

- In Norway, which leads globally in the share of electric vehicles among new car sales, 69% of new vehicles sold in the first half of 2020 were either fully electric or plug-in hybrid electric cars.¹¹⁸
- In 2018, Ukraine announced a target of 75% electric personal vehicles by 2030. In 2019, the country extended its zero-tax benefit for purchasing an electric car (new or second-hand).¹¹⁹
- Serbia introduced a tax exemption for electric and fuel cell vehicles in January 2020 and was considering more subsidies in response to rising air pollution in the country.¹²⁰
- Public electric vehicle charging points are widely available in France, Germany, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom, and the EU has encouraged Member States to boost these numbers. **Estonia** fostered the installation of a nationwide fast-charging network, ensuring a recharging point every 40-60 kilometres in dense traffic areas, and **Sweden** offers a tax break to individuals who install a charging point at home.¹²¹
- In Malta, financial incentives for electric and hybrid cars and two-wheelers (including pedelecs) were successfully implemented, and the government is moving forward national regulations for electric scooter use.¹²²

Renewable energy

The EU is the only international organisation that aims to introduce advanced biofuels, based on new sustainability criteria decided in 2018.¹²³

- Finland adopted a law in 2019 to gradually increase the share of biofuels for road traffic to 30% by 2029, with advanced biofuels accounting for 10%.¹²⁴
- France launched the world's first hydrogen-powered bus rapid transit system in Pau in 2019.¹²⁵ The French government raised the mandatory minimum biofuel blend in motor fuel to 7.9% in 2019 and 8.2% in 2020.¹²⁶ The company Hype rolled out 100 hydrogen fuel cell taxis in Paris in early 2019 and was targeting 600 by the end of 2020.¹²⁷
- In 2018, Ukraine set a target for 50% alternative fuels by 2030. $^{\rm 128}$
- In the United Kingdom, Chester Council approved plans in 2019 to build a biogas plant that will generate enough fuel to power up to 1,000 low carbon heavy-duty vehicles and buses per year.¹²⁹ In a UK trial of a heavy goods vehicle fuelled with biomethane, some 1,400 tonnes of CO_2 emissions were saved.¹³⁰





SLOCAT

Latin America and the Caribbean Regional Overview





Source: See endnote 1 for this section.

Key findings

Demand trends

- The LAC region is experiencing the highest growth in car ownership in the world - up 58% between 2005 and 2015, or more than twice the global average of 27%.
- The majority of passenger travel in the region occurs via public transport (averaging 68% of all trips). LAC has the world's highest per capita bus use and also leads in the implementation of bus rapid transit, with systems present in 54 cities as of 2019.
- Around 70% of freight transport in the LAC region is by truck, and regional freight demand (on land and sea) is expected to more than double between 2015 and 2050.

Emission trends

 Transport carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions in the LAC region increased 3% from 2010 to 2019, and accounted for 8% of total global emissions in 2019. Q

- Per capita transport CO₂ emissions in the region (0.85 tonnes) track closely to the global average (0.88 tonnes).
- Transport emissions relative to economic output are higher in LAC than in any other region except Africa, at 0.98 tonnes of CO₂ per USD 10,000 in 2019.
- The LAC region has lower vehicle emission standards than Asia and Europe, but emerging programmes in Argentina, Brazil, Chile and Costa Rica are contributing to more stringent standards.

8 Policy measures

- Strategic plans, enabling policies and incentives are emerging across the region to help accelerate the uptake and manufacturing of electric vehicles.
- The LAC region boasts the world's highest shares of renewable energy, including in electricity grids, allowing greater potential to decarbonise transport through electrification.
- The region has the world's second highest number of implemented sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs) after Europe, and national urban mobility plans (NUMPs) are growing in prominence (although not yet widespread).
- Cities in the region continued to invest in cycling infrastructure, supported by strategies and incentives to increase active mobility; however, investments in pedestrian infrastructure have been insufficient, considering that walking constitutes as much as 54% of all trips.
- Shared mobility has become a prominent mode in the region, but further expansion is hindered by insufficient regulatory frameworks and a lack of integration with existing transport modes.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Mobility reductions accelerated starting in mid-March 2020, and by the end of that month passenger travel demand in the region had dropped nearly 80% and stayed roughly the same through late 2020.
- Public transport systems in the region are financed through a mix of user fees and government subsidies, both of which have been greatly impacted by the pandemic, with decreases in ridership and economic downturns.
- Cities across the LAC region responded by adding temporary bicycle lanes to promote socially distant transport options, including in Bogotá, Buenos Aires, Cuenca (Ecuador), Lima and Mexico City, among others.
- Paratransit (sometimes called "informal transport") has been an essential supplier of transport services in the LAC region, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, providing access to mobility for millions of people, filling in gaps left by formal transport systems by quickly adapting and responding to changes in demand, and generating significant employment opportunities.



Overview

Latin America and the Caribbean is the second most urbanised region in the world after Asia, with 81% of the population living in urban areas in 2019.² This high urbanisation rate has led to rising demand for transport and, in many cases, to an increase in private vehicle trips, resulting in congestion, bad air quality and growing CO_2 emissions.

The region has a high share of urban bus use as well as broad rollout of bus rapid transit systems. In many cities, efforts are being made to improve walking and cycling infrastructure. However, the region also has the highest global growth in private vehicles, with projections of a three-fold increase by 2050, to exceed 200 million.³ Freight represents 40% of global transport CO_2 emissions, and in the LAC region, 70% of surface freight is delivered via road (trucks), contributing greatly to regional transport emissions.⁴

COVID-19 has profoundly impacted transport in the LAC region, with sharp decreases in trips to public transport stations, freight transport and aviation activity. Demand levels stayed roughly the same through late 2020, although they showed slight increases each month. In addition, several major cities had announced plans to expand bicycle lanes before the onset of COVID-19, and the pandemic may have accelerated implementation (*see Box 1*).⁵

Demand trends



The LAC region is experiencing the highest growth in car ownership in the world – up 58% between 2005 and 2015, or more than twice the global average of 27% (see Figure 1).⁶ While public transport use remains high, people in the region rely increasingly on private vehicles, leading to high congestion levels in cities. Regionally, more than 30% of the traffic in large cities is from vehicles looking for parking spots, and major cities such as Bogotá, Mexico City and São Paulo are considered among the most congested in the world.⁷ As of 2015 (latest data available), nearly one-third of countries in the LAC region had car ownership rates above the global average of 173 vehicles per 1,000 people (see Figure 2).⁸

Personal use of both private cars and motorcycles has grown in the region due to a mix of factors, including greater affordability of vehicles and rising incomes; convenience and accessibility when compared to public transport or active modes; and the perception of increased safety associated with private vehicles. The out-of-pocket costs of traveling by different modes vary widely in Latin American cities, with the costs of public transport being relatively high in many cities (*see Figure 3*).⁹ In São Paulo, Brazil, for example, the cost to take a bus 7 kilometres in 2014 was higher than the cost of fuel to drive a private vehicle the same distance.¹⁰ In almost every city analysed, it is cheaper to travel by motorcycle than by bus or private vehicle.¹¹

New vehicle sales

- 9% increase in total new vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 11% growth in new passenger car sales (2010-2019)
- Over 4.2 million new passenger cars sold (2019)
- 2% growth in new commercial vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 1.5 million new commercial vehicles sold (2019)

Sources: See endnote 12 for this section.

In addition to new vehicle sales, a large number of vehicles sold in the LAC region are used vehicles, which are not reflected in the numbers above.

The majority of passenger travel in the region occurs via public transport (averaging 68% of all trips).¹³ LAC has the world's highest per capita bus use and also leads in the implementation of bus rapid transit, with systems present in 54 cities as of 2019.¹⁴ Metro projects also have increased in recent years. Given the region's high urbanisation rates, there is further potential to expand on existing high levels of public transport and paratransit.

- In Mexico, passenger transport activity has grown 40.7% since 2010, to 537,270 million passenger-kilometres in 2019.¹⁵
- In Bogotá, Lima, Medellín and Quito, people use public transport for more than half of daily trips.¹⁶ In Mexico City and Panama City, public transport accounts for more than 70% of daily trips.¹⁷

Around 70% of freight transport in the LAC region is by truck, and regional freight demand (on land and sea) is expected to

more than double between 2015 and 2050.¹⁸ As the demand for freight deliveries increases, fleet renewal will be needed to replace the region's ageing vehicles. This presents a challenge for freight companies, which operate in a decentralised ecosystem and without centralised smart freight systems to help alleviate negative impacts in the region.

- In Mexico, freight transport activity has grown 43.5% since 2010, to 347,733 million tonne-kilometres in 2019.¹⁹
- Brazil launched an extensive effort to increase the use of railways for cargo transport, investing around USD 4.5 billion between 2019 and 2020 to expand its network more than 4,000 kilometres.²⁰

Emission trends



Transport CO₂ emissions in the LAC region increased 3% from 2010 to 2019, and accounted for 8% of total global emissions in 2019.²¹ Transport contributed nearly a third of the region's total CO₂ emissions (31%) in 2019, a higher share than in peer regions such as Africa (23%) and Asia (12%).²²

Per capita transport CO_2 emissions in the region (0.85 tonnes) track closely to the global average (0.88 tonnes) (see *Figure 4*).²³ This is likely due to the mix of high public transport use and the simultaneous growth in car ownership rates alongside limited vehicle emission standards. In two-thirds of LAC countries, the growth in transport CO_2 emissions exceeded the global average of 16% (with Barbados and Bolivia exceeding this rate by more than five times) (see *Figure 5*).²⁴

Regional CO₂ trends:

- Total transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 549 million tonnes
- Share of global transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 8%
- Per capita transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 0.85 tonnes
- Transport CO₂ emissions per USD 10,000 GDP (2019):
 0.99 tonnes



Sources: See endnote 25 for this section.

Transport emissions relative to economic output are higher in LAC than in any other region except Africa, at 0.99 tonnes of CO_2 per USD 10,000 in 2019.²⁶ This may be due to the dominance of road freight transport, as alternative modes such as rail and shipping, which are more cost effective and energy efficient, are relevant only in a few LAC countries.²⁷ Increased economic activity and export demand from international and domestic markets has also driven





Source: See endnote 6 for this section.

Figure 2. Growth in car ownership in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2005-2015



S

Figure 3. Out-of-pocket costs to travel 7 kilometres, by transport mode, in selected cities in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2014



Source: See endnote 9 for this section.

Figure 4. Per capita transport CO₂ emissions in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2019



Figure 5. Change in transport CO₂ emissions in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010-2019



Source: See endnote 24 for this section.

growth in the region's trucking fleet (and in turn road-kilometres travelled), adding to the challenge of decoupling transport emissions from economic growth.²⁸

The LAC region has lower vehicle emission standards than Asia and Europe, but emerging programmes in Argentina, Brazil, Chile and Costa Rica are contributing to more stringent standards.²⁹ The efficiency of road vehicles in LAC lags behind peer regions, and only a few countries have introduced vehicle emission standards.³⁰ In Central America and the Caribbean, which have large secondhand vehicle markets, a lack of harmonised standards on imported used vehicles is a significant barrier to decarbonising transport.³¹ Greater regional and international co-operation could help promote stricter standards.

- Argentina's new intelligent transport programme aims for fuel savings and efficiency improvements in the freight sector by pioneering new technologies and management systems for companies - with the goal of reducing total transport emissions 8.4% by 2030.³²
- In 2019, Brazil adopted P-8 standards (equivalent to the European Union's Euro VI standardsⁱ) to control emissions

from heavy-duty vehicles. The standards are planned to take effect in 2022 and are expected to yield an estimated USD 11 in health benefits for each dollar invested in emission-control technologies.³³

- Chile in 2018 implemented Giro Limpio, a voluntary programme that seeks to certify and recognise the efforts made by transport companies to improve their energy and environmental performance.³⁴ In 2019, the country issued its 2050 Energy Strategy, which includes long-term transport targets, among them higher energy efficiency standards for road transport, light-duty vehicle fuel economy standards and a target for 100% of new buses to include energy efficiency criteria.³⁵
- Santiago, Chile has set maximum pollutant emission levels for public buses since 2017. Under this legal framework, the city's public transport system has evolved towards a cleaner fleet, with 996 zero- or low-emission buses circulating by the end of 2019 (comprising 14% of the system's fleet).³⁶
- Costa Rica adopted Euro 4 vehicle emission standards for lightduty vehicles in 2018 and intends to move to Euro 6 standardsⁱⁱ in 2021.³⁷

i For a heavy-duty diesel vehicle to be Euro VI-compliant, it cannot emit more than 0.4 grams per kilometre (g/km) of nitrogen oxide (NO_x) gases in steady-state testing. See https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/ICCT_Euro6-VI_briefing_jun2016.pdf.

ii For a light-duty diesel vehicle to be Euro 6-compliant, it cannot emit more than 0.08 g/km of NO_x, while a petrol-fuelled vehicle can emit no more than 0.06 g/km of NO_x. See https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/ICCT_Euro6-VI_briefing_jun2016.pdf.

Policy measures

The LAC region's current transport demand trajectory points towards rising emissions, worsening congestion and greater pollution. However, significant economic, social and environmental opportunities are available to help meet increasing demand through sustainable, low carbon transport measures.³⁸ Promising developments include policies to support investments in public transport and bus rapid transit systems, as well as increased cycling infrastructure in many cities. The electrification of transport, particularly buses, is growing, with significant opportunities to drive decarbonisation based on the region's high share of renewable energy.

Strategic plans, enabling policies and incentives are emerging across the region to help accelerate the uptake and manufacturing of electric vehicles. Several electric vehicle manufacturing facilities exist in Brazil, and additional facilities are planned to produce electric trucks.³⁹ The replacement of bus fleets with electric buses also creates opportunities to increase regional manufacturing of these vehicles.

As of March 2021, nearly 3,000 electric buses were operating across the LAC region, most introduced in the past several years.⁴⁰ Chile and Colombia are rolling out electric buses at scale, with Bogotá's TransMilenio operating 1,485 of the buses as of early 2021.⁴¹ This can create economies of scale for other regional neighbours to operate electric buses, which can be further supported through regulations on the pricing of electricity for charging electric vehicles.

88

- Colombia passed a new law establishing incentives for electric vehicles, including discounts on insurance premiums, exemptions on vehicle traffic restriction measures and preferential parking.⁴²
- Costa Rica launched a National Electric Transport Plan with new laws and incentives to promote electric vehicles.⁴³
- Ecuador, through its Energy Efficiency Law, set a target to electrify all buses by 2025 and eliminated import taxes on electric cars and buses as well as on charging stations and vehicle batteries. This has spurred the development of municipal regulations to support electric vehicle deployment.⁴⁴
- Mexico's Alliance for Electromobility, which comprises governments, companies and civil society organisations, launched a 2019-2022 Strategic Plan for Electromobility and aims to promote policies, laws, regulations and an overall cultural shift towards electric vehicles.⁴⁵

New financing streams will be needed to achieve an effective and quick transition towards electric fleets. In many cities in the LAC region, a high percentage of the operation costs for public transport are covered by ticket fares (*see Figure 6*).⁴⁶ As more cities transition to electric buses, it will be important to find new ways to finance these

Figure 6. Percentage of operation costs covered by ticket fares, selected cities in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2014



Source: See endnote 45 for this section.

vehicle acquisitions, so that the costs are not passed down to users, potentially leading to declines in ridership. Electric shared mobility, including e-bicycles and scooters, is also a growing regional trend.

The LAC region boasts the world's highest shares of renewable energy, including in electricity grids, allowing greater potential to decarbonise transport through electrification.⁴⁷ Nearly every country in the region also has blending mandates for biofuels, although these are not always enforced.⁴⁸

The region's high renewable energy share provides an opportunity to rapidly scale up the electrification of both passenger and freight transport. For example, the subway system in Santiago, Chile is powered largely by wind and solar energy and can serve as a model for peer cities and countries in the region.⁴⁹ However, a key barrier to scaling up electric mobility is the lack of regulation in regional electricity markets, impeding differentiated tariff rate designs and infrastructure investments in this area.

Recent efforts to reduce fossil fuel subsidies in the LAC region have been largely unsuccessful, adding to the challenge of decarbonising the transport sector. In 2019, an attempt to remove fossil fuel subsidies in Ecuador resulted in country-wide protests.⁵⁰ Similar responses occurred in Argentina, Mexico and Brazil, where a reduction in diesel subsidies in 2018 led truck drivers to hold a week-long strike.⁵¹

The LAC region has the world's second highest number of implemented sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs) after Europe, and national urban mobility plans (NUMPs) are growing in prominence (although not yet widespread).⁵² In Brazil, where such plans are mandatory for cities with more than 200,000 citizens, over 200 Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans had been finalised by 2020, and at least 100 additional plans were being prepared for future years.⁵³

- MobiliseYourCity and the EUROCLIMA+ programme supported the development of SUMPs in eight LAC cities, as well as NUMPs in five countries (Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and Uruguay), from 2015 to 2020.⁵⁴
- In 2019, Feira de Santana, Brazil launched a new SUMP that commits USD 26 million to reclaim public spaces for walking and cycling infrastructure and to improve public transport and traffic safety.⁵⁵
- Peru's national sustainable urban transport programme (Promovilidad), developed in 2019, promotes sustainable urban mobility and co-ordinated public transport systems in 30 cities. It focuses on improving mobility services by providing technical and financial support to municipalities.⁵⁶

Cities in the region continued to invest in cycling infrastructure, supported by strategies and incentives to increase active mobility; however, investments in pedestrian infrastructure have been insufficient, considering that walking constitutes as much as 54% of all trips.⁵⁷ Pedestrians, cyclists and motorcyclists still account for more than half of regional road fatalities.⁵⁸ If these modes are to be supported, more emphasis needs to be placed on improving the safety of users by reducing road injuries and fatalities.⁵⁹

 Campaigns to implement safe and level pedestrian crossings have succeeded in cities across Mexico as well as in Medellín, Colombia, replacing pedestrian bridges that were inaccessible to many.⁶⁰

Cycling infrastructure has expanded greatly in urban areas.

- Bogotá, Colombia had 580 kilometres of bicycle lanes as of 2019, and in February 2020 it announced plans for an additional 280 kilometres; the city accelerated this plan in the early months of COVID-19 by adding 84 kilometres in March.⁶¹
- Costa Rica announced that it would offer tax incentives to companies promoting bicycle use among employees.⁶² The government also passed a law to prioritise cycling, introducing an active mobility unit, a technical design guide for cycling infrastructure, public bike-sharing and financing for cycling.⁶³
- Mexico City, Mexico introduced a new strategy in 2019 that aims to integrate fares among the various public transport services and to develop more bike infrastructure.⁶⁴
- As part of its COVID-19 response, Lima, Peru implemented 50 kilometres of emergency cycling infrastructure measures, including bike lanes and parking spots. This is expected to connect with the existing 227 kilometres of cycling facilities that integrate with health and other services.⁶⁵

Shared mobility has become a prominent travel mode in the region, but further expansion is hindered by insufficient regulatory frameworks and a lack of integration with existing transport modes. The recent rapid deployment of car-sharing and electric scooter rental (both for passenger transport and for lastmile logistics) in some cities shows promise of expanding transport options. However, a lack of strong regulation related to safety, pricing and integration of shared mobility with existing transport modes poses barriers to expansion. Many of the service providers supporting the delivery and maintenance of shared mobility lack formal employment contracts, with no access to occupational health insurance or pensions.

- A new e-scooter service in Quito, Ecuador began operating 75 of the scooters at 32 stations in November 2019, avoiding 4 tonnes of transport CO₂ emissions during the first week of operation.⁶⁶
- In 2019, 30% of riders in Chile were replacing car trips with scooters, as the number of trips via Lime scooters exceeded 1 million.⁶⁷
- In January 2020, Lime announced plans to cease operations in Bogotá, Buenos Aires, Lima, Montevideo and Puerto Vallarta due to low interest in its services.⁶⁸

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport in Latin America and the Caribbean

Major COVID-19 impacts:

- 72% decrease in trips to public transport stations (at lowest point in 2020 versus January 2020 average)
- 37% to 42% decline in freight transport activity (below 2019 levels)
- 60% decline in international aviation activity (below 2019 levels)
- 54% decline in domestic aviation activity (below 2019 levels)

COVID-19 has profoundly impacted transport in the LAC region. Mobility reductions accelerated starting in mid-March 2020, and by the end of that month passenger travel demand in the region had dropped nearly 80%. Demand levels stayed roughly the same through late 2020, although they showed slight increases each month. Traffic volume dropped 88% in Buenos Aires, and at their lowest levels (in mid-April 2020) public transport trips fell 97% in Lima, 96% in Cuenca (Ecuador), 92% in Bogotá, 86% in São Paulo and 75% in Quito.

The use of telework services in the region increased more than 300% in the first half of the year, and new orders through the e-commerce site Mercado Libre increased more than 100% in Chile, Colombia and Mexico compared to 2019, greatly impacting passenger and freight demand.

Public transport systems in the region are financed through a mix of user fees and government subsidies, both of which have been greatly impacted by the pandemic, with decreases in ridership and economic downturns. Alternative financing schemes are key to ensuring that these systems are financially sustainable.

- Between March and April 2020, demand fell 93% for buses, subways, trains, minibuses and combis in Lima, Peru. Over the following year, public transport companies were forced to cut services due to economic losses from the pandemic, with calls for government subsidies to support their continued operation.
- In Costa Rica, public transport operators reported 80% revenue loss during April 2020, totalling CRC 14,000 million (around USD 23 million). The drop in ridership during 2020 overall averaged more than 60%.

The COVID-19 Observatory, established by the United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, tracked responses to the pandemic in the region, with countries such as Belize, Brazil, Chile, Costa Rica and El Salvador introducing stringent lockdown measures. Cities across the region responded by adding temporary bicycle lanes to promote socially distant transport options, including in Bogotá, Buenos Aires, Cuenca (Ecuador), Lima and Mexico City, among others. It remains unclear whether these measures will be temporary or permanent. In addition, several major cities had announced plans to expand bicycle lanes before the onset of COVID-19, and the pandemic may have accelerated implementation.

COVID-19 has brought attention to the critical role that paratransit plays in moving people and goods in many lowand middle-income countries. Paratransit has been an essential supplier of transport services in the LAC region, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, providing access to mobility for millions of people, filling in gaps left by formal transport systems by quickly adapting and responding to changes in demand, and generating significant employment opportunities. Groups like the Inter-American Development Bank, the Centro para la Sostenibilidad Urbana and Agile City Partners have published reports providing more insight into these practices. Universities have also conducted research to inform decision makers on how to support and formalise paratransit systems and how to best integrate them into climate change, energy and transport agendas at the city, regional and national levels, including as part of COVID-19 recovery measures. (For more on paratransit, see Focus Feature 6.)

Source: See endnote 5 for this section.



In Practice: Additional Policy Responses

Avoid measures

Sustainable mobility planning

In 2020, Colombia developed a new national policy for urban and regional mobility, with guidelines for the comprehensive management of mobility in order to contribute to social welfare, environmental protection and economic growth in cities.⁶⁹

Integrated mobility plans were established in four districts of San José, Costa Rica in 2018.⁷⁰

Buenos Aires, **Argentina** developed a Clean Mobility Plan in 2017 that includes measures such as shared mobility for private trips, Euro VI standards for trucking and a higher share of biofuel use.⁷¹

Shift measures

Public transport

Brazil's bus rapid transit system expanded in 2019 with the Transoceânica corridor in Niterói, Rio de Janeiro.⁷² The cities of Campinas and Salvador were adding bus rapid transit as of 2020.⁷³

Brazil announced plans in 2020 to finance improvements in urban mobility, with a strong focus on urban rail and active mobility.⁷⁴ The city of São Paulo has extended its subway system nearly 50 kilometres in recent years.⁷⁵

San Pedro, Costa Rica implemented five corridors of additional exclusive bus lanes in 2019 and 2020.⁷⁶

Panama inaugurated Metro Line 2 in 2019, with 14 stations spanning 22 kilometres, and is planning a network of five metro lines by 2040.⁷⁷

Cuenca, Ecuador began the commercial operation of a tram system with a 20.4 kilometre network in September 2020.⁷⁸

- In Quito, Ecuador a metro system extending 22 kilometres is under construction.⁷⁹
- In Mexico City, a 34-kilometre cable car system, Cablebus, was inaugurated in March 2021 to supplement the public transport network.⁸⁰

Several cities were undertaking expansions of existing public transport systems, including the TransMilenio in Bogotá, the Metrobús in Buenos Aires and the Metrobús in México City.⁸¹

Shared mobility services

Ride-hailing services in Latin America generated USD 518 million in revenue in 2018, an amount projected to reach USD 1,017 million by 2023.⁸²

Brasília, Brazil, in co-operation with major development agencies and power companies, launched a pioneering electric vehicle car-sharing project in October 2019 that offers 16 vehicles for use by local civil servants.⁸³

Cycling

In 2019, 1.2 million daily cycling trips were taken in Santiago, Chile, and the total length of cycling lanes increased 12% from 2017, to 408 kilometres.⁸⁴

In Lima, Peru, the Ciclovías X 3 initiative, developed by WWF-Peru together with Actibicimo and the Pontifical Catholic University of Peru, tripled the length of cycling paths to more than 450 kilometres.⁸⁵

In 2019, Buenos Aires committed to improving pedestrian conditions in five designated areas, including by implementing stricter speed limits, improving pedestrian and cycling infrastructure, and reconfiguring the spaces to accommodate pedestrian traffic.⁸⁶ The city also has an extensive network of more than 260 kilometres of protected cycling lanes.⁸⁷

Mexico City had more than 200 kilometres of cycling lanes as of 2019 and announced plans to expand the network to 600 kilometres by 2024 in an effort to reduce transportrelated emissions.⁸⁸

In April 2020, the first phase of **Quito's** Emergent Cycle Path Plan was launched with the aim of creating 62.7 kilometres of cycling paths around the city. The plan, presented by the local Ministry of Mobility, was created in conjunction with public entities, universities and citizen groups in favour of sustainable mobility.⁸⁹

Improve measures

Electric mobility

Several states in Brazil, including Mato Grosso do Sul, Rio de Janeiro and São Paulo, have implemented a 50% vehicle tax discount on purchases of zero-emission vehicles.⁹⁰

In Bogotá, Colombia, a fleet of 1,485 electric buses was in operation as of 2021.⁹¹

In Santiago, Chile the fleet of electric buses is envisioned to grow from 973 as of 2021 to 5,300 by 2022, with a goal of 100% electric public transport in the city by 2040.⁹²

At least eight cities in the LAC region received their first electric buses in 2019 and 2020, including Buenos Aires, Guayaquil, Lima, Mendoza, Mexico City, Montevideo, Panama City and São Paulo.⁹³

Renewable energy and alternative fuels

In 2020, the local legislature in Santa Fe, Argentina proposed a shift to biodiesel for public transport, following the 2018 launch of B100 (100% biodiesel) buses in Buenos Aires.⁹⁴

The bus fleet in Rosario, Argentina has been fully operating with B100 buses since 2019.95

Bolivia began producing biofuels in 2018, making 80 million litres of ethanol from sugar cane with plans to increase this to 350 million litres by 2025.⁹⁶

The Ministry of Hydrocarbon Policies in Ecuador committed in 2019 to policies and actions to guarantee the quality of fuels, encourage the use of alternative fuels and promote electric mobility.⁹⁷

Brazil's Biofuels National Policy (RenovaBio) became official in December 2019, establishing annual compulsory goals for reducing greenhouse gas emissions in the commercialisation of fuels and creating a voluntary carbon credit market based on the volume of fossil fuel transactions from each biofuel distributor.⁹⁸ The programme aims to boost the biofuel share of the energy mix, and Brazil hopes to reduce the carbon intensity of the fuel mix 10.1% by 2028.⁹⁹ Preliminary targets for greenhouse gas reductions in 2021 were released for all fuel distributers.¹⁰⁰ In November 2020, Chile's Ministry of Energy presented a National Strategy for Green Hydrogen with three main objectives: to develop 5 gigawatts of electrolysis capacity by 2025, to produce the cheapest green hydrogen in the world by 2030 and to be among the top three hydrogen exporters by 2040.¹⁰¹




SLOCAT

North America Regional Overview

Demographics



Sources: See endnote 1 for this section.

Key findings

Demand trends

- In the United States of America (USA) in 2019, singleoccupancy vehicles accounted for more than 75% of work commute trips, whereas public transport accounted for less than 5%, with little change from 2018.
- Rail accounted for roughly one-third of all freight transport in Canada in 2011, and in the USA in 2019, exceeded only by pipelines in Canada (40%) and trucking in the USA (39%).
- Car ownership levels in North America were nearly five times the global average in 2015; however, the average growth in car ownership between 2005 and 2015 was nine times greater globally than in North America.
- Total new vehicle sales in North America grew 46% in 2019, the highest increase among global regions and nearly 3.5 times the increase in Europe (13%).
- The USA is the world's second largest national market for electric and plug-in hybrid cars (after China), with nearly 1.5 million units sold in 2019; however, in the USA electric vehicles accounted for only around 2% of new car sales that year.

Emission trends

 Transport carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions in North America grew 6% from 2010 to 2019, less than half the global average rate.

Q

- Transport CO₂ emissions in the USA in 2014 were dominated by internal combustion engines, led by passenger cars (42%), freight trucks (23%) and lightduty trucks (18%).
- Transport emissions in North America are being decoupled from economic activity (decreasing 12-14% per unit of GDP from 2010 to 2019), while absolute transport emissions continued to rise through 2019.
- In the USA, domestic aviation accounted for nearly 7% of transport CO₂ emissions in 2014; however, much of the country's aviation emissions remain unaccounted for, as international flights represent the majority of air travel miles.

8 Policy measures

- At least 43 USA states and the District of Columbia took policy actions in 2019 related to electric vehicles and charging infrastructure.
- In 2019, Canada adopted a target for 100% zero-emission passenger vehicles by 2040, and in 2020, 15 USA states and the District of Columbia collectively pledged to sell only electric mediumand heavy-duty vehicles by 2050.
- Sustainable freight measures in North America focused on zero-emission vehicle targets and efforts to shift delivery patterns.
- In 2019, nearly 140 million trips were taken on shared bicycles and scooters in the USA, up 60% from 2018. Shared scooter use grew more than 100%, while shared bike use increased around 10%.
- Active commuting rates in much of the USA remained low in 2017, with walking declining and cycling remaining level, while walking was the fastest growing mode in Vancouver, Canada in 2018.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- In April 2020, after the onset of the pandemic, trans-border road and rail freight between the USA and neighbouring Canada and Mexico dropped nearly 45% from a year earlier, to its lowest level since 2009.
- Cities across Canada and the USA re-allocated road space to pedestrians and cyclists to encourage physical distancing and active transport in response to the pandemic.



Overview



North America¹ - comprising Bermuda (territory of the United Kingdom), Canada, Greenland (Denmark), Saint Pierre and Miquelon (France) and the USA - contributed the second highest regional share of transport CO_2 emissions in 2019 after Asia, at 29%.² This reflects the continued use of private vehicles in countries that have limited fuel economy standards (especially the USA), as well as the temporary USA withdrawal from the Paris Agreement. Both the USA and Canadian Nationally Determined Contributions towards reducing emissions under the Paris Agreement have been deemed "critically insufficient" or "insufficient" to meet targets.³

Steps towards decarbonisation of the region's transport sector included growing local, state and provincial leadership on transport

climate action, increased momentum towards the electrification of medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, and innovations in shared mobility. In June 2020, the INVEST in America Act was proposed to improve infrastructure in the USA, including in the transport sector (see Box 1).⁴

The COVID-19 pandemic led to sharp declines in public transport demand across the region.⁵ (*See Box 2*) In March 2020, a recovery package announced in the USA allocated USD 25 billion in federal aid to public transport, and a Canadian recovery plan provided significant funding to the country's airports but few incentives for sustainable transport.

i While "North America" technically includes all five countries and territories listed here, in this section it is generally used to refer to only Canada and the United States unless otherwise specified.

807 30% Change from 2005 to 2015 15%

Figure 2. Growth in car ownership in North America, 2005-2015



Global Average

/ehicles per 1,000 people

Box 1. The INVEST in America Act

Canada

Figure 1. Car ownership rates per 1,000 people in North America, 2015

In July 2020, the US House of Representatives passed the Investing in a New Vision for the Environment and Surface Transportation in America Act (INVEST in America Act). This comprehensive legislation authorises nearly USD 500 billion over five years to address some of the country's most urgent transport infrastructure needs, including repairing and replacing a backlog of roads, bridges and public transport systems.

North America United States of Average America

In addition, the Act has a complementary objective to drive greener response and recovery to COVID-19. For example, it allocates funding for building more resilient transport infrastructure, designing safer streets for all road users (including pedestrians and cyclists), putting the US on a zero-transport-emissions trajectory, and boosting public transport options in urban, suburban and rural areas.

Source: See endnote 4 for this section.

Source: See endnote 16 for this section.

Demand trends

In the USA in 2019, single-occupancy vehicles accounted for more than 75% of work commute trips, whereas public transport accounted for less than 5%, with little change from 2018.6 In 2017, ride-hailing services in the country contributed to an estimated 8-22% increase in vehicle trips (compared to a lack of ride-hailing services).7

- In Canada, ridership on passenger railways grew 13% from 2018 to 2019, to 1.73 trillion passenger-kilometres travelled.8
- Ridership on the USA passenger railway Amtrak increased 2.5% in fiscal year 2018-19, to 32.5 million passenger-journeys, and capital investment in the railway jumped 9.4%, to USD 1.6 billion.9
- USA domestic air travel increased 5.6% from 2017 to 2018 but then fell 41% from 2019 to 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, to the lowest level since 1987.10
- Passenger transport activity:
 - Canada: down 2% during 2000-2009, to 449,413 million passenger-kilometres¹¹

USA: up 12% during 2010-2018, to 10,281 billion passenger-kilometres12

Rail accounted for roughly one-third of all freight transport in Canada in 2011, and in the US in 2019, exceeded only by pipelines in Canada (40%) and trucking in the US (39%).¹³ Greater demand for real-time delivery has increased urban freight activity and impacts.

- Freight transport activity:
 - Canada: up 29% during 2010-2015 to 903,981 million tonne-kilometres14
 - USA: down 10% during 2010-2017 to 7,422 billion tonnekilometres¹⁵

Car ownership levels in North America were nearly five times the global average in 2015; however, the average growth in car ownership between 2005 and 2005 was nine times greater globally than in North America (see Figures 1 and 2).16







Total new vehicle sales in North America grew 46% in 2019, the highest increase among global regions and nearly 3.5 times the increase in Europe (13%).¹⁷ Most of the newly purchased vehicles in the region were for commercial purposes, with the USA being the largest commercial vehicle market.

New vehicle sales

- 46% increase in total new vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 18% decline in new passenger car sales (2010-2019)
- Over 5.2 million new passenger cars sold (2019)
- 103% increase in new commercial vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 14.2 million new commercial vehicles sold (2019)

Sources: See endnote 18 for this section.

The USA is the world's second largest national market for electric and plug-in hybrid cars (after China), with nearly 1.5 million units sold in 2019; however, electric vehicles accounted for only around 2% of US new car sales that year.¹⁹ Electric car sales accounted for nearly 3% of new car sales in Canada in 2019.²⁰

Emission trends



Transport CO₂ emissions in North America grew 6% from 2010 to 2019, less than half the global average rate (see Figure 3).²¹ In 2018, transport accounted for the largest share of greenhouse gas emissions in the USA, at 28%, and for the second largest share of Canadian emissions (after oil and gas), at 25%.²² Per capita transport emissions in North America are more than five times the global average due to the higher rate of motor vehicle use in the region (see Figure 4).²³

Regional CO₂ trends

- Total transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 1,962 million tonnes
- Share of global transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 29%
- Per capita transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 5.35 tonnes
- Transport CO₂ emissions per USD 10,000 GDP (2019): 0.97 tonnes



Sources: See endnote 24 for this section.

US transport CO_2 emissions in 2014 were dominated by internal combustion engines, led by passenger cars (42%), freight trucks (23%) and light-duty trucks (18%).²⁵ In Canada, freight trucks and passenger light trucks contributed the most to transport emission growth during 2010-2019.²⁶





Source: See endnote 21 for this section.





Source: See endnote 23 for this section.

Transport emissions in North America are being decoupled from economic activity (decreasing 12-14% per unit of GDP from 2010 to 2019), while absolute transport emissions continued to rise through 2019.²⁷

Aviation saw an overall decline in contributions to CO_2 emissions. Flights within North America accounted for 16% of global passenger CO_2 emissions in 2019, down 3% from 2013.²⁸ In the USA, domestic aviation accounted for nearly 7% of transport CO_2 emissions in 2014.²⁹ However, much of the country's aviation emissions remain unaccounted for, as international flights represent the majority of air travel miles.³⁰

88

Policy measures

In addition to withdrawing from the Paris Agreement, the US government weakened transport efficiency measures for 2025 that had been adopted in 2012. The roll-back of fuel economy and air quality standards meant that passenger cars were allowed to emit nearly 1 billion more tonnes of CO_2 over their useful life.³¹ Despite these reversals at the federal level, state and local actors, as well as private companies, continued to influence the policy landscape for sustainable, low carbon transport (including through the We Are Still In coalition).³²

The USA state of California expanded its climate leadership through initiatives including the 2020 Advanced Clean Trucks regulation.³³ California further demonstrated its leading role in transport and climate action in the USA by collaborating with auto and truck manufacturers to raise fuel economy standards (despite federal roll-backs) and by becoming the first USA member of the Transport Decarbonisation Alliance.³⁴

In Canada, British Columbia amended its greenhouse gas reduction regulations in June 2020 to provide financial incentives for alternative fuel vehicles.³⁵ Local-level actions included more than 30 new bus and light rail projects in the USA and Canada, scheduled to begin operation in 2020 and 2021.³⁶

At least 43 USA states and the District of Columbia took policy actions in 2019 related to electric vehicles and charging infrastructure.³⁷ Many of these actions focused on the electrification of buses and other heavy-duty vehicles, an essential strategy for decarbonising the transport sector. State policy measures, often supported by utilities and cities, provide critical footholds for federal action to follow.³⁸

- New Jersey announced plans in 2020 to make the New Jersey Transit bus fleet 100% electric by 2040.³⁹
- School districts across the USA have purchased electric school buses, in some cases funded through the Volkswagen settlement that was agreed to after the company violated emission standards and the US Clean Air Act.⁴⁰
- Both Maryland and Nevada passed enabling legislation in 2019 to support school districts in the transition to electric school buses.⁴¹

In 2019, Canada adopted a target for 100% zero-emission passenger vehicles by 2040, and in 2020, 15 USA states and the District of Columbia collectively pledged to sell only electric medium- and heavy-duty vehicles by 2050.⁴² Both the demand and market for electric mobility are strong, mainly for passenger vehicles and buses, and are supported by robust targets and expanding charging infrastructure. Electrification also offers opportunities for the uptake of renewable energy in transport through solar- and wind-powered charging of electric bicycles, cars and buses.

- Canada allocated funding for electric vehicle charging infrastructure in 2019 and launched a programme to help raise awareness of electric vehicle use in 2020.⁴³
- In 2019, the state of New York (USA) provided USD 31.6 million to its regulated utilities to build up to 1,075 fast-charging stations to expand electric vehicle use.⁴⁴ In 2018, New York, as well as

Maryland's public utility commission, authorised utilities to recover the cost of electric vehicle charging infrastructure from ratepayers and introduced a time-of-use rate for residential charging.⁴⁵

California will replace more than 200 diesel school buses with all-electric versions between 2020 and 2025 and pledged to transition to only electric buses by 2040.⁴⁶

Sustainable freight measures in North America focused on zeroemission vehicle targets and efforts to shift delivery patterns. Electric freight vehicles and off-peak freight delivery offer potential to increase efficiency and reduce urban emissions.⁴⁷ However, continued support for fossil fuels at the national level in both the USA and Canada has reduced incentives for cleaner freight vehicles.

- California's Advanced Clean Trucks regulation, passed in 2020, aims for 55% of light-truck sales and 75% of medium- and heavytruck sales to be zero emission by 2035.⁴⁸
- New York City (USA) implemented an off-hour deliveries programme in 2018 to combat congestion and improve the productivity of shippers.⁴⁹
- In 2019, Canada was the first country to join the Drive to Zero Pledge, which calls for most new commercial vehicles to be zero emission by 2040.⁵⁰

In 2019, nearly 140 million trips were taken on shared bicycles and scooters in the USA, up 60% from 2018.⁵¹ Shared scooter use grew more than 100%, while shared bike use increased around 10%.⁵² These two modes accounted for over 350 million trips in the USA between 2010 and 2019.⁵³ In cities across North America, the increase in shared mobility services is reshaping the transport landscape.

- New York City (USA) has legalised electric scooters and bikes, and scooter ridership outpaced docked bicycle ridership for the first time in 2020.⁵⁴
- A 2018 electric scooter pilot in Portland, Oregon (USA) is estimated to have replaced car trips that would have produced 122 metric tonnes of CO₂, equivalent to the yearly emissions of 27 passenger cars.⁵⁵ Other studies take a more nuanced view of the potential of e-scooters to reduce emissions.⁵⁶
- By April 2021, Vancouver's bike share system Mobi, launched in 2016, had grown to more than 2,000 bicycles housed at more than 200 solar-powered stations, serving 75,000 users.⁵⁷

Active commuting rates in much of the USA remained low in 2017, with walking declining and cycling remaining level, while walking was the fastest growing mode in Vancouver, Canada in 2018.⁵⁸

- An analysis of national commuting surveys in the USA conducted between 2006 and 2017 shows a significant decrease in walking in many states, with cycling staying at similar levels.⁵⁹
- Walking accounted for 29% percent of trips in Vancouver, Canada in 2018, the highest share among sustainable transport modes including cycling and public transport.⁶⁰
- Canada does not currently conduct a national household travel survey, which has created a data gap on walking and cycling activity.⁶¹

Box 2. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport in North America

Major COVID-19 impacts:

- 60% decrease in trips to public transport stations (at lowest point in 2020 versus January 2020 average)
- 37% decline in freight transport activity (below 2019 levels)
- 62% decline in international aviation activity (below 2019 levels)
- 41% decline in domestic aviation activity (below 2019 levels)

In the early months of COVID-19, commercial transport activity in both **Canada** and the **USA** declined sharply, operating at around 84% and 85% (respectively) of normal volume as of mid-March 2020. Major cities with the largest public transit systems issued strict disinfection guidelines for their subway cars, buses, turnstiles, handrails and related facilities in an effort to keep ridership safe.

In April 2020, after the onset of the pandemic, transborder road and rail freight between the USA and neighbouring Canada and Mexico dropped nearly 45% from a year earlier, to its lowest level since 2009. Truck freight declined more than 40%, while rail freight fell more than 60%.

Cities across Canada and the USA re-allocated road space to pedestrians and cyclists to encourage physical distancing and active transport in response to the pandemic. Examples in the USA include Chicago (Illinois), Cleveland (Ohio) and Portland (Oregon), and examples in Canada include Montreal (Quebec), Toronto (Ontario) and Vancouver (British Columbia).

- Calgary, Alberta (Canada) converted six roadways to pedestrian zones to facilitate safe active transport during the pandemic.
- Madison, Wisconsin (USA) has designated a number of "shared streets" to provide safer travel options for cyclists and pedestrians.

Source: See endnote 5 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Responses

Avoid measures

Sustainable mobility planning and transport demand management

- Transport Canada released a 2019-2020 update to its 2017-2020 Departmental Sustainable Development Strategy, committing to action on climate change; healthy coasts, oceans, lakes and rivers; safe and healthy communities; and clean growth.⁶²
- In the first such move for a **Canadian** city, Edmonton decided in 2020 to eliminate minimum parking space requirements, allowing for less car-dependent development.⁶³
- In 2018, the US Department of Transportation issued a Strategic Plan for fiscal years 2018-2022 that prioritises the goals of safety, investment in infrastructure, innovation and accountability.⁶⁴
- New York in 2019 became the first city in the USA to approve congestion pricing, but implementation of the measure was delayed due to the COVID-19 pandemic.⁶⁵

Walking and cycling

Advocates have pushed for Canada to develop a national cycling strategy, building on provincial strategies to expand protection for cyclists (e.g., through Nova Scotia's revised Motor Vehicle Act).⁶⁶

In 2020, San Jose, California (US) created the Better Bike Plan

2025, which includes a goal to expand cycling infrastructure and sets targets for 5% of all trips to occur via bike by 2020 and 15% by 2040; the city is also building a 640-kilometre onstreet bikeway network.⁶⁷

In 2019, New York City (USA) agreed to invest USD 1.7 billion in road infrastructure over 10 years to dramatically improve safety for cyclists and pedestrians.⁶⁸

Shift measures

Public transport

Expansions of light rail transit in Canada occurred in Ontario (18 kilometres) and Ottawa (12.5 kilometres) in 2019.69 In Connecticut (USA), a USD 21 million investment to

improve transport, CT2030, includes mass transit as one of four key areas and outlines plans for new bus corridors and electric buses.⁷⁰

The light rail service in the USA city of Minneapolis, Minnesota recorded its highest-ever ridership in 2018, with more than 80 million rides.⁷¹

Shared mobility services

As of January 2018, Canada had 18 car sharing services in operation, with 8,052 vehicles. $^{72}\,$

Ride-hailing services were available in 14 regions of Canada in 2018, mainly urban areas including Calgary, Montreal,

Ottawa and Toronto.⁷³ Revenue from these services totalled USD 829 million in 2018 and was projected to reach USD 1,067 million by 2023.⁷⁴

- As of January 2018, the car-sharing services BlueIndy (Bolloré), car2go (Daimler), Maven (General Motors) and ReachNow (BMW) were operating in 12 markets in the USA, and two services (car2go and a Maven pilot programme) were operating in 4 cities in Canada.⁷⁵ In November 2019, Hyundai launched Mocean Carshare in Los Angeles, using electric vehicles.⁷⁶
- Ottawa, Canada launched its first peer-to-peer, eco-friendly ride-sharing app in 2020, enabling consumers to request rides in electric, hybrid or petrol-powered vehicles.⁷⁷
- In the USA, the ride-hailing service Lyft began offering wheelchair-accessible vehicles in San Francisco and Los Angeles in 2019, with plans for further expansion.⁷⁸
- In 2019, the self-driving car service Waymo gained permission to transport passengers in **California** and Uber entered into the urban air mobility market by launching a helicopter service in **New York City**⁷⁹

Improve measures

Fuel economy

- In a 2018 evaluation of **Canada's** Passenger Automobile and Light Truck Greenhouse Gas Emissions Regulations, only 1% of commenters felt that the existing standards for 2022-2025 model years should be made less stringent.⁸⁰
- Challenges to fuel economy developments in the USA in 2018 included the freezing of stricter standards developed for 2022-2025 and the roll-back of previously established clean car rules.⁸¹
- Despite the national freeze on fuel economy standards, the US state of California collaborated with four automakers to raise state efficiency and emission standards, aiming for 36 miles per gallon by 2026.⁸²
- In 2020, the US rolled back previous plans for CO_2 emission standards and set the new target to 40.4 miles per gallon by 2026, requiring an annual improvement of 1.5% until then.⁸³

Electric mobility

In 2020, Los Angeles (USA) set targets for 155 electric buses and a 100% zero-emission bus fleet by 2028.84 The city aims to increase the share of electric or zero-emission vehicles to 25% by 2025, 80% by 2035 and 100% by 2050 for all transport modes.⁸⁵

Among other USA electric mobility developments in 2019, the state of Colorado adopted a requirement for electric cars to comprise 5% of an automaker's line-up by 2023; New York City set targets for 500 electric buses by 2024 and a zeroemission fleet by 2040; and Virginia allocated USD 20 million for electric buses.⁸⁶

In 2019, San Francisco set a target to ban the sale of new petrol and diesel vehicles by 2030 and to achieve emission-free transport by $2040.^{87}$

Renewable energy

In 2019, Santa Barbara, California (USA) replaced petroleum diesel with renewable diesel in its bus fleet, and the state of Minnesota enacted a grant programme to fund biofuel blending infrastructure.⁸⁸

In 2019, the US government extended its biodiesel tax credit of USD 1 per gallon retroactively until 2022.⁸⁹

- The US carrier Delta Air Lines announced in 2019 that it was investing USD 2 million to partner with Northwest Advanced Biofuels on a feasibility study to produce sustainable aviation fuel and other biofuel products.⁹⁰
- In 2019, Enel X launched a pilot project in Hawaii (USA) to maximise electric vehicle charging at times when solar electricity generation is highest.⁹¹
- New York City (USA) added 50 self-contained, solar-powered electric vehicle charging stations In 2019.⁹²

Portland, Oregon (USA) pledged in 2019 to have a nondiesel public bus fleet by 2040, with new electric buses to be 100% wind powered.⁹³

Oceania Regional Overview



Demographics

SLOCAT



Sources: See endnote 1 for this section.

Key findings

Demand trends

- Car ownership rates in Australia and New Zealand exceeded the global average by more than four times in 2015, while growth in car ownership in New Zealand between 2005 and 2015 was four times greater than in Australia.
- Between 2005 and 2015, passenger cars accounted for roughly two-thirds of passenger transport activity in the region, while bus and rail accounted for less than 10%. During this period, road freight activity increased 25%, while rail freight activity more than doubled, and coastal shipping fell 10%.
- Electric vehicle uptake has progressed unevenly across Oceania, with the market share of the vehicles lagging behind peer countries and regions.

 For shipping, container port activity fell 2.2% in Oceania in 2019 due to a slowdown in the Australian economy and declining consumer confidence.

Q

Emission trends

- Transport carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions grew strongly in Oceania in 2019, but overall the region contributes just 2% of global transport emissions.
- Countries in the region showed large variations in transport CO₂ emission trends, with several recording significant increases and others significant reductions.
- Currently 75% of the fossil fuels imported into the Pacific region are for land and maritime transport, underscoring challenges to decarbonising these sub-sectors.

8 Policy measures

- Major cities in the Oceania region are prioritising renewed investments in urban transport systems.
- Adaptation and resilience measures are increasingly important for transport planning and policy making due to the region's climate vulnerabilities, which range from extreme heat, flooding and high winds in Australia to sea-level rise in small island developing states (SIDS) and other countries.
- Some countries have set ambitious decarbonisation targets in their Long-Term Strategies and Nationally Determined Contributions to implement the Paris Agreement, while other plans remain insufficient.
- In 2019, energy and transport ministers from the Pacific region committed to boosting renewable energy use and decreasing reliance on fossil fuels.
- Six SIDS established the Pacific Blue Shipping Partnership in 2019, setting targets to reduce emissions from shipping 40% by 2030 and to reach full decarbonisation by 2050.
- New walking and cycling measures were adopted and implemented in the region as non-motorised transport activities increased; for example, cycling activity in Auckland, New Zealand grew 8.9% in 2019.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- In April 2020, Australia reported an 80% decline in daily usage of public transport compared to January of that year.
- Container shipping in the region was hit hard as demand dropped more than 10% in the first half of 2020 due to the pandemic, a sharper decline than in many global regions.



Overview

Oceania's contribution to global transport demand and transport emission growth has remained low compared to other regions.² Aviation and shipping are important drivers of transport demand and emissions because the region comprises many dispersed small island nations; as a result, it has been heavily dependent on fossil fuels and is taking steps to reduce this reliance.

Small island developing states (SIDS) across the Pacific region have experienced increasing climate impacts to infrastructure due to rising emissions, with transport assets being among the most valuable and vulnerable. Strategies to decarbonise transport in Oceania involve expanding sustainable aviation and shipping solutions and scaling up electric mobility, with high potential to be powered by ample renewable energy resources.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had severe socio-economic impacts on Oceania. Australia saw strong declines in public transport ridership in the early months of 2020, and SIDS suffered greatly from the collapse of fisheries and tourism (see Box 1).³

Demand trends



Car ownership rates in Australia and New Zealand exceeded the global average by more than four times in 2015, while growth in car ownership in New Zealand between 2005 and 2015 was four times greater than in Australia (see Figures 1 and 2).⁴

Following 28% growth in car ownership within a decade, New Zealand in 2015 had the second-highest rate of car ownership in the world (after the United States), with cars outnumbering adults.⁵ New car sales in Australia experienced 31 consecutive months of decline (through August 2020) and were down 18.8% from January to October 2020, compared with 2019.⁶

New vehicle sales

- 6% increase in total new vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 2% increase in new passenger car sales (2010-2019)
- 0.9 million new passenger cars sold (2019)
- **24% increase** in new commercial vehicle sales (2010-2019)
- 285,000 new commercial vehicles sold (2019)

Sources: See endnote 7 for this section.

Between 2005 and 2015, passenger cars accounted for roughly two-thirds of passenger transport activity in the region, while bus and rail accounted for less than 10%.⁸ During this period, road freight activity increased by 25%, while rail freight activity more than doubled, and coastal shipping fell 10%.⁹

- Passenger transport activity in Australia: up 12% during 2010-2017, to 452.65 billion passenger-kilometres¹⁰
- Freight transport activity in Australia: up 28% during 2010-2015, to 727.7 billion tonne-kilometres¹¹

Figure 1. Car ownership rates per 1,000 people in Oceania, 2015



Source: See endnote 4 for this section.





Source: See endnote 4 for this section.

Electric vehicle uptake has progressed unevenly across Oceania, with the market share of the vehicles lagging behind peer countries and regions. Electrification of transport is at an early stage in the region, and only initial projects and incentives have been introduced. Pacific Island nations remain dependent on fossil fuel vehicles but have high potential for rapid electric vehicle uptake due to falling technology costs and growing renewable energy generation.¹²

- Electric vehicle sales in Australia tripled in 2019 despite a lack of policy support; however, electric vehicles still only accounted for 0.6% of new vehicle sales that year (compared to a global average of 4.2%), due to a lack of vehicle emission standards and a delayed national electric vehicle policy.¹³
- In New Zealand, electric vehicles represented 2.1% of all lightduty vehicle registrations in December 2019, a substantial improvement from just 0.03% in 2013.¹⁴
- In Australia, the first electric buses started operating in Canberra in 2019, as part of a plan to transition the Transport Canberra bus fleet to 100% zero-emission vehicles by 2040.¹⁵

For shipping, container port activity fell 2.2% in Oceania in 2019 due to a slowdown in the Australian economy and declining consumer confidence.¹⁶ The liner shipping connectivity index (assessing the maritime connectivity for container shipping) also experienced a moderate decline prior to COVID-19.¹⁷

Emission trends



Transport CO_2 emissions grew strongly in Oceania in 2019, but overall the region contributes just 2% of global transport emissions.¹⁸ Oceania has the lowest transport emissions of any global region, although its emissions share is nearly four times greater than its share of the global population (0.54%).¹⁹ This is due in part to high rates of car ownership and use and to an abundance of larger vehicles with low fuel efficiency. In New Zealand, emissions of imported vehicles average 180 grams of CO_2 per kilometre, or 50% higher than European counterparts, driven in part by the lack of a national fuel efficiency standard.²⁰

Countries in the region showed large variations in transport CO_2 emissions trends, with several recording significant increases and others significant reductions. In 2019, transport CO_2 emission increases in Australia and New Zealand were on par with the global average, but per capita transport CO_2 emissions in these countries were roughly three to four times the global average (see Figures 3 and 4).²¹ In Papua New Guinea, per capita transport CO_2 emissions were less than 25% of the global average in 2019, but during 2010-2019 overall transport CO_2 emissions increased at more than three times the global average.²² Several SIDS (e.g., Kiribati, Solomon Islands, Vanuatu) decreased their transport emissions roughly 20-30% from already low baselines.²³

Regional CO₂ trends

- Total transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 117.9 million tonnes
- Share of global transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 2%
- Per capita transport CO₂ emissions (2019): 2.86 tonnes
- Transport CO₂ emissions per USD 10,000 GDP (2019):
 0.71 tonnes



Source: See endnote 24 for this section.

(





Source: See endnote 21 for this section.

Currently 75% of the fossil fuels imported into the Pacific region are for land and maritime transport, underscoring challenges to decarbonising these sub-sectors.²⁵ A statement from regional energy and transport ministers in September 2019 affirmed a commitment to 100% renewable energy generation in the Pacific Islands to help counter this prevailing trend, aimed at including measures such as carbon pricing and creating a just transition from fossil fuels.²⁶

Policy measures



Although transport emissions in Oceania are the lowest globally, the region's vast geography and multitude of island nations has created a high reliance on aviation and shipping for connectivity, which has translated to high transport costs and decarbonisation challenges. Transport policy measures in Oceania have focused on improving public transport, boosting resilience to climate change, and making shipping more sustainable, and are supported by ambitious emission reduction targets.

Major cities in the region have prioritised renewed investments in urban transport systems. Cities continued to pursue light rail systems and expand their bus services. Australia and New Zealand are the only countries in the region with extensive railway infrastructure. Brisbane, Melbourne and Sydney have made historic investments in public transport infrastructure to increase capacity in these metro areas.

- The first underground subway system in Oceania opened in Sydney in May 2019, and more lines are under construction, totalling USD 20.8 billion in investments.²⁷
- In Melbourne, a proposed underground airport rail link would cost an estimated USD 15 billion.²⁸
- In 2018, New Zealand announced a plan to invest NZD 16.9 billion (USD 12.2 billion) in land transport over three years, with the bulk of the funding marked for road construction, maintenance, and safety projects, and only a quarter dedicated to urban public transport and walking/cycling improvements.²⁹

Adaption and resilience measures are increasingly important for transport planning and policy making due to the region's climate vulnerabilities, which range from extreme heat, flooding and high winds in Australia to sea-level rise in SIDS and other countries. The region is working simultaneously to increase the resilience of transport infrastructure while reducing emissions, as many transport networks have experienced disruptions due to storm damage and other impacts.

- In 2019, the World Bank launched the Pacific Climate-Resilient Transport Program, a series of projects focused on building resilient transport infrastructure; the programme focuses on four countries - Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu - with more expected to join in a second phase.³⁰
- The Asian Development Bank has invested more than USD 2 billion in Pacific Islands, focusing on resilient transport.³¹

Figure 4. Change in transport CO₂ emissions in Oceania, 2010-2019



Source: See endnote 21 for this section.

Some countries have set ambitious decarbonisation targets in their Long-Term Strategies and Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) to implement the Paris Agreement, while other plans remain insufficient. In 2014, the Marshall Islands founded the High Ambition Coalition to ensure achievement of the Paris Agreement and has defined a long-term strategy for decarbonisation.³² New Zealand's target to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 set the bar higher for the region, but early ambitions were slowed by the COVID-19 pandemic, and the country's NDC (along with that of Australia) has been rated "insufficient" to achieve Paris Agreement targets.³³

- In 2018, Fiji published the Greater Suva Transportation Strategy 2015-2030, which aims to establish a comprehensive and integrated sustainable transport system.³⁴
- New Zealand's Climate Change Response (Zero Carbon) Amendment Act, adopted in November 2019, established a

new national emission reduction target for 2050; in December 2019, the country established an independent Climate Change Commission to monitor progress towards the 2050 target and emission budget.³⁵

The Marshall Islands was the only country to explicitly include a target to reduce shipping emissions in its first NDC; in its second NDC, submitted in December 2020, the country raised this target from 27% to 40% by 2030 (below 2010 levels).³⁶

In 2019, energy and transport ministers from the Pacific region committed to boosting renewable energy use and decreasing reliance on fossil fuels.³⁷ Currently countries in Oceania are heavily reliant on imported fossil fuels. There are ample opportunities to increase the use of solar, wind and wave energy to power transport systems, and barriers to uptake are more institutional than technological.³⁸ However, total renewable power generation represents just 1% of the overall potential.³⁹

- Australia's first public hydrogen station for charging fuel cell electric vehicles was installed in Canberra in June 2020, with additional stations planned for Melbourne in 2021 as part of the national hydrogen strategy.⁴⁰
- The Marshall Islands set a target to reduce transport fuel use 20% by 2020 but did not reach the goal due in part to the lack of a dedicated regulatory body.⁴¹ Overall, 13 SIDS have pledged to reduce transport fuel use 25% by 2033, although the commitment does not differentiate among transport subsectors (land, air, maritime).⁴²

Six SIDS established the Pacific Blue Shipping Partnership (PBSP) in 2019, setting targets to reduce emissions from shipping 40% by 2030 and to reach full decarbonisation by 2050.⁴³ Maritime shipping is essential in the region for economic activity and to distribute goods, due to long distances between countries. The Oceania region is central to emerging efforts to reduce shipping impacts.

Through the PBSP, the governments of Fiji, Marshall Islands, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tuvalu and Vanuatu have joined forces to call for USD 500 million to increase the sustainable development of maritime transport.⁴⁴

- Nauru aims to build a climate-resilient wharf that is expected to decrease wait times for vessels and reduce CO₂ emissions by an estimated 11,000 tonnes annually.⁴⁵
- Several Pacific countries have submitted position papers to the International Maritime Organization to increase ambition in tackling carbon from the shipping sector.⁴⁶

New walking and cycling measures were adopted and implemented in the region as non-motorised transport activities increased; for example, cycling activity in Auckland, New Zealand grew 8.9% in 2019.⁴⁷ Prioritisation of walking and cycling in national and city transport plans is facilitating a shift to active transport.

Austroads updated the Pedestrian Planning and Design Guidance for Australia and New Zealand in 2020 to align with national and international good practices.⁴⁸

In 2019, technical guidelines for cycling infrastructure were adopted in New Zealand, and Queensland, Australia planned a state cycling network.⁴⁹

Melbourne, Australia adopted restrictions or bans on cars in key streets or city centres to improve walking and cycling.⁵⁰

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport in Oceania

Major COVID-19 impacts:

- 62% decrease in trips to public transport stations (at lowest point in 2020 versus January 2020 average)
- 42% decline in freight transport activity (below 2019 levels)

The pandemic caused a dramatic reduction in passenger transport demand in Oceania. In April 2020, Australia reported an 80% decline in daily usage of public transport compared to January of that year. In response to the pandemic, Melbourne fast-tracked 40 kilometres of cycling lanes, and Sydney and Adelaide disabled pedestrian push buttons and introduced automated pedestrian phases. By June 2020, New Zealand announced a full re-opening, including unrestricted public transport and travel across the country.

SIDS were at high risk of socio-economic impacts from the decline in travel and tourism, and they shifted the focus of their recovery efforts to resilience measures. Although

road passenger rates had returned to pre-COVID levels as of early 2021, public transport growth is expected to take a number of years to return to previous levels.

Container shipping in the region was hit hard as demand dropped more than 10% in the first half of 2020 due to the pandemic, a sharper decline than in many global regions. Major ports in Oceania such as Melbourne and Sydney experienced more pronounced COVID-19 impacts than many Asian ports. From January to June 2020, global container ship calls were down 5.8% compared to 2019, and declines in Australasia (Australia, New Zealand and some neighbouring islands) and Oceania (down 12.4%) were exceeded only by those in Sub-Saharan Africa (down 12.7%). Passenger ship calls in Australasia and Oceania dropped 7% in the first quarter of 2020, and by the second quarter demand had fallen more than 35% in the region.

Source: See endnote 3 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Responses

Shift measures

Public transport

In 2019, Sydney, Australia added new light rail transit lines and extensions to its public transport service, and Canberra launched a 12-kilometre light rail line.⁵¹

A new bus rapid transit system was launched in 2019 in Noumea, New Caledonia with a single 13.3-kilometre corridor.⁵²

Railways

In its 2020 budget, the **New Zealand** government allocated NZD 1.2 billion (USD 718 million) to rail in an effort to ease the recession brought by COVID-19; funding includes investment in new freight wagons and locomotives, track and support infrastructure, and portside infrastructure.⁵³

Walking and cycling

Melbourne, Australia implemented the pedestrianisation of two blocks in 2019 in an effort to curb cars in the city centre.⁵⁴ The Asian Development Bank is financing several road improvement projects – including a focus on increasing pedestrian and road passenger safety – in Fiji, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Timor-Leste, Tonga and Vanuatu.⁵⁵

) Improve measures E-mobility

In 2019, New Zealand announced subsidies and CO_2 tariffs in support of electric vehicles, to come into effect in 2021.⁵⁶ Wellington, New Zealand planned to expand its fleet of electric buses from 10 in 2020 to 108 by 2023.⁵⁷

In 2018, the Productivity Commission of New Zealand recommended a scheme in which vehicle importers would pay a fee or receive a rebate depending on the emission intensity of the vehicle.⁵⁸ The country also announced an exemption of electric vehicle owners from road user charges to support its electric vehicle target.⁵⁹

Fuel economy

The New Zealand Transport Ministry's proposed Clean Car Standard, introduced in 2021, is designed to lower the price of electric and other efficient vehicles, while raising fuel efficiency requirements for imported vehicles.⁶⁰

Transport Demand, Emissions and Targets

This section covers three main areas:

Transport demand - the demographic and economic drivers of transport demand, trends in passenger and freight demand, and trends for existing and planned transport infrastructure.

Transport emissions – emissions from the transport sector, trends by different regions and transport modes, and tracking the carbon intensity of fuels.

Transport targets - countries' progress in meeting the 2020 targets for transport emission mitigation, and pathways needed to meet low carbon trajectories to avoid the worst effects of climate change.



2.1 Transport Demand



Key findings

M Drivers of transport demand

- Global population increased 12% between 2010 and 2020, to an estimated 7.7 billion people, and the urban population grew nearly 20% over this period. As the population expands, more people worldwide need dependable transport services to access socioeconomic activities and opportunities.
- Growth in global gross domestic product (GDP) has exceeded growth in transport energy use since 2010. Global GDP grew 27% between 2010 and 2019 (average annual rate of 3%) and 2.2% in 2019, but it fell an estimated 4.3% in 2020 due to the impacts of COVID-19.
- Global oil demand began declining in 2016, and this slide became a freefall in 2020 as the pandemic affected not only oil demand but also prices. The average price of West Texas Intermediate crude oil fell below USD 20 a barrel in 2020 (from USD 57 a barrel in 2019), as the reduction in travel led to a sharp drop in oil demand for transport.
- Battery prices a major factor behind the cost of electric vehicles – dropped 89% between 2010 and 2020, from USD 1,183 per kilowatt-hour (kWh) to an estimated USD 135 per kWh.

Passenger transport supply and demand

Q

- Global demand for public transport grew 4% per year between 2012 and 2017. Bus rapid transit, metro rail and light rail transit have expanded to varying degrees in nearly all regions, with bus rapid transit systems taking off in Europe and light rail becoming more prevalent in Oceania.
- The movement for better inter-city rail options is spreading not only in Europe, where more routes have been planned and upgraded, but also in Canada, China and Thailand. Heavy rail carries 8% of all passengers travelling between cities. Passenger rail transport activity is 75% electrified, and China and India are home to most of the existing track as well as future projected growth.
- Global air travel increased 4.2% from 2018 to 2019. In late July 2019, around 225,000 airplanes were active on a single day, the largest daily movement of aircraft ever recorded.
- The long-anticipated possibility of "peak car" may now be arriving, due to rising urban congestion as well as expanding shared mobility options. Between 2017 and 2019, total sales of passenger cars fell 7% in member countries of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and 10% in non-OECD countries.

Drivers of transport demand



Population growth, urbanisation and density

Global population increased 12% between 2010 and 2020, to an estimated 7.7 billion people, and the urban population grew nearly 20% over this period.¹ As the population expands, more people worldwide need dependable transport services to access socio-economic activities and opportunities. Africa's population grew fastest during the decade, at 29%, followed by Oceania (16%) and Latin America and the Caribbean (11%).² On average, the population in OECD member countries grew 6% over the decade, while the population in non-OECD countries grew 13%.3

The world's urban population increased at an average rate of 1.97% annually during 2010-2020, much faster than the rate of overall population growth (1.29%).⁴ People are increasingly moving to cities to pursue economic, education, social and other opportunities. Small- to medium-sized urban areas are growing especially rapidly and are projected to account for rising shares of both population and economic growth, although they are often overshadowed by bigger, more visible cities.5

The links between population, economic growth, land use and the transport sector are diverse and interrelated. More densely populated areas tend to have higher urban GDP growth, whereas sprawling cities result in increased congestion and energy use. Urbanisation and higher population density can bring economies of scale and efficiency, helping to improve overall energy efficiency on a national level. However, with rising pressure on urban transport systems, cities can succumb to urban sprawl and long-term gridlock in the absence of proactive policies.6

Rising populations and consumer demand can make the movement of freight more challenging as the competition for road space increases. As of 2015, the global road network (excluding local urban roads) totalled around 14.5 million kilometres.⁷ By 2050, it is expected to increase a further 3.0 to 4.7 million kilometres, especially in developing countries and in regions that are currently mainly wilderness, such as the Amazon and Congo basins.8

- Despite evidence of reduced car ownership in some cities, the growth in ridesharing appears to be correlated more strongly with a shift away from cycling, walking, taxis, and public transport, not necessarily car driving. A USA study found that the introduction of ridesharing services in a city leads to annual decreases in heavy rail ridership of 1.3% and in bus ridership of 1.7%.
- Motorised two-wheelers, such as mopeds and motorcycles, grew 149% in India and 80% in Vietnam between 2010 and 2019, and the world's largest motorcycle fleets are in China, India, Indonesia, Pakistan and Vietnam. These transport modes are most prevalent in Southeast Asia and have also increased in Latin America and Sub-Saharan Africa.

Freight transport supply and demand

- Although urban road freight accounted for only 1% of the total freight tonne-kilometres moved worldwide in 2015, it represented half of all road vehicle freight-kilometres, simply because urban loads are typically light but the travel is high frequency. Heavy rail carried 7% of all freight between cities in 2015.
- Global freight demand saw modest growth in maritime trade and declines in aviation due to the slow economic growth in 2018 and 2019.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Oil demand in 2020 was an estimated 8 million barrels per day lower than in 2019. Freight transport activity dropped an estimated 36% below projected levels, and carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions from freight transport fell 30% in 2020.
- As the pandemic disrupted the supply chain, н. global vehicle production declined 14.5% in 2020, with 13 million fewer vehicles produced during the year. The drop was mostly in passenger car sales, whereas global sales of commercial vehicles fell by some 2.3 million. Only electric vehicles recorded strong growth, for a total of 11.2 million electric cars on the world's roads in 2020 (surpassing 2019 estimates by some 1.9 million cars).
- Bicycle sales in the USA increased 62% between January and October 2020 (compared to the same period in 2019), and e-bike sales increased 144%. Eleven European countries saw an average 8% increase in cycling during 2020.

Overview

Population growth and density, as well as economic growth and development, play an important role in driving transport activity. Urbanisation has had far-reaching effects on transport demand as well as on energy efficiency, economic development, social equity and paratransit (sometimes called "informal transport"). Additional factors influencing transport demand (and related emissions) include energy prices, policies related to transport and land use, as well as people's shifting behaviours and needs. Although comprehensive data for 2019 and 2020 are still emerging, various examples and indicators paint a picture of overall trends in the demand for both passenger and freight transport.





Source: See endnote 11 for this section.

Demographic shifts also have implications for the planning of large infrastructure projects, as different age groups tend to have very different mobility patterns. For example, building a rail corridor to connect small- to medium-sized cities might make sense when accounting for projected population growth.

Policies related to the transport of passengers and goods, as well as to land use, play an essential role in ensuring that cities function efficiently for both human and socio-economic development.⁹ However, a lack of integrated planning, and insufficient long-term investment in transport, can lead to unnecessary trips or congestion and to higher energy use in the sector.¹⁰

Economic trends

Growth in global GDP has exceeded growth in transport energy use since 2010. Global GDP grew 27% between 2010 and 2019 (average annual rate of 3%) and 2.2% in 2019 (see Figure 1), but it fell an estimated 4.3% in 2020 due to the impacts of COVID-19.¹¹ These economic trends impact both mobility and transport demand. Although GDP has grown faster than the population overall, the economic benefits have not been distributed equally. Based on most indices, the global economy today is less resilient than it was in 2007, in terms of both economic risks and their consequences, and how to mitigate them.¹² The main challenge for climate action will be decoupling economic growth from rising emissions, particularly in the transport sector.

Providing more options to enable mobility can increase the resilience of both transport systems and the overall economy. This is one reason why both public transport and active modes of transport (cycling and walking) have attracted greater attention since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic (*see Box 1*).¹³

Energy consumption and prices

Global oil demand began declining in 2016, and this slide became a freefall in 2020 as the COVID-19 pandemic affected not only oil demand but also prices.¹⁴ The average price of West Texas Intermediate crude oil fell below USD 20 a barrel in 2020 (from USD 57 a barrel in 2019), as the reduction in travel led to a sharp drop in oil demand for transport.¹⁵ Energy prices can have a significant impact on both transport demand and related emissions.

The price of oil, which is highly susceptible to market forces, helps determine the financial competitiveness of electric vehicles (specifically those powered by renewable or other non-fossil fuel sources) compared to traditional internal combustion vehicles powered by fossil fuels. Even with the drop in oil prices, the payback period and total cost of ownership for electric cars and buses has become more competitive every year (see *Figure 2*), and electric buses have increasingly displaced diesel fuel use.¹⁶ In 2019, 17% of the world's bus fleet was electric, and China was home to 98% of the global fleet, with its e-buses already displacing more oil than all of the world's electric passenger cars combined.¹⁷

Figure 2A. Total cost of ownership for cars



Source: See endnote 16 for this section.

Battery prices – a major factor behind the cost of electric vehicles – dropped 89% between 2010 and 2020, from USD 1,183 per kWh to an estimated USD 135 per kWh^{1,18} Even as oil prices have dipped to historic lows, lithium-ion batteries have become much less expensive and lack the price volatility of oil. The energy density of lithium-ion battery cells nearly tripled between 2010 and 2020, helping to extend the range of electric vehicles.¹⁹

However, cost comparisons between electric and fossil-fuelled vehicles fail to reflect the ongoing presence of fossil fuel subsidies. Despite progress with subsidy reform in the early 2010s, worldwide subsidies for fossil fuels still totalled USD 500 billion in 2019.²⁰ Many governments provide financial and non-financial incentives to support the initial uptake of electric vehicles, but these incentives are often designed to be phased out once a certain market share has been reached.²¹





i Battery pack prices per kWh are higher for plug-in hybrid EVs, and vary by vehicle segment, but published figures refer to the volume-weighted industry average.

Figure 2C. Total cost of ownership for trucks



Source: See endnote ¹⁶ for this section.

Transport Demand, Emissions, and Targets

Shifting behaviours, needs and policies

Additional drivers behind transport demand include people's shifting behaviours and needs, as well as changes in the supply of transport infrastructure. This includes the growing availability of data on the frequency and occupancy of buses and other transport modes, accessed via handheld devices and at public transport stops.

With rising urbanisation, cities have struggled to build adequate infrastructure to provide the needed mobility services for both passengers and freight. The quality of walking and cycling infrastructure in particular is not on par with the many benefits that these options offer to society and the environment.²²

However, in recent years there has been a shift away from highemitting modes of transport and towards non-motorised transport. In 2018 and 2019, the anti-flying movement known as *flygskam* or "flight shame" began sweeping across Europe.²³ A study also found that a majority of European urban residents support increased bans on diesel and petrol cars after 2030.²⁴ Globally, there was a positive correlation between the emergence of "pop-up" walking and cycling infrastructure during the pandemic in 2020, and the share of trips taken via these two modes, which neared 48% in some European cities.²⁵

Policies and regulations shape and determine demand for transport in a variety of ways. Cities in particular serve as "laboratories" for testing the dynamic mix of urbanisation trends and evolving workplaces and delivery modes. For example, bicycle sharing schemes are using "nudging" to incentivise users to drop off their bikes at locations (such as transit stations) that are more useful to the operator. Meanwhile, many delivery companies now offer the option for customers to pick up parcels from a nearby shop at their convenience, instead of having to wait for the delivery and potentially miss it, which can increase energy use and emissions.

Passenger transport supply and demand



Mobility options both within and between cities have increased. However, investment in transport has not yet grown to levels that meet the burgeoning demand for mobility services (see Section 4: Financing Climate Action in Transport).

Public transport

Global demand for public transport grew 4% per year between 2012 and 2017.²⁶ Bus rapid transit, metro rail and light rail transit have expanded to varying degrees in nearly all regions, with bus rapid transit systems taking off in Europe and light rail becoming more prevalent in Oceania (*see Figure 3*).²⁷

The number of cities with bus rapid transit systems increased from 169 in 2017 to 176 in 2020, and the total length of these lines grew from 5,000 kilometres to 5,282 kilometres during this period.²⁸ In 2020, bus rapid transit systems worldwide served nearly 34 million passengers per day.²⁹

Metro rail grew 36% between 2014 and 2018, reaching a total of 178 metro systems worldwide with 642 lines and a combined length of 13,903 kilometres.³⁰ In 2019, **Indonesia** unveiled its first metro system, operating in Jakarta, and a new system also opened in **Doha**, Qatar.³¹ The following year, the first metro in Pakistan went into operation in **Lahore**.³²

Light rail and tram systems have experienced a renaissance, and in some cases systems were reinstalled in places where they had been stripped out decades before. Between 2015 and 2018, the length of light rail track added in Europe alone accounted for a third of the total track length worldwide.³³ However, the Asia-Pacific region had more new light rail projects than Europe for the first time as of 2017, and in 2015 Africa's first system was launched in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.³⁴

Even with the increase in public transport infrastructure and services, ridership has suffered in many places because public transport is a lower policy priority for many cities.³⁶ Best practices point to the importance of better route planning as a relatively cost-efficient measure to boost ridership, which in turn leads to greater revenue and potential for investments in improved bus services, especially as more fleets look to electrify.³⁶

Heavy rail

The movement for better inter-city rail options is spreading not only in Europe, where more routes have been planned and upgraded, but also in Canada, China and Thailand.³⁷ Heavy rail carries 8% of all passengers travelling between cities.³⁸ Passenger rail transport activity is 75% electrified, and China and India are home to most of the existing track as well as future projected growth.³⁹ Outside of these countries and Europe, construction of heavy rail lines is lagging, and most inter-city travel occurs via bus or airplane. Highspeed rail is spearheading growth in heavy rail, and the total highspeed rail track length grew substantially in 2019 and increased in 2020 as well (*see Figure 4*).⁴⁰

Interest in rail declined in many regions in recent decades as low-cost airlines captured a greater share of the market, expanding access to air travel worldwide. However, with increasing urbanisation (among other factors), the calculation is starting to lean more favourably towards high-speed rail corridors between cities, where previously a flight was the preferred mobility choice due to time savings (not taking into account environmental effects). In areas where high-speed rail systems exist, people tend to take trains instead of flights for trips under 500 kilometres.⁴¹

In Europe, inter-city rail travel – particularly the use of night trains with sleeper compartments – decreased between 2010 and 2018.⁴² However, this trend has since reversed, in part because of rising environmental awareness, exemplified by the *flygskam* or "flight shame" movement that became prominent in Sweden in 2019.⁴³

In 2019, international rail travel from the Netherlands went up 13%, while 500,000 fewer passengers flew out of **Amsterdam**'s Schiphol Airport.⁴⁴ Air travel in **Sweden** fell 4% in 2019, and night train travel in **Austria** doubled between 2016 and 2017, increasing a further 10% in 2018.⁴⁵ The Brussels-to-Vienna night train was reintroduced



Figure 3. Growth in bus rapid transit, metro systems and light rail transit, worldwide and by region, 2010-2020

Source: See endnote 27 for this section.



Figure 4. High-speed rail development by region, 2010-2020

High-speed rail development (in 1000 km)

Source: See endnote 40 for this section.

in 2020, nearly 16 years after it closed.⁴⁶ Despite integration efforts in the European Union (EU), many structural and technical issues related to inter-city rail have yet to be resolved, including different gauge widths and grid voltages among member countries.⁴⁷

Air travel

Global air travel increased 4.2% from 2018 to 2019.⁴⁸ In late July 2019, around 225,000 airplanes were active in a single day, the largest daily movement of aircraft ever recorded.⁴⁹ While air travel is dominated by wealthier countries, the launch of the Single African Air Transport Market in 2018, covering 34 countries, will enable more air travel within Africa.⁵⁰ In Europe, aviation represented the second highest share of passenger transport volumes (after road transport) between 2010 and 2019.⁵¹ Europe was the driving market for global air travel growth in 2019, with an 8.9% increase in domestic flights and a 6.3% increase in international flights.⁵² Jet fuel remains untaxed globally, which amounts to an unequal subsidy.⁵³

Air travel infrastructure has struggled to meet demand, and airports are being constructed or expanded in all regions to increase capacity.⁵⁴ In 2019, a new airport became operational in Istanbul, **Turkey**, and **China** also opened Beijing's second international airport, with the world's biggest terminal.⁵⁵ Despite these developments, total airport capacity grew only 3.4% in 2019, half the pace of the previous year.⁵⁶

Passenger cars

The long-anticipated possibility of "peak car" may now be arriving, due to rising urban congestion as well as expanding shared mobility options.⁵⁷ Between 2017 and 2019, total sales of passenger cars fell 7% in OECD countries and 10% in non-OECD countries (*see Figure 5*).⁵⁸ These declines occurred even as GDP per capita increased in both regions.⁵⁹ Overall, passenger car sales have plateaued since 2015 after expanding rapidly over the previous decade (from 45 million cars in 2005 to 65 million in 2015).⁶⁰ Despite declining sales in some developed countries, however, the total number of passenger and commercial vehicles worldwide has continued to increase, due to the continued circulation of older passenger cars.⁶¹

The three most-discussed car trends of recent years are electric, shared and automated vehicles.⁶² Vehicle electrification has continued unabated, although the rate of uptake of electric vehicles remains too slow to meet climate targets (*see Section 3.8: E-mobility*). Meanwhile, shared and automated cars remain far from fulfilling their touted potential (*see Section 3.6: Shared Mobility Services*).

Ridesharing

Despite evidence of reduced car ownership in some cities, the growth in ridesharing appears to be correlated more strongly with a shift away from cycling, walking, taxis, and public transport, not necessarily car driving.⁶³ A USA study found that the introduction



Figure 5. Vehicle sales in OECD and non-OECD countries, 2010-2019



of ridesharing services in a city leads to annual decreases in heavy rail ridership of 1.3% and in bus ridership of 1.7%.⁶⁴ In the USA, however, ridesharing still accounts for less than 1% of the total kilometres driven.⁶⁵ In some urban areas worldwide, ridesharing has been found to increase the total vehicle-kilometres travelled, with a 19% increase in New York City in 2016 and a 31.5% increase in Santiago, Chile.⁶⁶

Motorised two- and three-wheelers

Motorised two-wheeler fleets, such as mopeds and motorcycles, grew 149% in India and 80% in Vietnam between 2010 and 2019 (*see Figure 6*), and the world's largest motorcycle fleets are in China, India, Indonesia, Pakistan and Vietnam.⁶⁷ These transport modes are most prevalent in Southeast Asia and have also increased in Latin America and Sub-Saharan Africa.⁶⁸

The electric two-wheeler segment continued to grow in 2019, not only in China but also in Latin America and the Caribbean, Southeast Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa.⁶⁹ In India, the market grew 11% that year.⁷⁰ Three-wheelers, although more of a niche than two-wheelers, are particularly suited for passenger taxi trips and for the delivery of goods in congested cities, and their numbers are rising in China and India.⁷¹

Two-wheelers have a much lower upfront cost than buying a passenger car and can potentially reduce inconveniences related to parking and congestion. Research on Indonesia's popular **Gojek** motorcycle rideshare service found that motorcycles can complement public transport by acting as feeder services to high-capacity public transport routes.⁷²

Freight transport supply and demand

Although urban road freight accounted for only 1% of the total freight tonne-kilometres moved worldwide in 2015, it represented half of all road vehicle freight-kilometres, simply because urban loads are typically light but the travel is high frequency.⁷³ Heavy rail carried 7% of all freight between cities in 2015.⁷⁴ As freight demand has continued to grow, the total volume of freight tonne-kilometres moved has increased, with the biggest drivers in recent years being food delivery services and e-commerce.⁷⁵

Increased urbanisation and the overall growth in GDP have contributed to the rise in urban freight demand. At the same time, a structural shift has occurred as more people order food and goods directly to their homes, and as both the availability of and demand for same-day deliveries have increased. Same-day delivery of goods



Source: See endnote 67 for this section.

is especially prevalent in Chinese cities, which pioneered the trend (often on electric two- or three-wheelers); however, it is increasingly popular across all regions, particularly in tech-savvy cities in highincome countries and in emerging economies.⁷⁶

Statistics tend to overlook many modes of urban freight transport, including the use of passenger cars for freight delivery or movement, the proliferation of motorcycle food and parcel deliveries, and the use of walking and cycling.⁷⁷ A case study in **London** found that up to 62% of a parcel carrier's round may include walking, and that the overall impacts of urban freight depend on a wide range of factors, including whether or not the first delivery attempt was successful.⁷⁸

The order-return behaviour of consumers also influences freight transport, as purchase policies that enable easy returns can result in unnecessary trips.

Just as ridesharing is considered the marquee business model of the past decade in passenger mobility (upending taxi services around the world), innovation is also taking place in the freight sector. Both small and large companies have entered the sector in new ways. For example, Uber launched its Uber Freight service in the USA, Netherlands and Germany in 2017, then expanded it in 2019, and Gojek shifted in 2020 from just shuttling passengers to also delivering goods within and between cities.⁷⁹ Doddle, launched in several regions in 2015, seeks to avoid missed deliveries by providing physical drop-off locations that are not contingent on someone being home during daytime hours (also known as parcel consolidation).⁸⁰

Amazon has entered the market with its Flex service, which invites eligible drivers with their own vehicles to deliver parcels as part of their daily routine, in an approach called "crowd shipping".⁸¹ It expanded this service to India in 2020.⁸² The company Lori has established a similar crowd shipping platform in Kenya.⁸³ Early indications suggest that this has the potential to help solve the last-mile problem but could also add considerably to emissions.⁸⁴ This issue is discussed further in *Section 2.2: Transport Emissions* and underscores the importance of tracking the movement of freight to gauge its current status.

Global freight demand saw modest growth in maritime trade and declines in aviation due to the slow economic growth in 2018 and 2019. Seaborne trade increased only 0.5% in 2019 (down from 2.8% growth in 2018), the lowest rate since the 2009 financial crisis.⁸⁵ Air freight represents a minimal share of global freight movement.⁸⁶ In 2019, air freight traffic fell 3.3% from the previous year, its first decline since 2012.⁸⁷



Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport demand



Total transport activity plummeted in early 2020 as countries enacted flight restrictions and issued stay-at-home mandates or guidelines due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Reductions in road transport and aviation, the world's two major oil consumers, led to a large drop in oil demand and prices. Oil demand in 2020 was an estimated 8 million barrels per day lower than in 2019. Freight transport activity dropped an estimated 36% below projected levels, and CO_2 emissions from freight transport fell 30% in 2020.

With the decline in air travel, the impacts of the pandemic led to rising interest in inter-city rail. Overall, the number of flights fell 33% in 2020, with 15 million fewer flights compared to 2019. The largest declines were in the **Middle East**, **Africa** and **Europe**. Air freight transport fell only 10.6% in 2020, and by December it was almost back to pre-COVID-19 levels from a year prior, as many flights were used to transport goods and medical supplies. Although home delivery services proved increasingly popular, the overall contraction of the world economy led total freight tonne-kilometres to fall for the year. World seaborne trade was down an estimated 4% in 2020.

As the pandemic disrupted the supply chain, global vehicle production declined 14.5% in 2020, with 13 million fewer vehicles produced during the year. The drop was mostly in passenger car sales, whereas global sales of commercial vehicles fell by some 2.3 million. Only electric vehicles recorded strong growth, for a total of 11.2 million electric cars on the world's roads in 2020 (surpassing 2019 estimates by some 1.9 million cars).

Walking and cycling attracted greater attention following the start of the pandemic. The need for social distancing contributed to accelerated implementation of temporary bike lanes, reallocation of street space and other responses (see Section 3.2: Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management). Bicycle sales in the USA increased 62% between January and October 2020 (compared to the same period in 2019), and e-bike sales increased 144%. Eleven European countries saw an average 8% increase in cycling during 2020. Walking declined sharply in March and April 2020 but recovered quickly to exceed pre-pandemic baseline levels by July.

A growing number of banks, financial and related stakeholders are considering ways to better manage both the pandemic and the climate crisis by linking COVID-19 recovery with investments in economic- and climate-resilient projects. For example, the World Economic Forum, among others, has explored how to "build back better".

The pandemic has had drastic impacts on travel behaviours (see Focus Feature 6: Paratransit as a Complement to Formal Transport Networks) and could have long-term impacts on people's perceptions and travel choices. Pandemic-induced conditions led to more trips within communities, remote working and an increase in health-related trips. However, the long-term direction of passenger and freight transport developments remains unclear, and decision makers must initiate and implement the shift to more sustainable, energyefficient transport options.

Source: See endnote 13 for this section.



2.2 Transport Emissions

Key findings

M Transport emission trends

- The transport sector was the fastest growing fossil fuel combustion sector worldwide from 2010 to 2019, with sectoral emissions rising 17.2% during this period. In absolute terms, transport (alongside "other industrial combustion") was the second highest emitting sector in 2019.
- Global transport emissions increased 1% in 2019, well below the 2% annual average growth rate for the decade.
- Between 2010 and 2019, transport carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions grew 4% in member countries of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and 34% in non-OECD countries.
- In 2019, transport CO₂ emissions fell more than 10% in some countries, but grew more than 5% in many countries, with growth exceeding 10% in some cases.

Transport emissions by mode and sub-sector

- In 2018, CO₂ emissions grew for all major transport modes and sub-sectors, except railways.
- Larger passenger vehicles specifically sport utility vehicles (SUVs, including pickup trucks) – were the biggest driver of passenger transport emissions between 2010 and 2018, contributing 533 million tonnes of CO₂ during this period.

 Emissions from motorised two-wheelers accelerated; however, vehicle-level CO₂ emissions for two-wheelers are relatively low compared to larger vehicles.

Q

- Ride-hailing services have increased rather than decreased CO₂ emissions in many regions and cities, resulting in an estimated 69% increase in climate pollution compared to the trips they displace, in part by increasing traffic congestion.
- Aviation emissions increased 32% between 2013 and 2018, exceeding projections for this period.
- Although freight transport accounted for only 5% of the vehicle fleet in 2017, it contributed 42% of total transport CO₂ emissions as well as disproportionately high levels of local air pollutants.
- Decarbonisation efforts have been slower for freight transport than for passenger transport, although some national and sub-national governments have increased funding commitments.
- As nearly zero emission modes of transport, walking and cycling contribute to Paris Agreement targets for reducing transport-related emissions, while moving 6-8 times more people per hour in the same space compared to higher-carbon, motorised personal vehicles.

Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition

- Global gross domestic product (GDP) grew 2.9% annually on average between 2000 and 2019, while annual transport CO₂ emissions grew at a slower rate of 1.9% during 2000-2010 and 2.0% during 2010-2019; however, additional structural changes are needed to completely decouple economic growth and transport emissions.
- Since 2000, a strong decoupling of GDP and transport CO₂ emissions has been observed in OECD countries, with divergence beginning during the 2007 global financial crisis.
- Non-OECD countries have also experienced a decoupling of transport emissions and GDP growth, although at a lower intensity and a less rapid pace.

Transport energy intensity

- The energy intensity (total energy consumption per unit of GDP) of the transport sector continued to improve in 2018, decreasing 2.1% from the previous year, far faster than the 1.5% average annual decline for 2000-2017.
- The transport sector is 97% fossil fuel-powered and is the least diversified of all energy end-use sectors, remaining far from being fuelled primarily by renewable sources.
- As more electric vehicles enter the vehicle fleet, the carbon intensity of passenger transport has improved slightly.
- The carbon intensity of the shipping sector (CO₂ per deadweight tonne-nautical mile) improved 30% during the period from 2008 to 2018 - faster than the sector's stated target of 40% by 2030 - due to an increase in the average ship size.
- Between 2010 and 2018, the average carbon intensity of electricity generated globally improved 10%. As the market for electrified transport expands, it can leverage these cleaner grids to reduce overall transport emissions.

8 Other climate-related transport impacts

- As of June 2019, some 39 countries had adopted "soot-free" standards for heavier vehicles, helping to reduce black carbon emissions.
- A decoupling of economic growth and black carbon emissions for heavy-duty vehicles is under way, and accelerating this shift would result in an estimated USD 1 trillion in societal savings.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- In 2020, global transport CO₂ emissions dropped 19.4% below 2019 levels due to the pandemic, the biggest decrease of any sector; however, this decline is projected to be short-lived.
- The USA saw the strongest decline in ground transport CO₂ emissions in 2020, down 24% from 2019 levels, followed by Brazil (down 15.3%).
- The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on both GDP and transport CO₂ emissions may result in an equal or stronger decoupling of economic growth and emissions than seen in recent years.



Overview

Rising global demand for mobility and goods has had a direct impact on emissions in the transport sector. Between 2010 and 2019, transport emissions grew in most countries, with higher growth recorded in developing countries. Strong emission increases occurred in road transport, driven by growing use of larger vehicles. Emissions from passenger aviation rose significantly before diving sharply in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and shipping emissions experienced even more dramatic declines. Efforts to decarbonise passenger transport outpaced action in freight transport, although some progress occurred on the latter. The decoupling of transport CO_2 emissions from GDP growth gained momentum – along with improvements in the energy intensity of transport – reflecting greater gains in developed countries. Reductions in black carbon yielded benefits for both transport emissions and local air quality. Although COVID-19 brought a temporary dip in transport emissions, this trend is projected to be short-lived (*see Box 1*).¹

RLOCAT

ΎΙ

Transport emission trends

The transport sector was the fastest growing fossil fuel combustion sector worldwide from 2010 to 2019, with sectoral emissions rising 17.2% during this period (*see Figure 1*).² In absolute terms, transport (alongside "other industrial combustion") was the second highest emitting sector in 2019.³





Source: See endnote 2 for this section.

Global transport emissions increased 1% in 2019, well below the 2% annual average growth rate for the decade.⁴ As a whole, OECD countries and non-OECD countries contribute roughly equal shares of transport CO_2 emissions (similar to the split of global GDP).⁵ However, this balance is likely to shift as the demand for transport grows in developing countries.

Between 2010 and 2019, transport CO_2 emissions grew 4% in OECD member countries and 34% in non-OECD countries.⁶ The biggest emitters in 2019 were the US (1,788 million tonnes of CO_2), China (986 million tonnes), India (306 million tonnes), the Russian Federation (247 million tonnes), Japan (187 million tonnes) and Brazil (181 million tonnes).⁷

In 2019, transport CO_2 emissions fell more than 10% in some countries, but grew more than 5% in many countries, with growth exceeding 10% in some cases.⁸ Globally, most countries experienced 1% to 5% growth in their transport emissions that year (see Figure 2).⁹ Emissions fell more than 10% in Iceland, Pakistan and Venezuela (the latter an outlier due to economic and political factors).¹⁰ Meanwhile, they grew 5% to 10% in many countries in Asia and Oceania (for example, Brunei, China, Fiji, Iran and Sri Lanka), and more than 10% in Latvia.¹¹



and sub-sector



Figure 3. Share of SUVs in annual passenger car sales in selected countries and regions, 2010 and 2019



Source: See endnote 14 for this section

significantly in 2020.25 However, biofuels face challenges with resource limitations and carbon neutrality, and are more expensive than jet fuel, which has no carbon price and is generally untaxed.²⁶

Biofuels will likely struggle to compete in the aviation sub-sector until the policy environment changes. To make up for rising emissions from air travel, the International Air Transport Association has aimed for a 1.5% annual improvement in aviation fuel efficiency starting in 2020 (so-called carbon-neutral growth).27 (See Section 3.10: Aviation for more policy examples.)

Transport emissions by mode

In 2018, CO₂ emissions grew for all major transport modes and sub-sectors, except railways. The emission growth was led by road freight (1.3% annual growth) and aviation (0.5%).12 Despite recent efficiency gains, emissions from passenger transport increased as more people travelled by car and especially by aviation, both of which are high-emitting modes. As people move increasingly to cities, a decoupling of emissions from economic growth could occur as public transport networks develop in tandem with urban growth; however, this is not a given because urbanisation can lead to sprawl and congestion if not soundly managed.

Larger passenger vehicles - specifically SUVs (including pickup trucks) - were the biggest driver of passenger transport emissions between 2010 and 2018, contributing 533 million tonnes of CO₂ during this period.13 The share of SUVs in passenger car sales increased from 17% in 2010 to 41% in 2019 (see Figure 3).14 In some countries, the way that trucks and larger passenger cars are classified has undermined emission reduction efforts. For example, Thailand, despite a promising carbon-based excise tax on personal cars, gives preferential tax treatment to pickup trucks, which now account for more than half of all vehicles in the country.¹⁵ Another factor influencing the preference for SUVs globally is that many of them use diesel fuel, which was around 7% cheaper than petrol on average as of 2018.16

Emissions from motorised two-wheelers accelerated; however, vehicle-level CO₂ emissions for two-wheelers are relatively low compared to larger vehicles.¹⁷ In Vietnam, a transition from conventional to electric motorcycles was seen as having the largest potential to mitigate emissions by 2030.18

Ride-hailing services have increased rather than decreased CO₂ emissions in many regions and cities, resulting in an estimated 69% increase in climate pollution compared to the trips they displace, in part by increasing traffic congestion.¹⁹ This has been demonstrated in Europe, India and the USA as well as in cities such as Bangkok, Cairo, Lagos and Manila.20 Ride-hailing has not produced the expected emission reductions because the distances that drivers travel to pick up customers offset the emission advantages of carrying multiple customers.²¹ Unlike taxi fleets, which in some cases are shifting to electric or other low-emission vehicles, ridesharing fleets generally comprise newer internal combustion engine vehicles, which may provide only minor emission benefits because of their greater fuel efficiency.22

Aviation emissions increased 32% between 2013 and 2018. exceeding projections for this period.23 Aviation is considered the hardest transport mode to decarbonise. Although electrification has made some headway for lighter aircraft, biofuels remain the most prevalent alternative energy source in aviation.²⁴ As new production came online, biofuel production capacity for aviation increased

Ś

Although freight transport accounted for only 5% of the vehicle fleet in 2017, it contributed 42% of total transport CO2 emissions as well as disproportionately high levels of local air pollutants.²⁸ The decarbonisation of freight has made some headway within metropolitan areas, including through more-efficient logistics operations and the electrification of delivery vans; however, on an inter-city level there has been little progress.

Decarbonisation efforts have been slower for freight transport than for passenger transport, although some national and subnational governments have increased funding commitments.²⁹ The Nordic region stands out in its efforts to decarbonise freight, for example by taxing CO₂ and nitrogen oxides and setting long-term targets, even as regional GDP and freight activity have continued to grow.³⁰ In the USA, the state of California allocated USD 73 million for "freight demonstrations" and "advanced freight and fleet technologies" during 2018-2019.³¹ For maritime freight, "cold ironing", or the electrification of ports, is a strategy for reducing both CO₂ emissions and local air pollution.³² (See Section 3.11: Shipping for more policy examples.)

As nearly zero emission modes of transport, walking and cycling contribute to Paris Agreement targets for reducing transport-related emissions, while moving 6-8 times more people per hour in the same space compared to higher-carbon, motorised personal vehicles.³³ In some compact cities, walking and public transport account for up to 90% of trips, and cycling for nearly 50% of trips.³⁴ These modes have high potential to reduce emissions by replacing short car trips and lowering dependance on personal vehicles.

Transport emissions and GDP growth

Global population and economic growth have led to increases in both transport energy use and related CO_2 emissions (up 19% and 17%, respectively, between 2010 and 2019) (see Figure 1 in Section 2.1).³⁶ However, in the developed world, transport-related emissions have decoupled from economic growth. This may be because as more people live in cities, where average travel distances are shorter and there are more options for mobility (including public transport, cycling and walking), emissions per capita may decline.³⁶ Decarbonising cities remains an urgent challenge: although they account for 50% of the world's population and for 3% of the total land area, they represent 70% of total greenhouse gas emissions.³⁷

Global GDP grew 2.9% annually on average between 2000 and 2019, while annual transport CO_2 emissions grew at a slower rate of 1.9% during 2000-2010 and 2.0% during 2010-2019; however, additional structural changes are needed to completely decouple economic growth and transport emissions (*see Figure 4*).³⁸ This decoupling was likely stronger during the former decade because of the effects of the 2007-2008 global financial crisis. The impact of the pandemic in reducing 2020 emissions may result in an equal or stronger decoupling.

Since 2000, a strong decoupling of GDP and transport CO_2 emissions has been observed in OECD countries, with divergence beginning during the 2007 global financial crisis (see Figure 5).³⁹ Even starker decoupling has occurred in the EU-27, where the

Figure 4. Decoupling of transport CO₂ emissions and GDP, 2000-2019





Figure 5. Change in GDP and transport CO2 emissions in OECD and non-OECD countries, 2000-2018

emission intensity of the economy declined by half between 1990 and 2018, and total transport emissions have held steady since 2017.⁴⁰ In 2019, emissions (of all types) regulated under the EU's carbon market dropped nearly 9% from the previous year.⁴¹ Achieving the EU's goal for climate neutrality by 2050 will require drastic cuts in transport CO₂ emissions.⁴²

Non-OECD countries have also experienced a decoupling of transport emissions and GDP growth, although at a lower intensity and a less rapid pace.⁴³ GDP in these countries grew on average 1.3% faster than transport CO_2 emissions from 2000 to 2010, although this margin dropped to 0.9% from 2010 to 2019.⁴⁴ Between 2005 and 2007, annual GDP growth in non-OECD countries was twice as high as annual growth in transport CO_2 emissions.⁴⁵

Transport energy intensity



The energy intensity (total energy consumption per unit of GDP) of the transport sector continued to improve in 2018, decreasing 2.1% from the previous year, far faster than the 1.5% average annual decline for 2000-2017.⁴⁶ However, this rate of improvement falls short of the International Energy Agency's (IEA) target of a 3.2% annual decrease from 2020 to 2030.⁴⁷

Major policies have been enacted in recent years to reduce the energy intensity of passenger car transport (*see Section 3.7: Fuel Economy*), but so far this has not resulted in absolute reductions in transport

CO₂ emissions.⁴⁸ The IEA notes that freight energy intensity is not improving fast enough, and to achieve larger gains, urban freight needs to electrify.⁴⁹ For long-haul shipping, energy intensity will have to improve through goods consolidation, the use of alternative fuels, and gains in systems efficiency, and not necessarily through electrification, which is less suited for maritime transport.

Energy intensity by region and country

Globally, the energy intensity of transport improved steadily between 2000 and 2019 (*see Figure 6*), although the rate of improvement has slowed in some regions, including in Asia and the Pacific, Eurasia and Europe.⁵⁰ Transport energy intensity increased in Latin America and the Caribbean due to low fuel economy standards.

At a national level, transport energy intensity improved nearly 20% in Japan and nearly 10% in Australia between 2000 and 2017 (*see Figure 7*).⁵¹ However, the rate of improvement continues to lag behind the necessary ambition for alignment to the targets of the Paris Agreement.

The transport sector is 97% fossil fuel-powered and is the least diversified of all energy end-use sectors, remaining far from being fuelled primarily by renewable sources.⁵² Biofuels accounted for 90% of renewable energy use in the transport sector in 2017, a share that has not changed dramatically since 2000.⁵³ However, the absolute growth in oil products (including petrol and diesel) in the final energy consumption of transport has slowed, dropping to 15% for 2010-2017, down from 38% for 2000-2017.⁵⁴



Figure 6. Transport energy intensity by region and country, 2010-2019

Figure 7. Improvement of transport energy intensity in selected countries, 2000-2017



Reduction of transport energy intensity (MJ per pkm) from 2000 to 2017

As more electric vehicles enter the vehicle fleet, the carbon intensity of passenger transport has improved slightly.⁵⁵ On average, a battery electric car emits 60% less greenhouse gas emissions per kilometre than a petrol-powered car.⁵⁶ Passenger electric cars represented 2.6% of new vehicle sales in 2019 and accounted for just over 1% of the total global vehicle stock.⁵⁷ A larger shift has occurred towards the electrification of buses, mainly in China, which was home to more than 400,000 electric buses, or 99% of the world's e-bus fleet, in 2020.⁵⁸ China has also electrified most of its powered two-wheelers, for a total of around 250 million electric two-wheelers in 2020.⁵⁹

The carbon intensity of the shipping sector $(CO_2 \text{ per deadweight} \text{ tonne-nautical mile})$ improved 30% during the period from 2008 to 2018 – faster than the sector's stated target of 40% by 2030 – due to an increase in the average ship size.⁶⁰ As a result, there have been recent calls for the International Maritime Organization to set a more ambitious target.⁶¹ (See Section 3.11: Shipping.)

Between 2010 and 2018, the average carbon intensity of electricity generated globally improved 10%. As the market for electrified transport expands, it can leverage these cleaner grids to reduce overall transport emissions.⁶² In 2018, renewable energy – mainly hydropower, wind and solar – accounted for just over a quarter (26.2%) of the world's power generation capacity.⁶³ Transport, which is still highly dependent on fossil fuels, will benefit from the clean energy grid in the transition to electrified mobility and other alternative fuels.



Other climate-related transport impacts

National and local efforts to decrease particulate matter and improve urban air quality often also result in reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. In addition to greenhouse gases (CO₂, methane, nitrous oxide), major transport pollutants include volatile organic compounds (VOCs), sulphur dioxide, carbon monoxide, F-gases, non-absorbing aerosols and black carbon. In **Germany**, sustainable transport measures such as speed limits led to a halving of the number of cities with poor air quality in 2019 compared to the previous year.⁶⁴ To improve air quality in India, electric buses have been deployed in 64 cities (including Kolkata) through the Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of Electric & Hybrid Vehicles (FAME) II scheme.⁶⁵

As of June 2019, some 39 countries had adopted "soot-free" standards for heavier vehicles, helping to reduce black carbon emissions.⁶⁶ Black carbon, a by-product of incomplete combustion in the transport sector, is often produced in diesel buses, motorcycles, and ships, especially ones that are older or poorly maintained. A variety of options exist to decrease black carbon emissions from land transport (for example, upgrading bus fleets) and from the maritime sector (see Section 3.11: Shipping for specific policy examples).⁶⁷

A decoupling of economic growth and black carbon emissions for heavy-duty vehicles is under way, and accelerating this shift would result in an estimated USD 1 trillion in societal savings.⁶⁸

Box 1. COVID-19 impacts on transport emissions

In 2020, global transport CO2 emissions dropped 19.4% below 2019 levels due to the pandemic, the biggest decrease of any sector; however, this decline is projected to be short-lived. CO_2 emissions from ground transport (road and railways) fell an estimated 14.6%, from domestic aviation 31.9%, from international aviation 56.4% and from international shipping 25%. Overall, energy-related CO_2 emissions in all economic sectors dropped an estimated 5.4% for the year, the largest recorded decline in CO_2 emissions in modern history.

The USA saw the strongest decline in ground transport CO_2 emissions in 2020, down 24% from 2019 levels, followed by Brazil (down 15.3%) (see *Figure 8*). China and India experienced declines of 12.5% and 13.8%, respectively. In the aviation sector, Europe released an estimated 48% fewer CO_2 emissions compared to 2019.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on both GDP and transport CO_2 emissions may result in an equal or stronger decoupling of economic growth and emissions than seen in recent years. The ongoing decline in oil demand became a freefall in 2020 as the pandemic affected not only oil demand but also prices.

Source: See endnote 1 for this section.

Figure 8. CO₂ emissions from ground transport, by country, 2020





2.3 Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Key findings

2020 emission reduction targets

- While the majority of Annex I countries (industrialised countries and economies in transition) under the Kyoto Protocol have met their 2020 targets for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, the world is not on track to meet the overall Paris Agreement target for 2030.
- Transport is the only sector where emission levels rose in Annex I countries between 1990 and 2020, increasing 19%.
- Had the transport sector contributed proportionally to the agreed 2020 targets of the Kyoto Protocol 2020, transport CO₂ emissions would have been reduced by at least an additional 7%.
- Vehicle electrification and transport renewable energy targets for 2020 set in early 2010 have largely not been met.

2050 transport emission pathways

 To keep the rise in global temperature below 2 degrees Celsius (°C), annual transport emissions must be reduced to 6.5 gigatonnes of CO₂ or less by 2050; and to keep the rise below 1.5 °C, emissions must be reduced to roughly 3 gigatonnes of CO₂ or less. This would mean slashing per capita transport CO₂ emissions from 0.88 tonnes in 2019 to 0.2 tonnes in 2050.

Q

- To achieve the 1.5 °C scenario with ambitious low carbon transport measures, emissions must start to decline now. To achieve a 2 °C scenario, the mitigation can be delayed until 2030, but emissions must plateau at around 2020 levels.
- Studies indicate that high-income countries were nearing their peak in transport CO₂ emissions by 2020.
- The majority of projected growth in transport emissions is in road transport (both passenger and freight) in middle-income countries, as well as in international aviation and shipping.

- Despite progress in reducing the energy intensity of transport, the sector is expected to have the highest carbon intensity among all sectors in 2040 due to its high dependency on fossil fuels.
- An analysis of transport emission pathways based on national studies shows that despite recent efficiency gains, the sector is not on track to meet 2050 emission reduction targets. In the most recent (2019) analysis, under the average business-asusual pathway, global transport CO₂ emissions could increase from 8 gigatonnes in 2019 to 14.5 gigatonnes in 2050.
- Low carbon transport measures are becoming increasingly efficient and lead to a more positive trend than previously projected. Whereas previously (in 2017) the emission gap was estimated to reach 16 gigatonnes of CO₂ by 2050, new estimates (based on studies up to 2019) show a gap of around 12 gigatonnes.
- A balanced and inter-modal application of Avoid, Shift and Improve measures is capable of yielding an estimated reduction in transport emissions of 2.39 gigatonnes of CO₂-equivalent by 2030 and 5.74 gigatonnes of CO₂-equivalent by 2050.
- An analysis of personal consumption options has identified low carbon transport choices as the most effective area for reducing emissions, well above shifts in food, housing and other sectors.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- As the pandemic subsides, transport emissions are likely to return to previous growth trends. In projections for 2030, climate models estimate that, compared to global temperatures if countries were to adhere to their emission pledges, the halt in transport during COVID-19 would have made only a -0.01 °C difference.
- Emission growth in international shipping has been slowed by the pandemic and is not projected to return to pre-COVID-19 levels until 2030.
- Growth in international aviation emissions was previously projected to be 230% to 310% between 2015 and 2050, and the pandemic has had a minimal impact on these projections (as of mid-2020, they were revised to 220% to 290% growth).
- Many COVID-19 recovery packages and bailout programmes have invested more heavily in fossil fuel-related companies than in clean energy, a trend that is likely to drive transport emission curves upward.

Overview

The transport sector's share of energy-related greenhouse gas emissions is on a trajectory to grow in both absolute and percentage terms. Overall, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has identified transport as one of the most difficult sectors to fully decarbonise.¹ The COVID-19 pandemic is perceived to have effects on the future pathways of transport CO_2 emissions, but the long-term impact will likely depend on the recovery measures implemented (*see Box 1*).²

The International Energy Agency (IEA) projects in its sustainable development scenario that transport will be the second highest emitter of CO_2 in the energy end-use sector (after industry) by 2032, and the highest emitter in 2070, due to lingering fossil fuel use in aviation, road freight and maritime shipping.³ Similar results from the International Renewable Energy Agency project that the transport sector's share of global emissions will equal that of industry by 2030, and then overtake industry to become the largest emitter of CO_2 in end-use sectors in the period from 2030-2040.⁴

2020 emission reduction targets

ଡ

As an outcome of the 1997 Kyoto Protocol and subsequent international climate negotiations, the so-called Annex I countries (industrialised countries and economies in transition) agreed to economy-wide CO_2 emission reduction targets for 2020. These targets called for reductions in the range of 5% to 20% below 1990 levels.⁵ Based on the latest robust data on CO_2 emissions available (for 2019¹), these countries were able to meet their aggregated 2020 targets, with 22 out of the 38 Annex I countries actively contributing to this goal.⁶

While the majority of Annex I countries under the Kyoto Protocol have met their 2020 targets for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, the world is not on track to meet the overall Paris Agreement target for 2030.⁷ Current emission trends will result in a global temperature increase of around 2.5 °C to 3.5 °C by 2100.⁸ A major push to stem the impacts of climate change can be realised if countries set and seek to achieve targets for net zero emissions. As of April 2021, 127 countries representing 63% of global emissions had announced net zero targets.⁹ If all these announcements are fully achieved, the temperature increase could be limited to 2.1 °C by 2100.¹⁰

Transport is the only sector where emission levels rose in Annex I countries between 1990 and 2020, increasing 19% (see Figure 1).¹¹ Although some gains in the sector were made in the areas of energy efficiency and fuel economy, improvements in standards were undercut by skewed emission testing (for example, the Volkswagen "Dieselgate" scandal) and by the shift from smaller cars to larger sport utility vehicles (SUVs). According to the IEA, this shift to SUVs outweighed almost all fuel economy progress during 2010-2018.¹² SUVs were responsible for the second largest increase in energy demand since 2010, even more so than heavy industry.¹³


Figure 1. CO₂ emissions in Annex I countries by sector, 1990-2020

Source: See endnote 9 for this section.

In addition, freight activity increased strongly in Annex I countries, as did freight transport emissions; prior to 2016, the majority of new trucks sold were in countries that lacked both fuel economy and CO₂ emission standards for trucks and commercial vehicles.¹⁴

Had the transport sector contributed proportionally to the agreed 2020 targets of the Kyoto Protocol 2020, transport CO₂ emissions would have been reduced by at least an additional 7%.¹⁶ To speed emission reductions, accelerated action and structural change in the transport sector is required in the coming years. Given current trends, the European Union (EU) is unlikely to meet its original 2030

target for reducing transport emissions (which includes a 37.5% reduction in CO_2 per kilometre for passenger cars, from 2021 levels) – much less its newer, economy-wide target (a 55% reduction).¹⁶

Vehicle electrification and transport renewable energy targets for 2020 set in early 2010 have largely not been met.¹⁷ For example, Ontario, Canada, targeted sales of 18,000 electric vehicles in 2020, yet as of 2019 only 8,025 had been sold in the province, well off the target (2020 data were not yet available).¹⁸ The EU targeted a 10% renewable share in transport energy consumption by 2020, but had achieved only a 7.6% share by 2017 and 8.1% by 2018.¹⁹



2050 transport emission pathways



To keep the rise in global temperature below 2 degrees Celsius (°C), annual transport emissions must be reduced to 6.5 gigatonnes of CO₂ or less by 2050; and to keep the rise below 1.5 °C, emissions must be reduced to roughly 3 gigatonnes of CO₂ or less (*see Figure 2*).²⁰ This would mean slashing per capita transport CO₂ emissions from 0.88 tonnes in 2019 to 0.2 tonnes in 2050.²¹

To achieve the needed emission reductions for the more ambitious 1.5 °C goal, the transport sector needs to contribute rapid and significant additional emission reductions, as compared to the 2 °C pathway.²² Analysis shows that the sector could reach emissions levels of 4.7 gigatonnes of CO_2 equivalent by 2050 through steps such as modal shifts, improved vehicle electrification, the avoidance or reduction of motorised travel, and shortened travel distances.²³

The analysis of mitigation studies on low carbon transport shows that the projections are within the Paris Agreement targets of 2 °C and 1.5 °C.²⁴ However, to achieve the 1.5 °C scenario with ambitious low carbon transport measures, emissions must start to decline now.²⁵ To achieve a 2 °C scenario, the mitigation can be delayed until 2030, but emissions must plateau at around 2020 levels.²⁶

Studies indicate that high-income countries were nearing their peak in transport CO_2 emissions by 2020.²⁷ As of 2019, around 46% of all countries had conducted assessments of low carbon transport pathways to 2050, up from 42% of countries in 2017.²⁸ Among low-income countries, however, 94% still did not have transport projections for 2050.²⁹

9

The majority of projected growth in transport emissions is in road transport (both passenger and freight) in middle-income countries, as well as in international aviation and shipping.³⁰ Under the average business-as-usual pathway, the share of emissions from international aviation and shipping could nearly double from 14% in 2000 to 29% in 2050.³¹

Despite progress in reducing the energy intensity of transport, the sector is expected to have the highest carbon intensity among all sectors in 2040 due to its high dependency on fossil fuels.³² In the coming decades, transport activity is expected to grow steadily, driven mainly by freight transport and aviation, if no countermeasures are taken.³³ According to projections, the global vehicle fleet will reach between 2 billion and 3 billion vehicles by 2050, more than double the current road vehicle fleet of over 1 billion vehicles; freight activity will increase 225%, and non-urban passenger travel will grow similarly.³⁴





Source: See endnote 20 for this section.



Figure 3. Comparison of business-as-usual projections for transport emissions, 2017 and 2019 studies

Source: See endnote 35 for this section.

Business-as-usual emission projections

An analysis of transport emission pathways based on national studies shows that despite recent efficiency gains, the sector is not on track to meet 2050 emission reduction targets. In the most recent (2019) analysis, under the average business-as-usual pathway, global transport CO₂ emissions could increase from 8 gigatonnes in 2019 to 14.5 gigatonnes in 2050 (see Figure 3).³⁵ This suggests an improvement from the previous (2017) analysis, which showed CO₂ emissions rising to 18.5 gigatonnes in 2050 – highlighting that existing policies are now assumed to be more efficient than was previously estimated.³⁶ The updated analysis results in a 22% reduction in average business-as-usual emissions for 2050 compared to the earlier study.³⁷

Low carbon transport measures are becoming increasingly efficient and lead to a more positive trend than previously projected. Whereas previously (in 2017) the emission gap was estimated to reach 16 gigatonnes of CO_2 , new estimates (based on studies up to 2019) show a gap of around 12 gigatonnes. The improvements for business-as-usual result in a smaller emission gap between the business-as-usual pathways and the low carbon pathways – suggesting that current transport policies are seen as being more effective than previously projected.³⁸

Other recent business-as-usual projections based on top-down analysis of global data show a similar outlook (see Figure 4).³⁹ Decarbonisation in line with the targets of the Paris Agreement is seen as especially challenging for freight and long-distance transport (air and shipping).⁴⁰ The projections reinforce the need to implement every possible measure to divert from the business-as-usual pathway.⁴¹





Source: See endnote 39 for this section

Emission trajectories and the *Avoid-Shift-Improve* framework

A balanced and inter-modal application of Avoid, Shift and Improve measures is capable of yielding an estimated reduction in transport emissions of 2.39 gigatonnes of CO_2 -equivalent by 2030 and 5.74 gigatonnes of CO_2 -equivalent by 2050 (see Figure 5).⁴² The transformation of transport to a low carbon system can be guided by the Avoid-Shift-Improve framework (see Section 1: Global Overview). A balanced and inter-modal application of this framework that respects its inherent hierarchy (first Avoid/Reduce, then Shift, then Improve) can yield better mitigation results. Most of the reductions can be achieved in urban passenger transport.⁴³

Achieving a 1.5 °C scenario will require a 40% reduction in transport's final energy consumption.⁴⁴ This can be achieved through better urban planning and land use, since a compact city can yield lower transport energy demand, less car dependency, higher passenger density in public transport, and more walking and cycling. Much of this relates to "Shift" measures as well as to implementing "Avoid/ Reduce" measures, which would result in the most direct reductions in final energy consumption.

Among *"Improve"* measures, the most promising action is electric mobility, although it is unlikely that transport decarbonisation can be achieved by electrifying transport alone.⁴⁵ To achieve a 1.5 °C scenario pathway, the majority of the world's passenger and freight

Figure 5. Projected emission reductions resulting from various transport measures, 2030 and 2050



Source: See endnote 42 for this section.

vehicle fleets need to be electrified by 2050, including freight vehicles.⁴⁶ In Europe, electric cars currently contribute three times fewer CO_2 emissions than internal combustion engine cars based on life-cycle assessment.⁴⁷

A comparison of national electric vehicle sales targets with manufacturers' plans for producing the vehicles suggests that a significant gap will remain between supply and demand through 2050 (see Figure 6).⁴⁸ Several national and regional entities have announced intentions to phase out sales of cars and trucks with internal combustion engines (see Section 3.8: E-mobility). However, this ambition cannot be supported by current levels of electric vehicle production. To help countries meet their government targets, the share of electric cars in vehicle sales needs to be around 66%.⁴⁹

An analysis of personal consumption options has identified low carbon transport choices as the most effective area for reducing emissions, well above shifts in food, housing and other sectors (see Figure 7).⁵⁰ A car-free lifestyle can save on average 2.1 tonnes of CO₂-equivalent per capita a year, while the use of battery electric passenger cars can save on average 2 tonnes per capita a year, although several studies indicate even greater potential savings depending on the circumstances.⁵¹ Meanwhile, taking fewer long-distance flights can save on average 1.8 tonnes of CO₂-equivalent per capita a year.



Figure 6. Projections for global electric vehicle fleet development, 2020-2030



Source: See endnote 48 for this section.

Figure 7. Estimated mitigation potential of various low carbon transport options

Mitigation potential (tonnes CO_{2eq} per capita)



Source: See endnote 50 for this section.

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport pathways

As the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, transport emissions are likely to return to previous growth trends. In projections for 2030, climate models estimate that, compared to global temperatures if countries were to adhere to their emission pledges, the halt in transport during COVID-19 would have made only a -0.01 °C difference. The pandemic can be seen as an opportunity to transition to low carbon mobility systems and to shift to lower-emission pathways; however, initial assessments indicate that it made little difference to global temperatures and will not permanently accelerate the decarbonisation of transport. Without green investments in economic recovery packages, transport will fail to contribute proportionally to meeting the Paris Agreement targets of keeping global temperature rise well below 2 °C and below 1.5 °C.

Emission growth in international shipping has been slowed by the pandemic and is not projected to return to pre-COVID-19 levels until 2030. Shipping emissions fell an estimated 18-35% in 2020 from 2019 levels. Emission growth for 2030 is projected to range between a drop of around 13% compared to pre-COVID (2019) projections and a return to pre-COVID projections. Growth in international aviation emissions was previously projected to be 230% to 310% between 2015 and 2050, and the pandemic has had a minimal impact on these projections. By mid-2020, the revised projections based on COVID-19 had fallen only slightly to a 220% to 290% increase by 2015-2050. The International Civil Aviation Organization's Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA) had originally intended to use 2019 and 2020 as the baseline for reducing emissions, but due to the pandemic this was changed to only 2019, at least for the first three years of the scheme.

Many COVID-19 recovery packages and bailout programmes have invested more heavily in fossil fuelrelated companies than in clean energy, a trend that is likely to drive transport emission curves upward. An analysis of recovery packages including from China, the EU-27, India, the Republic of Korea and the US concluded that, as of September 2020, these countries had not seized the opportunity to introduce structural changes to their economies that would induce transformational change in transport decarbonisation policies. (See Section 4: Financing Climate Action in Transport.)

Source: See endnote 2 for this section.







Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector

Assessing progress towards meeting the goals of the Paris Agreement requires evaluating whether the policy responses of countries are adequate to address the scale of the transport and climate change challenge. While some countries have begun building commitments to reduce transport emissions – for example, by *avoiding* unnecessary motorised trips, *shifting* to less carbon-intensive modes and *improving* vehicle design, efficiency and clean energy sources – many countries have yet to make firm commitments.







Walking and Cycling 138



Urban Passenger and Freight Transport 149



Passenger and Freight Railways 159



Shared Mobility Services 167





186

206





Renewable Energy in Transport 198





3

Section 3 provides an overview of recent policies, commitments, targets and actions to enable climate change mitigation and adaptation in the transport sector. It covers 10 major thematic areas: sustainable mobility planning and transport demand management, walking and cycling, urban passenger and freight transport, passenger and freight railway, shared mobility services, fuel economy, e-mobility, renewable energy in transport, aviation and shipping.

- Section 3.1 provides an overview of national policy frameworks on transport and climate change. It summarises mechanisms to enable action on climate change and sustainable development, and illustrates country efforts to use these mechanisms to advance low carbon transport targets and measures.
- Sections 3.2 to 3.11 explore recent progress in the 10 major thematic areas, based on the latest available data and information. They assess the alignment of these areas with the Paris Agreement goals, the actions being taken to move towards compliance with these goals, and how existing obstacles are being addressed.

An assessment of responses also requires evaluating the significant financing requirements for countries to scale up sustainable low carbon transport systems (particularly in the Global South), as well as the current gap between needs and resources (especially from governments and institutions). Section 4 of this report includes an assessment of current transport and climate change investments, as well as insights on the potential to leverage existing and emerging funding sources, and the momentum to phase out fossil fuel subsidies and scale up renewable energy use for transport.

3.1

National Policy Frameworks for Transport and Climate Change



 (\mathbf{Q})

Key findings

Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) in the framework of the Paris Agreement

- During 2015 and 2016, 166 first-generation NDCs were submitted (from 165 countries, plus the European Union-28); 76% of these highlight transport as an important sector for climate mitigation, but only 8% include specific targets for reducing transport emissions.
- From November 2018 through May 2021, 54 secondgeneration NDCs were submitted (from 53 countries, plus the European Union-27); 72% of these include specific measures for mitigating transport emissions, but only 15% include a specific target for reducing transport emissions, showing insufficient progress towards meeting Paris Agreement goals.
- Among second-generation NDCs, "Improve" measures account for 53% of all measures (versus 52% in first-generation NDCs); "Shift" measures account for 19% (versus 32% in first-generation NDCs); and "Avoid" measures account for 8% (versus

6% in first-generation NDCs), with other measures being cross cutting. This illustrates a continued bias towards technological solutions.

- Among second-generation NDCs, 15 countries have increased their attention to climate change adaption for transport (28%, compared to 4% of first-generation NDCs), although fewer than 6% include a transport adaptation target.
- While 37% of second-generation NDCs make reference to Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategies, there is potential to more strongly leverage transport decarbonisation synergies between these mechanisms.
- While 13 second-generation NDCs set higher targets for reducing economy-wide emissions, a recent assessment estimates that current pledges would still lead to warming of 2.6 degrees Celsius (°C) by 2100, far exceeding the Paris Agreement goals.

Voluntary National Reviews (VNRs) of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in the framework of the UN 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development

- Among VNRs submitted in 2020, 48% connect transport to SDG 13 (Climate Action), while only a single VNR submission sets a specific transport target, illustrating the need for further alignment between Paris Agreement mechanisms and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.
- Among second-generation NDCs, 13% establish direct linkages between sustainable transport measures and specific SDGs, including SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-Being), SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) and SDG 13 (Climate Action).
- Creating a common methodological framework between the Paris Agreement and the implementation and monitoring mechanisms for the 2030 Agenda can maximise the combined potential of both global frameworks for accelerating sustainable, low carbon transport.

Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategies (LT-LEDS) in the framework of the Paris Agreement

- All 29 LT-LEDS submitted from November 2016 through May 2021 contain references to transport sector actions, and more than 20% propose specific targets for mitigating transport emissions.
- Submitted LT-LEDS focus strongly on "Improve" measures (representing 56% of all measures), whereas only 13% represent "Shift" measures and 7% represent "Avoid" measures.

National Adaptation Plans (NAPs) and National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs) in the framework of the Paris Agreement

- Among the 22 NAPs submitted from October 2015 through March 2021 (with 14 submitted since 2018), more than 50% refer to specific transport adaptation measures. While this reflects an increase in adaptation considerations in transport, significant gaps remain.
- 51 NAPAs were submitted from November 2004 to February 2017, followed by no submissions through May 2021. This lack of substantive progress is likely linked to the absence of a clear reporting process on implementation status.

Linkages between national climate change planning processes and Paris Agreement mechanisms

- NDCs are increasingly referencing national climate change and strategic plans, to enhance synergies in the interest of accelerating transport decarbonisation and sustainability objectives.
- Many countries have captured enhanced ambition on transport in recent national climate change plans and commitments, which complement measures detailed in global climate change mechanisms.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport and climate change policy frameworks

- In 2020, due to the pandemic, the UN Conference on Climate Change (COP26, originally scheduled for November) and other key processes around the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) were delayed, resulting in shifted timelines for progress towards updated NDCs and NAPs.
- To accelerate collective and timely action towards a low carbon transport transition, many initiatives were announced at the En Route to COP26 event in December 2020.
- The pandemic has prompted low carbon transport measures in national recovery efforts (see Section 4.1 on Financing), which should be linked to the development of enhanced NDCs.





Overview

To achieve the goals of the Paris Agreement, the transport sector must accelerate climate action immediately to achieve decarbonisation by mid-century. Under the Agreement, Parties to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) are required to submit Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), or frameworks and strategies outlining their specific targets and actions to reduce emissions. NDCs communicate planned mitigation and adaptation actions by the Parties, including plans to achieve resilient, low carbon transport systems.¹

In addition to NDCs, the UNFCCC provides several mechanisms under the Paris Agreement to describe intended measures and ambitions on climate change mitigation and adaptation. These include: Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategies (LT-LEDS); National Adaptation Plans (NAPs); National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs); and Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions (NAMAs).² The Paris Agreement also provides a mechanism for collaboration among Parties and so-called non-Party stakeholders (all stakeholders that are not national governments) through the Marrakech Partnership for Global Climate Action. The Marrakech Partnership elaborates Climate Action Pathways, which set out visions for various sectors – including transport – to achieve a 1.5 °C resilient world in 2050.³

Sustainable transport is an important component of additional UN frameworks on sustainable development and resilience, including the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (and its Voluntary National Reviews (VNR) for tracking progress towards these goals), as well as the adaptation and resilience objectives of the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction (and its Global Assessment Report).⁴ There is significant potential to strengthen the nexus between the UNFCCC mechanisms for the Paris Agreement and the 2030 Agenda and Sendai Framework. Enhancing linkages among these global frameworks and their monitoring and reporting processes can help assure that progress towards climate change mitigation and adaption yields broader positive impacts on sustainable development.

The COVID-19 pandemic impacted transport and climate change policy frameworks, resulting in a postponement of the 2020 UN Conference on Climate Change (COP26) and in shifts in submissions for new NDCs. The pandemic has also prompted efforts to include low carbon transport measures in national recovery plans (see Box 1).⁵

Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) in the framework of the Paris Agreement

NDCs are submitted in a five-year cycle, with the first generation of NDCs submitted in 2015 and subsequent generations to be submitted every five years thereafter. The NDC process is supported by a set of "global stocktakes" to assess progress towards implementation of the Paris Agreement, with the first one scheduled to take place in 2023 (and subsequent ones every five years thereafter).⁶

Transport in first-generation NDCs

During 2015 and 2016, 166 first-generation NDCs were submitted (from 165 countries, plus the European Union-28); 76% of these highlight transport as an important sector for climate mitigation, but only 8% include specific targets for reducing transport emissions.⁷ First-generation NDCs were submitted as Intended Nationally Determined Contributions (INDCs), which then officially became NDCs following the ratification of the Paris Agreement in 2015.⁸

Around half of the transport actions described in the firstgeneration NDCs represent "*Improve*" measures, while a more balanced set of "*Avoid*" and "*Shift*" measures is needed to optimise the mitigation potential of transport (see Avoid-Shift-Improve hierarchy in Section 1.1).⁹ Despite commitments to decarbonise transport in more than three-quarters of NDCs, few of the first-generation NDCs include quantified targets and timelines for achieving these measures.

Transport in second-generation NDCs

Parties to the UNFCCC were requested to submit secondgeneration NDCs by the end of 2020, according to the established five-year cycle. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and mindful of countries' needs to focus on pandemic-related emergencies, the UNFCCC extended the timeline for Parties to submit second-generation NDCs until 9 to 12 months before the UN Climate Change Conference (COP26, which was postponed to November 2021).¹⁰

From November 2018 through May 2021, 54 second-generation NDCs were submitted (from 53 countries, plus the European Union-27); 72% of these include specific measures for mitigating transport emissions, but only 15% include a specific target for reducing transport emissions, showing insufficient progress toward Paris Agreement goals.¹¹ The Parties that submitted these 54 NDCs collectively account for 59% of global transport CO_2 emissions, but only 8 of the NDCs include transport mitigation targets (*see Table 1*).¹² Submission of additional second-generation NDCs is anticipated before COP26.

Among second-generation NDCs, Improve measures account for 53% of all measures (versus 52% in first-generation NDCs); Shift measures account for 19% (versus 32% in first-generation NDCs); and Avoid measures account for 8% (versus 6% in first-generation NDCs), with other measures being cross cutting (see Figure 1).¹³ This illustrates a continued bias towards technological solutions.

As of May 2021, 10 countries had expanded the scope of their second-generation NDCs to amplify Avoid measures (e.g., avoiding unnecessary motorised transport; planning more compact cities) and Shift measures (e.g., increasing access to opportunities through public transport, walking and cycling).¹⁴ Amplifying *Avoid* and *Shift* measures is seen as a key opportunity to enhance transport in NDCs.¹⁵

Cabo Verde, Colombia, Moldova and Suriname intend to avoid motorised travel through urban planning and car-free zones.¹⁶

Country	Target
Andorra	Reduce road transport emissions 50% by 2030 (new in second-generation NDC)
Bangladesh	Reduce transport emissions 9% below business-as-usual by 2030 (repeated from first-generation NDC)
Cuba	Reduce fossil fuel use in ground transport 50% by 2030 (new in second-generation NDC)
European Union	 Reduce carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions per kilometre from passenger cars sold by 37.5% on average, and from new vans by 31% on average, by 2030 (from 2021 levels) (new in second-generation NDC) Reduce CO₂ emissions per kilometre from new large lorries 30% on average from 2019/2020 levels (new in second-generation NDC)
Fiji	Reduce domestic maritime shipping emissions 40% below business-as-usual levels by 2030 (new in second-generation NDC)
Grenada	Reduce transport CO_2 emissions 20% below business-as-usual levels by 2025, with further reductions by 2030 (repeated from first-generation NDC)
Japan	Reduce transport CO_2 emissions 27% below 2013 levels by 2030, to reach 163 million tonnes of CO_2 or less (repeated from first-generation NDC)
Norway	Reduce transport emissions 40% below 2005 levels by 2030 (new in second-generation NDC)

Table 1. Second-generation NDC submissions with specific targets for mitigating transport emissions

Source: See endnote 12 for this section.

Switzerland notes the importance of removing fossil fuel subsidies and being actively involved in Friends of Fossil Fuel Subsidies Reform.¹⁷

As of May 2021, 21 of the 54 second-generation NDCs referred to electric mobility, and several NDCs included electric mobility-related targets, reflecting continued emphasis on Improve measures.¹⁸

- Brunei aims for electric vehicles to represent 60% of total annual vehicle sales by 2035.¹⁹
- Nepal aims for 90% of private passenger cars and two-wheelers sold and 60% of public transport vehicles in operation to be electric by 2030.²⁰
- Tonga aims for 10% of all newly registered vehicles to be electric or hybrid by 2030.²¹

Among second-generation NDCs, 15 countries have increased their attention to climate change adaption for transport (28%, compared to 4% of first-generation NDCs), although fewer than 6% include a transport adaptation target.²² Among first-generation NDCs, 16% highlight the transport sector within the scope of adaptation activities, while only 4% include specific transport adaptation measures, underscoring the need to further emphasise transport adaptation in the NDC framework.²³

Figure 1. Avoid, Shift and/or Improve transport measures in second-generation NDCs



Source: See endnote 13 for this section.

Among the 15 second-generation NDCs with greater attention to adaptation for transport (as of May 2021), the most common adaptation measures were transport infrastructure resilience improvements (20 actions), design standards (8 actions) and disaster information systems (7 actions).²⁴ Transport adaptation targets in second-generation NDCs include the following:

- Cambodia aims to develop climate-proofing road standards by 2022 and to implement them on all roads by 2030.²⁵
- Kenya aims to climate-proof at least 4,500 kilometres of roads by 2030.²⁶
- Papua New Guinea has committed to making USD 1.2 billion in transport infrastructure assets climate resilient.²⁷

While 37% of second-generation NDCs make general references to Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategies, there is potential to more strongly leverage transport decarbonisation synergies between these mechanisms.²⁸ LT-LEDS are beneficial for transport because new or expanded projects typically take many years to design and build, and reaching transport targets typically requires more than 10 years. As NDCs have only a 5- to 10-year horizon, LT-LEDS are necessary to bridge the planning and implementation processes for structural transformations.²⁹

While 13 second-generation NDCs set higher targets for reducing economy-wide emissions, a recent assessment estimates that current pledges would still lead to warming of 2.6 °C by 2100, far exceeding the Paris Agreement goals.³⁰ The Intergovernmental Panel in Climate Change (IPCC) concludes that while emission reductions are urgent, they are also feasible and will require robust mitigation commitments, bold policy support and dedicated funding streams.³¹ A pathway for the transport sector that is compatible with keeping the rise in global temperature below 1.5 °C can deliver critical emission reductions as well as more equitable mobility access, expanded job creation and improved air quality.³²

Voluntary National Reviews (VNRs) of the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in the framework of the UN 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development

Sustainable, low carbon mobility is a powerful driver for positive, systemic transformation of societies in areas that go well beyond climate action. This transformation is outlined in the UN 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and its 17 Sustainable Development Goals.³³ The 2030 Agenda is a cross-cutting, interconnected agenda, with the achievement of one SDG often dependent on the achievement of a series of others. SDG 13 (Climate Action) provides a direct linkage between the actions to support the 2030 Agenda and the Paris Agreement.

While sustainable, low carbon mobility is not represented by a standalone SDG, its successful implementation supports the achievement of almost every SDG. The extent of positive interactions between sustainable, low carbon transport and mobility and the 2030 Agenda is captured among four cross-cutting themes – Equitable, Healthy, Green and Resilient – each of which incorporates impacts of transport climate action (*see Figure 2*).³⁴

The 2030 Agenda encourages UN Member States to submit VNRs to the annual UN High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development.³⁵ The VNR process facilitates sharing of successes and challenges among Member States, with a view towards accelerating implementation of the 2030 Agenda.³⁶ Since the first High-Level Political Forum in 2016, countries have reported on transport as a vital sector to implement the SDGs, showcasing onthe-ground implementation and best practices.

Among VNRs submitted in 2020, 48% connect transport to SDG 13 (Climate Action), while only a single VNR submission sets a specific transport target (*see Figure 3*), illustrating the need for further alignment between Paris Agreement mechanisms and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.³⁷ VNRs submitted in 2020 with climate-focused transport targets include the following:

- Argentina set a target to increase universal access to public transport from 82% in 2010 to 91% by 2030.³⁸
- Estonia aims to increase the share of renewable energy in its transport sector to 10% by 2021.³⁹
- Slovenia set a target to reduce transport greenhouse gas emissions "significantly" by 2030 and 2050.⁴⁰

Among second-generation NDCs, 13% establish direct linkages between sustainable transport measures and specific SDGs, including SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-Being), SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) and SDG 13 (Climate Action).⁴¹ Examples of second-generation NDC linkages to SDGs include the following:

- Cambodia aims to promote integrated public transport systems, enhance vehicle inspection and maintenance, and shift longdistance freight from truck to train, linking these measures to SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-Being), SDG 5 (Gender Equality), SDG 8 (Decent Work and Economic Growth) and SDG 9 (Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure).⁴²
- Chile aims to reduce total black carbon emissions at least 25% by 2030 (from 2016 levels), linking this measure to SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-Being), SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) and SDG 13 (Climate Action).⁴³
- Rwanda aims to increase vehicle emission standards to enhance resilience to disease, linking this measure to SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-Being), SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities), SDG 12 (Responsible Consumption and Production) and SDG 13 (Climate Action).⁴⁴

The development, implementation and reporting of NDCs and VNRs can be optimised and leveraged through concerted and coordinated efforts to scale up sustainable transport (see Box 1).⁴⁵

Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector





Source: See endnote 34 for this section.

Figure 3. Shares of VNRs submitted in 2020 that connect transport with different SDGs



% of 2020 VNRs connecting transport with different SDGs

No. of VNRs submitted in 2020: 47

Source: See endnote 37 for this section.

Box 1. Synergies among NDCs and VNRs

Creating a common methodological framework between the Paris Agreement and the implementation and monitoring mechanisms for the 2030 Agenda can maximise the combined potential of both global frameworks for accelerating sustainable, low carbon transport.

A successful implementation of sustainable transport measures in the context of the Paris Agreement and the 2030 Agenda must involve concerted and co-ordinated efforts to more closely link the processes of developing, implementing and tracking progress towards both NDCs and VNRs. Such alignment is required both in the governance of the processes themselves and in the coordination among the national and sub-national actors that are formulating and putting them into practice.

In response to this identified need, a guidance was proposed in 2020 by the Islamic Development Bank and the SLOCAT Secretariat to support the implementation of NDCs and SDGs for the transport sector at the national level. The guidance presents a set of eight components for mainstreaming the 2030 Agenda and the Paris Agreement objectives within the transport sector, to support convergence between climate action and sustainable development.

Source: See endnote 45 for this section.



Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategies (LT-LEDS) in the framework of the Paris Agreement

To complement the NDCs, the Paris Agreement invites (but does not require) Parties to formulate and communicate Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategies, to help establish low carbon trajectories to 2050. Parties were invited to submit LT-LEDS by the end of 2020, and as of May 2021, 29 had been submitted.⁴⁶

All 29 LT-LEDS submitted from November 2016 through May 2021 contain references to transport sector actions, and more than 20% propose specific targets for mitigating transport emissions.⁴⁷ Proposed decarbonisation actions include electric mobility (24 countries), transport infrastructure improvements (16 countries) and vehicle efficiency improvements (13 countries).⁴⁸ Six LT-LEDS propose explicit transport mitigation targets, as follows:

- Belgium aims achieve a 100% reduction of transport CO₂ emissions by 2050.⁴⁹
- Germany aims to reduce transport greenhouse gas emissions 40% to 42% below 1990 levels by 2030, reaching 95 million to 98 million tonnes of CO₂ equivalent or less.⁵⁰
- Japan aims to reduce transport CO₂ emissions 80% below 2010 levels by 2050.⁵¹
- Portugal targets reducing transport CO₂ emissions 43-46% by 2030, 84-85% by 2040 and 98% by 2050.⁵²
- Sweden aims to reduce transport CO₂ emissions 70% below 2010 levels by 2030.⁵³

Switzerland is targeting zero greenhouse gas emissions from domestic land transport by 2050, and net zero emissions from international aviation from the country by 2050.⁵⁴

Submitted LT-LEDS focus strongly on *Improve* measures (representing 56% of all measures), whereas only 13% represent *Shift* measures and 7% represent *Avoid* measures (see Figure 4).⁵⁵ Despite providing a more comprehensive narrative on low carbon transport measures, the LT-LEDS still depend largely on technological solutions. (See Box 2 for a recently established process for tracking the the role of transport in NDCs and LT-LEDS.⁵⁶) Examples of transport measures and targets captured in recently submitted LT-LEDS include the following:

- Costa Rica establishes three axes for transport decarbonisation: public transport and active mobility; light-duty vehicle fleets powered by renewables; and low-emission freight transport.⁵⁷
- Finland targets a 5-to-1 ratio of electric to petrol vehicles by 2030.58
- Singapore targets having 9 out of 10 trips during peak periods performed through walking, cycling and public transport modes by 2040 and envisions the development of 20-minute towns and a 45-minute city, which would reduce the need for motorised travel.⁵⁹

esponses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector

2

National Adaptation Plans (NAPs) and National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs) in the framework of the Paris Agreement

The impacts of climate change on transport infrastructure and services are already being experienced and are likely to increase in the future (*See Focus Feature on Adaptation*). For example, in the European Union, costs to transport systems from extreme weather events are projected to increase 20% by 2040-2050, ranging from an estimated 7% increase for road transport to a 72% increase for rail.⁶⁰ Thus, it is important for governments to recognise the value of transport adaptation plans and strategies within global processes and national and local plans. Despite these needs, transport adaptation has received less attention than transport mitigation in NDCs, and most low- and middle-income countries have not completed climate vulnerability studies.

National Adaptation Plans (NAPs), established in 2011, identify medium- and long-term adaptation needs for developing countries, and strategies to address those needs. NAPs aim to facilitate integration of climate change adaptation into new and existing policies, programmes and activities to establish and develop planning processes and strategies across various sectors and levels of government.⁶¹

Among the 22 NAPs submitted from October 2015 through March 2021 (with 14 submitted since 2018), more than 50% refer to specific transport adaptation measures.⁶² While this reflects an increase in adaptation considerations in transport, significant gaps remain. Among the submitted NAPs, 13 mention climate change impacts on transport, and 13 refer to specific transport adaptation measures. Action on NAPs shows little change from previous years in addressing transport vulnerabilities, despite increasing climate impacts in the sector.

- Brazil aims to incorporate adaptation studies in technical standards for design and maintenance of the urban mobility infrastructure and has highlighted transport impacts and needs in a NAP sectoral strategy.⁶³
- Kenya aims to climate-proof buildings, roads, railway, marine, aviation, and information and communications technology infrastructure through the use of appropriate designs and building materials.⁶⁴
- Sri Lanka aims to improve climate resilience and disaster risk preparedness of transport and to assess the impacts of projected changes and extreme weather scenarios on transport systems.⁶⁵

National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs), established in 2001, allow least-developed countries to prioritise a list of ranked adaptation activities, in order to facilitate the development of project proposals for implementation. The UNFCCC has established a Least Developed Countries Fund to assist in the preparation and implementation of NAPAs and an Expert Group to provide technical support.⁶⁶





Source: See endnote 55 for this section.

Box 2. Tracker of Climate Strategies for Transport: A database on ambition, targets and policies in NDCs and LT-LEDS

The Tracker of Climate Strategies for Transport was developed by the SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport and the Advancing Transport Climate Strategies in Rapidly Motorising Countries (TraCS) project^I. It enables tracking of nationallevel climate policies and targets in transport, and specifically provides information on the role of transport in NDCs and LT-LEDS. The Tracker will be continually updated, adding the newest NDCs and LT-LEDS once they are published on the UNFCCC portal. The Tracker will eventually be updated with other major national strategies, starting with relevant transport documents referenced in NDCs and LT-LEDS.

Source: See endnote 56 for this section.

i Implemented by the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) and financed by the International Climate Initiative (IKI) of the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety. 51 NAPAs were submitted from November 2004 to February 2017, followed by no submissions through May 2021.⁶⁷ This lack of substantive progress is likely linked to the absence of a clear reporting process on implementation status.⁶⁸ Among the submitted NAPAs, 34 include general descriptions of climate change impacts on transport, and 18 include specific transport adaptation measures.

- Comoros aims to reinforce energy infrastructure for production and transport.⁶⁹
- Timor-Leste aims to deliver a comprehensive maintenance programme for all existing roads.⁷⁰
- Tuvalu aims to implement a multi-million dollar tar-sealed road infrastructure project to increase connectivity of rural communities with the urban centre.⁷¹

Additional support is needed to increase attention to transport in NAPs and NAPAs, through NAP Expos and other opportunities for peer exchange on international best practices. The Marrakech Partnership Climate Action Pathway on Transport provides guidance on mitigation and resilience strategies for transport (*see Box 3*), although planning and implementation of transport resilience strategies continues to vary widely, especially among least-developed countries.⁷²

Linkages between national climate change planning processes and Paris Agreement mechanisms

NDCs are increasingly referencing national climate change and strategic plans, to enhance synergies in the interest of accelerating transport decarbonisation and sustainability objectives. Strengthening linkages between climate and transport plans is an area of increasing convergence, and several countries refer to national strategies in their NDCs to achieve a broader set of sustainable development, including the following:

- In its second-generation NDC in December 2020, Costa Rica refers to its 2050 National Strategic Plan, which states a priority to close the digital divide and allow more equitable access through telecommuting and virtual tourism to reduce the need to travel.⁷³
- In its second-generation NDC in December 2020, Kenya refers to its National Climate Change Action Plan 2018-2022, which contains specific measures to climate-proof the energy and transport sectors, and to promote low carbon action in the aviation and maritime sectors.⁷⁴

Box 3. Transport adaptation measures in the Marrakech Partnership Climate Action Pathways

The Climate Action Pathways are among the Marrakech Partnership tools to enhance climate ambition and action towards fully implementing the Paris Agreement. First launched in 2019, they set out sectoral visions – including for transport – for achieving a 1.5° C resilient world in 2050, which include overarching transformational milestones and key impacts to be achieved.

The Pathways aim to provide a roadmap to help both Parties and non-Party stakeholders under the UNFCCC identify actions needed by 2021, 2025, 2030 and 2040 as steps to get to the 2050 vision. The key aim of the updated Pathways for 2021 is to strengthen the aspects of a just transition, gender responsiveness, resilience, and the circular economy, deepening the alignment of actions across the Pathways.

The sectoral Climate Action Pathway for Transport includes guidance on strategies for mitigating transport emissions and building more resilient transport systems. The Pathway for Transport section on adaptation refers to the need to increase resilience to extreme weather events at the level of transport systems or networks; specific infrastructure assets; and transport vehicles. Milestones for resilient transport through the Pathway for Transport include:

- By 2021: Climate risk assessments, adaptation strategies and disaster response plans are prepared and implemented for critical transport infrastructure; review of legal, policy and institutional frameworks for effective climate-risk assessment and adaptation planning.
- By 2025: Climate resilience of new transport infrastructure and systems to at least 2050; innovative adaptation finance mechanisms are available; finance for new transport systems requires consideration of climate risks; nature-based solutions are mainstreamed into transport infrastructure wherever practicable.
- By 2030: Climate resilience of all critical transport infrastructure to at least 2050; design of new vehicles incorporates needed modifications to strengthen resilience to extreme weather.
- By 2040: Climate-resilience of all critical transport infrastructure and systems to at least 2100.

The Transport Pathway Action Table includes an impact area on Resilient Transport Systems, Infrastructure and Vehicles, which includes recommended actions for policy makers, financial institutions, technology providers and innovators, business and service providers, and civil society.

A complementary vision for resilient infrastructure and services, including transport sector action, is detailed in the cross-cutting Climate Action Pathway on Climate Resilience.

嶪

Many countries have captured enhanced ambition on transport in recent national climate change plans and commitments, which complement measures detailed in global climate change mechanisms. Governments are increasingly embedding sustainable, low carbon transport into their overall national climate change strategies, as demonstrated in recent climate change plans, including the following:

- In September 2020, China announced plans to reach peak CO₂ emissions by 2030 and to achieve carbon neutrality before 2060, with an implicit contribution to decarbonisation from the transport sector.⁷⁶
- In September 2020, the European Commission proposed a 2030 Climate Target Plan with a target to cut CO₂ emissions at least 55% by 2030.⁷⁶ The proposal includes increasing the

share of public transport and walking and cycling trips, and increasing the share of renewable energy in transport 24% by 2030 by scaling up electrification, advanced biofuels and other low carbon fuels.⁷⁷

National urban mobility plans and investment programmes (NUMPs) and sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs) are another key element of national and sub-national climate change planning processes. NUMPs refer to national strategic frameworks to enhance the capabilities of cities to fulfil their mobility needs in a sustainable way, and SUMPs are strategic frameworks designed to improve quality of life by addressing major challenges related to urban transport.⁷⁸ (See Section 3.2 on Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management.)

Box 4. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on transport and climate change policy frameworks

COVID-19 has created unprecedented changes to transport systems around the world and to national and global processes that support action on transport and climate change. The pandemic has confronted governments and the private sector with unforeseen challenges, while also shifting national and global processes to address the pandemic and to increase readiness for forthcoming global shocks.

In 2020, due to the pandemic, the UN Conference on Climate Change (COP26, originally scheduled for November) and other key processes around the UNFCCC were delayed, resulting in shifted timelines for progress towards updated NDCs and NAPs. COVID-19 has slowed the process of updating NDCs, with delays around collection and validation of data, decision-making processes and convening key stakeholders. The pandemic also led to postponement of the 2020 NAP Expo, which serves as an annual forum for exchange of experience and best practices on NAPs, thus slowing progress towards filling adaptation gaps among developing countries in transport and other sectors.

To accelerate collective and timely action towards a low carbon transport transition, many initiatives were announced at the En Route to COP26 event in December 2020. Scheduled to mark 12 months before the postponed UN Climate Change Conference under the UK Presidency, En Route to COP26 was designed to accelerate collective and timely action by engaging transport actors to quickly, efficiently and fairly realise the low carbon transport transition. The *En Route to COP26* Outcome Document highlights essential transport decarbonisation messages towards COP26. It also outlines exciting initiatives announced during *En Route to COP26* to further enable and accelerate collective action. It provides no-regret recommendations for action by different stakeholders.

The pandemic has prompted low carbon transport measures in national recovery efforts (see Section 4.1 on Financing), which should be linked to the development of enhanced NDCs. Transport demand and emission trends have shifted due to COVID-19 and continue to take shape. Emerging trends include how companies will shift operations from global supply chains to regional ones, and how changes in work arrangements may reduce work-related commuting and travel. Forthcoming policy commitments – through a combination of NDCs, LT-LEDS, and national transport and climate change plans - will determine which changes are likely to be retained or reversed after the pandemic

In December 2020, the UNFCCC, the UN Development Programme and the NDC Partnership convened an event titled "NDC Enhancement and COVID-19 Recovery: Regional Trends and Country Experiences". The event presented global and regional trends in the NDC revision process and showcased efforts to align enhanced NDCs with national COVID-19 recovery efforts. Tools and resources were shared to further support countries in linking NDCs and recovery efforts, with a desired outcome of sharing best practices in this endeavour.

Source: See endnote 5 for this section.

3.2

Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management



Demand trends

- Traffic congestion increased in 57% of cities worldwide between 2018 and 2019, while only 15% of cities recorded reductions in congestion.
- The global average price of petrol rose 17% between 2017 and 2019, while the price of diesel rose 25%; however, fuel prices remained below market value in 53 countries in 2019, contributing to increased demand for motorised travel.
- Average parking prices increased 5% between 2017 and 2019 in cities with the highest parking fees worldwide.
- Teleworking can help reduce transport demand and congestion; however, this potential varies widely, with remote work available to only 13% of workers in developing countries based on a 2020 study.

Emission trends

- Deployment of low-emission zones has helped to greatly reduce emissions of carbon dioxide (CO₂) and nitrogen dioxide and has yielded measurable improvements in road safety and public health.
- Research on road pricing indicates that it has significant potential to reduce motorised travel demand, traffic congestion, and carbon emissions, but examples of implementation remain limited.

Policy measures

 During 2018-2020, cities around the world prioritised low-emission zones among strategies for transport demand management, whereas vehicle restrictions and congestion charging remained unchanged.

Q

- More than two-thirds of sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs) were found in European cities in 2018, but SUMPs have expanded greatly in Africa and in Latin America and the Caribbean since then.
- "Complete streets" programmes are contributing to social inclusion and equity through specific sustainability-related parameters.
- Planning concepts that prioritise proximity (such as the "15-minute city") and land-use planning guidance are growing in prominence, supporting increased and more equitable access to economic and social needs in cities around the world.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Responses to the pandemic have encompassed a wide range of measures to enable social distancing, help people avoid unnecessary trips and spread out travel during periods of peak demand.
- COVID-19 caused major disruptions to both urban public transport and commercial real estate in 2020, creating uncertainty for investments in transit-oriented development in the near term.
- Automobile use and sales declined during the pandemic, creating the potential for changing patterns of motorised travel in the medium to long term.

As transport demand and emissions continue to rise worldwide, countries and cities have responded by using sustainable mobility planning and transport demand management to improve transport planning and to provide enhanced access to mobility options. Sustainable mobility planning is a broad strategy that helps to improve access to mobility while achieving other goals, such as reducing emissions and lowering traffic fatalities. Transport demand management refers to diverse transport and land-use planning tactics that result in more efficient use of transport and spatial resources.¹ Both approaches focus on ensuring access to opportunities, services and goods rather than simply trying to move vehicles.²

A number of frameworks exist to help implement these strategies. Sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs), for example are strategic frameworks designed at the local level to improve citizens' overall quality of life by addressing major challenges related to urban transport.³ National urban mobility policies and investment programmes (NUMPs) refer to national strategic frameworks to enhance the capabilities of cities to fulfil their mobility needs in a sustainable way.⁴

Other valuable planning approaches include: transit-oriented development, which intends to integrate people, activities, buildings and public spaces in designed urban places; low -and ultra-low emission zones, which are areas where access for more-polluting vehicles is restricted; and road pricing, which refers to variable road tolls intended to reduce peak-period traffic volumes to optimal levels.⁵ In this discussion, the term "vehicle restrictions" summarises measures put in place to limit the number of vehicles entering a city and/or measures limiting the ownership of private vehicles.

Demand trends

Overview

Traffic congestion increased in 57% of cities worldwide between 2018 and 2019, while only 15% of cities recorded reductions in congestion.⁶ Worsening traffic congestion is estimated to cost local economies billions of dollars annually.⁷ The main drivers of congestion are rapid urbanisation and the growth in car ownership in emerging economies, and the concentration of activities in economic development centres.⁸⁹

- The world's top five most congested cities are: Bengaluru, India (requiring 71% extra travel time due to traffic); Manila, Philippines (71%); Bogotá, Colombia (68%); Mumbai, India (65%); and Pune, India (59%).¹⁰
- Europe's most congested cities are Moscow, Russia Federation (59%); Istanbul, Turkey (55%); and Kiev, Ukraine (53%).¹¹
- The most congested USA cities are Los Angeles (42%), New York (37%) and San Francisco (36%).¹²
- Cairo, Egypt is the most congested city in Africa (40% extra travel time) followed by four cities in South Africa (Cape Town, Johannesburg, Pretoria and East London).13 Traffic in South African cities worsened 7% on average from 2018 to 2019.¹⁴



The global average price of petrol rose 17% between 2016 and 2018, while the price of diesel rose 25%; however, fuel prices remained below market value in 53 countries in 2019, contributing to increased demand for motorised travel.¹⁶ While diesel is still cheaper than petrol globally (USD 1.07 versus USD 1.14 on average in 2018), diesel prices are rising more rapidly, due mainly to growing requirements for improved fuel quality.¹⁶ United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 12 calls for phasing out inefficient fossil fuel subsidies, which can help reduce demand for travel in internal combustion vehicles.¹⁷

- In 2018, the highest average petrol price was reported in Hong Kong (USD 2.09 per litre), and the highest average diesel price was in Norway (USD 1.93 per litre).¹⁸
- The lowest average fuel prices were reported in Venezuela, where both petrol and diesel were virtually free of charge.¹⁹

Average parking prices increased 5% between 2017 and 2019 in cities with the highest parking fees worldwide.²⁰ A strong increase in parking prices occurred in Asian cities, whereas in North America parking fees remained stable or even fell.²¹ The cities with the most expensive parking in 2019 included several cities in Australia as well as New York and London (*see Table 1*).²²

Teleworking can help reduce transport demand and congestion; however, this potential varies widely, with remote work available to only 13% of workers in developing countries based on a 2020 study.²³ Working from home can be a significant lever for policy makers, although its overall potential for energy savings and climate benefits is uncertain.²⁴

- In Maryland (USA), if only 5% of regular private car commuters switched to working from home, this would lead to a reduction in traffic congestion on major highways of 32% to 58%.²⁵
- Research shows that remote work in Canada measurably reduces daily commute times, although morning peak trips are not affected because of school runs.²⁶
- In Germany, 56% of workers are able to work from home, and in the USA the share is 26%, but in developing countries only 13% of workers can do so.²⁷
- An estimated 26% to 29% of jobs in Argentina can be done remotely, while in Uruguay the proportion ranges from 20% to 34%, which could enhance travel reliability and improve air quality and noise levels.²⁸

Table 1.Top 10 cities with the most expensive parking, 2017
and 2019

Average cost of parking (USD)

City	2017	2019	Change
Sydney	34.85	36.66	5%
New York	32.97	34.94	6%
Brisbane	26.67	27.53	3%
Melbourne	22.85	26.61	16%
London	20.78	23.19	12%
Chicago	20.8	20.08	-3%
Tokyo	15.89	19.35	22%
Boston	21.56	18.36	-15%
Washington, D.C.	14.85	15.56	5%
Hong Kong	13.62	14.91	9%
Average	22.48	23.71	5%

Note: Based on the average price for two hours of off-street parking, measured in USD using purchasing power parity.

Source: See endnote 22 for this section.

Emission trends



Deployment of low-emission zones (LEZs) has helped to greatly reduce emissions of CO₂ and nitrogen dioxide and has yielded measurable improvements in road safety and public health. Although LEZs have emerged mainly as a measure to tackle poor air quality in urban centres, several studies point to their benefits in reducing CO₂ emissions and improving health and social equity in cities.²⁹ To maximise their emission reduction potential, LEZs require effective enforcement systems and provision of public infrastructure for active, shared and zero-emission transport modes.³⁰

- In the first half of 2019, the ultra-low-emission zone in London, UK resulted in an estimated 29% fewer nitrogen dioxide emissions, 31% fewer nitrogen oxide emissions and 4% fewer CO₂ emissions, as well as a 3-9% reduction in traffic and 65% fewer older vehicles in the zone.³¹
- The new LEZ in Paris, France aims to reduce nitrogen oxide levels 76-87% by 2024.³²
- The LEZ in Madrid, Spain, first implemented in November 2018, led to a 38% decrease in nitrogen dioxide concentrations and to a 14% decrease in CO₂ emissions within the first month of its launch, making it one of Europe's most effective such policies.³³ The LEZ helps to avoid 3,000 premature deaths annually, and, on one road, the average speed of public buses increased 14%.³⁴

Research on road pricing indicates that it has significant potential to reduce motorised travel demand, traffic congestion, and carbon emissions, but examples of implementation remain limited. Road pricing schemes increase the relative cost of private car trips compared to public transport and bike sharing. By reducing private car demand, road pricing also reduces congestion, helping to make public transport and active transport modes safer and more pleasant.³⁵ Road pricing has the potential to boost reductions in CO₂ emissions by supporting public transport, walking and cycling, traffic management and user subsidies.³⁶

- Road pricing investments improve traffic flow and are highly cost effective, not only leading to reduced emissions but also providing a net benefit to society valued at EUR 70 (USD 84) per tonne of CO₂ reduced.³⁷
- An analysis combining studies from Austria, Italy, New Zealand, Singapore, the UK and the USA shows potential for road pricing to reduce transport demand up to 20% (7% on average) depending on tolls.³⁸ The research supports evidence of road pricing contributing to a more than 10% reduction in CO₂.³⁹
- A study on the potential impact of road pricing in Bogotá, Colombia; Mexico City, Mexico; and Santiago, Chile identified a 25-29% reduction in vehicle-kilometres travelled, less congestion and revenues of USD 100,000 to USD 600,000 per day (see Figure 1).⁴⁰

Policy Measures



During 2019 and 2020, cities around the world introduced targets and measures to scale up investments and facilities for public transport, walking and cycling, vehicle sharing services and electrification of bus rapid transit and light rail. Although policy makers have given greater attention to transport demand management in recent years, the implementation of specific policies, such as parking pricing, road pricing and comprehensive smart growth strategies, remains limited globally.

During 2018-2020, cities around the world prioritised LEZs among strategies for transport demand management, whereas vehicle restrictions and congestion charging remained unchanged. LEZs reduce transport-related emissions not only by banning polluting vehicles, but also by promoting walking and cycling and other transport demand management strategies (*see Figure 2*).⁴¹ Demand from policy makers and citizens for improved urban air quality in 2020 in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic has paved the way for additional LEZs (*see Box 1*).⁴²

- Cities that implemented or updated their LEZ regulations in 2020 included: Ghent, Belgium; Aalborg, Aarhus, Copenhagen, Frederiksberg and Odense in Denmark; Grenoble, Greater Lyon and Greater Paris in France; Aberdeen, Bath, Birmingham, Edinburgh, Leeds and Southampton in the UK, and Jakarta, Indonesia.⁴³
- Between 2018 and 2020, at least nine cities in China including Beijing, Shanghai and Shenzhen introduced LEZs focused on



Figure 1. Potential impacts of congestion charging in three cities in Latin America and the Caribbean

freight vehicles; in these cities, access for deliveries is restricted to certain hours, and permits are prioritised for zero-emission commercial vehicles under 4.5 tonnes.⁴⁴

- A multi-modal e-mobility hub is being implemented in the historical centre of Quito, Ecuador, accessible only by clean public transport vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians.⁴⁵
- In Spain, a law drafted in 2020 calls for implementing LEZs in all urban areas with a population of more than 50,000, following the government's declaration of a "climate emergency".⁴⁶ Barcelona, which includes neighbouring communities in its LEZ, is a national leader and intends to reduce the number of cars in the city by 125,000 within three years and air pollution by 20% within four years.⁴⁷

More than two-thirds of SUMPs were found in European cities in 2018, but SUMPs have expanded greatly in Africa and in Latin America and the Caribbean since then.⁴⁸ The share of SUMPs in European cities increased from around 63% in 2018 to 68% in 2020 (*see Figure 3*).⁴⁹ However, by 2020 many additional SUMPs were established in developing countries, including Cameroon, Ecuador and Uganda.⁵⁰

Recent policy targets in the area of transport demand management have encouraged investments in the development of SUMPs and mobility strategies focused on comprehensive mobility planning and modal share. As SUMPS and national urban mobility plans (NUMPs) continue to reach critical mass in the Global South, there is an opportunity for peer countries to emulate policies that offer key lessons for policy makers.

- In 2020, Colombia adopted a National Urban and Regional Transport Policy, a comprehensive framework to support local authorities in activities to reduce congestion, fatalities and harmful emissions from transport using the Avoid-Shift-Improve framework.⁵¹
- Ethiopia's Non-Motorised Transport Strategy, released in 2020, sets modal share targets for 2029 that include: 80% of all motorised trips to be taken on public transport and paratransit (also called "informal transport"), 60% of all trips to be by walking and cycling, and women to constitute 50% of cyclists.⁵²
- The 2020 SUMP for the Kisumu area of Nairobi, Kenya includes targets for keeping walking and cycling levels above 55% (with half of all cyclists to be female) and having public transport constitute 80% of motorised trips.⁵³
- Mexico City approved a mobility strategy that includes 100% integration of public transport fares, bicycle infrastructure, efficiency improvements and more.⁵⁴

"Complete streets" programmes are contributing to social inclusion and equity through specific sustainability-related parameters. Complete streets are roads designed to safely accommodate diverse activities by people walking, cycling, driving and using public transport.⁵⁵ Complete streets can help to increase safe access for all users – particularly caretakers, children, the elderly and people with disabilities – and can be scaled up with minimal cost and time.⁵⁶



Figure 2. Overview of transport demand measures in 2019 and 2020

Source: See endnote 41 for this section.

Figure 3. Sustainable urban mobility plans in Europe versus other regions, 2020



Source: See endnote 49 for this section.

- An ongoing complete streets programme in Brazil covers 19 cities, of which 5 (Campinas, Juiz de Fora, Porto Alegre, Salvador and São Paulo) had conducted pilot projects and 4 (Curitiba, Fortaleza, Niterói and São José dos Campos) were implementing projects as of the end of 2019, challenging the paradigm of urban design geared to motor vehicles.⁵⁷
- By October 2020, 87 Canadian municipalities had adopted at least one form of complete streets policy, typically within transport master plans or other official planning documents.⁵⁸
- Smart Growth America recorded more than 1,600 complete streets policies across 35 USA states through 2018, which encourage the implementation of walking, bicycling and public transport facilities with universal accessibility in every street improvement.⁵⁹

Planning concepts that prioritise proximity (such as the "15-minute city") and land-use planning guidance are growing in prominence, supporting increased and more equitable access to economic and social needs in cities around the world. The "15-minute city" is an emerging urban planning paradigm in which all residents are able to meet their essential needs (for shopping, health care, green space, etc.) within a short walk or bicycle ride from their homes.⁶⁰

- Among the cities incorporating variations of this concept into long-term urban and transport planning strategies are Bogotá, Colombia; Glasgow, Scotland (UK); Milan, Italy and Portland, Oregon (USA).⁶¹
- The Ministry for Planning in Melbourne, Australia launched a 20-Minute Neighbourhood Pilot Program in January 2018.⁶²
- Ottawa became one of the first Canadian cities to explicitly include the 15-minute city concept in its Official Plan for 2021.⁶³
- Paris, France set planning goals in 2020 to transform the city to a 15-minute city.⁶⁴



Box 1. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on sustainable mobility planning and transport demand management

Responses to COVID-19 have encompassed a wide range of measures to enable social distancing to help people avoid unnecessary trips and spread out travel during periods of peak demand. Due to lockdowns and travel restrictions, travel demand was reduced in 2020 while public transport served mainly essential trips. As summarised in Figure 4, responses to manage travel demand showed a significant preference for allocating road space from motorised travel to active transport modes.

- Research in Australia suggests a 10-15% improvement in metropolitan transport networks in 2020 as remote work during the pandemic led to reduced road traffic congestion and less crowding on public transport.
- France and the Netherlands encouraged people to spread out their travel to avoid peak hours, and in Montevideo, Uruguay a time-extended ticket was launched to allow people to wait for less-crowded services.
- Cities such as Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; Dublin, Ireland; Lagos, Nigeria; Lima, Peru; and Madrid, Spain limited the seating in public transport to avoid crowding, while some other cities, such as Dubai, United Arab Emirates, increased frequency.⁶⁵
- Demand from policy makers and citizens for improved urban air quality in the wake of the pandemic has strengthened calls for LEZs, with London poised to expand its ultra-low-emission zone in October 2021.

COVID-19 caused major disruptions to both urban public transport and commercial real estate in 2020, creating uncertainty for investments in transit-oriented development in the near term. Ridership on public transport dropped sharply in many urban areas, and commercial real estate values fell 29% globally in the first half of 2020. This has led to uncertainty about the long-term effects of the pandemic in the transport sector. USA cities including Akron, Detroit, Philadelphia and San Jose have created flexible urban spaces for social activities, with positive ripple effects on local economies (i.e., more visitors and higher revenue).

- Calgary, Canada redistributed public space for social distancing through "pop-up patios" as one element of the city's pandemic response.
- A USA study found that the increase in remote work and the shrinking of office space could boost interest in residential and commercial real estate in smaller cities.
- Market players in the transit-oriented development space expressed confidence that projects would result in few changes to planning processes, regardless of the evolution of the pandemic and lockdowns.

Automobile use and sales declined during the pandemic, creating the potential for changing patterns of motorised travel in the medium to long term. Global sales of new vehicles dropped to 77 million in 2020, down 14.5% from 2019; overall, new passenger car sales fell by 10 million, and commercial vehicle sales by 2.3 million.

- Congestion decreased in 93% of cities worldwide (and increased in just 3% of cities) between 2019 and 2020.
- Peru adopted a nationwide provision to limit the use of private cars during the state of emergency, making public transport and authorised taxis the only modes available for long-distance travelling.
- Other countries also imposed bans on driving to control the spread of the virus, although Georgia created exemptions for freight and delivery vehicles.
- In Europe and the USA, new vehicle sales are not expected to return to pre-pandemic levels before 2023. In contrast, China is expected to reach 30 million new vehicles sold by 2025.

Source: See endnote 42 for this section.

Figure 4. Responses to manage travel demand during the COVID-19 pandemic, by region, 2020



Initiatives supporting sustainable mobility planning and transport demand management

- C40's TOD (Transit-Oriented Development) Network supports cities' efforts to deliver compact, walkable, mixeduse communities centred around high-quality public transport. Participating cities are actively sharing knowledge in four priority areas: financing, social equity, public engagement and active mobility.⁶⁶
- CIVITAS, Eltis and other actors released their SUMP Guidelines 2.0 in 2019 after a one-year consultation process, updating the original guidelines from 2013.⁶⁷ CIVITAS is a network for cities dedicated to cleaner and better transport, and Eltis is Europe's main urban mobility observatory, facilitating the exchange of information, knowledge and experience on sustainable urban mobility.
- The Global Designing Cities Initiative (CGCI) is a programme of the National Association of City Transportation Officials supporting city practitioners on mobility projects in major North American cities. CGCI focuses on empowering local officials and communities to become change makers. Its *Global Street Design Guide* offers technical details about complete streets design and supports practitioners worldwide in redefining the role of streets.⁶⁸
- The Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (ITDP), in its TOD Standard 3.0 of June 2017, outlines eight core principles of urban design and spatial planning, each supported by specific performance objectives and easily measurable indicators or metrics⁶⁹ In 2018, ITDP released Pedestrians First: Tools for a Walkable City to facilitate the understanding and measurement of features that promote walkability in urban environments around the world at multiple levels.⁷⁰
- The MobiliseYourCity Partnership assists beneficiary partners in preparing NUMPs and SUMPs. Along with support and consultation at early stages, the partnership provides guidance in budgeting and financial planning, such as the development of financial mechanisms and the initiation of funding to secure implementation.⁷¹
- The Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (TUMI) aims to change mobility for the benefit of both people and the environment with a view to the future. The organisation supports policy makers in implementing transformative transport pilot projects based on innovation, knowledge and investment with the objective of sharing knowledge on modern mobility concepts among planners.⁷²

	2017*	2019/2020*	% change
Policy Indicators			
Congestion charging zones (# of zones worldwide)	17	17	0
Low-emission zones (# of cities worldwide)	251	274	9%
Vehicle restrictions (# of cities worldwide)	28	28	0%
Sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs) (# of plans)	1,588	1,686	6%
Market Development Indicators			
Diesel fuel prices (average US cents/litre)	87.2 (2016)	105.6 (2018)	21%
Super petrol fuel prices (average US cents/litre)	97.1 (2016)	113.3 (2018)	17%

Key indicators

(*) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise.

Source: See endnote 73 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Measures

Policy targets set

General targets for comprehensive mobility planning

Malaysia introduced a National Transport Policy (2019-2030) that includes actions such as prioritising public transport, accelerating low carbon initiatives and enforcing compliance with international environmental standards.74

Mexico City, Mexico introduced a 2019-2020 Mobility Strategy focused on integration measures (such as a uniform fare across all public transport), cycling infrastructure and improving vehicle efficiency.75

Modal share targets

In 2018, San Francisco, USA set a target for 58% of travel to occur via sustainable transport modes (cycling and public transport) by 2019 and 80% by 2030 (see Figure 5).76 The city has implemented wide-ranging transport demand management measures (such as mixed-use projects, parking management, active transport and delivery optimisations) in an effort to shift to more sustainable options and to outweigh the influence of increasingly popular ride-hailing services.77 Zambia launched a Non-Motorised Strategy in April 2019 that has similar targets and implementation time frames as the 2020 SUMP in Kisumu, Kenya.78

Policy measures adopted

National urban mobility plans (NUMPs)

In 2020, the government of Nepal approved the #AirQuality Management Action Plan of Kathmandu Valley, aiming to develop integrated bus transport systems.79

- Singapore released in 2019 its Land Transport Master Plan 2040, while maintaining its cap on the growth of commercial vehicles and a zero-growth policy for other types of cars.⁸⁰
- South Africa launched a Green Transport Strategy in 2018 that fosters alternative fuels and efficient-technology vehicles, new fuel economy standards, a modal shift to rail and public transport, biogas and e-charging stations, a review of the levy on CO₂ emissions and limits on the circulation of trucks in urban hubs.81
- Turkey adopted legislation in 2019 aimed at improving energy efficiency in the transport sector by incentivising alternative fuels, improving transport infrastructure and reducing vehicle use in city centres.82

Sustainable mobility plans at the local level supported by national and regional policies

The EU, through its Sustainable and Smart Mobility Strategy towards zero-pollution transport, encourages city governments in EU Member States to put in place their own SUMPs by 2030.83



Figure 5. Transport in San Francisco by modal share, 2013-2018

- Cameroon, with the support of MobiliseYourCity, advanced its NUMP, which is helping to guide the urban mobility plans in Doula and Yaoundé.⁸⁴
 - Estonia was preparing a new national transport plan for the 2021-2030 time frame, and SUMP processes were under way in the cities of Kohtla-Järve/Jõhvi, Narva, Pärnu, Tallinn and Tartu.⁸⁵ In Italy, an estimated EUR 58 million (USD 70 million) has been dedicated to developing SUMPs and related projects since 2019.⁸⁶ The country also launched its Sustainable Urban Mobility Incentive Program, providing EUR 15 million (USD 18 million) to develop cycling infrastructure, shared mobility and mobility management activities to municipalities with more than 50,000 inhabitants.⁸⁷ By October 2020, Italy had 44 approved SUMPs, 40 adopted SUMPs and 96 SUMPs in development.⁸⁸
 - Additional cities that advanced or completed sustainable mobility plans in 2019 and 2020 included Feira de Santana, Brazil; Doula and Yaoundé, Cameroon; San José's four districts in Costa Rica; Ambato and Cuenca, Ecuador; Madeira, Portugal; Belgrade, Šabac, Pirot and Valjevo in Serbia; Greater Kampala, Uganda; Antofagasta, Chile; and the western Balkan capitals of Tirana, Albania; Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina; and Podgorica, Montenegro.⁸⁹

Transit-oriented development

- The presence of public transit makes it possible to develop urban areas around this infrastructure, guaranteeing residents access to a variety of transport options. Bogotá, **Colombia** included transit-oriented development principles in the planning of its first metro line and gave the new managing agency a mandate to advance land value capture mechanisms around its stations.⁹⁰
- When Quito, Ecuador built its first metro line in 2018, it put in place a regulation to encourage real estate development around mass transport.⁹¹
- In conjunction with the construction of its new underground light rail line, **Guadalajara**, Mexico advanced an ambitious urban renovation project, the Paseo del Alcalde, that features more dense, diverse and well-connected urban development as part of a low-emission development programme.⁹²
- Nairobi, Kenya announced plans in 2019 to build a multimodal urban development project focused on expanding rail infrastructure, to take place over 20 years at an estimated cost of KES 29.7 billion (USD 257 million).⁹³

Speed reductions

The Netherlands lowered the driving speed on highways to 100 kilometres per hour in March 2020 to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from vehicles and to free up the emission budget for housing construction.⁹⁴ In October 2020, the country set a new speed limit for built-up areas at 30 kilometres per hour.⁹⁵

Spain announced that it would reduce its speed limit in cities to 30 kilometres per hour in an effort to halve the number of traffic-related deaths and injuries by 2030.⁹⁶

Congestion charging and road tolls

An electronic toll system was introduced on national highways in India in December 2019.⁹⁷

New York City, USA approved congestion charging in 2019 after several years of discussion in the state legislature.⁹⁸ A surcharge is already in place for on-hire vehicles and licensed taxis, but full implementation has been delayed and is expected by 2022.⁹⁹ The collected funds will support the Metropolitan Transportation Authority's capital programme. Proposals for congestion charging exist in São Paulo, Brazil; Beijing, China; and San Francisco, USA, but final decisions are pending before implementation can occur.¹⁰⁰

Parking management

- In 2017, **Mexico City** became the first large city worldwide to eliminate parking minimums (regulations requiring a certain number of parking spaces per building), and Edmonton, **Canada** also decided to eliminate parking minimums in 2020.¹⁰¹
- In 2019, Amsterdam, the Netherlands began progressively removing 10,000 parking spaces within the city.¹⁰²

Warsaw, Poland has tightened parking regulations by implementing paid zones for on-street parking and increasing both parking fees and fines.¹⁰³

Off-peak deliveries

Many major metropolitan areas support off-hour deliveries - freight deliveries made outside of regular business hours with the goal of reducing the pollution and congestion associated with daytime deliveries. Recent examples include Brussels, Belgium; São Paulo, Brazil; Bogotá, Colombia; London, UK; and New York City, USA.¹⁰⁴

3.3 Walking and Cycling



Q

Key findings

Demand trends

- More than one-third of all trips globally are made on foot or by bicycle. Walking is the principal transport mode in most of the Global South, accounting for up to 70% of trips in some cities.
- Modal shares for walking and cycling have declined in many parts of the world (with some exceptions), driven by rising car ownership, poor infrastructure and unsafe conditions.
- Pedestrians are the main victims of road crashes in lowincome countries, where they accounted for more than one-third of fatalities in 2016.
- In most areas of the world, male bicycle users greatly outnumber female users, whereas women walk for transport to a greater extent than men, due in part to gender differences in trip patterns.
- Cargo bicycles are enjoying a renaissance and recognition for being a cleaner, safer and more efficient means than trucks of transporting people and freight in cities.

Emission trends

- As nearly zero-emission modes of transport, walking and cycling contribute to Paris Agreement targets for reducing transport-related emissions, while moving 6-8 times more people per hour in the same space as automobiles.
- Walking and cycling are estimated to be feasible substitutes for more than 40% of short car trips; this could save nearly 5% of carbon dioxide (CO₂) equivalent emissions from car travel on top of the current estimated 5% of "avoided" emissions from walking and cycling trips.
- Recent growth in electric-assisted bicycles (e-bikes) is a positive trend for mobility, but it has a potentially negative impact on transport emissions if e-bikes replace zero-emission modes.

8 Policy measures

 Countries and cities are expanding integrated planning approaches that include walking and cycling as a central element and are setting targets for specified shares of these modes.

- Investments in walking and cycling infrastructure have gained momentum worldwide but remain far more limited than investments in traditional roadways.
- Many cities have restricted the flow and speed of motorised vehicles to improve the safety of pedestrians and cyclists, with some major cities reporting zero pedestrian and cycling deaths.
- An increasing number of global guidelines are specifying technical standards for creating humanscale street infrastructure to improve the safety, comfort and inclusion of all users.
- Increasing recognition of the value of walking and cycling has led to their inclusion in recent global policy frameworks, including the WHO Global Action Plan for Physical Activity 2018-2030 and the 2020 Stockholm Declaration on Road Safety.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- During the pandemic, walking and cycling have demonstrated their potential as resilient transport modes with low contagion risks, endorsed by the World Health Organization.
- In 2020, more than 194 cities introduced dedicated space for pedestrians or temporary protected bike lanes, many of which are slated to become permanent.
- A change in travel preferences caused by the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in increased walking and cycling during the initial phase of the pandemic, which has been sustained in some places.

Overview

At little to no monetary cost, walking and cycling enable large segments of the world's population - including the poor, the young and the elderly - to independently fulfil their daily transport needs, while improving their personal health and posing little risk to other road users. Walking and cycling are ideal for short journeys, which comprise the majority of all journeys. Walking underpins all other modes of travel by providing "first- and last-mile" access, and walking and cycling have high potential for intermodal access to public transport, making them key to a sustainable modal shift.¹

Walking and cycling are particularly well-suited transport solutions for addressing the ongoing and interlinked crises of climate change, road deaths, physical inactivity and urban liveability. They have proven to be the most resilient forms of transport and have been integral to mobility responses in the face of natural disasters and health crises, including the COVID-19 pandemic (see Box 1).² However, pedestrians and cyclists remain among the most at risk in road environments, warranting additional investments in safer infrastructure.

Although walking and cycling are both zero-emission, active modes of transport, significant differences exist between them in terms of speed, ability, usage rates, and infrastructure and policy needs. They are often grouped together in policy frameworks at the local, national and global levels, but deserve separate attention with different strategies and interventions.

Demand trends

More than one-third of all trips globally are made on foot or by bicycle.3 Walking is the principal mode of transport in most of the Global South, accounting for up to 70% of trips in some cities, particularly in Africa and Asia (see Figure 1).⁴ Virtually all trips include some degree of walking, which is not reflected in estimates of modal shares.⁵ For cycling, shares exceeding 15% are found in Denmark, the Netherlands, Japan and China.⁶ More than 1 billion bicycles are present worldwide, and recreational use is widespread, providing key building blocks for greater use.7

Across the Global South, high shares of walking (predominantly) and cycling largely reflect poverty or the lack of other transport options. World Health Organization (WHO) surveys between 2002 and 2016 found that people in low-income countries walk or cycle for transport 63 minutes per day on average, compared to 41 minutes for middle-income countries and only 25 minutes for highincome countries.8

Modal shares for walking and cycling have declined in many parts of the world (with some exceptions), driven by rising car ownership, poor infrastructure and unsafe conditions. The ongoing decline in walking and cycling rates in rapidly motorising and urbanising low- and middle-income countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America and the Caribbean makes retaining higher shares of these modes and preventing a high-carbon transport trajectory a key climate and public health priority.9 By contrast, in much of the industrialised world, rates of car ownership have slowed, and some cities have seen increases in cycling rates.¹⁰

- Walking's share of trips has declined since 2000 in a diverse set of countries (e.g., Austria, Germany, India and the UK) and cities (Almaty, Bogotá, Kathmandu, Rio de Janeiro and Tokyo), generally in favour of increased auto use.¹¹
- In Beijing, China the share of trips taken by bicycle fell from 58% in 1986 to 15% in 2011. $^{\rm 12}$
- Bicycle use in Barcelona, Spain and Paris, France increased 150% and 135%, respectively, after these cities launched cycling programmes in 2007.13

Evidence from countries and cities where walking and cycling are prioritised and integrated into the transport system demonstrates that these declines can be reversed.14 High-density, mixed-use neighbourhoods and cities are particularly favourable for walking and cycling due to shorter trip distances, which also allows for more efficient and viable public transport provision and multimodal trips.



Figure 1. Share of trips by transport mode in selected cities, various years



Source: See endnote 4 for this section.

While density is important to walking and cycling potential, short trip distances alone are not sufficient to foster widespread use. Overwhelming evidence indicates that road design and the provision of high-quality infrastructure and public space is fundamental to stimulating walking and particularly cycling. The rise of electric bicycles also represents an opportunity to cover longer distances by cycling (see Section 3.8 on Electric Mobility).

Pedestrians are the main victims of road crashes in low-income countries, where they accounted for more than one-third of fatalities in 2016 (see *Figure 2*).¹⁵ Pedestrians and cyclists are

among the most vulnerable road users, and actions to improve safety conditions are needed. In low-income countries in particular, road fatality rates for pedestrians remain high compared to other transport modes. In 2019, pedestrians accounted for 93% of combined walking and cycling deaths in Africa, due in part to the higher share of walking trips relative to cycling, rather than to the safety characteristics of these modes.¹⁶

Efforts related to the United Nations' First Decade of Action for Road Safety (2011-2020) identified strong synergies between improved road safety and the promotion of walking and cycling.¹⁷ Safety



Figure 2. Road fatalities by group in low-, middle- and high-income countries, 2016

Source: See endnote 15 for this section.

strategies such as Vision Zero have focused on changing road designs and lowering vehicle speeds, which in turn improve the safety and comfort of pedestrians and cyclists.¹⁸

In most areas of the world, male bicycle users greatly outnumber female users, whereas women walk for transport to a greater extent than men, due in part to gender differences in trip patterns. A positive correlation exists between the share of trips by cycling, and female bicycle use.¹⁹ Low-stress, inclusive conditions for walkers and cyclists are essential to achieve equity in transport and to promote broader use of these two modes, particularly by women, youth and the elderly.

Because women display different mobility patterns related to trip purpose, trip chains and travel distance, they may be more sensitive to the quality of infrastructure for walking and cycling.²⁰ Meanwhile, shorter travel distances, more local trips and/or trips combining walking, cycling and other modes, and higher public transport use would likely boost walking rates across genders.²¹

In research studies, women and men identify different challenges to walking. For example, 50% more women than men indicate personal safety challenges (such as harassment or assault), and 43% more women point to the difficulties of travelling with groceries and bags.²² In Singapore, 200% more women identify accompanying children or relatives as a challenge to walking.²³ Bogotá, Colombia, where women make up only 21% of daily cycling trips, has adopted the long-term goal of gender parity in cycling and launched the first international "50-50 More Women on Bikes!" congress.²⁴

In Denmark and the Netherlands, where cycling conditions are generally safe and comfortable, female cyclists slightly outnumber males, and high cycling rates also exist among adolescents and the elderly.²⁵

Cargo bicycles are enjoying a renaissance and recognition for being a cleaner, safer and more efficient means than trucks of transporting people and freight in cities.

- Around 40,000 cargo bikes are used daily In the metropolitan area of Copenhagen, Denmark, and more than 11,000 cargo bike deliveries occur every day in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.²⁶
- In Lagos, Nigeria, cargo bikes are commonly used for waste collection.²⁷
- In Kigali, Rwanda, cargo bikes carry heavy goods loads and serve as bicycle taxis, providing a means of employment for thousands of young men.²⁸
- In Europe, 25% of all goods and 50% of all light urban deliveries could be serviced by cargo bikes.²⁹







Source: See endnote 30 for this section.

Emission trends



As nearly zero-emission modes of transport, walking and cycling contribute to Paris Agreement targets for reducing transport-related emissions, while moving 6-8 times more people per hour in the same space as automobiles (see Figure 3).³⁰

Walking and cycling are estimated to be feasible substitutes for more than 40% of short car trips; this could save nearly 5% of CO_2 equivalent emissions from car travel on top of the current estimated 5% of "avoided" emissions from walking and cycling trips.³¹ Rates of walking and cycling vary widely depending on land use, density and infrastructure, as well as cultural and social factors. In some cities, walking and public transport account for up to 90% of trips, and cycling for nearly 50% of trips.³²

- Some high-density cities have high levels of walking and public transport, including Hong Kong (91%) and Singapore (66%) in Asia, and Vienna (68%) and Zurich (67%) in Europe.³³
- High cycling rates occur in certain compact, cycling-friendly cities such as Bordeaux, France (where cycling accounts for 13% of all trips) and Utrecht, the Netherlands (51% of all trips).³⁴

Recent growth in electric-assisted bicycles (e-bikes) is a positive trend for mobility, but it has a potentially negative impact on transport emissions if e-bikes replace zero-emission modes.³⁶ Sales of bicycles increased strongly in recent years through rising demand for e-bikes from both individual consumers and shared bike fleet operators.

- Overall e-bike sales increased 120% globally in 2019, and major bicycle brands doubled their e-bike sales that year.³⁶
- More than 300 million e-bikes are projected to be in use globally by 2023.³⁷
- The e-bike market share surpassed 50% in the Netherlands in 2019.³⁸
- Bicycle exports from Chinese Taipei included 410,000 e-bikes in 2020, a 21% increase from 2019.³⁹

Policy measures

%

Countries and cities are expanding integrated planning approaches that include walking and cycling as a central element and are setting targets for specified shares of these modes. Walking and cycling have strong synergies with public transport, which generates a large share of walking journeys for last-mile access. The integration of cycling and public transport has great potential to increase the catchment areas of public transport stations.⁴⁰

Walking and cycling infrastructure is generally relatively inexpensive and can be implemented rapidly, although it requires careful attention to detail and design standards for successful implementation. Prioritising walking and cycling contributes to physical and psychological health, access and safety.

- In 2019, the government, research institutions and social organisations in the Netherlands joined the National Platform for Walking, aiming to exchange knowledge and experiences to create more space for walking.⁴¹
- Queensland, Australia launched its first Walking Strategy and two-year Action Plan in 2019 with supporting investments.⁴²
- Germany's environment agency launched a Pedestrian Policy Framework ("Geht doch!") in 2018 that aims to increase the share of walking trips in big cities from 27% in 2011 to 41% by 2030, and the share in rural areas from 24% to 35%.⁴³
- The Tallinn region of Estonia aims to achieve 10% cycling and 15% walking modal shares by 2035.⁴⁴
- Promoting cycling is increasingly recognised as an urban transport strategy in Africa, with 35% of countries in the region having a walking and cycling policy as of March 2021.⁴⁵ Cape Town, South Africa launched a cycling strategy in 2017, and Kampala, Uganda opened its first dedicated cycling lane in 2018.⁴⁶
- Lagos, Nigeria intends to increase the share of walking and cycling to at least 50% of all trips and to maintain this level (or greater) over a 15-year period.⁴⁷
- In 2020, Peru adopted a new law for the promotion and regulation of cycling that includes provisions for education, infrastructure, parking, integration, bike-sharing and incentives for employees.⁴⁸
- 50% of vehicle taxes and the motor vehicle transfer fee collected in Cuenca, Ecuador are earmarked for cycling infrastructure and the promotion of tactical urbanism (local, short-term, lowcost activities that are city- and citizen-led).⁴⁹

Investments in walking and cycling infrastructure have gained momentum worldwide but remain far more limited than investments in traditional roadways.⁵⁰ National policies do not sufficiently enable safe and enjoyable walking and cycling, despite the sizable benefits of these modes. However, many cities have prioritised walking infrastructure both preceding and during the COVID-19 pandemic.

- Between 2018 and 2020, cities including Skopje, North Macedonia; Seattle, USA; Beijing, China; Jakarta, Indonesia and Singapore established new master plans to promote walking and cycling.⁵¹
- The transport department of Mombasa, Kenya completed 9 kilometres of wide footpaths on five streets in 2019.⁵² Tel Aviv, Israel added 11 new pedestrian streets in commercial areas in 2020.¹¹
- Munich, Germany has budgeted EUR 1.6 billion (USD 1.9 billion) to expand cycling infrastructure through 2025.⁵³ Ireland has committed to allocating 10% of its total transport capital budget to cycling projects and another 10% to pedestrian infrastructure, resulting in EUR 360 million (USD 428 million) for these modes every year.⁵⁴

Dedicated long-distance cycling "highways", originally launched in the **Netherlands**, now cover more than 18 inter-city routes in that country and are increasingly common worldwide.⁵⁵ **Beijing**, China opened its first 6.5-kilometre route in 2019; Bogotá, Colombia is planning a cross-city 25-kilometre "cycling avenue"; and in Germany's Ruhrgebiet, 101 kilometres of bike freeways connecting Duisburg and Hamm are under construction.⁵⁶

Investment in bike lanes and pedestrian infrastructure yields greater positive job creation impacts than the manufacturing of cars and electric car batteries, creating between 8 and 23 jobs for every USD 1 million invested.⁵⁷ Cycling jobs (e.g., positions in bicycle manufacturing, repair, construction of cycling infrastructure, cycle tourism and bike sharing operations) are more geographically stable than other sectors, benefiting local economies and offering access to the labour market for less-gualified workers.⁵⁸

Many cities have restricted the flow and speed of motorised vehicles to improve the safety of pedestrians and cyclists, with some major cities reporting zero pedestrian and cycling deaths.⁵⁹ Walking and cycling rates are likely to accelerate when safe, dedicated infrastructure is provided, supporting the growth in women's cycling in particular.⁶⁰ In August 2020, the UN General Assembly proclaimed 2021-2030 the Decade of Action for Road Safety 2021-2030, aiming to prevent at least 50% of road traffic deaths and injuries by 2030.⁶¹

- In Africa, more than 9 out of 10 walked and cycled streets are below the minimum level of service.⁶²
- Oslo, Norway and Helsinki, Finland recorded zero pedestrian deaths during 2019, with Oslo also recording zero cycling deaths; this achievement is the result of decades of progress on road safety along the lines of Vision Zero, including by reducing speed limits, disincentivising automobile use and implementing safe infrastructure.⁶³
- Campaigns to dismantle pedestrian bridges on urban streets and implement safe and level crossings have succeeded in various cities in Mexico as well as in Medellín, Colombia and San Francisco, USA.⁶⁴
- Ciclovias (bikeways), car-free streets and "open streets" programmes continue to expand across cities around the world, creating safer and more equitable conditions for pedestrians. Several cities held their first ever open streets events between 2018 and 2020, including Abuja, Nigeria; Temuco, Chile; and Shah Alam, Malaysia.⁶⁵ Since 2018, Ethiopia has held the Menged Le Sew car-free day in up to 20 cities every month.⁶⁶

An increasing number of global guidelines are specifying technical standards for creating human-scale street infrastructure to improve the safety, comfort and inclusion of all users. They include the *Global Street Design Guide* (2017), *Designing Streets* for *Kids* (2020) and *Pedestrians First: A Tool for Walkable Cities* (2018), which has been applied in a growing number of countries, including Ethiopia and Zambia.⁶⁷

- Walking and cycling guidelines have been formulated for cities such as Lagos, Nigeria (2018); Lima, Peru (2017); and Pune, India (2016).⁶⁸
- In 2019, Austroads updated the Pedestrian Planning and Design Guidance for Australia and New Zealand to align with national and international good practices.⁶⁹
- Technical guidelines for cycling infrastructure were adopted in Colombia in 2016.⁷⁰ At a sub-national level in 2019, British Columbia, Canada adopted an active transport design guide, and Queensland, Australia planned a state cycling network.⁷¹
- A guidebook for tactical urbanism in Indian cities, released in 2020, provides case studies from recent developments in Coimbatore, Mumbai, Ranchi, Rohtak and Udaipur.⁷²

Increasing recognition of the value of walking and cycling has led to their inclusion in recent global policy frameworks, including the WHO Global Action Plan for Physical Activity 2018-2030 and the 2020 Stockholm Declaration on Road Safety.⁷³ There is clear evidence that density and mixed land-use patterns are key to maintaining and increasing the modal share for walking and cycling. Efforts to improve the safety of road environments also help to ensure more widespread use, particularly by women, youth and the elderly.

- The WHO's Global Action Plan on Physical Activity 2018-2030 ("More active people for a healthier world") aims to provide policy recommendations for walking and cycling to contribute to achieving the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). The plan targets a 15% relative reduction in the global prevalence of physical inactivity in adults and adolescents by 2030.⁷⁴
- The majority of the UN SDGs can benefit from more (and safer) walking and cycling.⁷⁵ However, the UN's 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development does not mention these modes specifically, and walking and cycling were included in only 2 of the 47 Voluntary National Reviews of the SDGs submitted by UN Member States in 2020.⁷⁶
- The UN's New Urban Agenda adopted in 2016 sets a path to guide urbanisation over the next 20 years. In the area of mobility, it focuses on the availability of public spaces and the promotion of safe walkability and cycling, aimed at improving health and well-being.⁷⁷
- The 2020 Stockholm Declaration on Road Safety explicitly recognises that improvements in road safety outcomes require a "shift toward more walking and cycling as well as integrating these modes with the use of public transport" and also need to include "land-use, street design, transport system planning and governance, especially for vulnerable road users and in urban areas".⁷⁸
sponses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on walking and cycling

During the COVID-19 pandemic, walking and cycling have demonstrated their potential as resilient transport modes with low contagion risks, as endorsed by the World Health Organization. Walking and cycling have proven their fundamental importance to human mobility and their value for generating positive externalities and societal gains. Walking and cycling are therefore key elements for building socio-economic resilience in sustainable transport systems, which can be expanded to prepare for future shocks.

In 2020, more than 194 cities introduced dedicated space for pedestrians or temporary protected bike lanes, many of which are slated to become permanent. A preliminary assessment of measures taken indicates positive results and potential for longer-term change in cities around the world. Examples include the following:

- A number of cities have widened footpaths and sidewalks to promote walking, including London, Milan and Nairobi. Israel's Tel Aviv-Yafo municipality implemented a policy to prioritise pedestrian and cycling zones, including 11 new pedestrian streets and 20 kilometres of new bicycle lanes, increasing attractiveness for active transport. Cape Town, South Africa constructed 17 kilometres of new walkways for pedestrians and cyclists to facilitate commuting while enabling social distancing. Mobility grids in Barcelona, Spain are creating more walkable neighbourhoods with minimal infrastructure needs.
- In Latin American cities, temporary cycling infrastructure was implemented in 2020 to provide a safe mobility alternative. European cities announced more than 2,000 kilometres of temporary infrastructure and implemented over 1,000 kilometres. In India, the Cycles4Change Challenge and the Streets for People Challenge sought to support cities in implementing cycling-friendly actions and creating safe, healthy and happy streets through rapid low-cost measures.
- In North America, streets were opened for pedestrians and cyclists, for recreation, and in some cases for outdoor dining. A major road in Mombasa, Kenya was converted into a pedestrian zone. In Turin, Italy, public space near a school garden was transformed into learning space to guarantee social distance. Cities such as Edmonton in Canada, Charleston and Los Angeles in the USA, and Adelaide and Sydney in Australia disabled pedestrian push buttons and automated pedestrian phases.

- A study of infrastructure measures adopted in the wake of COVID-19 in 110 European cities showed a 7% increase in cycling on average, with estimated health benefits of EUR 3 billion (USD 4.3 billion) per year. In London, the implementation of low-traffic neighbourhoods showed an increase in walking, with a potential for sustained growth at low cost. Also in the UK, a GBP 250 million (USD 350 million) emergency active mobility fund facilitated pop-up bike lanes, wider pavements and safer crossings as the first stage of a GBP 2 billion (USD 2.8 billion) investment in improved walking and cycling infrastructure.
- Temporary measures can be converted into permanent infrastructure, as demonstrated in Bogotá, Colombia and Paris, France, where large sections of initial temporary networks were implemented permanently. Lima, Peru implemented more than 470 kilometres of new temporary and permanent infrastructure. In Mexico, "emergent" infrastructure was being expanded in various cities, including along main thoroughfares in Guadalajara, León and Mexico City. Some cities elected to fast-track existing plans, such as Melbourne, Australia, which is realising 40 kilometres of cycling lanes.

A change in travel preferences caused by the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in increased walking and cycling during the initial phase of the pandemic, which has been sustained in some places. In April 2020, the UK, the USA and other countries registered the highest retail sales volumes of bicycles on record. As of June 2020, the UK reported sales of 1.3 million bicycles as a direct result of COVID-19, and Google reported a two-fold increase in searches related to e-bikes between March and October 2020.

Rising bicycle sales in places that had seen declining interest in previous decades (such as India and the Philippines), combined with factory closures, led to shortages of bicycles and parts. In Kampala, Uganda, bicycle mechanics reported a boom in customers following restrictions on public transport. In Scotland, walking extensively gained popularity during both lockdown and post-lockdown periods, with the potential to maintain this trend after the COVID-19 pandemic.

Source: See endnote 2 for this section.

Initiatives supporting walking and cycling

- A group of non-profit organisations dedicated to resilient, inclusive and sustainable mobility created the COVID Mobility Works platform to collect initiatives by local governments and non-governmental organisations to help policy makers, innovators, researchers and advocates around the world.⁷⁹ As of October 2020, the database included more than 500 initiatives in 245 cities.⁸⁰ Additional resources on the rapid implementation of sustainable mobility measures during COVID-19 include TUMI's Corona Transport Knowledge Platform and the Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center at the University of North Carolina, USA.⁸¹
- Despacio is a non-profit organisation that conducts research to promote quality of life and to improve the welfare of communities.⁸² It develops and implements projects to make people feel good, generally based on the "slow movement" philosophy in every aspect of life: from the individual and family level to more collective topics such as planning and managing slow, humane and sustainable urban and regional spaces.
- Based on a systematic review of EU cycling policies, the European Cyclists' Federation developed the EU Cycling Strategy: Recommendations for Delivering Green Growth and an Effective Mobility in 2030, which seeks to inspire the European Commission to develop its own cycling strategy to avoid policy fragmentation across different institutions.⁸³
- The EcoMobility initiative of ICLEI-Local Governments for Sustainability supports cities across the world to prioritise walking and cycling in the mobility pyramid.⁸⁴ Through the CitiesSHIFT project and the EcoMobility SHIFT+ performance measurement tool, ICLEI supported cities in China, India and Uganda to measure ecomobility and create an ecomobility pathway for long-term transformation.⁸⁵
- The International Federation of Pedestrians advocates for walking and public space enhancement, especially safety, on behalf of its 48 member organisations from around the world.⁸⁶
- The Share the Road Programme, jointly led by the UN Environment Programme and the FIA Foundation for the Automobile and Society, focuses on best practices and works with governments around the world to prioritise the needs of pedestrians and cyclists.⁸⁷ The programme supports developing countries to shift their priorities away from the cardriving minority and towards investing in infrastructure for the walking and cycling majority.⁸⁸
- Velo-city, the premier international planning conference on cycling, brings together knowledge and information to encourage cycling as part of daily transport and recreation, and seeks to leave all participants as well as other target groups enriched and inspired. Velo-city conferences attract around 1,400 delegates from more than 60 countries.⁸⁹
- Walk21, an international charity dedicated to ensuring the right to walk and the opportunity to enjoy it for everyone worldwide, convenes the largest international conference on

walking each year.⁹⁰ Walk21's Global Sidewalk Challenge aims to build or rehabilitate 100,000 kilometres of additional dedicated, safe, barrier-free sidewalks in the proximity of public transport hubs; in 2019 projects to deliver new sidewalks were undertaken in Lagos, Nigeria and Medellín, Colombia, and additional projects will be realised in other low- and middle-income countries by 2030.⁹¹ Walk21 is also launching the Pathways to Walkable Cities campaign to promote good governance for walkability and Global Walking Indicators to empower national agencies to generate data, report on and inform action, and accelerate progress towards a more walkable world.⁹²

- The United Nations has declared June 3rd World Bicycle Day and encourages Member States to devote attention to the bicycle in cross-cutting development strategies and to include the bicycle in international, regional, national and sub-national development policies and programmes.⁹³
- The World Bicycle Forum has been held yearly since 2012, and the 2020 event was held virtually in Kathmandu, Nepal, the first country outside of South America to host the forum.⁹⁴
- The World Cycling Alliance is an advocacy network aimed at sharing best practices, research and statistics to improve cycling around the world. Its main objective is to promote bicycles as a mode of transport, including leisure and touristic cycling, for the benefit of people worldwide.⁹⁵



<u> 8</u>

Key indicators

Reliable data on walking and cycling are generally lacking, as the existing data often are not disaggregated, are not counted at all or are grossly undercounted due to an exclusive focus in travel surveys on the principal commuting mode. Data collection at the city and country level is critical to improve policy making and infrastructure prioritisation, and a global data collection programme is needed urgently.

Reporting gaps on walking and cycling correspond with a wider lack of data collection and a disregard for these modes in transport policy and planning, particularly in low- and middle-income countries undergoing rapid growth in car ownership. Because walking and cycling trips historically have not been measured via adequate tools, and limited efforts have been put in place to account for their performance, a lack of reliable data at all scales leads to undervaluation of these modes and makes targeting policies more difficult.

More recent use of mobile devices and digital applications, such as the Pedestrian First tool developed by the Institute for Transportation and Development Policy, makes it possible to track and gather information on walking and cycling to fill in some of the data gaps.⁹⁶

	2017*	2019*	% change
Policy Landscape Indicators			
Countries with national walking and cycling plans (number of countries)	N/A	103	N/A
Market Development Indicators			
Modal share of walking	N/A	N/A	N/A
Modal share of cycling	N/A	N/A	N/A
Mean minutes walked by day	N/A	N/A	N/A
Mean minutes cycled by day	N/A	N/A	N/A
Bicycle ownership (bicycles per 1,000 people)	N/A	N/A	N/A
Cycling infrastructure (dedicated protected cycling lanes per capita)	N/A	N/A	N/A
Cycling fatalities in low-/middle-/high-income countries (percentage of all fatalities)		4% / 2% / 5% (2016)	
Walking fatalities in low-/middle-/high-income countries (percentage of all fatalities)		37% / 18% / 20% (2016)	

(*) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise.

Source: See endnote 97 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Measures

Policy targets set

A key promise of Paris Mayor Anne Hidalgo's successful 2020 re-election campaign was to create a "15-minute city" oriented around walking and cycling.⁹⁸ Paris has accomplished most of the aims of its Plan Vélo (2015-2020) scheme and now boasts more than 1,000 kilometres of cycling infrastructure and is expanding the network into surrounding areas.⁹⁹

Restricting or banning cars in key streets or city centres is an effective strategy to improve walking and cycling, and such measures were recently adopted in **Belgrade**, Serbia; **Edinburgh**, Scotland, UK; and **Melbourne**, Australia.¹⁰⁰ In **Leuven**, Belgium, the elimination of through-traffic in the city centre has boosted cycling rates 32%.¹⁰¹ Setting a new standard for bike-train integration, the new bicycle parking garage at the Central Station in **Utrecht**, the Netherlands accommodates 12,500 bicycles, with a plan to house 22,000.¹⁰² Various public transport hubs in the country have integrated bicycle garages in recent years.¹⁰³

In the UK, Sheffield City Region announced plans in 2020 for 1,000 kilometres of walking and cycling routes, including 800 safe crossings.¹⁰⁴

In Houston, USA, where more than 90% of commuter trips are by car, a 1,000 kilometre on-street cycling network is being created.¹⁰⁵

3.4 **Urban Passenger and Freight Transport**

Key findings

Demand trends

- Public transport systems continued to grow between 2010 and 2020, led by strong growth in Asia (for bus rapid transit, light rail and metro) and Latin America (for bus rapid transit). The global rapid transit-toresident ratio (a measure of these three urban services) increased 5% between 2017 and 2019, with a 25% increase in China and a 13% increase in India.
- While Europe accounts for the vast majority of urban rail systems, the largest growth from 2010 to 2020 took place in Africa (333%), Asia (69%) and Oceania (50%).
- Worldwide development of bus rapid transit systems has declined significantly since its peak in 2014, although a gradual increase has occurred since 2018, with nine new systems added during 2019-2020.
- Paratransit (sometimes called "informal transport") remains the main motorised urban transport option in Africa and across cities in the developing world.
- More than one-third of all urban trips globally are made on foot or by bicycle. As a large majority of trips in cities are less than 5 kilometres, walking and cycling can substitute more than 40% of short car trips.

Emission trends

- Transport emission shares from private passenger cars in urban areas ranged from less than 10% in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania to more than 80% in Vancouver, Canada. Globally, cities report widely varying shares of transport carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions, depending on their public transport investments, land-use patterns and supportive policies.
- Urban rail, with an average energy consumption of 0.12 kilowatt-hours per passenger-kilometre, is seven times more energy efficient per passenger than urban car trips.

8 Policy measures

- Cities around the world set ambitious targets and made financial commitments during 2019-2020 to enhance sustainable urban mobility.
- Innovative pricing schemes for public transport, including free models, have been introduced to incentivise behavioural change.
- As an approach to reduce congestion, improve air quality and prioritise public transport, walking and

cycling, governments are exploring the use of lowemission zones (LEZs), ultra-low-emission zones (ULEZs) and zero-emission zones (ZEZs).

- As commercial operations in cities become major emitters of greenhouse gases and add to congestion, freight transport policies have received rising attention from both decision makers and practitioners.
- Freight policies aimed at improving the efficiency of last-mile delivery have increased in importance, given that one-third of urban truck traffic is engaged in the pick-up of goods.
- LEZs, ULEZs and ZEZs can also cover freight vehicles and can restrict the access of polluting vans and trucks to city centres. Freight vehicles represent 5% of road vehicles globally but contribute 27% of transport greenhouse gas emissions and 50% of toxic air pollutants from transport.
- The penetration of electric trucks in global markets for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles is projected to reach 9.4% by 2030.
- Many urban freight initiatives focus increasingly on delivery using (mostly electric-assist) cargo bikes, including initiatives in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; Copenhagen, Denmark; Hamburg, Germany; Amsterdam, the Netherlands; Kigali, Rwanda and New York City, United States of America (USA).

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Due to the pandemic, public transport ridership dropped 90% globally from March to August 2020.
 Meanwhile, pedestrian and cycling infrastructure expanded in more than 250 cities.
- The cost of allowing public transport ridership to collapse due to the pandemic – or reducing services to serve only those with no alternatives – is much greater than the cost of taking measures to make public transport safer for users and workers.
- Paratransit services have been impacted due to travel restrictions, reduced capacities and rising costs. Revenue losses of 50% to 70% and lack of government support brought many paratransit operators to the verge of bankruptcy.
- The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in an unprecedented preference for e-commerce and contactless deliveries (using either self-driving trucks or automated delivery robots), resulting in a re-invigoration of start-ups focused on driverless technologies.
- The pandemic disrupted road freight networks worldwide, although these were generally less affected than ocean and air freight.

Overview

Between 2018 and 2020, global efforts to introduce and increase the quality of urban public transport, such as urban rail and bus rapid transit, resulted in a substantial increase in the share of sustainable transport modes. Urban passenger and freight transport have focused not only on improving collective transport, but also on enhancing its accessibility, integrating different transport modes and improving road safety for other forms of urban transport such as walking and cycling. The intermodality of walking, cycling and public transport plays a major role in establishing efficient, clean and safe urban mobility.

With the majority of the world's people now living in cities, and this share projected to reach 68% by 2050, low carbon mobility options for urban dwellers are increasingly needed in order to manage the inherent pressures on transport demand. This includes increased provision and improvement of collective passenger transport services, including public buses and metro systems.

Public transport was hit the hardest (among all transport modes) by the COVID-19 pandemic, with ridership and revenues falling to unprecedented levels (see Box 1).¹ Cities around the world have responded in various ways to ensure the safety and operation of services. Many used the interruptions as a time to accelerate modernisation of payment systems, install temporary bicycle lanes and open up streets. Freight transport, after several years of constant growth in e-commerce, experienced a steep increase in grocery, food and retail deliveries. The demand for last-mile deliveries grew during pandemic-related lockdowns.

Demand trends

Public transport systems continued to grow between 2010 and 2020, led by strong growth in Asia (for bus rapid transit, light rail and metro) and Latin America (for bus rapid transit).² The global rapid transit-to-resident ratio (a measure of these three urban services) increased 5% between 2017 and 2019, with a 25% increase in China and a 13% increase in India.³ Asia continued to dominate the metro rail market, while North America had the greatest total length of light rail systems, and bus rapid transit was divided equally between Asia and Latin America (see Figure 1).⁴

While Europe accounts for the vast majority of urban rail systems, the largest growth from 2010 to 2020 took place in Africa (333%), Asia (69%) and Oceania (50%) (see Figure 2).⁵ Urban rail systems in Asia surpass many European urban rail systems in the number of passengers transported and lines in operation.⁶ Africa's sharp increase in urban rail reflects growth starting from a low baseline, with new services inaugurated in Algeria, Ethiopia, Morocco and Nigeria between 2015 and 2020.⁷

26









- Several cities in Asia continued to expand their metro systems between 2018 and 2020, including Bangkok, Thailand; Delhi and Hyderabad, India; Manila, the Philippines; and cities in China, Japan and the Republic of Korea.⁸
- Rapid expansion of urban rail systems also occurred in several Latin American cities. In 2019, Panama City, Panama inaugurated its second metro line (it aims to expand the network to five lines by 2040), and Brazil saw subway expansions in Rio de Janeiro and São Paulo.⁹

Worldwide development of bus rapid transit systems has declined significantly since its peak in 2014, although a gradual increase has occurred since 2018, with nine new systems added during 2019-2020 (see *Figure 3*).¹⁰

New bus rapid transit systems

- The first 2.9 kilometres of bus rapid transit lanes were introduced in Salvador, Brazil in 2020, as part of a planned 32-kilometre network along 3 lines and 10 stations.¹¹
- At least two cities in China Fuzhou in Jiangxi Province and Yongzhou in Hunan Province - opened bus rapid transit systems in 2019 and 2020.¹²
- Peshawar, Pakistan opened a bus rapid transit system in August 2020 with 28 kilometres of lanes (50% of them elevated).¹³
- In the USA, bus rapid transit systems were opened in Albuquerque, New Mexico and Oakland, California in 2020.¹⁴

Expansion of bus rapid transit systems

- Several cities in Brazil expanded their existing bus rapid transit systems: Campinas developed a new 36-kilometre corridor that opened in 2020, and Rio de Janeiro extended the TransOceânica corridor in Niterói by 9.3 kilometres and 13 stations.¹⁶
- In 2019, new additions in bus rapid transit occurred in Amritsar, India and in Nouméa, New Caledonia (which added 22 electric buses).¹⁶
- The Chinese cities Nanchang City and Shanghai expanded their bus rapid transit networks between 2019 and 2020.¹⁷
- Warsaw, Poland added five dedicated bus lanes in 2020 (although these do not officially count as a bus rapid transit system by definition).¹⁸
- Additional exclusive bus lanes were added to the bus rapid transit network in San Pedro, Costa Rica.¹⁹
- Work on the Beirut Public Transport Project in Greater Beirut Public Transport in Lebanon, which includes a bus rapid transit system and 250 buses, was initiated in 2019.²⁰

Paratransit (sometimes called "informal transport") remains the main motorised urban transport option in Africa and across cities in the Global South. It fills the gap left by limited public transport options, especially in African cities.²¹ In recent years, slight enhancements to paratransit services – including mapping, fleet renewal and regulations – have been achieved that can help to later transition paratransit into more formal services. (*See In Focus: Paratransit.*)

Source: See endnote 4 for this section.





Figure 3. Evolution of bus rapid transit systems in cities worldwide, 1968-2020



Source: See endnote 10 for this section.

Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector

88

of bus and rail systems is helping to decrease transport emissions in cities. Since 2019, electric buses have experienced a steep increase in Asia, Europe, and Latin America and the Caribbean (*see Section 3.8 on Electric Mobility*).

- Cuenca, Ecuador launched its first light rail service in 2020 to help reduce congestion and transport emissions, which account for 57% of the city's total greenhouse gas emissions.³⁶
- In 2019, Nairobi was the first city in Kenya (and the eighth in Africa) to roll out a bus rapid transit system, which is expected to save 2 million tonnes of CO₂ equivalent by 2030.³⁷
- In 2019, the Green Line in Karachi, Pakistan became the world's first zero-emission bus rapid transit system, running on biogas produced from organic waste and avoiding 2.7 million tonnes of CO₂ throughout the life cycle of the project.³⁸
- Doha, Qatar opened a metro system in 2019 that is expected to reduce traffic by 190,000 private automobiles per day and to decrease CO₂ emissions by around 19,000 tonnes annually.³⁹

Policy measures

Urban passenger transport

Cities around the world set ambitious targets and made financial commitments during 2019-2020 to enhance sustainable urban mobility. Investments in public transport have been enabled through national governments.

- Jordan increased the share of trips by public transport from 11% in 2016 to 15% by the end of 2020, and the bus rapid transit system in Amman is expected to boost this share to 40% by 2025.⁴⁰
- In 2019, the government of Malaysia launched a USD 122 million fund to encourage the adoption of public transport while improving and enhancing transport-related infrastructure in the country.⁴¹
- In 2020, the UK government announced a GBP 5 billion (USD 6.7 billion) boost for sustainable transport, with a focus on improving bus services by introducing simpler fares, thousands of new buses, improved routes and higher frequencies.⁴²

Innovative pricing schemes for public transport, including free models, have been introduced to incentivise behavioural change. Several countries have introduced and expanded free public transport, offering large potential for environmental and social benefits but also posing challenges for sustained funding, especially in a post-pandemic landscape. Funding streams can be secured through phasing out fossil fuel subsidies and dedicating revenues from congestion pricing and parking to public transport.

In 2019, Augsburg introduced Germany's first "mobility flat rate", enabling users to enjoy bus, car-sharing, bicycles, and other participating modes for EUR 79 (USD 95) a month.⁴³

Between 2018 and 2020, mapping of paratransit services was implemented in more than a dozen African cities (e.g., Accra, Addis Ababa, Djibouti, Kampala, Kisumu, Lusaka and Mombasa).²² By the end of 2019, the Digital Matatus project had mapped 140 routes for paratransit in Nairobi, Kenya, covering more than 3,000 kilometres and 4,000 stops.²³

- Burkina Faso plans to regulate paratransit taxi services by 2025 by renewing fleets, increasing the share of drivers with health insurance and implementing a fare collection system in all vehicles.²⁴
- Kampala, Uganda launched a licencing programme for minibus taxis in June 2020 in an effort to better regulate the network and routes.²⁵
- The paratransit share is high in many Asian cities reaching 58% in Khulna, Bangladesh; 54% in Dhaka, Bangladesh; and 50% in Jakarta, Indonesia contributing to increased mobility but also rising congestion.²⁶

More than one-third of all urban trips globally are made on foot or by bicycle.²⁷ As a large majority of trips in cities are less than 5 kilometres, walking and cycling can substitute more than 40% of short car trips.²⁸ Public transport, walking and cycling are more efficient and can move more people within a shorter time and with far fewer CO₂ emissions than private or shared cars (*see Section 3.3 on Walking and Cycling*).

Emission trends

Transport emission shares from private passenger cars in urban areas ranged from less than 10% in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania to more than 80% in Vancouver, Canada.²⁹ Globally, cities report widely varying shares of transport CO_2 emissions, depending on their public transport investments, land-use patterns and supportive policies (see Figure 4).³⁰

- In Addis Ababa, Ethiopia and Paris, France, freight transport accounts for more than 80% of transport emissions, well above the shares in other cities and likely because fewer solutions for clean freight transport are being implemented.³¹
- In Kaohsiung, Chinese Taipei, two- and three-wheelers contribute 40% of emissions, roughly equal to the share from passenger cars.³²
- Dar es Salaam, Tanzania is unique in having public buses account for 80% of transport emissions.³³ This may be because of the city's low levels of private vehicle ownership (with motorcycles dominating cars) as well as the lack of data on transport activity, which result in low estimates of emissions from motorcycles and private cars.³⁴

Urban rail, with an average energy consumption of 0.12 kilowatthours per passenger-kilometre, is seven times more energy efficient per passenger than urban car trips.³⁵ The implementation

Figure 4. Urban transport emissions by group in selected cities worldwide

100% Annual transport CO, emissions by mode (various reporting years) 90% 80% 70% 60% 50% 40% 30% 20% 10% 0% Cape Town Dar es Salaam Addis Ababa



Source: See endnote 30 for this section.

- After Dunkirk, France tested free buses in 2018, it found that 48% of new transit users regularly used the buses instead of cars, and 5% had sold their cars or decided against buying second ones.44
- New Delhi, India has offered free public transport to women since 2019 to provide more affordable, safe travel options.45
- In 2019, Surabaya, Indonesia launched a programme enabling residents to pay for the bus by trading in used plastic.46
- Estonia became the first country to make all public transport free, in 2018, and this policy was replicated by Luxembourg in March 2020.47 Schoolchildren in Germany have been able to use public transport for free since August 2019.48 Hwaseong City, Republic of Korea implemented free public transport in mid-2020 as part of its climate change policies.49
- Barcelona, Spain introduced a new travel card in 2020 that offers unlimited journeys on public transport within the metropolitan area for EUR 40 (USD 48) a month.50

As an approach to reduce congestion, improve air quality and prioritise public transport, walking and cycling, governments are exploring the use of low-emission zones (LEZs), ultra-lowemission zones (ULEZs) and zero-emission zones (ZEZs). (See Section 3.2 on Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management.)

These zones exist mostly in European cities, although in March 2019, New York City announced that it would be the first USA city to implement a ULEZ through congestion charging by 2021.51

Urban freight transport

As commercial operations in cities become major emitters of greenhouse gases and add to congestion, freight transport policies have received rising attention from both decision makers and practitioners. These policies are critical for mitigating

the negative environmental impacts of freight transport without hampering the role of goods movement in fuelling the economy and fulfilling the needs of urban residents.⁵²

- In India, implementation of the Bharat Stage VI emission standards in 2020 aimed to restrict new registrations of large trucks after 2021 and to greatly reduce the negative impacts associated with freight trips in cities.⁵³
- New Delhi, India implemented a pollution tax in 2018 to be paid at tolls by heavy-duty and light-duty vehicles to control the emissions that affect urban air quality.⁵⁴ (For more on fuel efficiency and related topics, see Section 3.7 on Fuel Economy.)

Freight policies aimed at improving the efficiency of last-mile delivery have increased in importance, given that one-third of urban truck traffic is engaged in the pick-up of goods.⁵⁵ Broader introduction of low-emission freight vehicles and operations, as well as low-emission zones and delivery hour schemes, are helping to accelerate the transition to low carbon logistics.⁵⁶

- Paris, France implemented multiple LEZs in 2020 and prohibits older delivery vehicles from accessing these zones between 8 a.m. and 8 p.m.⁵⁷
- Nijmegen, the Netherlands has successfully implemented urban consolidation programmes to facilitate the effective bundling of last-mile deliveries.⁵⁸
- New York City, USA implemented an off-hour deliveries programme in 2018 to combat congestion and to improve the productivity of shippers.⁵⁹

LEZs, ULEZs and ZEZs can also cover freight vehicles and can restrict the access of polluting vans and trucks to city centres. Freight vehicles represent 5% of road vehicles globally but contribute 27% of transport greenhouse gas emissions and 50% of toxic air pollutants from transport.⁶⁰ Such measures incentivise companies to renew their fleets and to introduce zero-emission commercial vehicles.

- In 2020, the Netherlands announced that starting in 2025 cities can introduce LEZs for freight vehicles, thus allowing only zeroemission freight vans or trucks to enter these areas.⁶¹
- Several cities in China (e.g., Beijing, Chengdu, Shanghai and Shenzhen) implemented zero-emission freight zones in 2018 and 2019, enabling an uptake of electric freight vehicles.⁶²

The penetration of electric trucks in global markets for mediumand heavy-duty vehicles is projected to reach 9.4% by 2030.⁶³ While this offers hope for increasing the sustainability of longdistance trucking, it falls well short of needed reductions, and the market is still characterised by limited availability and high prices.

In 2018, the Cleaner Trucks Initiative for updating nitrogen oxide emission standards for trucks was deployed in the USA to speed the adoption and use of low carbon trucks at trade nodes.⁶⁴

Many urban freight initiatives focus increasingly on delivery using (mostly electric-assist) cargo bikes, including initiatives in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; Copenhagen, Denmark; Hamburg, Germany; Amsterdam, the Netherlands; Kigali, Rwanda and New York City, USA.⁶⁵ Electric-assist cargo bicycles have emerged as an urban freight option to accommodate shifting consumer demand and an increase in in-home deliveries. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance of improving last-mile delivery.

- A cycling company in Scotland, UK unveiled an integrated e-cargo bike delivery and food waste service in 2020.⁶⁶
- In 2019, Royal Mail group in the UK experimented with and developed e-trikes, adding to its existing fleet of 100 electric vehicles that helped reduce the delivery company's carbon emissions 29% from previous estimates.⁶⁷



Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on urban passenger and freight transport

Due to the pandemic, public transport ridership dropped 90% globally from March to August 2020. Meanwhile, pedestrian and cycling infrastructure expanded in more than 250 cities. With 90% of the reported COVID-19 cases early in the pandemic occurring in high-density urban areas, cities faced many challenges to reduce the spread of the virus. Using public transport was initially perceived as a place for easy contagion, but sustained evidence from Austria, France, Germany and Japan has shown that public transport does not have to be associated with high infection rates if specific measures are adopted, such as the use of face masks, sufficient ventilation and surface cleaning.

The cost of allowing public transport ridership to collapse due to the pandemic – or reducing services to serve only those with no alternatives – is much greater than the cost of taking measures to make public transport safer for users and workers. Public transport operators worldwide have responded to the pandemic by adopting new safety measures, including reductions in rider capacity (for example, buses at only 75% capacity in Quito, Ecuador), more frequent service, enhanced cleaning, new infrastructure and streamlined ticketing/payment methods to reduce contact between staff and passengers, as well as social distancing and mandatory mask use.

Improvements to public transport during 2020 included new bus lanes to speed up transit and to increase the frequency (and thus capacity) of the existing fleet. For example, 109 kilometres of lanes were added in the Metropolitan Region of Santiago, Chile and 34 kilometres in New York City, USA. Several cities also enhanced their on-demand public transport services to provide mobility to essential workers, as in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates; Berlin, Germany; Columbus, Ohio, USA; Kent, UK; and Tel Aviv, Israel.

Dubai, United Arab Emirates increased the number of subway trains and buses in operation in order to increase the frequency of service and to avoid overcrowding. Similar approaches were applied in Bucharest, Romania; Hamburg, Germany; and many other cities. Many cities enhanced the disinfection and cleaning of vehicles and public transport stations.

Paratransit services have been impacted due to travel restrictions, reduced capacities and rising costs. Revenue losses of 50% to 70% and lack of government support brought many paratransit operators to the verge of bankruptcy. In Kampala, Uganda, travel restrictions and lockdowns led to a temporary halt of all boda boda and minibus services, while in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia fares for minibuses doubled in early 2020 to recoup the lost revenues. In Latin America and the Caribbean, universities have conducted research to inform decision makers on how to support and formalise paratransit systems and how to best integrate them into climate change, energy and transport agendas at the city, regional and national levels, including as part of COVID-19 recovery measures.



The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in an unprecedented preference for e-commerce and contactless deliveries (using either self-driving trucks or automated delivery robots), resulting in a re-invigoration of start-ups focused on driverless technologies. E-commerce sales grew from between 15% (in China) and 70% (in Canada) within a single year, and in 2020 online sales represented 19% of all retail sales. The pandemic also accelerated existing trends in lower-carbon solutions, with crowd shipping services (e.g., Instacart, Postmates, etc.) emerging as a sustainable delivery alternative for congested megacities in Asia, and the wide-scale adoption of e-cargo bikes.

Expanded use of electric trucks, autonomous and connected trucks, and autonomous delivery robots in freight and logistics has occurred mainly in Asia and North America. For example, 13 locations in the UK and the USA began employing autonomous delivery robots, and 5G-powered autonomous food vehicles were launched in China in November 2020. Innovative freight delivery through alternative fuel vehicles, drones and autonomous robots is being tested. A McKinsey report projects that by 2030, 80% of items in China, Germany and the USA will be delivered by drones and autonomous robots with parcel lockers.

The pandemic disrupted road freight networks worldwide, although these were generally less affected than ocean and air freight. Europe and the Americas were the fastest to resume normal operations within their freight networks, whereas regions that experienced severe lockdown measures and border closures, such as the Middle East and Africa, experienced more prolonged and significant impacts.

Source: See endnote 1 for this section.

Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector

26

Initiatives supporting urban passenger and freight transport

Passenger transport

- The C40 Green and Healthy Streets Declaration highlights the growing demand for zero-emission products and services and aims to raise the level of ambition of cities to transition to zeroemission transport. Signatories commit to procuring only zeroemission buses from 2025 and to ensuring that major urban areas are zero emission by 2030.⁶⁸
- The MobiliseYourCity Partnership supports local and national governments in emerging and developing countries in defining and implementing sustainable urban mobility policies and plans, in an effort to facilitate implementation of their Nationally Determined Contributions to reduce emissions under the Paris Agreement and to accomplish the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals.⁶⁹
- The Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (ITDP) works to mitigate the impacts of climate change, improve air quality, and support prosperous, sustainable, and equitable cities.⁷⁰ ITDP's Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio tool tracks the growth of public transport in cities over time.⁷¹
- The International Association of Public Transport (UITP) represents public transport agencies and campaigns through its One Planet, One Plan climate action manifesto, a four-step plan to achieve zero-emission mobility and better public transport.⁷²
- The Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (TUMI) focuses on accelerating sustainable urban transport development and climate change mitigation by mobilising finance, capacity building and promoting innovative approaches.⁷³

Freight transport

- EcoLogistics by ICLEI supports cities through a community network and projects that provide tools for self-monitoring of greenhouse gas emissions and for stakeholder mapping and engagement. It supports demonstration projects and planning for long-term sustainable urban logistics through action plans.⁷⁴
- The Global Green Freight Action Plan focuses on facilitating collaboration among governments, the private sector, civil society and other actors, with the goal of aligning and enhancing existing green freight programmes, developing and supporting new programmes, and integrating black carbon reductions into these programmes.⁷⁶
- The Smart Freight Centre works with industry and other stakeholders to remove market barriers and catalyse the uptake of solutions that improve fuel efficiency, reduce emissions and lower operating costs.⁷⁶
- VREF Center of Excellence for Sustainable Urban Freight Systems investigates innovative ways to infuse sustainability and efficiency into the transport of goods, with a focus on activities such as the analysis of urban delivery trends and planning guides to improve freight system performance.⁷⁷

	2017*	2020*	% change
Policy Landscape Indicators			
Countries with national urban mobility frameworks (# of countries)	N/A	44	-
Market Development Indicators			
Bus rapid transit (# of systems)	169	177	+5%
Urban rail (metro, tram and light rail) (# of systems)	478	502	+5%
Rapid transit-to-resident ratio (for cities of 500,000 people and more)	10.2	10.7 (2019)	+5%

Key indicators

(*) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise.

Source: See endnote 1 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Measures

Policy targets set

Investment commitments

- **Berlin**, Germany announced that it would spend EUR 28 billion (USD 34 billion) on improving public transport between 2019 and 2035.⁷⁸
- In 2019, India received concessional loans from Germany of EUR 1 billion (USD 1.2 billion) until 2023 to improve urban mobility infrastructure and services.⁷⁹
- Indonesia was preparing to spend around USD 40 billion in 2019 to extend the metro network in Jakarta.⁸⁰
- Turkey plans to expand its urban rail length from 747 kilometres in 2019 to 1,154 kilometres by 2023.⁸¹
- In 2019, the Green New Deal of **Scotland**, UK included GBP 500 million (USD 670 million) for improved bus priority lanes to tackle congestion and increase usage.⁸²
- Under the USA state of **Connecticut's** USD 21 million CT2030 investment to improve transport, adopted in 2019, mass transport is one of four key areas, and new corridors and e-buses are planned.⁸³
- Sound Transit approved USD 60 million for the Pierce Transit bus rapid transit system in Washington state, USA.⁸⁴

Policy measures implemented

Introduction of new urban rail systems

The first light rail service started operation in the Waterloo region of Ontario, Canada in 2019, registering 1.2 million passengers between July and September 2019.⁸⁵

The first subway in Jakarta, Indonesia started operation in 2019, followed by a light rail line that same year.⁸⁶

Expansion of urban rail systems

In Australia, the cities of Canberra and Sydney both expanded their light rail systems in 2019.⁸⁷

Several European cities expanded their urban rail systems in

2019 and 2020, including Nice, France; Budapest, Hungary; and Moscow, Russian Federation.⁸⁸ The Cityring metro line opened in Copenhagen, Denmark in 2019, with 17 stations along a 17-kilometre line.⁸⁹

In 2020, several urban rail expansions were completed in North America, including (in the USA) the Southeast Rail Extension in Denver, Colorado and the Gilbert Road Extension in Phoenix, Arizona; and (in Canada) the Confederation Line in Ottawa and the Ion Light Rail in Waterloo.⁹⁰

Both light rail lines in Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA reportedly had their highest ever ridership in 2018, with more than 80 million rides.⁹¹

Autonomous freight vehicles

In Paris, France, Nokia developed a last-mile autonomous delivery robot in 2019 that could deliver all small parcels within the Paris-Saclay campus.⁹²

In the USA, Plus.ai announced that a self-driving semi-truck packed with 20 tonnes of goods successfully made a crosscountry trip from California to Pennsylvania in 2019 without having a single disengagement.⁹³ A robot food delivery service was launched in Tempe, Arizona, USA in 2020.⁹⁴

Public bus fleet expansion

In 2019, the **Congo** transport company TRANSCO renewed its rolling stock, adding 50 buses for inter-city travel services and 80 new buses for Kinshasa as part of the "Esprit de vie" programme that supports financing of local buses.⁹⁵

Tehran, Iran renewed its bus fleet in 2019 with 100 new buses.⁹⁶ Gambia added 20 new buses to an existing fleet of 50 buses in 2020.⁹⁷

In 2019, Nigeria added 820 medium- and high-capacity buses to its operations, and Google officially enabled its "Maps" feature for informal transport in Lagos.⁹⁸

3.5

Passenger and Freight Railways

(Note: The focus of this section is on long-distance passenger and freight railways; for a discussion of urban rail systems, see Section 3.4 on Urban Passenger and Freight Transport.)

Key findings

Demand trends

- Global passenger rail activity grew 6% between 2016 and 2018, to 4 billion passenger-kilometres.
- The share of high-speed rail in global inter-city passenger rail activity doubled between 2010 and 2019, rising from 10% to 20%.
- Although high-speed rail accounts for only 2% of the global rail network, it transports one-quarter of all rail passengers. For distances up to 1,200 kilometres, highspeed rail competes with air transport.
- Rail freight activity increased 12% between 2010 and 2018, reaching a total of 11 trillion tonne-kilometres.

Emission trends

- The carbon intensity of rail transport dropped to around 14 grams of carbon dioxide (CO₂) equivalent per passenger-kilometre in 2019, less than one-tenth of the energy consumed by larger cars or airplanes.
- The share of electrified railways worldwide increased from 36.7% in 2015 to 40.2% in 2019. In 2020, threequarters of passenger rail activity was on electrified systems, up from 60% in 2000.

 Nearly one-quarter of the electricity used to power electric trains is estimated to come from renewable sources, which supplied 9% of total global rail energy in 2015 (latest available data).

 (\mathbf{Q})

- Shifting from air travel to high-speed rail produces 3.4 times less pollution and uses 80-90% less energy.
- Scaling up the use of fuels such as green hydrogen can increase the efficiency of passenger and freight railways.

8 Policy measures

- Ambitious national rail investment programmes are reinvigorating passenger and freight rail systems, with significant investments in emerging economies in Asia and Latin America.
- New and expanding high-speed rail services in the Global South are outpacing investments in the Global North.
- As of 2020, there were 29 railway projects under China's Belt and Road Initiative, which aims to promote infrastructure across Africa, Asia and Europe; this has catalysed an increase in cross-border rail investments to accelerate economic integration.

 A shift from air travel to high-speed rail could displace 21% of domestic and international flights in North America, 10% of domestic flights in Europe and 9% of domestic flights in Latin America.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Passenger rail demand fell an estimated 8% during the first six months of 2020, while freight rail demand stayed at similar levels in all regions.
- In the first six months of 2020, the rail sector lost an estimated USD 36 billion globally due to the pandemic.
- Passenger rail demand is expected to recover steadily from COVID-19 impacts, with global average annual growth of 2.3% projected through 2025.
- Several national governments have announced plans to implement recovery measures to support and prioritise the competitiveness of railways.
- Around one-third of transport spending in recovery packages in G20 countries is allocated to green investment (USD 103 billion), with 26% of this amount for rail, exceeding investment in electric vehicles and alternative fuels (18%) and airlines and ports (13%).

Overview

Passenger railways are a backbone of long-distance mobility networks, providing commuter, regional and inter-city services across different regions of the world. Demand for long-distance passenger rail is growing in many countries, driven by the rapid development of high-speed rail globally.¹ This trend is expected to increase with emerging investments in high-speed rail networks in Africa, Asia and the Middle East.

Freight railways are a key driver of global trade and regional economic activity.² Rail freight is more cost effective per tonnekilometre than road freight and causes fewer traffic fatalities and less noise pollution.³ Railways facilitate inter-modal freight, providing efficient transport for the bulk of a trip and then allowing more flexible transport modes, such as trucks and cargo bikes, to complete deliveries to a final destination.

Railways are the most energy efficient means of long-distance passenger and freight transport on land. Although railways carry 8% of the world's passengers and 8% of global freight tonnes, they account for only 3% of total transport energy demand and produce only 0.3% of global direct CO₂ emissions.⁴

The COVID-19 pandemic led to strong reductions in rail passengers and rail freight in the first six months of 2020, but recovery packages support the modernisation of railways and a shift from air travel to railways (see Box 1).⁵

Demand trends

Global passenger rail activity grew 6% between 2016 and 2018, to 4 billion passenger-kilometres (*see Figure 1*).⁶ Asia and Europe accounted for the vast majority (95%) of passenger rail activity in 2018, and passenger rail grew 33% and 9%, respectively, in these regions from 2010 to 2018.⁷

The state rail agency in **Bangladesh** received its highest ever allocation in the 2019-2020 fiscal year, launching new direct services from Dhaka to Benapole, Rajshahi and Siliguri.⁸

In India, the Vande Bharat Express, a semi-high-speed train operating from Delhi to Varanasi, was launched in 2019, and the Ahmedabad-Mumbai Tejas Express line was launched in 2020.⁹

- The first express train service in Senegal a railway connection between Dakar city centre and the country's largest airport, Blaise Diagne International Airport – was launched in 2016 and was expected to start operation in 2021.¹⁰ The line will provide both passenger and freight service.¹¹
- The passenger rail operator Amtrak in the USA registered a 2.5% increase in ridership during the 2019 financial year, to a record 32.5 million passenger trips.¹²





Source: See endnote 6 for this section.

The share of high-speed rail in global inter-city passenger rail activity doubled between 2010 and 2019, rising from 10% to 20%.¹³ This growth was driven largely by increased high-speed rail activity in China and to the introduction and expansion of high-speed rail service in several other countries (*see Figure 2, and Policy Measures section below*).¹⁴

Although high-speed rail accounts for only 2% of the global rail network, it transports one-quarter of all rail passengers.¹⁵ For distances up to 1,200 kilometres, high-speed rail competes with air transport.

- In China, 1 billion people travel by high-speed rail each year, more than double the country's 415 million domestic aviation passengers.¹⁶
- In 2018, Morocco inaugurated the 323-kilometre Al-Boraq high-speed rail line between Casablanca and Tangier, cutting travel time by more than half.¹⁷ The project is the first high-speed rail in Africa and is part of a broader plan to connect Morocco's north and south via a 1,314-kilometre high-speed line.¹⁸
- In 2018, Saudi Arabia became the first Arab country to develop high-speed rail, as part of the country's 2030 vision to boost socio-economic development and relieve roadway congestion.¹⁹

Its 449-kilometre high-speed line connects Jeddah, Mecca and Medina, with a capacity of 60 million passengers per year and a travel speed of 300 kilometres per hour.²⁰

Alongside its 594 kilometres of existing high-speed rail, Turkey is developing 16 new lines to connect major cities in a 1,652-kilometre network by 2023.²¹ It is planning more than 30 new high-speed rail lines, for a total of 7,419 kilometres, and completed tests in 2020 on the 393-kilometre Ankara-Sivas line, expected to be operational in late 2021.²²

Rail freight activity increased 12% between 2010 and 2018, reaching a total of 11 trillion tonne-kilometres.²³ Rail accounts for 60% of freight activity in the Russian Federation, 55% in the USA, and 50% in China, while in Europe the rail share of freight has stagnated at around 18%.²⁴ Regionally, rail freight activity is driven primarily by Asia and Oceania, and by Latin America and North America (*see Figure 3*).²⁵

- In 2019, Brazil set a target to double the share of its freight moved by rail from 15% in 2019 to 31% in 2025.²⁶
- India has set a target to move 70% of goods by rail along an 8,325 kilometre freight rail network being developed by the



Figure 2. Development of high-speed rail by country, 2010-2019

Dedicated Freight Corridor Corporation of India.²⁷ As of mid-2020, the eastern corridor of the project was 60% complete and the western corridor was 55% complete.²⁸

in 2019, Kenya inaugurated the second phase of the 120-kilometre Nairobi-Naivasha railway, along with a standardgauge rail connection to the Naivasha container terminal.²⁹

Figure 3. Freight rail activity by region, 2010-2018



Source: See endnote 25 for this section.

Emission trends



The carbon intensity of rail transport dropped to around 14 grams of CO_2 equivalent per passenger-kilometre in 2019, less than one-tenth of the energy consumed by larger cars or airplanes.³⁰ Since 1990, rail's energy use has improved 37% per passenger-kilometre and its CO_2 emission intensity has improved 30% per passenger-kilometre.³¹

The share of electrified railways worldwide increased from 36.7% in 2015 to 40.2% in 2019.³² In 2020, three-quarters of passenger rail activity was on electrified systems, up from 60% in 2000.³³ Railways have the highest share of electrification among all transport modes and can help to drive transport decarbonisation if rail electricity is increasingly generated from renewable sources.³⁴

- In 2019, India's Cabinet Committee on Economic Affairs approved the complete electrification of the country's railway network, which will reduce CO₂ emissions and lower fossil fuel costs.³⁵
- Latvia invested EUR 318.5 million (USD 378 million) in 2019 through the European Union Cohesion Fund, to electrify 308 kilometres of the country's main east-west railway network.³⁶
- In 2019, Scotland (UK) committed to transitioning to a zero-emission railway network by 2035 through continued electrification of its network, using battery-powered trains and exploring the potential of hydrogen-powered trains.³⁷
- The UK has detailed a strategy to phase out all purely diesel trains by 2040.³⁸

Nearly one-quarter of the electricity used to power electric trains is estimated to come from renewable sources, which supplied 9% of total global rail energy in 2015 (latest available data).³⁹ From 2005 to 2015, the share of diesel in total rail energy use fell from 62% to 56%, while the share of electricity from renewable sources increased 66%.⁴⁰

- China and the Russia Federation each derived 12% of their rail energy from renewables in 2015; however, the share of nuclear energy used to power railways in the Russian Federation exceeded that in China by nearly 10 times (13.3% versus 1.4%).⁴¹
- In the EU, the share of renewables in rail sector electricity more than tripled between 2005 and 2015, increasing from 6% to 21%.⁴²
- Electricity generation from nuclear power in Japan dropped sharply after the 2011 Fukushima accident (from 25% in 2010 to 1% in 2015) and was replaced primarily by natural gas.⁴³ As a result, rail's share of transport CO₂ emissions in Japan rose from 4.2% in 2010 to 5.0% in 2015.⁴⁴

Shifting from air travel to high-speed rail produces 3.4 times less pollution and uses 80-90% less energy.⁴⁵ Rail produces fewer emissions of nitrogen oxides and particulate matter than aviation.⁴⁶ Rail also has a lower emission impact than aviation due to its smaller infrastructure footprint and its ability to transport passengers directly to city centres, allowing shorter distances and more sustainable travel options (e.g., urban rail, walking) to reach final destinations.⁴⁷

Scaling up the use of fuels such as green hydrogen can increase the efficiency of passenger and freight railways. Green hydrogen can be generated from surplus renewable energy generation to create a lower-carbon rail transport sector and contribute to economy-wide emission reduction targets. A shift to green hydrogen can also contribute to cleaner air, job creation and energy security, but it must overcome substantial cost barriers to achieve broad market penetration in the railway sector.⁴⁸

- In 2019, France's rail operator SNCF ordered 15 hydrogenpowered train cars to replace diesel versions.⁴⁹
- The Netherlands started operation of hydrogen fuel cellpowered passenger trains in 2019.⁵⁰

Policy measures

Ambitious national rail investment programmes are reinvigorating passenger and freight rail systems, with significant investments in emerging economies in Asia and Latin America. Railway infrastructure is underdeveloped in many emerging economies. Enhanced rail investments are being driven by greater co-ordination among regional entities and national governments, supported by public-private partnerships.⁵¹

- In 2019, Chile developed the largest railway investment in its history. The country aims to triple passenger rail trips to 150 million annually by 2027 and to double freight rail volumes to more than 21 million tonnes annually, through 25 rail projects and 1,000 kilometres of rail lines.⁵²
- Costa Rica plans to revitalise its railway system by upgrading infrastructure, introducing electrified trains in the Metropolitan Area of San José, adding freight service to Limón and establishing new rail lines to the Pacific coast by 2023.⁵³
- In 2018, Sri Lanka started a 20-year railway development strategy, with strong public support, to overcome road delays and benefit from the lower cost of rail compared to bus services.⁵⁴
- Turkey kicked off a strategic plan in 2020 that includes planning new rail lines, rehabilitating and electrifying existing rail lines, establishing rail-served logistics centres and developing domestic supply chains.⁵⁵

New and expanding high-speed rail services in the Global South are outpacing investments in the Global North. Several emerging economies in Asia, Africa and the Middle East are initiating the development of high-speed rail lines to reinforce their transport systems, mitigate traffic and reduce emissions.

- China continued to expand its high-speed rail network, opening more than 50 new lines between 2018 and 2020 for a total length of 35,388 kilometres, with another 5,250 kilometres under construction.⁵⁶
- Recent high-speed rail developments in India (4,634 kilometres of lines), South Africa (2,390 kilometres) and Egypt (1,210 kilometres) are doubling existing infrastructure in these countries and making significant contributions to the global high-speed rail market.⁵⁷
- Two high-speed rail lines under construction in Iran, connecting Tehran to Isfahan and to Mashhad, are expected to be completed in 2021 and 2022, respectively. These lines are part of a planned 3, 104-kilometre network of seven lines to be developed by the end of the decade.⁵⁸

As of 2020, there were 29 railway projects under China's Belt and Road Initiative, which aims to promote infrastructure across Africa, Asia and Europe; this has catalysed an increase in cross-border rail investments to accelerate economic integration.⁵⁹ Historically, countries have adopted different track gauge standards and electrification and traffic management systems, which create barriers to the competitiveness of passenger and freight rail against other transport modes. International co-operation within rail programmes can establish standards to increase capacity, efficiency and economic activity.

- In 2019, Indonesia signed a USD 4.3 billion agreement with Japan to develop a medium-speed train project to link Jakarta and Surabaya, covering 715 kilometres.⁶⁰
- Jordan plans to develop a 1,000-kilometre railway network in four phases, resulting in railway connections with China and Europe.⁶¹
- In Nigeria, the 157-kilometre Lagos-to-Ibadan standardgauge rail line entered into service in April 2020, following the government's acquisition of the service from China.⁶²
- In 2019, Pakistan began construction of the Main Line-1, a flagship project and strategic initiative under the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor, at an estimated cost of USD 8.2 billion over five years.⁶³
- The first freight train on the 8,693-kilometre China-Turkey corridor, part of the Belt and Road Initiative, departed on a 12-day journey in December 2020.⁶⁴

A shift from air travel to high-speed rail could displace 21% of domestic and international flights in North America, 10% of domestic flights in Europe and 9% of domestic flights in Latin America (see *Figure 4*).⁶⁵ Several European countries have seen reductions in flight volumes (e.g., Sweden) and increases in overnight train activity (e.g., Austria), with the Netherlands observing both trends in tandem (see Section 3.9 on Aviation).⁶⁶

- The first night train in Austria since 2003 started operation in 2020 by Austrian Railways OBB, travelling from Vienna to Brussels.⁶⁷
- To reduce carbon emissions, France has banned short domestic flights that can be feasibly replaced with rail journeys.⁶⁸
- In the UK, in the 12 months to July 2019, 29% of passengers chose to travel with Virgin Trains as opposed to flying between Glasgow and London, the country's second busiest domestic air route.⁶⁹
- Carbon savings from shifting air travel to rail between Glasgow and London between 2005 and 2015 was equivalent to taking 145,000 cars off the road for a year.⁷⁰



Figure 4. Potential of high-speed rail to displace air travel, by region



Available seat-kilometres replaceable by high-speed rail



Source: See endnote 65 for this section.

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on rail



In the first six months of 2020, the rail sector lost an estimated USD 36 billion globally due to the pandemic. Passenger and freight rail are projected to lose USD 125 billion in total revenue for 2020 and 2021, with passenger rail suffering a higher loss than freight rail, at USD 78 billion. For 2020, 53% of the revenue loss for passenger rail was in Asia and 44% in Europe.

Passenger rail demand is expected to recover steadily from COVID-19 impacts, with global average annual growth of 2.3% projected through 2025. A shift from air travel to train travel is anticipated in the post-COVID-19 period. In Europe, the high-speed rail sector is projected to see compound annual growth of more than 10% in the medium term.

Several national governments have announced plans to implement recovery measures to support and prioritise the competitiveness of railways. Restoring rail activity in the post-pandemic period requires governmental economic support, and many rail agencies have expressed a preference for direct financial support. Other possible options are decreased access charges, elimination of valueadded tax (VAT) and other taxes, and guarantee loans.

- In France, as part of its recovery package, the government banned short-haul domestic air travel on routes that have a journey time of 2.5 hours or less on rail.
- Germany will spend EUR 500 million (USD 610 million) to replace older passenger and freight rail systems with the newest digital interlocking technology to increasing railway capacity, punctuality and reliability.
- The USA proposes to invest USD 80 billion to improve, modernise and expand its passenger rail network, and to increase the safety, efficiency and electrification of passenger and freight rail.

Around one-third of transport spending in recovery packages in G20 countries is allocated to green investment (USD 103 billion), with 26% of this amount for rail, exceeding investment in electric vehicles and alternative fuels (18%) and airlines and ports (13%). (For more on transport investment in COVID-19 recovery packages, see Section 4 on Financing.)

Source: See endnote 5 for this section.

Initiatives supporting railways

- The International Union of Railways (UIC) Low Carbon Sustainable Rail Transport Challenge sets ambitious targets to improve the energy efficiency of the rail sector, reduce greenhouse gas emissions and achieve a more sustainable balance among transport modes.⁷¹ The Challenge is supported by UIC's 240-member railway companies based in 95 countries. In 2015, more than 70 UIC members signed a Climate Responsibility Pledge, which was updated in 2019 with more ambitious targets and had more than 30 signatories as of November 2020.⁷²
- Shift2Rail contributes to smart and sustainable growth by fostering research and innovation in Europe's railway sector. The purpose is to achieve a Single European Railway Area, to enhance the attractiveness and competitiveness of the European railway system to ensure a shift from roads towards rail, and to sustain the leadership of the European rail industry on the global market.⁷³
- Rail Freight Forward is a coalition of European rail freight companies that are committed to drastically reducing the negative impact of freight transport on the planet and mobility, through innovation and a more intelligent transport mix. The coalition had 18 members as of November 2020 and aims to increase the modal share of rail freight in Europe from 18% in 2020 to 30% by 2030 as the macro-economic "better solution" for European growth.⁷⁴
- The European Commission established the European Year of Rail 2021 to support delivery of the EU's European Green Deal objectives in the transport field. The project includes a series of events, campaigns and initiatives in 2021 to promote rail as a sustainable, innovative and safe mode of transport, highlighting its benefits for people, the economy and the climate and focusing on the remaining challenges to create a Single European Rail Area without borders.⁷⁵





Key indicators

	2017*	2019*	% change
Policy Landscape Indicators			
Countries with targets for railway mode shift (# of countries)	N/A	37	-
Market Development Indicators			
Rail passenger activity (million passenger-kilometres)	3,864,406	4,068,548	+6%
	(2016)	(2018)	
High-speed rail activity (billion passenger-kilometres)	704	1,051	+39%
Rail freight activity (million tonne-kilometres)	10,046,221	11,190,112	+11%
	(2016)	(2018)	
Rail network length (kilometres)	1,131,101	1,142,891	+1%
	(2016)	(2018)	
High-speed rail length (kilometres)	59,366	65,812	+11%
	(2016)		
Railway electrification share	36.7% (2018)	40.2%	+10%
Passenger rail energy intensity (grams of CO_2 per passenger-kilometre)	17.61 (2015)	14 (2018)	-20%

(*) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise.

Source: See endnote 76 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Measures

Policy targets set

Rail expansion

- A high-speed train service is envisioned to operate in Bangladesh starting in 2022, spanning 320 kilometres between Dhaka and Chittagon.⁷⁷
- Several rail projects were approved in Ghana in 2019 and 2020, including construction of the 340-kilometre doubletrack electrified standard-gauge eastern railway connecting Accra, Koforidua, Kumasi and Tema; the Accra-Nsawam railway; and the Tema-Mpatadan railway.⁷⁸
- In 2019, Nigeria awarded a USD 3.9 billion public-private partnership contract for the new Abuja-Itakpe-Lokoja rail line.⁷⁹

Policy measures implemented

National rail expansion

In 2018, Ethiopia finalised the Addis-Ababa-Djibouti Railway line, an electric railway system that reduces the travel time between the port of Djibouti and the capital from 84 hours to 10 hours.⁸⁰

- Pakistan launched 10 new passenger trains and 2 freight trains in 2018, between the cities of Karachi and Peshawar.⁸¹ In Thailand, the rail link between Bangkok and Pattaya was approved in 2019.⁸²
- In Nigeria, 44 new coaches were deployed in 2020 on the 186.5-kilometre Abuja-Kaduna rail corridor.⁸³

3.6 Shared Mobility Services



Demand trends

- Car-sharing membership doubled between 2016 and 2018, surpassing 30 million globally, with 70% of members registered with services in Asia.
- Use of ride-hailing services has spiked since 2016, increasing passenger vehicle travel an estimated 10-20% in urban areas and 45-60% in suburban areas globally.
- The peak popularity of bike-sharing systems was reached in 2017, and by late 2020 a quarter of originally launched bike-sharing systems were no longer in operation. Africa is highly underrepresented in the bike-sharing market with just six services launched since 2016.
- System installations of shared e-scooter services, which were widely launched in 2018, increased 580% in 2019, including expansion in several countries in Europe and Latin America and the Caribbean.
- The initially strong venture capital backing enjoyed by global micromobility companies declined 64% from 2018 to 2019, leading services to cut staff or cease operations entirely.
- Autonomous vehicles, widely used in shared applications, have not seen increased market momentum, with 80% fewer cities introducing vehicle trials during 2019 than in 2017.

Emission trends

 According to some studies, electric scooter and bikesharing services have reduced emissions by shifting trips from polluting transport modes; in contrast, ridehailing services increase vehicle-kilometres travelled and result in more emissions.

 \mathbf{Q}

 Many ride-hailing operators have accelerated the rollout of electric vehicles to achieve zero-emission fleets, and some sub-national governments have adopted electric vehicle regulations and targets. Replacing conventional ride-hailing vehicles with electric vehicles has the potential to deliver three times the emission reductions compared to conventional vehicles.

8 Policy measures

- Regulation of new services and business models has been a key determinant of the pace of deployment of shared mobility services, with a number of cities and countries enacting stricter controls.
- New partnerships, tools and guidelines have emerged to increase co-ordination among public and private actors in planning and operating shared mobility services.
- Africa has been prominent in a surge of tech-based improvements in analysis, information and operating platforms for formal and informal shared mobility services.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Several ride-hailing services lost ridership during pandemic lockdowns, leading to job losses in the sector, with ride-hailing company Ola cutting 35% of its workforce in India, and Uber cutting 23% of its global workforce.
- Demand for bike-sharing services increased sharply in a number of cities in 2020, while in other cities, demand for bike sharing struggled to reach 2019 levels due to lockdowns and service restrictions.

Overview

"Shared mobility" is the deployment of innovative transport services using emerging technologies and original business models, based on shareability and the provision of on-demand service. Shared mobility services include car sharing, ride-hailing, micromobility (bike sharing, shared electric kick scooters) and on-demand microtransit. Shared autonomous vehicle applications are also a rapidly emerging area, as many autonomous vehicles are likely to be initially deployed in the context of shared mobility services.¹

When shared mobility services are well deployed, managed and regulated, they have the potential to reduce the demand for private cars, thus reducing associated emissions.² However, the impacts of shared mobility can vary depending on the kind of service, the specific operating context (including walking and cycling

infrastructure), access to public transport and the general built environment. Enhanced data and information on these services, and a greater array of services for different purposes, have the potential to improve the economic conditions of lower-income populations.

The development and positioning of shared mobility services has been mostly led by the private sector. However, in recent years there has been an increase in alliances and partnerships led by both the private sector and non-governmental organisations, indicating a shared agenda towards increasing the presence of shared mobility services and improving their environmental performance. Yet in many cases, shared mobility services are still struggling to find a well-established regulatory framework in which to operate.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, many ride-hailing companies shifted their activities from moving people to moving goods (especially food delivery) in Asia and North America. The pandemic has had an asymmetric impact across shared mobility services, with bikes and e-scooters generally faring better than ride-hailing services (*see Box 1*).³ Recent reductions in funding (often linked to drops in revenue spurred by the pandemic) have put into question the financial sustainability of current shared mobility services business models.

Demand trends

M

Car-sharing membership doubled between 2016 and 2018, surpassing 30 million globally, with 70% of members registered with services in Asia (see Figure 1).⁴ The total number of car-sharing vehicles increased from 157,000 to 198,000 during this period, and by 2019, 236 car-sharing services were operating in 59 countries.⁵

Figure 1. Global car-sharing membership by region and total number of vehicles, 2006-2018



Source: See endnote 4 for this section.

200

- China, India and the Republic of Korea lead in car sharing, accounting for more than three-quarters of the Asian market since 2015.⁶ Overcrowded public transport facilities and population growth are the main variables explaining the switch to shared cars.⁷ Worsening air pollution has also driven Asian governments to adopt measures aimed at reducing the overall number of vehicles on the road.⁸
- Major car-sharing players in the Asia-Pacific region include Car2Go, CarShare Australia, Hertz Corporation, Locomute and Zipcar. These companies often propose innovations to expand their regional presence.⁹

Use of ride-hailing services has spiked since 2016, increasing passenger vehicle travel an estimated 10-20% in urban areas and 45-60% in suburban areas globally.¹⁰ A study in Denver, United States (USA) found that ride-hailing leads to around 83.5% more vehicle-kilometres travelled than if ride-hailing did not exist.¹¹

- In Bangladesh, 10 companies were awarded ride-hailing service licences in July 2019; that year, the country's USD 26 billion ride-hailing industry represented 23% of the transport sector, recording more than 7.5 million trips per month.¹²
- Ride-hailing led to a dramatic increase in motorbikes and cars in Dhaka, Bangladesh, with 40 new cars being registered every day.¹³
- Based on a survey in Santiago, Chile, ride-hailing services increase the number of vehicles kilometres travelled, but this effect can be lessened if occupancy rises to at least 2.9 passengers per vehicle.¹⁴
- A study on the impacts of ride-hailing services in Bogotá, Colombia found that 33% of public transport trips could potentially shift to ride-hailing, increasing the vehicle-kilometres travelled by 14.5 times.¹⁵
- In early 2020, Nigeria banned the commercial use of motorcycles and tricycles operated by ride-hailing companies in Lagos, claiming the need for urgent measures to improve security and safety on the road. These so-called okadas provide access to zones where public transport is not fully deployed.¹⁶

The peak popularity of bike-sharing systems was reached in 2017, and by late 2020 a quarter of originally launched bikesharing systems were no longer in operation.¹⁷ Africa is highly underrepresented in the bike-sharing market with just six services launched since 2016 (*see Figure 2*).¹⁸ Since 2017, the major expansions in the bike-sharing market were in free-floating systems. The use of e-bikes in shared systems has also grown strongly since 2017 (*see Figure 3*), and a study found that 35% of shared electric bike trips substituted car travel, while 30% substituted walking.¹⁹ As of August 2020, some 2,015 bike-sharing systems were in operation around the world.²⁰

- An electric bike sharing system was launched in Kigali, Rwanda in 2019.²¹
- Dubai, United Arab Emirates aims to roll out 3,500 public shared bicycles with 350 stations between 2020 and 2025.²²

- Of the 39 million trips using shared bicycle systems in the USA in 2019, 35% were undertaken to connect to public transport.²³
- Uber purchased Jump Bikes in 2018 and then sold it to Lime in April 2020, greatly reducing the service's staff and operations.²⁴ Lime ceased operations in 12 major cities in Latin America and the Caribbean by the end of 2019.²⁵

System installations of shared e-scooter services, which were widely launched in 2018, increased 580% in 2019, including expansion in several countries in Europe and Latin America and the Caribbean.²⁶ In total, around 265 cities worldwide had e-scooter services as of 2020, most of them in the USA and Europe (see Figure 4).²⁷

In the past few years, e-scooter services have overtaken bike sharing with large-scale deployment across many major cities. By the beginning of 2020, the e-scooter phenomenon was accompanied by the reduced presence of dockless bicycle services, leading to a reduction in micromobility services overall. Some companies argue that the limitations on the number of devices a company can introduce force them to follow popular trends and to prioritise e-scooters over shared bicycles.²⁸

- In Europe, nearly 100 cities across 27 countries had an e-scooter sharing scheme as of 2020, and in Latin America and the Caribbean 32 cities across 7 countries had such a scheme.²⁹
- In the USA, the number of trips using micromobility (shared bikes, e-bikes and e-scooters) increased from 84 million in 2018 to 132 million in 2019.³⁰ Between 2010 and 2019, a third of the total 1 billion trips made in the USA were done on e-scooters and shared bikes.³¹
- The most popular use of e-scooters in the USA in 2018 was to commute to work (28%).³²

The initially strong venture capital backing enjoyed by global micromobility companies declined 64% from 2018 to 2019, leading services to cut staff or cease operations entirely.³³ Investors appear to have reached an inflection point in the micromobility market segment, pivoting from subsidised companies aiming to gain users towards profitable and revenue-oriented businesses.³⁴

- More than 40 micromobility companies were founded in 2018, but in 2019 and 2020 this fell to only 17 and 8 companies respectively starting operations.³⁵
- In 2019 and 2020, four e-scooter sharing companies representing more than USD 190 million in combined venture funding were acquired, three companies closed, and two others merged.³⁶
- In early 2020, Lime announced that it would lay off 14% of its staff (100 people) and cease operations in dozens of USA cities, including Atlanta, San Diego, San Antonio and Phoenix. By that time, Scoot, Lyft and Skip had already announced similar measures.³⁷
- Bird shed 30% of its employees in late March 2020, after having brought USD 75 million in venture capital a few months before.³⁸





Source: See endnote 18 for this section.

Figure 3. Number and purpose of bike sharing, shared e-bike and shared e-scooter trips in the USA, 2010-2019





Source: See endnote 19 for this section.





Source: See endnote 27 for this section.

Autonomous vehicles, widely used in shared applications, have not seen increased market momentum, with 80% fewer cities introducing vehicle trials during 2019 than in 2017 (*see Figure 5*).³⁹ Towards the end of 2018, the deployment of autonomous vehicles in many cities around the world was seen as a rising trend.⁴⁰ However, technical problems with the vehicles and mistrust from users, coupled with road safety concerns and a slow-moving regulatory environment, have slowed this growth.⁴¹ Prospects surrounding the future of automated freight (both long-haul travel in trucks and short last-mile delivery by small robots) have been delayed for similar reasons.

- In countries where autonomous vehicles have been tested (China, Germany and several USA states), significant deployments occurred in cities between 2018 and 2020, and regulatory oversight was strengthened.⁴²
- Frankfurt, Germany started operating a public autonomous shuttle on a 700-metre closed street in 2019.⁴³
- In Singapore, a full-sized autonomous bus began testing on the campus of Nanyang Technological University in March 2019.⁴⁴
- In the freight sector, a self-driving truck completed the first successful cross-country trip in the USA in December 2019.⁴⁵
- Automaker GM announced in January 2020 its allocation of USD
 2.2 billion for electric and autonomous vehicle production.⁴⁶

Figure 5. New autonomous vehicle trials in cities, by region, 2017-2019



Source: See endnote 39 for this section.

Emission trends



According to some studies, electric scooter and bike-sharing services have reduced emissions by shifting trips from polluting transport modes; in contrast, ride-hailing services increase vehicle-kilometres travelled and result in more emissions. Shared mobility appears to offer a solution for providing first- and last-mile connectivity to and from public transport, increasing its access and use.

However, validating data on shared mobility and its impacts is challenging: most services are fairly new, and data series are limited. Private sector studies tend to focus on specific providers' data and show potential bias; academic studies often lack comprehensive datasets; and life-cycle analyses often make assumptions that are not reliable. Government-led studies appear to have greater validity but generally rely on less data and are based mostly on surveys. Further research by independent centres and academic institutions is needed.

Positive reported impacts on emission reductions

- E-scooters emit 75% fewer CO₂ emissions than passenger cars (based on life-cycle analysis that includes production), according to Bird.⁴⁷
- Lime estimates that its e-scooter services in Paris, France replaced 1.2 million vehicle trips and avoided more than 330 tonnes of CO₂ between 2018 and 2019, while representing between 0.8 to 1.9% of all trips.⁴⁸ Lime estimates that this is the equivalent of taking 1,320 cars off the road.⁴⁹
- A shift to lightweight electric vehicles (scooters and electric bicycles) results in mitigation levels of up to 68% by 2030, according to a case study of Paris, France.⁵⁰
- An official report on an e-scooter pilot in Portland, Oregon, US found that the scooters replaced around 301,856 vehicle-miles and prevented around 122 tonnes of CO₂ emissions, equivalent to removing nearly 27 average passenger vehicles from the road for a year.⁵¹

Negative reported impacts on emission reductions

A 2019 life-cycle analysis of e-scooter use by North Carolina State University reported much higher emissions than other modes of transport such as high-ridership buses or electric bicycles. The main sources of pollution are the vehicles used to redistribute the scooters and the materials used to manufacture them.⁵²

- One study found that ride-hailing leads to around 83.5% more vehicle-kilometres travelled than if ride-hailing had not existed.⁵³
- Another study found that ride-hailing accounts for a 10-20% increase in vehicle travel in urban areas and a 45-60% increase in vehicle travel in suburban areas (see Figure 6).⁵⁴
- In a study of cities with large concentrations of ride-hailing services, carpooling trips led to at least a doubling of vehiclekilometres travelled when compared to the transport modes they replaced.⁵⁵
- Research indicates a slight increase in emissions when implementing car sharing because it provides access to automobiles to those who did not own them.⁵⁶

Many ride-hailing operators have accelerated the roll-out of electric vehicles to achieve zero-emission fleets, and some sub-national governments have adopted electric vehicle regulations and targets. Replacing conventional ride-hailing vehicles with electric vehicles has the potential to deliver three times the emission reductions compared to conventional vehicles.⁵⁷ Due to impacts caused by the increasing use of ride-hailing systems, both public and private sector actors have taken recent action to electrify shared fleets.

Figure 6. The effects of increased ride-hailing on transport trends, vehicle-kilometres travelled and greenhouse gas emissions in a USA study



Source: See endnote 54 for this section.

- California, USA passed a regulation targeting 100% electrification of ride-hailing fleets by 2030.⁵⁸
- In London, UK, new licenced private-hire vehicles must be zero emission beginning in 2021.⁵⁹
- Shenzhen, China set a goal for 100% of its ride-hailing fleet to be electric by 2020.⁶⁰

Private sector actions

- Lime has committed to 100% zero-emission operations for its fleet vehicles (e.g., the trucks transporting the e-scooters) by 2030.⁶¹
- The ride-hailing service Lyft has committed to electrifying its entire fleet by 2030.⁶²
- In Singapore, the ride-hailing service Grab added 200 electric cars to its fleet in 2019.⁶³
- Uber aims for 50% of its rides in seven European capitals to be in zero-emission vehicles by 2025, and globally it aims for all rides to be in zero-emission vehicles, public transport and micromobility by 2040.⁶⁴

Policy measures

During 2019 and 2020, funders showed greater caution towards shared mobility services. Overall, the integration of shared, electric and autonomous transport services has fallen short of its potential, given the challenges related to achieving a proper balance between the public and private sectors, developing adequate regulations and identifying appropriate market deployment. However, some regions have developed shared mobility services policies, stringent regulations and mobility standards.

Regulation of new services and business models has been a key determinant of the pace of deployment of shared mobility services, with a number of cities and countries enacting stricter controls. Because shared mobility services are generally market-led, regulations have typically been protective. Differences between the public and private sector, the need for clearer goals for these services, and the difficulty in creating adequate regulations (or the lag between market-led deployment and reactive regulations in different levels of government) have made it more difficult to move towards a well-co-ordinated environment for shared mobility services. This has reduced the initial interest of many companies to deploy such services, and of governments to implement decisive policies.

- In Estonia, an amendment to the Traffic Act passed at the end of 2020 put e-scooters in a new category of "light mobility vehicles" and created a set of comprehensive regulations for scooter use.⁶⁵
- Between 2019 and 2020, European countries including Germany, Italy and North Macedonia enacted sidewalk bans, age restrictions and speed limits for e-scooter use.⁶⁶
- In March 2019, São Paulo, Brazil enacted a law limiting the use of e-scooters to only roads and bicycle lanes with a maximum

speed of 20 kilometres per hour.⁶⁷ Several other Latin American and Caribbean countries (Chile, Colombia, Mexico and Peru) implemented similar regulations in 2019.⁶⁸

- Singapore prohibited the use of e-scooters on all footpaths from November 2019. Since the policy discouraging the use of personal mobility devices on roads is still in place, e-scooters can be used only on cycling paths and park connector networks.⁶⁹
- In 2019, Los Angeles, USA began requiring operators of shared two-wheelers to submit real-time location data, using a shared mobility data specification programme that enables the city to track the location of each unit.⁷⁰
- E-scooters were regulated in 46 of 50 USA states as of the end of 2020, and were illegal to use on sidewalks in 11 USA states.⁷¹

New partnerships, tools and guidelines have emerged to increase co-ordination among public and private actors in planning and operating shared mobility services. A substantial redefinition of several aspects of shared mobility services (for example, partnerships, data collection, regulations) has demonstrated the need to expand these services to a larger share of the population in order to achieve significant and measurable positive impacts on emission reductions.

- The New Mobility Alliance (NUMO), launched in 2019, brings together cities, non-governmental organisations, companies, mobility service operators and community advocates from diverse sectors to operationalise the Shared Mobility Principles for Livable Cities to increase urban equity and accessibility.⁷²
- The World Economic Forum's Global Future Council on Mobility has created a set of guidelines to help strengthen partnerships among cities and mobility companies through greater collaboration on sharing trip data, managing public space and addressing community needs.⁷³

Africa has been prominent in a surge of tech-based improvements in analysis, information and operating platforms for formal and informal shared mobility services that provide access to transport for those with internet connectivity. Regional models and tools are being developed to facilitate better organisation of paratransit (sometimes called "informal transport") services in Africa. These tools hold promise for increasing information about services deployed and for improved user connectivity to existing transport networks (e.g., providing solutions for first- and last-mile trips to access public transport).

Between 2010 and 2019, 180 mobility-related start-ups were launched across Africa. Shared mobility accounted for 57% of these companies, including ride-hailing and ride-sharing services and app-based motorcycle services, such as SafeBoda.⁷⁴ Other initiatives address product innovation, commuter experience and data-driven decision making. Additional apps include GoMetro and WhereIsMyTransport (travel maps and planning), Little (to request services such as matatus and boda bodas) and Epesi (trip planning).⁷⁵

- SWVL, a start-up founded in Egypt, merges tech with Africa's established traditional mobility offering. It provides better demand forecasting, market accessibility and certainty to ride-hailing suppliers, while giving users planned rides, app-supported transactions and seat bookings in minibus taxis.⁷⁶
- Efforts have been undertaken in Nairobi, Kenya; Gaborone, Botswana; and Accra, Ghana to leverage GPS-enabled smartphones, open crowdsourced databases and other technologies to enhance paratransit operation.⁷⁷

Initiatives supporting shared mobility services

- The Shared Mobility Principles for Livable Cities, launched in 2017, include 10 principles to support the development of sustainable, inclusive, prosperous and resilient cities and are endorsed by countries, international organisations and mobility service providers.⁷⁸ This initiative constituted the starting point for the New Urban Mobility Alliance.
- The New Urban Mobility Alliance (NUMO) is a global alliance that "channels tech-based disruptions in urban transport to create joyful cities where sustainable and just mobility is the new normal".⁷⁹ As of late 2020, NUMO had more than 280 allies (cities, non-governmental organisations, companies, mobility service operators, and community advocates from diverse sectors) to leverage the significant mobility revolutions to address urban challenges such as equity, sustainability, accessibility and labour, among others.⁸⁰
- The Global New Mobility Coalition, curated by the World Economic Forum, is a diverse community of more 150 global experts, non-governmental organisations and companies. It aims to accelerate the shift to a Shared, Electric and Autonomous Mobility (SEAM) system that provides for healthier cities, reduces carbon emissions 95%, improves mobility efficiency 70%, and decreases commuting costs 40%, while tapping into a USD 600 billion business.⁸¹
- The Innovative Mobility Research Group at the Transportation Sustainability Research Center at the University of California, Berkeley explores innovative mobility technologies and services that could improve transport options while reducing their negative

societal and environmental impacts.⁸² The group publishes research on the environmental and social impacts of innovative and emerging mobility technologies, such as shared mobility.

- The Shared-Use Mobility Center is a public interest partnership working to foster collaboration around shared mobility and helping to connect the growing industry with public transport agencies, cities and communities across the USA.⁸³
- The Mobility as a Service (MaaS) Alliance is a partnership aiming to establish the common principles for mobility as a service by facilitating a single, open market and full deployment of these services. It brings together the public and private sectors as well as associations willing to centre mobility on users' needs.⁸⁴
- The Mobility on Demand Alliance, launched by the Intelligent Transportation Society of America, aims to shape the future of mobility by promoting the benefits of mobility-on-demand services and sharing ideas and opportunities around it.⁸⁵
- The New Mobility Services Initiative, part of the Sustainable Urban Mobility Action Cluster, intends to integrate and manage urban transport, develop collective systems for multi-modal mobility, and create an open and collaborative marketplace for new mobility services in Europe.⁸⁶



Key indicators

	2017*	2019*	% change
Policy Landscape Indicators			
Countries with shared mobility regulations (# of countries)	N/A	17	-
Market Development Indicators			
Car-sharing services (# of services in cities)	N/A	4,139	-
Bike-sharing systems (# of systems)	1,766	2,015	+14%
Car-sharing vehicles (# of vehicles)	157,357 (2016)	198,418 (2018)	+26%
Autonomous vehicle systems in trial (# of countries)	26	44	+69%

 (\star) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise.

Source: See endnote 87 for this section.



Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on shared mobility services



Several ride-hailing services lost ridership during pandemic lockdowns, leading to job losses in the sector, with ride-hailing company Ola cutting 35% of its workforce in India, and Uber cutting 23% of its global workforce. During the pandemic, the transport sector has faced the challenge of balancing user safety with the financial stability of services. The need for social distancing and the imposition of lockdowns in 2020 led to a surge in deliveries, which was made more dynamic through the use of mobile apps to improve the seamlessness between the customer and the delivery service. For Grab, the demand for its food delivery services overtook demand for its ridehailing services.

Demand for bike-sharing services increased sharply in a number of cities in 2020, while in other cities, demand for bike sharing struggled to reach 2019 levels due to lockdowns and service restrictions (see Figure 1). CitiBike in New York City, USA saw a 67% year-on-year increase in usage before the spring 2020 lockdowns went into effect, and, afterwards, usage quickly increased to levels similar to 2019. However, many shared mobility systems suffered. As of July 2020, some 137 operations had been relaunched after being previously suspended, 285 operations remained suspended, and 56 operations ceased to exist. In March 2021, New York City, USA lifted its ban on e-bikes and e-scooters in order to support food delivery.

In a 2021 survey on transport mode choices in the USA, the UK, France, Germany, Italy, Spain, Singapore and China, respondents said they aimed to maintain or increase their use of micromobility and ride-hailing services compared to pre-COVID-19 levels.

Lessons learned from the COVID-19 pandemic can be applied in order to preserve the improvements of app-based shared mobility services. Ongoing deployment of tactical urbanism measures ((local, short-term, low-cost activities that are city- and citizen-led) can also increase flexibility in shared mobility implementation, which can help to increase mobility options and enhance economic resilience.

Source: See endnote 3 for this section.



Figure 7. Changes in bike-sharing use during the COVID-19 pandemic, in selected cities

3.7 Fuel Economy



 \mathbf{Q}

Key findings

Demand trends

- Fuel economy improvements slowed in 2017 to an annual rate of just 0.2% in advanced economies and 2.3% in emerging economies, well below the target rate of 3.7% set by the Global Fuel Economy Initiative (GFEI).
- Average fuel economy in the European Union (EU) has worsened and is falling short of standards needed to meet the region's 2021 efficiency target, due in part to a 5-15% decline in the market share of diesel vehicles (which are more efficient) since 2014 and to a slow scale-up of electric vehicles.
- The market share of sport utility vehicles (SUVs) increased 15% between 2014 and 2019, offsetting the overall positive impacts of efficiency improvements in vehicles. SUVs were the second largest contributor to the increase in global carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions among all energy sectors.
- Rising vehicle sales in developing and emerging markets also affected the global fuel economy average, with sales in emerging markets increasing 2% over those in advanced markets between 2015 and 2017.
- The used vehicle market is a major share of vehicle sales in the Global South. Africa imported the largest number of used vehicles (40%) during 2015-2018, followed by Eastern Europe (24%), Asia-Pacific (15%), the Middle East (12%) and Latin America (9%).

Emission trends

- Improving the efficiency of passenger transport saved the equivalent of 2.5 exajoules of energy from 2015 to 2018; however, this resulted in only halving the increase in transport energy use. Other factors contributing to increases in transport energy use include: increased vehicle activity; a shift towards private vehicles in developing countries; older, larger and more polluting vehicle types; and low occupancy rates (such as large vehicles with spare capacity or vehicles returning empty) as well as the shift from diesel vehicles.
- Achieving a fuel economy of 4.4 litres of gasolineequivalent (lge) per 100 kilometres for new light-duty vehicles (compared to the current level of 7.2 lge in 2017) could save around 359 billion lge and avoid 844 million tonnes of CO₂ emissions from 2005 to 2030. This would result in a 16% reduction in business-asusual emissions by 2030.
- Adding a shift to electric vehicles alongside improvements in internal combustion engines could achieve further CO₂ emission reductions of 3 million to 5 million tonnes per year, depending on how electricity grids are decarbonised.

8 Policy measures

LOCAT

- As of 2020, 54 countries had established fuel economy policies, such as labelling schemes that help consumers compare vehicle choices and understand tax implications over the lifetime of the vehicle.
- By 2019, 89 developing countries across Asia, Africa, Latin America and Eastern Europe had made national and regional commitments to improve fuel economy.
- Complementary "Avoid" and "Shift" strategies must be adopted to achieve the additional 2-5 million tonnes of annual CO₂ emission reductions from road transport needed to meet Paris Agreement goals.
- A number of emerging economies and regions are setting roadmaps and targets to accelerate the transition to more efficient vehicles through fuel economy improvements.
- In 2019 and 2020, no new national fuel economy mandates were adopted for trucks and other heavy-duty vehicles. Canada, China, the EU (including the United Kingdom, UK), India, Japan and the United States (US) remain the only entities with fuel economy standards for heavy-duty vehicles.
- Fuel economy policy is increasingly being integrated into wider frameworks for promoting the transition to electric vehicles.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- In the wake of the pandemic, there has been pressure on regulators to ease future vehicle fuel economy and emission standards, which are critical to addressing the climate crisis and the health impacts of air pollution.
- Following the pandemic, many national and local trends point towards a short-term exodus from public transport and a shift to greater passenger car use, highlighting the need to maintain robust fuel economy standards.

Overview



The average fuel economy of passenger vehicles in 2017 was 7.2 litres of gasoline-equivalent (lge) per 100 kilometres.² Between 2018 and 2019, overall fuel consumption increased in Europe but declined in China, the Republic of Korea and the US.³ Improving the efficiency and fuel economy of all vehicles (particularly internal combustion engine vehicles) can result in a projected savings of 5 million tonnes of CO_{2eq} emissions annually by 2050, compared with current policies.⁴ Such actions continue to be vital for decarbonising transport.

To maximise emission reductions, a switch to vehicle technologies with zero tailpipe emissions is also needed. This could save another 5 million tonnes of CO_{2eq} emissions annually by 2050, especially if combined with bans on internal combustion engine vehicles by 2030.⁵ These steps will be especially important in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, when many national and local trends point towards a shift to greater passenger car use (see Box 1).⁶

The Global Fuel Economy Initiative (GFEI) is a partnership of six leading transport and energy organisations^{1,7} It serves as a global reference point on the improvement of fuel economy standards and has set a target to double the average fuel economy of light-duty vehicles by 2030, reducing CO_2 emissions 90% by 2050 (compared to 2005).⁸ Meeting this target requires a 3.7% annual improvement in fuel economy, which countries are not yet close to meeting, as they have only achieved a 1.5% annual improvement.⁹ The GFEI has also set reduction targets for two- and three- wheeled vehicles, heavy-duty vehicles and buses (see Figure 2).¹⁰

Demand trends

Fuel economy improvements slowed in 2017 to an annual rate of just 0.2% in advanced economies and 2.3% in emerging economies, well below the target rate of 3.7%.¹¹ This is in part because of rising vehicle sales in less-regulated markets, a trend towards larger vehicles, and fewer sales of (more efficient) diesel vehicles in Europe; meanwhile, growing sales of electric vehicles have yet to reach a significant share of the total market.

Overall, the average fuel economy of light-duty vehicles improved in all regions between 2005 and 2017, although absolute levels and trends differ widely among countries and regions (see Figure 1).¹² However, progress in improving fuel economy around the world is still well below the rate needed to achieve the GFEI target for 2030.¹³

Average fuel economy in the EU has worsened and is falling short of standards needed to meet the region's 2021 efficiency target, due in part to a 5-15% decline in the market share of diesel vehicles (which are more efficient) since 2014 and to a slow scaleup of electric vehicles.¹⁴

In recent years, sales of diesel vehicles have declined in the largest EU markets.¹⁶ The market share of diesel vehicles in Europe fell from 44% in 2017 to 31% in 2019 and 28% in 2020.¹⁶

The FIA Foundation, the International Council on Clean Transportation, the International Energy Agency, the International Transport Forum, the Institute of Transportation Studies at the University of California at Davis and the United Nations Environment Programme.



Figure 1. Light-duty vehicle fuel economy by country, 2005-2017

Average fuel consumption (Lge/100 km, WLTP)

12

10 8

4

2 0

Note: Fuel economy is measured in litres of gasoline-equivalent per 100 kilometres; LDV = light-duty vehicle; L = litre Source: See endnote 12 for this section.

Figure 2. Updated GFEI fuel economy targets (reductions from 2005 baseline)



- While electric vehicle sales in the EU have grown, they still had only a 3% market share as of 2019.¹⁷
- For new cars registered in the EU in 2019, average emissions were 30% higher than the emissions target set for 2021. New-car emissions in 2019 reached 122 grams of CO₂ per kilometre (New European Driving Cycle, NEDC) compared to the targeted 95 grams (NEDC) or 109 grams (Worldwide Harmonised Light Vehicle Test Procedure).¹⁸

The market share of SUVs increased 15% between 2014 and 2019, offsetting the overall positive impacts of efficiency improvements in vehicles.¹⁹ The largest increase has been in the small SUV segment (including many "crossover" vehicles), which consume more fuel on average than any other passenger car type.²⁰ As a consequence, SUVs were the second largest contributor to the increase in global CO₂ emissions among all energy sectors.²¹ Emissions from the world's SUV fleet increased by nearly 0.55 gigatonnes (Gt) of CO₂ between 2010 and 2019, to roughly 0.7 Gt of CO₂.²²

- North America and Australia have particularly high market shares of large vehicles.²³ In the USA, the market share of SUVs (both cars and trucks) reached 51% for model year 2019.²⁴
- The market share of SUVs in the EU increased from 25% in 2017 to 38% in 2019.²⁵

Rising vehicle sales in developing and emerging markets also affected the global fuel economy average, with sales in emerging markets increasing 2% over those in advanced markets between 2015 and 2017.²⁶ Developing countries have historically had less-efficient vehicles. Although emerging economies such as China and India have adopted fuel economy standards, in general developing countries remain well short of the 3.7% annual improvement needed to reach the GFEI's targeted average fuel economy of 4.4 lge per 100 kilometres for new vehicles by 2030.²⁷

The used vehicle market is a major share of vehicle sales in the Global South.²⁸ Africa imported the largest number of used vehicles (40%) during 2015-2018, followed by Eastern Europe (24%), Asia-Pacific (15%), the Middle East (12%) and Latin America (9%).²⁹

- As much as 70% of exported used light-duty vehicles head to developing countries.³⁰
- In Africa, 60% of annual registrations were of used vehicles in 2020.³¹

Differences in regulations, even among neighbouring countries, can greatly impact the average fuel consumption and CO_2 emissions of a country's vehicle fleet.

For example, the average fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions of vehicles in Rwanda are about a quarter higher than Kenya's.³²

Emission trends



 CO_2 emissions are directly correlated to vehicle efficiency (such as fuel economy or fuel consumption) and therefore are linked to the

overall market shares of different types of vehicles sold. The growing consumer preference for larger and less efficient vehicles (such as SUVs) is negatively impacting average fleet emissions.

Improving the efficiency of passenger transport saved the equivalent of 2.5 exajoules of energy from 2015 to 2018; however, this resulted in only halving the increase in transport energy use.³³ Other factors contributing to increases in transport energy use include: increased vehicle activity; a shift towards private vehicles in developing countries; older, larger and more polluting vehicle types; and low occupancy rates (such as large vehicles with spare capacity or vehicles returning empty) as well as the shift from diesel vehicles. Thus, improving efficiency alone is not enough to reduce overall energy use in transport.

- In the USA, emission regulations for light-duty passenger vehicles and trucks are projected to cut 6 billion metric tonnes of CO₂ emissions over the life of vehicles sold in model years 2012-2025, and allow manufacturers flexibility in meeting the standards.³⁴ For heavy-duty vehicles, current federal regulations are projected to reduce CO₂ emissions by around 270 million tonnes over the life of vehicles, saving around 530 million barrels of oil.³⁵
- In the EU, the increase in average CO₂ emissions for new passenger cars between 2017 and 2019 was affected by two main market trends: the continuing shift from diesel to petrol cars (the diesel car share decreased 5%), and the shift towards larger and heavier SUVs powered by petrol.³⁶ In 2019, as in 2017 and 2018, far more petrol cars (comprising nearly 63% of the new fleet) were sold than diesel cars (32%), and the shift also continued towards SUVs.³⁷
- Because diesel cars are generally more fuel-efficient than petrol cars of comparable size, and smaller cars are more fuel-efficient than larger ones, these market trends negatively affected the average CO₂ emissions of the fleet.³⁸ Despite the efficiency advantages of diesel vehicles, consideration of their wider public health impacts, such as nitrogen oxide and particulate matter emissions, also must be factored in.³⁹

Achieving a fuel economy of 4.4 litres of gasoline-equivalent (lge) per 100 kilometres for new light-duty vehicles (compared to the current level of 7.2 lge as of 2017) could save around 359 billion lge and avoid 844 million tonnes of CO₂ emissions from 2005 to 2030.⁴⁰ This would result in a 16% reduction in business-as-usual emissions by 2030.⁴¹ The GFEI has defined targets for reducing energy consumption and CO₂ emissions, based on current vehicle trends and in line with Paris Agreement targets (*see Figure 2*).⁴² Meeting these targets would require substantially decarbonising the electricity grid (to reduce emissions associated with electric vehicles), as well as increasing the use of Avoid and Shift measures, including more non-motorised transport trips.⁴³

Adding a shift to electric vehicles alongside improvements in internal combustion engines could achieve further CO_2 emission reductions of 3 million to 5 million tonnes per year, depending on how electricity grids are decarbonised.⁴⁴ Assuming aggressive
decarbonisation, improvements in electrification and fuel consumption for passenger vehicles could contribute around half of the annual reductions (more than 5 million tonnes) needed to meet the Paris Agreement's commitment to limit the global average temperature increase to "well below" 2 degrees Celsius; meanwhile, electrification of freight would contribute around 4 million tonnes, and electrification of buses and two- and three-wheelers would contribute less than 1 million tonnes each.⁴⁵

Policy measures

%

Fuel economy improvements help to lessen dependence on fossil fuels and, when linked to more stringent vehicle emission standards, can reduce emissions of short-lived climate pollutants such as black carbon while also improving air quality, helping to prevent premature deaths.⁴⁶ Motor vehicles contribute between 25% and 75% of urban air pollution worldwide, depending on the pollutant and the location.⁴⁷ Policy measures aimed at improving fuel economy can increase these health and economic benefits.

As of 2020, 54 countries had established fuel economy policies, such as labelling schemes that help consumers compare vehicle choices and understand tax implications over the lifetime of the vehicle (see Figure 3).⁴⁸

- Between 2018 and 2020, Argentina, Mauritius, Montenegro and Uruguay all introduced fuel economy labelling schemes.⁴⁹
- The Philippines plans to introduce new energy efficiency ratings for vehicles in 2021.⁵⁰
- Vietnam introduced a mandatory fuel economy label for motorbikes in 2020.⁵¹

By 2019, 89 developing countries across Asia, Africa, Latin America and Eastern Europe had made national and regional commitments to improve fuel economy.⁵² Most vehicles sold globally are now subject to some form of fuel economy policy, with a number of emerging economies and markets setting roadmaps and targets to accelerate the transition to more efficient vehicles. Multi-stakeholder collaboration is key to helping policy makers understand their existing fuel economy levels (including setting a baseline) and evaluate options for developing new policies. Recent efforts include the following:

- In 2018, Malaysia announced its own fuel economy test cycle (to measure the volume of emissions produced) consistent with the Worldwide Harmonised Light Vehicle Test Cycle Procedure and taking into account the environment.⁵³
- Namibia estimated the country's average fuel economy to be 6.7 litres per 100 kilometres in 2018, an improvement from 8.3 litres



Figure 3. Implementation of vehicle fuel economy labelling programmes in selected countries, 1978-2020

Figure 4. Projected emissions reductions through vehicle efficiency-related measures by 2050



Source: See endnote 58 for this section.

in 2005. Recommendations to further improve the country's fuel economy include fiscal measures and programmes targeted at citizens to support the transition.⁵⁴

- North Macedonia introduced CO₂-based vehicle taxation starting in 2020, incentivising people to choose fuel-efficient vehicles due to higher tax levels.⁵⁵
- In 2019, South Africa launched its first Green Transport strategy, which includes a commitment to promote fuel economy norms and standards as well as regulations that encourage improved efficiency in fossil fuel-powered vehicles.⁵⁶
- In 2018, Zambia proposed a review of its carbon tax system for vehicles to include fuel economy as a consideration in order to promote a more efficient fleet.⁵⁷

Complementary "Avoid" and "Shift" strategies must be adopted to achieve the additional 2-5 million tonnes of annual CO₂ emission reductions from road transport needed to meet Paris Agreement goals. Despite significant CO₂ savings projected from fuel economy improvements by 2050, emissions would remain 57% above 2005 levels and nearly five times higher than Paris Agreement targets (see Figure 4).⁵⁸ Thus, in addition to increasing the efficiency of light-duty and heavy-duty vehicles, complementary measures to reduce unnecessary journeys and to spur a shift to more efficient modes of transport (such as public transport, cycling and walking) are urgently needed. A number of emerging economies and regions are setting roadmaps and targets to accelerate the transition to more efficient vehicles through fuel economy improvements. Southeast Asia and West Africa launched new regional roadmaps that aim to accelerate progress and co-ordinate measures among countries.⁵⁹

- The Fuel Economy Roadmap of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) aims to reduce the average fuel consumption of new light-duty vehicles 26% between 2015 and 2025.⁶⁰
- In 2019, Malaysia was considering lowering fuel consumption to 5.3 litres per 100 kilometres by 2025 under the National Automotive Policy 2020 and in line with the ASEAN Fuel Economy Roadmap.⁶¹
- West Africa's first ever Fuel Economy Roadmap, adopted in 2020, aims to improve fuel economy 34% by 2025 (compared to 2015 levels), setting an average fuel economy target of 5 litres per 100 kilometres by 2025 for member countries of the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS).⁶²
- In 2019, China published its fuel economy targets for 2025, which propose reducing the average fuel consumption of new passenger cars to 4 litres per 100 kilometres (NEDC).⁶³
- In 2017, India set fuel economy standards for 2022, although estimates suggest that by 2018, the vehicle fleet was already only 8.7% away from achieving these levels.⁶⁴



Figure 5. CO₂ emissions and fuel consumption of passenger cars in selected countries, 2000-2018 and future targets

Source. See chanole 05 for this section.

Passenger CO₂ emissions and fuel consumption standards in Canada, China, the EU, India, Japan, the Republic of Korea, Mexico, Saudi Arabia and the USA directly or indirectly influence the efficiency of vehicles sold in other markets, as many vehicles produced in these countries are exported (*see Figure 5*).⁶⁵

- Japan's new fuel economy standards, adopted in 2019, equate to a 32.4% improvement from 2016 levels by 2030.⁶⁶ The standards require an average gasoline-equivalent fuel economy of 25.4 kilometres per litre by 2030, second only to the EU's target in absolute fuel economy and emissions.⁶⁷
- In 2020, the USA weakened and rolled back existing plans for fuel economy improvements, reducing the country's annual efficiency improvements from 5% to 1.5% and projecting no increase in the electric vehicle share by 2026.⁶⁸ The fuel economy standards are to be reviewed in 2021.⁶⁹
- Canada, which previously aligned to the USA standards, has decided to maintain its existing targets, as this has proven to have wider economic and environmental benefits.⁷⁰
- In its Climate Change Mid-Century Strategy, adopted in 2016, Mexico includes steps to increase the energy efficiency of public and private passenger and freight transport by establishing official standards and logistic and technological improvement programmes, including multi-modality and lowemission vehicles.⁷¹

In 2019 and 2020, no new national fuel economy mandates were adopted for trucks and other heavy-duty vehicles. Canada, China, the EU (including the UK), India, Japan and the USA remain the only entities with fuel economy standards for heavy-duty vehicles.⁷² Fuel economy policies focusing on heavy-duty vehicles such as trucks are highly cost-effective because trucks travel much longer distances on average.⁷³

- Phase III standards in China, the world's largest heavy-duty vehicle market, took effect in July 2019, helping to raise the efficiency of new buses and trucks sold in the country.⁷⁴
- The EU adopted its first-ever CO₂ emission standards for heavyduty vehicles in 2019, setting targets for 2025 and 2030 aimed at reducing the average emissions from new trucks.⁷⁵
- In 2018, India put in place new fuel economy standards for heavy-duty vehicles.⁷⁶
- In March 2019, Japan updated its fuel efficiency standards for trucks and buses, mandating improvements of 13.4% for trucks and 14.3% for buses by 2025 (compared with 2015).⁷⁷
- Brazil, Mexico and the Republic of Korea are in various stages of developing policies to improve the efficiency of their heavyduty vehicle fleets.⁷⁸
- As of 2019, 39 countries had implemented soot-free standards for new heavy-duty vehicles (such as Euro VI or equivalent), and 5 more (Brazil, China, Colombia, India and Mexico) were preparing such policies.⁷⁹

Fuel economy policy is increasingly being integrated into wider frameworks for promoting the transition to electric vehicles. This is being done through zero-emission vehicle (ZEV) mandates and through standardised accounting of average CO₂ emissions (such as NEDC).⁸⁰ Some regulations also include additional "credits" for electric vehicles to incentivise a rapid transition to electrified fleets, although such measures can risk weakening overall efficiency improvements by allowing car manufacturers to continue to produce conventional vehicles.

- China introduced a form of mandate for zero-emission vehicles for 2019 and 2020, requiring a minimum production level for "new energy vehicles".⁸¹
- The EU's planned fuel economy targets are the equivalent of reducing emissions from new cars and vans in the region 15% by 2025 and 37.5% by 2030 (31% for vans), compared to 2021 levels; they are expected to significantly boost the market for hybrid and electric vehicles.⁸²



Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on fuel economy

In the wake of the pandemic, there has been pressure on regulators to ease future vehicle fuel economy and emission standards, which are critical to addressing the climate crisis and the health impacts of air pollution. Some European countries are offering financial support to auto manufacturers, but to ensure overall emission reductions, these and other economic recovery policies for the transport sector must be linked to rapidly accelerating the transition to electric and efficient vehicles.

Following the pandemic, many national and local trends point towards a short-term exodus from public transport and a shift to greater passenger car use, highlighting the need to maintain robust fuel economy standards. In addition to policies focused on new vehicles, some governments have considered measures to increase fleet turnover and to remove older vehicles from the roads through "scrappage" schemes. The aim is often to boost demand for vehicles in the wake of post-pandemic economic shocks; however, research indicates that a vehicle replacement programme would achieve the largest environmental benefit if it was limited to sales of new battery electric vehicles.

This also highlights the need to greatly improve the energy efficiency of personal and commercial fleets in the context of broader sustainable transport planning, using a balanced *Avoid-Shift-Improve* framework.

Source: See endnote 6 for this section.

Initiatives supporting fuel economy and related areas

- Below50 is a global collaboration that brings together the entire value chain for sustainable fuels, or fuels that produce at least 50% fewer CO₂ emissions than conventional fossil fuels. The initiative aims to create a critical mass of players (developers, users and investors) to grow the global market for the world's most sustainable fuels.⁸³
- The Climate and Clean Air Coalition's Heavy-Duty Diesel Vehicles and Engines Initiative works to catalyse major reductions in black carbon through the adoption of clean fuel and vehicle regulations and supporting policies, with a focus on diesel engines in all economic sectors.⁸⁴
- The Global Fuel Economy Initiative assists governments and transport stakeholders in improving vehicle fuel economy and reducing CO₂ emissions, and aims to double the average fuel economy of new light-duty vehicles globally by 2030,

and all vehicles by 2050.⁸⁵ The initiative works to secure real improvements in fuel economy and the maximum deployment of vehicle efficiency technologies across the full range of vehicle sizes and technologies, including hybrid and fully electric vehicles.⁸⁶

- The Global Strategy for Cleaner Fuels and Vehicles aims to virtually eliminate fine particle and black carbon emissions from new and existing heavy-duty diesel vehicles and engines through the introduction of low-sulphur fuels, as well as vehicle emission standards by 2030.⁸⁷
- The Partnership for Clean Fuels and Vehicles is a global publicprivate partnership working with developing and transitional countries to reduce air pollution from vehicles through the promotion of cleaner fuels and vehicles.⁸⁸

Key indicators

	2017*	2019*	% change
Policy Landscape Indicators			
GFEI fuel economy benchmarking (# of countries)	38	66	+73%
Fuel economy labelling schemes for light-duty vehicles (# of countries)	50	54	+8%
Fuel economy standards for light-duty vehicles (# of countries)	37	37	0%
Fuel economy standards for heavy-duty vehicles (# of countries)	33	33	0%
Green freight schemes (# of countries)	20	26	+30%
Market Development Indicators			
Average fuel economy of light-duty vehicles (litres of gasoline-equivalent per 100 kilometres)	7.4 (2015)	7.2 (2017)	+3%

ÈOÌ

(*) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise.

Source: See endnote 89 for this section.

In Practice: Additional Policy Measures

Policies

- In 2018, the Bangladesh Road Transport Authority expressed the intention to develop appropriate policies and instruments to improve the average fuel economy of the national light-duty vehicle fleet in favour of EURO VI by 2025.⁹⁰
- In 2020, France lowered the CO₂ emission threshold over which new cars are subjected to a penalty to 110 grams per kilometre, 7 grams lower than the 2019 threshold.⁹¹
- Ghana disseminated draft motor vehicle emission standards and regulations in 2018.⁹²
- Turkey enacted new laws in 2019 to improve energy efficiency in the transport sector.⁹³
- In 2019, the USA state of **California** signed an agreement with four major automakers to ensure that new vehicles would have an average fuel consumption of 15 kilometres per litre (36 miles per gallon) in real-world driving by 2026.⁹⁴

Fuel economy trends

The average fuel economy in Bangladesh improved from 8.98 litres per 100 kilometres in 2005 to 6.9 litres in 2017, a 23% improvement.⁹⁵

Costa Rica is in the process of transitioning its vehicle emission standards to Euro 6 in 2022, from Euro 3 in 2017 and Euro 4 in 2018.⁹⁶

Fuel quality

As of 2020, 63 countries had standards for ultra-lowsulphur diesel (less than 15 parts per million of sulphur), and 6 more (Argentina, Colombia, India, Saudi Arabia, Thailand and Vietnam) aim to transition to such standards by 2023.⁹⁷

3.8 Electric Mobility



Demand trends

- The global stock of electric passenger cars (battery and plug-in electric hybrids) grew 40% in 2020 to more than 10 million vehicles (up from more than 7.2 million in 2019); this represented 1% of the 2020 total vehicle stock.
- More than 600,000 electric buses were in operation in 2020. As of 2019, 18% of the world's buses were powered through electric sources, including battery electric (6.3%), hybrid-electric (7.9%) and direct overhead wires and similar (3%).
- The global stock of electric two- and three-wheelers (excluding electric-assisted bikes) totalled 290 million in 2020. Around one-quarter of all motorised twowheelers worldwide were electric that year.
- Electric-assisted bicycles (e-bikes) are by far the most popular electrified road transport mode in Europe and North America; e-bike sales in Europe surpassed 4.8 million units in 2020, three times the number of electric passenger cars sold in the European Union (EU) that year.
- Between 2010 and 2020, the average price of electric vehicle batteries dropped 88%, from around USD 1,200 per kilowatt-hour (kWh) to USD 137 per kWh, increasing the potential for more widespread uptake of electric vehicles.
- By the end of 2020, more than 170,000 electric vehicles (three-wheelers, light trucks and company

cars) were deployed through company fleets. Around 31,000 electric trucks were operating worldwide by year's end, but they represented less than 1% of total truck sales.

Q

 Public and private charging infrastructure for electric vehicles has scaled up rapidly in some countries, although charging point distribution and the ratio of electric vehicles to charging points vary widely.

Emission trends

- Electric vehicles contribute at least 22% fewer carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions than internal combustion engines, even when the electricity used for charging is generated from fossil fuel sources. While electric vehicles are more energy efficient than conventional vehicles overall, they offer even greater potential for emission reductions if they are based on clean renewable energy.
- Life-cycle emissions and the impact of electric vehicle batteries must be considered when comparing the environmental footprints of electric versus conventional vehicles. Major concerns include the extraction of raw materials and the recycling of batteries. Policies to extend the useful life of electric vehicle batteries can help governments and manufacturers offset the production costs, impacts and emissions.

8 Policy measures

- Countries have adopted ambitious time-bound targets to increase the share of electric vehicles in their overall fleets. By the end of 2020, 19 countries or sub-national jurisdictions had set targets to phase out diesel and petrol passenger vehicles.
- In 2020, the first-of-its-kind Zero Emission Vehicle Transition Council was established, comprising ministers and representatives from the world's largest and most progressive car markets.
- In response to phase-out targets by countries, major automobile companies are halting the development of internal combustion engines and accelerating their electric vehicle ambitions towards the 2030/2035 time frame.
- Leapfrogging to electric mobility in Africa, Asia and Latin America can bring significant benefits to local environments and economies.
- Utilities are taking on a greater role in the mobility ecosystem, thereby merging the value chains for electricity generation and electric vehicle charging.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Despite temporary shutdowns of auto factories and disruptions in global supply chains due to the pandemic, more than 3 million electric cars were sold worldwide in 2020, surpassing projections of 2.4 million.
- Electric vehicle sales jumped to 4.6% of global vehicles sold in 2020.
- A number of governments have increased electric vehicle investments as part of their COVID-19 recovery packages.

Overview

Between 2019 and 2020, the global landscape of electric mobility shifted from "commitment-centric" to "implementation-minded." Many public and private players have set specific targets for electrifying their fleets and banning diesel and petrol vehicles in countries or cities by a certain year. Interest has also risen in electric two- and three-wheelers. Logistics businesses have increased investments in electric fleets, and electric freight vehicles (such as trucks and electric cargo bikes) are being deployed in Europe, North America and Asia.

Large-scale progress in electric mobility has been concentrated in China and Europe. However, these experiences have pointed to the need to identify partnerships, policies and new business models for implementing projects (such as creating broad charging infrastructure networks) and operating them viably and equitably. Key to sustainable electric mobility is maximising the intermodality among sustainable, low carbon transport modes (both passenger and freight). Governments, industry, civil society and citizens need to create an enabling environment for sustainable mobility. In developing countries, electrifying all transport modes, starting with motorcycles, public transport, and rail, can avoid fossil fuel dependency and the high costs associated with air pollution and private car ownership.

The COVID-19 pandemic accelerated the uptake of electric vehicles through increased purchase subsidies, which were included in economic stimulus packages (*see Box*).¹ Sales of electric passenger cars grew strongly in major markets in 2020, and in **North America** and **Europe** many commuters shifted to electric-assisted bicycles, leading to three-digit growth in e-bike sales.²

Demand trends

The global stock of electric passenger cars (battery and plugin electric hybrids) grew 40% in 2020 to more than 10 million vehicles (up from more than 7.2 million in 2019); this represented 1% of the 2020 total vehicle stock (*see Figure 1*).³ China, Europe and the United States of America (USA) remained the leaders in electric passenger car sales, followed by the Republic of Korea, Australia and Canada.⁴

- The highest sales of passenger electric vehicles in 2020 were recorded in China, led by Shanghai followed by Beijing, Shenzhen, Hangzhou, Tianjin and Guangzhou.⁵
- In Norway, electric cars (battery and plug-in hybrids) accounted for more than 60% of new vehicle sales in 2019 and 69% of sales in the first six months of 2020.⁶ Since January 2018, monthly sales of electric passenger cars have outnumbered any other drivetrain in Norway on average (see Figure 2).⁷

More than 600,000 electric buses were in operation in 2020.⁸ As of 2019, 18% of the world's buses were powered through electric sources, including battery electric (6.3%), hybrid-electric (7.9%) and direct overhead wires and similar (*see Figure 3*).⁹ Over 75,000 new electric buses were introduced each year in 2019 and 2020 (down 20% from 2018, when 93,000 units were sold).¹⁰ China was home to more than 90% of the world's electric buses in 2020, followed by North America and Europe, whereas the buses are largely underrepresented in Africa.¹¹

Electric buses can greatly improve the service quality of bus transport, bringing cleaner technology and resulting in less noise and more comfort, while improving air quality and having positive overall health benefits for citizens.¹² The advantages of electric buses have the potential to attract more people and to strengthen the use of sustainable transport modes.

In the EU, around 12% of newly registered buses in 2019 - or more than 1,600 units - were electric; this is more than the region's total electric bus fleet from 2012 to 2018 and a threefold increase compared to 2018.¹³





Figure 1. Electric passenger car stock (battery and plug-in electric hybrids), by region, 2010-2020

Source: See endnote 3 for this section.





Other Gasoline Gasoline HEV Gasoline PHEV Diesel Diesel HEV Diesel PHEV Electric

Source: See endnote 7 for this section.

80

Figure 3. Shares of bus propulsion systems globally, by type, 2019



Source: See endnote 9 for this section.

- As of March 2021, cities in Latin America had a total electric bus fleet of close to 3,000 buses.¹⁴ Santiago, Chile and Bogotá, Colombia each had 400 electric buses, while Brazil and Mexico added around 250 electric buses each in 2019 and 2020.¹⁵
- The electrification of school buses has great potential in North America. The USA has a fleet of 480,000 school buses (representing 80% of all buses in the country) and the target is to electrify them by 2030.¹⁶ Canada has committed to electrifying 5,000 buses between 2021 and 2025.¹⁷
- in December 2019, Uganda introduced its first electric buses, two units that were locally produced.¹⁸

The global stock of electric two- and three-wheelers (excluding electric-assisted bicycles) totalled 290 million in 2020.¹⁹ Around one-quarter of all motorised two-wheelers worldwide were electric that year.²⁰ The majority of two-wheelers are in China, which is also one of the largest manufacturers of electric two-wheelers.²¹ A rise in shared electric two-wheelers, particularly in South Asia, is attributed to their low operating costs and to long daily driving distances that are routine for last-mile connectivity and logistics businesses.²²

India has seen market-driven growth in electric three-wheelers, which are used for last-mile connectivity.²³ As of 2020, eight state governments in the country were offering rebates for threewheelers as well as expedited permitting to vehicle owners who switch to electric three-wheelers powered by advanced batteries (lithium-ion over lithium-acid).²⁴

- In its second Nationally Determined Contribution towards reducing emissions under the Paris Agreement, Nepal set a target for electric vehicle sales (passenger cars and twowheelers) to represent 90% of all passenger vehicle sales (including two-wheelers) by 2030.²⁵
- With support from the Department of Energy, 900 e-trikes started operation in Metro Manila in the Philippines as part of a larger national programme to support the introduction of 3,000 e-trikes.²⁶

Electric-assisted bicycles (e-bikes) are by far the most popular electrified road transport mode in Europe and North America; e-bike sales in Europe surpassed 4.8 million units in 2020, three times the number of electric passenger cars sold in the EU that year.²⁷ If the trend continues, e-bike sales in Europe could reach 10 million units by 2024.²⁸ E-bikes can substitute car trips and serve as an important link to public transport. In the context of transport emissions, it is important to analyse where the shift to e-bikes comes from (see Section 3.3 on Walking and Cycling).

- E-bikes have entered the market in Latin America and the Caribbean mainly through bike-sharing services, as illustrated by examples from Colombia and Ecuador between 2015 and 2018.²⁹
- In the USA, e-bike sales grew 145% between 2019 and 2020 as models became more affordable.³⁰ Bike-sharing services offering e-bikes are more popular and more widely used than services with regular shared bicycles.³¹

Between 2010 and 2020, the average price of electric vehicle batteries dropped 88%, from around USD 1,200 per kWh to USD 137 per kWh, increasing the potential for more widespread uptake of electric vehicles (see *Figure 4*).³² Batteries represent 30-40% of the capital cost of an electric vehicle and play a key role in increasing the potential for more widespread uptake of affordable models.³³ Battery prices are projected to fall below USD 100 per kWh by 2024 as cumulative demand grows.³⁴ At this price point, electric vehicles could reach price parity with internal combustion engine vehicles, depending on the region and vehicle segment.³⁵

Systems for swapping out electric vehicle batteries are seen as a solution to reduce costs and increase operational efficiency, due to faster recharging times. Battery swapping systems are increasingly relevant in markets with large shares of electric two-wheelers, such as India and Chinese Taipei.³⁶

By the end of 2020, more than 170,000 electric vehicles (threewheelers, light trucks and company cars) were deployed through company fleets.³⁷ Around 31,000 electric trucks were operating worldwide by year's end, but they represented less than 1% of total truck sales.³⁸ Freight and logistics companies, among other corporate fleets, are adopting electric vehicles for last-mile deliveries to increase performance and reduce operating costs. Urban deliveries have grown rapidly in past years and then skyrocketed during the COVID-19 pandemic. For long-distance





Source: See endnote 32 for this section.

road freight, the electrification of trucks requires both high-capacity batteries and high-power charging infrastructure (to minimise the charging time).³⁹

- Amazon is slated to begin using 10,000 electric delivery vehicles (three- and four-wheeler) in India from 2021 onwards.⁴⁰
 The company invested in Rivian, an electric truck start-up that will deliver 100,000 electric trucks to Amazon by 2030.⁴¹
- In 2018, IKEA began goods delivery using solar-powered autorickshaws in India.⁴² The company completed a transition to electric vehicle fleets in Shanghai in 2019 and will next target New York, Los Angeles, Paris and Amsterdam.⁴³ IKEA aims for all customer deliveries from stores worldwide to occur via electric vehicle by 2025.⁴⁴
- The UK's Royal Mail trialled e-trikes in cities for a six-month period in 2019.⁴⁵
- In 2020, UPS ordered more than 10,000 electric freight vehicles, which are being rolled out in the company's European and North American fleets to 2024.⁴⁶

Public and private charging infrastructure for electric vehicles has scaled up rapidly in some countries, although charging point distribution and the ratio of electric vehicles to charging points vary widely. Creating a network of electric vehicle charging points (public or private) in a city is a capital-intensive and collaborative process. It requires adequate financing, land-use planning and real estate acquisition, local permitting, grid connection (and related pricing), equipment installation, and the implementation of safety and wayfinding measures for consumers, among other steps.⁴⁷ The ratio of electric vehicles to charging points is 3:1 in China, 25:1 in California, USA and 30:1 in Norway.⁴⁸

- In China, more than 1.2 million charging points had been installed by the end of 2019.⁴⁹ The country has allocated USD 638 million for construction related to charging infrastructure, and many regions have amended their building codes to help create electric vehicle-ready buildings.⁵⁰
- Among the 144,000 charging points in the EU by 2019, more than 26% were in the Netherlands (37,037), 19% in Germany (27,459), 17% in France (24,850) and 13% in the UK (19,076).⁵¹
- Policy tools for growing the charging infrastructure network in Europe include tax benefits and subsidies for individuals, housing co-operatives and businesses to install charging equipment.⁵²
- In 2019, the first public electric vehicle charging stations in Qatar were installed, with 216 solar panels enabling the charging of 24 cars.⁵³
- In the USA, the government-funded charging network programme ChargePoint collaborates with industry players to help expand the EV charging network in US cities.⁵⁴

Emission trends

Electric vehicles contribute at least 22% fewer CO_2 emissions than internal combustion engines, even when the electricity used for charging is generated from fossil fuel sources.⁵⁵ While electric vehicles are more energy efficient than conventional vehicles overall, they offer even greater potential for emission reductions if they are based on clean renewable energy. In general, the energy loss associated with electric vehicles is lower than for vehicles with internal combustion engines.⁵⁶ Even in a carbon-intensive scenario (e.g., a battery produced in China and charged through a coal-heavy power grid, such as in Poland), electric vehicles emit 22% fewer lifecycle CO_2 emissions than diesel cars and 28% fewer emissions than petrol cars.⁵⁷

- The electric bus fleet in Latin America saves an estimated 129,070 tonnes of CO₂ per year, while accounting for only 1.3% of public buses in the region.⁵⁸
- The trial introduction of 60 electric buses in Singapore reduced CO₂ emissions by an estimated 7,840 tonnes annually, equivalent to the amount produced by 1,700 passenger cars.⁵⁹
- In Vietnam, the electrification of motorcycles has the second highest potential for reducing CO₂ emissions from transport (after new fuel economy standards).⁶⁰

Life-cycle emissions and the impact of electric vehicle batteries must be considered when comparing the environmental footprints of electric versus conventional vehicles.⁶¹ Major concerns include the extraction of raw materials and the recycling of batteries. Policies to extend the useful life of EV batteries can help governments and manufacturers offset the production costs, impacts and emissions.⁶² Electric vehicles are made from many different materials, including rare earth metals that are located in a small number of countries and are extracted via processes that lack environmental protection measures and reflect poor working conditions.⁶³ Automakers have formed partnerships with battery cell makers as well as state-owned mines to secure raw materials, including cobalt, lithium and graphite.

- Some regions have enacted policies supporting the reuse of electric vehicle batteries (for example, as stationary energy storage systems on telecommunication towers in China) as well as battery recycling (to recover scarce minerals, as through directives in Europe and Japan), in addition to safe disposal.⁶⁴
- In 2020, a large-scale EU-funded research initiative released a roadmap for forward-looking battery research and approaches to identify safe, sustainable and affordable battery technologies.⁶⁵
- Mining companies are investing in battery cell products, in a form of "vertical integration" (from extraction to manufacturing).
 One Australian company is following "cyclical integration", from extraction to manufacturing to recycling of cells.⁶⁶

Policy measures

Countries have adopted ambitious time-bound targets to increase the share of electric vehicles in their overall fleets. By the end of 2020, 19 countries or sub-national jurisdictions had set targets to phase out diesel and petrol passenger vehicles (*see Figure 5*).⁶⁷ However, there is a strong need to consider how electric mobility projects around the world are (or are not) integrating wider socioeconomic and environmental equity considerations into these formal targets.

- In 2019, several countries announced that they would phase out sales of diesel and petrol cars, including Sweden by 2030, Canada and France by 2040 and Cabo Verde by 2050.⁶⁸ In 2020, the UK moved forward its phase-out target to 2035, while Spain announced a phase-out target for 2040.⁶⁹
- Many sub-national entities have made commitments to ban fossil fuel vehicles. For example, Amsterdam, the Netherlands; Brussels, Belgium; and San Francisco, California, US aim to allow only zero-emission vehicles within their city centres by 2030.⁷⁰
- British Columbia, Canada, under its CleanBC initiative, has funded a province-wide training programme with the British Columbia Institute of Technology to prepare an electric vehicle maintenance workforce.⁷¹ The province also aims for 100% of light-duty vehicle sales to be electric from 2040.⁷²

(See the end of this section for an overview of electric mobility targets set by countries.)

In 2020, the first-of-its-kind Zero Emission Vehicle Transition Council was established, comprising ministers and representatives from the world's largest and most progressive car markets.⁷³ Hosted by the UK presidency of the 2021 United Nations Climate Conference (COP26), the council includes representatives from California, Canada, Denmark, the EU, France, India, Italy, Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, Norway, the Republic of Korea, Spain, Sweden and the UK.⁷⁴ It aims to co-ordinate efforts to overcome strategic, political and technical barriers to zero-emission vehicles, while accelerating their production.⁷⁵

In response to phase-out targets by countries, major automobile companies are halting the development of internal combustion engines and accelerating their electric vehicle ambitions towards the 2030/2035 time frame. Automakers have started to revise their electric vehicle production and to shift research and investments from combustion engines to electric drivetrains. However, current plans still leave a gap between the electric vehicle demand required to support national targets for electric mobility by 2030 and the potential supply (see Section 2.3 on Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector).



Figure 5. Countries, regions and cities with commitments to phase out fossil fuel vehicles, by target year



Year of Sales Ban/Complete Ban

- BMW announced a target to double its electric car sales starting from 2021.⁷⁶
- GM set a goal in 2021 to sell only zero-emission vehicles after 2035.⁷⁷
- At the end of 2020, Hyundai announced that it was suspending the development of diesel engines.⁷⁸
- Since 2019, Volkswagen has offered its modular electric drive technology platform to other auto manufacturers, enabling global efforts to scale up the production of electric passenger cars.⁷⁹
- In 2019, Volvo was the first European car company to divert from internal combustion engines, and in 2021 the company expressed its plan to produce only electric vehicles by 2030.⁸⁰

Leapfrogging to electric mobility in Africa, Asia and Latin America can bring significant benefits to local environments and economies. Discussions and implementation strategies around electric vehicles do not fully incorporate the needs and perspectives of developing countries. Progress on e-mobility in low-and middleincome countries is being advanced through initiatives such as the Urban Electric Mobility Initiative (see below), but there is more room to guide and support the mobility and energy transitions.

More than 3 million people in East Africa earn money as motorcycle taxi drivers.⁸¹ Start-ups, such as Ecobodaa in Kenya, began rolling out electric motorcycles in 2020 through a "rentto-own" model that helps taxi drivers improve their health and save money on fuel and maintenance.⁸²



- Rwanda announced a plan in 2019 to replace all fossil fuel-powered motorcycles with electric two-wheelers in the coming years.⁸³
- In 2019, a local vehicle manufacturer in Vietnam committed to selling 250,000 electric motorcycles a year.⁸⁴
- The Urban Electric Mobility Initiative has produced electric vehicle-readiness assessments for cities across Africa, Asia and Latin America, including Accra, Belo Horizonte, Cape Town, Kathmandu, Quito and Thimpu.⁸⁵

Utilities are taking on a greater role in the mobility ecosystem, thereby merging the value chains for electricity generation and electric vehicle charging.⁸⁶ Utilities are increasingly partnering with municipalities to plan battery charging and swapping networks, and with automakers to design vehicles that can be integrated with electricity grids for bi-directional flow of electricity and the feed-in of renewable energy. Electric vehicles can be seen as decentralised units in the energy system to store surplus electricity during periods of peak supply and release it during periods of peak demand.⁸⁷

- The energy service company Enel X installed 80 charge points in Chile in 2019 and has worked closely with Santiago and Bogotá on their transitions to electric buses.⁸⁸
- In India, three state-owned oil companies, accounting for 90% of the fuel retail market, have invested in electric vehicle battery charging and swapping infrastructure, in partnership with ride-hailing and metro rail companies whose parking lots will house battery swapping stations for three-wheelers.⁸⁹
- Stockholm, Sweden, in its Charging Master Plan, aims to build 4,000 public charge points by 2022 and has worked with the grid operator Ellevio, the municipal planning department and local businesses to map priority areas for investment.⁹⁰
- Utilities benefit from putting to use surplus power, and some have opened vehicle manufacturing subsidiaries; for example, Thailand's second largest electric utility, Energy Absolute, created its Mine Mobility subsidiary to manufacture electric vehicles.⁹¹
- In some cases, utilities invest in electric vehicle chargers and stations, while in other cases private companies act as intermediaries (as with ChargePoint, EVgo and Electrify America in the USA).⁹² Other companies, such as EVBox, provide both smart charging and related software.
- Vancouver, Canada has set a target to power its municipal transport fleet with 100% renewable energy by 2050.⁹³

To accommodate the uptake of electric vehicles, the capacity of the grid must be increased. Ways to smooth electricity demand curves and increase alignment between the transport and energy sectors include smart charging, providing additional power through renewable energy, incentives for off-peak charging and vehicle-togrid systems.

- In 2020, Shanghai, China completed its first pilot project using electric vehicles as a flexible energy source in the power grid.⁹⁴
- As electric vehicle sales in Stockholm, Sweden increased, the city's power grid was unable to meet electricity demand during peak times in 2020 with other appliances also in heavy use.⁹⁵



Initiatives supporting e-mobility

- Action towards Climate-friendly Transport (ACT) is the largest global coalition aiming to catalyse transport as an enabler of sustainable development in line with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Paris Agreement. The coalition connects innovative approaches with integrated, longterm planning, speeding up deployment of electric vehicles, creating a mass market for zero-emission freight vehicles and fostering global dialogue with and among the private sector.⁹⁶
- The EV30@30 campaign, launched at the Eighth Clean Energy Ministerial in 2017, set the collective aspirational goal of a 30% market share for electric vehicles among all passenger cars, light commercial vehicles, buses and trucks by 2030.⁹⁷
- EV100, part of the Marrakech Partnership for Global Climate Action, is a transport initiative that aims to accelerate the transition to electric mobility by leveraging the role of corporate demand in driving electric vehicles uptake and the roll-out of charging infrastructure. The initiative was launched in 2017 with 10 member companies from various sectors in Europe and China.⁹⁸
- The International Zero-Emission Vehicle Alliance (ZEV Alliance) is a collaboration of governments acting together to accelerate the adoption of zero-emission vehicles (electric, plug-in hybrid and fuel cell). The governments have committed to making all passenger vehicle sales in their jurisdictions ZEVs by no later than 2050 and to collaborating on policies and actions to achieve ZEV targets.⁹⁹
- The Taxi4SmartCities coalition connects worldwide taxi companies that are committed to transitioning their vehicle fleets to low-emission vehicles by 2020 and 2030. More generally, the coalition defends a progressive and modern version of the taxi as a key actor in the Smart City.¹⁰⁰
- The Urban Electric Mobility Initiative (UEMI) aims to boost the share of electric vehicles in individual mobility (two- and three-wheelers and light-duty vehicles) and to integrate electric mobility into a wider concept of sustainable urban transport that achieves a 30% reduction in urban greenhouse gas emissions by 2030.¹⁰¹

	2018*	2020*	% change
Policy Landscape Indicators			
Electric vehicle targets	61 (2017)	63	+3%
Internal combustion engine vehicle phase-out targets	7 (2017)	19	+171%
Electric vehicle incentives (subsidies, enabling legislation)	67 (2017)	73	+9%
Market development Indicators			
Electric vehicle market share (% of sold vehicles by year)	2.5%	4.6%	+84%
Electric vehicle stock (plug-in hybrids and battery passenger cars)	5,106,341	10,228,265	+100%
Public charging points (public and fast chargers)	(550,602	1,307,894	+98%
Public fast-charging points (charging power more than 22 kW)	145,461	263,802	+165%
Public slow-charging points (charging power below 22 kW)	405,140	922,215	+128%

Key indicators

(*) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise.

Source: See endnote 102 for this section.

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on electric mobility

Despite temporary shutdowns of auto factories and disruptions in global supply chains due to the pandemic, more than 3 million electric cars were sold worldwide in 2020, surpassing projections of 2.4 million. While sales of electric vehicles increased, sales of new diesel and petrol cars fell around 14.5% below 2019 levels. Among all transport modes, electric-assisted bikes saw a spike in popularity, as manufacturers saw record sales and e-bike sales in the USA increased 145%.

Electric vehicle sales jumped to 4.6% of global vehicles sold in 2020. In the EU, the electric vehicle market share reached 9.9% in the third quarter of 2020, up sharply from 3% during the same period in 2019. In Norway, supported through subsidies and various incentives, the share of EVs sold in the first half of 2020 was higher than in 2019; fully electric vehicles accounted for 48% of all automobile sales in the country, and fully electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles represented 69% of sales – both of which were global records.

A number of governments have increased electric vehicle investments as part of their COVID-19 recovery packages (see also Section 4 on Financing). The long-term effects of the pandemic on the electric vehicle market are hard to predict. The International Energy Agency has projected a rebound in global energy use and CO₂ emissions, making "building back better" a sensible proposition.

However, policy measures remain indispensable to address the high initial capital costs of electric vehicles and to attract consumers and investors. Several countries have included electric vehicle purchase incentives and vehicle replacement programmes in national recovery packages, including the following:

- China promoted two programmes for electric mobility: one extending an existing programme that provides subsidies and tax breaks for 2 million new electric vehicles annually until 2022, and the other to implement 600,000 EV charging points, with a USD 1.45 billion investment.
- The EU agreed to the Next Generation EU recovery fund of EUR 750 billion (USD 900 billion), which supports transport decarbonisation through investments in cleaner, healthier and more affordable active and public transport.
- France created several programmes to encourage purchases of electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles, support research and development (R&D) in the automotive industry, provide relief during the pandemic and advance charging infrastructure, totalling USD 8.7 billion.
- Germany approved a EUR 50 billion (USD 60 million) investment package to support electric vehicle purchases, charging infrastructure, R&D for electric

mobility and battery cell production, and innovation in the automotive industry.

- Italy approved programmes to deduct taxes for electric vehicles and charging infrastructure (110% tax deductions) and to subsidise new electric vehicles (EUR 6,000 (USD 7,300) per unit, up from EUR 4,000 (USD 4,800) previously).
- The Republic of Korea introduced a Green New Deal totalling USD 61 billion over five years, which includes plans to enhance the country's fleet to 1.33 million electric (including hydrogen-powered) vehicles.
- Spain advanced a USD 1.12 billion package for public transport and shared mobility, replacing government fleets with zero-emission vehicles, R&D in sustainable mobility and its associated industry, and subsidising the replacement of old vehicles for zero- and lowemission ones.
- The US has proposed USD 174 billion to build a national network of 500,000 electric vehicle chargers by 2030, to support manufacturing of batteries and electric vehicles, and to retool factories to compete globally. The plan would also replace 50,000 diesel transit vehicles; electrify at least 20% of the country's school bus fleets, and electrify the federal fleet, including postal vehicles.

Source: See endnote 1 for this section.



In Practice: Additional Policy Measures

Policy targets set

Phase-out targets

Amsterdam aims to ban petrol and diesel vehicles completely by 2030, while at a country level the Netherlands plans to ban sales of new petrol and diesel cars from 2030.¹⁰³ Pakistan's National Electric Vehicle Policy aims to have 90% of sales of passenger cars and heavy-duty trucks be electric by 2040, as well as 90% of sales of electric two- and threewheelers and buses.¹⁰⁴

- The Balearic Islands (Mallorca, Menorca, Ibiza and Formentera) of **Spain** announced a target for 100% renewable energy use by 2050 and a phase-out of sales of internal combustion vehicles by 2035.¹⁰⁵
- In 2019, Sweden announced a sales ban on diesel and petrol cars by 2030.¹⁰⁶
- Ukraine envisions that 75% of all motorised trips by 2030 will be via electric mobility.¹⁰⁷
- In early 2020, the UK advanced its target for phasing out internal combustion vehicles from 2040 to 2035.¹⁰⁸
- San Francisco, California, USA aims to ban sales of internal combustion vehicles by 2030, in an effort to achieve an emission-free transport system by 2040.¹⁰⁹
- Canada announced deployment targets as well as various financial incentives for zero-emission vehicles such as electric vehicles.¹¹⁰

Electric fleets (private and shared)

- Nepal expressed in its second NDC that by 2030 the sales of electric vehicles should represent 90% of all passenger vehicle (cars and two-wheelers) sales and 60% of all fourwheeler public passenger vehicle sales.¹¹¹
- In the first electric taxi deployment in **Panama**, the province of Colon plans to create a fleet of 1,500 electric taxis; as of 2019, 7 of the vehicles were already deployed through a partnership between BYD, Ensa Servicos and Traservi, which also installed a rapid charging station for the fleet.¹¹²
- In 2020, Turkey released a vision target to have 1 million electric cars and 1 million charging points by 2030.¹¹³
- Companies such as Amazon, DHL, FedEx, IKEA and UPS have established targets and pilot programmes to fully convert their fleets to electric.¹¹⁴
- By the end of 2020, at least 74 jurisdictions worldwide had some form of financial support in place for electric vehicles.¹¹⁵

Electric buses

São Paulo, Brazil introduced its first 15 electric buses at the end of 2019 and aims to increase the fleet to 400 buses in the coming years, to support the city's vision of halving CO₂ emissions by 2027 and becoming carbon-free by 2037.¹¹⁶ Chile aims to have a fully electric public transport system nationwide by 2040.¹¹⁷ In 2019, the city of Santiago deployed 200 e-buses as part of a plan to cut emissions and reduce air pollution.¹¹⁸

Costa Rica, as part of its economy-wide roadmap to achieve net zero emissions by 2050, committed to public procurement of electric buses and taxis and the provision of funds to create an electric train line.¹¹⁹

In 2019, the president of **Colombia** signed a law targeting the complete electrification of mass transport by 2040.¹²⁰

Ecuador has committed to converting its entire bus fleet to electric by 2025 as part of its ordinance for the gradual decarbonisation of transport.¹²¹ At the end of 2019, the first 20 electric buses and 50 taxis arrived in **Guayaquil**.¹²²

In the EU, the revised Clean Vehicles Directive of 2019 aims to accelerate the procurement of zero-emission vehicles and sets a target for the majority of procured public buses to be electric from 2026.¹²³

Amsterdam, the Netherlands aims to convert its municipal bus fleet to electric by 2025, and Milan, Italy has a similar target for 2030.¹²⁴

India plans to deploy 5,595 electric buses in 63 cities under its FAME II subsidy scheme launched in 2019.¹²⁵

In the USA, **New York City** plans to convert its bus fleet to electric by 2040, and **San Diego** and **San Jose** also plan to convert their fleets by 2040 to comply with a California state-wide mandate.¹²⁶

EV charging infrastructure

In Germany, the 2030 climate plan targets 1 million charging points by 2030, for which a masterplan is under way.¹²⁷

Since 2020, in the EU, new residential units or major renovations with more than 10 parking spaces are required to be 100% electric vehicle-ready, while 20% of space in new non-residential units must be electric vehicle-ready by 2025.¹²⁸

In India, the FAME II scheme as well as state policies have laid out subsidies to support 2,636 new charging stations in 62 cities.¹²⁹ The governments of Delhi and Kerala have enacted policies to support battery charging and swapping systems, and state-owned thermal power companies have partnered with metro rail companies to provide charging points and fuel retail in parking lots.¹³⁰

In 2020, the UK government announced the allocation of GBP 500 million (USD 700 million) over the next five years for electric vehicle charging infrastructure on national roads.¹³¹ **Canada** announced nearly CAD 100 million (USD 76.5 million) in funding in 2019 to deploy new electric vehicle charging (and hydrogen fuelling) stations.¹³²

In 2019, the Netherlands committed to installing 2,000 charging points to support electrification of its national government fleet.¹³³

Policy measures implemented

Electric fleets (private and shared)

China enacted stricter standards for automakers to gain credits for zero-emission vehicles for 2021-2023 so that they would build vehicles that use even less fuel.¹³⁴

Local governments in Shanghai, China are providing subsidies to car-sharing companies to purchase electric vehicles and to build and buy charging infrastructure; so far, 39 cities in China have followed this policy implementation model, resulting in the addition of 50,000 electric vehicles in total.¹³⁵

Shenzhen, China adopted a regulation in 2019 that requires all newly registered ride-hailing vehicles in the city to be battery electric.¹³⁶

In 2019, India implemented the Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of Electric Vehicles in India Phase II (FAME Phase II) scheme, which includes a USD 1.4 billion budget over three years to reduce the purchase price of hybrids and electric vehicles through rebates.¹³⁷

In Norway, local governments have instituted the majority of electric vehicle incentives and policy support tools, such as planning zero-emission zones where the vehicles have priority access, providing incentives for purchasing vehicles and setting up charging infrastructure, developing building codes amenable to electric vehicle charging points and offering 50% reductions in parking charges. Norway also has exempted electric vehicles from weight, CO_2 and nitrogen oxide emissions taxes and value-added tax to the end of 2021.¹³⁸

In December 2019, the **California** Air Resources Board in the US amended its Clean Vehicle Rebate Project to increase rebates for low- to moderate-income communities while reducing rebates for electric vehicles above USD 60,000 and plug-in hybrids below 35-mile range.¹³⁹

Electric buses

As of 2020, Brazil had 247 electric buses (including electric trolley buses and 12-15 metro buses), and Mexico had 238 (electric trolley buses).¹⁴⁰

In 2019, the government of Chile helped launch an electric bus corridor with 411 buses through a partnership in which electric utility Enel X procures the buses and leases them to local operator MetBus, and provides charging services.¹⁴¹ The corridor is further supported through policy measures related to air quality improvements, fuel efficiency labelling and green taxation.¹⁴²

Shenzhen, China diligently planned a charging network to support its growing electric bus fleet, allocating real estate, finances, charging technology and required electricity connections.¹⁴³

In Colombia in 2019, the city of **Cali** procured 26 electric buses with support from the energy company Celsia, and **Medellín** installed 64 electric buses following a successful single-bus pilot.¹⁴⁴ **Bogot**á was set to procure 483 electric buses to begin operations in September 2020, but this was postponed due to the COVID-19 pandemic.¹⁴⁵

Electric two- and three-wheelers

In India, state and central government policies have prioritised electric two wheelers, with the FAME subsidy scheme applicable to 86 different models of electric two-wheelers.¹⁴⁶ Portugal introduced an electric bicycle subsidy scheme in 2019 supporting the purchase of 1,000 e-bikes.¹⁴⁷

Other

Thailand began operating its first electric battery-powered commuter boats in Bangkok's canals in 2018; by 2020, the pilot proved so successful that the city planned to further expand the service.¹⁴⁸

3.9

Renewable Energy in Transport

Key findings

Demand trends

- Transport remains the sector of energy use with the lowest share of renewables, with more than 95% of energy needs coming from oil and petroleum products and less than 4% from biofuels and renewable electricity in 2018.
- Renewable energy sources mostly renewable electricity and biofuels – contributed an estimated 11% of the energy use associated with global rail in 2019.
- Biofuels accounted for 91% of the renewable energy use in road transport in 2019, but further growth in biofuels is constrained by sustainability issues and competition between fuel and food sources.
- Aviation is among the fastest growing transport sectors; however, despite significant efforts to incorporate renewable energy in the sector, biofuels provided only around 0.01% of aviation fuel during 2019.

Emission trends

 Heavy-duty vehicles account for three-quarters of the energy demand and carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions from freight, yet they remain the most challenging type of road vehicle to find cost-effective energy alternatives for.

Policy measures

 Policies to promote renewable energy in the transport sector continue to focus mainly on road transport, with rail, aviation and shipping receiving less attention despite being large energy consumers. As of the end of 2019, only 46 countries had some form of renewable energy target for transport, and just 11% of countries included measures for renewables-based transport in their Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) towards reducing emissions under the Paris Agreement.

Q

- Biofuel blending mandates remain one of the most widely adopted policies for increasing renewable fuels in road transport; however, no new countries introduced such mandates in 2018 or 2019, with the total remaining at 70 countries.
- The maritime transport sector has scaled up efforts to incorporate renewable energy by using fuels generated from renewable sources and applying electrification and wind energy as complementary strategies.
- The increasing scope of policies to electrify road vehicles and other transport modes offers significant potential to increase the share of renewable energy in transport.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- Due to the pandemic, oil demand was down nearly 5% in the first quarter of 2020, reflecting reduced demand for land-based transport, shipping and aviation; meanwhile, the demand for renewables grew.
- Economic recovery packages offer significant potential to align renewable energy and transport policies for a green and equitable recovery, but initial plans have fallen short in this area.

Overview



To achieve the energy transformation required for decarbonisation, the transport sector will need to rely increasingly on renewable energy sources.¹ The main entry points for renewables in the transport sector are:

- The use of biofuels blended with conventional fuels, as well as higher blends including 100% liquid biofuels;
- Natural gas vehicles and infrastructure converted to run on upgraded biomethane; and
- The electrification of transport modes, including through the use of battery electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles or of hydrogen, synthetic fuels, and electro-fuels, where the electricity is itself renewable.²

Some renewable energy carriers (such as biofuels) can be used in the internal combustion engines of conventional vehicles, whereas others require alternative drivetrains, such as in battery electric or fuel cell vehicles. Overall, fuels and vehicle technologies vary greatly in their technical maturity, costs, level of sustainability, climate mitigation potential, distribution and acceptance rates among users.³ Renewable energy policy strategies are being implemented at different levels (from international to sub-national), and while some are relevant to the transport sector overall, others are specific to certain sub-sectors to accommodate the needs and preferences of different industries and users.

Plug-in hybrid and fully electric passenger cars, electric scooters, electric bicycles and electric waste trucks have become more common in an increasing number of countries, often as a result of policies and targets adopted in prior years.⁴ Although rarely linked directly to renewable sources, the use of electricity in transport continued in 2019 and 2020, offering greater potential entry points for integration with renewable energy. Public subsidies can reduce the cost of sustainable transport measures. However, fiscal support from governments has remained limited, and many governments continue to heavily subsidise fossil fuels or fail to adequately tax them, artificially lowering the retail price of petrol below the price of crude oil on the world market, which continues to undermine climate action (see Section 4 on Financing Climate Action in Transport).⁵

The COVID-19 pandemic led to a strong decline in oil demand as well as opportunities to shift investments towards renewable energy sources. Economic recovery packages offer significant potential to align renewable energy and sustainable transport policies (see Box 1).⁶

Demand trends



Transport remains the sector of energy use with the lowest share of renewables, with more than 95% of energy needs coming from oil and petroleum products and less than 4% from biofuels and renewable electricity in 2018 (see Figure 1).⁷ Some countries have seen gradual increases in the use of renewable hydrogen and synthetic fuels for transport, but these remain minimal overall.⁸ Road transport accounted for around 75% of global transport energy use in 2018, with passenger vehicles representing more than two-thirds of this.⁹

Renewable energy sources - mostly renewable electricity and biofuels - contributed an estimated 11% of the energy use associated with global rail in 2019.¹⁰ In recent years, some jurisdictions have attempted to increase the link between renewable power generation and rail transport, since this remains the most highly electrified transport sub-sector.





Source: See endnote 7 for this section

Figure 2. Global biofuel production, 2010-2019



- In 2019, Melbourne, Australia connected a 128 megawatt solar photovoltaic system to its grid network specifically to power the city's tram system.¹¹
- Scotland, UK adopted a Green New Deal package of policy measures in 2019 that included commitments to electrifying the rail network and battery-powered trains.¹²

Biofuels accounted for 91% of the renewable energy use in road transport in 2019, but further growth in biofuels is constrained by sustainability issues and competition between fuel and food sources.¹³ In 2019, global production of liquid biofuels increased 5% to reach 161 billion litres (equivalent to 4 exajoules).¹⁴ Ethanol increased 2%, while biodiesel increased 13% (see Figure 2).¹⁶ Production of biomethane and advanced biofuels remained low, at less than 1% of the biofuel total.¹⁶ Although efforts to develop advanced biofuels continue (and some new production capacity has been installed), so far only small quantities of these fuels have been produced and used.

Aviation is among the fastest growing transport sectors; however, despite significant efforts to incorporate renewable energy in the sector, biofuels provided only around 0.01% of aviation fuel during 2019.¹⁷ Slow progress with renewables in aviation is due to the cost of advanced biofuels, challenges related to battery weight and range (for electrification), and jurisdictional issues in regulating cross-border industries.¹⁸

Technology exists for producing renewable electro-fuels for aviation, but costs remain much higher than for fossil-based fuels, and policy support is lacking.¹⁹ Although interest in the electrification of aviation is increasing, so far only electric drones or small planes for 1 to 12 passengers have been developed (or are under development), while some companies are aiming for hydrogen-powered electric planes.²⁰

Support for and use of renewable fuels in aviation made slight progress in recent years. In 2018, the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) Council endorsed the 2050 ICAO Vision for Sustainable Aviation Fuels, which is expected to greatly increase commercial production of these fuels by 2050.²¹

- By early 2020, 119 ICAO Member States (representing 94.3% of global air traffic) had submitted State Action Plans to support the production and use of sustainable alternativeⁱ aviation fuels; these include drop-in fuels (which can be blended with or directly replace fossil fuels in transport systems) produced from biomass and from different types of organic waste.²²
- More than 200,000 commercial flights had flown on blends of alternative fuels by early 2020, up from 150,000 in 2019.²³
- At least 8 airports had regular distribution of blended alternative fuel as of early 2020, up from 5 in 2019, while at least 14 airports had batch deliveries of such fuels.²⁴

These include fuels produced from three families of bio-feedstock: the family of oils and fats, or triglicerides, the family of sugars, and the family of lignocellulosic feedstock.

Emission trends

Heavy-duty vehicles account for three-quarters of the energy demand and CO₂ emissions from freight, yet they remain the most challenging type of road vehicle to find cost-effective energy alternatives for.²⁶ Heavy-duty vehicles are the fastest growing source of oil demand worldwide, even though they account for less than a quarter of total freight activity.²⁶ The larger the vehicles and the longer the range, the more challenging it is to find cost-effective alternatives to diesel fuel.²⁷ Although not all alternative fuels come from renewable sources, many are already commercially viable, and technological development continues.²⁸

- In 2019, Volvo introduced trucks running on liquefied biogas in Finland and Sweden.²⁹
- In the USA states of California, Oregon and Washington, between 2011 and 2018, Class 3-8 trucks fuelled by renewable diesel saved 12.3 million tonnes of CO₂ and eliminated 1.8 million tonnes of nitrogen oxides.
- By 2030, the increased use of the cleanest diesel technologies is expected to deliver an additional 120.7 million tonnes of CO₂ reductions and eliminate an additional 5.5 million tonnes of nitrogen oxides collectively in these three West Coast states.³⁰

Policy measures

88

Policies to promote renewable energy in the transport sector continue to focus mainly on road transport, with rail, aviation and shipping receiving less attention despite being large energy consumers.³¹ In general, policy makers are turning greater attention to expanding the use of renewables in transport as a means to improve local air pollution and meet greenhouse gas emission targets.³² However, the development of renewable energy policies in the transport sector has not nearly been as rapid as in other economic sectors, such as the power sector.

As of the end of 2019, only 46 countries had some form of renewable energy target for transport, and just 11% of countries included measures for renewables-based transport in their Nationally Determined Contributions towards reducing emissions under the Paris Agreement.³³ However, around 80% of countries worldwide have acknowledged the transport sector's role in mitigating emissions by including transport in their NDCs.³⁴

More than 50 cities worldwide had targets for electric mobility as of early 2020, but most of these are not directly linked to renewable electricity.³⁵ At least 28 cities and 39 countries or other sub-national jurisdictions had separate targets for both electric vehicle deployment and renewable electricity generation, but only 6 cities and 2 countries explicitly linked the two.³⁶ Better aligning electric vehicle and renewable electricity targets offers significant opportunity to advance the use of renewables in transport, as current renewable transport targets are heavily skewed towards the use of biofuels.

- Cities that have adopted separate targets for electric mobility and renewable electricity include Amsterdam, Netherlands; Cape Town, South Africa; Dubai, United Arab Emirates; Hamburg, Germany; Portland, Oregon, US: and Toronto, Canada.³⁷
- Austria and Japan were the only two countries with a policy directly linking renewables with electric vehicles as of early 2020.³⁸

Biofuel blending mandates remain one of the most widely adopted policies for increasing renewable fuels in road transport; however, no new countries introduced such mandates in 2018 or 2019, with the total remaining at 70 countries.³⁹ Some countries with existing blending mandates added new ones, and several existing mandates were strengthened (*see Figure 3*).⁴⁰ At least 8 countries had mandates for advanced biofuels, and at least 24 countries had future targets for advanced biofuels.⁴¹

Policies supporting the production and use of biofuels, including ethanol and biodiesel, continue to be the most common type of direct renewable energy policies in the transport sector (to support energy security and economic development, and also because of biofuels' similarity to liquid petroleum fuels).⁴² These policies include blending mandates, financial incentives, public procurement, and support for fuelling and blending infrastructure and advanced biofuels.

- Brazil's RenovaBio programme scales up biofuel production through the use of tax exemptions that provide financial support for increased sugarcane production.⁴³ The programme also introduced emission reduction targets for fuel distributors, with the option of demonstrating compliance by buying traded emission reduction certificates awarded to biofuel producers.⁴⁴
- In 2019, Indonesia became the first country to implement B30 (30% blending of biodiesel in diesel) – the highest such blending mandate in the world – in an effort to boost renewable energy use in the country.⁴⁵
- At the sub-national level, Quebec, Canada has proposed lowering the blending requirements for ethanol that contains at least 10% cellulosic content.⁴⁶

The maritime sector has scaled up efforts to incorporate renewable energy by using fuels generated from renewable sources and applying electrification and wind energy as complementary strategies. The International Maritime Organization agreed on stricter energy efficiency targets and new fuel and emission standards beginning in January 2020, while the industry called for speed limits on commercial vessels to reduce emissions.⁴⁷ By early 2020, trials had begun on using ammonia as a shipping fuel, with the potential to produce it with renewable electricity.⁴⁸

In September 2019, maritime industry leaders launched the Getting to Zero Coalition, with the objective of operating zero-emission vessels along deep-sea trade routes by 2030.⁴⁹ World leaders in shipping and the oil industry joined the coalition to co-ordinate the launch of improved propulsion technologies and "clean" fuels.⁵⁰ Some ports have adopted their own targets to increase energy efficiency, decrease greenhouse gas emissions and/or increase the use of renewable fuels.

Figure 3. Biofuel blending mandates worldwide, by blend level, as of 2020



- By the end of 2019, at least 11 ports in Europe and the United States of America (USA) had joined the World Ports Climate Action Programme to develop measures related to efficiency, emissions and renewables, up from 7 ports the year before.⁵¹
- In 2019, some shipping companies in Scandinavia entered into agreements to use liquefied biogas.⁵²
- The Port of Houston, Texas announced in 2019 that it would purchase renewable electricity port-wide starting in 2020, making it the first USA port to administer such a programme.⁵³
- Norway released an Action Plan for Green Shipping in 2019, stating the government's ambition to halve emissions from domestic shipping and fisheries by 2030 and to promote lowand zero emission solutions for all vessel categories.⁵⁴
- The UK published a Clean Maritime Plan, the "Route Map" for its Maritime 2050 strategy, which includes research on incentives for zero-emission shipping and consultations on encouraging the uptake of low carbon fuels.⁵⁵

The increasing scope of policies to electrify road vehicles and other transport modes offers significant potential to increase the share of renewable energy in transport.⁵⁶ Policies aimed at the electrification of transport, particularly road transport, increased in importance and frequency in 2019 and 2020.⁵⁷ These policies can promote the use of renewable electricity in the transport sector, both indirectly and directly.

Indirectly, in jurisdictions that support growing shares of renewable energy in the power grid, any policy that promotes electric mobility also increases the penetration of renewables in the transport sector



(see Section 3.8 on Electric Mobility).⁵⁸ Policies can also directly support the use of renewable energy, for example by requiring that electric vehicles be charged using renewable power, or through tariffs that incentivise "smart" charging during times of peak renewable power generation. Railways are the most highly electrified transport mode and thus are particularly good candidates for renewable energy linkages.

In 2019, Cabo Verde developed an integrated set of policies to promote electric vehicle adoption. The country's Electric Mobility Policy Charter (CPME) includes policies aimed at developing nationwide charging infrastructure by 2030, electrifying the public fleet by 2030 and replacing all internal combustion engine vehicles with electric vehicles by 2050.⁵⁹

- New Delhi, India approved a target in 2019 to completely electrify its railway network by 2022-2023.⁶⁰
- In 2019, Pakistan approved a national electric vehicle policy with targets and incentives aimed at having electric vehicles comprise 30% of all passenger vehicle and heavy-duty truck sales by 2030, and 90% by 2040.⁶¹
- The first urban train service in Japan relying entirely on renewable energy sources began operation in 2019.⁶²

Initiatives supporting renewable energy in transport

- The BioFuture Platform is a country-led, multi-stakeholder mechanism for policy dialogue and collaboration among leading countries, organisations, academia and the private sector. As of late 2020, 20 participating countries had agreed to scale up their bioenergy commitments and develop sustainable biofuel targets, and the Mission Innovation Sustainable Biofuels Challenge was launched to stimulate and co-ordinate efforts to bring new sustainable biofuels to the market.⁶³
- Future of Fuels, a collaborative initiative led by the nongovernmental organisation Business for Social Responsibility, aims for a sustainable transition to low carbon commercial road freight with new tools, convenings and partnerships. Outcomes include the Sustainable Fuel Buyers' Principles and a Fuel Sustainability Tool.⁶⁴
- The Low Carbon Technology Partnership initiative on Low Carbon Freight, led by the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, is a coalition of companies,

governments and customers that aims to share and scale replicable models to achieve emission reductions in road freight globally.⁶⁵

- RE100, a global initiative led by The Climate Group in partnership with CDP, involves more than 130 influential businesses committed to 100% renewable electricity, including companies in the transport sector. Members include FIA Formula E, the first electric single-seater championship where all cars run on 100% renewable power, and the French mail service La Poste, whose express delivery service Chronopost has used 100% renewable electricity to power its electric delivery vehicles in 18 French cities since mid-2020.⁶⁶
- The Transport Decarbonisation Alliance (TDA) was launched in 2018 as a unique collaboration to accelerate the worldwide transformation of the transport sector towards a net zero emission mobility system before 2050. The TDA brings together countries, cities/regions and companies (the "3Cs") as the major drivers in sustainable, low carbon mobility.⁶⁷

Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on renewable energy

Due to the pandemic, oil demand was down nearly 5% in the first quarter of 2020, reflecting reduced demand for land-based transport, shipping and aviation; meanwhile, the demand for renewables grew. The declines in oil demand offered an opportunity to shift investment towards greater uptake of renewable energy in transport. Fossil fuels are subject to increasing competition from renewables as well as growing concerns about air pollution and carbon emissions. Economic recovery packages offer significant potential to align renewable energy and transport policies for a green and equitable recovery, but initial plans have fallen short in this area. So far, recovery packages have not included direct linkages between transport and renewable energy.

Source: See endnote 6 for this section.



Key indicators

	2017*	2019*	% change
Policy Landscape Indicators			
Biofuel mandates (# of countries)	70	70	0%
Advanced biofuel mandates (# of countries)	2	8	+300%
Renewable transport targets (# of countries)	42	46	+10%
100% renewable energy in transport target (# of countries)	1	1	0%
Policies for electric vehicles combined with renewable electricity (# of countries)	2	1	-50%
Renewable electricity target and electric vehicle targets (# of countries)	44	39	-11%
Market Development Indicators			
Share of renewable energy in transport (%)	3.3%	3.7% (2018)	+12%
Share of biofuels in transport (%)	3%	3.4% (2018)	+13%
Share of renewable electricity in transport (%)	0.3%	0.32% (2018)	+7%
Share of renewable energy in road transport (%)	4.2% (2016)	4.4% (2018)	+5%
Share of renewable energy in rail transport (%)	9% (2016)	11%	+22%
Biofuels global production (billion litres)	143.2	161	+12%
Ethanol global production (billion litres)	104	114	+10%
Biodiesel (FAME) global production (billion litres)	33	47.4	+44%
Biodiesel (HVO) global production (billion litres)	6.2	6.5	+5%
Biofuel use in road transport (mboe/d)	1.7 (2016)	2 (2018)	+18%
Biofuel use in aviation and maritime (mboe/d)	< 0.1	< 0.1	0%

 (\star) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise.

FAME = fatty acid methyl esters; HVO = hydrotreated vegetable oil; mboe/d = million barrels of oil equivalent per day

Source: See endnote 68 for this section.

82

In Practice: Additional Policy Responses

Policy targets set

Aviation

- By the end of 2019, **Brazil**, **Finland**, **Indonesia** and **Norway** had announced biofuel targets for aviation, while other countries adopted policies that could indirectly support the use of renewables in the sector.⁶⁹
- In July 2019, the government of Finland announced a 30% biofuel target to be achieved by 2035 through a biofuel blending obligation for aviation.⁷⁰
- In Scotland, UK, the 2019 Green New Deal policy package included a commitment for net zero aviation by 2040.⁷¹
- In 2019, the USA announced up to USD 55 million in funding for two programmes to support the development of electric aviation technology and powertrain systems, although these are not directly linked to renewable electricity.⁷²

Policy measures implemented

Financial incentives

- Thailand subsidised the retail price of B10 (10% biodiesel blend in diesel) to encourage its use until January 2020, when B10 replaced B7 as the mandatory diesel option at pumps.⁷³
- In the US, the biodiesel tax credit of USD 1 per gallon (USD 0.26 per litre) that expired in 2017 was extended retroactively until 2022, and the cellulosic ethanol tax credit was extended through 2020.⁷⁴

Public procurement

In 2019, Toronto, Canada began installing new equipment to transform biogas produced from the city's organic waste into renewable natural gas (RNG) to fuel its waste collection trucks.⁷⁵

Santa Barbara, US replaced petroleum diesel with renewable diesel in its municipal bus fleet in 2019.⁷⁶

Infrastructure support

In 2019, the USA state of Minnesota enacted a grant programme that provides funding for biofuel blending infrastructure.⁷⁷

Energy utilities

In 2019, the public utility commission in Uttar Pradesh, India implemented electric vehicle-specific electricity pricing structures for utility customers specifically designed to encourage the uptake of electric vehicles.⁷⁸

In 2018, the public utility commission for the USA state of **New York** introduced a time-of-use rate for residential customers charging electric vehicles, and the **Maryland** public utility commission required utilities to develop timeof-use rates and rebates for residential chargers.⁷⁹





Key findings

Demand trends

- Global demand for passenger air travel grew 6.1% in 2018, while demand for freight aviation declined 4.6%.
- Passenger aviation demand continues to be driven by generous subsidies on airline fuels and airport infrastructure as well as value-added tax exemptions on international flights.
- Biofuels provided only around 0.01% of aviation fuel demand in 2019. Sustainable aviation fuels must be scaled up significantly to make a substantive impact on aviation emissions.

Emission trends

- Passenger and freight aviation were responsible for around 2.5% of global energy-related carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions in 2018.
- Incremental efficiency gains in operations and aircraft continue to be outpaced by global demand for air travel.
- Non-CO₂ emissions in aircraft contrails contribute twice as much to climate change as direct aircraft CO₂ emissions.

8 Policy measures

 The expansion of airline pricing measures is internalising a share of the external costs of aviation but remains insufficient to significantly influence consumer behaviour.

- Airlines must significantly increase the ambition of their emerging commitments to reduce aviation emissions in order to meet Paris Agreement mitigation targets; they can have greater impact with more industry coordination, increased alignment with global targets and strengthened national ambitions.
- It is critical to complement "Improve" strategies in the aviation sector with appropriate "Avoid" and "Shift" measures.
- The optimisation of complementary transit modes such as high-speed rail is reducing the demand for air travel in some countries, but additional investments and incentives are needed to make a global impact.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- The impacts of the pandemic on international flight capacity ranged from an estimated 37% reduction in Africa to 72% in Asia, although this near-term drop in flights is not expected to greatly alter emission trajectories.
- Pandemic recovery packages are reshaping discussions among airlines and governments on bailouts, taxes, fuel mandates and sustainability conditionalities.
- The large impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on commercial aviation operations is likely to reduce the prioritisation of aviation policies on climate change – which were increasing before the pandemic – in favour of maintaining air connectivity for economic activity.



Overview

Aviation started 2020 on an upward trend, after global demand for flying grew 6.1% in 2018 led by Asia, Europe and Latin America.¹ With the demand for air travel growing rapidly, calls accelerated in 2019 for the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) to introduce stricter restrictions on carbon offset credits under the market-based Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA), which has been criticised for lacking ambition.²

As the COVID-19 pandemic spread in early 2020, aviation demand plummeted, and the ICAO predicted that global passenger traffic for the year could drop by 1.9 million to 3.2 million passengers, with a 33% to 60% reduction in seats (compared to business as usual) (*see Box 1*).³ As recovery plans began taking shape, a few European governments linked airline bailout packages to sustainability conditions, but most did not, underscoring the limitations of individual commitments.⁴ Although CORSIA initially sought to rely on average aviation emissions in 2019 and 2020 as the baseline for its annual offsetting requirements, the ICAO Council later opted to exclude 2020 data in light of the short-term decline in flights due to the pandemic.⁵

Box 1. Carbon offsets and aviation

Carbon offsets are intended to reduce the impacts of air travel by investing in projects that mitigate carbon emissions. The Paris Agreement requires all countries and all sectors to directly reduce emissions; thus, carbon offsetting is not a Paris-compliant strategy. Further, CORSIA's low ambition level and offset costs do not provide sufficient incentive to drive needed efficiency improvements for aviation.

A recent European Commission study found that up to 85% of offsets from projects under the United Nations Clean Development Mechanism have not fully delivered claimed emission reductions. Therefore, offsets are not a reliable strategy to reduce fuel consumption or emission growth, which can only be assured through direct measures like aircraft efficiency standards and phase-outs of fuel subsidies.

Source: See endnote 36 for this section.

Demand trends

Global demand for passenger air travel grew 6.1% in 2018, while demand for freight aviation declined 4.6% (see Figure 1).⁶ Passenger activity increased to 8.2 trillion revenue passengerkilometres, with the total number of passengers reaching a record 4.3 billion.⁷ Growth was led by Asia (up 7.3%), Europe (6.7%) and Latin America (6.6%).⁸ Aviation freight demand was already falling in 2018 due to weak growth in global trade and then plummeted in 2020 after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.⁹

Figure 1. Growth in passenger aviation, 2018



Passenger aviation demand continues to be driven by subsidies on airline fuels and airport infrastructure as well as value-added tax exemptions on international flights. Airlines benefit from a universal exemption from fuel taxation and thus are subsidised at an estimated annual value of more than EUR 60 billion (USD 73 billion) globally and EUR 20 billion (USD 24 billion) in Europe alone.¹⁰ A leaked 2018 European Commission study concludes that the aviation sector is undertaxed and that taxing aviation fuels (which is common in other countries) could cut emissions from aviation at least 10% without adverse impacts on gross domestic product (GDP).¹¹

Biofuels provided only around 0.01% of aviation fuel demand in 2019.¹² Sustainable aviation fuels must be scaled up significantly to make a substantive impact on aviation emissions. Technology for producing renewable electro-fuels for the sector exists, but costs remain much higher than for fossil-based fuels, and policy support is lacking.¹³ Mandates for biofuels and other sustainable aviation fuels are critical to reducing fossil fuel use in the sector, but to ensure their sustainability, advanced biofuels must meet strict criteria and crop-based biofuels must be excluded.¹⁴ Recent efforts to scale up demand for biofuels include the following:

The European Union (EU) published its updated Renewable Energy Directive (RED II) in December 2018, outlining the use of renewable transport fuels from 2021 to 2030. Robust national implementation is needed to promote clean advanced renewable fuels (and avoid unsustainable biofuels) for effective decarbonisation.¹⁵

- In 2019, Finland announced a target for 30% biofuels in aviation by 2030 to be achieved through a blending obligation, although this target may rely on biofuels derived from palm oil.¹⁶
- France adopted legislation in 2020 requiring all airliners refuelling in the country to use at least 1% renewable bio-jet fuel, with plans to increase this obligation to 5% by 2030 and 50% by 2050.¹⁷
- In 2020, Germany set a mandate for 2% hydrogen-based electro-fuels in aviation by 2030.¹⁸
- At the end of 2019, Sweden's Halmstad Airport committed to requiring airlines to use at least 5% sustainable aviation fuel at the airport, in line with the municipality's target to be fossil fuelfree by 2030.¹⁹

Emission trends

Passenger and freight aviation were responsible for around 2.5% of global energy-related CO₂ emissions in 2018.²⁰ Passenger aviation represents more than 80% of this total.²¹ Aviation emissions grew 32% between 2013 and 2018, but the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 temporarily reduced emissions (*see Figure 2*).²²



Figure 2. Pre- and post-COVID-19 projections for aviation emissions to 2050

Source: See endnote 22 for this section

Figure 3. Fuel economy in aircraft, 2000-2020



Efficiency (RPK/kg CO_2)

Source: See endnote 24 for this section

International aviation has continued to grow in the absence of sufficient policies and measures in place to reduce direct aviation emissions. Despite the declines during the COVID-19 pandemic, emissions from international aviation could still increase a projected 220-290% between 2015 and 2050 (compared to an increase of 230-310% projected before the pandemic), underscoring the challenge of achieving carbon-neutral growth in the sector.²³

Incremental efficiency gains in operations and aircraft continue to be outpaced by global demand for air travel. Airline fuel efficiency gains averaged 2% annually between 2009 and 2019, whereas estimated growth in aviation CO_2 emissions during the same period averaged 3% annually (see Figure 3).²⁴

Total revenue passenger-kilometres in 2019 increased 4.2% over 2018, as consistent with projected growth rates from 2013 to 2035.²⁵ Growth in air travel has outpaced both historic fuel economy improvements and corresponding CO_2 emission reductions for aircraft, compromising the sustainability of the airline industry (see Figure 4).²⁶

Non-CO₂ emissions in aircraft contrails contribute twice as much to climate change as direct aircraft CO₂ emissions.²⁷ Using cleaner aviation fuels and changing flight paths to lower altitudes can reduce contrail formation and reduce emissions of nitrogen oxides, water vapour, soot and black carbon.

Rerouting fewer than 2% of flights in Japan reduced the warming effect of contrails by almost 60% during a six-week period.²⁸





Policy measures

RLOCAT

%

The expansion of airline pricing measures is internalising a share of the external costs of aviation but remains insufficient to significantly influence consumer behaviour.

- The EU's Green Deal provides a model for other regions in creating a set of co-ordinated airline taxes that signal clear incentives and avoid carbon leakage across national and corporate borders.²⁹ In 2020, a consultation was launched to test the waters for a pan-European tax on jet fuel.³⁰ The tax, if classified as "environmental", could avoid the need for unanimous agreement among ministers.
- In 2020, France introduced an aviation "eco tax" ranging from EUR 1.50 (USD 1.8) per economy ticket within the EU to EUR 18 (USD 22) per business ticket outside the EU; a subsequent proposal could raise these fees.³¹
- Germany advanced a duty on air passengers in 2020 despite the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, although it reduced the rate during severely impacted months and funded a EUR 8 billion (USD 9.7 billion) bailout for the aviation industry (but with no climate commitment).³²
- Spain introduced an air transport tax in 2020 to fight climate change, in line with European Commission recommendations.³³

- The parliament of Switzerland approved a tax in 2020 on all departing flights, which ranges from CHF 30 to CHF 120 (USD 33 to USD 133) depending on the class of travel and on the flight distance.³⁴
- In 2020, Climate Assembly UK, an advisory group of private citizens commissioned by a parliamentary select committee, called for a frequent-flyer levy linked to individual air travel frequency and distance.³⁵

Airlines must significantly increase the ambition of their emerging commitments to reduce aviation emissions in order to meet Paris Agreement mitigation targets; they can have greater impact with more industry co-ordination, increased alignment with global targets and strengthened national ambitions. A number of major airlines have set significant policy targets and implemented measures. However, many of these are insufficient to offset rising passenger demand, and carbon offset strategies cannot be equated to real and sufficient emission reductions within the aviation sector (see Box 2).³⁶

The International Air Transport Association (IATA) has adopted targets to mitigate CO₂ emissions from aviation including a cap on net CO₂ emissions from 2020 (carbon-neutral growth) and a reduction in net aviation CO₂ emissions of 50% by 2050, relative to 2005 levels (a goal echoed by the 10 member

Figure 5. Aviation CO₂ emission projections and potential greenhouse gas reductions to 2050



Source: See endnote 40 for this section.



airlines of Airlines for America).³⁷ However, such measures are insufficient to achieve emission levels compatible with the Paris Agreement, as net zero emissions by 2050 are required of all sectors, yet aviation emissions currently exceed 600 million tonnes annually.³⁸

ICAO's Alternative Fuels Task Force estimates that it is possible to meet 100% of international demand for aviation jet fuel with sustainable fuels by 2050, yielding a 63% reduction in CO₂ emissions.³⁹ However, this level of sustainable fuel production would require unprecedented capital investments in production infrastructure and robust policy support (see Figure 5).⁴⁰

In early 2020, USA airline **Delta** committed USD 1 billion over 10 years to mitigate emissions through strategies such as fleet renewal, biofuels and carbon offsets, although it later reduced its offset targets due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.⁴¹

Starting in November 2019, UK carrier **easyJet** pledged to purchase carbon offsets to equal the fuel used on all flights in its network.42 However, carbon offsets are not compliant with the Paris Agreement (*see Box 1*).⁴³

In 2019, Lufthansa and Swiss International Air Lines began offering passengers the option to reduce their carbon footprints by selecting sustainable aviation fuel when booking flights.⁴⁴ However, customer willingness to pay for voluntary aviation offsets remains low, and thus emission reductions from offsets are also limited.⁴⁵

It is critical to complement "*Improve*" strategies in the aviation sector with appropriate "*Avoid*" and "*Shift*" measures.⁴⁶ Technology improvements and improved air traffic management

will still result in an increase in aviation emissions. Thus, it is urgent to also implement measures that avoid unnecessary air travel and shift demand to more sustainable modes.⁴⁷

The optimisation of complementary transit modes such as highspeed rail is reducing the demand for air travel in some countries, but additional investments and incentives are needed to make a global impact. Collaborative planning between aviation and rail systems (including high-speed and overnight rail services) can help drive the use of these more energy-efficient modes for shorter trips, meet greenhouse gas reduction targets and reduce costs in emission trading schemes (*see Section 3.4 on Passenger and Freight Railway*).

Flygskam (Swedish for "flight-shame", which describes unease about flying by environmentally conscious travellers) emerged as a reaction to the failure of governments to regulate the aviation industry, and the resulting increase in emissions.48 In Sweden, the movement led to seven consecutive months of reductions in the number of air travel passengers and to a total annual decline of 4% in 2019.⁴⁹

A flight-shame analysis by Citigroup suggested that rising attention to the climate impacts of flying could create growing pressure for airlines to offset emissions, and thereby raise industry costs; the analysis noted that carbon offsets cannot be correlated to real emission reductions from aviation.⁵⁰

In 2020, Sweden proposed launching sleeper train services to Belgium and Germany to reduce dependence on aviation and minimise travel impacts.⁵¹

Revenues from France's eco-tax on flights are to be spent on boosting local train services. $^{\rm 52}$

Box 2. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on aviation

The impacts of the pandemic on international flight capacity ranged from an estimated 37% reduction in Africa to 72% in Asia, although this near-term drop in flights is not expected to greatly alter emission trajectories. The global airline industry is being reshaped by the pandemic, which will likely affect air travel provision and consumer behaviour for years to come. Impacts to aviation during 2020 included a global reduction in airline capacity from 55% to 64%, an overall reduction in passengers from 1.18 billion to 1.39 billion, and gross operating losses of USD 214 billion to USD 252 billion (see Figure 6).

Economic recovery packages are reshaping discussions among airlines and governments on bailouts, taxes, fuel mandates and sustainability conditionalities. Green and equitable recovery packages to rationalise subsidies and internalise aviation externalities can help to create more efficient aviation policies and infrastructure in line with climate action goals. In many countries, governments supported the aviation industry with direct and indirect subsidies as well as special regulations.

- Austrian Airlines was granted a EUR 600 million (USD 730 million) bailout in July 2020, subject to the airline reducing its total emissions 30% below 2005 levels by 2030.
- In France, a EUR 7 billion (USD 8.5 billion) state loan for Air France approved in May 2020 was contingent on the

airline becoming more eco-friendly, including cutting domestic flights in favour of rail.

 However, other governments provided support to the airline industry without environmental conditions (e.g., Germany's EUR 8 billion (USD 9.7 billion) package), missing an opportunity to improve sustainability.

The large impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on commercial aviation operations is likely to reduce the prioritisation of aviation policies on climate change – which were increasing before the pandemic – in favour of maintaining air connectivity for economic activity.⁵³ Despite the reduced emissions due to policies restricting air travel, the pandemic has put some aviation-related climate policies at risk.

The price of carbon in the EU's Emission Trading Scheme (which covers aviation) dropped almost 40% in March 2020 to a near two-year low of just above EUR 15 (USD 18) per tonne of CO_2 , before bouncing back to EUR 22 (USD 26) per tonne by June 2020. Moreover, the proposal to the ICAO to use CO_2 emissions levels of 2019 (rather than averaging 2019-2020 levels) as the CORSIA baseline will have negative impacts for the adoption of ambitious climate targets.

Source: See endnote 3 for this section.



RLOCAT

Initiatives supporting low carbon aviation

- The International Coalition for Sustainable Aviation, representing millions of non-profit organisations, works to reduce pollution from air travel and is the only environmental civil society group accredited as an observer by the ICAO.⁵⁴
- The International Council on Clean Transportation works to ensure that environmental policy for the aviation sector is informed by high-quality, transparent analysis of the environmental performance of aircraft and airlines, a goal pursued through research on aircraft technology, airline fuel efficiency, environmental standard design and the use of alternative fuels in aviation.⁵⁵
- Sustainable Aviation, launched in 2005, is a world-first longterm strategy that brings together major UK airlines, airports, manufacturers, air navigation service providers and key business partners to ensure a cleaner, quieter, smarter future for UK aviation.⁵⁶
- Transport & Environment campaigns with members of the International Coalition for Sustainable Aviation and others to call for ambitious global and regional targets to reduce emissions from aviation, for full inclusion of aviation in the EU's strategy to meet its reduction targets and for removing exemptions on fuel taxation and value-added tax for airlines in the EU.⁵⁷

	2018*	2019*	Change
Policy Landscape Indicators			
Carbon-neutral airports (and above) (# of airports)	62 (2019)	64 (2020)	+3.2%
Market Development Indicators			
Passenger-kilometres flown (millions)	8,329,776	8,679,621	+4.20%
Available seat-kilometres (millions)	10,174,828	10,519,174	+3.38%
Passenger load factor (%)	81.9%	82.5%	+0.73%
Freight and mail tonne-kilometres (millions)	262,333	253,982	-3.18%
Available freight tonne kilometres (millions)	532,000	543,717	+2.20%
Freight load factor (%)	49.3%	46.7%	-5.27%

Key indicators

(*) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise.

Source: See endnote 58 for this section.



In Practice: Additional Policy Measures

Policy targets set

Sustainable aviation fuels

- Aspirational biofuel mandates such as 30% targets proposed by Finland and Norway - are being complemented by advances in electricity-based fuels.59
- Electro-fuels could help to lower aviation emissions if strict sustainability criteria are observed, but they are significantly more expensive than fossil fuels and thus require sustained policy support.60
- In 2019, British Airways announced plans to build a plant to transform plastic waste into sustainable fuel, with a goal to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 70%.61
- Boeing flew a 787 Dreamliner delivery flight for EgyptAir powered entirely by agriculturally sourced biofuel, travelling more than 10,000 kilometres from Seattle to Cairo in July 2019.62

Air network efficiencies

- In 2018, the African Union launched the Single African Air Transport Market, which could help improve the efficiency of intra-continental trips and avoid inefficient routings to Africa via Europe.63
- While more efficient routing leads to shorter flight times, it may also lead to more flights, as airlines have incentives to keep planes in the air for as long as possible. To achieve positive impacts, routings must be climate efficient as well as time efficient.64

Airport expansion planning

- In 2019, France's environment authority asked planners of the Marseille airport expansion to reconcile increased flights with the country's national target for net zero emissions by 2050.65
- The proposed expansion of London Heathrow airport was ruled unlawful in February 2020 for its alleged failure to consider Paris Agreement commitments; this ruling was subsequently overturned by the UK's supreme court in

December 2020.66

Planned expansions at Bristol, London Stansted and Rome Fiumicino airports have been cancelled due to environmental concerns and opposition related to the need to achieve climate commitments.67

While some cities scaled back airport expansion plans (including Leeds, New York and Paris), a number of other cities continued expansion plans and projects (including Belgrade, Helsinki and Taipei), blunting the emission reduction impacts of revised or cancelled expansion efforts.68

Policy measures implemented Electrification

In 2019, Scandinavian regional airline Widerøe partnered with Rolls Royce to electrify the airline's regional fleet of more than 30 planes by 2030.69

In 2019, the US Department of Energy pledged up to USD 55 million to develop low-cost electric engine technology/ powertrain systems.70

The first fully electric commercial aircraft, a six-seated seaplane, completed a 15-minute test flight in Canada in 2019.71

- In 2020, the European Aviation Safety Agency granted the first certification for an electric aircraft, a two-seater capable of up to 80 minutes of flight, built by a Slovenia-based aerospace company.72
- Germany's Aviation Research Program has dedicated EUR 25 million (USD 30 million) between 2020 and 2024 to hydrogen technologies to develop hybrid-electric aviation.73

"Carbon-neutral" airport facilities

In 2019, airport facilities in Quito (Ecuador), San Diego (California, USA) and 11 airports in Europe became newly accredited "carbon-neutral" airports, bringing the global total to 62 airports in 2020, up 27% from 2018.74

3.11 Shipping



Key findings

Demand trends

- In 2019, 11 billion tonnes of goods were transported in global maritime trade, with growth stalled at 0.5%; this was down sharply from growth rates of 2.8% in 2018 and 4.7% in 2017.
- The global commercial shipping fleet expanded 4.1% in 2020, the greatest annual growth since 2014, reaching a total of 98,140 commercial ships above 100 gross tonnes in weight.
- Global shipping connectivity (how well countries are connected to global shipping networks) increased more than 25% between 2010 and 2019, with the greatest regional increases in Asia (35%) and Latin America and the Caribbean (25%).

Emission trends

- Carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions from maritime transport (both freight and passenger activity) increased an estimated 7.2% between 2010 and 2019.
- Improvements in shipping fuel efficiency slowed between 2015 and 2020, with annual progress of 1% to 2%.
- Short-lived climate pollutants from shipping increased sharply between 2012 and 2018, including a 12% increase in black carbon emissions and a 150% increase in methane emissions.

Policy measures

 Processes under the International Maritime Organization (IMO) have had limited impact on meeting emission targets, while regional and national measures show greater levels of ambition and innovation.

Q

- Alternative maritime fuels are increasingly attractive to countries and companies due to recent IMO regulations on conventional fuels, but the mitigation potential varies widely by fuel type.
- Fiscal incentives in combination with enhanced regulations will play an important role in the uptake of sustainable maritime fuels.
- Countries are making considerable investments into electrification of shipping vessels and ports to increase efficiency and reduce emissions and operational costs.
- Shipping emissions could be reduced more than 75% by 2050 through a balanced combination of decarbonisation measures including sustainable biofuels, capacity utilisation and speed optimisation.

Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

- International maritime trade dropped an estimated 4.1% in 2020, but trade volumes are expected to recover and grow 4.8% in 2021.
- Global port container volumes fell 7.3% during 2020, and around 12% of the container fleet was assumed to be idle at the peak of initial pandemic lockdowns.
- Growth in emissions from international shipping has been slowed by the pandemic and is not projected to return to pre-COVID-19 levels until 2030.



Overview



Maritime shipping is the backbone of global trade, and international maritime transport caters almost exclusively to freight. Maritime transport accounts for more than 80% of global trade by volume and more than 70% by value.¹ International shipping emits more CO_2 annually than the entire regions of Latin America and the Caribbean, Africa or Oceania.² Challenges to decarbonisation of the shipping sector include high initial investment costs for vessels as well as their long life spans.³

In 2018, the International Maritime Organization adopted targets to reduce the carbon intensity of shipping at least 40% by 2030 and to at least halve emissions by 2050; the baseline of these targets (2008) represents the historical height of shipping activity and thus a peak in the sector's emissions.⁴ The IMO target aims for full decarbonisation as early as possible this century.⁵

In early 2020, the IMO postponed a key session aimed at assessing measures to make progress towards the 2030 target and adopting a resolution urging Member States to develop voluntary National Action Plans.⁶ In 2020, the IMO agreed on implementing short-term emission reduction measures to achieve greenhouse gas emissions reductions before 2023.⁷

Despite limited policy action, the shipping industry appears to have overachieved its 2030 carbon intensity target, which was rated "critically insufficient" by Climate Action Tracker even before the onset of the pandemic; however, the industry remains far from meeting its 2050 emission reduction target (which is rated "insufficient").⁸

The COVID-19 pandemic led to a brief halt in international maritime trade, and in the first six months of 2020 major routes experienced sharp declines in container-based trade. CO_2 emissions from shipping declined between 18% and 35% for the year and are expected to only slowly return to pre-COVID-19 levels (see Box 1).⁹

Demand trends



In 2019, 11 billion tonnes of goods were transported in global maritime trade, with growth stalled at 0.5%; this was down sharply from growth rates of 2.8% in 2018 and 4.7% in 2017.¹⁰ Trade tensions between China and the United States of America (including tariff hikes in 2018 and 2019) are estimated to have affected nearly 2% of world maritime trade volume.¹¹ Other factors for the slow growth include lingering impacts from the United Kingdom's (UK) exit from the European Union (EU), recessions in some emerging economies, and supply-side disruptions to petroleum and other sectors.¹²

The global commercial shipping fleet expanded 4.1% in 2020, the greatest annual growth since 2014, reaching a total of 98,140 commercial ships above 100 gross tonnes in weight.¹³ Maritime transport witnessed a trend towards larger vessels from 2010 to 2020, led by 332% growth in the capacity of container ships and 220% growth in bulk carriers (*see Figure 1*).¹⁴ For the first time in



Figure 1. World shipping fleet by principal vessel type, 2000-2020

Source: See endnote 14 for this section


Source: See endnote 18 for this section.

history, the global shipping fleet surpassed a total capacity of 2 billion dead weight tonnes in 2020.15 Larger vessels create greater challenges for incorporating sustainable technologies and fuels.¹⁶

Global shipping connectivity (how well countries are connected to global shipping networks) increased more than 25% between 2010 and 2019, with the greatest regional increases in Asia (35%) and Latin America and the Caribbean (25%).17 The Liner Shipping Connectivity Index measures the total number and capacity of vessels deployed in a country, as well as the number of shipping lines servicing a country and connecting to other countries. The greatest national increases occurred in Qatar (374%), Iraq (355%), Belize (157%), Vanuatu (134%) and Haiti (119%) (see Figure 2).18

Emission trends





Improvements in shipping fuel efficiency slowed between 2015 and 2020, with annual progress of 1% to 2%.22 The IMO developed the Energy Efficiency Operational Indicator (EEOI) in 2009 to measure the efficiency of ships. The EEOI can be improved by increasing the amount of cargo transported and by reducing a vessel's fuel consumption (i.e., reducing the speed of operation or making modifications to the vessel). Additional policy actions are needed to accelerate fuel-efficiency technologies such as wind-assist and hull air lubrication, along with low- and zero-emission fuels.23

Global and by income group

Short-lived climate pollutants from shipping increased sharply between 2012 and 2018, including a 12% increase in black carbon emissions and a 150% increase in methane emissions.²⁴ In 2019, major container operation companies rejected proposals for mandatory 20% slower speed limits, which could reduce CO₂

emissions an estimated 34% and black carbon emissions an estimated 20%.²⁵ In 2020, the IMO reduced the allowable sulphur content in shipping fuel oil to 0.5% (from 3.5%).²⁶ However, new fuel blends have the potential to increase black carbon emissions by up to 85%.²⁷

Policy measures

Processes under the IMO have had limited impact on meeting emission targets, while regional and national measures show greater levels of ambition and innovation.²⁸ IMO actions have focused primarily on energy efficiency measures.²⁹ The IMO's 2020 regulations on low-sulphur and cleaner fuels are expected to raise fuel costs around 50%, with shipping operators likely to pass these costs to customers through the supply chain, which may have indirect impacts on demand.³⁰

- Several Pacific countries have submitted position papers to the IMO to increase ambition on decarbonising the shipping sector.³¹
- Shipping and water-borne projects are eligible for funding through the 2020 EU Innovation Fund if they demonstrate lowcarbon-energy propulsion.³²
- In 2019, the UK released its Maritime 2050 strategy to transition to zero emission shipping and a plan to deploy zero emissioncapable ships by 2025.³³
- In 2020, the Marshall Islands demanded a carbon pricing measure from the IMO as the most effective way to cut shipping emissions and to restore the confidence of the international community.³⁴
- The governments of Fiji, Marshall Islands, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tuvalu and Vanuatu jointly called for USD 500 million in 2019 to increase the sustainable development of maritime transport.³⁵

Alternative maritime fuels are increasingly attractive to countries and companies due to recent IMO regulations on conventional fuels, but the mitigation potential varies widely by fuel type.³⁶ Following the adoption of the IMO's sulphur regulations in 2020, there has been a shift towards liquefied natural gas (LNG) as a cleaner fuel alternative, along with biofuels, e-methanol and hydrogen.³⁷ However, continued investments in LNG ships and onshore facilities could slow a broader transition to low carbon fuels.³⁸

- In 2019, IKEA Transport & Logistics Services and partners completed a biofuel trial, the first to blend heavy fuel oilequivalent biofuel and fossil fuel.³⁹
- Finnish company Wärtsilä is engaging in large-scale testing of ammonia as an alternative fuel for use in shipping vessels to reduce the emissions of the industry, with tests planned for 2022.⁴⁰
- The use of "drop-in" liquid biofuels for large marine diesel engines with minimal modifications may reduce shipping emissions in the short run.⁴¹
- Studies show that adopting LNG as a bridging fuel is likely to increase the life-cycle climate impacts of international shipping.⁴²

Fiscal incentives in combination with enhanced regulations will play an important role in the uptake of sustainable maritime fuels. 43

*

The use of biofuels for shipping raises concerns, as verifying sustainability criteria is challenging. Generating liquid ammonia or hydrogen shipping fuels requires only half the amount of renewable electricity as generating fuels such as synthetic methane or synthetic diesel, but cost remains a factor.⁴⁴

- The European Parliament approved a proposal in 2020 to extend the EU Emissions Trading System to the maritime sector, setting binding targets to reduce annual shipping emissions 40% by 2030, starting with ships of at least 5,000 tonnes gross.⁴⁶
- Through the European Green Deal, introduced in 2019, the European Commission proposes to examine current tax exemptions for maritime fuels and to determine how best to close any loopholes.⁴⁶
- Germany's national hydrogen strategy, updated in June 2020, includes around EUR 25 million (USD 30 million) in funding for a Maritime Research Programme from 2020 to 2024, a share of which will support hydrogen-powered shipping applications.⁴⁷

Countries are making considerable investments into electrification of shipping vessels and ports to increase efficiency and reduce emissions and operational costs.⁴⁸ Policy measures implemented in recent years show that maritime decarbonisation trends are shifting towards renewable electricity for shorter distances and towards electro-fuels (e.g., ammonia, e-methanol, hydrogen) for longer distances.⁴⁹

- The European Green Deal proposed obliging docked ships to use shore-side electricity.⁵⁰
- In 2020, Norway announced plans to launch a prototype vessel powered by zero-emission hydrogen in the coming years, with the aim of ferrying cargo and delivering hydrogen supplies to strategic areas. The EU's research and innovation fund has allocated EUR 8 million (USD 9.8 million) to this pilot project.⁵¹
- In June 2020, Denmark completed a successful trial of the world's largest battery electric ferry boat, which is nearly twice as energy efficient as diesel boats.⁵² This service complements a battery-powered ferry service launched in November between Denmark and Sweden, which is powered by renewable energy and prevents an estimated 28,000 tonnes of carbon emissions per year.⁵³
- In early 2020, a ferry service in Estonia introduced a fleet of batteryhybrid vessels that reduce diesel fuel consumption 20%.⁵⁴





Shipping emissions could be reduced more than 75% by 2050 through a balanced combination of decarbonisation measures including sustainable biofuels, capacity utilisation and speed optimisation.⁵⁵ Although biofuels appear to hold great potential for decarbonisation in the shipping sector, assumptions of carbon-neutrality depend strongly on the location and harvesting of source

crops. Factors such as competition for land resources for food and fuel reveal that a broader set of evaluation parameters is needed to capture relevant sustainable development concerns.⁵⁶ A balanced set of emission reduction measures is likely an optimal path towards decarbonising shipping (*see Figure 3*).⁵⁷

Figure 3. Emission mitigation potential of major maritime transport measures



Box 1. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on maritime shipping

International maritime trade dropped an estimated 4.1% in 2020, but trade volumes are expected to recover and grow 4.8% in 2021. In the first six months of 2020, container-based trade on major routes experienced significant reductions compared to the same period in 2019: for instance, the Europe-North America corridor saw 13% to 16% less trade activity in the second quarter of 2020 than a year prior.

Global port container volumes fell 7.3% during 2020, and around 12% of the container fleet was assumed to be idle at the peak of initial pandemic lockdowns. In May 2020, ports recorded cancellations of sailing operations of 10% in Hamburg (Germany) and Rotterdam (the Netherlands); 20% in Beirut (Lebanon) and Visakhapatnam (India); and up to 25% in Manila (Philippines) and Odessa (Ukraine). Meanwhile, maritime passenger transport came to a near halt in 2020, with many countries imposing travel restrictions and tourist arrivals dropping an estimated 60-80%.

Growth in emissions from international shipping has been slowed by the pandemic and is not projected to return to pre-COVID-19 levels until 2030. Shipping emissions in 2020 dropped an estimated 18-35% from 2019 levels. Emission growth for 2030 is projected to range between two scenarios: a low-emission scenario showing a 13% decline from pre-COVID projections (i.e., international shipping emissions to stay at 2019 levels until 2030), and a high-emission scenario showing a return to pre-COVID projections (i.e., emissions regain strong growth and reach original projections for 2030).

Under the low-emission scenario, the estimated emission reduction still remains 600 million tonnes short of the IMO's 2050 target for a 40% reduction below 2008 levels (see Figure 4). The IMO target also remains insufficient to achieve levels compatible with the Paris Agreement, which requires net zero emissions in all sectors by 2050.

Although the decline in demand has reduced emissions from shipping, the COVID-19 pandemic may also stifle efforts to adopt low carbon shipping operations and technologies.

Source: See endnote 9 for this section.



Figure 4. Historic and projected emissions from international shipping, 2000-2050

88

Initiatives supporting low carbon shipping

- The World Economic Forum's Friends of Ocean Action is a coalition of more than 50 ocean leaders from business, civil society, international organisations, science and technology that are fast-tracking solutions to the most pressing challenges facing the oceans.⁵⁸ Their action to decarbonise the maritime and shipping sector focuses on testing technology and innovations to advance the 50-70% emission reduction target by 2050.⁵⁹
- The Getting to Zero Coalition, led by the Global Maritime Forum, is committed to getting commercially viable deep-sea vessels powered by zero-emission fuels into operation by 2030.⁶⁰ The coalition unites more than 140 public and private organisations and has been endorsed by governments in 14 countries across Africa, Asia, Europe, Latin America and the Caribbean, and Oceania.⁶¹
- The High Ambition Coalition (HAC) was created under the leadership of the Marshall Islands in the run-up negotiations to the Paris Agreement, helping to secure key elements of the deal (including the goal of keeping global temperature rise below 1.5)

degrees Celsius and reaching net zero global emissions). $^{\rm 62}$ The HAC co-ordinates with the Shipping High Ambition Coalition within the IMO. $^{\rm 63}$

- In 2019, the Pacific Blue Shipping Partnership announced that the governments of Fiji, Marshall Islands, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tuvalu and Vanuatu had set targets for 40% emission reduction by 2030 and full decarbonisation by 2050.⁶⁴
- The Sea Cargo Charter is a global framework aligning chartering activities to promote decarbonisation in the shipping sector. It provides a benchmark defining a responsible charterer in the maritime sector and guidance on how to achieve it.⁶⁵
- Transport & Environment (T&E) works with other members of the Clean Shipping Coalition to reduce the air pollution and climate impacts of shipping globally and in Europe, by advocating for stricter sulphur limits in maritime fuels at the regional and global levels and for the inclusion of shipping in emission trading schemes.⁶⁶

2017* % change 2018* Market Development Indicators Energy Efficiency Operational Indicator (grams of CO₂ per tonne per nautical mile) · Vessel-based 11.87 11.67 +1.7% · Voyage-based 10.88 10.70 +1.6% Container port traffic (million TEU) 795.7 (2018) 811.2 (2019) +1.9% World fleet (million dead weight tonnes) 1,937,777 (2018) 2,068,970 (2020) +6.8% · Oil tankers 563,188 (2018) 601,544 (2020) +6.8% Bulk carriers 822,905 (2018) 879,330 (2020) +6.9% General cargo 75,701 (2018) 76,139 (2020) +0.6% · Container ships 253,632 (2018) 274,856 (2020) +8.4% · Other types of ships 222,348 (2018) 237,099 (2020) +6.6%

(*) Data are for the indicated year unless noted otherwise. TEU = twenty-foot equivalent unit

Source: See endnote 67 for this section.

Key indicators

In Practice: Additional Policy Measures

Policy targets set

General measures

Norway released its Action Plan for Green Shipping in 2018, which aims to halve domestic emissions by 2030 and to promote zero-emission solutions.⁶⁸

- In 2019, the Swedish shipping association started work on a roadmap towards a fossil-free shipping industry by 2045 in accordance with national plans.69
- Maersk announced in 2018 plans to reach carbon neutrality by 2050 and to support efforts to make carbon-neutral vessels commercially viable by 2030.⁷⁰

"Improve" measures

- In 2020, **Mitsubishi** announced plans to develop a carbon capture system for vessels, with the aim of reducing emissions up to 90% and producing raw materials for new fuels.⁷¹
- In 2020, a consortium of industry partners (including Lloyd's Register, MAN Energy Solutions, MISC Berhad and Samsung Heavy Industries) announced a joint development project for an ammonia-fuelled tanker, with the first ammonia engine estimated to be in operation by 2022.⁷²

Policy measures implemented

Port construction and operation

The European Green Deal, introduced in 2019, includes a plan to develop multi-modal freight operations for rail and waterborne transport, including short-sea (coastal) shipping.⁷³

In early 2020, Nigeria commenced service at its upgraded eastern ports to facilitate more shipping activity, which is expected to increase emissions from the sector.⁷⁴

Carbon-neutral facilities

- In 2019, Houston, Texas became the first USA port to use renewable energy, reducing its annual CO_2 emissions an estimated 25,000 tonnes.⁷⁶
- The Sustainable and Climate-Resilient Connectivity Project, launched in 2019, aims to improve port operations in Nauru, decrease vessel wait times and reduce CO_2 emissions an estimated 11,000 tonnes annually.⁷⁶





Financing Climate Action in Transport

Not only is adequate financing required to achieve transport sustainability and climate objectives, but technical assistance and multi-stakeholder collaboration are also necessary (see Focus Feature: Multi-stakeholder Mobilisation for Climate Action).

This section provides an overview of the current state of investments in sustainable transport, including through official development assistance and support from multilateral development banks. It also looks at current and potential sources of transport finance and discusses the use of pricing mechanisms, such as congestion and carbon taxes, to help support the transition to low carbon mobility. Finally, current investment commitments, projected investment needs and funding gaps are discussed.

Key findings

Transport investment trends

- Nearly two-thirds of the investment in transport infrastructure in 2015 (USD 666 billion, or 66%) went to road transport, followed by rail (USD 231 billion; 23%) and airports and ports (around USD 55 billion, or 5%, each).
- In member countries of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), transport infrastructure spending grew 7% annually on average between 2010 and 2017, before falling nearly 5% in 2018 driven by reduced investment in rail and water transport.
- In 2019, an estimated USD 250 billion was invested in energy efficiency for buildings, industry and transport, but the transport sector received only 26% of this (USD 65 billion), and overall investment in transport has fallen dramatically since 2014.
- On a global basis, investments in walking and cycling infrastructure and in electric vehicle charging infrastructure hold the highest potential to multiply employment opportunities.

Estimated transport investment needs and gaps

- There remains an estimated annual financing gap of around USD 440 billion for transport infrastructure to meet the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals by 2030.
- Investments required to reduce urban emissions through low carbon urban mobility are projected to total USD 1.83 trillion (around 2% of global gross domestic product, GDP) annually, which would result in savings of USD 2.80 trillion in 2030 and USD 6.98 trillion in 2050.
- Globally, investments of USD 2.7 trillion per year from 2016 to 2030 (or USD 40.5 trillion in total) will be needed to achieve low carbon transport pathways, with 60-70% of these investments in emerging economies.
- Regional investment gaps for transport infrastructure by 2040 are significant, estimated at USD 0.8 trillion for Africa, USD 1.6 trillion for Asia and USD 6.0 trillion for the Americas.
- Globally, 88% of roadways do not meet minimum walking safety requirements, and 86% do not meet minimum cycling safety requirements. In Africa, more than 9 out of 10 streets do not meet minimum walking and cycling safety requirements.

Sources of transport infrastructure finance

 In 2019, 37% of infrastructure official development finance (including government aid to developing countries and grants/loans from multilateral financial institutions) was allocated to the transport and storage sectors, compared to 36% to energy and 20% to water and sanitation.

- In 2014-2015 (latest aggregated data), 75% of official development finance for climate objectives in transport was targeted for adaptation activities (mainly port and road transport) and 25% was targeted for mitigation activities (mainly air and rail transport).
- The Multilateral Development Bank (MDB) Working Group on Sustainable Transport reported nearly USD 22 billion of new funding for sustainable transport in 2017 and nearly USD 19 billion in 2018; the Working Group is on track to achieving its 2012 commitment of USD 175 billion over 10 years.
- Multilateral development banks set new climate change targets in 2020, to be achieved primarily by reducing funding for fossil fuels.
- Climate finance for sustainable transport continued a downward trend since 2012, with only 16 new transport projects added to climate finance instrument pipelines between 2018 and 2020.
- Transport represents 20% of green bond proceeds, making it the third largest sector after energy (32%) and buildings (30%). Green bonds for transport reached USD 52 billion in 2019, up 71% from 2018.
- In December 2020, Climate Bonds updated the transport criteria for green bonds to reflect a stricter threshold for passenger transport.
- The COVID-19 pandemic led to a low-yield environment in 2020, making transport infrastructure assets even more attractive to investors by offering predictable cash flows as well as consistent and reasonable returns.

Transport pricing mechanisms and subsidies

- In 2020, around 16% of global greenhouse gas emissions were covered by a carbon pricing mechanism (up from 5% in 2010). However, transport remains largely marginalised in discussions of carbon pricing and emission trading schemes, with few exceptions.
- Global energy subsidies reached an estimated USD 5.2 trillion (6.5% of GDP) in 2017. Despite repeated pledges to end subsidies, support for fossil fuels among G20 governments has declined only 9% since 2014-2016, totalling USD 584 billion annually during 2017-2020.
- Between 2015 and 2018, 50 countries enacted fossil fuel subsidy reforms focused on either consumption or production, or a combination of the two. Despite these and other efforts, global consumer subsidies for fossil fuels increased slightly in 2017.



COVID-19 pandemic recovery investment commitments

- Current COVID-19 recovery packages dwarf existing low carbon investments; only a fraction of the investment in these packages could put the world on track towards decarbonisation by 2050.
- Within recovery packages, only around a third of transport investments are associated with clean transport, which are outweighed by fossil fuelfocused investments.
- G20 countries have committed more than half of total tracked stimulus spending to transport projects (USD 276 of USD 506 billion as of December 2020), but only around one-third of this transport spending (USD 103 billion) targets green transport improvements.
- In September 2020, the mayors of 12 major cities (Berlin, Bristol, Cape Town, Durban, London, Los Angeles, Milan, New Orleans, New York City, Oslo, Pittsburgh and Vancouver) committed to divesting funding from fossil fuel companies and to shifting to a green and just recovery from COVID-19 and to tackling climate change (although the target dates were unspecified).

Overview

Adequate financing is critical to reaching the scale of decarbonisation of the transport sector necessary to achieve Paris Agreement targets.

Ø

of the transport sector necessary to achieve Paris Agreement targets. There is often a lack of government capacity to design transport climate change projects that are attractive to financial institutions and the private sector. Capacity building support is essential and can be leveraged by a wide range of stakeholders.

Transport investment trends

Transport infrastructure investments

Nearly two-thirds of the investment in transport infrastructure in 2015 (USD 666 billion, or 66%) went to road transport, followed by rail (USD 231 billion; 23%) and airports and ports (around USD 55 billion, or 5%, each).¹ Infrastructure investments across 50 countries reached an estimated USD 2.3 trillion, representing roughly 12% of total fixed investments that year.² Around USD 1 trillion of this was invested in transport infrastructure.³ In Africa, the Americas and Oceania, road transport accounted for 75% of all transport infrastructure investments.⁴ Asia and Europe are the only regions where rail infrastructure spending represented a quarter of transport investment volume.⁵

In member countries of the OECD, transport infrastructure spending grew 7% annually on average between 2010 and 2017, before falling nearly 5% in 2018 driven by reduced investment in

rail and water transport.⁶ OECD member countries greatly increased their investments in transport infrastructure between 2010 and 2018. After the financial crisis in 2007/08, the spending for road and aviation infrastructure in these countries nearly doubled within 10 years (*see Figure 1*).⁷ On average, OECD member countries spent 1.17% of their GDP on transport infrastructure in 2018; roughly 0.9% of GDP was allocated to road infrastructure and only 0.2% to rail infrastructure.⁸

China spent 5.6% of its GDP on transport, while Denmark, France, Germany, Mexico, the Russian Federation and the United Kingdom (UK) spent around 0.7% to 0.9% each.⁹ Notable examples include Serbia's recent investment of more than EUR 3.5 billion (USD 4.2 billion) in railway projects (in addition to around EUR 5 billion (USD 6 billion) for road projects) as part of its EUR 14 billion (USD 17 billion) Serbia 2025 transport investment programme.¹⁰

In Africa, 41.7% of infrastructure finance commitments in 2017 went towards transport.¹¹ Latin America and the Caribbean, which has a similar density of paved roads as Africa, spent around 44% of its total infrastructure investments on transport between 2008 and 2015.¹² During 2015-2019, around 1.2% of public spending in the region on average went to transport infrastructure, with higher shares in countries such as Belize (5.4%), Bolivia (5.3%) and Nicaragua (3.9%).¹³

Investments in transport energy efficiency

In 2019, an estimated USD 250 billion was invested globally in energy efficiency for buildings, industry and transport, but the transport sector received only 26% of this (USD 65 billion), and overall investment in transport has fallen dramatically since 2014 (see Figure 2).¹⁴ The transport sector has recorded major achievements in energy efficiency (e.g., through improved fuel economy, vehicle electrification and fleet renewal), although they remain insufficient to meet global sustainability goals. A key reason for the reduction in investments in energy efficiency in the sector is that transport demand is favouring larger vehicles such as sport utility vehicles (SUVs).¹⁵

Employment multipliers for investment in the transport sector

On a global basis, investments in walking and cycling infrastructure and in electric vehicle charging infrastructure hold the highest potential to multiply employment opportunities (see Figure 3).¹⁶ Employment benefits of sustainable transport investments exceed those of other sectors (including building retrofits and solar/wind power conversion), and these benefits are likely even higher in developing regions. Job creation potential across 21 countries in developing regions in Africa, Asia, Eastern Europe and Latin America is estimated at more than 50 million jobs (in public transport and vehicle electrification) created by 2030.¹⁷ A green recovery strategy could generate at least an estimated 10 million additional new jobs in low carbon transport compared to a business-as-usual strategy.¹⁸



Figure 1. Transport infrastructure investments in OECD countries, 2000-2018



Figure 2. Global investment in energy efficiency by sector, 2014-2019

Energy efficiency investments 4 ()₽п 120 Buildings 110 Energy efficiency investments Industry 100 (2014 = 100)90 80 70 60 50 (2016) (2018) (2019) (2010) 2015 (2017



Figure 3. Potential jobs created through transport investments

Source: See endnote 16 for this section.

Projected transport investment needs and gaps

There remains an estimated annual financing gap of around USD 440 billion for transport infrastructure to meet the UN Sustainable Development Goals by 2030 (see Figure 4).¹⁹ In 2015, the annual spending for transport infrastructure totalled roughly USD 315 billion.²⁰ Of this amount, developing country governments financed around 80%, the private sector around 15% and development partners around 5% through official development finance.²¹

Investments required to reduce urban emissions through low carbon urban mobility are projected to total USD 1.83 trillion (around 2% of global GDP) annually, which would result in savings of USD 2.80 trillion in 2030 and USD 6.98 trillion in 2050.²² Global investment needs for transport infrastructure are estimated to be USD 50 trillion through 2050.²³

Globally, investments of USD 2.7 trillion per year from 2016 to 2030 (or USD 40.5 trillion in total) will be needed to achieve low carbon transport pathways, with 60-70% of these investments in emerging economies.²⁴ Low carbon transport pathways entail an integrated approach of *Avoid*, *Shift* and *Improve*

measures that have to be implemented quickly to avoid lock-in effects of carbon-intensive and cost-intensive infrastructure and behaviour.²⁵ However, regional investment gaps for transport infrastructure by 2040 are significant, estimated at USD 0.8 trillion for Africa, USD 1.6 trillion for Asia and USD 6.0 trillion for the Americas.²⁶

In Africa and in the Americas, 95% and 88% respectively of the investment gap is associated with road transport, whereas in Oceania the gap for road infrastructure is the smallest concern.²⁷ Globally, 88% of roadways do not meet minimum walking safety requirements, and 86% do not meet minimum cycling safety requirements.²⁸ In Africa, more than 9 out of 10 streets do not meet minimum walking and cycling safety requirements.²⁹ The Rural Access Index, measuring the proportion of people with access to an all-season road within walking distance of 2 kilometres, shows that African countries have the lowest access: for example, in 2017 rural access was estimated at 11.4% of the population in Malawi and 22.3% in Mali.³⁰





Figure 4. Spending for transport connectivity by financier in 2015 and the annual investment gap to 2030

Source: See endnote 19 for this section.

Sources of transport infrastructure finance



Transport infrastructure (especially road transport) is traditionally financed by taxpayers and/or by the users of this infrastructure, while in some cases (e.g., railways and airports) it is built by private stakeholders and financed through bond issuance. Given the need to continuously maintain, expand and update transport infrastructure, public revenue sources are often insufficient to meet rising demand.³¹ Additional private investment and international development finance is often required, including loans, grants and loan guarantees.³²

Blended finance schemes, which use some combination of domestic resources, development aid and private finance (including public-private partnerships), also have proven effective in financing transport. The COVID-19 pandemic led to an increased attractiveness of transport infrastructure investments as an emerging investment trend (*see Box 1*).³³

Investment mechanisms

Pension funds are a potential source of transport finance, as these funds typically have longer timelines and an interest in stable returns. Some of the largest pension funds in Canada now own major transport facilities worldwide, including the UK's lone highspeed rail line; airports in Brussels, Copenhagen and Sydney; toll roads in Melbourne, Santiago and Toronto; and seaports in New Jersey, New York and Vancouver.³⁴

In 2020, New York State's USD 226 billion pension fund committed to divest from many of its fossil fuel stocks by 2025 and to sell (by 2040) its shares in other companies that contribute to global warming, "because investing for the low carbon future is essential to protect the fund's long-term value."³⁵ This decision highlights a growing trend in climate-conscious pension funds, with increasing opportunities to finance the decarbonisation of transport.³⁶ However, legal changes are often necessary to unlock such funds.³⁷

Public procurement mechanisms provide another opportunity for financing sustainable transport. Almost all publicly procured services have an impact on transport, and thus can contribute greatly to making the sector more sustainable.³⁸ For public procurement to regularly support sustainable transport, necessary factors include frameworks and regulations that take a lifetime approach to cost analysis, and the use of multi-criteria cost-benefit analyses that assess the full environmental, social and economic costs and benefits of purchasing decisions.³⁹ For urban transport infrastructure, other potential sources of revenue include land value capture tools, which generate funds for transport projects based on the increase in the value of land and real estate adjacent to new subway lines, roads and other public works.⁴⁰

"Green" taxonomies are also increasing opportunities for financial institutions to support sustainable transport investments. According to the World Bank, "a green taxonomy identifies the activities or investments that deliver on environmental objectives, helping drive capital more efficiently toward priority environmentally sustainable projects."⁴¹ Such guidance can help financial institutions originate and structure green banking products such as loans, credits and guarantees, and it can help investors identify opportunities for impact investments that comply with sustainability criteria.⁴²

In July 2020, the EU established a region-wide classification framework to enable investors to identify which economic activities and investments can be treated as "environmentally sustainable".⁴³ However, there has been some debate over the inclusion of specific transport standards in this taxonomy, with some calling for stricter environmental standards for the shipping industry, for example.⁴⁴

Official development assistance for transport

The OECD Development Assistance Committee tracks flows of official development finance – including both government aid to developing countries and other official transactions such as export credits and funds supporting private investment – for infrastructure across sectors.⁴⁶

In 2019, 37% of infrastructure official development finance (including government aid to developing countries and grants/ loans from multilateral financial institutions) was allocated to the transport and storage sectors, compared to 39% for energy and 20% for water and sanitation.⁴⁶ This included allocations of 18% to road transport, 11% to rail transport, and less than 2% each to air transport, water transport, and general education and training for the transport and storage sectors.⁴⁷

In 2014-2015 (latest aggregated data), roughly 75% of official development finance for climate objectives in transport was targeted for adaptation activities (mainly port and road transport) and 25% was targeted for mitigation activities (mainly air and rail transport).⁴⁹ Official development finance for transport connectivity allocated from development partners averaged USD 15 billion annually (compared to an average of USD 52 billion from the private sector).⁴⁹ Among the USD 15 billion, only a third was directly connected to meeting climate objectives.⁵⁰

Of the USD 15 billion financed by development partners, 25% was financed by bilateral partners, and 75% was financed by multilateral development banks and other international organisations.⁵¹ In 2019, of the total official development assistance to transport from the top 10 of 27 development partners, 62% went to road transport, followed by 22% for transport policy and administrative management (*see Figure 5*).⁵²

Multilateral development bank investments in sustainable transport

The MDB Working Group on Sustainable Transport reported nearly USD 22 billion of new funding for sustainable transport in 2017 and nearly USD 19 billion in 2018; the Working Group is on track to achieving its 2012 commitment of USD 175 billion over 10 years.⁵³ As part of the 2012 Rio+20 Commitment for Sustainable Transport, this working group of eight multilateral development banks committed to investing USD 175 billion in loans and grants for sustainable transport in developing countries from 2012 to 2022.⁵⁴ As of 2018, the banks had provided nearly 85% of their pledged finding, with three years left to reach the target (*see Figure 6*).⁵⁵

Multilateral development banks also have independently invested in sustainable transport. In 2019, the European Investment Bank (EIB) had 81 new transport projects inside the EU with a volume of EUR 10.5 billion (USD 12.5 billion), enabling sustainable mobility services for 630 million additional passengers.⁵⁶ From 2017 to 2020, the Asian Development Bank invested USD 1 billion in transport projects in the Pacific.⁵⁷

Multilateral development banks are important sources for climate change mitigation and adaptation finance in transport and other sectors. In 2019, multilateral development banks financed USD 46.6 billion for climate change mitigation (with around 30% allocated to transport) and USD 14.9 billion for climate adaptation (with around 25% allocated to energy, transport and other infrastructure).⁵⁸ In low-and middle-income economies, funding for mitigation accounted

Box 1. Emerging transport investment trends

The COVID-19 pandemic led to a low-yield environment in 2020, making transport infrastructure assets even more attractive to investors by offering predictable cash flows as well as consistent and reasonable returns. The year marked an important and growing interest in sustainable investing, with global "environmental, social and corporate governance" (ESG) assets tripling to USD 40.5 trillion during the year.

Additional factors leading to a more supportive environment for investments in sustainable transport include increased national commitments to achieve net zero emissions by a specified year (including from China, the European Union (EU), Japan and the UK); a new USA administration that has rejoined the Paris Agreement; new climate-related financial reporting requirements; and increased media coverage and public understanding of climate issues.

Source: See endnote 33 for this section.

Figure 5. Official development assistance to transport from the top 10 development partners, by sub-sector, 2019



Source: See endnote 52 for this section.

Figure 6. Contributions by the Multilateral Development Bank Working Group on Sustainable Transport, 2012-2018



Source: See endnote 55 for this section.

for 66% of total climate finance from multilateral development banks, and adaptation finance accounted for 34%.⁵⁹ In high-income economies, mitigation finance exceeded adaptation finance by a ratio of nearly 20:1.⁶⁰

Multilateral development banks set new climate change targets in 2020, to be achieved primarily by reducing funding for fossil fuels. The EIB aimed to become the first multilateral development bank to align all financing activities with the Paris Agreement by the end of 2020 and to end financing for fossil fuel energy projects by the end of 2021.⁶¹ The Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank announced that it would end funding for coal but has not specified a date.⁶² The bank aims for 50% of investments to be linked to climate change mitigation by 2025, and by 2019 it had already achieved nearly 40%.⁶³

The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development published a Transport Strategy for 2019-2024 with the goal of closing the infrastructure gap with more green economy, climate resilience and private sector involvement.⁶⁴ The Islamic Development Bank released a new Climate Action Plan in 2020 that sets a much more ambitious target for climate finance to account for 35% of overall annual lending (by finance volume) by 2025 (it represented only 18.7% of projects in 2013-2017).⁶⁵

Climate finance for sustainable transport

Climate finance for sustainable transport continued a downward trend since 2012, with only 16 new transport projects added to climate finance instrument pipelines between 2018 and 2020.⁶⁶ SLOCAT's climate finance instrument database included 300 sustainable transport projects, covering mechanisms such as the Clean Development Mechanism, the Clean Technology Fund, the Green Climate Fund (GCF), the Global Environment Facility (GEF), the International Climate Initiative (IKI), the Joint Crediting Mechanism, Joint Implementation, Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions (NAMAs) and the Nordic Development Fund (*see Figure 7*).⁶⁷

The GEF supported four transport projects during 2018-2020: electric public buses in Mauritius, sustainable low-emission transport systems in Lebanon, the low-emission transport strategy in Chile and a global programme for a shift towards electric mobility.⁶⁸ Of the 143 climate projects financed by the GCF as of August 2020, only 4 are focused on transport, and the only new transport project since 2018 is the USD 583 million bus rapid transit project in Karachi, Pakistan, which aims to avoid 2.6 million tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO₂).⁶⁹

In 2019 and 2020, the IKI kickstarted three major projects: the NDC Transport Initiative for Asia, Growing Smarter: Sustainable Mobility in East Africa and Decarbonising Transport in Emerging Economies.⁷⁰ IKI also supported a NAMA initiated in 2020 on the

promotion of electric vehicles in Cabo Verde.⁷¹ In 2018, the Nordic Development Fund co-financed with EUR 8 million (USD 9.6 million) a 58-kilometre climate-resilient National Road in Lao People's Democratic Republic.⁷²

Other funding mechanisms are emerging to help address the gap in climate finance for sustainable urban mobility. The City Climate Finance Gap Fund was established to support cities and local governments in developing countries in prioritising climate-smart investments. The goal of the fund is to attract support for turning low carbon, climate-resilient investment priorities into finance-ready, implementable projects.⁷³

Green bonds

Transport represents 20% of green bond proceeds, making it the third largest sector after energy (32%) and buildings (30%).⁷⁴ Green bonds for transport reached USD 52 billion in 2019, up 71% from 2018 (see *Figure 8*).⁷⁵ Transport is gaining prominence in "green" and other climate-themed bonds, in which the proceeds are earmarked for projects with environmental or climate benefits. Green bonds help attract investor demand for climate-aligned investments, reduce market friction and facilitate financial flows.⁷⁶ The green bond market totalled USD 258.9 billion in 2019, up 51% from 2018.⁷⁷

Government-backed entities have been the driving force of green bond transport activities. Between 2018 and 2020, France certified 10 bonds worth over USD 9 billion, more than any other issuer, to finance the expansion of metro lines in Paris.⁷⁸ Thailand issued a THB 30 billion (USD 1 billion) Sustainability Bond in August 2020, with a third of the sum allocated for construction of the Bangkok Mass Rapid Transit Orange line.⁷⁹ Automobile companies certified green bonds to support their electric vehicle programmes, such as Porsche (USD 1.2 billion in August 2019) and Volkswagen Group (USD 2.34 billion in September 2020).⁸⁰

Certified Climate Bonds - based on criteria consistent with the Paris Agreement's target to keep global temperature rise this century below 2 degrees Celsius - passed the USD 100 billion mark in 2019.⁸¹

In December 2020, Climate Bonds updated the transport criteria for green bonds to reflect a stricter threshold for passenger transport. To qualify, a passenger transport project cannot exceed 50 grams of direct CO_2 emissions per passenger-kilometre for 2020-2024 and must be zero emissions from 2025.⁸² New inter-urban rail projects need to prove a 25% emission reduction in the corridor, and for freight, fossil fuel transport is allowed to represent only 25% of the freight rail cargo (down from 50% previously).⁸³





Source: See endnote 67 for this section.

Figure 8. Total proceeds of green bonds for transport, 2015-2019



Source: See endnote 75 for this section.

Transport pricing mechanisms and subsidies

Pricing mechanisms can help account for negative externalities caused by transport – such as greenhouse gas emissions, congestion, road accidents and air pollution – and can support investors in further divesting from carbon-intensive mobility options. Pricing mechanisms include carbon pricing, taxes on fuels and vehicles, fossil fuel subsidy reforms, congestion charging and parking prices (see Section 3.2 on Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management).⁸⁴

Carbon pricing

In 2020, around 16% of global greenhouse gas emissions were covered by a carbon pricing mechanism (up from 5% in 2010).⁸⁵ However, transport remains largely marginalised in discussions of carbon pricing and emission trading schemes, with few exceptions.⁸⁶

In 2019, South Africa implemented a carbon tax covering transport, among other sectors.⁸⁷ Canada also implemented a carbon pricing scheme that year, and as of April 2020 the price was USD 30 per tonne of CO₂ equivalent in provinces that lacked their own carbon pricing systems, leading to an increase in fuel charges.⁸⁸ Germany and Luxembourg planned to launch national carbon markets in 2021 that would also cover transport, and Austria aimed to in 2022.⁸⁹ The EU has proposed extending its Emissions Trading System to the maritime sector and reducing the allowances allocated for free to airlines.⁹⁰ China plans to expand its Emission Trading System to cover domestic aviation.⁹¹ In general, carbon pricing mechanisms are currently too low to be fully effective.⁹²

Transport subsidies

Public subsidies can reduce the cost of sustainable transport measures, including for low-emission transport modes and freight transport. This can help incentivise shifting trips from energy-intensive, higher-emitting modes to more sustainable modes. Although in some cases public subsidies target transport users (such as subsidising public transport fares for low-income populations), current subsidies do not always benefit those with the greatest need. Other subsidies target transport operators (such as increasing the supply of public transport services), although there is broad evidence that operating subsidies can lead to inefficiencies.⁹³

Fossil fuel subsidies

Subsidies also may incentivise less-sustainable modes by reducing the cost of fossil fuel-based transport. Many governments maintain subsidies for fossil fuels or fail to adequately tax them, suppressing retail prices of petrol below the price of crude oil on the world market and continuing to undermine climate action.⁹⁴ Public subsidies lock society in to private road transport powered by petroleum or diesel fuels. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) estimates that the monetised impacts of externalities are 10 times the direct financial cost of subsidies.⁹⁵ While the distortionary effects of direct and indirect subsidies are well recognised, many governments find these policies difficult to abandon due to vested interests.

Global energy subsidies reached an estimated USD 5.2 trillion (6.5% of GDP) in 2017.⁹⁶ Despite repeated pledges to end subsidies, support for fossil fuels among G20 governments has declined



Figure 9. Transport oil subsidies, 2010-2019

9

only 9% since 2014-2016, totalling USD 584 billion annually during 2017-2020.⁹⁷ The top five largest subsidies (in terms of total spending) are provided by China, the United States of America (USA), the Russian Federation, the EU and India.⁹⁸ The OECD and BRICS countries (Brazil, the Russian Federation, India, Indonesia, China and South Africa) collectively spend USD 41.6 billion a year subsidising fossil fuel use in urban areas.⁹⁹

Global subsidies for transport oil dropped sharply in 2015 and 2016 but have risen in subsequent years (*see Figure 9*).¹⁰⁰ This trend may continue due to disproportionate funding committed to fossil fuels in COVID-19 recovery packages (*see Box 2*).¹⁰¹

Fossil fuel subsidy reform can help accelerate a transition to a low carbon economy, as outlined in Sustainable Development Goal target 12.c on rationalising inefficient fossil fuel subsidies.¹⁰² The IMF estimates that in 2015, more-efficient fuel prices would have reduced global CO_2 emissions 28%, avoided 46% of air pollution deaths, increased tax revenues by 3.8% of global GDP and added economic benefits worth 1.7% of global GDP.¹⁰³

Between 2015 and 2018, 50 countries enacted fossil fuel subsidy reforms focused on either consumption or production, or a combination of the two (*see Figure 10*).¹⁰⁴ Despite these and other efforts, global consumer subsidies for fossil fuels increased slightly in 2017.¹⁰⁶ Nigeria reformed its fossil fuel subsidy framework, saving the government at least USD 2 billion a year.¹⁰⁶ India incrementally reduced oil and gas subsidies 75% from 2014 to

2017 – while increasing funding for renewable energy six-fold – and also implemented communication campaigns to assess consumer views to deliver successful reforms. $^{\rm 107}$

Pricing reform for transport fuels remains a complicated issue in many countries. In 2019, Ecuador announced the removal of subsidies for petrol and diesel, causing petrol prices to increase by a quarter and diesel prices to roughly double.¹⁰⁸ The policy set off 12 days of violent protests, which led the government to ultimately reinstall fossil fuel subsidies.¹⁰⁹ In 2015, Indonesia completed petrol and diesel subsidy reforms, saving up to USD 15.5 billion; however, it has not implemented fuel price changes in a regular manner, with gaps between price adjustments increasing over time.¹¹⁰

Aligning fossil fuel subsidy and finance reforms can create more efficient mechanisms for sustainable transport. Fossil fuel finance reform can help channel lending from development banks and other international financial institutions to more sustainable uses. In November 2020, the **EIB Group** released its Climate Bank 2021-2025 Roadmap, which considers as "ineligible transport uses" any vehicles that exceed minimum efficiency thresholds, road and rail vehicles and infrastructure dedicated to transporting fossil fuels, and airport expansion projects.¹¹¹ Also that November, the world's **450 public development banks** jointly committed to align their lending with Paris Agreement targets. The UN Secretary General has recurrently called for governments to develop concrete plans and targets to phase out fossil fuel subsidies and for development banks to phase out fossil fuel subsidies and for development banks to phase out fossil fuel subsidies and for development banks to phase out fossil fuel subsidies and for development banks to phase out fossil fuel subsidies and for development banks to phase out fossil fuel subsidies and for development banks to phase out fossil fuel finance.¹¹²

Figure 10. Countries undertaking fossil fuel subsidy reforms, 2015-2018



Source: See endnote 104 for this section.

*

Box 2. Transport investment commitments in COVID-19 pandemic recovery packages

Current COVID-19 recovery packages dwarf existing low carbon investments; only a fraction of the investment in these packages could put the world on track towards decarbonisation by 2050. To address the economic and social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and set a course for the future, multiple countries have approved emergency recovery packages. Some of these packages include sustainable mobility measures, although many represent disproportionate investments in fossil fuels, further perpetuating lock-in effects.

Within recovery packages, only around a third of transport investments are associated with clean transport, which are outweighed by fossil fuel-focused investments. As of April 2021, the Global Recovery Observatory covered more than 3,700 investment responses to the COVID-19 pandemic; of these, around 115 belong to the category "clean transport", which equals more than USD 80 billion (or 29% of captured total transport investments). Another analysis on the environmental contribution of stimulus packages as of February 2021 concluded that in 23 out of 28 economies the packages supported transport developments that will result in negative impacts on the environment.

G20 countries have committed more than half of total tracked stimulus spending to transport projects (USD 276 of USD 506 billion as of December 2020), but only about one-third of this transport spending (USD 103 billion) targets green transport improvements (see Figure 11).

Examples of national recovery packages with sustainable transport investments include the following:

- China promoted two programmes for electric mobility; one extending an existing programme that provides subsidies and tax breaks for 2 million new electric vehicles annually until 2022, and the other to implement 600,000 electric vehicle charging points, with a USD 1.45 billion investment.
- The EU agreed to the Next Generation EU recovery fund of EUR 750 billion (USD 900 billion), which supports transport decarbonisation through investments in cleaner, healthier and more affordable active and public transport.
- Finland assigned USD 1.7 billion to help offset the loss of revenue in public transport, to advance projects to support walking and cycling, and to support new public transport investments.
- France created several programmes to encourage purchases of electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles, support research and development (R&D) in the automotive industry, provide relief during the pandemic, and advance charging infrastructure, totalling USD 8.72 billion, as well as USD 70 million to support bike repairs, installing temporary parking

spaces for bikes and cycle training.

- Germany approved EUR 2.5 billion (USD 3 billion) to support local public transport during 2020 and a EUR 50 billion (USD 60 million) investment package to support electric vehicle purchases, charging infrastructure, R&D for electric mobility and battery cell production, innovation in the automotive industry and fleet renewal to promote electric vehicles. The package also plans tax changes to require highercarbon emission vehicles to pay more.
- Ireland approved USD 136 million for active travel, public transport and renewal of transport infrastructure.
- Italy approved programmes to deduct taxes for electric vehicles and charging infrastructure (110% tax deductions), encourage bicycling (claim back 60% of investments up to USD 500 million per city), cover losses in revenue in public transport and subsidise new electric vehicles (EUR 6,000 or USD 7,300 per unit, up from EUR 4,000 or USD 4,800 previously).
- New Zealand approved USD 720 million to enhance the resiliency and reliability of national rail and ferry services.
- The Republic of Korea introduced a Green New Deal totalling USD 61 billion over five years, which includes plans to enhance the country's fleet to 1.33 million electric (including hydrogen-powered) vehicles.
- Spain advanced a USD 1.12 billion package for public transport and shared mobility, replacing government fleets with zero-emission vehicles, R&D in sustainable mobility and its associated industry and subsidising the replacement of old vehicles for zero- and lowemission ones.
- The UK approved a GBP 5 billion (USD 6.9 billion) package for buses, walking and cycling, with the first stage including GBP 250 million (USD 350 million) for pop-up bike lanes, wider pavements, safer junctions, and cycle- and bus-only corridors.
- In early 2021, the USA proposed USD 174 billion to build a national network of 500,000 electric vehicle chargers by 2030, to support manufacturing of batteries and electric vehicles, and to retool factories to compete globally. The plan would also replace 50,000 diesel transit vehicles, electrify at least 20% of the nation's school bus fleets, and electrify the federal fleet, including postal vehicles.

Cities around the world are leveraging the pandemic to advance investments in sustainable, low carbon transport. In September 2020, the mayors of 12 major cities (Berlin, Bristol, Cape Town, Durban, London, Los Angeles, Milan, New Orleans, New York City, Oslo, Pittsburgh and Vancouver) committed to divesting funding from fossil fuel companies and to shifting to a green and just recovery from COVID-19 and to tackling climate change (although the target dates were unspecified). Examples of city recovery plans with sustainable transport investments include the following:

- Bogotá, Colombia announced implementation of a further 35 kilometres of cycleways, in addition to the city's existing 550-kilometre network.
- The government of Mexico City, Mexico will invest USD 1 billion to create 1 million new construction jobs, including efforts to fast-track a bus rapid transit line and two cableways planned before the pandemic.
- Milan, Italy launched an integrated strategy to reduce

demand for travel, improve integration of public transport with other mobility systems, and promote shared vehicles, bicycles and scooters, among other measures.

Seoul, the Republic of Korea plans to scale up goods delivery via robots and to accelerate implementation of a bicycle expressway network, with the aim of achieving a 15% cycling mode share by 2030.

Source: See endnote 101 for this section.

Figure 11. Stimulus spending for sustainable transport by transport mode, as of December 2020





Focus Features

Seven Focus Features put a spotlight on important cross-cutting issues: improving access to opportunities, adaptation policy measures in the transport sector, behavioural change in transport as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, gender and sustainable mobility, the health impacts of transport, paratransit as a complement to formal transport networks, and multistakeholder mobilisation for climate action.

238



Impact of COVID 19 on Travel Behaviour

	Addressing Climate Chang and Improving Access to Opportunities	e 239
	Adaptation Policy Measure in the Transport Sector	s 241
ŕ	Gender and Sustainable Mobility	243
~	Health Impacts of Transport	245
	Paratransit as a Complement to Formal Transport Networks	247
	Multi-stakeholder Mobilisation for Climate Action in Transport	249

ssues

Republic of Korea recorded over 2.7 million rides during June 2020 (up from 1.2 million rides during June 2018 and June 2019 combined).

Enforce safety measures in public

transport to regain trust and nudge

less carbon-intensive behaviours.

In all regions, public transport

service providers ensured

additional sanitary measures.¹⁰

Focus Feature 1 Impact of COVID 19 on Travel Behaviour





What do policy makers need to do

Convert temporary to permanent measures and policies. (bicycle lanes, open streets) and communicate the benefits of active mobility.

Bogotá implemented 76 km of popup bicycle lanes in the first months of the pandemic.¹¹ Support green recovery, local commerce and local leaders to create networks of change makers.

The Next Generation EU recovery fund of USD 900 billion over 7 years supports decarbonisation through active and public transport.¹²

238

Focus Feature 2 Addressing Climate Change and Improving Access to Opportunities

limate action in the transport sector can simultaneously address key transport needs for people, including providing access to opportunities such as jobs, education and services that enable people to thrive and economies to grow.

In cities, providing more equal access to transport for all residents can be well aligned with addressing climate change. In many cities, more than half of residents lack access to opportunities within 60 minutes' travel time.¹ A recent study analysing access to jobs in Johannesburg (South Africa) and Mexico City found that 42% and 56% of urbanites, respectively, are under-served in their ability to reach job locations (see Figure 1).²

The research shows that residents who are under-served by transport options face severe access constraints and are unable to travel to reach destinations.³ This includes people who can afford to commute only on foot or by bicycle, or who do not have any viable means to travel. It also includes those that spend above-average amounts of time and money on commuting (as much as 35% of income), who are often located in peripheral suburbs far from economic opportunities.⁴

The following three recommendations can improve access for all in cities, while simultaneously helping to achieve climate goals:

- Build complete, democratic, and safe street networks, reprioritising road space and improving pedestrian safety and security, including rethinking the role of streets and who they serve;
- Shift from individual transport modes towards an integrated network of multimodal useroriented services;

• Temper the demand for private vehicle use.

These solutions to improving access can also address climate change within the Avoid-Shift-Improve approach (see *Part I.A Box on Avoid-Shift-Improve framework*), particularly in the first two areas of avoiding unnecessary travel and shifting to more sustainable modes. Investments in sustainable transport modes in urban areas can bring significant emission reductions: analysis shows that better public transport, walking, and cycling, together with a fuel economy goal, could cut annual urban passenger transport CO₂ emissions 55% below business-as-usual levels in 2050.⁵

There are also ways to improve transport access in rural areas while mitigating carbon emissions. Much of the world lacks adequate access in rural areas. For example, 65% of people in rural **sub-Saharan Africa** live farther than 2 kilometres from a weatherised road, stranding many from life-saving healthcare and market opportunities that improve farming productivity and earnings.⁶ The World Bank's Rural Access Index, developed in 2006, intends to capture this issue in support of Sustainable Development Goal 9 (focused on building resilient infrastructure, promoting inclusive and sustainable industrialization, and fostering innovation).⁷ The updated methodology was applied to 25 countries, indicating that among the assessed countries, those in Africa have far lower access to transport than those in Asia (see Figure 2).⁸

While expanding and improving road networks will be necessary to improve access challenges, climate-friendly policies can also be taken into account. These may include, but are not limited to:

- Reducing the need to travel in rural areas by shaping land-use policy to reduce trip lengths and cluster planning around villages and small towns;
- Providing for the needs of rural residents by improving conditions for walking and bicycling, as well as intercity bus or other shared transport routes;
- Creating sustainable freight and supply chains that efficiently transport goods to market or needed goods to rural populations; and
- Improving transport modes with moreefficient technologies (such as electrification or other less carbon-intensive vehicles) for

trips that are necessary to access markets or reach jobs and services.

Lastly, in order to simultaneously improve access to opportunities and address climate change in transport, policy makers must address the mobility needs of all people, such as women and historically underserved groups (see sidebar on Gender and Sustainable Mobility). For example, public transport is not accessible unless it is safe and secure for women to use.

Figure 1. Unequal distribution of accessibility to jobs in Johannesburg and Mexico City







Focus Feature 3 Adaptation Policy Measures in the Transport Sector

ransport systems, assets and modes worldwide are vulnerable to shocks and stresses – including climate change. Depending on their nature and the degree of exposure, some systems will be affected by gradual (or slow-onset) changes, such as in temperature or sea level, while others may be impacted by more frequent or severe hydro-meteorological events, including heatwaves, rainfall (flooding or drought), extreme wind speeds or wave heights.¹

The types of impacts vary. Heatwaves can damage infrastructure such as rail tracks, overhead wires, and pavement surfaces, disrupting transport. Droughts can reduce water levels for inland navigation, and long dry spells can affect the integrity of infrastructure. High winds, extreme waves and storm surges can impact coastal infrastructure, including ports; high winds can affect airports; and extreme rainfall can flood riverbased transport corridors. Trucks, trains, ships, buses, planes, cars and other transport modes may need to be modified to ensure safe and reliable operation in extreme conditions.

Adapting to slow-onset changes

In some cases, the response to gradual changes in temperature and hence in sea level, precipitation patterns, etc. may require physical interventions such as relocating, reinforcing, raising, strengthening or otherwise modifying transport infrastructure or systems. However, not all adaptation requires such costly interventions. Operational changes may suffice, including revised working practices, rescheduled activities or operations, or restrictions in high-risk areas. Monitoring can help inform decisions on when action is needed, but climate change exacerbates existing uncertainties and introduces new ones. These uncertainties, including about the rate and magnitude of change in key climate parameters and processes, must be accommodated in order to avoid "maladaptation" (an action, or inaction, that leads to an increased risk of an adverse climate-related outcome).

Photo credits: AP Photo/ Lee Jin-mar

Climate change demands innovative solutions, which first require a recognition and understanding of the challenge. To help identify these challenges when options are being considered for adaptation of a system, asset or operation with an operational life of more than 10 years, a range of climate change scenarios will need to be assessed.² In some cases, the extent of difference between the various plausible climate futures may indicate a preference for an adaptive solution that can be modified as conditions change. In other cases, back-up provisions or engineered redundancy may need to incorporated. The cost of inaction can be significant.

Preparing for extremes

As with slow-onset changes, some of the challenges facing transport infrastructure and systems can be addressed through modifications to existing networks or assets, or by the design of new ones. However, structures and operations that are prone to failure should be designed to fail "gracefully" (in a managed way) rather than catastrophically when conditions exceed design standards. This may involve undertaking risk assessments and preparing contingency plans; developing earlywarning systems; prioritising asset inspection and maintenance; and investing in back-up provisions. Sharing information and engaging with relevant stakeholders plays a critical role in delivering sustainable and resilient transport networks.

Institutional support

Effective adaptation of transport systems, infrastructure and modes requires more than just technical/physical and operational/management action. Institutional measures are also vital.³ Climate change adaptation plans need to be prepared and strategies developed. Land-use planning and development control policies can reduce risks by encouraging transport infrastructure to locate (or relocate) out of high-risk areas, and by introducing "build back better" and similar policies. Technical guidelines and codes of practice may also need to be revised. Financing organisations and the insurance industry are key players in encouraging and delivering effective adaptation. Climate risk and adaptation costs should be embedded in finance decisions for all new development. Climate risk disclosure is an important tool but is often inadequate. Improved information on physical risks will be needed, as the cost and availability of insurance will increasingly reflect the adequacy of investment in resilience.

The early months of the COVID-19 pandemic exposed many vulnerabilities in transport systems: a lack of contingency planning and preparedness; inflexible operations with insufficient adaptive capacity; and a limited ability to respond quickly. But over time, new ways of working have evolved and important lessons about adaptation planning have been learned. The potential for extreme events to disrupt transport has many parallels with the pandemic. Improved preparedness and resilience will be essential if consequences are to be minimised and recovery rates optimised.

Focus Feature 4 Gender and Sustainable Mobility

Why it matters

Women's mobility and collective action has huge potential to enhance the use of sustainable mobility and to help achieve low-carbon mobility targets. Evidence from around the globe demonstrates that women and men have different mobility patterns, needs and experiences.¹ Due to limited access to transport resources, women are also more likely to use more sustainable forms of transport. In many cities, women tend to take public transport with greater frequency than men, and also walk more.² India's 2011 census reported that 84% of women use low-carbon transport modes to travel to workplaces in urban areas.³ Research also suggests that women's greater familiarity with varied trip patterns makes them more open to multiple and sustainable modes of transport.⁴

In turn, sustainable mobility can advance gender equality by broadening women's access to employment and education opportunities, participation in public life and women's right to the city. A recent study from the International Labour Organization showed that limited access to transport in developing countries was the greatest obstacle to women's participation in the labour market, reducing their probability of participation by 15.5 percentage points.⁵ Recognising the crucial role of sustainable infrastructure in advancing gender equality, the 2019 session of the United Nations Commission on the Status of Women recommended the creation of inclusive transport.⁶ To create more inclusive societies, efforts to achieve sustainable mobility should enhance the rights, dignity and capabilities of women. The first step is to identify and address barriers to women's mobility.

Photo credits: Flick

Barriers to women's mobility

Restrictive social norms – including gender roles, taboos, prohibitions, stigma and expectations – have been used as rationales to unfairly distribute resources and reinforce gender inequality, including in the transport sector.⁷ Norms and attitudes on gender and mobility, such as the value assigned to care activities and whether or not women should be in public spaces, may affect access and use of transport modes.

Women face a complex interaction of financial, physical and socio-cultural factors.⁸ Unsafe infrastructure, lack of physical distance, time poverty, limited information, skills, affordability and limited access to technology have been identified as key barriers to women and girls' mobility.⁹ For example, a World Bank study showed that in Lima, Peru, women are more likely to make transport decisions based on safety.¹⁰ In a UN Women study in Kigali, Rwanda, 55% of women reported concerns about using public transport to go to educational institutions after dark. Minority women face additional challenges and discrimination that affect their mobility options. In London, the underrepresentation of black women cyclists portrayed in the media and seen on the streets is a barrier for cycling for black women.¹¹ Evidence suggests that women's decision-making power, self-efficacy and control of transport is more limited compared to men. Research suggests that men mostly have priority use of the family car or bicycle, even if women in the family have a greater need for it due to a more complex set of trips.¹² Women's ability to negotiate and control transport resources and budgets is limited not only in the household, but also within transport institutions and city planning offices, where women are overwhelming underrepresented in the work force, especially in decision-making positions. In the European Union, women make up only 22% of the transport sector workforce, and globally women represent only 18% of staff in infrastructure ministries, including energy, transport and communications.¹³

There is an untapped potential to transform these gender inequalities in mobility into opportunities to make women central actors in moving towards sustainable mobility.

Recommendations

In the last decade, the need to move away from genderblind mobility has been recognised and has led to several calls for action, including an increase in research, documentation of practices, and strategies to enhance women's sustainable mobility.¹⁴ Today, as cities respond to a health pandemic and rethink mobility policies, transport systems and public spaces, it is the perfect time to capitalise on gender-responsive sustainable mobility. Doing so requires a comprehensive and multi-pronged approach that addresses women's mobility challenges and mainstreams gender in sustainable mobility policies, plans and budgets. Failure to do this would be a missed opportunity for the environment and gender equality.

Recommendations for action include:

Governments and international community

- Ensure that mobility and urban policies and planning are gender-responsive and take into account the different needs of women and men.
- Conduct systematic assessments of the environmental and gender impacts of sustainable mobility and undertake gender analysis to understand the motivations, expectations and perceptions of different modes of transport and technologies.
- Engage equal participation and leadership of women, women's organisations and LGBTQI communities in policy dialogues and decision making relating to sustainable mobility.
- Incorporate a gender mainstreaming approach throughout mobility policies and transport infrastructure life cycles, especially during the investment and design stages.
- Identify and remove barriers to women and girls' access to sustainable mobility, such as space to physically distance from others on public transport, limited information, skills, unsafe infrastructure, stigma and discrimination.
- Ensure that progress in gender-responsive mobility is not undermined by budget cuts and austerity measures.

Civil society, environmental and feminist movements

- Raise public awareness of women's mobility needs with respect for local culture.
- Conduct safety audits of sustainable mobility investments to identify the safety needs of women and girls in and around transport systems.
- Promote an intersectional understanding and approach to sustainable mobility.
- Advocate for data collection on sustainable mobility, disaggregated by sex, age, ethnicity and race where possible in existing surveys and rapid assessments.
- Support sustainable mobility programmes for women and girls, racial minorities, and LGBTQI communities.

Transport operators / Private sector

- Set high-level and clear commitments to upholding inclusive and sustainable mobility.
- Strengthen the capacity of employees on gender and mobility.
- Continue to invest and collaborate with transport experts, women's rights organisations and female tech companies in the development of sustainable mobility solutions.
- Scale up investments in mobility infrastructure that is safe, affordable and gender-responsive.
- Monitor the uptake of different modes of transport with sex-disaggregated data and address accessibility barriers.
- Promote gender, race and ethnic diversity in marketing strategies.

Focus Feature 5 Health Impacts of Transport

Photo credits: colombiacycling.com

he way that societies organise systems of transport and mobility has a decisive impact on public health. For example, transport affects health by contributing to air and noise pollution, by impacting people's physical activity (such as walking and cycling, including walking to public transport) and through road injuries.1 Most of the top 10 causes of death worldwide are directly and strongly linked to risk factors (such as air pollution and physical inactivity) that are influenced by how transport systems are shaped; they include heart attack (#1 cause of death), followed by stroke, pneumonia, chronic respiratory disease, lung cancers and diabetes, as well as road injuries (#10).² Transport can also shape our exposure and susceptibility to infectious agents, such as the viruses causing influenza and COVID-19, and is heavily affected by global pandemics.

Less well known, but equally relevant, are the more beneficial health impacts of transport infrastructure. For example, changes in the design and social interaction of neighbourhoods, including access to public and green space, can result in positive health outcomes, and wellplanned transport systems can offer protection against interpersonal violence, particularly for women and children. Improved mobility for women, children, elderly and the poor, who have less access to private vehicles, enhances health equity.³ Transport also has a decisive influence on more upstream determinants of health and health equity by enabling and facilitating access to education, jobs, health care, recreation and clean water; it also has indirect effects on health through its impacts on natural ecosystems and climate change.⁴

Climate action that alters transport systems can either improve or harm societal health. Global growth in transport demand and emissions, particularly in low- and middle-income countries and cities – coupled with rapid urbanisation, weak transport regulation and enforcement, and poor infrastructure – will further deepen the health and equity impacts of transport systems.⁵ Conversely, climate action can yield large, immediate public health benefits while reducing rising greenhouse gas emissions from the transport sector; this is because many of the pathways to reduce CO₂ emissions are closely linked to policies supporting sustainable mobility and better landuse planning, which are both known to be good for health and equity.⁶

If well planned, implemented and monitored, sustainable transport systems can bring multiple benefits and contribute to many relevant Sustainable Development Goals and related targets. These include Good Health and Well-being (SDG 3), Climate Action (SDG 13), Affordable and Clean Energy (SDG 7), Reduced Inequality (SDG 10) and Sustainable Cities and Communities (SDG 11), as well as the SDG targets directly linked to transport (3.6 and 11.2).

Assessing the health and economic impacts of climate action through transport in an integrated manner is essential. For example, making cities more compact – by increasing land-use density and diversity, and reducing distances to public transport – can result in net health gains for cities, mainly by reducing air pollution and increasing physical activity levels (see Figure 1).⁷ A large share of these benefits will come from more walking, cycling and public transport. For instance, if an average person cycled one trip per day more and drove one trip per day less for 200 days a year, this would not only improve health substantially, but also decrease mobility-related lifecycle CO_2 emissions by around 0.5 tonnes over a year, an important share of average per capita CO_2 emissions from transport.⁸

Transport interventions with the potential to improve climate and public health are wide ranging. They include measures that:

- Avoid motorised passenger trips and freight movement through urban and regional development policies, integrated transport and spatial planning, and travel demand management;
- Shift passenger and freight travel to more environmentally friendly modes, such as walking, cycling and clean public and freight transport; and
- Improve energy efficiency of all transport modes through low-carbon fuel and vehicle technologies.

In the example of Accra, a very progressive policy scenario incorporating avoid, shift and improve measures towards sustainable transport in 2050 could yield a net health gain of nearly 40,000 deaths averted, while reducing CO_2 emissions by nearly 160 million tonnes. Investments in strengthening mobility systems that take into consideration social and environmental determinants of health can also ensure equitable access and reduce disparities.

These are just a few examples of the potential health impacts of transport-related climate action. Advancing progress requires a co-ordinated effort across sectors, including the health, transport and environmental sectors, and across all levels of government, from local to global.

Figure 1. Changes from baseline in transport-related physical activity levels, particulate matter concentrations, and cardiovascular diseases and road injuries, under the Compact City scenario



Note: Smaller health gains were also observed for type-2 diabetes and respiratory diseases (not shown).DALYs = disability-adjusted life-years, a measure commonly used to combine the health impact of different risk factors, such as air pollution and physical inactivity; MET: metabolic equivalent of task, a measure for human energy expenditure. Source: Author elaboration, using estimates from Stevenson et al. (2016).

Focus Feature 6

Paratransit as a Complement to Formal Transport Networks

aratransit (sometimes called "informal transport") is an essential service for moving people and goods in low- and middle-income countries. It includes the use of minibus taxis and other private vehicles for hire and is an increasingly popular transport mode in rapidly urbanising cities in Africa, Asia and Latin America. Paratransit users are often middle- and low-income individuals, or citizens who lack convenient and affordable access to formal transport services. This sidebar will focus on examples from Africa.

In some cities in Sub-Saharan Africa, up to 80% of the population relies on paratransit.¹ For example, in **Kampala**, **Uganda** the fleet of private minibus taxis grew 5.4% annually since 2015, totalling 16,000 vehicles and carrying 82.6% of commuters that year.² In **South Africa**, the share of inhabitants using minibus taxis reached 44.1% in Gauteng province and 39.6% in the Eastern Cape and Mpumalanga in 2018.³ Paratransit also drives local employment, with the services directly employing around 100,000 people in Kampala in 2015.⁴

Paratransit operations often rely on privately owned, second-hand vehicles, which tend to face less government

oversight than formal public transport services.⁵ This can result in poorly maintained vehicles, unsafe driver behaviour and fierce competition among operators for routes and passengers.⁶ However, paratransit services are usually still subject to regulation on licencing, routes, and fares, making the term "informal transport" misleading. Because these modes are viewed as less formal (and typically less desirable), planning and operations are often neglected. However, paratransit plays a critical role in expanding collective transport options and providing vulnerable populations with access to essential services and opportunities.

Photo credits: Unspalsh

Some governments have made efforts to improve the quality of paratransit and to better integrate these informal systems alongside more formal public transport services, which declined around 30% per capita in developing country cities between 1995 and 2012.⁷ In African cities such as Cape Town, Dar es Salaam, Johannesburg and Lagos, flexible and responsive paratransit services provide a crucial supplement to formal bus rapid transit systems, which mainly serve transport demand along major travel corridors.⁸

Technological interventions have helped to integrate paratransit with more formal networks. The use of geolocation data (via mobile phones) provides more information on routes and stops, making it possible to match passenger demand and supply and to improve the efficiency of both informal and formal transport services.⁹ The Digital Matatus project mapped informal bus services across **Nairobi**, **Kenya** (see Figure 10), improving both accessibility for users and planning opportunities for city officials.¹⁰ However, additional efforts are needed to move beyond mapping and towards improved paratransit planning in cities, so these services can complement large-scale transport reform through bus rapid transit and other corridor-based systems.

Paratransit contributes to urban air pollution because the vehicles are often old and poorly maintained and rely on reconditioned diesel engines, which produce higher local emissions.¹¹ A lack of formal scheduling and fixed routes

can lead to uneven service quality, vehicle degradation, and congestion, which increases emissions due to frequent start-and-stop patterns and rapid acceleration and deceleration.¹² However, large knowledge and research gaps remain regarding both paratransit overall and its impacts on the environment and climate.¹³

Governments can take numerous policy actions around paratransit, including increased regulation, imposing vehicle maintenance requirements and supporting electrification of minibus fleets.¹⁴ More applied research and coordinated action on paratransit operations can increase the potential impact of these policies on reducing emissions and improving air quality in developing countries.¹⁵

Figure 1. Map of paratransit services in Nairobi, Kenya



Focus Feature 7

Multi-stakeholder Mobilisation for Climate Action in Transport

wide range of stakeholders - from the public and private sectors, transport sector associations, knowledge and academia, governments, multilateral and non-governmental organisations (NGOs), philanthropy and industry - are forming collaborative mechanisms to mobilise climate action in transport.

- Transforming transport and mobility systems to address climate change requires multi-sectoral and multi-stakeholder strategic collaborations beyond the transport community. The urban sustainability, renewable energy, health and behavioural change communities are key in this multi-sectoral interface for climate action in transport.
- In the era of transport electrification, increased attention is needed on championing balanced, people-centred, planet-sensitive approaches across the Avoid-Shift-Improve framework.
- Empowering emerging leaders and broadening the debate with perspectives from the Global South should be a shared goal among all actors involved.
- Despite growing initiatives to include more women in the transport sector and better gender perspectives in transport services, much work remains ahead of us. This includes taking steps to boost the visibility of women transport professionals, highlighting the negative impacts of gender-neutral transport and climate policy debates and planning (e.g., assessing travel needs and behaviour) and voicing the need for adaptation (e.g., implementing more equitable and resilient transport options).

A wealth of initiatives and resources are available related to technical assistance and capacity building support in the area of transport and climate change. There is a prevailing tendency in the transport community to neglect resilience and adaptation planning. There is also an increasing need to enhance the coherence of efforts between and among donors, policy makers, knowledge producers and practitioners.

Photo credits: Pe

Below are selected examples of initiatives that aim to provide technical assistance and capacity building support for climate action in transport. The list is not intended to be exhaustive, and additional global initiatives covering a wide range of transport modes and thematic areas can be found in *Section 3: Responses to Address Climate Change in the Transport Sector.*

Global initiatives

The Action towards Climate-friendly Transport (ACT) initiative is the largest global coalition aiming to catalyse transport as an enabler of sustainable development in line with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Paris Agreement.¹

The Advancing Transport Climate Strategies (TraCS) project focuses on capacity building, training activities and fostering research systems to help policy makers in developing countries and emerging economies align their mobility and transport sector action plans with their

Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) towards reducing emissions under the Paris Agreement.²

The Decarbonising Transport Initiative provides decision makers with tools to select specific measures for mitigating carbon dioxide (CO_2) emissions to help them deliver on stated climate commitments. The Transport Climate Action Directory is a catalogue of effective CO_2 mitigation measures that offers analytical assistance for countries and partners, gathers evidence for best practices and provides information to facilitate global policy dialogues.³

The Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (ITDP) is a global organisation at the forefront of innovation, using technical expertise, direct advocacy and policy guidance to mitigate the impacts of climate change, improve air quality and support prosperous, sustainable and equitable cities.⁴

The MobiliseYourCity Partnership assists beneficiary partners in their preparation of national urban mobility policies and investment programmes (NUMPs) and sustainable urban mobility plans (SUMPs).⁵ Along with support and consultation at early stages, the partnership supports budgeting and financial planning (i.e., the development of financial mechanisms and the initiation of funding to secure implementation).⁶

The Nationally Determined Contribution Partnership (NDC Partnership), a coalition of more than 180 countries and institutions, supports member countries in implementing and enhancing their NDCs under the Paris Agreement. On request from member countries, the Partnership helps to ensure that countries have access to the support they need to turn their NDCs into action. Working with the Partnership can help both countries and support providers find the right partners to advance clean transport under the NDCs.⁷

The New Urban Mobility Alliance (NUMO) targets urban issues and works to leverage the momentum of mobility revolutions, including equity, sustainability, accessibility and labour. NUMO aims to align actions, investments and values of community allies to achieve on-the-ground transformation in mobility.⁸

Safetipin is a social organisation that works with urban stakeholders, including governments, to make public spaces safer and more inclusive for women.⁹ It provides data and recommendations for relevant stakeholders and also generates a data-based safety score that users of the My Safetipin app can consult to make safe and informed decisions about their mobility.

SOLUTIONSplus is a global platform for shared, public and commercial e-mobility solutions to kick-start the transition towards low carbon urban mobility. The project encompasses city-level demonstrations to test different types of innovative and integrated e-mobility solutions, complemented by a comprehensive toolbox, capacity development and replication activities.¹⁰

The Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (TUMI) is the leading global implementation initiative on sustainable mobility, concentrated on three pillars: innovation, knowledge and investment. In addition to supporting innovative pilot projects globally, TUMI shares knowledge on modern mobility concepts with planners through workshops and conferences and invests in the construction and modernisation of sustainable urban infrastructure.¹¹

The UITP Academy offers training programmes, based exclusively on international expertise and practice, to public transport and urban mobility stakeholders.¹² Its trainings organise in 58 different cities and involve more than 250 expert trainers on over 60 urban mobility topics.¹³

Regional organisations and initiatives

Africa

Africa Network for Walking and Cycling is a space for organisations and experts to convene and collaborate in order to make the lives of people who walk and cycle in African countries safer, healthier and more comfortable. It serves as a platform to champion best practice and to influence research, policy and practice as well as strengthen partnerships and share experiences and knowledge.¹⁴

Amend works with development agencies, foundations, private sector companies and governments in developing countries to increase mobilisation.¹⁵ In addition to scientific research, Amend provides technical assistance for road safety and community engagement in rural road design.¹⁶

Digital Transport for Africa (DT4A) hosts an online, collaborative platform that scales up and supports urban mobility projects, especially mapping public transit systems, through open data and peer-to-peer knowledge sharing.¹⁷

The First African Bicycle Information Organisation (FABIO) partners with national and regional networks for capacity building in communities, advocating for better service delivery and good governance especially in transport policies and planning.¹⁸

Sustainable Transport Africa provides support in developing policies that reduce transport emissions

through promoting and lobbying for non-motorised transit, bus rapid transit, light rail transit, other forms of mass rapid transit, land-use planning, transit-oriented cities, clean fuels, green transport, traffic demand management, sustainable rural transport and sustainable shipping.¹⁹

Asia

AIP Foundation works globally in partnership with local governments and communities to improve road safety through its "five gears" model. AIP provides assistance in tailored road safety education programs; direct provision of road safety tools; public awareness and behaviour change campaigns; the development and enforcement of traffic standards and laws; and research tools to support policy change, programmes and best practices²⁰

The Asian Transport Outlook (ATO) collects, organises and shares data on the transport sector in 51 countries using more than 400 indicators. It strengthens the knowledge base on transport in the Asia-Pacific region by documenting the institutional frameworks, policies and financing of transport in these countries.²¹

Clean Air Asia focuses on reducing air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions from transport and other sectors by translating research into policies and actions. Its projects and activities aim to strengthen regional and national policies and standards; enhance national and local frameworks for programmes and urban development; and increase access to information, tools and partners.²²

The Low Emission Development Strategies Global Partnership (LEDS GP) Transport Working Group in Asia provides technical assistance, tools and knowledge exchange activities that support low-emission development for transport systems. A Community of Practice focusing on clean mobility provides an informal space for members to exchange experiences and link expert assistance and technical know-how with on-the-ground challenges and priorities.

The NDC Transport Initiative for Asia (NDC-TIA) is a regional initiative aiming at a holistic approach to decarbonise the transport sector in China, India, Vietnam and other Asian countries. This includes the development of a coherent strategy for efficient policy approaches that is co-ordinated among various sector ministries, civil society and the private sector.²³

Latin America and the Caribbean

EUROCLIMA+ provides technical and financial support for developing and implementing climate change adaptation and mitigation policies. It also facilitates regional policy dialogue and climate action in seven sectors, including urban mobility.²⁴

The Latin American Association for Sustainable Mobility (ALAMOS) comprises associations of companies, citizens and other organisations promoting sustainable mobility at the regional level, with the aim of satisfying current and future needs for the movement of people and goods while balancing social well-being, environmental care and economic growth.²⁵

The Low Emission Development Strategies Global Partnership Transport Working Group in Latin America and the Caribbean (LEDS-LAC) has launched two Communities of Practice in the region: Sustainable Logistics and Electric Mobility. Both aim to provide a platform – virtual and inperson – for sector stakeholders within a region to discuss experiences and seek guidance on these topics; learn from practitioners in peer countries that have experience planning and implementing sustainable actions; and share relevant reports and resources.

MOVE LATAM is a capacity building platform to enable the transition towards electric mobility in the region.²⁶ Its objective is to bridge the knowledge, financial, technical and policy gaps that governments, cities, the private sector and technological centres face in accelerating the deployment of electric mobility in the region.

Mujeres en Movimiento is focused on supporting sustainable leadership in sectors where there is limited participation by women and promoting gender equity policies through an active network of co-operation and governance from civil society and the public and private sectors.²⁷ It provides technical and political tools to expand, reinforce and apply ideas and knowledge, especially in the fields of transport, mobility and energy.

The Zero Emissions Bus Rapid-deployment Accelerator (ZEBRA) partnership aims to deploy electric buses and pioneer the adoption of electric vehicles in transport systems across Latin America in four core cities – Medellín, Mexico City, Santiago and São Paulo – and builds knowledge and best practices from which all cities in the region can benefit.²⁸

Strategic alliances in other sectors

Local government associations working at the global level

C40 supports a network of 97 cities to collaborate, exchange knowledge and drive measurable and sustainable action

on climate change. Its programmes include localised direct support, improved access to data and partnering in finance.²⁹

ICLEI's EcoLogistics project aims to advance effective regulatory, planning and logistical instruments at all levels of government to support low carbon urban freight.30 The EcoMobility Alliance provides a collaborative platform for participants to share the latest policy and technology developments in their cities and regions, with the goal of making effective reforms to their own transport networks.31

Civil society

The Child Health Initiative operates as a collaborative partnership, with a focus on global and national advocacy, research and programme implementation. It aims to mainstream child health and mobility issues into international development and climate change policies.³²

HealthBridge works to strengthen the ability of local partners in lower- and middle-income countries to increase understanding of policies and programmes for liveable cities. Projects include children-focused parks, advocating for safe pedestrian spaces and preserving fresh markets for access to healthy foods.³³

REN21 is a global renewable energy community of actors from science, governments, non-governmental organisations and industry. It provides peer-reviewed facts, figures and analysis of global developments in technology, policies and markets. REN21's overall goal is to enable decision makers to make the shift to renewable energy, including in the context of decarbonisation pathways for transport.³⁴

Business community

Movin'On brings together start-ups, academic research labs and other businesses to exchange expertise in developing cutting-edge technologies in sustainable mobility. In addition to operating as a "think tank", the initiative hosts an annual event to facilitate this exchange for policy makers, experts, researchers, start-up founders and politicians.35

EV100 brings together more than 100 of the world's leading companies to transition their fleets to electric vehicles and to install charging infrastructure for staff and customers by 2030, making commitments across more than 80 markets.³⁶ Members of the initiative are sending a powerful demand signal to vehicle manufacturers and governments to accelerate the market scale-up worldwide.³⁷

Cross-cutting alliances

The Transport Decarbonisation Alliance works to accelerate global transformation in the transport sector towards net zero mobility systems by 2050.³⁸ It focuses on designing a common vision for "front-runners" and setting up Communities of Interest among the "3Cs" (countries, cities/regions and companies). The Alliance promotes effective advocacy by influencing decision makers in key international fora on climate change (such as the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change) and sustainable development (such as the United Nations High Level Political Forum – Sustainable Development Goals); in international political processes (such as the European Union, G7, G20 and B20); and in bilateral dialogues.


Country **Fact Sheets**

31 country fact sheets are presented in this section for countries that had the highest absolute transport carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions in 2019. These fact sheets present data on transport demand, emission trends and measures taken at the national level towards achieving a decarbonised, sustainable transport system.

31 countries covered:



8 in Africa

Algeria, Angola, Egypt, Ghana, Kenya, Morocco, Nigeria and South Africa

6 in Asia

China, India, Indonesia, Iran, Japan and Saudi Arabia

5 in Europe

France, Germany, Italy, the Russian Federation and the United Kingdom

8 in Latin America and the Caribbean



Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Mexico and Peru

Canada and the United States of America

2 in Oceania

2 in North America

Australia and New Zealand

Algeria	256
Angola	258
Argentina	260
Australia	262
Bolivia	264
Brazil	266
Canada	268
Chile	270
China	272
Colombia	274
Ecuador	276
Egypt	278
France	280
Germany	282
Ghana	284
India	286
Indonesia	288
Iran	290
Italy	292
Japan	294
Kenya	296
Mexico	298
Morocco	300
New Zealand	302
Nigeria	304
Peru	306
Russia	308
Saudi Arabia	310
South Africa	312
United Kingdom	314
USA	316

0



· LPG/CNG/LNG Mitigation

· Transport laws, regulations and programmes

Adaptation

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Not available
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Not available
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

10 Walking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020)	Not available
National cycling strategies (2020)	Not available
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	Not available

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Bus rapid transit (2020)	Not available
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	78 km in 6 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	Not available
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	14.2

Passenger and Freight Railways				
Rail network (2019)	4 020 km			
High-speed rail	Not available			
High-speed rail travel activity	Not available			
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	~			
Ø Targets	 To develop high-speed rail and electrify railways Double passenger volume by 2025 			
Rail travel activity (2018)	1 602 million passenger-km			
Rail freight activity (2018)	1026 million ton-km			

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	Not available
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies	Not available

Fuel Economy CO2 emissions performance for Targeted CO₂ emissions performance

Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	Not available
ICE phase-out targets	×
(Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	0.65%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
Y Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	6.7 million people

Air freight activity (2019)	25.6 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	×
of which carbon neutral	×
Shipping	
Shipping Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	12.8

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glos sary here

List of acronyms GDP Gross

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine

- ICE LDV LRT Light-duty vehicle Light-rail transit
- NDC TEU Nationally determined contribution Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
- UNFCCC
 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

 VNR
 Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Development Goals
 WLTP

Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

SLOCAT							
A	ngol	.a			2	Angola's trans second-larges transport CO ₂ 20% since 201 the country's t A new railway but no other tr identified.	sport emissions are the country's t CO ₂ -producing sector, and emissions have grown by over 0. Overall, very limited details on ransport policies are available. link to Zambia is in preparation, ansport measures have been
	Population size (2020)	Urban population share (2020)	\$	GDP per ((2019)	capita		
Total	32.9 million	66.8%		3 103.	5		
Growth	40.7%	57%		17.9%		Income aroup	Middle-income
(2010 to 2020)						Human Develo	opment Index: 0.58
🕞 Mo	obility Demand	d Trends					
Passenge	er travel activity	Freight trans	port a	activity		Fuel consi	umption (2018)
Nota	vailable	Notava	ilah			2,300	
Nota	Vallable	1101 010		010		thousand tor +7% (2010 to	nes of oil equivalent o 2018)
	Not Avail	lable		No	t Available	Not available	
Modal share for passenger travel Modal share for freight transport • Oil products							
Car owner	rship growth (2005 to 201	5) Vehicle	sales	(2019)		Diesel US cents per litre	Super gasoline
Passenger (Growth 2010 to 2019) (2018) (2018) 14.0% 2080 14.0% 44 52 750 29.5% 44 52							
	ansport Emissi	on Trends					
Transport	CO, emissions (2019)	Per capita transport C0	D ₂ emis	ssions (201	19)	 Second-larg	jest CO ₂ producing
7.8 million	tonnes	0.2 tonnes	2			sector in the	country
LOW 0.88 HIGH							
0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25							
Image: Second							
	(🖉 Global average 🤞 income grou	ib aveig	ge 🔮 kegion	al average		
-							
Lo	w Carbon Trar	nsport Pathwa	ys	25			
Transp	oort strategy identifies climate	change 🗸					Transport CO ₂
Long-	term strategy submitted to UNI	FCCC Not submitted		20			2010 to 2019 +21%
NDC 5	submitted	1st NDC		15			
Transp	oort mitigation	×				- 1 I	Business-as-Usual Scenario
target	s in NDC			10		>	2020 to 2050 +67%
NDC			—				
Volun	tary National Review highlights	s transport Not submitted		Ŭ			Low Carbon Scenario

Transport measures in NDC

Not available

Adaptation

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

Not available
Not available
Not available

Now Walking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020)	Not available
National cycling strategies (2020)	Not available
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	Not available

₽ġ	Urban	Passenger	and F	Freight	Transport

Bus rapid transit (2020)	Not available
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	Not available
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	Not available
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	Not available

齳	Passenger and Freight Railways
---	--------------------------------

Rail network (2011)	Not available
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	~
ø Targets	Railway link to Zambia and overall railway improvements
Rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
Rail freight activity (2016)	Not available

👪 New Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	Not available
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies	Not available

Fuel Economy 🛋 Electric Mobility No. of cities with electric buses Not available × ICE phase-out targets (A) Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) 10% Ethanol Not available electricity) share in transport Not available **X** Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) 1.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 68 million ton-km × Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral × Shipping Liner shipping connectivity 25.7 index (2019) Container port traffic (2019) 672212.5 TEU 🕸 COVID-19 Traditional transport infrastructure Not available investment Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glo

List of acronyms

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine

- LDV LRT Light-duty vehicle Light-rail transit
- NDC Nationally determined contribution
- Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit TEU
- UNFCCC
 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

 VNR
 Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Development Goals
- WLTP Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

258



Voluntary National Review highlights transport

2020 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 3, SDG 7, SDG 9, SDG 11, SDG 13 and SDG 16

Transport measures in NDC

- Use of renewable energy
- General comprehensive planning
 LPG/CNG/LNG
- Mitigation . Hydrogen
- Electricity Vehicle labelling
- Emission standards General active mobility

 - .

 - General e-mobility
 - Biofuels

General alternative fuels

· High capacity vehicles in freight

~

Intelligent transport systems (ITS)

0

- Vehicle scrappage schemeSustainable transport capacity building
- Freight transport shifting to rail or inland
- Adaptation Ship efficiency improvements

Transport infrastructure resilience Education and training

Scenario

2020 to 2050

-84%

- Design standards and updates
- . Repair & maintenance
- Risk assessment

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	~
Ø Targets	 Bill to establish framework for sustainable mobility To achieve zero-emission public transport by 2030
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	~
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

🚵 Walking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020) No

National cycling strategies (2020)

Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)

300 km of separated bikelanes

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport		
Bus rapid transit (2020)	76 km in 3 cities	
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	105 km in 2 cities	
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	1717000	
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	6	

III Passenger and Freight Railways		
Rail network (2018)	17866 km	
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available	
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available	
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	~	
Rail travel activity (2017)	8361 million passenger-km	
Rail freight activity (2017)	8377 million ton-km	

Shared Mobility Services	
Bike-sharing systems (2020)	7 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	1 operator in 1 city
Carsharing services (2021)	1 service
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Yes, in Buenos Aires
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	1
	Number of the last of

Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)

Not available

Fuel Economy

Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 5
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	187 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro V
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available

Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	4
ICE phase-out targets	×
No. of cities with electric buses (2019) ICE phase-out targets	4 ×

Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	10% Biodiesel, 12% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	8.42%

Targeted % of renewable energy Not a

Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	19.5 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	280.3 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	1 airport
of which carbon neutral	None

Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	31.5
Container port traffic (2019)	1998822 TEU

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Examples • Busterr	ninal expansion in Ushuaia and Rio Grande

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be compilete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

DP	Gross-domestic product
IDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
CE	Internal combustion engine
.DV	Light-duty vehicle
.RT	Light-rail transit
IDC	Nationally determined contribution
ΈU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
INFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
/NR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
VLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Left Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management				
National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	×			
Ø Targets	Objectives around productivity, sustainability and liveability			
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	×			
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available			
🚲 Walking and Cycling				
National walking strategies (2020)	Not on national level, but subnational (e.g. Queensland)			
ø Targets	 Planning for walkable communities and places Building connected, comfortable and safe walking environments for all Encouraging more people to walk as part of their 'everyday' Working together to deliver on walking 			
National cycling strategies (2020)	<			
ø Target	Double the number of people cycling			
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	Not available			
GR Urban Passenger and Freight Transport				
Bus rapid transit (2020)	90 km in 3 cities			
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	608 km in 7 cities			
	440.000			

Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	413300
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	9.1
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	9.1

Passenger and Freight Railwavs

Rail network (2011)	8829 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	~
Ø Targets	 AUD 10 billion for passenger rail Several targets in support of resilient rail freight
Rail travel activity (2018)	17586 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2016)	413490 million ton-km
Shared Mobility Services	
Bike-sharing systems (2020)	22 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	3 operators in 11 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	19 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Varying by state
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	7
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	~

Fuel Economy					
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 6				
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	188 gCO ₂ /km				
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro VI				
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available				
Electric Mobility					
Electric vehicles (2019)	20 100				
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	1.1%				
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	1				
ICE phase-out targets	×				
🕢 Renewable Energy					
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available				
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	1.86%				
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available				
Y Aviation					
Air passengers caried (2019)	76.9 million people				
Air freight activity (2019)	1931.2 million ton-km				
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	12 airports				
of which carbon neutral	1 airport				
Shipping					
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	34.3				
Container port traffic (2019)	8282189 TEU				
COVID-19					
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	3 12.13 billion USD				
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available				
Examples • Geelon • Melbo • Infrast	ng to Melbourne railway line urne airport rail link ructure investment and road safety				
This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT List of acronyms Transport and Climate Change Global GDP Gross-domestic product Status Report - 2nd edition. HDV Heavy-duty vehicle					

Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition. The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.	GDP HDV ICE LDV LRT NDC TEU UNFCCC VNR WLTP	Gross-domestic product Heavy-duty vehicle Internal combustion engine Light-duty vehicle Light-rail transit Nationally determined contribution Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

ountry Fact Sheet | AUS

SLOCAT		Change Global Status Repo				
Bo	olivia	a			Transport CO ₂ er very high rate in I than 80% since 2 of transport polic expected to cont or comprehensiv identified in the c	nissions are growing at a Bolivia, increasing by more 010. Due to an absence ies, this trend can be inue. No transport strategies e frameworks have been xountry.
	Population size (2020)	Urban population share (2020)	GDP p (2019)	er capita		
Total	11.7 million	69.4%	25	79.9		
Growth (2010 to 2020)	16.2%	22.9%	51	.2%	Income group: N Human Develop	liddle-income ment Index: 0.72
😔 Mo	obility Demand	Trends				
Passenge Not a Mode	er travel activity Vailable Not Avail	able	oort activity lable	Not Available	Fuel consum 3 648 thousand tonne +65% (2010 to Average light di consumption (2 Not available	es of oil equivalent 2018) uty fuel economy 2017) • Oil products • Natural gas
Car owner 71.8 vehicle	ship growth (2005 to 201 as per 1,000 people	5) Vehicles Passeng 20319 +32% Commen 9565	cales (2019) er (Growth 20) - 10% rcial - 16%	10 to 2019)	Diesel US cents per litre (2018) 50	Super gasoline US cents per litre (2018) 70
la Tra	ansport Emissi	on Trends				
Transport (10.1 millior	CO ₂ emissions (2019) a tonnes	Per capita transport CO 0.9 tonnes	emissions (2	2019)	Largest CO_2 p in the country	roducing sector
LOW 0.4	55 0.88 0.85 ⊙)) Global average 🛛 Income group	o average 💿 Reg	HIGH 6 gional average	41% of national economy wide emissions come from transport	16% Transports share in black carbon emissions (2015)
🕢 Lo	w Carbon Trar	isport Pathway	/S			
Transp Long-t NDC s	oort strategy identifies climate o erm strategy submitted to UNF ubmitted	Not available CCC Not submitted 1st NDC 1st NDC	15			CO2 2010 to 2019 +86%
NDC h Transp targets	ighlights transport for GHG mit port mitigation s in NDC	igation × ×	10			Business-as-Usual Scenario 2020 to 2050
Other I NDC Volunt	non-emission related transport	targets in Not available transport Not submitted	5	2010	- 2019 - 2020 - 2030 -	+68%

Transport measures in NDC

Not available

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Not available
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Not available
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

Nalking and Cycling

78 km of separated bikelanes
Not available
Not available

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	Not available
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	Not available
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	Not available
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	Not available

III) Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (2006)	1244 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2000)	~
Rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
Rail freight activity (2016)	Not available

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	Not available
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy Emission standards for LDVs (2018) CO2 emissions performance for Emission standards for HDVs

Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	Not available
ICE phase-out targets	×
Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and	Not available
electricity) share in transport (2018)	

Euro 2

Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	4.1 million people
	• •
Air freight activity (2019)	23.0 million ton-km
y an molgine doctivity (2010)	20.0 1111101110111011
Carbon approdited airports	×
(2020)	
of which carbon neutral	*

Shipping		
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	Not available	
Container port traffic (2019)	Not available	

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glos sary here

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine

- Internal combustion engine
- LDV LRT Light-duty vehicle Light-rail transit
- NDC TEU Nationally determined contribution Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
- UNFCCC
 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

 VNR
 Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Development Goals
- WLTP Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Transport measures in NDC

Not available

La Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	~
Ø Targets	 Reduce inequalities and promote social inclusion; Promote access to basic services and facilities; Improve access and mobility and promote sustainable development; Ensure participatory processs and continuous improvement of urban mobility.
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	✓ Over 200 plans finalised

Low Emission Zones (2020)

🐜 Walking and Cycling

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling strategies combined under Active Mobility Plans
ø Targets	 Improve conditions for urban active mobility; Foster the shift of users from private to active transport modes; Improve and foster integration between sustainable transport modes.
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	420 km

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	789 km in 22 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	308 km in 9 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	10634415
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	12.1

Passenger and Freight Railways

Rail network (2007)	32622 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	~

Ø Targets	Increase share of rail freight from 15 to 31% by 2025
Rail travel activity (2017)	15807 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2007)	9394 million ton-km

Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	41 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	1 operator in 1 city
Carsharing services (2021)	3 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Ŷ
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	1
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 4
CO ₂ emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	179 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro V
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	128 gCO ₂ /km by 2022
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	3000
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	0.1%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	9
ICE phase-out targets	×
🛞 Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	11% Biodiesel, 27% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	23%
Targeted % of renewable energy	30% biodiesel and 10% biokerosene in aviation fuel by 2030
Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	102.9 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	1521.2 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	4 airports
of which carbon neutral	×
Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	34.2
Container port traffic (2019)	10 982 130 TEU
COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available

Clean transport infrastructure Not available investment

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT	List of acro	onyms
Transport and Climate Change Global	GDP	Gross-dome
Status Report - 2nd edition.	HDV	Heavy-duty
The information shown is based on	ICE	Internal con
desk research. Data has been collected	LDV	Light-duty v
to the best knowledge and availability.	LRT	Light-rail tra
However, it might not be complete	NDC	Nationally c
or reflect the most recent status.	TEU	Twenty-foo
'Not available' is indicated, when no	UNFCCC	United Natio
information has been retrieved. The	VNR	Voluntary n
content does not represent the opinion	WLTP	Worldwide
of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data		

sources and indicator glossary here.

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure





23%



Transport strategy identifies climate change	~
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	 Image: A start of the start of
NDC submitted	1st NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	 Image: A start of the start of
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	 Image: A start of the start of
2018 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 7 and SD)G 8



Transport measures in NDC

· Vehicle efficiency standards

Not available

Mitigation

LOW

0

0.88

Lange Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Not available
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Not available
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

Nalking and Cycling

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling combined in Guidance Document for Active Mobility
ø Targets	Support local projects (since 2015 CAD 130 million in 126 projects).
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	236 km of bikelanes

big orban Passenger and Freight Transport	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	246 km in 7 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	304 km in 6 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	503 407
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	20.2

Passenger and Freight Railways

Rail network (2018)	47 687 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	~
Rail travel activity (2018)	1598 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2019)	433 139 million ton-km

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	23 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	2 operators in 5 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	67 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Only on subnational level
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	9
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	~

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 6
CO ₂ emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	206 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro VI
Targeted CO₂ emissions performance	99 gCO ₂ /km by 2025
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	141100
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	3%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	9
ICE phase-out targets	2040
Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	2% Biodiesel, 5% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	4.2%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
→ Aviation	

Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	93.4 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	2395.1 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	17 airports
of which carbon neutral	×
A Shinning	

and the family set of the fami	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	42.8
Container port traffic (2019)	7004090 TEU

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	USD 1.76 billion
Clean transport infrastructure investment	USD 0.07 billion
Examples • Public tra	ansport support

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of a

LISCOLUCIT	Jilyilis
GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Not available

Transport measures in NDC

- General e-mobility
- General public transport improvement
- Cycling measures
- Hydrogen

Mitigation

Sustainable Mobility Planni	ng & Transport Demand Management
National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	~
Custainable Lithen Mability Diana	✓ in 37 cities

Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)

🚵 Walking and Cycling

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)

(2020)

Walking and cycling covered in local urban mobility plans

5

 \odot

*

investment Examples

Cycling infrastructure in capital 36 km of separated bikelanes

Image: Second state Image: Second state	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	105 km in 2 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	145 km in 2 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	476 800
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	28

Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (2005)	2 120 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	~
Ø Targets	 25 new projects covering 1,000 km of railway lines To triple number of passengers (to reach 150 million a year) by 2027 To double freight volumes (to reach 21 million tons a year) by 2027
Rail travel activity (2018)	677 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2019)	3079 million ton-km

Shared Mobility Services	
Bike-sharing systems (2020)	7 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	5 operators in 8 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	1 service
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	1
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 4
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	189 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro V
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	700
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	0.1%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	4
ICE phase-out targets	Only buses by 2040
(A contraction of the second s	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	1%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	21.2 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	1232.4 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	1 airport
of which carbon neutral	×
Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	35.7
Container port traffic (2019)	4658310 TEU
COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Olean transport infrastry styre	USD 0.08 billion

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

Clean transport infrastructure

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glos sary here.

List of acronyms

Electric bus terminal

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

untry Fact Sheet | Chile



Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Transport strategy identifies climate change	~
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	Not submitted
NDC submitted	1st NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	~
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	× 2016 VNR with no transport linkages

Transport CO2 2010 to 2019 1500 +70% Business-as-Usual 1000 Scenario 2020 to 2050 +67% 500 Low Carbon Scenario 2020 to 2050 0 -100%

Transport measures in NDC

- Fuel quality improvement
- Alternative fuels Walking measures .
- Mitigation
 - Walking measures
 Cycling measures
 Freight efficiency measures

 Comprehensive planning · Public transport integration and expansion

System improvements

Not available

2000

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	~
ø Targets	 Building an integrated urban transport network Implementing comprehensive urban transport systems Aimed to increase the share of public transport to 30% of all motorised trips by 2020, including by promoting walking and cycling
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	~
Low Emission Zones (2020)	11 cities
🐜 Walking and Cycling	

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling are part of the national transport strategy
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	900 km of separated bikelanes

Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Bus rapid transit (2020)	672 km in 20 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	6 100 km in 37 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	4375250
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	13.9

Passenger and Freight Railv	vays
Rail network (2019)	68 141 km
High-speed rail (2018)	29904 km
High-speed rail travel activity (2019)	774.7 billion passenger-km
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	<
ø Targets	By 2035, expand overall rail network to 200,000 km; with 70,000 km of high-speed railways.
Rail travel activity (2017)	1345690 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2018)	2882100 million ton-km
Shared Mobility Services	

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	650 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	14 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	~
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	7
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 4
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	175 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro IV
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	93 gCO ₂ /km by 2025
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	3349100
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	4.9%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	32
ICE phase-out targets	×
Benewable Energy	
Disfusi bland mandata (0010)	
Biotuel blend mandate (2019)	10% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	4.5%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	659.6 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	25 394.6 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	6 airports
of which carbon neutral	×
A Shipping	
snipping	151.0
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	151.9
Container port traffic (2019)	242030000 TEU
COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	USD 7.7 billion
Examples • High-speed rail • Beijing light truck operation • Upgrade of ships	

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

Status Heport - 2nd edition. The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	×
Ø Targets	Pilot projects in medium-sized cities in development
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	×
Low Emission Zones (2020)	×

🚵 Walking and Cycling

ø Targets

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)

g	Walking and cycling included in national development plan
	To develop a national action plan guiding walking and cycling promotion
oital	550 km of bikelanes

Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)

କନ୍ଥି Urban Passenger and Freight Transport		
Bus rapid transit (2020)	225 km in 7 cities	
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	31 km in 1 city	
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	3071541	
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	9.8	

Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (1994)	1915 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	~
Ø Targets	 Enhance the competitive advantages of railways Double commercial operation length from 420 km to 1,077 km by 2024 Implement intermodal cargo mobilization strategy
Rail travel activity (1990)	141 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (1994)	2216 million ton-km

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	16 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	1 operator in 1 city
Carsharing services (2021)	2 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy

Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 2
CO2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	Not available
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro IV
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available

Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	3
ICE phase-out targets	2035

🛞 Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	10% Biodiesel, 10% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	7.2%

Targeted % of renewable energy Not av

Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	37 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	1547.7 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	1 airport
of which carbon neutral	×

🚖 Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	45.4
Container port traffic (2019)	4254900 TEU

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

DP	Gross-domestic product
IDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
CE	Internal combustion engine
.DV	Light-duty vehicle
.RT	Light-rail transit
IDC	Nationally determined contribution
ΈU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
JNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
/NR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
VLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Transport measures in NDC

Not available

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management	
National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	In development
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Yes, several cities and will be further expanded
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

Nalking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020)	Not available
National cycling strategies (2020)	Not available
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	136 km of separated bikelanes

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	117 km in 2 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	11 km in 1 city
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	1055000
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	21

III Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (2000)	956 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	Not available
Rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
Rail freight activity (2016)	Not available

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	1 system
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Notavailable

	Euro I
CO2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	Not available
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro II
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	2
ICE phase-out targets	×
() Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	5% Biodiesel, 10% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	0.32%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
Aviation	
Aviation Air passengers caried (2019)	4.8 million people
Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019)	4.8 million people 50.8 million ton-km
Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	4.8 million people50.8 million ton-km3 airports
Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral	4.8 million people 50.8 million ton-km 3 airports 2 airports
Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral	4.8 million people 50.8 million ton-km 3 airports 2 airports
Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping Liner shipping	 4.8 million people 50.8 million ton-km 3 airports 2 airports

Fuel Economy

Container port traffic (2019)	2096300 TEU
COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit

- Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
- UNFCCC
 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

 VNR
 Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Development Goals
- WLTP Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

ntry Fact Sheet





Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Transport strategy identifies climate change	~
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	Not submitted
NDC submitted	1st NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	 Image: A start of the start of
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	 Image: A start of the start of
2018 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 7, SDG 8	and SDG 9



6

Transport measures in NDC

- Mitigation Freight transport shifting to rail or inland
 - · General public transport improvement

General vehicle improvements

Not available

🕼 Global average 🛛 🚯 Income group average 💿 Regional average

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Not available
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	✓ Cairo Vision 2050
ø Targets	A global, green and connected city
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

Not Walking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020)	Not available
National cycling strategies (2020)	Not available
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	Not available

GR Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	Not available
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	108 km in 2 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	Not available
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	Not available

Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (2016)	5 153 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	
Rail travel activity (2008)	40837 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2010)	1592 million ton-km

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	1 system
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies	Not available

Fuel Economy Emission standards for LDVs (2018) Euro 2 CO₂ emissions performance for 187 gCO₂/km LDVs (2017) Emission standards for HDVs Furo II (2018) Targeted CO, emissions 🛋 Electric Mobility × ICE phase-out targets (A) Renewable Energy Renewable energy (biofuels and 0.2% electricity) share in transport (2018) **X** Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) 13 million people Air freight activity (2019) 483.4 million ton-km × Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral × Shipping Liner shipping connectivity 66.7 index (2019) Container port traffic (2019) 6306866 TEU 🕸 COVID-19 Traditional transport infrastructure investment Clean transport infrastructure investment

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glo

List of acronyms

WLTP

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals

Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Langement Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	~
ø Targets	Compulsory in urban areas of over 100,000 inhabitants
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	~
Low Emission Zones (2020)	6 cities

10 Walking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020)	Subnational level
National cycling strategies (2020)	~
Ø Targets	Triple the modal share of cycling by 2024
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	700 km of separated bikelanes

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	342 km in 21 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	Over 586 km in 30 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	457919
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	65.8

📳 Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (2019)	5923 km
High-speed rail (2018)	2792 km
High-speed rail travel activity (2019)	60 billion passenger-km
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	
Ø Targets	Open rail market for competition and further improvement
Rail travel activity (2018)	107920 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2019)	31829 million ton-km

😣 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	69 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	7 operators in 12 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	23 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Yes, on subnational level for electric scooters
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	7
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	~

Fuel Economy

əl
ગ
રા
əl
ગ
əl
el

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

2101 01 01010	ing in o
GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure







Transport measures in NDC

• Vehicle efficiency standards

Not available

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	×
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	×
Low Emission Zones (2020)	82 cities
🚧 Walking and Cycling	
National walking stratagios (2020)	×

National walking strategies (2020)	~
Ø Targets	Increase of foot traffic and more shorter ways
National cycling strategies (2020)	~
ø Targets	To make cycling more attractive and safer
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	620 km of separated bikelanes

Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Bus rapid transit (2020)	31 km in 2 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	Over 2200 km in 57 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	42000
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	87.9

Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (2019)	33422 km
High-speed rail (2019)	2663 km
High-speed rail travel activity (2019)	33.2 billion passenger-km
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	×
ø Targets	Modernising and maintaining as well as building and expanding the rail network
Rail travel activity (2019)	98000 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2019)	113114 million ton-km

Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	106 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	9 operators in 52 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	1646 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	~
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	4
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	~

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 6
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	140 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro VI
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	59 gCO ₂ /km by 2030
🖶 Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	258800
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	3%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	14
ICE phase-out targets	×
(?) Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	10% Biodiesel, 10% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	6.7%
Targeted % of renewable energy	0.05% advanced biofuels from 2020 and 0.5% by 2025
Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	109.6 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	7763.6 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	5 airports
of which carbon neutral	×

Shipping		
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	82.8	
Container port traffic (2019)	19596420 TEU	
		_

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	USD 2.97 billion
Examples • Public to	ransport infrastructure and service support

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

LISCOLUCIC	///////////////////////////////////////
GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Transport strategy identifies climate change	~
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	Not submitted
NDC submitted	1st NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	 Image: A start of the start of
2019 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 3	



Transport measures in NDC

· Public transport integration and expansion Mitigation

Standards for urban mobility planning

Transport infrastructure resilience

Adaptation

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

Not available
Not available
Not available

Now Walking and Cycling

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling combined in Guidance Document for NMT-Plar
ø Targets	Goals suggested for improvements in environments to support walking and

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Not available
Not available
Not available

Passenger and Freight Railways

Rail network (2006)	953 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	~
ø Targets	6-part phase rehabilitation and expansion plan to develop nation-wide railway system
Rail travel activity (2006)	85 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2006)	181 million ton-km

👪 Shared Mobility Services

-	
Bike-sharing systems (2020)	Not available
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy CO2 emissions performance for Targeted CO, emissions performance nning 🛋 Electric Mobility cycling No. of cities with electric buses

ICE phase-out targets

(A) Renewable Energy Renewable energy (biofuels and Less than 0.1%

×

electricity) share in transport (2018)

Targeted % of renewable energy

Y Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	0.6 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	Not available
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	×
of which carbon neutral	×
Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	19.8
Container port traffic (2019)	1 100 205 TEU

* COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glo

List of acronyms

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
105	Internal combunition engine

ICE

LDV LRT Light-duty vehicle Light-rail transit

- Nationally determined contribution Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit NDC
- TEU
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals UNFCCC VNR
- WLTP Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Not available

Transport measures in NDC

- Expansion of infrastructure
- General shipping improvement
 Electric vehicles
 Biofuels
- Mitigation Emission standards
- Fossil fuel subsidy removal
- Use of renewable energyExpansion of infrastructure
- Public transport integration and .

expansion

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	×
Ø Targets	People-centered urban developmentLow-carbon transport growth
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	~
Low Emission Zones (2020)	1 city

Nalking and Cycling

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling combined in Guidance Document for NMT-Planning
ø Targets	No specific modal share targets
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	No separated bikelanes currently, network of 200 km planned

Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Bus rapid transit (2020)	228 km in 9 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	485 km in 11 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	497411
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	4.4

Passenger and Freight Railways		
Rail network (2019)	68155 km	
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available	
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available	
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	×	
ø Targets	Increase the rail modal share for freight from 27% to 45% by 2030 and achieve net-zero carbon emissions by 2030	
Rail travel activity (2017)	1161333 million passenger-km	
Rail freight activity (2017)	654285 million ton-km	

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	30 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	1 operator in 6 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	58 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 3
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	135 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro IV
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	113 gCO ₂ /km by 2022
Electric vehicles (2019)	11200
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	0.1%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	12
ICE phase-out targets	×
(Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	20% Biodiesel, 10% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	2.4%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
Autotion	

Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	167.5 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	1938.2 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	8 airports
of which carbon neutral	3 airports

Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	55.5
Container port traffic (2019)	17 053 200 TEU

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastru investment	icture Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	e Not available
Examples .	Investments in electric buses and charging stations

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
CE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Transport strategy identifies climate change	Not available
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	Not submitted
NDC submitted	1st NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	~
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	×
2019 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 7, SDG 8 and SDG	39



Transport measures in NDC

Not available

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	
Ø Targets	 People-centered urban development Low-carbon transport growth
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	In Development
ø Targets	 GHG mitigation: 0.9 to 1.7 Mt CO₂e per year by 2030 (up to 13.9 Mt CO₂e in total) in pilot cities To leverage financing of EUR 100 million
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

🐜 Walking and Cycling

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling combined in Guidance Document for NMT-Planning
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	86 km of separated bikelanes

କଳି Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Bus rapid transit (2020)	207 km in 1 city
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	220 km in 2 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	370 000
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	7

Passenger and Freight Railways Rail network (2018) 5483 km

High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	~
Ø Targets	 10,524 km national railways in 2030 including 3,755 km urban railways Railway share to increase to 7-9% for passenger and 11-13% for freight transport
Rail travel activity (2018)	16932 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2018)	15091 million ton-km

Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	5 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	10 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy Emission standards for LDVs (2018) Euro 2 CO₂ emissions performance for 184 gCO₂/km LDVs (2017) Targeted CO, emissions performance 🛋 Electric Mobility No. of cities with electric buses × ICE phase-out targets 🚱 Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) 30% Biodiesel, 3% Ethanol Renewable energy (biofuels and 5.3% electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy 30% biodiesel, 20% ethanol and 5% biofuel in aviation fuel by 2025 🛪 Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) 91.3 million people Air freight activity (2019) 981.7 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports × (2020) of which carbon neutral × Shipping Liner shipping connectivity 44.4

index (2019)	
Container port traffic (2019)	14763630 TEU
COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

Gross-domestic product
Heavy-duty vehicle
Internal combustion engine
Light-duty vehicle
Light-rail transit
Nationally determined contribution
Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure


Transport strategy identifies climate change	Not available
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	Not submitted
NDC submitted	Not submitted
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	×
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not submitted
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	× 2017 VNR with no transport linkages



Transport measures in NDC

- • Not available

Not available

Ê L	Overstaling also a Markelling	- Diamata a C	Turner and Dar	and the second second
G 14	Sustainable Mobility	y Planning &	Transport Den	nand management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Not available
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Not available
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

🐜 Walking and Cycling

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Not identified on national level but strong ambitions in Teheran
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	550 km of separated bikelanes by 2040

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport		
Bus rapid transit (2020)	165 km in 3 cities	
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	134 km in 5 cities	
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	2135000	
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	9.4	

Passenger and Freight Railways			
Rail network (2018)	9146 km		
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available		
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available		
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	\checkmark		
ø Targets	 By 2025, 5000 km railway network with approximately 6000 km double-tracked, Total capacity for passenger transport to be increased to 160 million, Carrying 220 million tons of cargo, Railway market share in cargo transport to be 30% and 18% for passenger transport 		
Rail travel activity (2018)	15239 million passenger-km		
Rail freight activity (2016)	34859 million ton-km		
Shared Mobility Services			

Shared Mobility Services	
Bike-sharing systems (2020)	Not available
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 2
CO2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	Not available
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Not available
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available
-	
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	Not available
ICE phase-out targets	×
(A) Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	Not available
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	21.6 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	152.3 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	×
of which carbon neutral	×
Chinging	
snipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	19.8
Container port traffic (2019)	1516900 TEU
COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

Status Report - 2nd edition. The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator olossary here. sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

ntry Fact Sheet







Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Transport strategy identifies climate change	~
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	Not submitted
NDC submitted	 Image: A start of the start of
1st and updated NDC as European Union	
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	~
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	•
CO ₂ emissions per kilometre from new passenger cars sold 37.5% on average by 2030 (from 2021 levels), with new var and new large lorries reduced by 30% (from 2019/2020 lev	to be reduced by ns reduced by 31%, els)
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	×



Transport measures in NDC

Vehicle efficiency standards

Not available

LOW

0

🔠 Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	
Ø Targets	Required for every city above 100,000 population
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	✓ over 90 SUMPs adopted or approved
ø Targets	Overall objectives to improve air quality and reduce transport GHG emissions
Low Emission Zones (2020)	112 cities

10 Walking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020)	Not available
National cycling strategies (2020)	Not available
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	225 km of bikelanes

Urban Passenger and Freight Transport		
Bus rapid transit (2020)	Not available	
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	289 km in 16 cities	
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	Not available	
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	12.7	

Passenger and Freight Railways		
Rail network (2019)	16779 km	
High-speed rail (2018)	3676 km	
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	15 billion passenger-km	
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	~	
Ø Targets	 By 2023, Accommodate 70 million more passengers per year, Add more than 700 new train vehicles, the majority freight wagons, Each year, support the removal of 400,000 cars from the road and reduce CO₂ emissions by 600 million kg 	
Rail travel activity (2017)	55493 million passenger-km	
Rail freight activity (2019)	21309 million ton-km	

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	166 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	8 operators in 17 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	126 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	On subnational level (Milan as example)
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	1
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	~

Fuel Economy Emission standards for LDVs (2018) Euro 6 CO₂ emissions performance for 124 gCO₂/km LDVs (2017) Emission standards for HDVs Furo VI (2018) Targeted CO, emissions 59 gCO₂/km by 2030 performance 🛋 Electric Mobility Electric vehicles (2019) 40274 No. of cities with electric buses 9 (2019) × ICE phase-out targets 🚱 Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Overall 7% Renewable energy (biofuels and 6.3% electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy 0.9% advanced biofuels by 2020, 1.85% by 2022 **Aviation** Air passengers caried (2019) 27.8 million people Air freight activity (2019) 1345 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 14 airports (2020) of which carbon neutral 7 airports 🚊 Shipping Liner shipping connectivity 72.8 index (2019) Container port traffic (2019) 10014210 TEU 🕸 COVID-19 Traditional transport infrastructure investment Clean transport infrastructure USD 0.24 billion investment Examples · Funding to support transport activities · Incentives for the purchase of a new car Local public transport support This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT List of acronyms Transport and Climate Change

Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.	GDP HDV ICE	Gross-domestic product Heavy-duty vehicle Internal combustion engine
Me monitoriation with a based of it desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data	LDV LRT NDC TEU UNFCCC VNR WLTP	Light-duty vehicle Light-rail transit Nationally determined contribution Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goal Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

es and indicator glo







Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Voluntary National Review highlights transport	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	27% below 2013 (163 million tCO_2 less by 2030)
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	~
NDC submitted	1st and Updated NDC
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	~
Transport strategy identifies climate change	 Image: A start of the start of



6

Transport measures in NDC

- Mitigation General fuel improvement policies
 - · General vehicle improvements
 - General innovations and digitalisation
 - National mobility plans

0

Ó đ

Not available

Ê L	Custoinelele Mehilit	Diamaina	C Tromo		ad Management
â te /	Sustainable Mobility	y Planning	a trans	port Demai	na management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	•
ø Targets	 Support activities of local governments through grants to develop comprehensive transport strategy
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	No but Low Carbon City Act
Ø Targets	 Realize compact urban structure Promote measures to address traffic flow Promote the use of public transport
Low Emission Zones (2020)	1 city

Walking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020) Not available

National cycling strategies (2020)

Cycling infrastructure in capital 10 km of separated bikelanes (2020)

۵ā	Urban	Passenger	and Freight	Transport
000 922	Ulball	rassenger	and reight	manaport

Bus rapid transit (2020)	29 km of BRT in 2 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	Over 1000 km in 26 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	9100
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	18.7

~

Passenger and Freight Railways

Rail network (2018)	19123 km
High-speed rail (2018)	2848 km
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	103.7 billion passenger-km
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	~
ø Targets	25% energy consumption reduction of 2014 levels by 2031
Rail travel activity (2018)	437 363 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2016)	20117 million ton-km

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	28 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	1 operator in 2 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	12 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Yes
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	3
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	~

Fuel Economy

Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 5
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	144 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro VI
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	74 gCO ₂ /km by 2030

🖶 Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	294000
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	0.9%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	5
ICE phase-out targets	2050
🛞 Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	2.7%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
X Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	130.2 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	8919.5 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	4 airports
of which carbon neutral	×
Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	71.2
Container port traffic (2019)	21708860 TEU
X COVID-19	

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	USD 0.14 billion
Examples • Local pu	blic transport support

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms

2101 01 01010	ilyino -
GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Mitigation · General efficiency standards

· Education and training

· Design standards and updates

Transport infrastructure resilience

La Constant		
National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Not available	
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Pilot project in 1 city	
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available	

10 Walking and Cycling

National walking and cycling strategies (2020) Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020) Walking and cycling combined in Guidance Document for NMT-Planning

B Urban Passenger and Freight Transport		
Bus rapid transit (2020)	Not available	
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	Not available	
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	Not available	
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	Not available	

Passenger and Freight Railways		
Rail network (2004)	1917 km	
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available	
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available	
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	×	
ø Targets	 Increase the railway capacity to handle 50% of freight cargo (25 Million Tonnes) from the Mombasa Port 	
Rail travel activity (2007)	109 million passenger-km	
Rail freight activity (2004)	1 399 million ton-km	

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	Not available
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Not available
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	173 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Not available
Targeted CO_2 emissions performance	Not available
	Neterreitelete
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	Not available
ICE phase-out targets	×
(?) Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	Not available
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
Y Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	6.4 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	321 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	×
of which carbon neutral	×
Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	17
Container port traffic (2019)	1425000 TEU
* COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glos sary here.

List of acronyms

WLTP

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals

Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

htry Fact Sheet



Transport measures in NDC

- General vehicle improvements
- Mitigation · General public transport improvement
 - Expansion of infrastructure
- · General e-mobility
- · General comprehensive planning

Adaptation

- Repair & maintenance (1st NDC) Transport planning (1st NDC)
- Resilient transport technologies (1st NDC)

Transport infrastructure resilience (1st NDC)

<u>ŝ L</u>	Custainable	Mobility	Dianning 6	Tropoport	Domond	Monogomor
ât	Sustamable	MODILITY	rtanning o	mansport	Demanu	wanayemen

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Not available
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Few isolated cases on local level
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

Malking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020)On subnational levelNational cycling strategies (2020)On subnational levelCycling infrastructure in capital
(2020)128 km of bikelanes

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Bus rapid transit (2020)	394 km in 11 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	282 km in 3 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	2652204
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	10.5

III Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (2018)	14388 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	✓
Rail travel activity (2018)	1591 miliion passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2019)	89049 million ton-km

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	18 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	4 operators in 3 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	3 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

📳 Fuel Economy Emission standards for LDVs (2018) Euro 4 CO₂ emissions performance for 175 gCO₂/km LDVs (2017) Targeted CO, emissions 🛋 Electric Mobility Electric vehicles (2019) 4700 Market share of electric vehicles 0.1% (2019) No. of cities with electric buses 2 (2019) ICE phase-out targets 2050 🕢 Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) 10% Ethanol Renewable energy (biofuels and 0.2% electricity) share in transport (2018) **Aviation** Air passengers caried (2019) 69.9 million people Air freight activity (2019) 1072.5 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 19 airports (2020) × of which carbon neutral 😩 Shipping Liner shipping connectivity 45.5 index (2019)

Container port traffic (2019)	7090800 TEU
COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastru investment	cture USD 5.35 billion
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Examples • Railway construction • Road construction investment • Cycling network investment	

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goal
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



30

20

10

0

Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	NOUSUDINILLEU
NDC submitted	1st NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	 Image: A start of the start of
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	~
Reduce energy consumption of transport by 23% by 2030	
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	~
Reduce logistical costs from 20% to 15% by 2019 Create a USD 200 million support fund for urban road transport Implement public transport in major cities and create taxi flee	ort et renewal
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	<
2020 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 3, SDG 4, SDG 7, SI	DG 9, SDG 11 and SDG 13
Transport measures in NDC	



Mitigation Freight transport shifting to rail or inland
Inspection and maintenance

Emission standards

- General public transport improvement
 - · Vehicle restrictions
- · Financial instruments to support decarbonisation

Adaptation Transport infrastructure resilience Business-as-Usual Scenario 2020 to 2050

+68%

Low Carbon Scenario 2020 to 2050

-66%

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	~
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Several cities
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available
🐜 Walking and Cycling	

National walking strategies (2020)	Not available
National cycling strategies (2020)	Not available
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	Not available

କଳି Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	Not available
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	50 km in 2 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	Not available

Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)

Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (2019)	2 295 km
High-speed rail (2018)	200 km
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	756 million passenger-km
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	~
Ø Targets	Expand current network, through the construction of 2,743 additional km conventional rail and 1,500 km of high-speed lines
Rail travel activity (2018)	4475 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2017)	3896 million ton-km
Shared Mobility Services	

4.4

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	1 system
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	1 service
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Enhance Not available CO2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017) Not available Emission standards for HDVs (2018) Not available Targeted CO2 emissions performance Not available Image: Electric Mobility Not available Electric vehicles (2019) Not available Market share of electric vehicles (2019) Not available No. of cities with electric buses (2019) Not available ICE phase-out targets X ICE phase-out targets X ICE phase-out targets Not available Renewable Energy Not available Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) 0.5% Targeted % of renewable energy Not available Image: Aviation 9.4 million people Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports (2020) 2 airports	Emission standards for LDV/s (2018)	Euro 4
CO2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017) Not available Emission standards for HDVs (2018) Not available Targeted CO2 emissions performance Not available Formance Not available Electric Mobility Not available Electric vehicles (2019) Not available Market share of electric vehicles (2019) Not available No. of cities with electric buses (2019) Not available ICE phase-out targets × Renewable Energy Not available Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) 0.5% Targeted % of renewable energy Not available Image: Aviation 102.2 million people Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports (2020) 2 airports of which carbon neutral ×	Emission standards for LDVS (2018)	EUIO 4
Emission standards for HDVsNot availableTargeted CO, emissionsNot availableperformanceNot availableElectric MobilityElectric vehicles (2019)Market share of electric vehiclesNot available(2019)Not availableNo. of cities with electric busesNot available(2019)Not availableICE phase-out targets×(2019)Not availableICE phase-out targets×(2019)Not availableRenewable EnergyNot availableBiofuel blend mandate (2019)Not availableRenewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)0.5%Targeted % of renewable energyNot available(2018)9.4 million peopleAir passengers caried (2019)9.4 million peopleAir freight activity (2019)102.2 million ton-kmCarbon-accredited airports2 airportsof which carbon neutral×	CO2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	Not available
Targeted CO, emissions performance Not available Electric Mobility Not available Electric vehicles (2019) Not available Market share of electric vehicles Not available (2019) Not available No. of cities with electric buses Not available (2019) Not available ICE phase-out targets × ICE phase-out targets × Renewable Energy Not available Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) 0.5% Targeted % of renewable energy Not available Image: Aviation 9.4 million people Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 2 airports of which carbon neutral ×	Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Not avaiable
Electric Mobility Electric Vehicles (2019) Not available Market share of electric vehicles Not available (2019) No. of cities with electric buses Not available (2019) ICE phase-out targets × Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Not available Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 2 airports of which carbon neutral	Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not avaiable
Electric vehicles (2019) Not available Market share of electric vehicles Not available (2019) Not available No. of cities with electric buses Not available (2019) Not available ICE phase-out targets × (2019) Not available Renewable Energy Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) 0.5% Targeted % of renewable energy Not available (2018) Not available (2018) 9.4 million people Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 2 airports (2020) in the orbon neutral	Electric Mobility	
Market share of electric vehicles Not available (2019) Not available No. of cities with electric buses Not available ICE phase-out targets × Renewable Energy Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) 0.5% Targeted % of renewable energy Not available Image: Aviation × Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 2 airports of which carbon neutral ×	Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses Not available ICE phase-out targets × ICE phase-out targets Not available ICE phase-out targets Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) 0.5% Targeted % of renewable energy Not available ICE Aviation Not available Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 2 airports of which carbon neutral ×	Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
ICE phase-out targets × Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Not available Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 2 airports of which carbon neutral ×	No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	Not available
Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) 0.5% Targeted % of renewable energy Not available Image: Aviation Not available Aviation 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports (2020) 2 airports of which carbon neutral *	ICE phase-out targets	×
Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Not available Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Not available		
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) 0.5% Targeted % of renewable energy Not available ✓ Aviation	Renewable Energy	
Targeted % of renewable energy Not available Image: Aviation Image: Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports (2020) 2 airports of which carbon neutral X	Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available
Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports (2020) 2 airports of which carbon neutral ×	Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	Not available 0.5%
Air passengers caried (2019) 9.4 million people Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports (2020) 2 airports of which carbon neutral ×	Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available 0.5% Not available
Air freight activity (2019) 102.2 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 2 airports (2020) of which carbon neutral	Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation	Not available 0.5% Not available
Carbon-accredited airports 2 airports (2020) of which carbon neutral	 Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) 	Not available 0.5% Not available 9.4 million people
of which carbon neutral	 ✔ Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy ✔ Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) 	Not available 0.5% Not available 9.4 million people 102.2 million ton-km
	 Renewable Energy Biofuel blend mandate (2019) Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) Carbon-accredited airports (2020) 	Not available 0.5% Not available 9.4 million people 102.2 million ton-km 2 airports

Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	58.2
Container port traffic (2019)	6040400 TEU

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals

WLTP Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

sport infrastructure	Not available
infrastructure	Not available





Transport strategy identifies climate change	~
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	Not submitted
NDC submitted	1st and Updated NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	×
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	 Image: A start of the start of
2019 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 3, SDG 7, SDG 8, 13	SDG 11 and SDG



Transport measures in NDC

Not available

ê.				
6 4	Sustainable Mobility	y Planning & Tra	Insport Demand Manage	ement

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	•
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Auckland developed first such plan in 2006
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available
100 Walking and Cycling	
National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling combined in National Land Transport Programme 2018-21

Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)

walking and cycling 41 km of separated bikelanes

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Bus rapid transit (2020)	6 km in 1 city
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	192 km in 2 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	22900
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	4.4

Passenger and Freight Railways	
Rail network (1998)	3908 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	
Rail travel activity (1998)	321 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2019)	3830 million ton-km

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	8 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	4 operators in 6 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	7 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Subnational roadmaps
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	1
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	~

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 6
CO2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	Not available
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Not available
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available
🚓 Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	17700
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	2.8%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	1
ICE phase-out targets	×
🕑 Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	7% Riadianal
biolact biola mandate (2010)	/ % biouleset
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	0.1%
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy	0.1%
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation	0.1% Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation Air passengers caried (2019)	0.1% Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019)	7.% blodeset 0.1% Not available 17.8 1207.9
Biologic bicket manifolds (2016) Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy	0.1% Not available 17.8 1207.9 3 airports
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral	 7% blockeset 0.1% Not available 17.8 1207.9 3 airports ×
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping	7% blodeset 0.1% Not available 17.8 1207.9 3 airports ×
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	7.% blodeset 0.1% Not available 17.8 1207.9 3 airports × 31.9
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018) Targeted % of renewable energy Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) Air freight activity (2019) Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping Liner shipping connectivity index (2019) Container port traffic (2019)	7% blodeset 0.1% Not available 17.8 1207.9 3 airports × 31.9 3444356 TEU

Traditional transport infrastructure Not available investment

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glos ary here

List of acronyms

10

1DP	Gross-domestic product
IDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
CE	Internal combustion engin
.DV	Light-duty vehicle

LRT Light-rail transit

- NDC TEU Nationally determined contribution Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
- UNFCCC
 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

 VNR
 Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Development Goals
- WLTP Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure



Transport measures in NDC

Mitigatior

Public transport integration and expansion
General public transport improvement

· General freight efficiency improvements

- System improvements · Road charging and tolls
- LPG/CNG/LNG

 Transport infrastructure resilience Transport system adaptation

Risk assessment

Adaptation

Design standards and updates

Sustainable Mobility Plannin	g & Transport Demand Management
National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Not available
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Not available but Lagos Urban Transport Master Plan defines long-term development
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available
🐜 Walking and Cycling	
National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling combined in Guidance Document for NMT-Planning
ø Targets	 Increase sustainable transport share to 75% or more Halt the growth of private vehicle kilometers travelled Improve road safety (to 10 fatalities or less per 100,000 people) Ensure air quality at WHO standards and mitigate GHG emissions
Cycling infrastructure in capital	Not available

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport		
Bus rapid transit (2020)	22 km in 1 city	
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	42 km in 1 city	
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	200 000	
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	0.8	

Passenger and Freight Railways		
Rail network (2015)	3528 km	
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available	
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available	
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	Ŷ	
Rail travel activity (2005)	174 million passenger-km	
Rail freight activity (2005)	77 million ton-km	

Shared Mobility Services

•••	
Bike-sharing systems (2020)	Not available
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy Emission standards for LDVs (2018) Euro 3 Emission standards for HDVs Furo III (2018) Targeted CO, emissions performance 🛋 Electric Mobility No. of cities with electric buses × ICE phase-out targets Renewable Energy electricity) share in transport **X** Aviation Air passengers caried (2019) 6.5 million people Air freight activity (2019) 22 million ton-km Carbon-accredited airports 1 airport (2020) of which carbon neutral × Shipping Liner shipping connectivity 21.4 index (2019) Container port traffic (2019) 1484000 TEU 🕸 COVID-19 Traditional transport infrastructure investment

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

ountry Fact Sheet | Nigeria



Transport measures in NDC

Not available

Transport infrastructure resilience

Adaptation

nt

ê L	Sustainable Mabilit	Dianning G	Transport	Domond	Innonomo
ê tê	Sustamable Mobili	ly Planning a	mansport	Demanu	nanayeme

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	 Overview of challenges to implement sustainable transport in Peru was reviewed in this report.
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	In preparation
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

🚲 Walking and Cycling

National walking strategies (2020) Not

ational cycling strategies (2020) Not a

Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)

466 km of bikelanes

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport		
Bus rapid transit (2020)	26 km in 1 city	
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	34 km in 1 city	
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	704803	
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	3.8	

Passenger and Freight Railways

Rail network (1998)	1639 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not available
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	~
Ø Targets	New 475 km line, railway tunnel and a 65 km line to shorten railway travel time
Rail travel activity (1998)	127 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (1998)	599 million ton-km

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	1 system
Electric scooter services (2020)	Not available
Carsharing services (2021)	Not available
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	Not available

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 4
$CO_{\rm 2}$ emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	187 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro IV
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	1
ICE phase-out targets	×
Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	2% Biodiesel, 8% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	4.2%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available

Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	18.8 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	340.3 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	2 airports
of which carbon neutral	×

Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	38.9
Container port traffic (2019)	2330362 TEU

COVID-19		
Traditional transport infrast investment	ructure	USD 3.5 billion
Clean transport infrastructu investment	Ire	Not available
Examples	Funds for Road mai Airport m Port inves	r bicycles intenance aintenance stment

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goa
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure







Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Transport strategy identifies climate change	~
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	Not submitted
NDC submitted	1st NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	×
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	~
2020 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 2, SDG 3, SDG 7, SDG 11 and SDG 12	SDG 9, SDG 19,



Transport measures in NDC

0

Not available

Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	~
Ø Targets	 Ensure high-quality road and urban electric transport for passenger and freight transport Enable sustainable urban transport, including the development of sustainable urban mobility plans
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	1 city
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available

Malking and Cycling

Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	850 km of bikelanes
National cycling strategies (2020)	Not available
National walking strategies (2020)	Not available

GR Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	Not available
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	740 km in 59 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	Not available
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	16.3

Passenger and Freight Railways		
Rail network (2019)	85 494 km	
High-speed rail (2018)	600 km	
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	6.2 billion passenger-km	
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	×	
ø Targets	 To halve CO₂ emission intensity by rail To double the speed of freight rail transport 	
Rail travel activity (2018)	129542 million passenger-km	
Rail freight activity (2019)	2602493 million ton-km	

Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	8 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	1 operator in 12 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	34 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	~

electric transport inable

Targeted CO₂ emissions Not available performance

Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	Not available
ICE phase-out targets	×
0	

(1) Reliewable Ellergy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	7%

Targeted % of renewable energy No

Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	115.5 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	6620.7 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	×
of which carbon neutral	×

snipping	
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	38.1
Container port traffic (2019)	5311700 TEU

COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be compilete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms

GDP	Gross-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
TEU	Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VNR	Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goals
WLTP	Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure





Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	Not submitted
NDC submitted	1st NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	 Image: A start of the start of
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	×



Transport measures in NDC

· Public transport integration and expansion

Mitigation · Fuel quality standards

· Resilient transport technologies

Adaptation

8 In Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Envisioned
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Envisioned
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020) Low Emission Zones (2020)	Envisioned Not available

Note: Note:

National walking strategies (2020)	Not available
National cycling strategies (2020)	Not available
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	Not available

GR Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	
Bus rapid transit (2020)	Not available
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	Not available
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	Not available
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	Not available

Passenger and Freight Railways		
Rail network (2018)	2939 km	
High-speed rail (2018)	453 km	
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not available	
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	×	
@ Targets	• To construct 9,000 km of railways by 2040	
Rail travel activity (2018)	135 million passenger-km	
Rail freight activity (2010)	1852 million ton-km	

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	2 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	1 operator in 1 city
Carsharing services (2021)	7 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	Not available
Autonomous vehicles strategies	Not available

Fuel Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 2
CO2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	Not available
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Not available
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	Not available
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	Not available
ICE phase-out targets	×
Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Not available
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	Not available
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	39.4 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	1024.1 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	×
of which carbon neutral	×
Shipping	
Liner shipping connectivity	63

Index (2019)	
Container port traffic (2019)	8905391 TEU
* COVID-19	
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms GDP Gross

GDI	aross domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit

- NDC TEU
 - Nationally determined contribution Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
- UNFCCC
 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

 VNR
 Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Development Goals
- WLTP Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

ntry Fact Sheet



Transport strategy identifies climate change	~
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	
NDC submitted	1st NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	•
Achieve 20% share of hybrid and full-electric vehicles by 20	30
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	~
2019 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 7, SDG 8, SDG 9, S	SDG 11 and SDG 13



Transport measures in NDC

· General e-mobility

Not available

Sustainable Mobility Plannin	ng & Transport Demand Management
National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	~
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	Not available
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available
👬 Walking and Cycling	
National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling combined in Guidance Document for NMT-Planning
Cycling infrastructure in capital (2020)	450 km of bikelanes
କନ୍ଥି Urban Passenger and Freig	ht Transport
Bus rapid transit (2020)	88 km in 3 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	Not available
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	111578
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	3.4
The Design of the Second Secon	
Passenger and Freight Kall	200521m
High apped roll (2018)	20953 KIII
High-speed rait (2018)	Not available
(2018)	NOT AVAILADIE
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion (2020)	\checkmark
Rail travel activity (2007)	13865 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2008)	113342 million ton-km
Shared Mobility Services	
Bike-sharing systems (2020)	1 system

4 services

Electric scooter services (2020)

Carsharing services (2021)

National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)

Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020) Autonomous vehicles strategies

Emission standards for LDVS (2018)	Euro 2
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	176 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro II
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	1200
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	0.1%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	1
ICE phase-out targets	×
(4) Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	5% Biodiesel, 2% Ethanol
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	1.4%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available
→ Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	25.7
Air freight activity (2019)	539.4
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	6 airports
Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral	6 airports ×
Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping	6 airports
Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	6 airports × 34.6
Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping Liner shipping connectivity index (2019) Container port traffic (2019)	6 airports × 34.6 4769700 TEU
Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping Liner shipping connectivity index (2019) Container port traffic (2019) Kerner	6 airports
Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping Liner shipping connectivity index (2019) Container port traffic (2019) Container port traffic (2019) Traditional transport infrastructure Investment	6 airports
Carbon-accredited airports (2020) of which carbon neutral Shipping Liner shipping connectivity index (2019) Container port traffic (2019) Container port traffic (2019) Container port traffic (2019) Traditional transport infrastructure investment	6 airports

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

Fuel Economy

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glos sary here

- List of acronyms GDP Gross-domestic product Heavy-duty vehicle Internal combustion engine HDV ICE LDV LRT Light-duty vehicle Light-rail transit NDC TEU Nationally determined contribution Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
- UNFCCC
 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

 VNR
 Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Development Goals
- WLTP Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

312







(201)



0

Transport strategy identifies climate change	<u> </u>
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	~
NDC submitted	1st and Updated NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	×
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	~
2019 VNR with transport linkages to SDG 9	



6

Transport measures in NDC

0

Not available

$\underset{elm}{\overset{\texttt{BIB}}{\overset{\texttt{B}}}} \text{ Sustainable Mobility Planning & Transport Demand Management}$

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	~
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	<u>ی</u>
Low Emission Zones (2020)	14 cities

Malking and Cycling

National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling combined in Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy
ø Targets	Double cycling activity, achieve 1.6 billion modal shifts from other forms of transport to cycling in 2025
	 Increase walking, achieve 300 modal shifts per person per year from other forms of transport to walking in 2025
	Increase share of children (aged 5 to 10) that walk to school from 49% in 2014 to 55% in 2025
Cycling infrastructure in capital	2000 km of separated bikelanes

- ,	 	 -	
(2020)			

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport		
Bus rapid transit (2020)	135 km in 7 cities	
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	Over 800 km in 10 cities	
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	78226	
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	32	

Passenger and Freight Railways

Rail network (2018)	16 295 km
High-speed rail (2018)	115 km
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	4.8 billion passenger-km
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	~
ø Targets	Plan includes to improve railways, expand network and improve passenger service
Rail travel activity (2018)	80526 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2018)	17206 million ton-km

Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	63 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	7 operators in 14 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	143 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	Yes
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	7
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	~

Fuel Economy			
	_		
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 6		
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	137 gCO₂/km		
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro VI		
Targeted CO ₂ emissions performance	Not available		
Electric Mobility			
Electric vehicles (2019)	259200		
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	2.8%		
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	2		
ICE phase-out targets	2030		
Renewable Energy			
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Overall 7.3%		
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	4.1%		
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available		
Aviation			
Air passengers caried (2019)	142.4 million people		
Air freight activity (2019)	5851.2 million ton-km		
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	16 airports		
of which carbon neutral	6 airports		
Shipping			
Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	84.9		
Container port traffic (2019)	10 276 500 TEU		
COVID-19			
Traditional transport infrastructure investment	USD 140 billion		
Clean transport infrastructure investment	USD 23.9 billion		
Examples - Local trr - EV char, - Tube su - Cycling - Buses an - Bus rout - Transpo - Transfor - Zero em - Electric	 Local transport settlements EV charging network investment Tube support Cycling and walking package Buses and trams safety and services fund Bus route funding Transport network support Transforming Cities Fund Zero emissions buses Electric vehicles charge points 		
This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition. The information shown is based on Jesk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. Not available is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.	acronyms Gross-domestic product Heavy-duty vehicle Internal combustion engine Light-duty vehicle Light-rail transit Nationally determined contribution Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment O Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure		







(2015

Low Carbon Transport Pathways

Transport strategy identifies climate change	×
Long-term strategy submitted to UNFCCC	 Image: A start of the start of
NDC submitted	1st NDC and updated NDC
NDC highlights transport for GHG mitigation	~
Transport mitigation targets in NDC	×
Other non-emission related transport targets in NDC	Not available
Voluntary National Review highlights transport	Not submitted



Transport measures in NDC

 Vehicle efficiency improvements Mitigation

0

· EV purchase incentives

· General infrastructure improvements

· Renewable energy

• EV charging infrastructure

Not available

Ê L	Custoinelale Mehility Dispusing G	Trememout Demond Money	
a te	Sustainable Mobility Planning a	rransport Demand Manag	ement

National Urban Mobility Framework (2020)	Not available on national level
Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans (2020)	×
Low Emission Zones (2020)	Not available
🐜 Walking and Cycling	
National walking and cycling strategies (2020)	Walking and cycling combined in Strategic Agenda for Pedestrian and Bicycle Transportation
ø Targets	 Development of networks, safety, equity and more walking and cycling trips

Cycling infrastructure in capital 151 km of separated bikelanes (2020)

🛱 Urban Passenger and Freigh	t Transport
Bus rapid transit (2020)	438 km in 14 cities
Urban rail (LRT, metro, tram) (2020)	2410 km in 43 cities
Bus rapid transit daily passenger volume (2020)	485276
Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (2019)	20

Passenger and Freight Railv	vays
Rail network (2018)	150 462 km
High-speed rail (2018)	Not avaiable
High-speed rail travel activity (2018)	Not avaiable
National plans for passenger and freight rail expansion	Ŷ
Rail travel activity (2018)	31963 million passenger-km
Rail freight activity (2019)	2364144 million ton-km

👪 Shared Mobility Services

Bike-sharing systems (2020)	397 systems
Electric scooter services (2020)	18 operators in 113 cities
Carsharing services (2021)	584 services
National legal frameworks for shared mobility (2020)	~
Autonomous vehicles in operation or in preparation (2020)	55
Autonomous vehicles strategies (2020)	

Fuel Economy

Fuer Economy	
Emission standards for LDVs (2018)	Euro 4
CO_2 emissions performance for LDVs (2017)	198 gCO ₂ /km
Emission standards for HDVs (2018)	Euro V
Targeted CO_2 emissions performance	108 gCO ₂ /km by 2026
Electric Mobility	
Electric vehicles (2019)	1450000
Market share of electric vehicles (2019)	2.1%
No. of cities with electric buses (2019)	129
ICE phase-out targets	×
🛞 Renewable Energy	
Biofuel blend mandate (2019)	Ranging from 2 to 10% in some US states
Renewable energy (biofuels and electricity) share in transport (2018)	6%
Targeted % of renewable energy	Not available

Aviation	
Air passengers caried (2019)	926.7 million people
Air freight activity (2019)	42498.3 million ton-km
Carbon-accredited airports (2020)	30 airports
of which carbon neutral	1 airport
Shipping	

Liner shipping connectivity index (2019)	90
Container port traffic (2019)	55 5 18 880 TEU
COVID-19	

Traditional transport infrastructure investment	Not available
Clean transport infrastructure investment	Not available

This fact sheet is part of the SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd edition.

The information shown is based on desk research. Data has been collected to the best knowledge and availability. However, it might not be complete or reflect the most recent status. 'Not available' is indicated, when no information has been retrieved. The content does not represent the opinion of the SLOCAT Partnership. Find data sources and indicator glossary here.

List of acronyms

GDP	Gloss-domestic product
HDV	Heavy-duty vehicle
ICE	Internal combustion engine
LDV	Light-duty vehicle
LRT	Light-rail transit
NDC	Nationally dotorminod contri

- NDC Nationally determined contribution TEU Twenty-foot Equivalent Unit
- UNFCCC
 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

 VNR
 Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Development Goals
- VNR
 Voluntary national review of the Sustainable Developiment Goa

 WLTP
 Worldwide harmonised light vehicles test procedure

Annex: Methodological Note

Data usage

Time period for data:

The report strives to utilise the most recent publicly available data and information just prior to the time of publication (as of 31 May 2021). The figures in the report were developed between September and December 2020 using the most recent data available.

Secondary data:

SLOCAT relies on secondary data and information collected and provided by SLOCAT partners and other entities and does not make use of any internal modelling tools.

Data on sustainable mobility: A call to action

The report benefits directly from data collected by a wide range of stakeholders working in different areas of transport.

Data are important for providing a comprehensive picture of the status of sustainable, low carbon transport and are essential for both policy and investment decision making. In these times of change, it is critical to upgrade data and policy collection and interpretation capacities to better understand progress and the hurdles that must be addressed.

The data limitations mentioned below are not new. Obtaining regular, reliable and public data across regions and transport modes remains an outstanding issue. When an increasing number of stakeholders are collecting data and policy information, more and better open-access data and capacity building efforts for data interpretation are supported by many multi-stakeholder partnerships in the sustainable, low carbon movement.

If you share our passion for open-access data and knowledge towards greater impact on policy and investment decision making worldwide and/or would like to contribute data or knowledge to our collective efforts on this report, **please reach out to the research team in the SLOCAT Secretariat at tccgsr@slocatpartnership.org**.

Specific data used in this report

Data on emissions

The data in this edition of the report point to the direct carbon emissions from transport activity; they do not cover the indirect emissions and land-use impacts associated with certain modes of transport. The report primarily utilises CO_2 emission data compiled in the Emissions Database for Global Atmospheric Research (EDGAR) from the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission, as this represents the most recent, comprehensive dataset on transport CO_2 emissions. However, this global dataset does not convey in full detail the unique situations of individual countries. EDGAR provides estimates for fossil CO₂ emissions from all anthropogenic activities with the exception of land use, land-use change, forestry and the large-scale burning of biomass. The main activities covered are CO₂ emissions emitted by the power sector (i.e., power and heat generation plants), by other industrial combustion (i.e., combustion for industrial manufacturing and fuel production) and by buildings and other activities such as industrial process emissions, agricultural soils and waste. Transport activities covered within EDGAR include road transport, non-road transport, domestic aviation, and inland waterways on a country level, as well as international aviation and shipping.¹

For the world, regions and countries, the CO_2 emission data (provided by EDGAR) span through 2019. In a few places in the report, CO_2 data for 2020 are shown to illustrate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic; however, these data are based on a different methodology than the EDGAR dataset and should not be compared directly with the data from previous years.

The latest CO_2 emission data for individual transport modes are for 2018 and have been compiled only at the global level. For passenger and freight transport, the data on global CO_2 emissions are for 2017, as this is the latest year with robust data. Data on passenger activity (passenger-kilometres) and freight activity (tonne-kilometres) – provided mainly in the country fact sheets – are based on the latest available year, as indicated in the report analysis.

Information on greenhouse gas emissions – provided in CO_2 equivalent (CO_{2eq}) – include not only CO_2 but also methane, nitrous oxide, and industrial gases such as hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons, sulphur hexafluoride and nitrogen trifluoride.² These data are less up-to-date. As of 31 May 2021, data on greenhouse gas emissions were not readily available for the period 2019-2020. In some cases, additional data sources were used to provide detailed information about other climate pollutants besides CO_2 .

All data on CO_2 and other greenhouse gas emissions, as well as CO_{2eqr} are provided in metric tonnes.

Data on car ownership

Information on car ownership rates is based on a global dataset from the International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA), with the latest release (as of 31 May 2021) dating from 2015.³ Although newer information is available for some individual countries, using these data would hinder accurate global comparisons. Data on passenger and commercial vehicle sales were available only up to 2019.

Policy landscape data

The policy-related information presented in this report is not intended to be comprehensive. The data for the policy landscape indicators provided in Section 3 were gathered through desk research unless otherwise indicated. Barriers to accessing such information include language and limited availability of information through online media (e.g., websites, press releases and news articles).

Data in country fact sheets

Information in the fact sheets is based on desk research and on contributions from the national focal points. The data were collected to the best of the authors' knowledge and based on data availability, and thus may not be complete or show the most recent status. When no information was available for a given indicator, the term "Not available" is used.

Data gaps

Major data gaps exist in areas where there is no globally accepted data collection methodology. For example, the mapping of cycling and walking infrastructure is not currently done in all regions. Also, the modal share can be surveyed through different methods, leading to inconsistencies in available data. In addition, data on paratransit (informal transport), a predominant form of transport in many parts of the world, are largely lacking. This results in an incomplete picture of the impact of transport on climate change and sustainable development.

Methodological approach

Countries and regions

The report follows the M49 Standard of the United Nations Statistics Division.⁴ In total, 196 countries have official United Nations membership and are also party to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. The available data have been put in a common structure for the United Nations member countries, regions and income groups to enable a consistent assessment. Income groups are based on the World Bank's classification of 2019.⁵

Economic calculations

The per capita and gross domestic product (GDP) calculations are based on the United Nations World Population Prospects 2019 and on World Bank GDP data using constant 2010 USD.⁶

Spatial and temporal scales

The geographic scale (global, national, city-level, etc.) as well as time scale (annual, monthly, daily) used in this report depends largely on the available dataset, as noted in the relevant figures and text. The detailed data forming the basis of the calculations and analysis are provided in the SLOCAT Transport Knowledge Base.⁷

Criteria for selection

The report covers policies, targets, emission reductions (achieved or envisioned) and market measures. To merit inclusion in the analysis, the policies, projects and trends must have been announced or completed between 2018 and 2020. Significant developments from January through May 2021 were included when deemed relevant, with the understanding that the next edition of the *Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report* will cover a period starting in 2021.

Pre- and post-COVID-19 pandemic trends

The year 2020 was pivotal for the world, and the COVID-19 pandemic has had substantial impacts on many of the transport trends monitored in this report. This edition attempts to differentiate between long-term trends and impacts due to the pandemic. To the extent possible, the analysis notes "pre-pandemic" (up to the end of 2019 or latest by February 2020) and "during pandemic" trends (starting in March 2020 until the end of 2020), as in some cases the pandemic led to reversals in long-term trends, at least for a specific period of time. In each section, a box describes the impacts that the pandemic has had on specific regions and sub-sectors.

Assembling the report

Global Strategy Team

This edition of the report was guided by a global strategy team consisting of 20 experts in the field who provided inputs over the span of six meetings between September 2019 and October 2020. Additionally, small group consultations were organised in February 2021, following the peer review process.

Authors and contributors

The report was collaboratively drafted by 22 authors and contributors from 16 organisations, led by the SLOCAT Secretariat. This includes additions and high-level inputs from the copy editor and from the special advisor who also co-authored the Executive Summary. Authors researched and compiled relevant facts and figures for the five sections of the report, including the Focus Features, with supporting review and inputs from several other organisations.

Peer review: A peer review process was carried out from 18 December 2020 to 20 January 2021 with 1,700 comments received from 74 reviewers. Each comment was individually reviewed by the SLOCAT Secretariat and considered in finalising the report.

National focal points: The report benefited from the contributions of voluntary national focal points, or experts from various regions and countries who have been essential to overcome language and information barriers. A public call for participation to provide information on policies and data resulted in several hundred initial registrations. Out of these registrations, 78 national focal points provided inputs through a first survey from 24 January to 3 February 2020; and through a second survey (focused on the country fact sheets) from 6 to 30 August 2020. All national focal points that contributed to the surveys are listed in the Acknowledgements.

Endnotes

Executive Summary	319
1.1 Global Transport and Climate Change	321
1.2 Africa Regional Overview	322
1.3 Asia Regional Overview	323
1.4 Europe Regional Overview	325
1.5 Latin America and the Caribbean Regional Overview	328
1.6 North America Regional Overview	330
1.7 Oceania Regional Overview	333
2.1 Transport Demand	334
2.2 Transport Emissions	336
2.3 Low Carbon Transport Pathways	337
3.1 National Policy Frameworks for Transport and Climate Change	338
3.2 Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management	339
3.3 Walking and Cycling	342
3.4 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport	344
3.5 Passenger and Freight Railways	347
3.6 Shared Mobility Services	348
3.8 Electric Mobility	352
3.9 Renewable Energy in Transport	355
3.10 Aviation	357
3 11 Shipping	350
Soction 4 Einspeing Climate Action	
In Transport	360
Focus Feature 1 Impact of COVID 19 on Travel Behaviour	362
Focus Feature 2 Addressing Climate Change and Improving	
Access to Opportunities	362
Focus Feature 3 Adaptation Policy Measures in the Transport Sector	362
Focus Feature 4 Gender and Sustainable Mobility	362
Focus Feature 5 Health Impacts of Transport	363
Focus Feature 6 Paratransit as a Complement to Formal Transport Networks	363
Focus Feature 7 Multi-stakeholder Mobilisation for Climate Action	
in Transport	363
Annex 1: Methodological Note	364

Executive Summary

- R. Betts (2021), "Met Office: Atmospheric CO2 now hitting 50% higher than pre-industrial levels", CarbonBrief, 16 March, https://www.carbonbrief.org/met-office-atmospheric-co2-now-hitting-50-higher-than-pre-industrial-levels.
- 2 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (2020), Review of Maritime Transport 2020, New York, https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/rmt2020_en.pdf.
- 3 International Energy Agency (IEA) (2021), "Global energy review: CO2 emissions in 2020", 2 March 2021, https://www.iea.org/articles/global-energy-review-co2-emissions-in-2020.
- 4 M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https:// ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020-report.
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 IEA (2019), "Transport sector CO2 emissions by mode in the Sustainable Development Scenario, 2000-2030", updated 22 November, https://www.iea.org/ data-and-statistics/charts/transport-sector-co2-emissions-by-mode-in-the-sustain able-development-scenario-2000-2030.
- 7 S. Gota et al. (2019), "Decarbonising transport to achieve Paris Agreement targets", Energy Efficiency, Vol. 12, Springer, pp. 363-86, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12053-018-9671-3.
- 8 United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2020), Emissions Gap Report 2020, Nairobi, https://www.unep.org/emissions-gap-report-2020.
- 9 Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ) and SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport, "Tracker of Climate Strategies for Transport", https://www.changing-transport.org/tracker (accessed 28 May 2021)
- 10 For example, official development assistance from the UK's Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office dropped from 0.7% to 0.5% of gross national income in 2020, from W. Worley (2020), "Tracking the UK's controversial aid cuts", Devex, https://www.devex.com/news/tracking-the-uk-s-controversial-aidcuts-99883.
- 11 S. Gota et al., op. cit. note 7.
- 12 SLOCAT (2020), Transport and Voluntary National Reviews 2020, http://slocat.net/ wp-content/uploads/2021/02/SLOCAT-2020-VNR-Analysis.pdf.
- 13 SLOCAT, "Transport Knowledge Base", https://slocat.net/our-work/knowledge-and-research/trakb (accessed 13 May 2021).
- 14 Crippa et al., op. cit. note 4; Gota et al., op. cit. note 7.
- 15 Crippa et al., op. cit. note 4.
- 16 Ibid.; European Commission, "Reducing emissions from aviation", https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport/aviation_en (accessed 28 May 2021).
- 17 Crippa et al., op. cit. note 4.

- 19 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) (2020), Publication of Nationally Determined Contribution Synthesis Report, Bonn, https:// unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/notification_on_ndc_synthesis_2020_ ec_2020_306.pdf.
- 20 Gota et al., op. cit. note 7.
- 21 GIZ and SLOCAT, "Summary analysis", https://www.changing-transport.org/ summary-analysis%e2%80%8b (accessed 28 May 2021).

- 23 Ibid.
- 24 UNFCCC, "National Adaptation Plans", https://unfccc.int/topics/adaptation-and-resilience/workstreams/national-adaptation-plans (accessed 15 June 2021); UNFCCC, "National Adaptation Programmes of Action", https://unfccc.int/topics/ resilience/workstreams/national-adaptation-programmes-of-action/introduction (accessed 15 June 2021).
- 25 Oxford Economics (2017), Global Infrastructure Outlook, Global Infrastructure Hub, https://cdn.gihub.org/outlook/live/methodology/Global+Infrastructure+Outlook+-+July+2017.pdf.
- 26 Climate Action Tracker (CAT) (2020), "Global update: Pandemic recovery with just a hint of green", 23 September, https://climateactiontracker.org/publications/global-update-pandemic-recovery-with-just-a-hint-of-green.
- 27 UNEP (2020), Used Vehicles and the Environment A Global Overview of Used Light Duty Vehicles: Flow, Scale and Regulation, Nairobi, https://www.unep.org/ resources/report/global-trade-used-vehicles-report.
- 28 IEA (2021), Global EV Outlook 2021, https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2021.
- 29 Gota et al., op. cit. note 7.
- 30 SLOCAT (2021), "E-mobility trends and targets", https://slocat.net/e-mobility (accessed 28 May 2021).
- 31 D. Carlin (2021), "The case for fossil fuel divestment", Forbes, 20 February, https:// www.forbes.com/sites/davidcarlin/2021/02/20/the-case-for-fossil-fuel-divestment; J. Lee (2021), "The day the world changed for big oil", Bloomberg, 30 May, https://

¹⁸ Ibid.

²² Ibid.

www.bloomberg.com/opinion/articles/2021-05-30/exxon-shell-chevron-saw-the-world-change-for-big-oil-emissions.

- 32 V. Henze (2020), "Battery pack prices cited below \$100/kWh for the first time in 2020, while market average sits at \$137/kWh", BloombergNEF, 16 December, https://about.bnef.com/blog/battery-pack-prices-cited-below-100-kwh-for-the-firsttime-in-2020-while-market-average-sits-at-137-kwh.
- 33 Cycling Industries Europe (2020), "New European Cycling Industry forecast shows huge growth in bike and e-bike sales", 2 December, https://cyclingindustries.com/ news/details/new-european-cycling-industry-forecast-shows-huge-growth-in-bikeand-e-bike-sales; IEA (2020), Global EV Outlook 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/ reports/global-ev-outlook-2020.
- 34 International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT) (2017), Light-duty Vehicle Greenhouse Gas and Fuel Economy, 2017 Global Update, Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/2017-Global-LDV-Standards-Update_ICCT-Report_23062017_vF.pdf; IEA (2019), Fuel Economy in Major Car Markets: Technology and Policy Drivers 2005-2017, Global Fuel Economy Initiative, London, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/media/708177/gfei-wp19.pdf.
- 35 UNEP, op. cit. note 27.
- 36 SLOCAT (2021), "SLOCAT quick wins on transport, sustainable development and climate change", https://slocat.net/quick-wins; T. Combs, "Local actions to support walking and cycling during social distancing dataset", Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center, http://pedbikeinfo.org/resources/resources_details.cfm?id=5209 (accessed 29 September 2020).
- 37 European Cyclists' Federation (ECF), "COVID-19 Cycling Measures Tracker", https://ecf. com/dashbaard (accessed 20 May 2021).
- 38 C. Venter, A. Mahendra and D. Hidalgo (2019), From Mobility to Access for All: Expanding Urban Transportation Choices in the Global South, World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C., https://files.wri.org/s3fs-public/from-mobility-to-accessfor-all.pdf.
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 World Bank (2006), "Rural Access Index", Washington, D.C. Data are currently being updated for 2020.
- 41 International Civil Aviation Organization (2019), The World of Air Transport in 2019, Montreal, https://www.icao.int/annual-report-2019/Pages/the-world-of-air-transport-in-2019.aspx; Crippa et al., op. cit. note 4; CAT (2020), "International aviation", https://climateactiontracket.org/sectors/aviation.
- 42 ICLEI-Local Governments for Sustainability, "What is urban freight", https://drive. google.com/file/d/1_M0HfPWK-comVK9KgNbsOT-O-BEtfJ24/view (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 43 CAT, op. cit. note 41.
- 44 R. Cooper (2020), "Delta Air Lines invests \$1 billion in cutting carbon emissions", Climate Action, 18 February, https://www.climateaction.org/news/delta-air-linesinvests-1-billion-in-cutting-carbon-emissions; B. Kollmeyer (2019), "EasyJet's carbon-free pledge may win more green-conscious filers", Market Watch, 19 November, https://www.marketwatch.com/story/easyjets-carbon-free-pledgemay-win-more-green-conscious-filers-2019-11-19; D. Holger (2019), "Lufthansa passengers can offset travel with green aviation fuel", Market Watch, 14 November, https://www.marketwatch.com/story/lufthansa-passengers-can-offset-travel-with-green-aviation-fuel-2019-11-14.
- 45 Seoul Metropolitan Government, "Seoul bikesharing usage", http://data.seoul. go.kr/dataList/OA-14994/F/1/datasetView.do (accessed 20 March 2021).
- 46 TNMT, "The environmental impact of today's transport types", https://tnmt. com/infographics/carbon-emissions-by-transport-type (accessed 25 May 2021); Asian Development Bank and GIZ (2011), Changing Course in Urban Transport, https://www.sutp.org/files/contents/documents/resources/J_Others/ GIZ_SUTP_changing-course-urban-transport-illustrated-guide.pdf; H. Nguyen, F. Montgomery and P. Timms, "Should motorcycle be blamed for traffic congestion in Vietnamese cities?" CODATU, http://www.codatu.org/wp-content/uploads/ Should-motorcycle-be-blamed-for-traffic-congestion-in-vietnamese-cities-Hien-NGUYEN-Franck-MONTGOMERY-Paul-TIMMS.pdf; Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (TUMI), "Passenger capacity of different transport modes", https://www. transformative-mobility.org/assets/publications/Passenger-Capacity-of-different-Transport-Modes.pdf (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 47 ECF, op. cit. note 37.
- 48 J. Oortwijn (2019), "Giant to sell 600,000 e-bikes this year", Bike-EU, 17 October, https://www.bike-eu.com/home/nieuws/2019/10/giant-to-sell-600000-e-bikesthis-year-10136791; Bike-EU (2020), "Taiwan's 2019 e-bike exports exceeds all expectations", 3 June, https://www.bike-eu.com/sales-trends/nieuws/2020/06/ taiwans-2019-e-bike-exports exceeds-all-expectations-10137981; P. Lee et al. (2019), Technology, Media, and Telecommunications Predictions 2020, Deloitte Development LLC, https://www.2deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/artlcles/722835_tmt-predictions-2020/DI_TMT-Prediction-2020,Ddf; J. Oortwijn (2020), "2019 brings undiminished high demand for e-bikes in Holland", Bike-EU, 21 January, https://www.bike-eu.com/market/nieuws/2020/01/2019-brings-undiminished-high-demand-for-e-bikes-in-holland-10137216.
- 49 Lee et al., op. cit. note 48.
- 50 ICLEI, op. cit. note 42; International Transport Forum (ITF) (2021), *ITF Transport Outlook 2021*, Paris, https://www.oecd-llibrary.org/sites/16826a30-en/1/3/2/ index.html?itemid=/content/publication/16826a30-en&_csp_=190cc6434d2fccf11e2098c12744cdb5&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType=book.
- 51 Climate Works, "Drive Electric Campaign", https://www.driveelectriccampaign.org (accessed 25 May 2021).

- 52 ICLEI, op. cit. note 42; ITF, op. cit. note 50.
- 53 Deutsche Post DHL Group (2017), "Zero emissions by 2050: DHL announces ambitious new environmental protection target", https://www.dhl.com/global-en/ home/about-us/delivered-magazine/articles/2017/issue-2-2017/zero-emissions-by-2050.html.
- 54 UN (2021), "Global e-commerce jumps to \$26.7 trillion, fuelled by COVID-19", 3 May, https://news.un.org/en/story/2021/05/1091182.
- 55 UNCTAD, op. cit. note 2.
- 56 UN Women (2019), "UN Commission on the Status of Women delivers roadmap on ensuring women's social protection, mobility, safety, and access to economic opportunities", 22 March, https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2019/3/ press-release-csw-63-delivers-roadmap-on-ensuring-womens-social-protection.
- 57 S. Tobin (2017), "Gender equality: What causes gender gaps in the labour market?" International Labour Organization, 1 August, https://www.ilo.org/global/ about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS_566891/lang-en/index.htm.
- 58 UN (2019), "Report of the Commission on the Status of Women, Report on the sixty-third session (23 March 2018 and 11–22 March 2019)", Economic and Social Council, Official Records 2019, Supplement No. 7, https://undocs.org/pdf?symbol-=en/E/2019/27.
- 59 C40 (2019), Gender Inclusive Climate Actions in Cities: How Women's Leadership and Expertise Can Shape Sustainable and Inclusive Cities, London, https://w4c.org/ sites/default/files/2019-02/W4C_REPORT_Gender%20Inclusive%20Climate%20 Action%20Cities_BD.pdf; ITF (2018), Women's Safety and Security: A Public Transport Priority, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Paris, https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/womens-safety-security_0.pdf.
- 60 ITF, op. cit. note 50.
- 61 IEA (2019), The Future of Rail, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-rail.
- 62 World Bank, "Rural population (% of total population)", https://data.worldbank.org/ indicator/SP.RUR.TOTL_ZS (accessed 1 June 2021); World Health Organization (WHO) (2018), Global Status Report on Road Safety 2018, Geneva, https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/9789241565684.
- 63 A. Bouman et al. (2017), "State-of-the-art technologies, measures, and potential for reducing GHG emissions from shipping – a review", *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 52, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 408-21, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.03.022.
- 64 UNCTAD, op. cit. note 2.
- 65 IEA (2020), Energy Technology Perspectives 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/ reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2020.
- 66 Ibid.
- 67 N. Mazzino et al. (2017), Rail 2050 Vision, European Rail Research Advisory Council, Brussels, https://www.ptferroviaria.es/docs/Documentos/122017_ERRAC%20 RAIL%202050.pdf; K. G. Logan, J. D. Nelson and A. Hastings (2020), "Electric and hydrogen buses: Shifting from conventionally fuelled cars in the UK", Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, Vol. 85, Elsevier Ltd, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102350.
- R. Schwandl (2004), "Africa", Urbanrail.net, http://www.urbanrail.net/af/africa.htm (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 69 Salvador Prefeitura, "BRT Salvador", http://brt.salvador.ba.gov.br/#4 (accessed 24 May 2021); L. Carboni and M. Marin (2019), "Tanéo victim de son succès", France TV, 18 October, https://a1ere.francet/info.fr/nouvellecaledonie/ta-neo-victime-son-succes-761595.htm; F. Cotter (2019), "Iveco Crealis key to New Caledonia bus rapid transit network", Australasian Bus and Coach, 12 September, https://www.busnews.com.au/industry-news/1912/Iveco-crealis-key-to-new-caledonia-bus-rapid-transit-network; Wikipedia, "TransPeshawar", https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/TransPeshawar (accessed 24 May 2021); Global BRT Data, "Year system commenced",
- https://brtdata.org/indicators/systems/year_system_commenced (accessed 24 May 2021); R. Rudick (2020), "Oakland BRT line opens", StreetsBlog SF, 7 August, https://sf.streetsblog.org/2020/08/07/oakland-brt-line-opens-sunday.
- 70 SLOCAT, "Informal transport", global Transport Knowledge Partnership, International Road Federation, https://www.gtkp.com/themepage.php8themepgid=467 (accessed 9 April 2021).
- 71 Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century (REN21) and Fia Foundation (2020), Decarbonising the Transport Sector with Renewables Requires Urgent Action, Paris, https://www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/REN21_FIA-Fdn_Renewable-Energy-Pathways_FINAL.pdf.
- 72 IEA, World Energy Statistics and Balances, 2019 edition (Paris: 2019).
- 73 IEA, op. cit. note 65.
- 74 S. Shaheen and A. Cohen (2020), Innovative Mobility: Carsharing Outlook -Carsharing Market Overview, Analysis, and Trends, https://escholarship.org/uc/ item/61q03282; R. Meddin et al., "The Meddin Bike-sharing World Map", https:// bikesharingworldmap.com (accessed 8 October 2020); B. Welle and T. Fried (2019), "Tech startups offer new answers to African transport woes. How can cities capitalize?" TheCityFix, 14 November, https://thecityfix.com/blog/tech-startups-offer-new-answers-african-transport-woes-can-cities-capitalize-ben-welle-travis-fried.
- 75 M. Kelley (2021), "Micromobility is thriving in the new 'safety economy'", MarshMc-Lennan, 17 March, https://www.brinknews.com/how-bicycle-and-scooter-sharingare-likely-to-thrive-in-a-new-safety-coronavirus-economy; The Strait Times (2020), "Food delivery overtakes ride-hailing as Grab's biggest business in Covid-19 crisis", 14 August, https://www.straitstimes.com/business/companies-markets/

covid-19-delivers-to-grab-its-first-crisis-lessons

- 76 Lime (2019), "E-scooters and Earth Day: Measuring micromobility's impact on the environment", 22 April, https://www.li.me/second-street/e-scooters-earth-day-measuring-micromobility-impact-environment; A. Henao and W. E. Marshall (2019), "The impact of ride-hailing on vehicle miles traveled", *Transportation*, Vol. 46/6, Springer, pp. 2173-94, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-018-9923-2.
- 77 S. Rupprecht et al. (2013), "Decision makers summary for developing and implementing a sustainable urban mobility plan", https://www.eltis.org/sites/default/ files/sump_decision_makers_summary_interactive_high.pdf.
- 78 SLOCAT, op. cit. note 13.
- 79 UN-Habitat (2013), "Chapter 2: The State of Urban Transport", in Planning and Design for Sustainable Urban Mobility: Global Report on Human Settlements 2013, Routledge, New York, https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/download-manager-files/Planning%20and%20Design%20for%20Sustainable%20Urban%20Mobility.
- 80 Ibid.
- 81 A. Neves and C. Brand (2019), "Assessing the potential for carbon emissions savings from replacing short car trips with walking and cycling using a mixed GPS-travel diary approach", *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, Vol. 123, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 130-46, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2018.08.022; D. P. Piatkowski, K. J. Krizek and S. L. Handy (2015), "Accounting for the short term substitution effects of walking and cycling in sustainable transportation", *Travel Behaviour and Society*, Vol. 2/1, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 32-41, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tbs.2014.07.004.
- 82 WHO, op. cit. note 62.
- 83 Combs, op. cit. note 36
- 84 Northwestern University (2019), "Electric vehicle adoption improves air quality and climate outlook", Science Daily, 12 April, https://www.sciencedaily.com/ releases/2019/04/190412122912.htm.
- 85 IEA (2021), "Trends and developments in electric vehicle markets", https://www. iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2021/trends-and-developments-in-electric-vehicle-markets; IEA, op. cit. note 33.
- 86 UNEP, op. cit. note 27.
- 87 B. O'Callaghan and E. Murdock (2021), Are We Building Back Better? UNEP, Nairobi, https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/35281/AWBBB.pdf.
- 88 Gota et al., op. cit. note 7.
- 89 CAT (2021), "CAT Climate Target Update Tracker", 19 May, https://climateactiontracker.org/climate-target-update-tracker; CAT (2021), "The CAT Thermometer", 4 May, https://climateactiontracker.org/global/cat-thermometer.
- 90 Crippa et al., op. cit. note 4.
- 91 OECD (2017), Investing in Climate, Investing in Growth, Paris, https://doi. org/10.1787/9789264273528-en.
- 92 M. Andrijevic et al. (2020), "COVID-19 recovery funds dwarf clean energy investment needs", *Science*, Vol. 370/6514, American Association for the Advancement of Science, pp. 298-300, https://science.sciencemag.org/content/370/6514/298.
- 93 D. Ivanova et al. (2020), "Quantifying the potential for climate change mitigation of consumption options", *Environmental Research Letters*, Vol. 15, IOP Science Publishing, https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/ab8589.
- 94 ECF, "Support the European Cyclists' Federation", https://ecf.com/what-we-do/cycling-economy/jobs-and-job-creation-european-cycling-sector (accessed 27 May 2021).

1.1 Global Transport and Climate Change

- M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https:// ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020-report.
- 2 International Energy Agency (IEA) (2020), Energy Technology Perspectives 2020, Paris, https://www.lea.org/reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2020; IEA (2020), Tracking Transport 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/tracking-transport-2020.
- 3 IEA (2021), "Global energy review: CO2 emissions in 2020," https://www.iea.org/ articles/global-energy-review-co2-emissions-in-2020 (accessed 20 April 2021); Z. Liu et al. (2021), "Global daily CO2 emissions for the year 2020," arXiv, submitted 3 March, http://arXiv.org/abs/2103.02526.
- 4 Transport CO₂ emission reductions (for whole sector, ground transport, international aviation, domestic aviation and shipping) calculated using data provided in Liu et al., op. cit. note 3. Box 1 based on the following sources: decline in global energy demand and emissions from IEA, op. cit. note 3; change in CO₂ concentrations from R. Betts et al. (2020), "Analysis: What impact will the coronavirus pandemic have on atmospheric CO2?" Carbon Brief, 7 May, https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-what-impact-will-the-coronavirus-pandemic-have-on-atmospheric-co2; reductions for 2020 and Figure 10 from Liu et al., op. cit. note 3; vehicle sales from SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable Low Carbon Transport (SLOCAT) calculations based on International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA), "Global sales statistics 2019-2020," https://www.category/sales-statistics (accessed 15 April 2021); freight activity and emissions from International Transport Forum (ITF) (2020), *How Badly Will the Coronavirus*

Crisis Hit Global Freight? OECD Publishing, Paris, https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/ default/files/global-freight-covid-19.pdf; 4% decline from International Road Federation, "Freight," https://www.gtkp.com/themepage.php&themepgid=466 (accessed 20 April 2021); international aviation from International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) and ADS-B Flightaware, "Flights among months including passenger & cargo - domestic & international," https://data.icao.int/coVID-19/oper ational.htm (accessed 21 April 2021); aviation declines from ICAO (2021), "Effects of Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) on Civil Aviation: Economic Impact Analysis," Montreal, https://www.icao.int/sustainability/Documents/COVID-19/Corona virus_Econ_Impact.pdf; aviation emissions from Liu et al., op. cit. note 3.

- 5 SLOCAT calculations based on OICA, op. cit. note 4.
- 6 Ibid.
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2020), Used Vehicles and the Environment: A Global Overview of Used Light Duty Vehicles: Flow, Scale and Regulation, Nairobi, https://www.unep.org/resources/report/global-trade-used-vehicles-report.
- 10 IEA (2016), Energy Technology Perspectives 2016, Paris, https://www.iea.org/ reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2016; IEA (2019), The Future of Rail, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-rail.
- 11 IEA (2019), op. cit. note 10.
- 12 Figure 1 based on the following sources: IEA (2016), op. cit. note 10; IEA (2019), op. cit. note 10; ICAO (2018), "The World of Air Transport in 2017," Annual Report 2017, Montreal, https://www.icao.int/annual-report-2017/Pages/the-world-of-air-transport-in-2017.aspx.
- 13 UNEP (2020), "Electric two and three wheelers," https://www.unep.org/pt-br/ node/562 (accessed 15 April 2021).
- 14 Figure 2 based on the following sources: IEA (2016), op. cit. note 10; IEA (2019), op. cit. note 10; ICAO, op. cit. note 12.
- 15 IEA (2020), Energy Technology Perspectives 2020, op. cit. note 2.
- 16 Figure 3 from IEA (2020), "Transport sector CO2 emissions by mode in the Sustainable Development Scenario, 2000-2030," https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/ charts/transport-sector-co2-emissions-by-mode-in-the-sustainable-development-scenario-2000-2030, updated 22 November 2019.
- 17 IEA (2020), Energy Technology Perspectives 2020, op. cit. note 2.

18 Ibid.

- 19 Figure 4 from ICLEI-Local Governments for Sustainability (2020), "What is urban freight," https://drive.google.com/file/d/1_M0HfPWK-comVK9KgNbsOT-O-BEtfJ24/view (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 20 ITF (2019), ITF Transport Outlook 2019, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://www. oecd-ilibrary.org/transport/itf-transport-outlook-2019_transp_outlook-en-2019-en.
- 21 N. A. Janssen et al. (2012), Health Effects of Black Carbon, World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, Copenhagen, https://www.euro.who. int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/162535/e96541.pdf.
- 22 M. Crippa et al. (2019), EDGAR v5.0 Global Air Pollutant Emissions, European Commission, Joint Research Centre (JRC), http://data.europa.eu/89h/377801afb094-4943-8fdc-f79a7c0c2d19 (accessed 21 April 2021).
- 23 WHO Regional Office for Europe, "What are the effects on health of transport-related air pollution?" http://www.euro.who.int/en/data-and-evidence/evidence-informed-policy-making/publications/hen-summaries-of-network-members-reports/ what-are-the-effects-on-health-of-transport-related-air-pollution (accessed 15 April 2021).
- 24 Figure 5 from SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 1.
- 25 Ibid.
- 26 Ibid.
- 27 Ibid.
- 28 Figure 6 from Ibid.
- 29 ICAO, op. cit. note 12; ICAO (2019), "The World of Air Transport in 2018," Annual Report 2018, Montreal, https://www.icao.int/annual-report-2018/Pages/the-worldof-air-transport-in-2018.aspx.
- 30 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 1.
- 31 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (2019), Review of Maritime Transport 2019, United Nations Publications, New York, https://unctad.org/system/ files/official-document/rmt2019_en.pdf.
- 32 Data for 2018 based on International Maritime Organization (2020), Fourth IMO GHG Study 2020, https://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/Environment/Pages/Fourth-IMO-Greenhouse-Gas-Study-2020.aspx (accessed 4 May 2021); 2019 data are a SLOCAT calculation based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 1.
- 33 Figure 7 based on World Bank (2020), "GDP (constant 2010 USD)," https://data. worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD (accessed 28 September 2020), and on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 1.
- 34 World Bank, op. cit. note 33; Crippa et al., op. cit. note 1.
- 35 World Bank, op. cit. note 33; Crippa et al., op. cit. note 1.
- 36 World Bank, op. cit. note 33; Crippa et al., op. cit. note 1.
- 37 Figure 8 based on H. Dalkmann and V. Brannigan (2007), Transport and Climate Change: Module 5e, Sustainable Transportation Sourcebook: A Sourcebook for

Policy-makers in Developing Countries, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ) GmbH, Eschborn, http://www.transferproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/GIZ-Module-5e_Transport-and-Climate-Change.pdf.

- 38 Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH (2019), Sustainable Urban Transport: Avoid-Shift-Improve (A-S-I), Eschborn, https://www. transformative-mobility.org/assets/publications/ASI_TUMI_SUTP_iNUA_No-9_ April-2019.pdf.
- 39 Figure 9 from SLOCAT, Deep Dive on Novelties: Detailed Memos, Brussels, http:// slocat.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Deep_Dive_on_Novelties_Compilation_ of_Memos_Jan_2021.pdf.
- 40 GIZ and SLOCAT (2021), "Transport in Nationally Determined Contributions," https://slocat.net/ndcs.
- 41 SLOCAT (2020), Strategic Development Plan, Brussels, http://slocat.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Strategic-Development-Plan-2020-2022.pdf.

1.2 Africa Regional Overview

- 1 United Nations (UN) (2019), "2019 Revision of World Population Prospects", https://population.un.org/wpp (accessed 28 September 2020); UN (2018), "World Urbanization Prospects 2018", https://population.un.org/wup (accessed 28 September 2020); GDP growth is in constant 2010 USD, from World Bank, "GDP (constant 2010 US\$)", https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 2 N. Patel (2018), "Figure of the week: Africa is home to the 10 fastest growing cities in the world", Brookings Institution, 5 October, https://www.brookings.edu/blog/ africa-in-focus/2018/10/05/figure-of-the-week-africa-is-home-to-fastest-growingcities-in-the-world.
- 3 Figures 1 and 2 from SLOCAT calculations based on International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA) (2020), "Vehicles in use", https://www.oica. net/category/vehicles-in-use (accessed 27 April 2021), and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 4 United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2020), Used Vehicles and the Environment – A Global Overview of Used Light Duty Vehicles: Flow, Scale and Regulation, Nairobi, https://www.unep.org/resources/report/global-trade-used-vehicles-report; International Transport Workers' Federation (2017), The Power of Informal Transport Workers, Global Labour Institute, Manchester, https://www. itfglobal.org/media/1691170/informal-transport-workers.pdf; Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (ITDP) Africa, "What we do", https://africa.itdp.org/ what-we-do (accessed 21 April 2021).
- 5 S. A. Okyere et al. (2021), "People living in African urban settings do a lot of walking: but their cities aren't walkable", The Conversation, 23 March, https:// theconversation.com/people-living-in-african-urban-settings-do-a-lot-of-walkingbut-their-cities-arent-walkable-156895.
- 6 M. Stucki (2015), Policies for Sustainable Accessibility and Mobility in Urban Areas of Africa, Working Paper No. 106, Africa Transport Policy Program (SSATP), http:// documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/467541468191641974/pdf/95606-RE-VISED-PUBLIC-SSATPWP106-Urban-Mobility-IO.pdf.
- Box based on the following sources: 53% decrease is a SLOCAT calculation based on Google (2021), "COVID-19 Community Mobility Reports", ht n/covid19/mobility (accessed 27 April 2021); International Transport Forum (2020), How Badly Will the Coronavirus Crisis Hit Global Freight? OECD Publishing, ww.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/global-freight-covid-19.pdf* Inter-Paris http national Civil Aviation Organization, "Economic impacts of COVID-19 on civil aviation", http aspx (accessed 27 April 2021); Sustainable Mobility for All / GoMetro (forthcoming), Impact of COVID on Public Transport in South Africa; Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (2020), Survey on Socio Economic Impact of COVID-19 on Households Report - Wave Two, Nairobi, https://www.knbs.or.ke/?wpdmpro= -impact-of-covid-19-on-households-report-wave-two: Rédaction Africanews and AFP (2020), "Nigerians lament rising cost of living as food prices soar, inflation at 4-year high", Africa News, 22 April, https://www.africanews. com/2021/04/22/nigerians-lament-rising-cost-of-living-as-food-prices-soar-infla tion-at-4-year-high; Cairo from C. Mimano (2021), Africa in Transition: Improving Urban Mobility Amid the COVID-19 Pandemic, ITDP Africa, https://v ploads/2021/03/ITDP_ST32_Africa_in_Transition.pdf; Kampala Cap ital City Authority (KCCA) (2020), "Public transport in Kampala", 5 June, h a.go.ug/index.php?jsp=news&req=402#.YIGla5NKiCR; KCCA (2020), "Press statement on the public transport reforms to streamline and regulate the boda boda industry as approved by Cabinet", 29 July, https://www /413#.YIMcAH1KiCO; M. P. Dizolele (2020), "DRC grapples with the Covid-19 pandemic shock", Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS), 21 July, vid-19-pandemic-shock; walking and cycling infrastructure from Mimano, op. cit, this note: Cape Town, Mombasa and Nairobi from SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable Low Carbon Transport, "Walking", International Road Federation, http mepgid=473 (accessed 21 April 2021).
- 8 See sources in endnote 3.
- 9 World Health Organization (WHO) (2018), Global Status Report on Road Safety 2018, Geneva, https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241565684.
- S. Kasraoui (2018), "WSJ: Morocco is leading Africa's automotive industry", Morocco World News, 1 October, https://www.moroccoworldnews. com/2018/10/254381/morocco-africa-automotive-industry.

- 12 Ibid.
- 13 Statista, "Commercial vehicle sales in Africa 2005 and 2019", https://www.statista.com/statistics/473661/commercial-vehicle-sales-in-africa (accessed 21 April 2021).
- 14 SLOCAT calculations based on OICA (2020), "Global sales statistics 2019-2020", https://www.oica.net/category/sales-statistics (accessed 15 April 2021).
- 15 UNEP, op. cit. note 4.
- 16 Ibid.
- 17 Ibid.
- 18 Ibid.
- 19 P. Starkey (2016), "The benefits and challenges of increasing motorcycle use for rural access", presented at International Conference on Transport and Road Research, Mombasa, 15-17 March, http://research4cap.org/ral/Starkey-Re-CAPPMU_2016_BenefitsChallengesofIncreasingMotorcycleUseRuralAccess_ ITRARR_160314.pdf.
- 20 Based on a compound annual growth rate. Intrado GlobalNewswire (2021), "Africa two-wheeler (motorcycle, scooter & moped) market, competition, forecast & opportunities, 2025", 4 January, https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2021/01/04/2152775/0/en/Africa-Two-Wheeler-Motorcycle-Scooter-Moped-Market-Competition-Forecast-Opportunities-2025.html.
- 21 SSATP (2018), Policies for Sustainable Accessibility and Mobility in Cities of Rwanda, World Bank, Washington, D.C., https://www.ssatp.org/sites/ssatp/files/publication/SSATP_UTM_FinalReport_RWANDA.pdf.
- 22 R. Cervero (2013), Transport Infrastructure and the Environment: Sustainable Mobility and Urbanism Working Paper 2013-03, University of California, Berkeley, https:// iurd.berkeley.edu/wp/2013-03.pdf.
- 23 High Volume Transport Applied Research (UK Aid, IMC Worldwide, UNEP, Walk21, Share the Road, University of Manchester) (2021), "Valuing walking: Priorities for valuing and investing in African cities."
- 24 United Nations Human Settlements Programme (2013), *Planning and Design for Sustainable Urban Mobility*, Routledge, New York, https://unhabitat.org/sites/ default/files/download-manager-files/Planning%20and%20Design%20for%20Sustainable%20Urban%20Mobility.pdf.
- 25 WHO, op. cit. note 9.
- 26 Ibid.
- 27 Ibid.
- 28 High Volume Transport, op. cit. note 23.
- 29 WHO, op. cit. note 9
- 30 D. E. Agbiboa, ed. (2018), Transport, Transgression and Politics in African Cities. The Rhythm of Chaos, Routledge, London, https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/ edit/10.4324/9781351234221/transport-transgression-politics-african-cities-daniel-agbiboa.
- 31 V. K. Phun and Y. Tetsuo (2016), "State of the art of paratransit literatures in Asian developing countries", Asian Transport Studies, Vol. 4/1, pp. 57-77, Eastern Asia Society for Transportation Studies, https://doi.org/10.11175/eastsats.4.57.
- 32 I. Ndibatya and M. J. Booysen (2020), "Minibus taxis in Kampala's paratransit system: Operations, economics and efficiency", *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 88, p. 102853, Elsevier Ltd, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0966692320304415.

- 34 Government of South Africa, "Transport", https://www.gov.za/about-sa/transport (accessed 9 April 2021).
- 35 Ndibatya and Booysen, op. cit. note 32.
- 36 PwC South Africa, "Africa gearing up future prospects in Africa for the transportation & logistics industry, according to PwC report", https://www.pwc.co.za/en/ press-room/transport-logistics.html (accessed 21 April 2021).

- 38 K. Schwab (2019), The Global Competitiveness Report 2019, World Economic Forum (WEF), Geneva, http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_TheGlobalCompetitivenessReport2019.pdf.
- 39 WEF (2017), The Africa Competitiveness Report 2017, Geneva. https://www. afdb.org/sites/default/files/documents/publications/africa_competitiveness_report_2017.pdf.

- 41 SLOCAT calculations based on M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020report.
- 42 J. Saghir and J. Santoro (2018), "Urbanization in Sub-Saharan Africa", CSIS, https:// www.csis.org/analysis/urbanization-sub-saharan-africa.
- 43 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 41.
 - Ibid.
- 45 Figure 3 from Ibid. and from UN (2019), op. cit. note 1. Figure 4 from SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 41.
- 46 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 41.
- 47 Ibid.

44

³³ Ibid.

³⁷ Ibid.

⁴⁰ Ibid.

Endnotes

- 48 EY Africa (2019), How Can Bold Action Become Everyday Action? EY Attractiveness Program, EYGM Limited, https://assets.ey.com/content/dam/ey-sites/ey-com/ en_gl/topics/attractiveness/ey-africa-attractiveness-report-2019.pdf.
- 49 UNEP (2016), Global Outlook on Walking and Cycling 2016, Nairobi, https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/17030/globalOutlookOnWalkingAndCycling.pdf.
- 50 ITDP (2020), Ethiopia Non-Motorised Transport Strategy 2020-2029, Geneva, https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/2020/07/ethiopia_nmt_strate-gy_en_200629.pdf; ITDP (2019), "Along Kenya's coast, streets maneuver to accommodate more than just cars", 25 March, https://www.itdp.org/2019/03/25/mombasa-sidewalk-expansion; E. Lagat (2019), "Car-free day pilot in Nairobi CBD to be done on Friday", Citizen Digital, 30 January, https://citizentx.co.ke/news/car-free-day-pilot-in-nairobi-cbd-to-be-done-on-friday-229056; Nairobi City County Government. (2015), Non Motorized Transport Policy, Nairobi, https://www.kara.or.ke/Nairobi/20City%20County%20Non%20Motorized%20Transport%20Policy.pdf; Ministry of Transport Strategy, Geneva, http://www.airqualityandmobility.org/STR/Zambia_NMTStrategyfinal.pdf.
- 51 UNEP, Share the Road and Fia Foundation (2018), Share the Road Programme Annual Report 2018, https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/27503/SRP2018.pdf.
- 52 I. Abubaker (2019), "Reclaiming the streets: Addis Ababa, other African cities launch car-free days", TheCityFix, 22 April, https://thecityfix.com/blog/reclaiming streets-addis-ababa-african-cities-launch-car-free-days-iman-abubaker.
- 53 Ibid.
- 54 A. Ngabirano (2020), "Kampala's inspiring journey towards a cycling-friendly city", Urbanet, 14 May, https://www.urbanet.info/kampalas-inspiring-journey-towards-a-cycling-friendly-city.
- 55 SSATP (2020), Policies for Sustainable Accessibility and Mobility in the Cities of Burkina Faso, World Bank, Washington, D.C., https://www.ssatp.org/sites/ssatp/ files/publication/1143_190-rap-jal-egu-BF-FinalReport-EN_v2_%28VersionNon-MiseEnForme%29.pdf; MobiliseYourCity, "MobiliseYourCity in Cameroon", https:// www.mobiliseyourcity.net/node/306 (accessed 21 April 2021); International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) (2019), "South Africa launches Green Transport Strategy," 2 July, http://sdg.iisd.org/news/south-africa-launches-green-transport-strategy.
- 56 MobiliseYourCity, op. cit. note 55; ITDP Africa (2020), "Kisumu Sustainable Mobility Plan", https://africa.itdp.org/event/kisumu-sustainable-mobility-plan (accessed 22 April 2021).
- 57 MobiliseYourCity, "About MobiliseYourCity Africa", https://www.mobiliseyourcity. net/node/294 (accessed 22 April 2021).
- 58 SSATP (2020), "Policies for Sustainable Urban Mobility & Accessibility in African Cities: Policy/Strategy Papers and Diagnostic Studies for 12 Pilot Countries", 1 October, https://www.ssatp.org/news-events/policies-sustainable-urban-mobility-accessibility-african-cities-policystrategy-papers.
- 59 J. Coetzee (2020), "GoMetro and Ascendal Mobility Observatory launches in Africa with DFID and UKAid backing", GoMetro (Pty) Ltd, 1 August, https:// gometroapp.com/gometro-ascendal-mobility-observatory-launches-In-africa-with-dfid-and-ukaid-backing.
- 60 Figure 5 from https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/metadata/files/Metadata-11-02-01.pdf.
- 61 D. Burroughs (2018), "First phase of Abuja light rail opens", International Rail Journal, 13 July, https://www.railjournal.com/passenger/light-rail/first-phase-ofabuja-light-rail-opens.
- 62 A. Odunoye (2020), "Review transport fares, structures on Oshodi-Abule Egba BRT corridor", The Guardian Nigeria, 17 August, https://guardian.ng/news/review-transport-fares-structures-on-oshodi-abule-egba-brt-corridor.
- 63 Dakaractu (2020), "Avancement physique des travaux du BRT à Guédiawaye sur la section 1: 'grande mosquee – croisement bethio thioune', 12 June, https://www. dakaractu.com/Avancement-physique-des-travaux-du-BRT-a-Guediawaye-sur-lasection-1-grande-mosquee-croisement-bethio-thioune_a189490.html.
- 64 Wikipedia (2020), "Train Express Regional Dakar-AIBD", https://en.wikipedia.org/ wiki/Train_Express_Regional_Dakar-AIBD (accessed 22 April 2021); Global Railway Review (2019), "First section of Dakar's Regional Express Train is completed", 11 January, https://www.globalrailwayreview.com/news/76678/dakar-rail-development-link.
- 65 C40 Cities (2017), "Cities100: Dar es Salaam first bus rapid transit system in Eastern Africa", 14 September, https://www.c40.org/case_studies/cities100-dar-es salaam-first-bus-rapid-transit-system-in-eastern-africa.
- 66 P. S. Ferro (2015), "Paratransit: A key element in a dual system", CODATU, https:// www.codatu.org/wp-content/uploads/transports_collec_artisanal_V03ecran_ EN.pdf.
- 67 ITDP Africa, op. cit. note 4; SSATP, "SSATP Member Countries", https://www.ssatp. org/country (accessed 10 May 2021).
- 68 Stucki, op. cit. note 6.
- 69 KCCA, "Public transport in Kampala", op. cit. note 7; SSATP, op. cit. note 55.
- 70 Y. Kazeem (2020), "Lagos has banned its most effective methods of transport - including bike-hailing startups", Quartz Africa, 28 January, https://qz.com/ africa/1792504/lagos-bans-okada-oride-gokada-keke-tricycles; B. Weru and J. Mugo (2020), Ride Hailing Survey: Usage of App-Based Mobility Services in Nairobi, Kenya, Pan African Research Services Ltd, Sandton, https://www.changing-transport.org/wp-content/uploads/2020_Ride_Hailing_Survey.pdf.

- 71 Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative, "DAR City Navigator", https://www. transformative-mobility.org/campaigns/dar-city-navigator-mobility-app-for-dares-salaam (accessed 22 April 2021); L. George (2019), "Google goes Nigerian with local accent, 'informal' transit routes", *Reuters*, 24 July, https://www.reuters. com/article/us-nigeria-alphabet/google-goes-nigerian-with-local-accent-informal-transit-routes-idUSKCN1UJ1XL; Digital Transport for Africa, "Projects", https:// digitaltransport/africa.org/projects (accessed 22 April 2021).
- 72 UNEP, op. cit. note 4.
- 73 Ibid.
- 74 Partnership for Clean Fuels and Vehicles Economy Division (2019), Addressing the Used Vehicles Market: Potential Strategies for Importing and Exporting Countries to Improve Safety, Fuel Economy and Emissions Impacts, UNEP, Nairobi, https://wedocs.unep.org/handle/20.500.11822/27789; A. Baskin (2018), Africa Used Vehicle Report, UNEP, Nairobi, https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/25233/AfricaUsedVehicleReport.pdf.
- 75 UNEP, op. cit. note 4.
- 76 Global Fuel Economy Initiative (2020), "West Africa adopts the first ever Africa regional fuel economy roadmap", 13 February, https://www.globalfueleconomy. org/blog/2020/february/west-africa-adopts-the-first-ever-africa-regional-fuel-economy-roadmap.
- 77 UNEP (2019), "Namibia proposes tougher fuel economy measures to tackle climate change", 5 November, https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/story/ namibia-proposes-tougher-fuel-economy-measures-tackle-climate-change; C. Nwagbara (2020), "FG discloses plan to sell fuel at N97 per litre with new initiative", Nariametrics, 17 January, https://nairametrics.com/2020/01/17/fg-discloses plan-to-sell-fuel-at-n97-per-litre-with-new-initiative.
- 78 SSATP, op. cit. note 55.
- 79 MobiliseYourCity, op. cit. note 55.
- 80 ITDP Africa, op. cit. note 56.
- 81 IISD, op. cit. note 55.
- 82 H. Kuteesa (2019), "Inside the next generation of Kigali's public transport", The New Times Rwanda, 4 November, https://www.newtimes.co.rw/news/inside-next-generation-kigalis-public-transport
- 83 Digital Transport for Africa (2021), "Projects", https://digitaltransport4africa.org/ projects.
- 84 SSATP, op. cit. note 55.
- 85 Digital Matatus (2019), "Second update of Digital Matatus now live", 8 October, http://digitalmatatus.com/post20.html.
- 86 N. Henry (2019), "There is now a Google Maps feature for 'Danfo' and 'Molue' In Lagos", Weetracker, 6 November, https://weetracker.com/2019/11/06/google-launches-map-for-informal-transit-lagos.
- 87 Kazeem, op. cit. note 70.
- 88 KCCA (2020), "Public transport in Kampala", op. cit. note 7.
- 89 African Road Safety Observatory, http://www.africanroadsafetyobservatory.org (accessed 21 April 2021); WHO, op. cit. note 9.
- 90 ITDP (2020), op. cit. note 50.
- 91 ITDP (2019), op. cit. note 50.
- 92 Lagat, op. cit. note 50; Nairobi City County Government, op. cit. note 50.
- 93 Egypt Independent (2019), "Alexandria's transport authority to receive 14 electric buses on May", 15 April, https://egyptindependent.com/alexandrias-transport-authority-to-receive-14-electric-buses-on-may; Egypt Independent (2019), "Cairo announces route for its first electric bus", 18 December, https://egyptindependent. com/cairo-announces-route-for-its-first-electric-bus.
- 94 Deloitte (2019), Kenya Budget Highlights 2019/20 Unravelling the Puzzle, https:// www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/ke/Documents/tax/Budget_highlights_ KE_2019.pdf.
- 95 FuelCellsWorks (2020), "Several hundred hydrogen scooters will circulate in Marrakech in the next few days", 13 May, https://fuelcellsworks.com/news/several-hundred-hydrogen-scooters-will-circulate-in-marrakech-in-the-next-few-days; North Africa Post (2020), "First 100% Morocco-made electric car charging station unveiled in Rabat", 22 December, https://northafricapost.com/46/290-first-100-morocco-made-electric-car-charging-station-unveiled-in-rabat.html.
- 96 A. Idris (2019), "Rwanda aims to introduce electric motorcycles to address climate change concerns", TechCabal, 28 August, https://techcabal.com/2019/08/28/ rwanda-aims-to-introduce-electric-motorcycles-to-address-climate-change-concerns.
- 97 South Africa UK Pact, "STRAPSA (Shifting the TRAnsport Paradigm for South Africa)", uYilo E-Mobility Programme, https://www.uyilo.org.za/strapsa-shifting-the-transport-paradigm-for-south-africa (accessed 21 April 2021).
- 98 Sustainable Bus (2020), "Kiira Motors and the electric bus 'made in Uganda'", https://www.sustainable-bus.com/news/kiira-motors-corporations-kayoola-electric-bus-made-in-uganda (accessed 21 April 2021).

1.3 Asia Regional Overview

1 United Nations (UN) (2019), "2019 Revision of World Population Prospects", https://population.un.org/wpp (accessed 28 September 2020); UN (2018), "World Urbanization Prospects 2018", https://population.un.org/wup (accessed 28 September 2020); GDP growth is in constant 2010 USD, from World Bank (2020), "GDP (constant 2010 US\$)", https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP. MKTP.KD (accessed 28 September 2020).

- 2 SLOCAT calculations based on M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020report; UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 3 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2, and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 4 Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (2018), Transport Sector Strategy: Sustainable and Integrated Transport for Trade and Economic Growth in Asia, Beijing, https:// www.aiib.org/en/policies-strategies/_download/transport/2018_May_AllB-Transport-Strategy.pdf.
- SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable Low Carbon Transport, "Impacts of COVID-19 5 on mobility", locat.net/covid-19-impact-mobility (accessed 26 April 2021). Box from the following sources: 59% decrease from Google (2021), "COVID-19 Community Mobility Reports", https://www.google.com (accessed 27 April 2021); International Transport Forum (ITF) (2020), How Badly Will the Coronavirus Crisis Hit Global Freight? OECD Publishing, Paris, http://www.crisis.com/actional-crisis-http://www.crisis.com/actional-crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://wwwwwwww.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://wwww.crisis-http://wwwwwwww.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://www.crisis-http://wwww.crisis-http://wwww.crisis-http://wwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwww cd.org/sites/default/files/global-freight-covid-19.pdf; International Civil Aviation Organization, "Economic impacts of COVID-19 on civil aviation", htt ID-19.aspx (accessed 27 April 2021); mobility to public transport stations from N. Medimorec et al. (2020), Impacts of COVID-19 on Mobility Preliminary Analysis of Regional Trends on Urban Mobility, SLOCAT, https://slocat.net/wp-content/up COVID-19-Mobility-Analysis.pdf; economic growth from D. Evans and A. M. Acosta (2020), "The economic impact of COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific: A round-up of analysis from the past week", 8 April, Center for Global Development, https://www.cgdev.org/blog/t round-up-analysis-past-week; S. Dash (2020), "Ola fires 1400 people as revenue is hit by 95% in the last two months", Business Insider India, 20 May, https://www. businessinsider.in/business/startups/news/ola-fired-1400-employ is-hit-by-95-in-the-last-two-months/articleshow/75843656.cms; United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UNESCAP) (2020), COVID-19 and Its Impact on Railway Sector in Asia and the Pacific, Bangkok, http: Green_SCREEN.pdf; Modern Diplomacy (2020), "ADB, Gojek to initiate research on digitization, COVID-19 Impact on MSMEs", 7 December, https://modern eu/2020/12/07/adb-gojek-to-initiate-research-on-digitization-covid-19-impact-on-
- 6 SLOCAT calculations based on International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA) (2020), "Global sales statistics 2019-2020", https://www.oica.net/ category/sales-statistics (accessed 15 April 2021). Figures 1 and 2 from SLOCAT calculations based on idem., and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 7 SLOCAT calculations based on OICA, op. cit. note 6.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 TomTom (2021), "Traffic Index 2020", https://www.tomtom.com/en_gb/traffic-index/ranking (accessed 26 April 2021).
- 10 Dhaka, Jakarta, and Khulna from UNESCAP (2021), "Sustainable Urban Transport Index", 22 February, https://www.unescap.org/kp/2021/sustainable-urban-transport-index-suti#.
- 11 National Bureau of Statistics of China (2020), China Statistical Yearbook 2020, China Statistics Press, Beijing, http://www.stats.gov.cn/tjsi/ndsj/2020/indexeh.htm.
- 12 Ibid.
- 13 M. Weiss et al. (2015), "On the electrification of road transportation a review of the environmental, economic, and social performance of electric two-wheelers", *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 41, Elsevier Ltd, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361920915001315.
- 14 Korea Bizwire (2019), "S. Korea seeks to produce 6.2 million hydrogen cars by 2040", 17 January, http://koreabizwire.com/s-korea-seeks-to-produce-6-2-millionhydrogen-cars-by-2040/130635.
- 15 J. Shin (2019), "Korea to shift all commercial vehicles to fuel cell energy by 2035", Korea Herald, 20 March, http://www.koreaherald.com/view. php?ud=20190320000572; Korea Bizwire (2019), "Hyundai to supply 5 hydrogen buses to Busan City", 23 August, http://koreabizwire.com/hyundai-to-supply-5-hydrogen-buses-to-busan-city/142740.
- 16 M. Zhiping (2019), "Hainan to ban gasoline vehicle sales by 2030", China Daily, 7 March, http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201903/07/WS5c-80555ca3106c65c34ed316.html.
- 17 Z. Low and O. Wong (2019), "Hong Kong to phase out fossil fuel cars and go all electric over next 20 years, says environment chief", *South China Morning Post*, 29 October, https://www.scmp.com/news/hong-kong/health-environment/article/3035165/hong-kong-phase-out-fossil-fuel-cars-and-go-all.
- 18 SLOCAT (2020), "E-mobility trends and targets", https://slocat.net/e-mobility (accessed 26 April 2021).
- 19 Korea Jongang Daily (2021), "Hyundai Motor Group stops developing diesel engines", 13 January, https://koreajoongangdaily.joins.com/2021/01/13/business. industry/hyundai-motor-IONIQ5/20210113155000583.html.
- 20 Reuters (2020), "Singapore aims to phase out petrol and diesel vehicles by 2040", 18 February, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-singapore-economy-budget-autos-idUSKBN20C15D.

- 21 Statista (2016), "Retail sales of electric bicycles in China from 2010 to 2020", https://www.statista.com/statistics/255662/sales-of-electric-bicycles-in-china (accessed 26 April 2021).
- 22 S. Gota et al. (2019), Two-and-Three-Wheelers A Policy Guide to Sustainable Mobility Solutions for Motorcycles Module 4c Sustainable Transport: A Sourcebook for Policy-makers in Developing Cities, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH, Bonn and Eschborn, https://tuewas-asia.org/ wp-content/uploads/2019/02/GIZ_SUTP_TUMI_SB4c_Two-and-Three-Wheelers_EN.pdf.
- 23 S. Mehmet (2020), "Delhi Metro extends e-rickshaw last mile services to 29 stations", Intelligent Transport, 20 February, https://www.intelligenttransport.com/ transport-news/96026/delhi-metro-extends-e-rickshaw-last-mile-services-to-29-stations.
- 24 R. Halder (2019), "Solar rickshaws make debut on IIT-Delhi campus", India Times, 20 July, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/delhi/solar-rickshaws-makedebut-on-iit-d-campus/articleshow/70299940.cms; L. Del Bello (2020), "Delhi's inventive answer to the electric car", BBC, 4 March, https://www.bbc.com/future/ article/20200304-the-electric-vehicles-cutting-delhis-air-pollution-problem.
- 25 SLOCAT, "Cycling", International Road Federation, https://www.gtkp.com/themepage.php&themepgid=465 (accessed 26 April 2021).
- 26 D. Bongardt et al. (2019), Pathway to Low-Carbon Transport Changing Transport, World Bank and GIZ, Washington, D.C., https://www.changing-transport.org/ publication/pathway-to-low-carbon-transport.
- 27 J. Boudreau and N. K. Giang (2020), "Vietnam's VinFast wants to fill Hanoi with electric motorbikes", Bloomberg Businessweek, 25 September, https://www. bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-09-25/vietnam-s-vinfast-wants-to-fill-hanoiwith-electric-motorbikes.
- 28 R. Meddin et al, "The Meddin Bike-sharing World Map", https://bikesharingworldmap.com/#/all/2.2/-7.33/52.6/ (accessed 4 May 2021); New Urban Mobility Alliance, "NUMO New Mobility Atlas", https://www.numo.global/new-mobility-atlas#2/51.94/12.25 (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 29 H. Ngo (2021), "Why some bike shares work and others don't", BBC, 12 January, https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20210112-the-vast-bicycle-graveyards-of-china.
- 30 J. Chen et al. (2020), "Life cycle carbon dioxide emissions of bike sharing in China: Production, operation, and recycling", Resources, Conservation and Recycling, Vol. 162, Elsevier, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/ S0921344920303281.
- 31 Ibid.
- 32 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (2020), "UNCTAD's Review of Maritime Transport 2020: Highlights and figures on Asia and the Pacific", https://unctad.org/press-material/unctads-review-maritime-transport-2020-highlights-and-figures-asia-and-pacific (accessed 26 April 2021).
- 33 Ibid.
- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2.
- 37 Figure 3 from SLOCAT calculations based on Ibid. and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 38 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2.
- 39 Figure 4 from Ibid.
- 40 Ibid.
- 41 ITF and SLOCAT (2020), "Can Asia lead the way to zero-emission freight? Race to Zero Transport Day", webinar, 11 November, https://www.itf-oecd.org/race-to-zerotransport-day-asia-zero-emission-freight.
- 42 ITF (2015), The Carbon Footprint of Global Trade: Tackling Emissions from International Freight Transport, Paris, https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/ cop-pdf-06.pdf.

- 44 International Association of Public Transport (2020), Statistics Brief: The Global Tram and Light Rail Landscape, Brussels, https://cms.uitp.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Statistics-Brief-World-LRT_web.pdf.
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 State Council of the People's Republic of China (2020), "China's urban passenger transport sees stable growth in 2019", 18 May, http://english.www.gov.cn/archive/ statistics/202005/18/content_WS5ec1c551c6d0b3f0e9497de1.html.
- 47 Wikipedia (2021), "Lahore Metro", https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lahore_Metro (accessed 26 April 2021).
- 48 Al Jazeera (2019), "Indonesia's first subway opens in traffic-choked Jakarta", 24 March, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/03/24/indonesias-first-subway-opens-in-traffic-choked-jakarta; Wikipedia (2021), "Jakarta LRT", https:// en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Jakarta_LRT (accessed 26 April 2021).
- 49 UrbanRail.Net (2019), "Nagpur Metro", http://www.urbanrail.net/as/in/nagpur/nagpur.htm (accessed 26 April 2021).
- 50 Wikipedia (2021), "Doha Metro", https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Doha_Metro (accessed 26 April 2021).
- 51 Bangkok Post (2018), "BTS Samrong-Samut Prakan line to open next month", 5 November, https://www.bangkokpost.com/thailand/general/1570226/bts-sam-

⁴³ Ibid.
rong-samut-prakan-line-to-open-next-month; Wikipedia (2021), "BTS Skytrain", https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/BTS_Skytrain#Route_extensions (accessed 26 April 2021); Railway PRO (2020), "Bangkok opened the last section of Blue Line", 6 May, https://www.railwaypro.com/wp/bangkok-opened-the-last-section-of-blue-line.

- 52 International Energy Agency (IEA) (2020), Global EV Outlook 2020, Paris, https:// www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2020.
- 53 H. Cui and H. He (2020), "China announced 2020-2022 subsidies for new energy vehicles", International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT), 13 July, https:// theicct.org/publications/china-2020-22-subsidies-new-energy-vehicles-jul2020.
- 54 W. K. YI (2019), "Quieter, cleaner rides next year with 60 electric buses on roads", *The Straits Times*, 12 November, https://www.straitstimes.com/singapore/transport/quieter-cleaner-rides-pert-year-with-60-electric-buses-on-roads
- 55 IEA (2019), Fuel Economy in Major Car Markets, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/ fuel-economy-in-major-car-markets.
- 56 Association of Southeast Asian Nations (2019), ASEAN Fuel Economy Roadmap for the Transport Sector 2018-2025: With Focus on Light-Duty Vehicles, Jakarta, https://asean.org/storage/2019/03/ASEAN-Fuel-Economy-Roadmap-FINAL_pdf.
- 57 Clean Air Asia (2018), "National Workshop on Developing Clean and Efficient Vehicle Policy for Bangladesh", https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/media/708285/02_noorealam_bangladesh-baseline-and-trends.pdf.
- 58 M. Chan (2019), "Government to announce revised NAP in Q2, 2019", Paultan, 9 April, https://paultan.org/2019/04/09/government-to-announce-revised-napin-q2-2019.
- 59 Global Fuel Economy Initiative (2020), "Philippines formalises fuel economy labelling law", 28 January, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/blog/2020/january/ philippines-formalises-fuel-economy-labelling-law.
- 60 Transport Policy (2018), "Vietnam", https://www.transportpolicy.net/region/asia/ vietnam (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 61 Q. Wang (2012), A Shrinking Path for Bicycles, Master's thesis, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, https://open.library.ubc.ca/clRcle/collections/graduateresearch/310/items/1.0102548; G. Frame, A. Ardila-Gomez and Y. Chen (2017), "The kingdom of the bicycle: What Wuhan can learn from Amsterdam", Transportation Research Procedia, Vol. 25, Elsevier, http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/ en/431721518160025246/odf/123202-JRN-PUBLIC.odf.
- 62 V. Mohankumar et al. (2020), A Tactical Urbanism Guidebook, GIZ, Bonn and Eschborn, http://greenmobility-library.org/public/uploads/resource_attachments/1604921362_TU_Guidebook_November_2020_Final_V2.pdf.
- 63 Coconuts Jakarta (2019), "Pedal in the capital: Jakarta to open more dedicated bike lanes until end of 2019", 11 October, https://coconuts.co/jakarta/news/pedalin-the-capital-jakarta-to-open-more-dedicated-bike-lanes-until-end-of-2019.
- 64 Ministry of Transportation, Republic of Indonesia (2020), Bike Safety on the Road, Jakarta, http://jdih.dephub.go.id/assets/uudocs/permen/2020/PM_59_TA-HUN_2020.pdf.
- 65 Ibid.
- 66 Pinay in Action (2019), "Biking senator files National Bicycle Act", 16 July, https:// piacayetano.ph/biking-senator-files-national-bicycle-act.
- 67 MobiliseYourCity (2020), "The Philippines National Urban Mobility Program, an example of a successful investment program", 31 August, https://www.mobiliseyourcity.net/philippines-national-urban-mobility-program-example-successful-investment-program.
- 68 Z. Abdullah (2020), "Plan to expand bicycle paths welcomed, but more needed to encourage Singapore's cycling vision", Channel News Asia, 13 March, https:// www.channelnewsasia.com/news/singapore/plan-to-expand-bicycle-paths-welcomed-but-more-needed-to-12525624.
- 69 ITF and SLOCAT (2020), op. cit. note 41.
- 70 C40 Knowledge (2020), "Zero emission zones for freight: Lessons from Beijing", webinar, C40 Knowledge Hub, May, https://www.c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/ Zero-Emission-Zones-for-Freight-Lessons-from-Beijing.
- 71 Smart Freight Centre, "IKEA", https://www.smartfreightcentre.org/en/news/ ikea/41430 (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 72 Ecodriving Indonesia (2020), "Eco-driving in Indonesia: Lessons learned from five years and way forward", https://ecodriving.or.id/culminationevent (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 73 K. U. Hasbani et al. (2019), Asia and the Pacific Renewable Energy Status Report, REN21, Paris. https://www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/REN21_Asia_ Report_2019_Web.pdf.
- 74 Ibid.
- 75 Halder, op. cit. note 24; Directorate General of New Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation, Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources, Republic of Indonesia (2019), "Mandatory 30% Biodiesel (B30) Program", 19 December, https://ebtke. esdm.go.id/post/2019/12/19/2434/faq.program.mandatori.biodiesel.30.b30; N. Harsono (2020), "Indonesia's B40 biodiesel plan back on track after palm oil prices improve", Jakarta Post, 6 August, https://www.thejakartapost.com/ news/2020/08/05/indonesias-b40-biodiesel-plan-back-on-track-after-palm-oil-prices-improve.html.
- 76 Foshan China (2018), "Foshan's first batch of hydrogen-energy buses are put into operation", 24 December, http://en.foshannews.net/hp/201812/ t20181224_6292818.html.
- 77 Smart Energy International (2019), "Chinese e-mobility firm runs EV for 30 days purely on solar", 20 September, https://www.smart-energy.com/industry-sectors/

electric-vehicles/chinese-e-mobility-firm-runs-ev-for-30-days-purely-on-solar.

- 78 Hasbani et al., op. cit. note 73; K. Barrow (2019), "Tokyo light rail line to run on renewable energy", International Railway Journal, 25 March, https://www.railjournal. com/passenger/light-rail/tokyo-light-rail-line-to-run-on-renewable-energy.
- 79 State Council Information Office of the People's Republic of China (2020), Sustainable Development of Transport in China, Beijing, December, http://www. scio.gov.cn/zfbps/32832/Document/1695320/1695320.htm; China National Development and Reform Commission (2020), Report on the Implementation of the 2019 Plan for National Economic and Social Development and on the 2020 Draft Plan for National Economic and Social Development, Beijing, 22 May, http://www. xinhuanet.com/english/download/nationaleconomic.pdf.
- 80 Ministry of Transport, Malaysia (2019), National Transport Policy 2019-2030, Putrajaya, https://www.pmo.gov.my/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/National-Transport-Policy-2019_2030EN.pdf.
- 81 Land Transport Authority, Government of Singapore (2019), "Land Transport Master Plan 2040: Bringing Singapore together", 25 May, https://www.lta.gov.sg/ content/ltagov/en/newsroom/2019/5/2/land-transport-master-plan-2040-bringing-singapore-together.html.
- 82 Ministry of Transport and Infrastructure, Republic of Turkey (2019), "Related to Increasing Energy Efficiency in Transportation: Regulation on Procedure and Principles Part One", 25 May, https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2019/05/20190502-5.htm.
- 83 Z. Bingfang (2016), "PRC: Jiangxi Fuzhou Urban Integrated Infrastructure Improvement Project", Asian Development Bank, https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/ project-document/215746/44007-013-smr-03.pdf.
- 84 Wikipedia (2021), "TransPeshawar", https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/TransPeshawar (accessed 27 April 2021).
- 85 M. Kusumaningkatma and Y. Xie (2020), "Transforming TransJakarta: First steps toward electric buses for the world's largest BRT fleet", ICCT, 30 October, https:// theicct.org/blog/staff/transjakarta-worlds-largest-brt-fleet-oct2020.
- 86 A. Rey (2020), "The long road to legalizing motorcycle taxis in the Philippines", Rappler, 20 January, https://www.rappler.com/newsbreak/in-depth/road-legitimiz ing-motorcycle-taxis.
- 87 R. Siy (2020), "Regulating motorcycle taxis", The Manila Times, 25 January, https:// www.manilatimes.net/2020/01/25/business/columnists-business/regulating-motorcycle-taxis/676969.
- 88 R. Iyengar (2019), "Uber is now using boats to beat Mumbai's terrible traffic", CNN Business, 4 February, https://edition.cnn.com/2019/02/04/tech/uber-boat-mumbai-launch/index.html; P. Lidhoo (2019), "Uber ties up with SUN Mobility for e-auto fleet", Fortune India, 24 July, https://www.fortuneindia.com/venture/uber-ties-upwith-sun-mobility-to-deploy-e-auto-fleets/103454.
- 89 Jakarta Globe (2020), "Grab introduces electric fleet at Soekarno-Hatta Airport", 27 January, https://jakartaglobe.id/business/grab-introduces-electric-fleet-at-soekarnohatta-airport.
- 90 Global Fuel Economy Initiative (2018), "Bangladesh starts process of developing fuel economy policies", 22 June, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/blog/2018/ june/bangladesh-starts-process-of-developing-fuel-economy-policies.
- 91 Gaikindo (2017), "Indonesia automotive industry to adopt Euro4 emission standard", Association of Indonesia Automotive Industries, https://www.gaikindo.or.id/ en/industri-otomotif-indonesia-persiapkan-hadapi-standar-emisi-euro4 (accessed 27 April 2021).
- 92 Department of Environment, Malaysia (2017), Application Guidelines for Motor Vehicle Exhaust Gas and Noise Emission Type Approval, Kuala Lumpur, https://www. doe.gov.my/portalv1/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/BORANG-GUIDELINE-VTA-MO-TO-VEHICLE-Jun-2017.pdf.
- 93 Ministry of Transport and Infrastructure, Republic of Turkey, op. cit. note 82.
- 94 FuelCellsWorks (2020), "Malaysia: Kuching's hydrogen bus service starts", 21 January, https://fuelcellsworks.com/news/malaysia-kuchings-hydrogen-bus-service-starts.
- 95 JR East Group (2020), "Environment", Integrated Report 2020, https://www.jreast. co.jp/e/environment/pdf_2020/p076-087.pdf.
- 96 India Brand Equity Foundation (2020), "Indian Railways net zero carbon emitter by 2030", 7 October, https://www.ibef.org/blogs/indian-railways-net-zero-carbon-emitter-by-2030.
- 97 S. Prateek (2019), "National Electric Mobility Plan 2020 targets deployment of up to 7 million EVs across India", Mercom India, 9 July, https://mercomindia.com/ national-electric-mobility-plan.
- 98 IEA (2019), Global EV Outlook 2019, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2019.
- 99 Reuters (2019), "Indonesia president signs new EV decree to bolster industry", 8 August, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-indonesia-electric/indonesia-president-signs-new-ev-decree-to-bolster-industry-idUSKCN1UY13U.

1.4 Europe Regional Overview

1 United Nations (UN) (2019), "2019 Revision of World Population Prospects", https://population.un.org/wpp (accessed 28 September 2020); UN (2018), "World Urbanization Prospects 2018", https://population.un.org/wup (accessed 28 September 2020); GDP growth is in constant 2010 USD, from World Bank (2020), "GDP (constant 2010 US\$)", https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP. MKTP.KD (accessed 28 September 2020).

- 2 European Environment Agency (EEA) (2019), "Passenger and freight transport demand in Europe", https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/ passenger-and-freight-transport-demand/assessment-1 (accessed 5 May 2021); Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2021), "Passenger transport", https://data.oecd.org/transport/passenger-transport. htm#indicator-chart (accessed 13 May 2021).
- 3 European Commission (EC) (2019), The European Green Deal, Brussels, https:// eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:b828d165-1c22-11ea-8c1f-01aa75ed71a1.0002.02/DOC_1&format=PDF.
- 4 EC, "A European Green Deal", https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal_en#timeline (accessed 5 May 2021).
- Box based on the following sources: 61% decrease from Google (2021), 5 "COVID-19 Community Mobility Reports", https://www.google.com y (accessed 27 April 2021); International Transport Forum (ITF) (2020), How Badly Will the Coronavirus Crisis Hit Global Freight? OECD Publishing, Paris, d.org/sites/default/files/global-freight-covid-19.pdf; Internation al Civil Aviation Organization, "Economic impacts of COVID-19 on civil aviation", aspx (accessed 27 April 2021); S. Kraus and N. Koch. (2020), "Effect of pop-up bike lanes on cycling in European cities", Berlin and Potsdam, https:// lf/2008.05883.pdf; 95% decrease from International Energy Agency (IEA) (2020), "Changes in transport behaviour during the Covid-19 crisis", https://w ir-during-the-covid-19-crisis (accessed 5 May 2021); L. Laker (2021), "Europe doubles down on cycling in post-Covid recovery plans", The Guardian (UK), 12 March, https://www.theguardian.org/ ng-post-covid-recovery-plans; survey from P. Dornier (2020), "No going back: European public opinion on air pollution in the Covid-19 era", Transport & Environment, 19 June, https://www.transportenvio-going-back-european-public-opinion-air-pollutio covid-19-era; M.Taylor, "A new normal': How coronavirus will transform transport in Britain's cities", The Guardian (UK), 18 May, https://www.theguardian.com port-in-britains-cities; EC (2020), "Impact of COVID-19 on air passenger transport", Eurostat, 16 June, http DDN-20200616-2; GDP from EEA (2020), "COVID-19 and Europe's environment: Impacts of a global pandemic", 5 November, https://www.science.com/actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional s/covid-19-and-europe-s; Atmosphere Monitoring Service (2020), "Emissions changes due to lockdown measures during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe", 17 December, https:// V. Andreoni (2021), "Estimating the European CO2 emissions change due to COVID-19 restrictions", Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 769, p. 145115, Elsevier, https://doi.o 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145115; European Cyclists' Federation (2020), "COVID-19 Cycling Measures Tracker", https://www.action.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/action (accessed 5 May 2021); N. Nhede (2020), "European COVID-19 recovery to be fueled by green transport and energy", Smart Energy International, 25 November, recovery-to-be-fueled-by-green-transport-and-energy; D. Burroughs (2020), "EU recovery plan includes boost for clean transport", International Railway Journal, 27 May, https://www.railjournal.com/regio boost-for-clean-transport; S. Wappelhorst (2020), "Economic recovery packages in response to COVID-19: Another push for electric vehicles in Europe?" International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT), 3 August, https://theicct.org/blog/sta e-aug2020; principles for recovery from EC (2020), "COVID-19: Guidelines on the progressive restoration of transport services and connectivity", Brussels, https://ec.europa.eu/info/ tion_transportservices.pdf.
- 6 Figures 1 and 2 from SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable Low Carbon Transport calculations, based on International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA) (2020), "Vehicles in use", https://www.oica.net/category/vehicles-in-use (accessed 27 April 2021), and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 7 EC (2019), Transport in the European Union: Current Trends and Issues, Brussels, https://ec.europa.eu/transport/sites/transport/files/2019-transport-in-the-eu-current-trends-and-issues.pdf.
- 8 F. O'Sullivan (2019), "Amsterdam's plan to eliminate 11,000 parking spots", Bloomberg CityLab, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-03-29/ amsterdam-s-plan-to-eliminate-11-000-parking-spots; A. Teivainen, "Almost 20% of Finns plan to give up their cars by 2024, finds survey", Helsinki Times, 20 March, https://www.helsinkitimes.fi/finland/finland-news/domestic/16274-almost-20-offinns-plan-to-give-up-their-cars-by-2024-finds-survey.html.
- 9 C. Rauwald, C. Look and E. Behrmann (2019), "BMW & Co are losing their allure and that's got Germany worried", Bloomberg, 9 September, https://www. bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-09-09/bmw-co-are-losing-their-allure-andthat-s-got-germany-worried.
- 10 Teivainen, op. cit. note 8.
- 11 EC (2020), Statistical Pocketbook 2020: EU Transport in Figures, Brussels, https:// ec.europa.eu/transport/facts-fundings/statistics/pocketbook-2020_en.
- 12 EEA (2020), "New registrations of electric vehicles in Europe", https://www.eea. europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/proportion-of-vehicle-fleet-meeting-5/assessment (accessed 5 May 2021).
- D. Hall et al. (2020), European Electric Vehicle Factbook 2019/2020, ICCT, Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/EV-EU-Factbook-2020.pdf.

- 14 Green Car Congress (2020), "EEA: Average CO2 emissions from new cars and new vans in Europe increased again in 2019", 27 June, https://www.greencarcongress. com/2020/06/20200627-eea.html.
- 15 EC, op. cit. note 4; EC (2021), "Mobility strategy", https://ec.europa.eu/transport/ themes/mobilitystrategy_en (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 16 EC, op. cit. note 11; EEA, op. cit. note 2.
- 17 EC, op. cit. note 11; EEA, op. cit. note 2.
- 18 EEA, op. cit. note 2.
- 19 EC, op. cit. note 4; EC (2021), op. cit. note 15; EC, op. cit. note 11.
- 20 EC, op. cit. note 11; EEA, op. cit. note 2.
- 21 EC, op. cit. note 11.
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 Ibid.
- 24 Ibid.
- 25 E. Mazareanu (2020), "Europe (EU-28): modal split of passenger transport on land 2018", Statista, 28 September, https://www.statista.com/statistics/449486/europeeu-28-modal-split-of-passenger-transport-on-land.
- 26 The Local (2019), "Berlin to spend €28 billion on improving public transport", 27 February, https://www.thelocal.de/20190227/berlin-public-transport-upgrade-to-invest-28-billion-until-2035; F. Fuchs (2019), "Augsburg: Flatrate für Tram, Bus, Rad und Auto", Süddeutsche Zeitung, 30 October, https://www.sueddeutsche.de/bayern/augsburg-flatrate-oeffentlicher-nahverkehr-1.4661885.
- 27 M. Modijefsky (2018), "Estonia launches the largest free public transport scheme in the world", Eltis, 18 July, https://www.eltis.org/discover/news/estonia-launches-largest-free-public-transport-scheme-world; Agence France-Presse (2020), "Luxembourg is first country to make all public transport free", The Guardian (UK), 28 February, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/feb/28/luxembourg-public-transport-free-nationwide-congestion.
- 28 EC, "Transport emissions", https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport_en (accessed 13 May 2021).
- 29 EC, op. cit. note 4.
- 30 SLOCAT calculations based on M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020report, and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1; EC, op. cit. note 3.
- 31 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 30.
- 32 SLOCAT calculations based on Ibid., and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1; EC, op. cit. note 3.
- 33 Figure 3 from SLOCAT calculations based on M. Crippa et al., op. cit. note 30, and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1;
- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Figure 4 from SLOCAT calculations based on M. Crippa et al., op. cit. note 30.
- 36 D. Besley et al. (2020), Environmental Tax Reform in North Macedonia, World Bank, Washington, D.C., https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/34679/Environmental-Tax-Reform-in-North-Macedonia-Improving-Environmental-and-Social-Outcomes-from-Fuel-Use.pdf.
- 37 OECD (2021), "OECD Environmental Performance Reviews: Greece 2020", Paris, https://www.oecd-llibrary.org/sites/ff34a34b-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/ff34a34b-en.
- 38 ICCT (2020), "Chart library: Passenger vehicle fuel economy", https://theicct.org/ chart-library-passenger-vehicle-fuel-economy (accessed 5 May 2021); EEA (2020), "Average CO2 emissions from new cars and new vans increased again in 2019", 3 December 2020, https://www.eea.europa.eu/highlights/average-co2-emissionsfrom-new-cars-vans-2019.
- 39 D. Leggett (2020), "SUVs took almost 40% of Europe's car market in 2019", just-auto, 19 February, https://www.just-auto.com/news/suvs-took-almost-40-of-europescar-market-in-2019_id193765.aspx.

- 41 EEA (2020), "Monitoring of CO2 emissions from passenger cars Regulation (EU) 2019/631", Brussels, https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/co2-carsemission-18 (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 42 U. Tietge, P. Mock and J. Dornoff (2020), "CO2 emissions from new passenger cars in Europe: Car manufacturers' performance in 2019", ICCT, 26 August, https:// theicct.org/publications/co2-new-passenger-cars-europe-aug2020.
- 43 EC, "CO emission performance standards for cars and vans", https://ec.europa. eu/clima/policies/transport/vehicles/regulation_en (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 44 A. Verkehrswende et al. (2020), Transport for Under Two Degrees The Way Forward, Deutsche Gesellschaft f
 ür Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH, Eschborn, https://www.t4under2.org/pdf/T4under2_Global-foresight-study_FINAL. pdf.
- 45 EC, op. cit. note 3.
- 46 Covenant of Mayors for Climate and Energy Europe, "Covenant initiative: Objectives and scope", https://www.eumayors.eu/about/covenant-initiative/objectives-and-scope.html (accessed 5 May 2021).

48 BBC News (2019), "Sturgeon demands agreement on 'legal' independence

⁴⁰ Ibid.

⁴⁷ Ibid.

referendum", 3 September, https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-scotland-scotland-politics-49556793.

- 49 R. Cooper (2020), "UK Government announces £5bn boost for greener transport", Climate Action, 11 February, https://www.climateaction.org/news/uk-governmentannounces-5bn-boost-for-greener-transport.
- 50 EC (2018), "Our vision for a clean planet for all", Brussels, November, https://ec.europa.eu/clima/sites/default/files/docs/pages/vision_1_emissions_en.pdf.
- 51 Verkehrswende et al., op. cit. note 44.
- 52 SLOCAT (2021), "Transport Knowledge Base", https://slocat.net/our-work/knowledge-and-research/trakb (accessed 13 May 2021).
- 53 S. Vemuri et al. (2020), Global Monitor 2020, MobiliseYourCity, Brussels, https:// mobiliseyourcity.net/sites/default/files/2020-09/MobiliseYourCity_Global%20Moni tor%202020.pdf.
- 54 Ministry of Sustainable Infrastructure and Mobility, Italy (2019), "Fondo progettazione opere prioritarie", Governo Italiano, https://www.mit.gov.it/node/11143 (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 55 F. O'Sullivan (2020), "Paris mayor pledges a greener '15-minute city'", Bloomberg CityLab, 18 February, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-02-18/ paris-mayor-pledges-a-greener-15-minute-city.
- 56 Y. Bernard et al. (2020), "Impacts of the Paris low-emission zone and implications for other cities", ICCT, 12 March, https://theicct.org/publications/true-paris-lowemission-zone.
- 57 Rupprecht Consult (2021), "SUMP Poltava & Zhytomyr", https://www.rupprecht-consult.eu/project/sump-poltava-zhytomyr.html (accessed 13 May 2021); Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (2021), "Lviv Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan (SUMP)", 16 April, https://www.transformative-mobility.org/news/the-sustainable-urban-mobility-plan-sump-of-lviv.
- 58 EC (2021), "Electric vehicles", https://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/urban/vehicles/road/electric_en (accessed 5 May 2021); F. Pollák et al. (2021), "Promotion of electric mobility in the European Union – overview of project PROMETEUS from the perspective of cohesion through synergistic cooperation on the example of the catching-up region", *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, Vol. 13, MDPI, Basel, https:// doi.org/10.3390/su13031545.
- 59 EEA, op. cit. note 12.
- 60 SLOCAT (2020), "E-mobility trends and targets", https://slocat.net/e-mobility (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 61 Reuters (2018), "Volkswagen says last generation of combustion engines to be launched in 2026", 4 December, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-volkswagen-emissions-combustion-IdUSKBN103206; M. Ott (2021), "Goodbye gas: Volvo to make only electric vehicles by 2030", Associated Press, 2 March, https://apnews.com/article/volvo-electric-vehicles-only-2030-5ecff5dbf0e3fa-01f822a015a5625b9f.
- 62 S. Gislam (2020), "Truckmaker alliance pledges to end diesel sales by 2040", Industry Europe, 14 December, https://industryeurope.com/sectors/transportation/ truckmaker-alliance-pledges-to-end-diesel-sales-by-2040.
- 63 G. De Clercq (2018), "Paris is launching a massive fleet of electric bicycles", World Economic Forum, 12 November, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/11/parisregion-to-launch-worlds-biggest-fleet-of-electric-bicycles; Agence France Presse (2019), "Paris orders 800 new electric buses to fight smog", Science X Daily, 9 April, https://phys.org/news/2019-04-paris-electric-buses-smog.html.
- 64 O. Georgieva (2019), "The state will support purchase of up to 1000 electric bicycles", Mayor of Europe, 1 April, https://www.themayor.eu/en/a/view/e-bikesubsidy-scheme-in-portugal-2275.
- 65 Bike Europe (2019), "Dutch bike market turning exclusively electric", 11 July, https://www.bike-eu.com/market/nieuws/2019/07/dutch-bike-market-turning-exclusively-electric-10136158.
- 66 A. K. Reibold (2020), "Get ready for the cycling boom experts predict 30 million bicycle sales by 2030", European Cyclists' Federation, 3 December, https://ecf. com/news-and-events/news/get-ready-cycling-boom-experts-predict-30-millionbicycle-sales-2030.
- 67 SLOCAT, op. cit. note 52.
- 68 Global Action Plan, "Clean air recovery essentials", https://www.globalactionplan. org.uk/business-clean-air-taskforce/clean-air-recovery-essentials (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 69 Reuters (2018), "Greater Paris to ban old diesel cars from summer 2019", 12 November, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-france-paris-pollution/greater-paris to-ban-old-diesel-cars-from-summer-2019-idUSKCN1NH2BC.
- 70 Y. Bernard, E. Tietge and I. Pniewska (2020), Remote Sensing of Motor Vehicle Emissions in Krakow, ICCT, Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/ publications/Remote-sensing-Krakow-sept2020-1.pdf.
- 71 G. Topham (2019), "London prepares for launch of ultra-low emissions zone", The Guardian (UK), 6 April, https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2019/apr/06/london-prepares-for-launch-of-ultra-low-emissions-zone.
- 72 Reuters (2020), "Spain to introduce low-emission zones amid 'climate emergency'", 21 January, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-spain-politics-climate/spainto-introduce-low-emission-zones-amid-climate-emergency-idUSKBN1ZK25U; A. Tena (2021), "Ley de cambio climático: Las ciudades de más de 50.000 habitantes deberán tener zonas de bajas emisiones a partir de 2023", Público, 23 February, https://www.publico.es/sociedad/ley-cambio-climatico-ciudades-50000-habitantes-deberan-zonas-bajas-emisiones-partir-2023.html.

- 73 S. Burgen (2019), "Barcelona to open southern Europe's biggest low-emissions zone", The Guardian (UK), 31 December, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2019/dec/31/barcelona-to-open-southern-europes-biggest-low-emissions zone.
- 74 Transport Decarbonisation Alliance, C40 and POLIS (2020), How-to Guide: Zero-Emission Zones, http://www.rupprecht-consult.eu/uploads/tx_rupprecht/ ZEZ-F_How-to-Guide_low.pdf.
- 75 Smart Freight Centre (2021), "Decarbonization study: A call to focus on SME road freight carriers", 28 January, https://www.smartfreightcentre.org/en/news/decarbonization-study-a-call-to-focus-on-sme-road-freight-carriers/43390.
- 76 EC, op. cit. note 3.
- 77 A. Adamopoulos (2020), "Most shipowners have no decarbonisation strategy", Lloyd's List, 27 May, https://lloydslist.maritimeintelligence.informa.com/ LL1132478/Most-shipowners-have-no-decarbonisation-strategy.
- 78 Alliance for Logistics Innovation through Collaboration in Europe (2019), "ALICE launches the Roadmap Towards Zero Emissions Logistics 2050", 10 December, http://www.etp-logistics.eu/alice-launches-the-roadmap-towards-zero-emissions-logistics-2050.
- 79 D. McCue (2019), "First inland vessel fueled by 100% sustainable biofuel", Renewable Energy Magazine, 20 March, https://www.renewableenergymagazine.com/ biofuels/first-inland-vessel-fueled-by-100-sustainable-20190320.
- 80 R. Meldner (2018), "Frankfurt testing public transit trams for package deliveries", eSeller365, 18 September, https://www.eseller365.com/frankfurt-testing-public-transit-trams-for-package-deliveries.
- 81 Transport Decarbonisation Alliance (2019), Zero Emission Urban Freight, http:// tda-mobility.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/TDA-Zero-Emission-Urban-Freight. pdf.
- 82 Revista Cargo (2018), "Chronopost develops pilot project for distribution with electric bicycles in Lisbon", 23 July, https://revistacargo.pt/chronopost-bicicletas-electricas.
- 83 MaaS Alliance (2018), "Report from the 4th MaaS Summit", 18 September, https:// maas-alliance.eu/2018/09/18/report-from-the-4th-maas-summit.
- 84 J. L. Mate et al. (2019), Mobility as a Service for Climate, ITS for Climate Initiative, Bordeaux, https://www.its4climate.eu/wp-content/uploads/briefing-papers_topic5. pdf.
- 85 Ibid.
- 86 MaaS Alliance, op. cit. note 83.
- 87 Sustainable Urban Mobility Congress (2019), "Declaration of Bilbao: Towards a more sustainable urban mobility", https://sumbilbao19.com/documents/declaration-of-bilbao-2019.PDF.
- 88 Mate et al., op. cit. note 84.
- 89 H. Alfredsson (2019), "The Nordic countries join forces for serious MaaS development", Drive Sweden, 25 September, https://www.drivesweden.eu/en/nordic-countries-join-forces-serious-maas-development.
- 90 Swedish Energy Agency (2019), "Mobility as a Service experiences from the Nordic countries", 14 January, https://www.energimyndigheten.se/en/cooperation/ sustainable-nordic-cities-with-focus-on-climate-smart-mobility/activities-and-documentation/mobility-as-a-service-experiences-from-the-nordic-countries.
- 91 Galileo for Mobility (2020), "Galileo 4 Mobility kicks off on-demand pilot in Spain", 9 March, http://www.galileo4mobility.eu/2020/03/09/galileo-4-mobility-kicks-offon-demand-pilot-in-spain.
- 92 European Investment Bank (2020), EIB Group Climate Bank Roadmap 2021-2025, Luxembourg, https://www.eib.org/attachments/thematic/eib_group_climate_ bank_roadmap_en.pdf.
- 93 J. Ekblom (2019), "European Investment Bank to cease funding fossil fuel projects by end-2021", Reuters, 14 November, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-climateeurope-eib/european-investment-bank-to-cease-funding-fossil-fuel-projects-byend-2021-idUSKBN1X020S.

- 95 M. Jones (2020), "EU's lending arm approves 1 trillion euro green plan", Reuters, 11 November, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-eu-eib-climate/eus-lending-armapproves-1-trillion-euro-green-plan-idUSKBN27R36L.
- 96 EC (2021), "Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans", Brussels, https://ec.europa.eu/ transport/themes/urban-mobility/urban-mobility-actions/sustainable-urban_en (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 97 D. Boffey (2019), "Dutch government cuts speed limit to 100km/h to reduce air pollution", The Guardian (UK), 13 November, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2019/nov/13/dutch-government-cuts-speed-limit-to-100kmh-to-reduce-airpollution; O'Sullivan, op. cit. note 8.
- 98 Mobility of Lviv, "Creating SUMP", https://mobilitylviv.com/en/creating-sump (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 99 K. Danilović and V. Dorić (2020), Sustainable Urban Mobility: A Chance for Development of Sustainable Towns in Serbia, Belgrade Fund for Political Excellence, Belgrade, https://en.bfpe.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2020/07/SUSTAIN-ABLE-URBAN-MOBILITY-1-1.pdf.
- 100 Turku (2018), "Turku's new climate plan to the global forefront", 8 June, https:// www.turku.fi/en/news/2018-06-08_turkus-new-climate-plan-global-forefront; Helsinki (2019), Carbon-neutral Helsinki 2035: Summary, Helsinki, https://www. hel.fi/static/liitteet/kaupunkiymparisto/julkaisut/esitteet/HNH2035_en_summa-

⁹⁴ Ibid.

ry_14022019.pdf.

- 101 S. Burgen (2019), "Barcelona to open southern Europe's biggest low-emissions zone", The Guardian (UK), 31 December, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2019/dec/31/barcelona-to-open-southern-europes-biggest-low-emissions zone.
- 102 L. Donat (2020), Connecting Europe with a Rail Renaissance: Eight Measures to Revive the European Rail System, Germanwatch, Bonn, https://germanwatch. org/sites/default/files/Connecting%20Europe%20with%20a%20Rail%20Renaissance_2.pdf.
- 103 D. Boffey (2020), "'People don't want to fly': Covid-19 reawakens Europe's sleeper trains", The Guardian (UK), 27 July, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/ iul/27/covid-19-reawakens-europe-sleeper-trains.
- 104 Lime (2019), "New report examines the sustainability impact of e-scooters in Paris", 10 October, https://www.li.me/second-street/new-report-examines-sustainability-impact-e-scooters-paris.
- 105 Ibid.
- 106 A. Tidey (2019), "Germany legalises e-scooters but bans them from the pavement", Euronews, 17 May, https://www.euronews.com/2019/05/17/germany-legalises-escooters-but-bans-them-from-the-pavement.
- 107 Frankfurt-Tipp (2019), "Getting on board for the future test operation for autonomous vehicles in Frankfurt", 1 October, https://www.frankfurt-tipp.de/en/news/s/ ugc/getting-started-in-the-future-test-operation-for-autonomous-vehicles-in-frankfurt.html.
- 108 S. Mehmet (2020), "Bird to offset energy consumption in Paris through green partnership", Intelligent Transport, 2 March, https://www.intelligenttransport.com/ transport-news/96498/bird-to-offset-energy-consumption-in-paris-with-partnership.
- 109 European Cyclists' Federation, op. cit. note 5.
- 110 U. Bauer, M. Hertel and L. Buchmann (2018), Geht doch! Grundzüge einer bundesweiten Fußverkehrsstrategie, Umweltbundesamt, Dessau-Roßlau, https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/1410/publikationen/2020-06-15_texte_75-2018_geht-doch_v6.pdf; C. Adriazola-Steil and A. Schwedhelm (2020), "Walking the talk: What can we learn from Germany's new pedestrian policy framework?" TheCityFix, 20 February, https://thecityfix.com/ blog/walking-talk-can-learn-germany-s-new-pedestrian-policy-framework-2-claudia-adriazola-steil alejandm-schwedhelm
- 111 R. Vergnani (2019), "Cycle paths and bike sharing: New funds from the Italian Ministry for the Environment", Eltis, 13 March, https://www.eltis.org/discover/new cycle-paths-and-bike-sharing-new-funds-italian-ministry-environment.
- 112 S. Hay (2019), "Scotland becomes first UK nation to ban pavement parking", Living Streets, 10 October, https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/news-and-blog/press-media/ scotland-becomes-first-uk-nation-to-ban-pavement-parking; Scottish Government (2020), Scottish Budget 2020-2021, Edinburgh, https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-budget-2020-21/pages/2.
- 113 G. De Clercq (2018), "France to boost cycling with better bike lanes, tax incentives", *Reuters*, 14 September, https://www.reuters.com/article/france-bicycles-idUKL5N1W0448.
- 114 EC, "Reducing CO2 emissions from heavy-duty vehicles", https://ec.europa.eu/ clima/policies/transport/vehicles/heavy_en (accessed 6 May 2021).
- 115 N. King (2019), "2020 tax changes to impact residual values in France", Autovista Group, 28 November, https://autovistagroup.com/news-and-insights/2020-taxchanges-impact-residual-values-france; S. Wappelhorst. (2020), "Actions speak louder than words: the French commitment to electric vehicles", ICCT, 16 January, https://theicct.org/blog/staff/actions-speak-louder-words-french-commitment-electric-vehicles.
- 116 Office of the Federal Government, Germany (2020), "Climate-friendly, affordable mobility", Berlin, https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-de/aktuelles/kfzsteuer-1759368 (accessed 6 May 2021).
- 117 IEA (2020), Global EV Outlook 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2020.
- 118 Z. Shahan (2020), "69% of autos sold in Norway in 2020 have a plug", CleanTechnica, 9 July, https://cleantechnica.com/2020/07/09/69-of-autos-sold-in-norway-in-2020-have-a-plug.
- 119 Ministry of Infrastructure of Ukraine (2018), National Transport Strategy of Ukraine 2030, Kyiv, https://mtu.gov.ua/files/for_investors/230118/National Transport Strategy of Ukraine.pdf; Global Fuel Economy Initiative (2018), "Ukraine exempts EVs from VAT", 22 January, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/blog/2018/january/ ukraine-exempts-evs-from-vat.
- 120 B92 (2020), "Trivan: Subsidies for electric and hybrid cars coming soon", 29 January, https://www.b92.net/automobili/vesti.php?yyyy=20208mm=018nav id=1648269.
- 121 M. Niestadt and A. Bjørnåvold (2019), Electric Road Vehicles in the European Union: Trends, Impacts and Policies, European Parliamentary Research Service, Brussels, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2019/637895/ EPRS_BRI(2019)637895_EN.pdf.
- 122 Pollák et al., op. cit. note 58.
- 123 EC (2020), "Biofuels", https://ec.europa.eu/energy/topics/renewable-energy/biofuels/overview_en (accessed 6 May 2021).
- 124 E. Voegele (2019), "Finland to require 30% biofuel, 10% advanced biofuel by 2030", Biomass Magazine, 7 February, http://biomassmagazine.com/articles/15930/finland-to-require-30-biofuel-10-advanced-biofuel-by-203.

- 125 Sustainable Bus (2019), "Pau (France) welcomes the launch of the world's first hydrogen BRT", 18 December, https://www.sustainable-bus.com/news/pau-welcomes-the-launch-of-the-worlds-first-hydrogen-brt.
- 126 V. Petrova (2019), "France raises biofuel blending mandate for 2019, 2020", Renewables Now, 10 January, https://renewablesnow.com/news/france-raises-bio fuel-blending-mandate-for-2019-2020-639060.
- 127 FuelCellsWorks (2019), "Taking a Taxi in Paris: Now with hydrogen!" 29 March, https://fuelcellsworks.com/news/taking-a-taxi-in-paris-now-with-hydrogen.
- 128 Ministry of Infrastructure of Ukraine, op. cit. note 119.
- 129 R. Cooper (2019), "Biogas plant that will fuel the transport sector in UK gets the go-ahead", Climate Action, 8 November, https://www.climateaction.org/news/bio gas-plant-that-will-fuel-the-transport-sector-in-uk-gets-the-go-ahead.
- 130 Bioenergy Insight (2019), "1,400 tonnes of CO2 emissions saved in UK biomethane HGV trial", 19 November, https://www.bioenergy-news.com/news/1400tonnes-of-co2-emissions-saved-in-uk-biomethane-hgv-trial.

1.5 Latin America and the Caribbean Regional Overview

- 1 United Nations (UN) (2019), "2019 Revision of World Population Prospects", https://population.un.org/wpp (accessed 28 September 2020); UN (2018), "World Urbanization Prospects 2018", https://population.un.org/wup (accessed 28 September 2020); GDP growth is in constant 2010 USD, from World Bank (2020), "GDP (constant 2010 USS)", https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP. KD (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 2 World Bank (2018), "Urban population (% of total population) Latin America & Caribbean", https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB.TOTL.IN.ZS?locations=Z J&name_desc=false (accessed 6 May 2021).
- 3 P. Yañez-Pagans et al. (2018), Urban Transport Systems in Latin America and the Caribbean: Challenges and Lessons Learned, Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), Washington, D.C., https://publications.ladb.org/publications/english/document/Urban-Transport-Systems-in-Latin-America-and-the-Caribbean-Challenges-and-Lessons-Learned.pdf.
- 4 UN Environment Programme (UNEP) (2019), Zero Carbon Latin America and the Caribbean, Nairobi, https://euroclimaplus.org/images/Movilidad/noticias/Zero_ Carbon_LAC_Executive_Summary.pdf.
- Box based on the following sources: 72% decrease, compared to average 5 mobility between 3 January and 6 February 2020, calculated from Google (2021), "COVID-19 Community Mobility Reports", https://www.google.com bility (accessed 27 April 2021); International Transport Forum (2020), How Badly Will the Coronavirus Crisis Hit Global Freight? OECD Publishing, Paris, h s/default/files/global-freight-covid-19.pdf: International Civil Aviation Organization, "Economic impacts of COVID-19 on civil aviation", (accessed 27 April 2021); passenger travel demand from Moovit, "Public transit statistics by country and city", https://m ublic_Transit_Index-countries (accessed 11 May 2021); traffic volume and public transport trips from IDB, "Coronavirus Impact Dashboard", https:/ board (accessed 11 May 2021); Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) from N. Medimorec et al. (2020), "Impacts of COVID-19 on mobility: Preliminary analysis of regional trends on urban mobility", SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable Low Carbon Transport, 26 May, https://slocat.net pdf; e-commerce from D. Rodríguez (2020), "3 ways COVID-19 will impact Latin American logistics", America Market Intelligence, 11 June, https:// pact-latin-american-logistics; telework and e-commerce from United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (2021), COVID-19 and E-Commerce: A Global Review, Geneva, http l-document/dtlstict2020d13 en.pdf; Lima from S. G. Gámez et al. (2020), "Adaptar un nuevo modelo de transporte urbano en América Latina para afrontar la pandemia", 6 July, https://blogs.worldbank.org/es/latinamerica nsporte-urbano-en-america-latina-para-afrontar-la, and from Gestión Perú (2021), "Paro de transporte público: Transportistas de Lima y Callao evaluarán hoy si el paro es indefinido o escalonado", 4 July, https://gestion pe/peru/paro-de-transporte-publico-transportistas-de-lima-y-callao-evaluaran-hor si-el-paro-es-indefinido-o-escalonado-nndc-noticia; Costa Rica from S. Rodriguez (2020), "Pandemic generated losses of 14,000 million in the bus sector in April", AmeliaRueda.com, 6 March, https://www.ameliarueda.com 14.000-millones-sector-autobusero-en-abril, and from Autoridad Reguladora de los Servicios Publicos (2019), "Pasajeros movilizados e ingresos percibidos autobuses", 7 November, https://aresep.go.cr/transparencia s-abiertos/pasajeros-movilizados-autobuses; temporary bike lanes from COVID Mobility Works, "Find Mobility Responses", https://www.covidmobilityworks.org/ find-responses?mode-types=changes-to-public-space&locations=argentina%7C cle-e-bicycle (accessed 10 May 2021); published reports from N. Morales-Miranda et al., eds. (2021), Enciclopedia del Transporte Informal en América Central, Centro para la Sostenibilidad Urbana & Agile City Partners, San José, https o/d/17MU6OYYAk2kAedAwShwfKa_eiyHj2x-f/view; T. Hein Tun et al. (2020), Informal and Semiformal Services in Latin America: An Overview of Public Transportation Reforms, IDB, Washington, D.C., https://publications.iadb.org. ca-An-Overview-of-Public-Transportation-Reforms.pdf.
- 6 Figure 1 from SLOCAT (2018), "Transport and Climate Change in Latin America &

Caribbean", https://slocat.net/wp-content/uploads/legacy/TCC-GSR-Latin-America-infographic-ENG.pdf.

- 7 M. Boher (2015), "State of the art and opportunities of smart parking in Latin America", Urbiotica, 24 July, https://www.urbiotica.com/en/state-art-oportunities-smart-parking-latin-america.
- 8 Figure 2 from SLOCAT calculations based on International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA) (2020), "Vehicles in use", https://www.oica.net/ category/vehicles-in-use (accessed 6 May 2021).
- 9 Figure 3 from N. Estupiñan et al. (2018), Transporte y Desarrollo en América Latina, Development Bank of Latin America (CAF), Caracas, http://scioteca.caf.com/ handle/123456789/1186.
- 10 Ibid.
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 OICA (2020), "Global sales statistics 2019-2020", https://www.oica.net/category/ sales-statistics (accessed 15 April 2021).
- 13 Yañez-Pagans et al., op. cit. note 3.
- 14 Ibid.; UNEP, op. cit. note 4.
- 15 Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD), "OECD statistics", https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?r=616989 (accessed 6 May 2021).
- 16 A. Maxwell (2019), "Sustainable public transport in Latin America", Natural Resources Defense Council, 20 September, https://www.nrdc.org/experts/aman da-maxwell/sustainable-public-transport-latin-america.
- 17 Ibid.
- 18 UNEP, op. cit. note 4.
- 19 OECD, op. cit. note 15.
- 20 Ministry of Infrastructure of Brazil, "Mapa de Projectos", https://antigo.infraestrutura.gov.br/concessoes/#mapa (accessed 16 May 2021).
- 21 SLOCAT calculations based on M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https://ec.europa.eu/jtc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020report.
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 Figure 4 from SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 21, and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 24 Figure 5 from SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 21.
- 25 European Commission (2021), "Emissions Database for Global Atmospheric Research", https://data.jrc.ec.europa.eu/collection/edgar (accessed 6 May 2021).
- 26 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 21.
- 27 UNEP, op. cit. note 4.
- 28 Ibid.
- 29 IEA (2019), Fuel Economy in Major Car Markets, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/ fuel-economy-in-major-car-markets.
- 30 Ibid.
- 31 UNEP (2017), Used Vehicles: A Global Overview, Nairobi, https://unece.org/DAM/ trans/doc/2017/itc/UNEP-ITC_Background_Paper-Used_Vehicle_Global_Overview.pdf.
- 32 Government of Argentina (2018), "El gobierno lanzó el Programa de Transporte Inteligente", 2 October, https://www.argentina.gob.ar/noticias/el-gobierno-lanzo-el-orograma-de-transporte-inteligente-0.
- 33 J. Miller (2019), "Brazil PROCONVE P-8 emission standards", International Council on Clean Transportation, 27 February, https://theicct.org/publications/brazil-proconve-p-8-emission-standards.
- 34 Giro Limpio, "La ruta verde para Chile", https://www.girolimpio.cl (accessed 10 May 2021).
- 35 Ministry of Energy of Chile, Energía 2050: Politica Energética de Chile, Santiago, https://energia.gob.cl/sites/default/files/energia_2050_-_politica_energetica_de_ chile.pdf.
- 36 H. Schneider (2020), Talking points presented in the CDP Education launch event, held virtually, 23 November.
- 37 Paris Process on Mobility and Climate, "Introducing low sulfur fuels and vehicle emission standards by 2030", http://www.ppmc-transport.org/global-strategy-for-cleaner-fuels-and-vehicles (accessed 6 May 2021).
- 38 SLOCAT (2020), The Environmental, Economic and Social Benefits of Transport Decarbonisation in Latin America and the Caribbean, report prepared for ECLAC, Santiago.
- 39 H. Schneider (2020), Notes About Electric Buses, Working paper, ECLAC, Santiago.
- 40 Semana (2021), "Bogotá, la ciudad con mayor número de buses eléctricos en Latinoamérica", 1 November, https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/bogota-la-ciudad-con-mayor-numero-de-buses-electricos-en-latinoamerica/202119.
- 41 Ibid.
- 42 M. M. Lorduy (2019), "Ley 1964 de 2019: Movilidad sostenible", Asuntos Legales, 7 September, https://www.asuntoslegales.com.co/consultorio/ ley-1964-de-2019-movilidad-sostenible-2905412.
- 43 For example, Law 9518 provides several incentives such as lower import tariffs, reductions in yearly permit payments, parking exemptions (still not in use) and

dedicated parking spaces, and no restriction on entry to the defined area inside the ring road around San José. Some discounts and benefits will depend on the value of the vehicle (overall it has to be under USD 60 000).

- 44 Primicias (2019), "Los autos eléctricos tendrán cero arancel tras disposición del Comité de Comercio Exterior", 6 June, https://www.primicias.ec/noticias/economia/autos-electricos-cero-arancel-comex; Pérez Bustamante & Ponce, "La Ley Orgánica de Eficiencia Energética entró en vigencia", https://www.pbplaw.com/es/ la-ley-organica-de-eficiencia-energetica-entro-en-vigencia (accessed 6 May 2021).
- 45 International Copper Association Mexico (2019), Alianza por la Electromovilidad en México: Plan Estratégico 2019-2022, Procobre Centro Mexicano de Promoción del Cobre A.C., Naucalpan de Juárez, https://www.conuee.gob.mx/transparencia/boletines/transporte/automovilistaeficiente/otrosdocumentos/Plan_estrategico_version_final-comprimido_Procobre.pdf.
- 46 Figure 6 from Estupiñan et al., op. cit. note 9.
- 47 World Bank (2019), "América Latina carga las baterías para el transporte limpio", 24 April, https://www.bancomundial.org/es/news/feature/2019/04/24/america-lati na-carga-las-baterias-para-el-transporte-limpio.
- 48 Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century (REN21) (2020), Renewables 2020 Global Status Report, Paris, https://www.ren21.net/wp-content/up-loads/2019/05/gsr_2020_full_report_en.pdf.
- 49 E. Londono (2017), "Chile's energy transformation is powered by wind, sun and volcanoes", New York Times, 12 August, https://www.nytimes.com/2017/08/12/ world/americas/chile-green-energy-geothermal.html.
- 50 K. Monahan (2019), "Ecuador's fuel protests show the risks of removing fossil fuel subsidies too fast", The Conversation, 31 October, https://theconversation. com/ecuadors-fuel-protests-show-the-risks-of-removing-fossil-fuel-subsidies-too fast-125690.
- 51 Bloomberg (2019), "Latin America is blowing its chance to end fuel subsidies", 1 November, https://www.bloomberg.com/opinion/articles/2019-11-01/latin-america-Is-blowing-Its-chance-to-end-fuel-subsidies; M. Reverdosa, F. Charner and S. Cullinane (2018), "Brazil struggles after weeklong truckers' strike", CNN, 29 May, https://www.cnn.com/2018/05/28/americas/brazil-truck-strike-fuel.
- 52 SLOCAT (2021), "Transport Knowledge Base", https://slocat.net/our-work/knowledge-and-research/trakb (accessed 13 May 2021).
- 53 S. A. Aguerrebere and M. S. Arioli (2016), Urban Mobility Needs, Policy Barriers and the Uptake of Sustainable Solutions in Latin American Partner Countries, SOLU-TIONS, Brussels, http://www.uemi.net/uploads/4/8/9/5/48950199/solutions-latin-america-report-www.pdf; Bicicleta Nos Planos, "Bicycle in urban mobility plans", http://bicicletanosplanos.org (accessed 10 May 2021).
- 54 S. Vemuri et al. (2020), Global Monitor 2020, MobiliseYourCity, Brussels, https:// mobiliseyourcity.net/sites/default/files/2020-08/MobiliseYourCity_Global%20Moni tor%20Report_3.pdf.
- 55 World Business Council for Sustainable Development (2019), SiMPlify Feira de Santana, Brazil, Geneva, https://www.wbcsd.org/contentwbc/dowr load/7734/122496/1.
- 56 Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ), "Making urban mobility in Peruvian cities sustainable and climate-friendly", https://www.giz de/en/worldwide/63200.html (accessed 10 May 2021).
- 57 M. E. Rivas, T. Serebrisky and A. Suárez-Alemán (2018), How Affordable Is Transportation in Latin America and the Caribbean? IDB, Washington, D.C., https://doi. org/10.18235/0001530.
- 58 Pan American Health Organization (2015), "In Latin America and the Caribbean, more than half of road traffic deaths are among pedestrians, motorcyclists and bicyclists", 7 May, https://www.paho.org/en/news/7-5-2015-latin-america-and-caribbean-more-half-road-traffic-deaths-are-among-pedestrians.

59 Ibid.

- 60 Mapasin (2019), "Ciudades que han derribaron sus puentes peatonales", 19 November, https://mapasin.org/ciudades-que-han-derribaron-sus-puentes-peatonales.
- 61 UNEP (2019), "Pedalling for clean air in Latin America", 3 June, https://www.unep. org/news-and-stories/story/pedalling-clean-air-latin-america; A. Jaramillo (2020), "To tame traffic, Bogotá bets big on bike lanes", 10 August, Bloomberg, https:// www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-08-10/to-tame-traffic-bogot-bets-big-onbike-lanes.
- 62 UNEP (2019), op. cit. note 61.
- 63 Sistema Costarricense de Información Jurídica (2019), "Ley de Movilidad y Seguridad Ciclistica No. 9660", 24 February, http://www.pgrweb.go.cr/scil/Busqueda/ Normativa/Normas/nrm_texto_completo.aspx?param1=NRTC&nValor1=1&n-Valor2=88528&nValor3=1158098stTipM=TC.
- 64 Government of Mexico City (2019), Plan Estratégico de Movilidad de la Cuidad de México 2019, Mexico City, https://semovi.cdmx.gob.mx/storage/app/media/ uploaded-files/plan-estrategico-de-movilidad-2019.pdf.
- 65 World Health Organization (2020), "Lima responds to the COVID-19 pandemic on wheels", 23 October, https://www.who.int/es/news-room/feature-stories/detail/ lima-responds-to-the-covid-19-pandemic-on-wheels; Gestión Perú (2020), "Maria Jara: 'Vamos a tener una red de 301 kilómetros de ciclovias", 5 February, https:// gestion.pe/peru/coronavirus-peru-maria-jara-vamos-a-tener-una-red-de-301-kilometros-de-ciclovias-covid-19-estado-de-emergencia-cuarentena-nndc-noticia; J. P. León, "Pedalear contra la pandemia", El Comercio, https://especiales.elcomercio. pe/?q=especiales/pedalear-contra-la-pandemia-ecpm/index.html (accessed 10 May 2021).

- 66 N. Davalos (2019), "Quito es la primera ciudad de Ecuador con 'scooters' de uso público", Primicias, 28 December, https://www.primicias.ec/noticias/tecnologia/ quito-primera-ciudad-ecuador-scooters.
- 67 Lime (2019), "Scooters in Chile: 30% of riders replacing cars as Lime passes 1 million trips", 4 October, https://www.li.me/second-street/scooters-chile-riders-replacing-cars-lime-passes-1-million-trips.
- 68 M. López (2020), "E-scooter startup Lime retreats in Latam, a warning sign for grow?" Contxto, 10 January, https://contxto.com/en/brazil/electric-scooter-startuplime-retreats-latam-warning-sign-grow.
- 69 Consejo Nacional De Política Económica Y Social and Conpes (2020), Política Nacional De Movilidad Urbana y Regional, Bogotà, https://colaboracion.dnp.gov. co/CDT/Conpes/Econ%C3%B3micos/3991.pdf.
- 70 IDB and Global Environment Facility (2017), Plan Integral de Movilidad Urbana Sostenible Para El Area Metropolitan de San José, Costa Rica, Washington, D.C., https://cambioclimatico.go.cr/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/PIMUS_IN-FORME-EJECUTIVO.pdf.
- 71 City of Buenos Aires, "Plan de movilidad limpia", https://www.buenosaires.gob.ar/ carbononeutral/plan-de-movilidad-limpia (accessed 10 May 2021).
- 72 A. Pelegi (2019), "Niterói starts operation of the TransOceànica corridor", Diário do Transporte, 20 April, https://diariodotransporte.com.br/2019/04/27/niteroi-inicia-operacao-do-corredor-transoceanica.
- 73 Empresa Municipal de Desenvolvimento de Campinas, "Obras em andamento", http://www.emdec.com.br/eficiente/sites/portalemdec/pt-br/site.php?secao=brt-campinas (accessed 16 May 2021); Salvador Prefeitura, "Entendo O BRT", http://brt.salvador.ba.gov.br/?page_id=10 (accessed 16 May 2021).
- 74 Government of Brazil (2021), "Obter financiamento para melhoria da mobilidade urbana - setor público", 19 April, https://www.gov.br/pt-br/servicos/obter-financiamento-para-melhoria-da-mobilidade-urbana-setor-publico.
- 75 R. Passos (2019), "São Paulo pushes ahead with metro expansion", International Railway Journal, 6 June, https://www.railjournal.com/regions/central-south-america/sao-paulo-pushes-ahead-with-metro-expansion; Portal da Transparência, "Relatório de expansão, obras e modernização", https://transparencia.metrosp. com.br/dataset/relatório-de-expansão-obras-e-modernização (accessed 10 May 2021).
- 76 American Expatriate Costa Rica (2018), "San Pedro will have exclusive bus lanes in January", 12 December, https://www.usexpatcostarica.com/san-pedro-will-haveexclusive-bus-lanes-in-january.
- 77 Redaktion, "Panama: Inauguration of Metro Line 2", Urban Transport Magazine, 6 May, https://www.urban-transport-magazine.com/en/panama-inauguration-of-metro-line-2.
- 78 Alstom (2020), "Cuenca tramway came into operation", 29 October, https://www. alstom.com/press-releases-news/2020/10/cuenca-tramway-came-operation.
- 79 J. C. Casma and C. Medina (2019), "The Quito Metro in 360 degrees", World Bank, 11 March, https://blogs.worldbank.org/latinamerica/quito-metro-360-degrees.
- 80 The Gondola Project (2019), "Mexico city wants to build 34km (24mi) of urban gondolas", 9 February, http://gondolaproject.com/category/installations/cablebus, A. Medina (2020), "Asi quedarán las próximas lineas de Cablebus en CDMX", Dónde Ir, 10 July, https://www.dondeir.com/ciudad/proximas-lineas-de-cablebus-en-cdmx/2020/07; D. Delgado (2021), "Mexico City launches Latin America's latest cable car line", ABC News, 4 March, https://abcnews.go.com/International/ wireStory/mexico-city-launches-latin-americas-latest-cable-cable-cable-cable-cable-story/mexico-city-launches-latin-americas-latest-cable-car-76262845.
- 81 BNamericas (2020), "Mexico City scraps tender, awards Metrobús line to Gami", 27 July, https://www.bnamericas.com/en/news/mexico-city-scraps-tender-awardsmetrobus-line-to-gami; Urban Sustainability Exchange, "TransMilenio Bus Rapid Transit System", https://use.metropolis.org/case-studies/transmilenio-bus-rapid-transit-system#casestudydetail (accessed 10 May 2021); Government of Argentina "Metrobus", https://www.argentina.gob.ar/transporte/metrobus (accessed 10 May 2021).
- 82 Movmi (2018), "Latin America shared mobility: An overview on the region", 11 December, https://movmi.net/latin-america-shared-mobility.
- 83 Futuretransport (2019), "Brasilia recebe projeto VEM DF de carsharing com veículos elétricos", 8 October, https://futuretransport.com.br/brasilia-recebe-proje to-vem-df-de-carsharing.
- 84 F. Troncoso (2019), "¿Cuánto ha crecido la red de ciclovías del Gran Santiago?" El Mostrador, 6 August, https://www.elmostrador.cl/agenda-pais/2019/08/06/cuanto-ha-crecido-la-red-de-ciclovias-del-gran-santiago.
- 85 WWF (2018), "Iniciativa Ciclovías X 3 promoverá que Lima triplique su red de ciclovías en más de 450 kilómetros", 23 February, https://www.wwf.org.pe/?uNews ID=324059.
- 86 City of Buenos Aires (2019), "5 nuevas áreas con prioridad peatonal", https:// www.buenosaires.gob.ar/compromisos/5-nuevas-areas-con-prioridad-peatonal (accessed 11 May 2021).
- 87 City of Buenos Aires, "Pedaleá la Ciudad", https://www.buenosaires.gob.ar/ecobici/pedalea-la-ciudad (accessed 10 May 2021).
- 88 El Financiero (2019), "CDMX planea tener una red de ciclovías de 600 kilómetros", 3 June, https://www.elfinanciero.com.mx/nacional/cdmx-planea-tener-una-red-de-ciclovias-de-600-kilometros.
- 89 COVID Mobility Works (2020), "Quito is installing 62.7 km of bicycle lanes", 26 April, https://www.covidmobilityworks.org/responses/quito-is-installing-62-7-kmof-bicycle-lanes-ccdeba8c65.
- 90 CPFL Energia, "São Paulo aprova redução de IPVA para carros elétricos e

hibridos", https://www.cpfl.com.br/sites/mobilidade-eletrica/mobilidade-e/ legislacao/Paginas/Sao-Paulo-aprova-reducao-de-IPVA-para-carros-eletricos-e-hibridos.aspx (accessed 10 May 2021); CPFL Energia, "Governo zera imposto de importação para carro elétrico e a hidrogênio", https://www.cpfl.com.br/sites/mobilidade-eletrica/mobilidade-e/legislacao/Paginas/Governo-zera-imposto-de-importa%C3%A7%C3%A30-para-carro-el%C3%A9trico-e-a-hidrog%C3%AAnio.aspx (accessed 17 May 2021).

- 91 Semana, op. cit. note 40.
- 92 https://www.reuters.com/article/us-climate-change-chile-transport-featur/as-un-climate-talks-near-host-chile-charges-up-electric-transport-idUSKBN1W01LAlbid; K. Field (2019), "Santiago (Chile) adding 200 electric buses in 2019", Clean Technica, 7 June, https://cleantechnica.com/2019/06/07/santiago-chile-adding-200-electric-buses-in-2019; Government of Chile (2019), "Presidente Piñera presenta 100 nuevos buses eléctricos para la Región Metropolitana: 'Hay un cambio profundo en el sistema de transporte público", 28 March, https://www.gob.cl/noticlas/ presidente-pinera-presenta-100-nuevos-buses-electricos-para-la-region-metropolitana-hay-un-cambio-profundo-en-el-sistema-de-transporte-publico.
- Mexico News Daily (2020), "Mexico City takes delivery of first of 10 fully electric 93 buses", 13 May, https://mexic first-of-10-fully-electric-buses; BYD (2019), "BYD delivers first pure electric bus fleet in Ecuador", 14 March, https://www.byd.com/en/news/2019-03-14/BYD us-Fleet-in-Ecuador; S. Hanley (2020), "Panama cancels order for diesel buses, will purchase 195 electric buses instead", CleanTechnica, 29 September, https://cleantechnica.com/2020/08/29/panama-cancels-order-for-diesel buses-will-purchase-195-electric-buses-instead; New Mobility (2020), "First electric bus deployed on the streets of Lima, Peru's capital", 10 January, https://ne al: CAF (2019), "CAF supports testing of first electric buses in Buenos Aires", 16 May, tric-buses-in-buenos-aires; Sustainable Bus (2019), "The first electric bus fleet in Argentina. 18 ebuses supplied in Mendoza", 19 July, https://www.sustaina Sustainable Bus (2020), "20 BYD e-buses make it to Montevideo, in Uruguay, with CUTCSA's livery", 28 May, https://www.sus tric-buses-montevideo-uruguay-cutcsa; BYD (2018), "BYD delivers the first pure electric buses to the Brazil's largest city", BYD Company Ltd, 13 December, https:// the-Brazil's-largest-city.
- 94 A. Arellano (2020), "Proponen abandonar el gasoil en el transporte público y abastecerlo sólo con biocombustible", Diario El Ciudadano y la Región, 31 May, https:// www.elciudadanoweb.com/proponen-abandonar-el-gasoil-en-el-transporte-publico-y-abastecerlo-solo-con-biocombustible; M. Sapp (2020), "Argentina's Santa Fe to switch public transportation to B100", Biofuels Digest, 1 June, https://www.biofuelsdigest.com/bdigest/2020/06/01/argentinas-santa-fe-to-switch-public-transportation-to-b100; M. Sapp (2018), "Buenos Aires launches B100 bus trial", Biofuels Digest, 26 December, https://www.biofuelsdigest.com/bdigest/2018/12/26/ buenos-aires-launches-b100-bus-trial.
- 95 J. P. Tomas (2018), "Argentina's capital city launches bus trial of B100 biodiesel", Energy Census, 28 December, https://www.energycensus.com/Article/Argentina-s-capital-city-launches-bus-trial-of-B100-biodiesel-4592.html.
- 96 YPFB Corporación (2018), "Bolivia ingresa a la era del biocombustible y YPFB dejará de importar 80 millones de litros de gasolina", 8 March, https://www.ypfb. gob.bo/es/informacion-institucional/noticias/841-bolivia-ingresa-a-la-era-del-biocombustible-y-ypfb-dejará-de-importar-80-millones-de-litros-de-gasolina-2.html.
- 97 Pérez Bustamante & Ponce, op. cit. note 44.
- 98 G. Miranda (2020), "RenovaBio takes off", Ethanol Producer Magazine, 14 January, http://ethanolproducer.com/articles/16841/renovabio-takes-off.
- 99 Ministério de Minas e Energia Brasil (2020), "RenovaBio", http://antigo.mme.gov. br/web/guest/secretarias/petroleo-gas-natural-e-biocombustiveis/acoes-e-programas/programas/renovabio (accessed 6 May 2021); Miranda, op. cit. note 98.
- 100 Government of Brazil (2020), "Metas preliminares para 2021 de redução de emissão de gases causadores do efeito estufa", 28 December, https://www. gov.br/anp/rl-br/assuntos/producao-e-fornecimento-de-biocombustiveis/ renovabio/metas-preliminares-para-2021-de-reducao-de-emissao-de-gases-causadores-do-efeito-estufa.
- 101 C. Selman (2021), "Chile's green hydrogen strategy", IHS Markit, 22 January, https://ihsmarkit.com/research-analysis/chiles-green-hydrogen-strategy.html.

1.6 North America Regional Overview

- 1 United Nations (UN) (2019), "2019 Revision of World Population Prospects", https://population.un.org/wpp (accessed 28 September 2020); UN (2018), "World Urbanization Prospects 2018", https://population.un.org/wup (accessed 28 September 2020); GDP growth is in constant 2010 USD, from World Bank (2020), "GDP (constant 2010 US\$)", https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP. KD (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 2 UN, "Classification and definition of regions", https://esa.un.org/MigFlows/Definition of regions.pdf (accessed 21 April 2021); M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/ eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020-report.
- 3 Climate Action Tracker (2020), "USA", https://climateactiontracker.org/countries/

usa (accessed 21 April 2021).

- 4 Box from House Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure (2020), "Committee leaders unveil the INVEST in America Act, a transformational surface transportation bill to bring nation's infrastructure into a new era", 3 June, https:// transportation.house.gov/news/press-releases/committee-leaders-unveil-the-invest-in-america-act-a-transformational-surface-transportation-bill-to-bring-nations-infrastructure-into-a-new-era.
- 5 Federal Transit Administration (FTA) (2020), "U.S. Transportation Secretary Elaine L. Chao announces \$25 billion to help nation's public transportation systems respond to COVID-19", 2 April, https://cms7.fta.dot.gov/about/news/us prounces-25-billion-help-nations-public: FTA (2021). "Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2021", Washington, D.C., https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants d-relief-supplemental-appropriations-act-2021; Climate Action Tracker (2020), "Canada", https://climateactiontracker.org/countries/canada (accessed 21 April 2021). Box based on the following sources: 60% decrease, compared to average mobility between 3 January and 6 February 2020, calculated from Google (2021), "COVID-19 Community Mobility Reports", h 9/mobility (accessed 27 April 2021); International Transport Forum (ITF) (2020), How Badly Will the Coronavirus Crisis Hit Global Freight? OECD Publishing, Paris, ht d-19.pdf: International Civil Aviation Organization, "Economic impacts of COVID-19 on civil aviation", http aspx (accessed 27 April 2021); drop in commercial transport from Geotab (2020), "The impact of COVID-19 on commercial transportation and trade activity", 9 June, geotab.com/blog/impact-of-covid-19; Airlines for America, "Impact of COVID-19: Data updates", https://www.airlines.org/dataset/impa data-updates (accessed 4 May 2021); K. Musulin (2020), "How the 5 largest US transit systems are handling coronavirus", Smart Cities Dive, 9 March, https:/ Bureau of Transportation (BTS) (2020), "April 2020 North American transborder freight numbers", Washington, D.C., https://www.bts.gov/newsroom/ in-transborder-freight-numbers; active transport from COVID Mobility Works, "Find mobility responses to COVID-19", https://www.action.cov/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/action/idea/acti org (accessed 4 May 2021); COVID Mobility Works (2020), "Alberta to test road closures, putting more space between pedestrians", 28 March, https://www.covidtween-pedestrians-13ec17dccd; City of Madison (2020), "Shared streets, let's plan for next year", Mayor's Office, 10 November, https://www.cityofmadison.com/
- 6 US Census Bureau (2018), "Means of transportation to work by vehicles available", https://data.census.gov/cedscl/table?q=transportation&tid=ACSDT1Y2018. B081418hidePreview=true (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 7 C. Rodier (2018), The Effects of Ride Hailing Services on Travel and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions University of California at Davis, Davis, https://escholarship.org/uc/item/2rv570tt; C. Rodier and J. Michaels, (2019), The Effects of Ride-Hailing Services on Greenhouse Gas Emissions, National Center for Sustainable Transportation, University of California at Davis, Davis, https://escholarship. org/uc/item/4vz52416.
- 8 Statistics Canada (2021), "Railway industry summary statistics on freight and passenger transportation 2017-18", https://www150.statcan.gc.a/11/ tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=2310005701&pickMembers%580%5D=2.1&cube-TimeFrame.startWar=2017&cubeTimeFrame.endYear=2018&referencePeriods=20170101%2C20180101 (accessed 4 May 2021); Statistics Canada (2021), "Railway industry summary statistics on freight and passenger transportation 2018-19", https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/11/tbl1/ en/tv.action?pid=2310005701&pickMembers%580%5D=2.1&cubeTime-Frame.startYaar=2018&cubeTimeFrame.endYear=2019&referencePeriods=20180101%2C20190101 (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 9 W. Vantuono (2019), "Amtrak reports record results for 2019 financial year", International Railway Journal, 11 November, https://www.railjournal.com/financial/ amtrak-reports-record-results-for-2019-financial-year.
- 10 S. Polzin (2019), "Transportation 2019 looking back, looking ahead", Planetizen, 3 January, https://www.planetizen.com/blogs/102255-transportation-2019-looking-back-looking-ahead; BTS (2021), "Air Travel Consumer Report: December 2020, full year 2020 numbers", https://www.bts.gov/newsroom/air-travel-consumer-report-december-2020-full-year-2020-numbers (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 11 Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD), "OECD statistics", https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?r=827443 (accessed 21 April 2021).
- 12 BTS, "U.S. passenger-kilometers", https://www.bts.gov/content/us-passenger-kilometers (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 13 BTS, "U.S. tonne-kilometers of freight", https://www.bts.gov/us-tonne-kilometers-freight (accessed 4 May 2021); ITF (2021), "Goods transport", ITF Transport Statistics database, https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/transport/data/itf-transport-statistics/goods-transport_g2g5557d-en (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 14 OECD, op. cit. note 11.
- 15 BTS, "U.S. ton-miles of freight", https://www.bts.gov/content/us-ton-miles-freight (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 16 Figures 1 and 2 from SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable Low Carbon Transport calculations, based on International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA) (2020), "Vehicles in use", https://www.oica.net/category/vehicles-in-use (accessed 27 April 2021), and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 17 SLOCAT calculations based on OICA (2020), "Global sales statistics 2019-2020", https://www.oica.net/category/sales-statistics (accessed 15 April 2021).

- 18 Ibid.
- 19 International Energy Agency (IEA) (2020), Global EV Outlook 2020, Paris, https:// www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2020; IEA (2020), Electric Vehicles, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/electric-vehicles.
- 20 IEA (2020), Electric Vehicles, op. cit. note 19.
- 21 Figure 3 from SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2.
- 22 US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), "Sources of greenhouse gas emissions", https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gas-emissions (accessed 21 April 2021); Environment and Climate Change Canada (2020), Canadian Environmental Sustainability Indicators: Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Gatineau, https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/ecc/documents/pdf/cesindicators/ghg-emissions/2020/greenhouse-gas-emissions-en.pdf.
- 23 Figure 4 from SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2, and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 24 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2.
- 25 BTS (2017), "Chapter 7: Transportation energy use and environmental impacts", in Transportation Statistics Annual Report, Washington, D.C., https://www.bts.gov/ archive/publications/transportation_statistics_annual_report/2016/chapter_7.
- 26 Government of Canada (2021), "Greenhouse gas emissions", https://www.canada. ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/environmental-indicators/greenhouse-gas-emissions.html (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 27 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2, and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 28 B. Graver, D. Rutherford and S. Zheng (2020), CO2 Emissions from Commercial Aviation: 2013, 2018, and 2019, International Council on Clean Transportation, Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/CO2-commercial-aviation-oct2020.pdf.
- 29 BTS, op. cit. note 25.
- 30 Ibid.
- 31 C. Davenport (2020), "U.S. to announce rollback of auto pollution rules, a key effort to fight climate change", *New York Times*, 30 March, https://www.nytimes com/2020/03/30/climate/trump-fuel-economy.html.
- 32 We Are Still In, https://www.wearestillin.com (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 33 California Air Resources Board, "Advanced Clean Trucks", https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/ our-work/programs/advanced-clean-trucks (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 34 R. Beitsch and R. Frazin (2020), "California finalizes fuel efficiency deal with five automakers, undercutting Trump", The Hill, 17 August, https://thehill.com/policy/ energy-environment/512414-california-finalizes-fuel-efficiency-deal-with-five-automakers; Caltrans (2018), "Transport Decarbonisation Alliance", https://dot.ca.gov/ programs/sustainability/transport-decarbonisation-alliance.
- 35 Regulations of British Columbia (2020), Greenhouse Gas Reduction (Clean Energy) Regulation, Victoria, https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/crbc/ crbc/102_2012.
- 36 Y. Freemark (2020), "Openings and construction starts planned for 2020", The Transport Politic, 28 January, https://www.thetransportpolitic.com/2020/01/28/ openings-and-construction-starts-planned-for-2020.
- 37 S. Ricketts et al. (2020), "States are laying a road map for climate leadership", Center for American Progress, 30 April, https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ green/reports/2020/04/30/484163/states-laying-road-map-climate-leadership; North Carolina Clean Energy Technology Center (NCCETC) (2019), "The 50 states of electric vehicles: States focus on transportation electrification planning, charging station regulation in Q2 2019", 7 August, https://nccleantech.ncsu. edu/2019/08/07/the-50-states-of-electric-vehicles-states-focus-on-transportation-electrification-planning-charging-station-regulation-in-q2-2019; RMI (2021), "Bermuda buys 30 electric buses", CleanTechnica, 18 March, https://cleantechnica.com/2021/03/18/bermuda-buys-30-electric-buses.
- 38 NCCETC, op. cit. note 37.
- 39 NGT News (2020), "NJ TRANSIT Board approves electric bus infrastructure project", 14 September, https://ngtnews.com/nj-transit-board-approves-electric-bus-infrastructure-project.
- 40 US EPA, "Volkswagen Clean Air Act Civil Settlement", https://www.epa.gov/ enforcement/volkswagen-clean-air-act-civil-settlement#partners (accessed 4 May 2021); T. Argueta (2020), "The future is electric - Phoenix celebrates first electric school bus!" League of Conservation Voters, 27 January, https://www.lcv.org/ article/future-electric-phoenix-celebrates-first-electric-school-bus.
- 41 S. Thompson (2019), "Maryland bill would fund electric school bus grant program", School Bus Fleet, 18 April 2019, https://www.schoolbusfleet. com/10040632/maryland-bill-would-fund-electric-school-bus-grant-program; L. Gray and T. Avery (2019), "Sisolak signs bill to allow funds for electric school buses in Nevada", Nevada Independent, 23 May 2019, https://thenevadaindependent. com/article/sisolak-signs-bill-to-allow-funds-for-electric-school-buses-in-nevada.
- 42 Clean Energy Canada (2019), "Canada targets 100% zero-emission vehicle sales by 2040", 22 January, https://cleanenergycanada.org/canada-targets-100-zero-emission-vehicle-sales-by-2040; California Air Resources Board (2020), "15 states and the District of Columbia join forces to accelerate bus and truck electrification", 14 July, https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/news/15-states-and-district-columbia-join-forces-accelerate-bus-and-truck-electrification.
- 43 Climate Action Tracker (2020), "Canada", 21 September, https://climateactiontracker.org/countries/canada.
- 44 New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA) (2019),

"Governor Cuomo announces \$31.6 million in funding available to dramatically expand electric vehicle usage", 8 February, https://www.nyserda.ny.gov/ About/Newsroom/2019-Announcements/2019-02-08-Governor-Cuomo-Announces-Millions-in-Funding-Available-to-Dramatically-expand-Electric-Vehicle-Usage.

- 45 NYSERDA (2019), "New statewide initiatives to spur widespread adoption of electric vehicles and increase charging infrastructure", 19 November, https:// www.nyserda.ny.gov/About/Newsroom/2018-Announcements/2018-11-19-New-Statewide-Initiatives-to-Spur-Widespread-Adoption-of-Electric-Vehicles-and-Increase-Charging-Infrastructure; C. Campbell (2019), "Maryland Public Service Commission authorizes utilities to install 5,000 electric vehicle charging stations statewide", Baltimore Sun, 14 January, https://www.baltimoresun.com/news/environment/bs-md-electric-vehicle-charging-stations-20190114-story.html.
- 46 R. Cooper (2018), "California announces transition to all-electric buses by 2040", Climate Action, 18 December, https://www.climateaction.org/news/california-announces-transition-to-all-electric-buses-by-2040; P. Dzikly. (2019), "California using \$70 million to replace more than 200 dised school buses with all-electric buses", Electrek, 17 July, https://electrek.co/2019/07/17/california-electric-school-buses.
- 47 T. Wells (2019), "Tweaking freight delivery patterns may have significant environmental benefits", Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, 28 March, https://news.rpi.edu/ content/2019/03/28/tweaking-freight-delivery-patterns-may-have-significant-environmental-benefits.
- 48 California Air Resources Board, op. cit. note 33.
- 49 D. Peters (2018), "New York City introduces off-hour deliveries program to combat congestion", Inbound Logistics, 1 October, https://www.inboundlogistics.com/ cms/article/NYC-introduces-off-hour-deliveries-program-to-combat-congestion.
- 50 Drive to Zero, "Global Commercial Drive to Zero Program promoting adoption of zero- and near-zero commercial vehicles", https://globaldrivetozero.org (accessed 4 May 2021); N. Tabak (2019), "Canada signs pledge for zero-emissions commercial vehicles", FreightWaves, 7 June, https://www.freightwaves.com/news/ canada-signs-pledge-for-zero-emissions-commercial-vehicles.
- 51 National Association of City Transportation Officials (2020), "136 million trips taken on shared bikes and scooters across the U.S. in 2019", 27 August, https://nacto. org/2020/08/27/136-million-trips-taken-on-shared-bikes-and-scooters-across-theu-s-in-2019.
- 52 Ibid.
- 53 Ibid.
- 54 A. J. Hawkins (2019), "New York is poised to legalize electric scooters and bikes", The Verge, 17 June, https://www.theverge.com/2019/6/17/18682056/ny-electric-bike-scooter-bill-legalize; A. Schmitt (2019), "Scooter trips surpass docked bike share for the first time", Streetsblog USA, 17 April, https://usa.streetsblog. org/2019/04/17/scooter-trips-surpass-bike-share-for-the-first-time.
- 55 Portland Bureau of Transportation (2018), 2018 E-Scooter Findings Report, Portland, Oregon, https://www.portlandoregon.gov/transportation/article/709719.
- 56 J. Hollingsworth, B. Copeland and J. X. Johnson (2019), "Are e-scooters polluters? The environmental impacts of shared dockless electric scooters", *Environmental Research Letters*, Vol. 14, IOP Science, p. 084031, https://iopscience.iop.org/ article/10.1088/1748-9326/ab2da8.
- 57 Mobi, "Our company", https://www.mobibikes.ca/en/our-company (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 58 New Urban Mobility Alliance, "New Mobility Atlas", https://www.numo.global/ new-mobility-atlas#2/51.94/12.25 (accessed 4 May 2021); SLOCAT calculations based on R. Meddin et al., "The Meddin Bike-sharing World Map", https://bikeshar ingworldmap.com/#/all/2.2l-7.33/52.6 (accessed 4 May 2021); City of Vancouver (2019), 2018 Vancouver Walking and Cycling Report, Vancouver, https://vancouver.ca/files/cov/walking-and-cycling-in-vancouver-2018-report-card.pdf.
- 59 G. P. Whitfield et al. (2020), "Monitoring state-level changes in walking, biking, and taking public transit to work — American Community Survey, 2006 and 2017", *Preventing Chronic Disease*, Vol. 17, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.200097.
- 60 City of Vancouver, op. cit. note 58.
- 61 M. Branion-Calles et al. (2021), "Estimating walking and bicycling in Canada and their road collision fatality risks: The need for a national household travel survey", *Preventive Medicine Reports*, Vol. 22, Elsevier Inc., https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S2211335521000577.
- 62 Transport Canada (2019), Transport Canada 2017-2020 Departmental Sustainable Development Strategy: 2019-2020 Update, Government of Canada, Ottawa, https:// tc.canada.ca/en/corporate-services/transparency/transport-canada-2017-2020-departmental-sustainable-development-strategy-2019-2020-update#S2.
- 63 Canadian Architect (2020), "Edmonton city council votes to eliminate parking minimums", 30 June, https://www.canadianarchitect.com/edmonton-city-council-votes-to-eliminate-parking-minimums.
- 64 US Department of Transportation (2018), "DOT Strategic Plan", 16 August, https:// www.transportation.gov/dot-strategic-plan.
- 65 E. Durkin and L. Aratani (2019), "New York becomes first city in US to approve congestion pricing", *The Guardian* (UK), 1 March, https://www.theguardian.com/ us-news/2019/apr/01/new-york-congestion-pricing-manhattan; Wikipedia (2021), "Congestion pricing in New York City", https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Congestion_ pricing_in_New_York_City (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 66 R. Lord (2019), "Advocates tout national cycling strategy to curb vehicle-bike collisions", Global News, 15 August, https://globalnews.ca/news/5771102/nation-

al-cycling-strategy-collisions.

- 7 San José Better Bike Plan 2025 (2020), "About the Plan", City of San Jose, https:// www.bikesanjose.com/#abouttheplan (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 68 M. Bryant (2019), "New York City to 'break car culture' and build more than 250 new bike lanes", *The Guardian* (UK), 1 November, https://www.theguardian.com/ us-news/2019/nov/01/new-york-city-bike-lanes-car-culture.
- 69 World Construction Network (2020), "Stantec wins role on Hurontario LRT project in Canada", 10 April, https://www.worldconstructionnetwork.com/news/stantecwins-role-on-hurontario-Irt-project-in-canada; R. Schwandl, "Ottawa", http://www. urbanrail.net/am/ottawa/ottawa.htm (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 70 CT2030 (2020), "Mass transit", State of Connecticut, https://web.archive.org/ web/20200510130744/https://www.ct2030.com/vision/mass-transit (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 71 Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (2019), "No cars needed when visiting Minneapolis", 3 May, https://www.itdp.org/2019/05/03/ no-cars-needed-when-visiting-minneapolis.
- 72 S. Shaheen and A. Cohen (2020), Innovative Mobility: Carsharing Outlook Carsharing Market Overview, Analysis, and Trends, University of California at Berkeley, Berkeley, https://doi.org/10.7922/G2BK19MF.
- 73 Movmi (2019), "Shared mobility by region: Canada", https://movmi.net/shared-mobility-canada (accessed 4 May 2021).
- 74 Ibid.
- 75 Shaheen and Cohen, op. cit. note 72.
- 76 Ibid.
- 77 New Mobility (2020), "Facedrive expands green ridesharing network to Ottawa, Canada", 1 April, https://newmobility.global/future-transportation/facedrive-expands-green-ridesharing-network-ottawa-canada.
- 78 Lyft (2019), "Lyft partners with First Transit for WAV pilot in San Francisco and Los Angeles", 9 July, https://www.lyft.com/blog/posts/lyfts-commitment-to-accessibilitv.
- 79 K. Korosec (2019), "Waymo is now allowed to transport passengers in its self-driving vehicles on California roads", TechCrunch, 2 July, https://techcrunch. com/2019/07/02/waymo-is-now-allowed-to-transport-passengers-in-its-self-driving-vehicles-on-california-roads; S. M. Kelly (2019), "Uber's new helicopter service is an expensive, time-consuming adventure", CNN Business, 4 October, https:// edition.cnn.com/2019/10/04/tech/uber-copter-review/index.html.
- 80 Environment and Climate Change Canada (2019), "Summary of comments on the light-duty vehicle discussion paper", https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/canadian-environmental-protection-act-registry/summary-discussion-passenger-auto-light-truck-emissions-regulations.html#toc14.
- 81 D. Roberts (2018), "Trump is freezing Obama's fuel economy standards. Here's what that could do", Vox, 2 August, https://www.vox.com/energy-and-environ-ment/2018/5/3/17314000/trump-epa-cars-trucks-fuel-economy-cafe-standards; E. Holden (2020), "Trump to roll back Obama-era clean car rules in huge blow to climate fight", The Guardian (UK), 31 March, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/mar/31/trump-epa-obama-clean-car-rules-climate-change.
- 82 T. Krishner and E. Knickmeyer (2019), "California signs deal with automakers to raise gas mileage standards", PBS News Hour, 25 July, https://www.pbs.org/ newshour/economy/california-signs-deal-with-automakers-to-raise-gas-mileagestandards.
- 83 US EPA (2020), "U.S. DOT and EPA put safety and American families first with Final Rule on Fuel Economy Standards", 31 March, https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/ us-dot-and-epa-put-safety-and-american-families-first-final-rule-fuel-economy-standards.
- 84 M. Wanek-Libman (2020), "Los Angeles will see delivery of 155 electric buses in the next two years", Mass Transit, 24 February, https://www.masstransitmag.com/ bus/vehicles/hybrid-hydrogen-electric-vehicles/article/21126694/los-angeles-willsee-delivery-of-155-electric-buses-in-the-next-two-years.
- 85 P. Dzikiy (2019), "LA's 'Green New Deal' sets 100% zero emission vehicles goal", Electrek, 29 April, https://electrek.co/2019/04/29/los-angeles-plan-2019.
- 86 E. Shama (2019), "Colorado joins California in requiring automakers to sell more electric cars", CNCB, 26 August, https://www.cnbc.com/2019/08/26/colorado-joins-california-in-requiring-automakers-to-sell-more-evs.html; C. Crowe (2019), "New York transit authority to invest \$1.1B for 500 electric buses", Utility Dive, 17 December, https://www.utilitydive.com/news/new-york-mta-to-Invest-11b-for-zeroemission-bus-fleet/569248; A. Yarmosky (2019), "Governor Northam announces \$20 million electric school bus initiative", Virginia Governor Ralph Northam, 24 September, https://www.governor.virginia.gov/newsroom/all-releases/2019/september/headline-847559-en.html.
- 87 G. H. Ruffo (2019), "San Francisco decides to have emission-free transportation by 2040", InsideEVs, 17 July, https://insideevs.com/news/360442/san-francisco-emission-free-transportation-2040.
- 88 B. Osgood (2019), "City's bus fleet to transition to renewable diesel", Santa Barbara Independent, 3 December, https://www.independent.com/2019/12/03/citys-busfleet-to-transition-to-renewable-diesel; R. Kotrba (2019), "Minn. grant funding available for biofuel blending infrastructure", Biodiesel Magazine, 6 February, http:// biodieselmagazine.com/articles/2516581/minn-grant-funding-available-for-biofuel-blending-infrastructure.
- 89 S. Kelly (2019), "Biodiesel tax credit renewal attached to U.S. spending package", *Reuters*, 17 December, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-biodiesel-subsidy/ biodiesel-tax-credit-renewal-attached-to-u-s-spending-package-idUSKBN1YL1T9;

Des Moines Register (2019), "Spending bill includes long-sought biodiesel tax credit renewal", 17 December, https://www.desmoinesregister.com/story/ news/2019/12/17/spending-bill-includes-long-sought-biodiesel-tax-credit-renew al/2677476001.

- 90 Renewable Energy Magazine (2019), "Delta invests \$2 million to study biofuel production from forest floor debris", 18 September, https://www.renewableenergy magazine.com/biofuels/delta-invests-2-million-to-study-biofuel-20190918.
- 91 Enel X (2019), "Smart Charge Hawai'i program to make EV charging stations available to residents and businesses", 19 September, https://www.enelx.com/n-a/ en/press-releases/smart-charge-hawaii-ev-charging-stations.
- 92 S. Hanley (2018), "NYC adds 50 Envision off-grid solar EV charging stations", CleanTechnica, 27 December, https://cleantechnica.com/2018/12/27/nyc-adds 50-envision-off-grid-solar-ev-charging-stations.
- 93 L. Antoniou (2019), "Portland's new electric buses will be 100 per cent wind powered", Intelligent Transport, 17 April, https://www.intelligenttransport.com/ transport-news/78639/portland-electric-buses-100-per-cent-wind-powered.

1.7 Oceania Regional Overview

- 1 United Nations (UN) (2019), "2019 Revision of World Population Prospects", https://population.un.org/wpp (accessed 28 September 2020); UN (2018), "World Urbanization Prospects 2018", https://opulation.un.org/wup (accessed 28 September 2020); GDP growth is in constant 2010 USD, from World Bank, "GDP (constant 2010 US\$)", https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 2 M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https:// ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020-report.
- Box based on the following sources: 62% decrease, compared to average mobility between 3 January and 6 February 2020, calculated from Google (2021), "COVID-19 Community Mobility Reports", h bility (accessed 27 April 2021); International Transport Forum (2020), How Badly Will the Coronavirus Crisis Hit Global Freight? OECD Publishing, Paris, h cd.org/sites/default/files/global-freight-covid-19.pdf; Australia from WSP (2020), "COVID-19 & public transport: From response to recovery", 28 April, https:// and-public-transport-from-respons to-recovery; Wikipedia (2021), "Sydney Metro", https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki Sydney_Metro (accessed 28 April 2021); International Civil Aviation Organization, "Economic impacts of COVID-19 on civil aviation", https:// s/Economic-Impacts-of-COVID-19.aspx (accessed 27 April 2021): City of Melbourne, "Fast-tracking 40 kilometres of new bike lanes in Melbourne", 15 June, metres-of-new-bike-lanes-in-Melbourne.aspx; POLIS (2020), "Australia launches automated pedestrian crossings to reduce virus spread", 4 January, https://www duce-virus-spread; D. Cave (2020), "New Zealand declares coronavirus eliminated, lifting lockdown", New York Times, 8 June, https://www.n australia/new-zealand-coronavirus-ardern.html; A. Chastanet, T. Déau and T. Toyota (2020), "How small island developing states can survive the pandemic", World Economic Forum, 21 May, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/05 Il-island-developing-states-sids-saint-lucia-covid-19-coronavirus-pandem ic-development-finance-country-roadmaps; A. A. Pallis and S. N. Sirimanne (2020), COVID-19 and maritime transport: Impact and responses, United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), Geneva, https://unctad.org/system/
- 4 Figures 1 and 2 from SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable Low Carbon Transport calculations, based on International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA) (2020), "Vehicles in use", https://www.oica.net/category/vehicles-in-use (accessed 27 April 2021), and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1.
- 5 SLOCAT calculations based on OICA, op. cit. note 4; R. McLachlan (2019), "New Zealand poised to introduce clean car standards and incentives to cut emissions", The Conversation, 31 July, https://theconversation.com/new-zealand-poised-tointroduce-clean-car-standards-and-incentives-to-cut-emissions-120896.
- 6 G. Bulmer (2020), "November new car sales reverses 31-month downwards trend", Ravo Living, 11 December, https://www.racq.com.au/Living/Articles/Novembernew-car-sales-reverses-31-month-downwards-trend.
- 7 SLOCAT calculations based on OICA (2020), "Global sales statistics 2019-2020", https://www.oica.net/category/sales-statistics (accessed 15 April 2021).
- 8 B. Lee et al. (2019), Australian Infrastructure Statistics Yearbook 2019, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, https://www.bitre.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/BITRE_2019_YEARBOOK.pdf.
- 9 Ibid.
- 10 Ibid.
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 APEC Energy Working Group (2020), Roadmap for the Integration of Sustainable Energy and Transport in Small Islands, SD Strategies GmbH, Berlin, https://www. apec.org/-/media/APEC/Publications/2020/11/Roadmap-for-the-Integration-of-Sus tainable-Energy-and-Transport-in-Small-Islands/220_EWG_Roadmap-for-the-Integration-of-Sustainable-Energy-Transport-in-Small-Islands.pdf.
- G. Readfearn (2020), "Electric vehicle sales triple in Australia despite lack of government support", The Guardian (UK), 19 August, https://www.theguardian.

com/environment/2020/aug/19/electric-vehicle-sales-triple-in-australia-despite-lack-of-government-support; P. Mehra (2021), "Electric car revolution fails to spark for Australia consumers", Nikkei Asia, 28 February, https://asia.nikkei.com/ Business/Automobiles/Electric-car-revolution-fails-to-spark-for-Australia-consumers.

- 14 International Energy Agency (2020), *Global EV Outlook 2020*, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2020.
- 15 B. Schmidt (2019), "ACT introduces first electric bus on path to zero transport emissions", The Driven, 12 November, https://thedriven.io/2019/11/12/act-introduces-first-electric-bus-on-path-to-zero-transport-emissions.
- 16 W. J. R. Asariotis et al. (2020), Review of Maritime Transport 2020, UNCTAD, Geneva, https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/rmt2020_en.pdf.
- 17 UNCTAD (2020), "UNCTAD's Review of Maritime Transport 2020: Highlights and figures on Asia and the Pacific", 12 November, https://unctad.org/press-material/ unctads-review-maritime-transport-2020-highlights-and-figures-asia-and-pacific.
- 18 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2
- 19 Ibid.
- 20 McLachlan, op. cit. note 5.
- 21 Figure 3 from SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2, and on UN (2019), op. cit. note 1. Figure 4 from SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2.
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 Ibid.
- 24 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2.
- 25 The Pacific Community (2019), "Pacific Energy and Transport Ministers' commit to renewables and shift away from fossil fuels", 25 September, https://www.spc. int/updates/news/media-release/2019/09/pacific-energy-and-transport-ministers-commit-to-renewables-and.
- 26 The Pacific Community (2019), Fourth Pacific Regional Energy and Transport Minister's Meeting, Apia, https://spccfpstore1.blob.core.windows.net/digitallibrary-docs/files/a9/a9cb5b2fbed4b66a9f2ac346ef1b8876.pdf.
- 27 Wikipedia, op. cit. note 3; Australia and New Zealand Infrastructure Pipeline, "Project: Sydney Metro", https://infrastructurepipeline.org/project/sydney-metro (accessed 28 April 2021).
- 28 L. Cheng (2018), "Private sector proposal for \$15 billion Melbourne airport rail link", Architecture AU, 18 September, https://architectureau.com/articles/privatesector-proposal-for-15-billion-melbourne-airport-rail-link.
- 29 Radio New Zealand (2018), "Government to invest \$16.9 billion in transport over next three years", Radio New Zealand, 31 August, https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/ political/365384/government-to-invest-16-point-9-billion-in-transport-over-nextthree-years.
- 30 C. Ashleigh (2019), "In small island states, resilient transport is providing a lifeline against disasters", World Bank, 11 June, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/ feature/2019/06/11/in-small-island-states-resilient-transport-is-providing-a-lifeline against-disasters.
- 31 Radio New Zealand (2020), "ADB to spend \$US2b on Pacific energy and transport projects", 28 January, https://www.rnz.co.nz/international/pacific-news/408324/ adb-to-spend-us2b-on-pacific-energy-and-transport-projects.
- 32 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), "Communication of long-term strategies", https://unfccc.int/process/the-paris-agreement/ long-term-strategies (accessed 28 April 2021).
- 33 D. Hall (2020), "New Zealand's COVID-19 budget delivers on one crisis, but largely leaves climate change for another day", Down to Earth, 18 May, https://www. downtoearth.org.in/blog/governance/new-zealand-s-covid-19-budget-deliverson-one-crisis-but-largely-leaves-climate-change-for-another-day-71201; Climate Action Tracker (2020), "New Zealand", 30 July, https://climateactiontracker.org/ countries/new-zealand; Climate Action Tracker (2020), "Australia", 22 September, https://climateactiontracker.org/countries/australia.
- 34 Fiji Roads Authority (2014), Greater Suva Transportation Strategy, Suva, https:// www.fijiroads.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/GSTS-REPORT-2015-2030.pdf.
- 35 Ministry for the Environment, New Zealand (2021), "Climate Change Response (Zero Carbon) Amendment Act 2019", April, https://environment.govt.nz/ acts-and-regulations/acts/climate-change-response-amendment-act-2019; Ministry for the Environment, New Zealand, "Climate change", https://environment.govt. nz/what-government-is-doing/areas-of-work/climate-change (accessed 28 April 2021).
- 36 UNFCCC (2020), Update Communication on the Marshall Islands Paris Agreement NDC, Bonn, https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/Marshall%20Islands%20Second/RMI%20NDC-UpdateUPDATED_01.20.2021.pdf.
- 37 The Pacific Community (2019), op. cit. note 25.
- 38 P. Nuttall et al. (2014), "A review of sustainable sea-transport for Oceania: Providing context for renewable energy shipping for the Pacific", *Marine Policy*, Vol. 43, Pergamon, pp. 283-87, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/ S0308597X13001358.
- 39 International Renewable Energy Agency (2020), Energy Transformation Oceania, Abu Dhabi, https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2020/ Apr/IRENA_GRO_R09_Oceania.pdf.
- 40 J. Sampson (2020), "Australia's first public hydrogen station nears completion", H2 View, 8 June, https://www.h2-view.com/story/australias-first-public-hydro-

gen-station-nears-completion; Australian Renewable Energy Agency (2020), "Melbourne's first hydrogen refuelling station takes shape", 2 November, https://arena. gov.au/blog/melbournes-first-hydrogen-refuelling-station-takes-shape; COAG Energy Council (2019), Australia's National Hydrogen Strategy, Commonwealth of Australia, https://www.industry.gov.au/sites/default/files/2019-11/australias-national-hydrogen-strategy.pdf.

- 41 F. Mersmann et al. (2018), Implementation of Nationally Determined Contributions - Republic of Marshall Islands Country Report, Environmental Research of the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety, https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/1410/publikationen/2018-11-01_climate-change_27-2018_country-report-marshall-islands.pdf.
- 42 Nuttall et al., op. cit. note 38.
- 43 B. Doherty (2019), "Pacific islands seek \$500m to make ocean's shipping zero carbon", The Guardian (UK), 24 September, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/sep/24/pacific-islands-seek-500m-ocean-shipping-zero-carbon.
- 44 Ibid.
- 45 Asian Development Bank (ADB) (2019), Pacific Transport Update 2019, Manila, https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/543681/pacific-transport-2019.pdf.
- 46 Y. Wang (2017), "Pacific leads High Ambition Coalition for shipping emission reduction", SLOCAT, 2 May, https://slocat.net/1830-2.
- 47 B. Flahive (2019), "Auckland cycling numbers grow by 8.9 per cent in a year", Stuff Limited, 20 July, https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/health/114385864/auckland-cycling-numbers-grow-by-89-per-cent-in-a-year.
- 48 J. Ward et al. (2020), Updating Austroads Pedestrian Planning and Design Guidance in Line with International Best Practice, Austroads Ltd, Sydney, https:// austroads.com.au/publications/active-travel/ap-r639-20/media/AP-R639-20_Updating_Austroads. Pedestrian_Planning_and_Design_Guidance_in_line_with_international_Best_Practice.pdf.
- 49 Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency, "Designing a cycling facility", https://www.nzta. govt.nz/walking-cycling-and-public-transport/cycling/cycling-standards-and-guidance/cycling-network-guidance/designing-a-cycle-facility (accessed 27 April 2021); Queensland Department of Transport and Main Roads (2020), "Principal Cycle Network Plans", 24 November, https://www.tmr.qld.gov.au/Travel-and-transport/Cycling/Principal-Cycle-Network-Plans.
- 50 C. Wahlquist (2019), "Walking into the future: Melbourne backs plan to curb cars in the CBD", The Guardian (UK), 22 May, https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2019/may/22/walking-into-the-future-melbourne-backs-plan-to-curb-carsin-the-cbd.
- 51 M. Carter (2019), "Sydney CBD and South East light rail opens", International Railway Journal, 16 December, https://www.railjournal.com/news/sydney-cbdand-south-east-light-rail-opens; G. Hitch (2019), "Canberra light rail finally opens its doors to the public", ABC, 19 April, https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-04-20/ canberra-light-rail-opes-live/11033076.
- 52 Global BRT Data, "Nouméa", https://brtdata.org/location/oceania/new_caledonia/ noumea (accessed 27 April 2021).
- 53 D. Burroughs (2020), "New Zealand allocates \$NZ 1.2bn for rail development", International Railway Journal, 14 May, https://www.railjournal.com/financial/new zealand-allocates-nz-1-2bn-for-rail-development.
- 54 Wahlquist, op. cit. note 50.
- 55 ADB, op. cit. note 45.
- 56 Electrive.com (2019), "New Zealand plans BEV subsidies & CO2 tariffs", 9 July, https://www.electrive.com/2019/07/09/new-zealand-plans-bev-subsidies-co2-tariffs.
- 57 Sustainable Bus (2020), "Wellington (NZ) bus fleet to reach a 22% EV share. 98 e-buses ordered", 6 July, https://www.sustainable-bus.com/news/wellington-elec tric-buses-new-zealand-metlink.
- 58 H. Cooke (2018), "Productivity Commission suggests 'feebate' for all cars and even more trees to fight climate change", Stuff, 4 September, https://www.stuff. co.nz/national/politics/106793383/productivity-commission-suggests-feebate-forall-cars-and-even-more-trees-to-fight-climate-change.
- 59 G. Parkinson (2019), "New Zealand tipped to reach 100% electric vehicle sales by 2030", The Driven, 12 April, https://thedriven.io/2019/04/12/new-zealand-tippedto-reach-100-electric-vehicle-sales-by-2030.
- 60 New Zealand Ministry of Transport (2021), The Clean Car Standard, Auckland, https://www.transport.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Cabinet/TheCleanCarStandard.pdf; J. Ardern, M. Wood and J. Shaw (2021), "Government moves on climate promises", New Zealand Government, 28 January https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/government-moves-climate-promises.

2.1 Transport Demand

- 1 United Nations (UN) (2018), "World Urbanization Prospects 2018", https://population.un.org/wup (accessed 5 May 2021); World Bank, "Population growth (annual %)", https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.GROW?end=2018&start=2010 (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 2 Ibid., both references.
- 3 Ibid., both references.

- 4 Ibid., both references.
- 5 T. Trigg, C.R. di Schio and B. Dean (2020), Switching Gears: Enabling Access to Sustainable Urban Mobility, Sustainable Energy for All, Vienna and Washington, D.C., https://www.seforall.org/system/files/2020-02/SEforALL-Switching_Gears.pdf
- 6 E. Badger (2013), "Scientific proof that cities are like nothing else in nature", Bloomberg CityLab, 20 June, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2013-06-20/scientific-proof-that-cities-are-like-nothing-else-in-nature.
- 7 E. Strano et al. (2017), "The scaling structure of the global road network", Royal Society Open Science Vol. 4/10, Royal Society Publishing, https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsos.170590.
- 8 J. R. Meijer (2018), "Global patterns of current and future road infrastructure", Environmental Research Letters. ^{Vol. 13, IOP Publishing, p. 084008, https://iopscience.iop.org/ article/10.1088/1748-9326/aabd42/pdf.}
- 9 Badger, op. cit. note 6.
- 10 Connected World (2019), "Urbanization and transport", https://connectedworld. com/may-urbanization-and-transportation-archive (accessed 5 May 2021); P. Poumanyvong, S. Kaneko and S. Dhakal (2012), "Impacts of urbanization on national transport and road energy use: Evidence from low, middle and high income countries", *Energy Policy*, Vol. 46, Elsevier, pp. 268-77, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2012.03.059.
- 11 World Bank (2021), Global Economic Prospects, Washington, D.C., https://www. worldbank.org/en/publication/global-economic-prospects. Figure 1 from the following sources: UN, op. cit. note 1; World Bank, "GDP (constant 2010 USD)", https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD (accessed 28 September 2020); M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020-report; International Energy Agency (IEA), "World Balance (2018)", https://www.iea.org/sankey/#?c=WorldBs=-Balance (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 12 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), "Economic resilience", https://www.oecd.org/economy/growth/economic-resilience.htm (accessed 5 May 2021); M. Turner (2019), "Global economies are less resilient to shocks than in 2007", Bloomberg, 10 September, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-09-11/global-economies-are-less-resilient-to-shocks-than-in-2007-map.
- Moonshot City (2020), "Resilient transport for resilient cities: The what?" 2 June, based on the following sources: World Trade Organization (2020), "Trade shows sign of rebound from COVID-19, recovery still uncertain", 6 October, https://www.action.com/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/action/acti to.org/english/news_e/pres20_e/pr862_e.htm; World Bank (2021), Global Economic Prospects, Washington, D.C., https://www.world conomic-prospects; oil demand from IEA (2020), World Energy Outlook 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2020; International Transport Forum (2020), How Badly Will the Coronavirus Crisis Hit Global Freight? OECD Publishing, Paris, https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/file covid-19.pdf; inter-city rail from C. Reynolds (2020), "Canadian airlines feel the pressure of flight shaming and the 'Greta effect'", The Canadian Press, 19 January, https://globalnews.ca/news/6433333/canadian-airlines-feel-the-pressure-oi shaming-and-the-greta-effect; International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), "Operational impact on air transport", https://data.icao.int/coVID-19/op htm (accessed 5 May 2021); ICAO (2021), Feb 2021: Air Transport Monthly Monitor, Montreal, https://www.icao.int/sustainability/Documents/MonthlyMo itor-2021/Monthly_Monitor_February_2021.pdf; seaborne trade from United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (2020), Review of Maritime Transport 2020, New York, https://unctad.org/ /rmt2020_en.pdf; vehicle production from International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA) (2020), "Global sales statistics 2019-2020", ales-statistics (accessed 15 April 2021); IEA (2020), Global EV Outlook 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2020; IEA (2021), Global EV Outlook 2021, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/ outlook-2021; walking and cycling from A. Hawkins (2020), "How to keep the bike boom from fizzling out", The Verge, 18 December, https://www theverge.co frastructure; R. Buehler and J. Pucher (2021), "COVID-19 impacts on cycling, 2019-2020", Transport Reviews, Taylor & Francis Online, http://www.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality.com/actionality. doi/10.1080/01441647.2021.1914900; walking from SLOCAT (2020), "COVID-19 and mobility - an updated analysis of regional impacts", 28 October, https:// slocat.net/covid-19-and-mobility-update; H. Mountford (2021), "Can low-carbon investments help economies recover from coronavirus?" World Economic Forum, 17 March, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/ nts-economies-recovery-climate-change; IEA (2020), "Changes in transport behaviour during the Covid-19 crisis", 27 May, https://www.iea.org/articles/chang
- 14 IEA (2019), Oil 2019, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/oil-2019.
- 15 US Energy Information Administration (EIA) (2020), "Crude oil prices were generally lower in 2019 than in 2018", 7 January, https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/ detail.php?id=42415.
- 16 Figure 2 from L. K. Mitropoulos, P. D. Prevedouros and P. Kopelias (2017), "Total cost of ownership and externalities of conventional, hybrid and electric vehicle", Transportation Research Procedia Vol. 24, Elsevier, pp. 267-74, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2017.05.117; E. Cooper et al. (2019), Costs and Emissions Appraisal Tool for Transit Buses, World Resources Institute (WRI), Washington, D.C., https://www.wri.org/publication/transit-buses-tooj D. Hall and N. Lutsey (2019), Estimating the Infrastructure Needs and Costs for the Launch of Zero-emission Trucks,

International Council on Clean Transportation, Washington, D.C., https://theicct. org/sites/default/files/publications/ICCT_EV_HDVs_Infrastructure_20190809.pdf.

- 17 A. Marshall (2019), "Why electric buses haven't taken over the world yet", Wired, 7 June, https://www.wired.com/story/electric-buses-havent-taken-overworld; A. Nightingale (2019), "Forget Tesla, it's China's e-buses that are denting oil demand", Bloomberg, 19 March, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-03-19/forget-tesla-it-s-china-s-e-buses-that-are-denting-oil-demand.
- 18 Z. Shahan (2020), "The electric car cost tipping point", CleanTechnica, 21 March, https://cleantechnica.com/2020/03/21/the-electric-car-price-tipping-point.
- 19 K. Field (2020), "BloombergNEF: Lithium-ion battery cell densities have almost tripled since 2010", CleanTechnica, 19 February, https://cleantechnica. com/2020/02/19/bloombergnef-lithium-ion-battery-cell-densities-have-almost-tripled-since-2010.
- 20 L. Merrill and N. Quintas (2019), "One step forward, two steps back: Fossil fuel subsidies and reform on the rise", Global Subsidies Initiative, 23 May, https://www. lisd.org/gsi/subsidy-watch-blog/fossil-fuel-subsidies-and-reform-on-trise; M. Hood (2020), "2019 fossil fuel subsidies nearly \$500 bn: OECD/IEA", Phys.org, 9 June, https://phys.org/news/2020-06-fossil-fuel-subsidies-bn-oecdiea.html.
- 21 C. Randall (2020), "Germany doubles EV subsidies, no more diesel support", Electrive.com, 4 June, https://www.electrive.com/2020/06/04/germany-doubles-ev-subsidies-no-more-diesel-support.
- 22 Public Health England (2018), Cycling and Walking for Individual and Population Health Benefits, London, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757756/Cycling_and_walking_for_individual_and_population_health_benefits.pdf.
- 23 J. Timerley (2019), "Why 'flight shame' is making people swap planes for trains", BBC Future, 9 September, https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20190909-whyflight-shame-is-making-people-swap-planes-for-trains.
- 24 E. Bannon (2021), "In cities 63% support EU ban on petrol and diesel car sales after 2030", Transport and Environment, 12 April, https://www.transportenvironment. org/press/cities-63-support-eu-ban-petrol-and-diesel-car-sales-after-2030.
- 25 A. Schwedhelm et al. (2020), "Biking provides a critical lifeline during the coronavirus crisis", WRI, 17 April, https://www.wri.org/insights/biking-provides-critical-life line-during-coronavirus-crisis; J. Allen et al. (2018), "Understanding the impact of e-commerce on last-mile light goods vehicle activity in urban areas: The case of London", Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, Vol. 61, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 325-38, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.07.020.
- 26 Sustainable Mobility for All (2017), Global Mobility Report 2017: Tracking Sector Performance, Washington, D.C., https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/2643Global_Mobility_Report_2017.pdf.
- 27 Figure 3 from the following sources: Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (2019), "Rapid Transit Database – Public Version 4.0", https://docs.google. com/spreadsheets/d/1uMuNG9rT6052Vuug6skyqmkH9U5yv1ISJDJY|H64MJM/ edit#gid=1523036623 (accessed 28 September 2020); BRT+ Centre of Excellence and EMBARQ (2020), "Global BRTData Version 3.53", https://brtdata.org (accessed 28 September 2020); R. Schwandl (2020), "UrbanRail.net", http://www.urbanrail. net (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 28 BRT+ Centre of Excellence and EMBARQ (2020), op. cit. note 27.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 Schwandl, op. cit. note 27.
- 31 A. Utama (2019), "Jakarta launches metro to battle notorious traffic problems", BBC News, 1 April, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-47769724; Wikipedia (2021), "Doha Metro", 22 March, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Doha_Metro.
- 32 S. Toppa (2020), "Lahore's metro line opened to fanfare but what is the real cost of China's gift?" The Guardian (UK), 5 November, https://www.theguardian.com/ global-development/2020/nov/05/lahore-metro-line-opened-to-fanfare-but-whatis-the-real-cost-of-china-gift.
- 33 International Association of Public Transport (UITP) (2020), "The European outlook: On track with light rail and tram systems", 16 January, https://www.uitp.org/ news/the-european-outlook-on-track-with-light-rail-and-tram-systems.
- 34 UITP (2019), The Global Tran and Light Rail Landscape, Brussels, https://cms.uitp. org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Statistics-Brief-World-LRT_web.pdf; UITP (2018), World Metro Figures, Brussels, https://cms.uitp.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Statistics-Brief-World-metro-figures-2018V3_WEB.pdf.
- 35 E. Loxton, D. O'Connor and N. Salman (2019), "Declining bus ridership: Improving the efficiency of transit networks", McKinsey & Company, 25 July, https://www. mckinsey.com/industries/travel-logistics-and-infrastructure/our-insights/declining-bus-ridership-improving-the-efficiency-of-transit-networks.
- 36 TransitCenter (2019), "There's a reason transit ridership is rising in these 7 cities", 27 February, https://transitcenter.org/theres-a-reason-transit-ridership-is-rising-inthese-7-cities.
- 37 Reynolds, op. cit. note 13.
- 38 IEA (2019), The Future of Rail Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-rail.
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 Figure 4 adapted from International Union of Railways (UIC) (2020), Railisa, https:// uic-stats.uic.org (accessed 28 September 2020); Xinhua (2019), "China's highspeed railway length to top 30,000 km in 2019", 3 January, http://www.xinhuanet. com/english/2019-01/03/c_137715444.htm.
- 41 IEA, op. cit. note 38.
- 42 E. Papa (2020), "Could sleeper trains replace international air travel?" The Con-

versation, 22 January, https://theconversation.com/amp/could-sleeper-trains-replace-international-air-travel-130334.

- 43 Reynolds, op. cit. note 13.
- 44 DutchNews (2019), "International train travel goes up 13%, four million foreign trips were made by train", 23 December, https://www.dutchnews.nl/ news/2019/12/international-train-travel-goes-up-13-four-million-foreign-trips-were made-by-train.
- 45 Papa, op. cit. note 42; E. Papa (2020), "Because of 'flight shaming', airlines are asking us to fly less - and it's working", World Economic Forum and The Conversation, 3 February, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/02/sleeper-trains-air-travel-environment.
- 46 Papa, op. cit. note 42; Papa, op. cit. note 45.
- 47 European Commission (2021), "Interoperability & safety", 13 May, https://ec.europa.eu/transport/modes/rail/interoperability_en.
- 48 ICAO (2019), The World of Air Transport in 2019 Montreal. https://www.icao.int/annual-report-2019/Pages/the-world-of-air-transport-in-2019.aspx.
- 49 D. Slotnick (2019), "Wednesday was one of the busiest recorded days in aviation history - and it's going to keep getting busier", Business Insider, 25 July, https:// www.businessinsider.com/most-flights-ever-225000-flightradar24-flight-tracking-2019-7.
- 50 International Air Transport Association (IATA), "The Single African Air Transport Market (SAATM)", https://www.iata.org/en/policy/business-freedom/saatm (accessed 5 May 2021); Wikipedia (2020), "Single African Air Transport Market", 10 December, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Single_African_Air_Transport_Market.
- 51 European Environment Agency (2020), "Transport: Increasing oil consumption and greenhouse gas emissions hamper EU progress towards environment and climate objectives", 3 February, https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/transport-increasing-oil-consumption-and/increasing-oil-consumption-and-ghg.
- 52 ICAO, op. cit. note 48.
- 53 S. Morgan (2020), "Taxing jet-fuel still on the radar, despite aviation's virus woes", EURACTIV, 22 June, https://www.euractiv.com/section/aviation/news/taxing-jetfuel-still-on-the-radar-despite-aviations-virus-woes.
- 54 J. Grant (2018), "Six aviation travel trends to watch in 2019", AviationPros, 20 December, https://www.aviationpros.com/airports/blog/12439288/six-aviationtravel-trends-to-watch-in-2019.
- 55 Wikipedia (2021), "Istanbul Airport", 8 May, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Istanbul_ Airport; CBS News (2019), "China opens Daxing International Airport, a mega-hub with world's biggest terminal", 25 September, https://www.cbsnews.com/news/ daxing-international-airport-opens-beijing-china-today-worlds-largest-terminal-capacity-2019-09-25.
- 56 ICAO (2021), op. cit. note 13.
- 57 K. Naughton and D. Welch (2019), "This is what peak car looks like", Bloomberg Business, 28 February, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/features/2019-02-28/ this-is-what-peak-car-looks-like.
- 58 Figure 5 adapted from OICA, op. cit. note 13.
- 59 OECD, "Gross domestic product (GDP)", https://data.oecd.org/gdp/gross-domestic-product-gdp.htm, viewed 24 May 2021.
- 60 Adapted from OICA, op. cit. note 13.
- 61 Adapted from Ibid.
- 62 G. Kamiya and J. Teter (2019), "Shared, automated...and electric?" IEA, 28 March, https://www.iea.org/commentaries/shared-automated-and-electric.
- 63 R. R. Clewlow, "New research on how ride-hailing impacts travel behavior", University of California at Davis, https://steps.ucdavis.edu/new-research-ride-hailing-impacts-travel-behavior (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 64 M. Graehler, R. A. Mucci and G. D. Erhardt (2018), "Understand the recent transit ridership decline in major US cities: Service cuts or emerging modes?" prepared for the 98th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, https://usa. streetsblog.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2019/01/19-04931-Transit-Trends.pdf
- 65 K. Davidson (2018), "Uber is not killing car ownership (yet)", Schroders, 25 May, https://www.schroders.com/en/us/insights/equities/uber-is-not-killing-car-ownership-yet.
- 66 A. Tirachini (2020), "Ride-hailing, travel behaviour and sustainable mobility: An international review", Transportation, Vol. 47/4, Springer, pp. 2011-47, https://doi. org/10.1007/s11116-019-10070-2.
- 67 Figure 6 from the following sources: Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation, Government of India (2018), Motor Vehicles Statistical Year Book India 2018, Delhi, http://mospi.nic.in/statistical-year-book-india/2018/98, L. Thomson (2017), "India overtakes China to become largest motorcycle manufacturer", Visor Down, 23 August, https://www.sordown.com/news/general/india-overtakes-china-become-largest-motorcycle-manufacturer; P. Nangia (2019), "Top 10 two-wheeler makers in FY19: Bajaj achieves double digit market share", ETAuto.com, 10 April, https://auto.economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/two-wheelers/motorcycles/top-10-two-wheeler-makers-in-fy19-bajaj-reports-double-digit-market-share/68808620; UN Economic Commission for Europe (2018), Road Safety Performance Review Viet Nam, New York and Bangkok, https://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/trans/roadsafe/unda/RSPR_Viet_Nam_FULL_e.pdf; ASEANStats-DataPortal (2018), "Total number of registered road motor vehicles (in thousand)", https://data.aseanstats.org/indicator/ASE.TRP.ROD.B.005 (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 68 Ibid., all references.

- 69 A. Frangoul (2020), "Electric vehicle sales in India jump, with two-wheeled scooters driving growth", CNBC, 22 April, https://www.cnbc.com/2020/04/22/ two-wheeled-scooters-drive-electric-vehicle-sales-in-india.html; D. Bongardt et al. (2019), Pathway to Low-Carbon Transport, World Bank and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ), Washington, D.C., https:// www.changing-transport.org/wp-content/uploads/2019_GIZ_Adressing_Climate_Change_in_Transport_Volume-1.pdf; R. Verma (2020), "The big electric two-wheeler opportunity for India is here", Express Drives, 30 May, https://www. financialexpress.com/auto/electric-vehicles/the-big-electric-two-wheeler-opportunity-for-india-is-here-electric-bikes-scooters-evs-china-adoption/1976077.
- 70 Electric Vehicles India (2018), "Electric two wheel sales report in India 2018", 21 December, https://electricvehicles.in/electric-two-wheeler-sales-report-in-india-2018.
- 71 L. Jingzhu and D. Kalinowska (2018), "Electric 3-wheelers in urban delivery in China and Germany – a bumpy road ahead?" Sustainable Transport in China, 18 April, https://web.archive.org/web/20210123141746/https://www.sustainabletransport. org/archives/5826.
- 72 M. Z. Irawan et al. (2020), "To compete or not compete: Exploring the relationships between motorcycle-based ride-sourcing, motorcycle taxis, and public transport in the Jakarta metropolitan area", *Transportation*, Vol. 47/5, Springer, pp. 2367-89, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-019-10019-5.
- 73 International Transport Forum (2019), "Transport Outlook 2019", https://www. oecd-ilibrary.org/transport/itf-transport-outlook-2019_transp_outlook-en-2019-en.
- 74 IEA, op. cit. note 38.
- 75 R. Escudero et al. (2020), "Can delivery companies keep up with the e-commerce boom?" Boston Consulting Group, 1 July, https://www.bcg.com/publications/2020/can-delivery-companies-keep-up-with-the-ecommerce-boom.
- 76 T. Ecker et al. (2020), "Same-day delivery: Ready for takeoff", McKinsey, 31 January, https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/retail/our-insights/same-day-delivery-ready-for-takeoff.
- 77 A. McKinnon, sustainable freight expert and professor of logistics, Kühne Logistics University, personal communication with SLOCAT, 24 April 2020.
- 78 Allen et al., op. cit. note 25.
- 79 U. Florene (2020), "Grab and Gojek implement contactless food deliveries, users buy meals for drivers", KrAsia, 18 March, https://kr-asia.com/grab-and-gojek-implement-contactless-food-deliveries-users-buy-meals-for-drivers.
- 80 C. Trotter (2015), "8 companies shaping the future of delivery", Insider Trends, 19 October, https://www.insider-trends.com/8-companies-shaping-the-future-of-delivery.
- 81 Amazon, "Amazon FLEX", https://flex.amazon.com (accessed 5 May 2021).
- 82 S. Dash (2020), "Amazon broadens its search for part-time delivery drivers in India, who are paid less than \$2 an hour", Business Insider, 27 July, https://www.businessinsider.com/amazon-flex-deliveries-india-jeff-bezos-less-two-dollars-hour-2020-7.
- 83 J. Bright (2019), "African logistics startup Lori Systems raises Series A led by Chinese investors", TechCrunch, 8 November, https://techcrunch.com/2019/11/08/ african-logistics-startup-lori-systems-raises-series-a-led-by-chinese-investors.
- 84 M. D. Simoni et al. (2020), "Potential last-mile impacts of crowdshipping services: A simulation-based evaluation", Transportation, Vol. 47, Springer, pp. 1933-54, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11116-019-10028-4#article-info.
- 85 UNCTAD, op. cit. note 13.
- 86 IEA (2016), Energy Technology Perspectives 2016, Paris, https://www.iea.org/ reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2016.
- 87 ICAO, op. cit. note 48.

2.2 Transport Emissions

- Box from the following sources: International Energy Agency (IEA) (2021), "Global energy review: CO2 Emissions in 2020", 2 March, https://www.iea.org/articles/global-energy-review-co2-emissions-in-2020; IEA (2020), Global Energy Review 2020, Paris https://www.iea.org/reports/global-energy-review-2020; Z. Liu et al. (2020), "Near-real-time monitoring of global CO2 emissions reveals the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic", *Nature Communications*, Vol. 11/1, Nature Research, pp. 1-12, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18922-7; Z. Liu et al. (2020), "Global daily CO2 emissions for the year 2020", Cornell University, http://axiv.org/abs/2103.02526; IEA (2019), *Oli 2019*, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/oli-2019.
- 2 Figure 1 from M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020-report.
- 3 Ibid.
- 4 IEA (2020), Tracking Transport 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/tracking-transport-2020.
- 5 Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2.
- 6 Ibid.
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 Figure 2 from Ibid.
- 10 Ibid.

- 11 Ibid.
- 12 IEA (2019), "Transport sector CO2 emissions by mode in the Sustainable Development Scenario, 2000-2030", 22 November, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/ charts/transport-sector-co2-emissions-by-mode-in-the-sustainable-development-scenario-2000-2030.
- 13 L. Cozzi and A. Petropoulos (2019), "Growing preferences for SUVs challenges emissions reductions in passenger car market", IEA, 15 October, https://www.iea. org/commentaries/growing-preference-for-suvs-challenges-emissions-reductions-in-passenger-car-market.
- 14 Figure 3 from IEA (2020), "Share of SUVs in total car sales in key markets, 2010-2019", 27 May, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/share-of-suvs-in-total-car-sales-in-key-markets-2010-2019.
- 15 Just-auto.com (2019), "Thailand to cut excise taxes on local EVs, pickups", 6 March, https://www.just-auto.com/news/thailand-to-cut-excise-taxes-on-local-evspickups_id187548.aspx.
- 16 H. Y. N. Thi (2020), "International fuel prices", Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative, 16 November, https://www.transformative-mobility.org/news/international-fuel-prices.
- 17 J. Johnston (2009), "Outside of urban areas, motorcycles and scooters are worse for global warming than cars. In urban areas, motorcycles are worse than carpooling, but better than driving a car solo", University of California at Berkeley, http:// josiah.berkeley.edu/MiniProjects/MotorcyclePollution.html.
- 18 D. Bongardt et al. (2019), Pathway to Low-Carbon Transport, World Bank and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ), Washington, D.C., https://www.changing-transport.org/wp-content/uploads/2019_GIZ_Adressing_Climate_Change_in_Transport_Volume-1.pdf.
- 19 E. Bannon (2020), "Uber pollutes more than the cars it replaces US scientists", Transport and Environment, 19 March, https://www.transportenvironment.org/ news/uber-pollutes-more-cars-it-replaces-us-scientists.
- 20 D. Keating (2019), "Uber adding to air pollution in Europe report", Forbes, 20 November, https://www.forbes.com/sites/davekeating/2019/11/20/uber-addingto-air-pollution-in-europereport; Reuters (2020), "Ride-hailing increases emissions, contribution to climate pollution: Study", ET Auto, 25 February, https://auto. economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/aftermarket/ride-hailing-increases-emissions-contributes-to-climate-pollution-study/74307662; A. J. Hawkins (2020), "Uber and Lyft generate 70 percent more pollution than trips they displace: study", The Verge, 25 February, https://www.theverge.com/2020/2/25/21152512/uberlyft-climate-change-emissions-pollution-ucs-study; M. Kandil (2019), "Ride-hailing apps are making the developing world's traffic problems worse", World Economic Forum, 5 August, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/08/ride-hailing-apps-developing-world-traffic-problems.
- 21 T. Barboza (2020), "Taking an Uber or Lyft pollutes more than driving, California finds. Next stop: Regulations", Los Angeles Times, 7 March, https://www.latimes. com/environment/story/2020-03-07/uber-lyft-ride-hailing-air-pollution-greenhouse-gas-emissions.
- 22 J. Plautz (2019), "Shenzhen, China touts nearly all-electric taxi fleet", Smart Cities Dive, 7 January, https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/news/electric-taxi-fleet-shenzhen-china/545347; T. Harrup (2017), "Florence joins the electric taxi movement", Fleet Europe, 18 August, https://www.fleeteurope.com/en/safety/europe/article/ florence-joins-electric-taxi-movement.
- 23 G. Topham, "Airlines' CO2 emissions rising up to 70% faster than predicted", The Guardian (UK), 19 September, https://www.theguardian.com/business/2019/ sep/19/airlines-co2-emissions-rising-up-to-70-faster-than-predicted.
- 24 IEA (2020), Transport Biofuels, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/transport-biofuels.
- 25 Biofuels International (2020), "Finnair partners with Neste to increase use of sustainable aviation fuel", 5 March , https://biofuels-news.com/news/finnair-partnerswith-neste-to-increase-use-of-sustainable-aviation-fuel.
- 26 IEA, op. cit. note 24.
- 27 International Air Transport Association (IATA), "Our actions for the environment", https://www.iata.org/en/programs/environment (accessed 16 May 2021).
- 28 IEA (2020), Trucks and Buses, Paris, June 2020, https://www.iea.org/reports/trucksand-buses.
- 29 IEA, op. cit. note 4; IEA, "Tracking Clean Energy Progress", https://www.iea.org/ topics/tracking-clean-energy-progress (accessed 16 May 2021).
- 30 Nordic Council of Ministers (2018), Reducing CO2 Emissions from Freight, Copenhagen, https://norden.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1277299/FULLTEXT01.pdf.
- 31 Legislative Analyst's Office (2018), Accessing California's Climate Policies Transportation, Sacramento, https://lao.ca.gov/Publications/Report/3912#top.
- 32 Safety 4 Sea (2019), "Cold ironing: The role of ports in reducing shipping emissions", 18 March, https://safety4sea.com/cm-cold-ironing-the-role-of-ports-in-reducing-shipping-emissions.
- 33 R. Sims et al. (2018), "Transport", in Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge and New York, https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ ipcc_wg3_ar6_chapter8.pdf.
- 34 A. Neves and C. Brand (2019), "Assessing the potential for carbon emissions savings from replacing short car trips with walking and cycling using a mixed GPS-travel diary approach", Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, Vol. 123, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 130-46, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article

pii/S0965856417316117; D. P. Piatkowski, K. J. Krizek and S. L. Handy (2015), "Accounting for the short term substitution effects of walking and cycling in sustainable transportation", *Travel Behaviour and Society*, Vol. 2/1, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 32-41, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S2214367X14000192.

- 35 Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2; World Bank, "GDP (constant 2010 USD)", https://data. worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD (accessed 28 September 2020).
- 36 UN, "Goal 11: Make cities inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable", https://www. un.org/sustainabledevelopment/cities (accessed 16 May 2021).
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 Figure 4 from Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2, and from World Bank, op. cit. note 35.
- 39 Figure 5 from Ibid., both references.
- 40 The analysis excludes the UK. European Commission (2019), Preparing the Ground for Raising Long-Term Ambition: EU Climate Action Progress Report 2019, Brussels, https://ec.europa.eu/clima/sites/clima/files/strategies/progress/docs/ com_2019_559_en.pdf.
- 41 EURACTIV and Reuters (2020), "EU carbon market emissions (excluding aviation) fell 8.7% in 2019", 2 April, https://www.euractiv.com/section/emissions-trading-scheme/news/eu-carbon-market-emissions-excluding-aviation-fell-8-7-in-2019.
- 42 European Commission, "2050 long-term strategy", https://ec.europa.eu/clima/ policies/strategies/2050_en (accessed 16 May 2021).
- 43 Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2: World Bank, op. cit. note 35.
- 44 Ibid., both references.
- 45 Ibid., both references.
- 46 IEA, op. cit. note 4.
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 N. Gibbs (2019), "WLTP emissions loophole closed by EU lawmakers", Automotive News Europe, 26 March, https://europe.autonews.com/automakers/wltp-emissions-loophole-closed-eu-lawmakers.
- 49 IEA, op. cit. note 4.
- 50 Figure 6 adapted from IEA, op. cit. note 12.
- 51 Figure 7 from IEA (2020), "Energy intensity of passenger transport in selected IEA countries, 2000-2017", 3 December, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/energy-intensity-of-passenger-transport-in-selected-iea-countries-2000-2017.
- 52 IEA, "World Balance (2018)", https://www.iea.org/sankey/#?c=World&s=Balance (accessed 16 May 2021).
- 53 Ibid
- 54 Ibid.
- 55 IEA (2020), Global EV Outlook 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2020.
- 56 Ibid.
- 57 Ibid.
- 58 J. Margolis (2019), "China dominates the electric bus market, but the US is getting on board", The World, 8 October, https://www.pri.org/stories/2019-10-08/chinadominates-electric-bus-market-us-getting-board.
- 59 E. Huang (2019), "The world's biggest fintech wants to dominate China's true electric transport opportunity", Quartz, 13 June, https://qz.com/1642427/chinasant-catl-partner-on-battery-swaps-for-scooters-bicycles.
- 60 T. Hill (2021), "Shipping industry emissions keep sailing upward", GreenBiz, 30 March, https://www.greenbiz.com/article/shipping-industry-emissions-keep-sailing-upward.
- 61 Climate Home News (2021), "Shipping could raise ambition of 2030 climate target, study shows", 2 November, https://www.climatechangenews.com/2020/02/11/ shipping-raise-ambition-2030-climate-target-study-shows.
- 62 IEA (2019), Global Energy & CO2 Status Report 2019, Paris, https://www.iea.org/ reports/global-energy-co2-status-report-2019.
- 63 Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century (REN21) (2019), "What are the current trends in renewable energy?" 28 May, https://www.ren21.net/what-arethe-current-trends-in-renewable-energy; Center for Climate and Energy Solutions, "Renewable energy", https://www.c2es.org/content/renewable-energy (accessed 16 May 2021).
- 64 F. Schulz (2020), "Number of German cities with poor air quality more than halved in 2019", EURACTIV, 10 June, https://www.euractiv.com/section/air-pollution/ news/number-of-german-cities-with-poor-air-guality-more-than-halved-in-2019
- 65 International Association of Public Transport (UITP) (2020), "FAME II allocates 5595 electric buses for 64 cities – a thrust to public transport", 30 August, https:// www.uitp.org/news/fame-ii-allocates-5595-electric-buses-for-64-cities-a-thrustto-public-transport; E. Charlton (2019), "How Kolkata with electric buses and ferries plans to fight air pollution", The Print, 16 November, https://theprint.in/ environment/how-kolkata-with-electric-buses-and-ferries-plans-to-fight-air-pollution/321226.
- 66 J. Miller and L. Jin (2019), Global Progress Toward Soot-free Diesel Vehicles in 2019, International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT), Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/Global_progress_sootfree_diesel_2019_20190920.pdf.
- 67 ICCT, "Soot-free buses", https://theicct.org/issues/soot-free-buses (accessed 16 May 2021).

68 Miller and Jin, op. cit. note 66.

2.3 Low Carbon Transport Pathways

- 1 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2018), Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, Geneva, https://www. ipcc.ch/sr15.
- 2 Box from the following sources: climate models from P. Forster (2021), "COVID-19 paused climate emissions but they're rising again", BBC Future, 15 March, https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20210312-covid-19-paused-climate-emissions-but-theyre-rising-again; failure to meet targets from IEA (2020), *Global Energy Review 2020*, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/global-energy-review-2020, and from Forster, op. cit. this note; Climate Action Tracker (2020), "International shipping", 25 June, https://climateactiontracker.org/sectors/shipping; Climate Action Tracker (2020), "International aviation", 23 July, https://climateactiontrack-er.org/sectors/aviation; Climate Action Tracker (2020), "Global update: Pandemic recovery with just a hint of green", 23 September, https://climateactiontracker.org/publications/global-update-pandemic-recovery-with-just-a-hint-of-green.
- 3 International Energy Agency (IEA) (2020), "Global energy sector CO2 emissions by sector in the Sustainable Development Scenario, 2019-2070", 9 September, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/global-energy-sector-co2-emissions-by-sector-in-the-sustainable-development-scenario-2019-2070.
- 4 International Renewable Energy Agency (2020), Global Renewables Outlook: Energy Transformation 2050, Abu Dhabi, https://www.irena.org/publications/2020/ Apr/Global-Renewables-Outlook-2020.
- 5 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (2009), "Appendix 1 Quantified economy-wide emissions targets for 2020", https://unfocc.int/process/ conferences/pastconferences/copenhagen-climate-change-conference-december-2009/statements-and-resources/appendix-i-quantified-economy-wide-emissions-targets-for-2020.
- 6 Climate Analytics (2019), "Pre-2020 Commitments and the Need for More Ambitious NDCs", 10 December, https://climateanalytics.org/media/pre_2020_briefing_ 10dec2019.pdf.
- 7 United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2020), Emissions Gap Report 2020, Nairobi, https://www.unenvironment.org/emissions-gap-report-2020.
- 8 Climate Action Tracker (2020), "Briefing note: Comparing CAT and UNEP Emissions Gap Report temperature estimates", 9 December, https://climateactiontracker.org/press/briefing-note-comparing-cat-and-unep-temperature-estimates.
- 9 Climate Action Tracker (2020), "Paris Agreement turning point: Wave of net zero targets reduces warming estimate to 2.1C in 2100", 1 December, https://climateactiontracker.org/documents/829/CAT_2020-12-01_Briefing_GlobalUpdate_Paris5Years_Dec2020.pdf.
- 10 Ibid.
- 11 Figure 1 from SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport calculations based on M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020-report; Wikipedia (2020), "Kyoto Protocol", https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kyoto_Protocol (accessed 23 September 2020).
- 12 L. Cozzi and A. Petropoulos (2019), "Growing preferences for SUVs challenges emissions reductions in passenger car market", IEA, 15 October, https://www.iea. org/commentaries/growing-preference-for-suvs-challenges-emissions-reductions-in-passenger-car-market.

13 Ibid.

- 14 IEA (2020), Tracking Transport 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/tracking-transport-2020.
- 15 SLOCAT calculations based on Crippa et al., op. cit. note 11; Wikipedia, op. cit. note 11.
- 16 European Commission, "2030 climate and energy framework", https://ec.europa. eu/clima/policies/strategies/2030_en (accessed 16 May 2021).
- 17 Ibid.; Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century (REN21) (2020), Renewables 2020 Global Status Report, Paris, https://www.ren21.net/wp-content/ uploads/2019/05/gsr_2020_full_report_en.pdf.
- 18 Electric Mobility Canada (2019), Electric Vehicle Sales in Canada Q1 2019, Montreak, https://www.emc-mec.ca/wp-content/uploads/Sales-Report-Q1-2019.pdf.
- 19 European Environment Agency (2019), Trends and Projections in Europe 2019: Tracking Progress Towards Europe's Climate and Energy Targets, Luxembourg, https://www.eea.europa.eu//publications/trends-and-projections-in-europe-1
- 20 Figure 2 from SLOCAT (2020), TraKB version 0.3, https://slocat.net/tcc-gsr.
- 21 Ibid.
- 22 J. Rogeli et al. (2018), "Chapter 2: Mitigation pathways compatible with 1.5°C in the context of sustainable development", in IPCC, op. cit. note 1, https://www.ipcc ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/05/SR15_Chapter2_Low_Res.pdf.
- 23 H. de Coninck et al. (2018), "Chapter 4: Strengthening and implementing the global response", in IPCC, op. cit. note 1, https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads.

- 24 S. Gota et al. (2019), "Decarbonising transport to achieve Paris Agreement targets", Energy Efficiency, Vol. 12, Springer, pp. 363-386, https://link.springer.com/ai cle/10.1007/s12053-018-9671-3.
- 25 Ibid
- 26 Ibid.
- 27 Ibid.
- 28 Ibid.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 Ibid.
- 31 Ibid.
- 32 Rogeli et al., op. cit. note 22.
- 33 IEA (2020), Energy Technology Perspectives 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/
- S. Yeh et al. (2017), "Detailed assessment of global transport-energy models" 34 structures and projections", Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, Vol. 55, Elsevier, pp. 294-309, http International Transport Forum (ITF) (2019), ITF Transport Outlook 2019, https:// /10.1787/transp_outlook-en-2019-en; J. Wagner (2020), "Connected cars worldwide - statistics and facts", Statista, 15 September, https://www.statista.c
- Figure 3 from SLOCAT, op. cit. note 20. 35
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 Ibid.
- 39 Global Calculator (2019), "The Global Calculator v23", https://tool.globalcal. culator.org; International Council on Clean Transportation (2020), Vision 2050, Washington, D.C., https://www.bington.com _sept2020.pdf; ITF, op. cit. note 34; IRENA, op. cit. note 4; Shell, "The Energy Transformation Scenarios", https://www.shell.com/transformationscenarios (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 40 IEA, op. cit. note 33; IRENA, op. cit. note 4.
- 41 Rogeli et al., op. cit. note 22.
- Figure 5 from Coalition for Urban Transitions (2019), Climate Emergency, Urban 42 Opportunity, World Resources Institute Ross Center for Sustainable Cities and C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group, London and Washington, D.C., https://urbantrar sitions.global/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Climate-Emergency-Urban-Opportuni
- 43 Ibid.
- 44 de Coninck et al., op. cit. note 23.
- J. Mercure et al. (2018), "Integrated assessment modelling as a positive science: 45 Private passenger road transport policies to meet a climate target well below 2 °C", Climatic Change, Vol. 151, Springer, pp. 109-29, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584
- 46 Rogeli et al., op. cit. note 22.
- 47 P. Dornier (2020), "How clean are electric cars?" Transport and Environment, 20 April, https://www.transportenvironment.org/news/how-clean-are-electric
- 48 Figure 6 from SLOCAT calculations based on various sources summarised in SLO-CAT (2020), "E-mobility trends and targets", https://slocat.net/e-mobility (accessed 22 October 2020).
- 49
- 50 Figure 7 from D. Ivanova et al. (2020), "Quantifying the potential for climate change mitigation of consumption options," Environmental Research Letters, Vol. 15/9, IOP Publishing Ltd, p. 093001, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9320
- 51 Ibid.
- Ibid. 52

3.1 National Policy Frameworks for Transport and **Climate Change**

- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), "Nationally 1 Determined Contributions (NDCs)", https://unfccc.int/process-and-meet the-paris-agreement/nationally-determined-contributions-ndcs/nationally-deter mined-contributions-ndcs (accessed 21 May 2021).
- For a broad overview of UNFCCC transparency and reporting mechanisms, see 2 UNFCCC, "What is transparency reporting?" https://unfccc.int/process-and-m and-reporting/the-big-picture/what-is-transparency-and-reporting (accessed 21 May 2021).
- 3 UNFCCC, "Climate Action Pathways", https://unfccc.int/climate-action/marr ership/reporting-and-tracking/climate_action_pathways (accessed 21 May 2021).
- UN Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR) (2015), Sendai Framework for 4 Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030, Geneva, https://www.undrr.org/publicatio sendai-framework-disaster-risk-reduction-2015-2030; UNDRR (2019), Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction 2019, Geneva, https://gar.undrr.org.
- 5 Box 1 from the following sources: UNFCCC, "NAP Expo", https://unfccc.int/

nap-expo-0 (accessed 21 May 2021); SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport (2020), "En Route to COP26", https://slocat.net/en-re cop26 (accessed 21 May 2021); UNFCCC (2020), "Climate Dialogues 2020", 1 December, https://unfccc.int/event/ndc-enhancement-and-covid-19-recovery-re gional-trends-and-country-experiences (accessed 21 May 2021).

- UNFCCC (2021), "Global Stocktake", https://unfccc.int/topics/science/work-6 streams/global-stocktake (accessed 21 May 2021).
- Changing Transport (2021), "Summary analysis", https://www.changing-transport. org/summary-analysis (accessed 21 May 2021).
- The TCC-GSR does not distinguish between INDCs and NDCs in its data and 8 analysis.
- SLOCAT (2018), Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report 2018, http:// 9 2018-web.pdf.
- 10 UNFCCC (2020), Publication of Nationally Determined Contribution Synthesis Report, Bonn, https:// thesis_2020_ec_2020_306.pdf.
- 11 Changing Transport, op. cit. note 7.
- 12 Table 1 from Ibid.
- 13 Figure 1 from Ibid.
- Ibid. 14
- 15 T. Fransen et al. (2019), Enhancing NDCs: Opportunities for Transport, World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C., https://www.wri.org/rese
- 16 Changing Transport, op. cit. note 7.
- 17 Ibid.
- 18 Ibid
- 19 Ibid
- 20 Ibid
- 21 Ibid.
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 Ibid
- 24 Ibid.
- 25 Ibid
- 26 Ibid.
 - Ibid.
- 27 28 Ibid.
- 29 SLOCAT and ICF, Transport LTS Guidance Document, forthcoming.
- 30 Climate Action Tracker (CAT) (2021), "CAT Climate Target Update Tracker", 19 May, http //climateactiontracker.org/climate-target-update-tracker; CAT (2021), "The CAT Thermometer", 4 May, https://climateactiontracker.org/global/cat-ther
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2018), Global Warming of 1.5°C. An 31 IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, Geneva, https://w
- Ibid 32
- UN, "Transforming our world: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development", 33 https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda (accessed 21 May 2021); UN, "The 17 goals", https://sdgs.un.org/goals (accessed 21 May 2021).
- Figure 2 from SLOCAT, "Transport action for achieving the Sustainable Develop-34 ment Goals", https://slocat.net/transport-sdgs (accessed 21 May 2021).
- UN, "Voluntary National Reviews", https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/vni 35 (accessed 21 May 2021); UN, "High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development", https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/hlpf (accessed 21 May 2021).
- SLOCAT, "Transport and Voluntary National Reviews" https://slocat.net/vnr (ac-36 cessed 21 May 2021).
- 37 Figure 3 from Ibid.
- 38 Ibid.
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 Ibid.
- 41 Ibid.
- The General Secretariat of the National Council for Sustainable Development / 42 Ministry of Environment, the Kingdom of Cambodia (2020), Cambodia's Updated Nationally Determined Contribution, Phnom Penh, https://www4.unfccc.ir
- Government of Chile (2020), Chile's Nationally Determined Contribution Update 43 2020, Santiago, https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/ st/Chile's_NDC_2020_english.pdf.
- Republic of Rwanda (2020), Updated Nationally Determined Contribution, Kigali,

- 45 Box 2 based on the following sources: SLOCAT (2020), Transport, Climate Action and Sustainable Development: Synergies Across NDCs and VNRs in IsDB Member Countries, Islamic Development Bank, Jeddah, http://slocat.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/SLOCAT-ISDB_2020_Transport-Climate-Action-Sustainable-Development.pdf; SLOCAT, "Integrated climate and sustainability actions", https://slocat. net/isdb-slocat-sustainable-transport (accessed 21 May 2021).
- 46 UNFCCC, "Communication of long-term strategies", https://unfccc.int/process/ the-paris-agreement/long-term-strategies (accessed 21 May 2021).
- 47 Changing Transport, op. cit. note 7.
- 48 Ibid.
- 49 Belgium (2020), Long-term Strategy of Belgium, Brussels, https://unfccc.int/sites/ default/files/resource/2020-02-19_lts_be_fr.pdf.
- 50 German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Building and Nuclear Safety (BMUB) (2016), Climate Action Plan 2050, Berlin, https://unfccc.int/ sites/default/files/resource/Klimaschutzolan 2050 end bf.pdf.
- 51 Government of Japan (2019), The Long-Term Strategy under the Paris Agreement, Tokyo, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/The%20Long-term%20Strategy%20under%20the%20Paris%20Agreement.pdf.
- 52 Republic of Portugal (2019), RNC2050 Long Term Strategy for Carbon Neutrality of the Portuguese Economy by 2050, Lisbon, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/ resource/RNC2050_EN_PT%20Long%20Term%20Strategy.pdf.
- 53 Government Offices of Sweden (2020), Sweden's Long-term Strategy for Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Stockholm, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/LTS1_Sweden.pdf.
- 54 Federal Council of Switzerland (2019), Switzerland's Long-Term Climate Strategy, Geneva, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/LTS1_Switzerland.pdf.
- 55 Figure 4 from Changing Transport, "Tracker of Climate Strategies for Transport", https://www.changing-transport.org/tracker (accessed 21 May 2021).
- 56 Box 3 from Changing Transport, "About the Tracker", https://www.changing-transport.org/about-the-database (accessed 21 May 2021).
- 57 UNFCCC, op. cit. note 46.
- 58 Ibid.
- 59 National Climate Change Secretariat (2020), Charting Singapore's Low Carbon and Climate Resilient Future, Singapore, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/SingaporeLongtermlowemissionsdevelopmentstrategy.pdf.
- 60 CO-designing the Assessment of Climate Change Costs (COACCH) (2018), The Economic Cost of Climate Change in Europe: Synthesis Report on State of Knowledge and Key Research Gaps, Brussels, https://www.ecologic.eu/sites/default/files/ publication/2018/2811-coacch-review-synthesis-updated-june-2018.pdf.
- 61 UNFCCC, "National Adaptation Plans", https://unfccc.int/topics/adaptation-and-resilience/workstreams/national-adaptation-plans (accessed 21 May 2021).
- 62 Ibid.
- 63 Ministry of Environment of Brazil (2016), National Adaptation Plan to Climate Change, Sectoral and Thematic Strategies, Volume II, Brasilia, https://www4.unfccc int/sites/NAPC/Documents/Parties/English_PNA_Part2%20v4.pdf.
- 64 Republic of Kenya (2016), Kenya National Adaptation Plan 2015-2030, Nairobi, https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/NAPC/Documents%20NAP/Kenya_NAP_Final.pdf.
- 65 Ministry of Mahaweli Development and Environment (2016), National Adaptation Plan for Climate Change Impacts in Sri Lanka (2016-2025), https://www4.unfccc. int/sites/NAPC/Documents%20NAP/National%20Reports/National%20Adaptation%20Plan%20of%20Sri%20Lanka.pdf
- 66 UNFCCC, "National Adaptation Programmes of Action", https://unfccc.int/topics/ resilience/workstreams/national-adaptation-programmes-of-action/introduction (accessed 21 May 2021).
- 67 Ibid.
- 68 Ibid. LDCs that had submitted NAPAs as of May 2021 include Afghanistan, Angola, Bangladesh, Benin, Bhutan, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cambodia, Cabo Verde, Central African Republic, Chad, Comoros, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Djibouti, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Gambia, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Haiti, Kiribati, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Lesotho, Liberia, Madagascar, Malawi, Maldives, Mali, Mauritania, Mozambique, Myanmar, Nepal, Niger, Rwanda, Samoa, Sao Tomé and Principe, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Solomon Islands, Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan, Tanzania, Timor-Leste, Togo, Tuvalu, Uganda, Vanuatu, Yemen and Zambia. (Note: Three of these countries have since graduated from the group: Cabo Verde, Equatorial Guinea and the Maldives).
- 69 Ministry of Rural Development, Fisheries, Handicraft and Environment, Union of the Comoros (2006), National Action Programme of Adaptation to Climate Change (NAPA), Moroni, https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/napa/com01e.pdf.
- 70 Democratic Republic of Timore-Leste (2010), Timor-Leste National Adaptation Programme of Action to Climate Change, Dill, https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/ napa/tls01.pdf.
- 71 Ministry of Natural Resources, Environment, Agriculture and Lands of Tuvalu (2007), Tuvalu's National Adaptation Programme of Action, Funafuti, https://unfccc. int/resource/docs/napa/tuv01.pdf.
- 72 Box 4 from the following sources: UNFCCC, op. cit. note 3; UNFCCC, "Overview - National Adaptation Plans", https://unfccc.int/topics/resilience/workstreams/ national-adaptation-plans/overview (accessed 21 May 2021); UNFCCC (2020), Climate Action Pathway: Climate Resilience Executive Summary, Bonn, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/ExecSumm_Resilience_0.pdf; UNFCCC (2020)

Climate Action Pathway: Climate Resilience Action Table, Bonn, https://unfccc.int/ sites/default/files/resource/Action_table%20_Resilience.pdf.

- 73 Government of Costa Rica (2020), Nationally Determined Contribution, San José, https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/Costa%20 Rica%20First/Contribucio%CC%81n%20Nacionalmente%20Determinada%20 de%20Costa%20Rica%202020%20-%20Versio%CC%81n%20Completa.pdf.
- 74 Ministry of Environment and Forestry, Government of the Republic of Kenya (2018), National Climate Change Action Plan 2018-2022, Nairobi, http://www. environment.go.ke/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/NCCAP_2018-2022_Executive-Summary-Compressed-1.pdf.
- 75 Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China (2020), "Statement by H.E. Xi Jinping President of the People's Republic of China at the General Debate of the 75th Session of the United Nations General Assembly", 22 September, https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_eng/zxxx_662805/t1817098.shtml.
- 76 European Commission (EC), "2030 Climate Target Plan", https://ec.europa.eu/ clima/policies/eu-climate-action/2030_ctp_en (accessed 21 May 2021).
- 77 EC (2020), Stepping Up Europe's 2030 Climate Ambition: Investing in a Climate-neutral Future for the Benefit of Our People, Brussels, https://ec.europa.eu clima/sites/clima/files/eu-climate-action/docs/com_2030_ctp_en.pdf.
- 78 O. Lah et al. (2020), National Urban Mobility Policies & Investment Programmes - Guidelines, Mobilise YourCity Partnership, Brussels, https://www.changing-transport.org/wp-content/uploads/2020_NUMP-Guidelines_ENG_WEB.pdf, EC (2021), "Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans", 16 May, https://ec.europa.eu/transport/ themes/urban-mobility/urban-mobility-actions/sustainable-urban_en.

3.2 Sustainable Mobility Planning and Transport Demand Management

- Victoria Transport Policy Institute, "Online TDM Encyclopedia", https://www.vtpi. org/tdm (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 2 F. Wefering et al. (2014), Guidelines: Developing and Implementing a Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan, European Commission (EC), Brussels, https://www.eltis. org/sites/default/files/guidelines-developing-and-implementing-a-sump_final_web_jan2014b.pdfhttps://www.eltis.org/sites/default/files/guidelines-developing-and-implementing-a-sump_final_web_jan2014b.pdf.
- 3 EC (2021), "Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans", 16 May, https://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/urban/urban-mobility/urban-mobility-actions/sustainable-urban_en (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 4 O. Lah et al. (2020), National Urban Mobility Policies & Investment Programmes - Guidelines, MobiliseYourCity Partnership, Brussels, https://www.changing-transport.org/wp-content/uploads/2020_NUMP-Guidelines_ENG_WEB.pdf.
- 5 Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (ITDP), "What is TOD?" https://www.itdp.org/library/standards-and-guides/tod3-0/what-is-tod (accessed 18 May 2021); SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport, "SLOCAT quick wins on transport, sustainable development and climate change", https://slocat.net/quick-wins/#1596506870966-d06e30d8-bc53 (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 6 TomTom International BV US (2020), "TomTom Traffic Index: Global traffic congestion up as Bengaluru takes crown of 'world's most traffic congested city", 29 January, https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2020/01/29/1976528/0/en/TomTomTraffic-Index-Global-Traffic-Congestion-Up-as-Bengaluru-takes-Crown-of-World-s-Most-Traffic-Congested-City.html.
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 BusinessTech (2020), "South Africa's 10 cities with the worst traffic", 15 March, https://businesstech.co.za/news/motoring/380069/south-africas-10-cities-withthe-worst-traffic.
- 9 A. Kożlak and D. Wach (2018), Causes of Traffic Congestion in Urban Areas. Case of Poland, University of Gdansk, Sopot, https://www.shs-conferences.org/articles/ shsconf/pdf/2018/18/shsconf_infoglob2018_01019.pdf.
- 10 TomTom International BV US, op. cit. note 6.
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 Ibid.
- 13 Ibid.
- 14 BusinessTech, op. cit. note 8.
- 15 A. Wagner and J-M. Joost (2019), International Fuel Prices Report 2018/19, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH, Eschborn, https://www.transformative-mobility.org/assets/site/GIZ-IFP-International-Fuel-Prices-Report-2019.pdf.

- 17 United Nations, "12. Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns", https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal12 (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 18 Wagner and Joost, op. cit. note 15.
- 19 Ibid.
- 20 Parkopedia (2019), Global Parking Index 2019, https://cdn2.hubspot.net/ hubfs/5540406/Whitepapers_research%20reports/Parkopedia-Global-Parking-Index-2019_Final_V2.pdf.

21 Ibid.

22 Table 1 from Ibid.

¹⁶ Ibid.

- 23 T. Leone (2020), "How feasible is working from home in developing countries?" Economics Observatory, 1 December, https://www.economicsobservatory.com/ how-feasible-working-home-developing-countries.
- 24 A. Hook et al. (2020), "A systematic review of the energy and climate impacts of teleworking", *Environmental Research Letters*, Vol. 15, IOP Publishing, p. 93003, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab8a84.
- 25 B. DePuyt (2020), "Analysts: More telework, change in habits could dramatically ease congestion", Maryland Matters, 14 August, https://www.marylandmatters. org/2020/08/14/analysts-more-telework-change-in-habits-could-dramatically-ease-congestion.
- 26 U. Lachapelle, G. A. Tanguay and L. Neumark-Gaudet (2018), "Telecommuting and sustainable travel: Reduction of overall travel time, increases in non-motorised travel and congestion relief?" *Urban Studies*, Vol. 55/10, SAGE Publications Ltd, pp. 2226-44, https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098017708985.
- 27 Leone, op. cit. note 23.
- 28 J. Berg, F. Bonnet and S. Soares (2020), "Working from home: Estimating the worldwide potential", Vox EU, 11 May, https://voxeu.org/article/working-home-estimating-worldwide-potential; J. M. Vassallo and P. C. Bueno (2019), Transport Challenges in Latin American Cities: Lessons Learnt from Policy Experiences, Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), Washington, D.C., https://publications. iadb.org/publications/english/document/Transport_Challenges_in_Latin_American_Cities_Lessons_Learnt_from_Policy_Experiences.pdf.
- 29 Transport and Environment (2019), "Low-emission zones are a success but they must now move to zero-emission mobility", https://www.transportenvironment.org/ sites/te/files/publications/2019_09_Briefing_LEZ-ZEZ_final.pdf.
- 30 D. Ku et al. (2020), "Review of European low emission zone policy", Chemical Engineering Transactions, Vol. 78, AIDIC Servizi, pp. 241-46, https://doi.org/10.3303/ CET2078041.
- 31 Greater London Authority (2019), Central London Ultra Low Emission Zone Six Month Report, London, https://www.london.gov.uk/WHAT-WE-DO/environment/ environment-publications/central-london-ulez-six-month-report.
- 32 Y. Bernard et al. (2020), "Impacts of the Paris low-emission zone and implications for other cities", International Council on Clean Transportation, 12 March, https:// theicct.org/publications/true-paris-low-emission-zone.
- 33 Transport and Environment, op. cit. note 29; A. Neslen (2019), "Madrid could become first European city to scrap low-emissions zone", *The Guardian* (UK), 31 May, https://www.theguardian.com/cities/2019/may/31/madrid-set-to-end-cleanair-project-in-rightwing-power-switch.
- 34 J. Porter (2018), "Madrid's ban on polluting vehicles cuts traffic by nearly 32 percent in some areas", The Verge, 3 December, https://www.theverge. com/2018/12/3/18123561/vehicle-emissions-pollution-ban-madrid-spain-traffic-decrease.
- 35 E. Cornago, A. Dimitropoulos and W. Oueslati (2019), Evaluating the Impact of Urban Road Pricing on the Use of Green Transport Modes: The Case of Milan, Environment Working Paper No. 143, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Paris, https://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=ENV/WKP(2019)28docLanguage=En.
- 36 Asian Development Bank (2019), Reducing Carbon Emissions from Transport Projects, Manila, https://www.eartheval.org/sites/ceval/files/evaluations/193%20 Reducing%20Carbon%20Emissions%20from%20Transport%20Projects.pdf.
- 37 McKinsey and Company (2009), Roads Toward a Low-Carbon Future: Reducing CO2 Emissions from Passenger Vehicles in the Global Road Transportation System, New York, https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/dotcom/client_service/ sustainability/pdfs/roads_toward_low_carbon_future_new.pdf.
- 38 F. Cavallaro, F. Giaretta and S. Nocera (2018), "The potential of road pricing schemes to reduce carbon emissions", *Transport Policy*, Vol. 67, Elsevier, pp. 85-92, https://ideas.repec.org/a/eee/trapol/v67y2018icp85-92.html.
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 Figure 1 from J. P. Bocarejo, R. L. López Ghio and A. B. Blanco (2018), Políticas de tarificación por congestión: Efectos potenciales y consideraciones para su implementación en Bogotá, Ciudad de México y Santiago, IDB, Washington, D.C., https:// publications.ladb.org/es/politicas-de-tarificacion-por-congestion-efectos-potenciales-y-consideraciones-para-su.
- 41 C40 Cities (2019), "How to design and implement a clean air or low emission zone", C40 Knowledge Hub, https://www.c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/How-todesign-and-implement-a-clean-air-or-low-emission-zone (accessed 18 May 2021). Figure 2 from various sources compiled in SLOCAT (2021), Transport Knowledge Base, https://slocat.net/our-work/knowledge-and-research/trakb.
- 42 Box from the following sources: A. Furillo (2020), "As society recovers from COVID-19, TDM can aid mobility's evolution from essential to sustainable", Mobility Lab, 1 May, https://mobilitylab.org/2020/05/01/as-society-recovers-from-covid-19-tdm-can-aid-mobilitys-evolution-from-essential-to-sustainable; Australia from M. J. Beck and D. A. Hensher (2020), "What might the changing incidence of working from home (WFH) tell us about future transport and land use agendas?" *Transport Reviews*, Vol. 41/3, Routledge, pp. 257-61, https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2020 .1848141; spread travel out from Interreg Europe (2020), "Making public transport safe in times of COVID-19", 7 October, https://www.interregeurope.eu/policylearning/news/9216/making-public-transport-safe-in-times-of-covid-19; time-extended ticket and limiting seats from C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group (2020), "Public transport after COVID-19: Re-building safe and connected cities", C40 Knowledge Hub, https://www.c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/Public-transport-after-COVID-19-re-building-safe-and-connected-cities (accessed 18 May 2021); increasing

capacity from Interreg Europe, op. cit. this note; Greater London Authority, op. cit. note 31; J. Lang LaSalle (2020), "Global commercial real estate markets feel impact of COVID-19", The Investor, 11 August, https://www.theinvestor.jll/ne e-markets-feel-impact-of-covid-19; long-term effects from S. Amelang (2020), "Corona crisis shakes up shift to sustainable urban mobility", Clean Energy Wire, 29 May, https://www.cleanenergy ft-sustainable-urban-mobility; Knight Foundation and Gehl (2021), Adaptive Public Space: Places for People in the Pandemic and Beyond, New York, https://knightfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/ npactAssessment_EXTERNAL-1.pdf; pop-up patios from Entuitive (2020), "Will coronavirus kill transit oriented development?" 18 June, https:// velopment; C. Teale (2020), "COVID-19 could boost interest in smaller cities' real estate: ULI", Smart Cities Dive, 29 October, https://www.smartcitiesdive covid-19-could-boost-interest-in-smaller-cities-real-estate-uli/587969; few changes to planning from Ernest and Young (2020), COVID-19 Impact on TOD Projects and Market Perspective, https://assets.ey.com/content/dam/ey-site topics/real-estate-hospitality-and-construction/pdf/ey-covid-19-impacts-on-tran-Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA), "Global sales statistics 2019-2020", https:// woica.net/category/sales-statistics (accessed 18 May 2021); congestion from Tom Tom, "Tom Tom Traffic Index", https://www.tomto (accessed 18 May 2021); Peru from S. Ibold et al. (2020), COVID-19 and Sustainable Mobility: Observations and Documentation of First Developments, TUMI and GIZ, Bonn and Eschborn, https://www.transformative-mobility.org/assets/publica-tions/2020_05_TUMI_COVID-19-and-Sustainable-Mobility.pdf; Radio Free Europe / Radio Liberty (2020), "Georgia tightens state of emergency with ban on driving private vehicles", 16 April, https://www.rferl.org/a cars-traffic-chikovani/30559959.html; B. Collie et al. (2020). "COVID-19's impact on the automotive industry", Boston Consulting Group, 1 December, ing-scenarios; Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative, "Avoid-Measures", https:// (accessed 18 May 2021). Figure 4 from T. Combs (2020), "Local actions to support walking and cycling during social distancing dataset", Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center, http:// (accessed 29 September 2020).

- 43 City of Ghent, "Low emission zone Ghent", https://stad.gent/en/mobility-ghent/ low-emission-zone-ghent (accessed 18 May 2021); Miljøzoner, "Where are the low emission zones?" https://miljoezoner.dk/en/where-are-the-low-emission-zones-indenmark (accessed 18 May 2021); Urban Access Regulations in Europe, "France", https://urbanaccessregulations.eu/countries-mainmenu-147/france (accessed 18 May 2021); D. Tobin (2019), "Clean air zone charges: Where are Britain's low emission zones?" Dennis Buyacar Ltd, 12 March, https://www.buyacar.co.uk/cars/ economical-cars/523/clean-air-zone-charges-where-are-britains-low-emissionzones; Kompas.com (2020), "The old city officially becomes a low emission area, not all vehicles are allowed to pass", 18 December, https://otomotif.kompas.com/ read/2020/12/18/140100015/kota-tua-resmi-menjadi-kawasan-rendah-emisi-taksemua-kendaraan-boleh-lewat.
- 44 C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group and Transport Decarbonisation Alliance (2020), "Zero emission zones for freight: Lessons from Beijing", May, https://www c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/Zero-Emission-Zones-for-Freight-Lessons-from-Beijing.
- 45 SolutionsPlus, "Demonstration City: Quito Ecuador", EC, http://www.solutionsplus.eu/quito.html.
- 46 Reuters (2020), "Spain to introduce low-emission zones amid 'climate emergency'", 21 January, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-spain-politics-climate/spainto-introduce-low-emission-zones-amid-climate-emergency-idUSKBN1ZK25U; A. Tena (2021), "Las cuidades de más de 50.000 habitantes deberán tener zonas de bajas emisiones a partir de 2023", Público, 23 February, https://www.publico. es/sociedad/ley-cambio-climatico-cludades-50000-habitantes-deberan-zonas-bajas-emisiones-partir-2023.html.
- 47 S. Burgen (2019), "Barcelona to open southern Europe's biggest low-emissions zone", The Guardian (UK), 31 December, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2019/dec/31/barcelona-to-open-southern-europes-biggest-low-emissionszone.
- 48 MobiliseYourCity, "About MobiliseYourCity Africa", https://www.mobiliseyourcity. net/node/294 (accessed 27 May 2021); S. Böhler (2019), "SUMPs for Latin America", Rupprecht Consult GmbH, https://www.rupprecht-consult.eu/project/ sumps-for-latin-america.html.
- 49 Figure 3 from SLOCAT calculations based on GIZ, MobiliseYourCity and others.
- 50 SLOCAT (2018), Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report 2018, http:// www.slocat.net/wp-content/uploads/legacy/slocat_transport-and-climate-change-2018-web.pdf.
- 51 Consejo Nacional De Política Económica Y Social and Conpes (2020), Política Nacional De Movilidad Urbana y Regional, Bogotá, https://colaboracion.dnp.gov. co/CDT/Conpes/Econ%C3%B3micos/3991.pdf.
- 52 ITDP (2020), Ethiopia Non-Motorised Transport Strategy 2020-2029, New York, https://www.unenvironment.org/resources/policy-and-strategy/ethiopia-non-motorised-transport-strategy-2020-2029.
- 53 C. Kost et al. (2021), Kisumu Sustainable Mobility Plan, ITDP, New York, https:// africa.itdp.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Kisumu-Sustainable-Mobility-Plan-200717,pdf.
- 54 Secretariat of Mobility, Government of Mexico City (2019), Plan estratégico de movilidad de la Cuidad de México 2019, Mexico City, https://semovi.cdmx.gob.mx/

- storage/app/media/uploaded-files/plan-estrategico-de-movilidad-2019.pdf.
- 55 Victoria Transport Policy Institute (2019), "Complete streets: Designing roads for diverse modes, users and activities", 6 September, https://www.vtpi.org/tdm/ tdm133.htm.
- 56 E. Blomstrom, A. Gauthier and C. Jang (2018), Access and Gender, ITDP, New York, https://itdpdotorg.wpengine.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/access_for_all_series_1_baja.pdf.
- 57 WRI Brasil (2019), "De Rua Completa em Rua Completa, cidades requalification espaços púbicos para as pessoas", 11 August, https://wribrasil.org.br/pt/ blog/2019/11/de-rua-completa-em-rua-completa-cidades-brasileiras-devolvem-espacos-publicos-as-pessoas.
- 58 Complete Streets for Canada (2020), "The growing evidence base for complete streets" 29 October, https://www.completestreetsforcanada.ca/resources/academ ic-literature-review-october-2020.
- 59 Smart Growth America, "Complete Street policies nationwide", https://smartgrowthamerica.org/program/national-complete-streets-coalition/publications/ policy-development/policy-atlas (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 60 A. Vela (2020), "Cycling towards the 15-minute cities", European Cyclists' Federation, 12 August, https://ecf.com/news-and-events/news/cycling-towards-15-minute-cities (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 61 Ibid.
- 62 Victoria State Government, "Plan Melbourne 2017-2050", https://www.planmelbourne.vic.gov.au/current-projects/20-minute-neighbourhoods (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 63 E. DeSandoli (2021), Complete Streets in the 15 Minute City, Centre for Active Transportation, https://www.completestreetsforcanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Complete-Streets-and-the-15-Minute-City.pdf.
- 64 F. O'Sullivan (2020), "Paris mayor: It's time for a '15-minute city'", Bloomberg CityLab, 18 February, https://www.citylab.com/environment/2020/02/paris-election-anne-hidalgo-city-planning-walks-stores-parks/606325.
- 65 C40 Cities Climate Change Leadership Group and C40 Knowledge Hub (2020), "Public transport after COVID-19: re-building safe and connected cities", June, https://www.c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/Public-transport-after-COVID-19re-building-safe-and-connected-cities; POLIS (2020), "Madrid announces suite of public transport measures as city recovers from COVID", 29 May, https://www. polisnetwork.eu/article/madrid-announces-suite-of-public-transport-measuresas-city-recovers-from-covid; Government of Dubai (2020), "Additional measures to protect metro, bus and taxi riders", 25 March 2020, https://web.archive.org/ web/20200814051004/https://www.rta.ae/wps/portal/ta/ae/home/news-andmedia/all-news/NewsDetails/additional-measures-to-protect-metro-bus-and-taxiriders.
- 66 C40 Cities, "Transit Oriented Development", https://www.c40.org/networks/transit-oriented-development (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 67 EC (2019), "New Guidelines for Sustainable Urban Mobility Planning", 10 February, https://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/urban/news/2019-10-02-new-guide-lines-sump_en (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 68 Global Designing Cities Initiative, "About GDCI", https://globaldesigningcities.org/ about-gdci (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 69 ITDP (2017), TOD Standard, New York, https://itdpdotorg.wpengine.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/TOD_printable.pdf.
- 70 ITDP (2018), Pedestrians First: Tools for a Walkable City, New York, https://itdpdotorg.wpengine.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/pedestrians_FINAL.pdf.
- 71 Changing Transport, "MobiliseYourClty Partnership", https://www.changing-transport.org/project/mobiliseyourcity-partnership (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 72 Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (2021), "Together for a better mobility future", https://www.transformative-mobility.org/about.
- 73 If not stated otherwise, then the assessment of policy landscape indicators is based on desk research with a focus on the 31 country fact sheets and on information outlined in the section. More countries might have such policies in place or similar policies implemented. Data on congestion charging zones, low-emission zones, vehicle restrictions and SUMPs are based on various sources, outlined in SLOCAT, op. cit. note 42; diesel and petrol prices from TUMI (2020), International Fuel Prices Report 2018/19, https://www.transformative-mobility.org/assets/site/ GIZ-IFP-International-Fuel-Prices-Report-2019.pdf.
- 74 Ministry of Transport of Malaysia (2019), National Transport Policy 2019-2030, Putrajaya, https://www.pmo.gov.my/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/National-Trans port-Policy-2019_2030EN.pdf.
- 75 Secretariat of Mobility, Government of Mexico City, op. cit. note 54.
- 76 Figure 5 from Electric Vehicle Working Group, Proposed Electric Vehicle Roadmap for San Francisco, SF Environment, https://sfenvironment.org/sites/default/files/ filers/files/sfe_tr_ev-roadmap.pdf.
- 77 San Francisco Planning, "Transportation Demand Management Program", https:// sfplanning.org/transportation-demand-management-program (accessed 18 May 2021); A. Tirachini (2020), "Ride-hailing, travel behaviour and sustainable mobility: An international review," *Transportation*, Vol. 47/4, Springer, pp. 2011-47, https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11116-019-10070-2.
- 78 Zambia Ministry of Transport and Communications, United Nations Environment Programme and ITDP (2019), Zambia Non-Motorised Transport Strategy,
- https://www.unenvironment.org/resources/policy-and-strategy/zambia-non-motorised-transport-strategy.

- 79 A. Mian (2020), "Complete customs exemption on electric vehicles", Ekantipur, 28 February, https://ekantipur.com/national/2020/02/28/158286051727991655.html.
- 80 Land Transport Authority, Government of Singapore (2020), "Land Transport Master Plan 2040", 6 June, https://www.lta.gov.sg/content/ltagov/en/who_we_are/ our_work/land_transport_master_plan_2040.html; C. Tan (2020), "Zero growth rate for cars to remain till Jan 2022", Straits Times Singapore, 14 August, https:// www.straitstimes.com/singapore/transport/zero-growth-rate-for-cars-to-remain-tilljan-2022-0.
- 81 International Institute for Sustainable Development (2019), "South Africa launches Green Transport Strategy", 2 July, http://sdg.iisd.org/news/south-africa-launches-green-transport-strategy.
- 82 D. Saygin et al. (2019), Transport Sector Transformation: Integrating Electric Vehicles in Turkey's Distribution Grids, SHURA Energy Transition Center, https:// www.shura.org.tr/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Transport-sector-transformation. Integrating-electric-vehicles-into-Turkey's-distribution-grids.pdf.
- 83 EC (2020), Sustainable and Smart Mobility Strategy Putting European Transport on Track for the Future, Brussels, https://ec.europa.eu/transport/sites/transport/ files/legislation/com20200789.pdf.
- 84 MobiliseYourCity (2019), "MobiliseYourCity Africa 3rd Conference Yoaunde", https://mobiliseyourcity.net/node/306.
- 85 International Transport Forum (2020), The Future of Passenger Mobility and Goods Transport in Estonia, OECD/ITF, Paris, https://www.itf-oecd.org/future-passenger-mobility-goods-transport-estonia; Elitis (2019), "Estonia", 28 May, https://www. eltis.org/mobility-plans/member-state/estonia.
- 86 Ministry of Ecological Transition, Italy, "Programma Di Incentivazione Della Mobilità Urbana Sostenibile (PRIMUS)", https://www.minambiente.it/pagina/primus (accessed 20 September 2020).
- 87 Ibid.
- 88 Euromobility (2021), "The Observatory SUMPs in Italy: State of the art", 31 December, https://www.osservatoriopums.it/osservatorio/pums.
- 89 Euroclima+, "Plan to strengthen sustainable mobility in the City of Antofagasta", https://euroclimaplus.org/movilidad/sump-antofagasta (accessed 18 May 2021); Balkan Green Energy News (2020), "Advancing sustainable urban mobility in Western Balkan capitals: Tirana, Sarajevo SUMPs moving forward", 8 July, https:// balkangreenenergynews.com/advancing-sustainable-urban-mobility-in-western-balkan-capitals-tirana-sarajevo-sumps-moving-forward.
- 90 Metro de Bogotá, "Modelo de Captura de Valor PLMB", https://www.metrodebogota.gov.co/sites/default/files/documentos/5.%20Captura%20de%20Valor%20 PLMB%20-%20R3.pdf (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 91 Urban Sustainability Exchange, "Transit Oriented Development Strategy in Quito", https://use.metropolis.org/case-studies/transit-oriented-development-in-quito (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 92 D. P. Willis et al. (2016), Modelo de Implementación de DOT en la Zona Metropolitana de Guadalajara, ITDP Mexico, Mexico City, http://mexico.itdp.org/wp-content/ uploads/Modelo-de-Implementaci%C3%B3n-de-DOT-en-la-Zona-Metropolitana-de-Guadalajara,pdf.
- 93 O. Mathenge (2019), "Inside the Sh28 billion 'Railway City' plan to expand Nairobi's CBD", The Star, 13 October, https://www.the-star.co.ke/news/2019-10-13inside-the-sh28-billion-railway-city-plan-to-expand-nairobis-cbd.
- 94 D. Ehl (2020), "Netherlands reluctantly introduces reduced speed limit", DW Akademie, 16 March, https://www.dw.com/en/netherlands-reluctantly-introduces-reduced-speed-limit/a-52796095.
- 95 A. Marie (2020), "30 is the new 50: The Dutch reduce the default speed limit nation-wide", European Cyclists' Federation, 28 October, https://ecf.com/newsand-events/news/30-new-50-dutch-reduce-default-speed-limit-nation-wide.
- 96 Government of Spain (2020), "El Gobierno impulse un nuevo modelo de seguridad vial para reducir los accidents de tráfico", 10 November, https://www. lamoncloa.gob.es/consejodeministros/resumenes/Paginas/2020/101120-cminis tros.aspx.
- 97 Economic Times (2019), "NHAI starts electronic toll collection at national highways pan-India", 15 December, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/ economy/infrastructure/nhai-starts-electronic-toll-collection-at-national-highways pan-india/articleshow/72695564.cms.
- 98 New York State, "Congestion surcharge", https://www.tax.ny.gov/bus/cs/csidx.htm (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 99 C. Spivack (2020), "Congestion pricing delayed as new car owners threaten to slow New York to a crawl", Curbed New York, 15 July, https://ny.curbed. com/2020/7/15/21324020/congestion-pricing-delayed-mta-cars-slow-new-yorkcity.
- 100 S. Qiu (2019), "Opinions split on Beijing's congestion charge, but many support its intended goals", The City Fix, https://thecityfix.com/blog/opinions-split-beijings-congestion-charge-many-support-intended-goals-shiyong-qiu; Folha de S. Paulo (2012), "Pedágio urbano e incineração de lixo estão entre as propostas da SP 2040", https://www1.folha.uol.com.br/cotidiano/2012/11/1184743-pedagio-urbano-e-incineracao-de-lixo-estão-entre-as-propostas-da-sp-2040.shtml; J. Cortês (2014), "Cobros por Congestión para desestimular el uso del carro particular", Mayor of Bogotá, 9 April, https://bogota.gov.co/mi-ciudad/movilidad/ cobros-por-congestion-para-desestimular-el-uso-del-carro-particular; San Francisco County Transportation Authority, "Downtown congestion pricing", https://www. sfcta.org/downiown (accessed 18 May 2021).
- 101 Canadian Architect (2020), "Edmonton city council votes to eliminate parking

minimums", 30 June, https://www.canadianarchitect.com/edmonton-city-council-votes-to-eliminate-parking-minimums.

- 102 F. O'Sullivan (2019), "A modest proposal to eliminate 11,000 urban parking spots", Bloomberg CityLab, 29 March, https://www.citylab.com/transportation/2019/03/ amsterdam-cars-parking-spaces-bike-lanes-trees-green-left/586108.
- 103 M. Modijefsky (2019), "Warsaw announces mobility measures to improve air quality", Eltis, 27 November, https://www.eltis.org/in-brief/news/warsaw-announces-mobility-measures-improve-air-quality.
- 104 SLOCAT, op. cit. note 50.

3.3 Walking and Cycling

- R. Kager and L. Harms (2017), Synergies from Improved Cycling-Transit Integration: Towards an Integrated Urban Mobility System, International Transport Forum (ITF), Tokyo, https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/improved-cycling-transit-integration-synergies.pdf.
- Box based on the following sources: World Health Organization (WHO) (2020), "Moving Around During the COVID-19 Outbreak", Geneva, https://www.euro. who.int/en/health-topics/health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/publicaduring-the-covid-19-outbreak: more than 194 cities from T. Combs. "Local actions to support walking and cycling during social distancing dataset", Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center, http://pedbikeinfo.org/resources/re rid=5209 (accessed 29 September 2020); Transport for London, "Streetspace for London", https://tfl.gov.uk/t ce-for-london (accessed 27 May 2021); L. Laker (2020), "Milan announce es ambitious scheme to reduce car use after lockdown", The Guardian (UK), 21 April, https://www.theguardian.com/world/202 post-crisis-return-of-traffic-pollution: Tel Aviv-Yafo, Cape Town and Barcelona from Global Transport Knowledge Partnership (gTKP), International Road Federation "Walking", https://staging.gtkp.com/themepage.php&themepgid=473 (27 May 2021); European Cyclists' Federation (ECF), "COVID-19 Cycling Measures Tracker", https://ecf.com/dashboard (accessed 27 May 2021); Ministry of Housing and Urban Affairs, Government of India, "India Cycles4Change Challenge", http://www.ukana.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/andia.com/an tnet.niua.org/indiacyclechallenge (accessed 27 May 2021); A. Subramanian, "Prioritising streets for people: Reimagining Indian cities", Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (ITDP) India, https://v imagining-indian-cities (accessed 25 May 2021); Covid Mobility Works (2020), "Conversion of a street section into a temporary pedestrian zone in Mombasa", 1 December, https://www.covidmobilityworks.org/re Turin from National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO), "Streets for pandemic response & recovery", https://nacto.org/publication/stre merging-street-strategies/school-streets (accessed 25 May 2021); C. Ramsay (2020), "Edmonton adusts roads, pedestrian call buttons to promote physical distancing", Global News, 8 April, https://globalnews.ca/ cal-distance; Los Angeles Department of Transport, "Additional neighborhoods see pedestrian crossing signals converted to touch-free activation", https:// an-crossing-signals-converted-touch-free (accessed 25 May 2021); POLIS (2020), "Australia launches automated pedestrian crossings to reduce virus spread", 4 January, https://www.polisnetwork.eu/article/australia-laund destrian-crossings-to-reduce-virus-spread: 7% increase from S. Kraus and N. Koch (2020), "Effects of pop-up bike lanes on cycling in European cities", Berlin and Potsdam, https://arxiv.org/pdf/2008.05883.pdf; Greater London Authority (2020), "Mayor's bold new Streetspace plan will overhaul London's streets", Mayor of London, 6 May, https://www.london.gov. -will-overhaul-capitals-streets; A. Alfred and A. Goodman (2021), "The impact of low traffic neighbourhoods on active travels, car use, and perceptions of local environment during the COVID-19 pandemic", Findings, 17 March, https:// demic; Department for Transport, Office for Zero Emission Vehicles, Office for Low Emission Vehicles, and the Tr Hon Grant Shapps MP (2020), "€2 billion package to create new era for cycling and walking", 9 May, https://www.gov.uk/ ackage-to-create-new-era-for-cycling-and-walking; A. Puentes (2020), "Ciclovías temporales llegaron para quedarse, aún después de cuarentena", El Tiempo, 20 May, https://www.eltiempo.com/bogota/coronavirus-en-bo es-se-quedaran-despues-de-la-cuarentena-497782: M. Woods (2020), "Paris's temporary bike lanes to become permanent after Hidalgo's re-election", RFI France, 7 January, https://www.rfi.fr/en/france/20200701-paris green-pollution-cars: Bicentario Perú (2020), "Executive Presidency Resolution No. 065-2020-ATU-PE", 19 May, https://www.gob.pe/institucion/a legales/633614-065-2020-atu-pe; H. Zamarrón (2020), "El auge de las ciclovías emergentes en México", Milenio, 27 August, https://www.milenio.com/opinion City of Melbourne (2020), "Fast-tracking 40 kilometres of new bike lanes in Melbourne", 15 June, https://www.melbourne.vic.gov.au/news-and-m ast-tracking-40-kilometres-of-new-bike-lanes-in-Melbourne aspx: retail sales from J. Van Schaik (2020), "Corona brings extraordinary sales growth in US", Bike-EU, 23 June, https://www.bike-eu.com/sales-tre ales-growth-in-us- 10138119; R. Morley (2020), "1.3 million UK consumers 'bought a bike during COVID-19'", Bikebiz, 22 June, https://www.bike biz.com/1-3-million-uk-consumers-have-bought-a-bike-since-covid-19-hit; Google

(2021), "Best electric bike", https://trends.google.com/trends/explore?q=Best%20 Electric%20Bike (accessed 27 May 2021); for a thorough review of the situation of bike sales in several geographies, see T. Ricker and A. J. Hawkins (2020), "Cities are transforming as electric bike sales skyrocket", The Verge, 14 May, https:// www.theverge.com/2020/5/14/21258412/city-bike-lanes-open-streets-ebikesales-bicyclist-pedestrian; S. Roy (2020), "Why India is turning to bicycles again", Times of India, 15 June, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/why-india-isturning-to-cycles-again/articleshow/76380819.cms; Philippines from South China Morning Post (2020), "More people take up cycling because of the coronavirus pandemic, and bicycle sales go through the roof", 6 July, https://www.scmp.com/ lifestyle/health-wellness/article/3091944/two-wheels-good-world-gets-its-bikeamid-coronavirus; Indian Express (2020), "Pandemic leads to a bicycle boom, and shortage, around the world", 15 June, https://indianexpress.com/article/world/ bicycle-cycle-sales-world-corona-pandemic-6459485; The Independent (2020), "Bicycle mechanics register boom in number of clients", 13 April, https://www.independent.co.ug/bicycle-mechanics-register-boom-in-number-of-clients; Glasgow Centre of Population Health (2020), "Walking during the lockdown in Scotland", 9 July 2020, https://www.gcph.co.uk/latest/news/946_walking_during_the_lockdown_in_scotland.

- 3 R. Cervero (2013), Transport Infrastructure and the Environment: Sustainable Mobility and Urbanism, University of California, Berkeley, https://iurd.berkeley.edu/ wp/2013-03.pdf.
- 4 UN-Habitat (2013), "Chapter 2: The State of Urban Transport", in Planning and Design for Sustainable Urban Mobility: Global Report on Human Settlements 2013, Routledge, New York, https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/download-manager-files/Planning%20and%20Design%20for%20Sustainable%20Urban%20Mobility pdf. Figure 1 based on various sources, summarised in SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport (2021), "Transport Knowledge Base", https:// slocat.net/our-work/knowledge-and-research/trakb (accessed 12 May 2021).
- 5 R. S. Tolley (2003), Sustainable Transport: Planning for Walking and Cycling in Urban Environments, Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge, https://www.worldcat. org/title/sustainable-transport-planning-for-walking-and-cycling-in-urban-environments/oclo/58468250.
- 6 J. Pucher and R. Buehler (2008), "Making cycling irresistible: Lessons from the Netherlands, Denmark and Germany", *Transport Reviews*, Vol. 28/4, Routledge, pp. 495-528, https://doi.org/10.1080/01441640701806612; M. Suzuki and H. Nakamura (2017), *Bike Share Deployment and Strategies in Japan*, ITF, Tokyo, https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/bike-share-deployment-strategies-japan_0.pdf.
- 7 Worldometer, "Bicycles produced this year", https://www.worldometers.info/ bicycles (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 8 The 63 minutes in low-income countries can be regarded as mostly walking, but the survey did not differentiate between walking and cycling in the data collection. WHO calculations based on GPAQ, Survey data from 2002 to 2016.
- 9 R. Cervero (2013), "Linking urban transport and land use in developing countries", Journal of Transport and Land Use, Vol. 6/1, University of Minnesota, pp. 7-24, https://doi.org/10.5198/jtlu.v6i1.425.
- 10 J. Oortwijn (2019), "World Cycling Index points to increasing bike use", Bike Europe, 18 June, https://www.bike-eu.com/home/nieuws/2019/07/worldwide-cycling-index-points-to-increasing-bike-use-10136185.
- 11 D. Sauter et al. (2018), "Walkability and the amount of walking", presentation at Walk21 conference in Bogotá, 17 October, https://files.designer.hoststar. ch/8f/45/8f453ff5-7bb9-47fb-ad9e-2095c1abce76.pdf.
- 12 G. Frame, A. Ardila-Gomez and Y. Chen (2017), "The kingdom of the bicycle: What Wuhan can learn from Amsterdam", *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 25, Elsevier B.V., pp. 5040-58, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2017.05.203.

- 14 E. A. Bouman et al. (2017), "State-of-the-art technologies, measures, and potential for reducing GHG emissions from shipping – a review", *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Elsevier Ltd, Vol. 52, pp. 408-21, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.03.022.
- 15 Figure 2 from WHO (2018), Global Status Report on Road Safety 2018, Geneva, https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/global-status-report-on-road-safety-2018.
- 16 UK Aid et al. (2021), "Valuing walking: Priorities for valuing and investing in African cities", High Volume Transport Applied Research.
- 17 WHO (2011), Decade of Action for Road Safety 2011-2020, Geneva, https://www. who.int/publications/m/item/decade-of-action-for-road-safety-2011-2020--globallaunch.
- 18 Action Vision Zero, https://actionvisionzero.org (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 19 R. Aldred, J. Woodcock and A. Goodman (2015), "Does more cycling mean more diversity in cycling?" *Transport Reviews*, 25 February, https://doi.org/10.1080/0144 1647.2015.1014451.
- 20 J. Garrard, S. Handy and J. Dill (2012), "Women and cycling", in J. R. Pucher and R. Buehler, *City Cycling*, MIT Press, Cambridge, pp. 211-34, https://mitpress.mit.edu/books/city-cycling.
- 21 T. M. Pollard and J. M. Wagnild (2017), "Gender differences in walking (for leisure, transport and in total) across adult life: A systematic review", *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 17/1, BioMed Central Ltd., p. 341, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4253-4.
- 22 Ramboll Smart Mobility (2021), Gender and (Smart) Mobility, Denmark, https:// ramboll.com/-/media/files/rgr/documents/markets/transport/g/gender-and-mobility_report.pdf.
- 23 Kollektivtrafikk-Foreningen (2021), "Gender and (Smart) Mobility Green Paper

¹³ Ibid.

2021", 12 March, https://kollektivtrafikk.no/publikasjoner/gender-and-smart-mobility-green-paper-2021 (accessed 27 May 2021).

- 24 Sustainable Urban Transport Project (2020), "Bicycles unite! How to strengthen and encourage women's daily bicycle mobility in Bogotá", 3 February, https:// www.sutp.org/bicycles-unite-how-to-strengthen-and-encourage-womens-daily-bicycle-mobility-in-bogota.
- 25 D. Hembrow (2011), "Who cycles in the Netherlands? Everyone cycles in the Netherlands!" A View from the Cycle Path, 13 February, http://www.aviewfromthecyclepath.com/2011/02/who-cycles-in-netherlands.html.
- 26 L. J. Sibilski and F. Targa (2020), "An old solution to new challenges: The rebirth of the cargo bike", World Bank, 16 January, https://blogs.worldbank.org/transport/ old-solution-new-challenges-rebirth-cargo-bike.
- 27 Ibid.
- 28 Ibid.
- 29 ECF (2012), "Cargo bike crazy: The potential of delivering goods by bike", 4 December, https://ecf.com/news-and-events/news/cargo-bike-crazy-potential-delivering-goods-bike-0.
- 30 R. Sims et al. (2014), "Transport", in Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge and New York, https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ ipcc_wg3_ar5_chapter8.pdf. Figure 3 from SLOCAT calculations based on the following sources: TNMT (2021), "The environmental impact of today's transport types", http:// (accessed 25 May 2021); Asian Development Bank and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH GIZ (2011), Changing Course in Urban Transport, https://www.sutp.org/files/contents/documents/re GIZ_SUTP_changing-course-urban-transport-illustrated-guide.pdf; H. Nguyen, F. Montgomery and P. Timms, "Should motorcycle be blamed for traffic congestion in Vietnamese cities?" CODATU, http://www.codatu.org/wp-content/uploads notorcycle-be-blamed-for-traffic-congestion-in-vietnamese-cities-Hien NGUYEN-Franck-MONTGOMERY-Paul-TIMMS.pdf; TUMI, Passenger Capacity of Different Transport Modes, https://www.transformative-mobility.org/assets/publica-
- 31 A. Neves and C. Brand (2019), "Assessing the potential for carbon emissions savings from replacing short car trips with walking and cycling using a mixed GPS-travel diary approach", *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, Vol. 123, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 130-46, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2018.08.022; D. P. Piatkowski, K. J. Krizek and S. L. Handy (2015), "Accounting for the short term substitution effects of walking and cycling in sustainable transportation", *Travel Behaviour and Society*, Vol. 2/1, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 32-41, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tbs.2014.07.004.
- 32 CDP and ICLEI (2020), "2020 Full Cities Dataset", https://data.cdp.net/Governance/2020-Full-Cities-Dataset/eja6-zden (accessed 7 October 2020).
- 33 Deloitte (2018), "Deloitte City Mobility Index: Hong Kong", https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/4331_Deloitte-City-Mobility-Index/ HongKong_GlobalCityMobility_WEB.pdf; Deloitte (2018), "Deloitte City Mobility Index: Singapore", https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/4331_Deloitte-City-Mobility-Index/city-mobility/Index_SINGAPORE_FINAL_ pdf; Mobilitätsagentur Wien (2020), *Vienna Mobility Report 2019*, Vienna, https:// www.fahrradwien.at/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/04/Mob_Report_EN_2019_ RZscreen.pdf; L. Cavallasca (2019), "Indicators: Urban Traffic 2025 (2018)", City of Zurich, 3 July, https://www.stadt-zuerich.ch/ted/de/index/taz/verkehr/webartikel/ webartikel_stadtverkehr2025.html#modalsplit_von_oevvelo-undfussverkehrerhoehen.
- 34 Copenhagenize (2019), "06. Bordeaux", Copenhagenize Index 2019, https://copenhagenizeindex.eu/cities/bordeaux (accessed 1 June 2021); M. Sutton (2017), "Netherlands further builds on cycling's modal share, hitting 51% in Utrecht", Cycling Industry News, 26 October, https://cyclingindustry.news/netherlands-further-builds-on-cyclings-modal-share-hitting-51-in-utrecht.
- 35 J. E. Bourne et al. (2020), "The impact of e-cycling on travel behaviour: A scoping review", Journal of Transport and Health, Vol. 19, Elsevier Ltd, p. 100910, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2020.100910.
- 36 J. Oortwijn (2019), "Giant to sell 600,000 e-bikes this year", Bike-EU, 17 October, https://www.bike-eu.com/home/nieuws/2019/10/giant-to-sell-600000-e-bikesthis-year-10136791; Bike-EU (2020), "Taiwan's 2019 e-bike exports exceeds all expectations", 3 June, https://www.bike-eu.com/sales-trends/nieuws/2020/06/ taiwans-2019-e-bike-exports-exceeds-all-expectations-10137981; P. Lee et al. (2019), Technology, Media, and Telecommunications Predictions 2020, Deloitte Development LLC, https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/722835_tmt-predictions-2020/DI_TMT-Prediction-2020.pdf.
- 37 Lee et al., op. cit. note 36.
- 38 J. Oortwijn (2020), "2019 brings undiminished high demand for e-bikes in Holland", Bike-EU, 21 January, https://www.bike-eu.com/market/nieuws/2020/01/2019-brings-undiminished-high-demand-for-e-bikes-in-holland-10137216.
- 39 Focus Taiwan (2020), "Taiwan records 21% increase in electric bike exports: Trade body", 15 September, https://focustaiwan.tw/business/202009150028.
- 40 Kager and Harms, op. cit. note 1.
- 41 Rotterdam Walks (2020), Rotterdam Walks 2025, City of Rotterdam, https:// www.rotterdam.nl/vrije-tijd/lopen/Rotterdam_Loopt_2025_Gemeente-Rotterdam-DEF-ENGELS-TOEGANKELIJK_DEF2.pdf.

- 42 Queensland Government (2019), Queensland Walking Strategy, State of Queensland, https://www.tmr.qld.gov.au/-/media/Travelandtransport/Pedestrians-and-walking/Queensland-Walking-Strategy-2019-2029.pdf.
- 43 U. Bauer (2018), Geht doch! Grundzüge einer bundersweiten Fußverkehrsstrategie, German Federal Environment Agency, https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/ publikationen/geht-doch; C. Adriazola-Steil and A. Schwedhelm (2020), "Walking the talk: What can we learn from Germany's new pedestrian policy framework?" CityFix, 20 February, https://thecityfix.com/blog/walking-talk-can-learn-germanys-new-pedestrian-policy-framework-2-claudia-adriazola-steil-alejandro-schwedhelm.
- 44 M. Jüssi (2017), Tallinn Region Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan 2035, Estonian Road Administration / Tallinn Transport Department, Tallinn, https://www.mnt.ee/ sites/default/files/content-editors/Failid/Yldine/tallinn_sump_june2017_fesmsteering.pdf.
- 45 UK Aid et al., op. cit. note 16.
- 46 I-CmiiST (2018), "First cycling lane in Kampala", 22 August 2018, https://cmiist. wordpress.com/2018/08/22/first-cycling-lane-in-kampala.
- 47 Lagos State Ministry of Transportation et al. (2018), Lagos Non-Motorised Transport Policy: Empowering Pedestrians and Cyclists for a Better City, Lagos, pp. 11, 12, http://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/25415/Lagos_NMT-Policy.pdf.
- 48 Archydede (2020), "The 7 keys to the regulation of the Bicycle Use Law that you should know", 6 June 2020, https://web.archive.org/web/20201220100613/ https://www.archyde.com/clic-aqui-the-7-keys-to-the-regulation-of-the-bicycle-use-law-that-you-should-know-bicycle-law-n-30936-peru-society.
- 49 Municipal Public Company of Mobility, Transit and Transportation of Cuenca, "Consejo Contonal aprueba Ordenanza para promoción y fortalecimiento de la movilidad activa en el cantón Cuenca", https://www.emov.gob.ec/concejo-cantonal-aprueba-ordenanza-para-promocion-y-fortalecimiento-de-la-movilidad-activa-en-el-canton-cuenca (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 50 P. Kim and E. Dumitrescu (2010), Share the Road: Investment in Walking and Cycling Road Infrastructure, United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), Nairobi, https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/7890/-Investment%20in%20Walking%20and%20%20Cycling%20Road%20Infrastructure%20 %20Share%20the%20Road_-2010984.pdf.
- 51 City of Skopje (2019), Advancement Plan Bicycle Traffic 2019-2021, Skopje, https:// skopje.gov.mk/media/4370/predlog-plan-za-unapreduvanje-na-velosipedski-soobrakaj-2019-2021.pdf; S. Zimbabwe, "Bicycle Master Plan", City of Seattle, https:// www.seattle.gov/transportation/document-library/citywide-plans/modal-plans/ bicycle-master-plan (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 52 ITDP Africa (2019), "Reclaiming pedestrian spaces on the streets of Mombasa", 3 April 2019, https://africa.itdp.org/along-kenyas-coast-streets-maneuver-to-accommodate-more-than-just-cars.
- 53 A. Schubert (2019), "1.6 billion euros for new cycle paths", Süddeutsche Zeitung, 11 December, https://www.sueddeutsche.de/muenchen/muenchen-radwege-1-6-milliarden-euro-buergerbegehren-1.4719690.
- 54 J. Bray (2020), "Cycling and pedestrian projects to get €360m, parties agree", Irish Times, 15 June, https://www.irishtimes.com/news/politics/cycling-and-pedestrianprojects-to-get-360m-parties-agree-1.4279850.
- 55 R. van der Zee (2016), "Could intercity cycle highways revolutionise the daily commute?" 20 June 2016, The Guardian (UK), https://www.theguardian.com/ cities/2016/jun/30/intercity-cycle-highways-revolutionise-daily-commute.
- 56 C. Horn (2016), "RS1 Bicycle Highway No 1 Germany", Urban Planet, 1 October 2016, http://urbanplanet.info/europe/bike-highway-n1-germany.
- 57 International Energy Agency (IEA) (2020), "Employment multipliers for investment in the transport sector", 17 June, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/ employment-multipliers-for-investment-in-the-transport-sector.
- 58 ECF, "Support the European Cyclists' Federation", https://ecf.com/what-we-do/cycling-economy/jobs-and-job-creation-european-cycling-sector (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 59 B. Welle et al. (2015), Cities Safer by Design, World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C., https://www.wri.org/publication/cities-safer-design.
- 60 J. Pucher and R. Buehler (2016), "Safer cycling through improved infrastructure", American Journal of Public Health, American Public Health Association Inc., https:// doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303507.
- 61 WHO (2021), "Decade of Action for Road Safety 2021-2030", https://www.who.int/ groups/united-nations-road-safety-collaboration/decade-of-action-for-road-safety-2021-2030 (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 62 UK Aid et al., op. cit. note 16.
- 63 J. Murray (2020), "How Helsinki and Oslo cut pedestrian deaths to zero", The Guardian (UK), 16 March, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/mar/16/howhelsinki-and-oslo-cut-pedestrian-deaths-to-zero.
- 64 Mapasin (2019), "Ciudades que han derribaron sus puentes peatonales", https:// mapasin.org/ciudades-que-han-derribaron-sus-puentes-peatonales; LA Network (2020), "Medellin returns value to pedestrians with bridge dismantling", 18 June, https://la.network/medellin-devuelve-el-valor-al-peaton-con-desmontede-puentes; B. Haagsman (2020), "Why the removal of pedestrian bridge on Geary is a step forward for safety", Walk San Francisco, 13 May, https://walksf. org/2020/05/13/why-the-removal-of-a-pedestrian-bridge-on-geary-is-a-step-forward-for-safety.
- 65 Ochenuel Mobility (2021), "OpenStreets Abuja", http://mobility.ochenuel.com.

ng/openstreets (accessed 27 May 2021); Ciclo Recreovia (2019), "Streets to walk and recreate on Sundays", http://www.ciclorecreovia.cl/ciclorecreovia-temuco (accessed 27 May 2021).

- 66 BBC News (2019), "No traffic in Addis Ababa as Ethiopia marks Car Free Day", 3 February, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-47107327; T. M. Tran (2019), "African Mobility Month: How cities are walking (and cycling) the talk", ICLEI-Sustainable Mobility, 25 November, https://sustainablemobility.iclei.org/african-mobili ty-month-how-cities-are-walking-and-cycling-the-talk.
- 67 Global Designing Cities Initiative (2016), Global Street Design Guide, Island Press, Washington, D.C., https://globaldesigningcities.org/publication/global-street-design-guide; NACTO (2020), "Street for Kids", https://nacto.org/program/streets-forkids (accessed 27 May 2021); Global Designing Cities Initiative, "Streets for Kids", https://globaldesigningcities.org/streets-for-kids (accessed 27 May 2021); ITDP (2018), "Pedestrians First: A Tool for Walkable Cities", 7 February, https://www.itdp. org/2018/02/07/pedestrians-first-walkability-tool.
- 68 Lagos State Ministry of Transportation et al., op. cit. note 47; Municipality of Lima (2017), Manual de Normal Técnias para la Construcción de Ciclovias y Guía De Circulación de Bicicletas, Lima, https://www.despacio.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Manual-Lima20170421.pdf; Pune Municipal Corporation (2016), Urban Street Design Guidelines Pune, Pune, https://bicycleinfrastructuremanuals. com/manuals4/Pune-urban-street-design-guidelines.pdf.
- 69 J. Ward et al. (2020), Updating Austroads Pedestrian Planning and Design Guidance in Line with International Best Practices, Austroads Ltd, Sydney, https:// austroads.com.au/publications/active-travel/apr639-20/media/AP-R639-20_Updating_Austroads_Pedestrian_Planning_and_Design_Guidance_in_line_with_International_Best_Practice.odf.
- 70 Ministry of Transport of Colombia (2018), "Resolución 3258 de agosto 3 de 2018", Red Jurista, 3 August, https://www.redjurista.com/Documents/resolucion_3258_ de_2018_ministerio_de_transporte.aspx; New Zealand Transport Agency, "Designing a cycling facility", https://www.nzta.govt.nz/walking-cycling-and-public-transport/cycling/cycling-standards-and-guidance/cycling-network-guidance/ designing-a-cycle-facility (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 71 Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure of British Columbia (2019), British Columbia Active Transportation Design Guide, Vancouver, https://bicycleinfrastructuremanuals.com/manuals3/British%20columbia%20Active%20Transportation%20Design%20Guide.pdf; Queensland Government, "Principal Cycle Network Plans", https://www.tmr.qld.gov.au/Travel-and-transport/Cycling/Principal-Cycle-Network-Plans (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 72 GIZ (2020), A Tactical Urbanism Guidebook, New Delhi, http://greenmobility-library.org/public/uploads/resource_attachments/1604921362_TU_Guidebook_ November_2020_Final_V2.pdf.
- 73 WHO (2020), Stockholm Declaration Third Global Ministerial Conference on Road Safety: Achieving Global Goals 2030, Geneva, https://www.roadsafetysweden. com/contentassets/b37f0951c837443eb9661668d5be439e/stockholm-declaration-english.pdf.
- 74 WHO (2018), Global Action Plan on Physical Activity 2018-2030: More Active People for a Healthier World, Geneva, https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10 665/272722/9789241514187-eng.pdf.
- 75 ECF (2016), Cycling Delivers on the Global Goals, Brussels, https://ecf.com/sites/ ecf.com/files/The%20Global%20Goals_Internet.pdf; T. Litman (2013), Evaluating Active Transport Benefits and Costs: Guide to Valuing Walking and Cycling Improvements and Encouragement Programs, Victoria Transport Policy Institute, https://tid.trb.org/view/1262285.
- 76 SLOCAT (2020), Transport and Voluntary National Reviews 2020: Action for Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, http://slocat.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/SLOCAT-2020-VNR-Analysis.pdf.
- 77 UN-Habitat (2017), New Urban Agenda, Nairobi, https://uploads.habitat3.org/hb3/ NUA-English.pdf.
- 78 WHO, op. cit. note 73.
- 79 COVID Mobility Works (2021), https://www.covidmobilityworks.org (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 80 Ibid.
- 81 TUMI, "Corona Transport Knowledge Platform", https://www.transformative-mobility.org/corona (accessed 20 April 2021); Pedbikeinfo, "Local Actions to Support Walking and Cycling During Social Distancing Dataset", US Department of Transportation, http://pedbikeinfo.org/resources/resources_details.cfm?id=5209 (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 82 Despacio, "Retamos lo intuitivo en las ciudades y en la vida", https://www.despacio.org (accessed 27 May 2021).
- ECF (2017), EU Cycling Strategy, Brussels, https://ecf.com/system/files/EUCS_full_ doc_small_file_0.pdf.
- 84 ICLEI-Sustainable Mobility, "EcoMobility initiative", https://sustainablemobility. iclei.org/ecomobility-initiative (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 85 ICLEI-Sustainable Mobility, "Cities SHIFT", https://sustainablemobility.iclei.org/ cities-shift (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 86 International Federation of Pedestrians (2019), Annual Report 2019, Brussels, https://www.pedestrians-int.org/images/IFP/pdf/MinutesAndReports/IFP-Annual-Report-2019.pdf.
- 87 UNEP, "Share the road", https://www.unep.org/explore-topics/transport/what-wedo/share-road (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 88 UNEP, "Why does sharing the road matter?" https://www.unep.org/explore-topics/

transport/what-we-do/share-road/why-does-sharing-road-matter (accessed 27 May 2021).

- ECF, "Velo-city: The Global Cycling Summit", https://ecf.com/projects/velo-city (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 90 Walk21 (2021), "About", https://web.archive.org/web/20210308224732/https:// www.walk21.com/about (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 91 Walk21 (2021), "Global Sidewalk Challenge", https://web.archive.org/ web/20210123175120/https://www.walk21.com/sidewalks (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 92 Measuring Walking (2019), "Walking Data Standard", https://www.measuring-walking.org/international-walking-data-standard (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 93 UN, "World Bicycle Day 3 June", https://www.un.org/en/observances/bicycle-day (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 94 S. Dongol (2018), "World Bicycle Forum 2020 to be held in Nepal", Cycle City Network Nepal, 8 October, https://cyclecity.org.np/world-bicycle-forum-2020-tobe-held-in-nepal.
- 95 World Cycling Alliance, "About", https://www.worldcyclingalliance.org/who-weare/about (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 96 M. Meireles and P. J. G. Ribeiro (2020), "Digital platform / mobile app to boost cycling for the promotion of sustainable mobility in mid-sized starter cycling cities", Sustainability, Vol. 12/5, p. 2064, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/339791706_Digital_PlatformMobile_App_to_Boost_Cycling_for_the_Promotion_of_Sustainable_Mobility_in_Mid-Sized_Starter_Cycling_Cities/ fulltext/5e663578299bf1744f6badb7/Digital-Platform-Mobile-App-to-Boost-Cycling-for-the-Promotion-of-Sustainable-Mobility-in-Mid-Sized_Starter-Cycling-Cities pdf; ITDP, Pedestrians First: Tools for a Walkable City, New York, https://www.itdp.org/publication/walkability-tool.
- 97 Walk21, personal communication, with SLOCAT, 14 May 2021.
- 98 F. O'Sullivan (2020), "Paris mayor: It's time for a '15-minute city'", Bloomberg CityLab, 18 February, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-02-18/ paris-mayor-pledges-a-greener-15-minute-city.
- 99 J. McMahon (2019), "How bike lanes are transforming Paris", Forbes, 28 December, https://www.forbes.com/sites/jeffmcmahon/2019/12/28/how-bike-lanes-aretransforming-paris/#700ceb0af620.
- 100 Секретаријат за саобраћај (2020), "Контролисан улазак возила у пешачку зону", http://www.bgsaobracaj.rs/kampanja-manifestacija/43/kontrolisan-ulazak-vozila-upeshacku-zonu; D. Bol (2019), "Council reveals £314m overhaul of Edinburghentre", BBC News, 6 September, https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-scotland-edinburgheast-fife-49613258; C. Wahlquist (2019), "Walking into the future: Melbourne backs plan to curb cars in the CBD", The Guardian (UK), 21 May, https://www. theguardian.com/australia-news/2019/may/22/walking-into-the-future-melbournebacks-plan-to-curb-cars-in-the-cbd.
- 101 A. Buczynski (2019), "32% more cycling in one year after eliminating through car traffic from the centre of Leuven", ECF, 24 July, https://ecf.com/news-and-events/ news/32-more-cycling-one-year-after-eliminating-through-car-traffic-centre-leuven; UK Aid et al., op. cit. note 16.
- 102 Gemeente Utrecht, "Bicycle parking Stationsplein", https://www.utrecht.nl/city-ofutrecht/mobility/cycling/bicycle-parking/bicycle-parking-stationsplein (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 103 Bicycle Dutch (2020), "A huge new bicycle parking garage in The Hague", 1 July, https://bicycledutch.wordpress.com/2020/07/01/a-huge-new-bicycle-parking-garage-in-the-hague.
- 104 Sheffield City Region (2020), "Sheffield City Region announces plans for 1000km of walking and cycling routes", 4 June, https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/sheffieldcity-region-announces-plans-for-1000km-of-walking-and-cycling-routes.
- 105 Houston Bikeways (2017), "Chapter 2: Existing conditions and opportunities", in Houston Bike Plan, Houston, https://houstonbikeplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/HBP-Chapter-2-Opportunites_Feb17.pdf.

3.4 Urban Passenger and Freight Transport

Box based on the following sources: drop of 90% from J. E. Bourne et al. (2020), 1 'The impact of e-cycling on travel behaviour: A scoping review", Journal of Transport and Health, Vol. 19, Elsevier Ltd, p. 100910, https://doi.org/10.1016/j jth.2020.100910; more than 250 cities from K. Zhang (2020), "How urban transport is changing in the age of COVID-19", Columbia Climate School, 10 July, htt 19:90% of cases from A. Guterres, "COVID-19 in an urban world", United Nations (UN), ww.un.org/en/coronavirus/covid-19-urban-world (accessed 24 May 2021); Universidad de los Andes Colombia (2020), "Factores que disminuyen el riesgo de contagio en transporte público", 18 August, https://uniandes gio-en-transporte-publico; New Urban Mobility Alliance (NUMO) (2020), "Release: Passenger distancing not sole factor in preventing spread of COVID-19 on public transportation, finds group of epidemiologists, data scientists and transportation planners", 20 August, https://www.numo.global/news/release-passenger factor-preventing-spread-covid-19-public-transportation; cost of collapse from A. T. Hernandez (2020), "Coronavirus: What if we stop repeating that public transport is risky?" Medium, 20 May, https://medium.com 5ae30ef26414; GuardaWorld (2021), "Ecuador: Authorities announce curfew in

most of the country April 23-May 20", 22 April, https://www.garda.com/crisis24/ il-23-may-20-update-27; Red Metropolitana de Movilidad, Government of Chile (2020), "The implementation 109 kilometers of new bus-only tracks begins for a step-by-step plan in the Metropolitan Region", 31 July, http://www.red.cl/noticias/ plan-paso-a-paso-en-la-region-metropolitana; J. Carlson (2020), "NYC adds 20 miles of busways and bus lanes, 40 miles short of the MTA's Request", Gothamist, 8 June, https://gothamist.com/n iles-short-mtas-request; enhancement of services from F. Cooperman (2020), "Ten cities that have redefined public transportation during COVID-19", Mass Transit, 22 April, https://www.m tation-during-covid 19; A. Oommen (2020), "Dubai's RTA revises timings for public transport, paid parking", Construction Week, 27 May, https://www.c paid-parking; Bucharest from Metrorex (2020), "Masuri de reorganizare a circulatiei prex.ro/_read625-1; Hamburg Authority trenurilor", 18 March, http:/ for Economy and Innovation (2020), "Reinforcement of heavily used lines/taxis & MOIA increase night traffic", 29 March, https://www.hamburg.de/p wvi-bus-und-bahn; revenue losses from World Bank and Africa Transport Policy Program (SSATP) (2020), Urban Mobility and COVID-19 in Africa, Washington, D.C., https://www.ssatp.org/site %20Aug2020%20-%20ENGLISH.pdf; T. Dawkins (2020), "How COVID-19 could open the door for driverless deliveries", World Economic Forum, 4 April, https:// erless-deliveries; UN (2021), "Global e-commerce jumps to \$26.7 trillion, fuelled by COVID-19", 3 May, https://news.un.org/en/story/2021/05/1091182; A. Heinla (2020), "Starship Technologies: Looking ahead to 2021", Medium, 2 November, to-2021-d1582a4bbef2; Entrepreneur (2020), "KFC turned to self-driving cars in China to deliver fried chicken while limiting human contact", 26 November, https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/360486; M. Joyce, "Developments in U.S. alternative fuel markets", https://www.e /altfuelmarkets.html (accessed 24 May 2021); autonomous robots and vehicles from Heinla, op. cit. this note, and from Entrepreneur, op. cit. this note; F. Jacobs (2020), "Here's how last mile will innovate in 2020", Fleet Europe, 21 January, https://www.fleeteurope.com/en/last-mile/europe/feature Nokia&curl=1; M. Joerss et al. (2016), Parcel Delivery: The Future of Last Mile, McKinsey & Company, https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/industries mands%20are%20reshaping%20last%20mile%20delivery/parcel_delivery_the fu ture_of_last_mile.ashx; disrupted road freight from Agility, "Agility Global Shipping Updates: COVID-19", https://logisticsinsights.agility.com/COVID19/road-freig (accessed 24 May 2021).

- 2 Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (ITDP) (2018), "China's metro boom continues to drive rapid transit growth", 30 July, https://www.itdp. org/2018/07/30/china-drives-rapid-transit-growth; Smart Cities Dive (2017), "Latin America's bus rapid transit boom offers lessons for the U.S.", https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/ex/sustainablecitiescollective/latin-america-s-bus-rapid-transit-boomoffers-lessons-us/21895 (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 3 ITDP (2019), "Rapid Transit Database", Version 4.00, updated 22 July, https://docs. google.com/spreadsheets/d/1uMuNG9rTG052Vuuq6skyqmkH9U5yv1iSJDJYjH64MJM/edit.
- 4 Figure 1 from Ibid.
- 5 Figure 2 from SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport calculations based on data in R. Schwandl (2004), UrbanRail.net, http://www.urbanrail.net (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 6 Ibid.
- 7 R. Schwandl (2004), "Africa", UrbanRail.net, http://www.urbanrail.net/africa.htm (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 8 Bangkok Post (2018), "BTS Samrong-Samut Prakan line to open next month", 5 November, https://www.bangkokpost.com/thailand/general/1570226/bts-samrong-samut-prakan-line-to-open-next-month; D. Briginshaw (2019), "Delhi Metro opens first section of Grey Line", International Railway Journal, 8 October, https:// www.railjournal.com/passenger/metros/delhi-metro-opens-first-section-of-greyline; RailwayPRO (2020), "Final section of Hyderabad metro system opened", 11 February, https://www.railwaypro.com/wp/final-section-of-hyderabad-metro-system-opened; Wikipedia (2021), "MRT Line 7 (Metro Manila)", https://en.wikipedia. org/wiki/Manila_Metro_Rail_Transit_System_Line_7 (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 9 Redaktion (2019), "Panama: Inauguration of Metro Line 2", Urban Transport Magazine, 5 June, https://urban-transport-magazine.com/en/panama-inauguration-of-metro-line-2; R. Passos (2019), "Rio de Janeiro LRT Line 3 opens", International Railway Journal, 29 October, https://www.railjournal.com/passenger/lightrail/rio-de-janeiro-Irt-line-3-opens; R. Passos (2019), "São Paolo pushes ahead with metro expansion", International Railway Journal, 6 June, https://www.railjournal. com/regions/central-south-america/sao-paulo-pushes-ahead-with-metro-expansion; Governo Aberto SP, "Relatório de Expansão, Obras e Modernização", https:// transparencia.metrosp.com.br/dataset/relat%C3%B3rio-de-expans%C3%A3oobras-e-moderniza%C3%A7%C3%A30 (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 10 Figure 3 from Global BRT Data, "Year system commenced", https://brtdata.org/ indicators/systems/year_system_commenced (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 11 Salvador Prefeitura, "BRT Salvador", http://brt.salvador.ba.gov.br/#4 (accessed 24

May 2021).

- 12 Far East Mobility (2021), "Fuzhou BRT", 6 January, https://brt.fareast.mobi/city?c=fuzhou; ITDP China (2020), "BRT Database > Cities List > Yongzhou", 3 March, http://www.itdp-china.org/brt/city?city_id=67&city_name=Yongzhou&lang=1; X. Chen, China Academy of Transportation Sciences, personal communication with SLOCAT, 2021.
- 13 Wikipedia (2021), "TransPeshawar", https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/TransPeshawar (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 14 Global BRT Data, op. cit. note 10; R. Rudick (2020), "Oakland BRT line opens", StreetsBlog SF, 7 August, https://sf.streetsblog.org/2020/08/07/oakland-brt-lineopens-sunday.
- 15 A. Pelegi (2019), "Niterói inicia operação do corridor TransOceânica", Diário Do Transporte, 27 April, https://diariodotransporte.com.br/2019/04/27/niteroi-Inicia-operacao-do-corredor-transoceanica; EMDEC - Campinas Municipal Development Company, "Obras em andamento", http://www.emdec.com.br/eficiente/sites/ portalemdec/pt-br/site.php?secao=brt-campinas (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 16 Tribune News Service (2019), "City BRT scripts a success story", The Tribune, 19 November, https://www.tribuneindia.com/news/archive/amritsar/city-brtsscripts-a-success-story-862961; Egis, "A bus rapid transit service for Nouméa (New Caledonia), https://www.egis.group.com/action/realisations/bus-rapid-transit-service-noumea-new-caledonia (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 17 WSP, "Transit-oriented Development (TOD) Planning and Design Consulting Service for Nanchang, China", https://www.wsp.com/en-PH/projects/tod-planningand-design-consulting-service-for-nanchang (accessed 2 June 2021); Y. Freemark (2018), "In response to growth, Chinese cities choose metros", The Transport Politic, 17 January, https://www.thetransportpolitic.com/category/places-in-asiaand-australia/china/shanghai.
- 18 M. Modijefsky (2019), "Warsaw announces mobility measures to improve air quality", Eltis, 27 November, https://www.eltis.org/in-brief/news/warsaw-announces-mobility-measures-improve-air-quality.
- 19 American Expatriate Costa Rica (2018), "San Pedro will have exclusive bus lanes in January", 12 December, https://www.usexpatcostarica.com/san-pedro-will-haveexclusive-bus-lanes-in-january.
- 20 Y. Alieh (2018), "\$295 million for rapid transport", BusinessNews.com, 19 March, http://www.businessnews.com.lb/cms/Story/StoryDetails/6455/\$295-million-for-rapid-transport.
- 21 P. S. Ferro (2015), "Paratransit: A key element in a dual system", CODATU, https:// www.codatu.org/wp-content/uploads/transports_collec_artisanal_V03ecran_ EN.pdf.
- 22 Digital Transport for Africa, "Projects", https://digitaltransport4africa.org/projects (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 23 Digital Matatus (2019), "Second update of Digital Matatus now live", 8 October, http://digitalmatatus.com/post20.html.
- 24 World Bank and SSATP, op. cit. note 1.
- 25 Kampala Capital City Authority (2020), "Statement on public transport in Kampala", 18 June, https://kcca.go.ug/news/405/statement-on-public-transport-in-kampala#.YK2QdZNKg1I.
- 26 Khulna, Dhaka and Jakarta from UN Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (2021), "Sustainable Urban Transport Index", 22 February, https:// www.unescap.org/kp/2021/sustainable-urban-transport-index-suti.
- 27 R. Cervero (2013), Transport Infrastructure and the Environment: Sustainable Mobility and Urbanism, University of California, Berkeley, https://iurd.berkeley.edu/ wp/2013-03.pdf.
- 28 European Commission (2021), "Walking and cycling as transport modes", 25 May, https://ec.europa.eu/transport/road_safety/specialist/knowledge/pedestrians/pedestrians_and_cyclists_unprotected_road_users/walking_and_cycling_as_transport_modes_en; A. Neves and C. Brand (2019), "Assessing the potential for carbon emissions savings from replacing short car trips with walking and cycling using a mixed GPS-travel diary approach", *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, Vol. 123, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 130-46, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2018.08.022.
- 29 CDP and ICLEI-Local Governments for Sustainability (2020), "2020 Full Cities Dataset", https://data.cdp.net/Governance/2020-Full-Cities-Dataset/eja6-zden (accessed 7 October 2020).
- 30 Figure 4 from Ibid.
- 31 Ibid.
- 32 Ibid.
- 33 Ibid
- 34 African Development Bank (AfDB) (2013), Tanzania Transport Sector Review, Abidjan, https://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Project-and-Operations/Tanzania_-_Transport_Sector_Review.pdf.
- 35 N. Mazzino et al. (2017), Rail 2050 Vision, European Rail Research Advisory Council, Brussels, https://www.ptferroviaria.es/docs/Documentos/122017_ERRAC%20 RAIL%202050.pdf.
- 36 D. Burroughs (2020), "Cuenca launches long-awaited light rail line", International Railway Journal, 1 June, https://www.railjournal.com/passenger/light-rail/cuencalaunches-long-awaited-light-rail-line; Urban Pathways, "Ecuador-Cuenca", https:// www.urban-pathways.org/cuenca.html (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 37 Breaking Kenya News (2020), "BRT system delayed as Kenya opts for local suppliers", 7 January, https://www.breakingkenyanews.com/2020/01/brt-systemdelayed-as-kenya-opts-for.html; K. Pandey and M. Paul (2019), "Nairobi to soon roll

out bus rapid transit system", Down to Earth, 1 July, https://www.downtoearth.org. in/news/economy/nairobi-to-soon-roll-out-bus-rapid-transit-system-65363.

- 38 SAMAA (2019), "Karachi's Green Line BRT will be the world's first zero emission public transport system", 4 January, https://www.samaa.tv/news/2019/01/karachis-green-line-brt-will-be-the-worlds-first-zero-emission-public-transport-system.
- 39 One Works (2019), "Doha Metro Red Line opens to the public and welcomes first passengers on board", 8 May, https://www.one-works.com/news/doha-metro-redline-opens-to-the-public-and-welcomes-first-passengers-on-board; Neves and Brand, op. cit. note 28.
- 40 Government of Jordan (2020), Government Priorities for 2019-2020, Amman, http://www.pm.gov.jo/upload/files/Government-Priorities-N.pdf; C40 Cities (2019), "Bus rapid transit to tackle air pollution, C02 emissions, and improve mass public transportation", 13 June, https://www.c40.org/case_studies/bus-rapid-transit-totackle-air-pollution-co2-emissions-and-improve-mass-public-transportation.
- 41 Z. Zakariah (2019), "RM500m fund to spur public transport use", New Straits Times, 2 May, https://www.nst.com.my/business/2019/05/484976/rm500m-fundspur-public-transport-use.
- 42 R. Cooper (2020), "UK Government announces €5bn boost for greener transport", Climate Action, 11 February, www.climateaction.org/news/uk-government-announces-5bn-boost-for-greener-transport.
- 43 F. Fuchs (2019), "Flat rate for trams, buses, bikes and cars", Süddeutsche Zeitung, 30 October, https://www.sueddeutsche.de/bayern/augsburg-flatrate-oeffentlicher-nahverkehr-1.4661885.
- 44 C. Kinniburgh (2019), "French city of Dunkirk tests out free transport and it works", France 24, 31 August, https://www.france24.com/en/20190831-francedunkirk-free-transportation-bus-success-climate-cities.
- 45 France 24 (2019), "New Delhi to offer free public transport for 850,000 women", 3 June, https://www.france24.com/en/20190603-new-delhi-offer-free-public-transport-850000-women.
- 46 P. Wardoyo, "Plastic to ride: Indonesians swap bottles for bus tickets", *Reuters*, 23 October, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-indonesia-environment-plastics-bus-idINKCN1MX10D.
- 47 M. Modikefsky (2018), "Estonia launches the largest free public transport scheme in the world", Eltis, 18 July, https://www.eltis.org/discover/news/estonia-launches-largest-free-public-transport-scheme-world; Agence France-Presse (2020), "Luxembourg is first country to make all public transport free", The Guardian (UK), 28 February, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/feb/28/luxembourg-public-transport-free-nationwide-congestion.
- 48 The Local (2019), "Berlin makes public transport free for all schoolchildren", 1 August, https://www.thelocal.de/20190801/berlin-makes-public-transport-free-forall-students.
- 49 S. Zhen (2021), "Free public transportation: Why we need it, and examples from Korean and European cities", ICLEI-Sustainable Mobility, 30 April, https://sustainablemobility.iclei.org/free-public-transportation.
- 50 S. Burgen (2019), "Barcelona to open southern Europe's biggest low-emissions zone", The Guardian (UK), 31 December, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2019/dec/31/barcelona-to-open-southern-europes-biggest-low-emissionszone.
- 51 S. Shaath (2019), "New York City congestion charge what it can learn from London", BBC News, 17 April, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-47874725.
- 52 L. Dablanc et al. (2013), "Best practices in urban freight management", Transportation Research Record, Vol. 2379, SAGE Publications, pp. 29-38, https://doi.org/10.3141/2379-04.
- 53 L. Malik et al. (2019), "Assessment of freight vehicle characteristics and impact of future policy interventions on their emissions in Delhi", *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 67, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 610–627, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trd.2019.01.007.
- 54 A. Bandivadekar (2020), "Reducing vehicular air pollution in Delhi: Roadmap for the new government", International Council on Clean Transportation, 18 March, https://theicct.org/blog/staff/reducing-vehicular-air-pollution-delhi-roadmap-new-government.
- 55 Å. Halldórsson and J. Wehner (2020), "Last-mile logistics fulfilment: A framework for energy efficiency", *Research in Transportation Business and Management*, Vol. 37, Elsevier Ltd, p. 100481, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rtbm.2020.100481.
- 56 Transport Decarbonisation Alliance (TDA) (2019), "Call for zero emission freight vehicles", 5 April, http://tda-mobility.org/zero-emission-freight-vehicles.
- 57 LEZ-France, "Crit'Air", https://www.lez-france.fr/en.html (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 58 E. Jaffe (2019), "The future of last-mile delivery has arrived ... in a small Dutch city", Medium, 19 November, https://medium.com/sidewalk-talk/the-future-of-last-miledelivery-has-arrived-in-a-small-dutch-city-f2fd8e2c0263.
- 59 D. Peters (2018), "New York City introduces off-hour deliveries program to combat congestion", Inbound Logistics, 1 October, https://www.inboundlogistics.com/ cms/article/NYC-introduces-off-hour-deliveries-program-to-combat-congestion.
- 60 TDA, C40 Cities and POLIS (2020), Zero-Emission Zones for Freight, London, http:// tda-mobility.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/ZEZ-F_How-to-Guide_low.pdf.
- 61 Netherlands National Government (2020), "Kabinet komt ondernemers tegemoet bij overstap op schone bestelbus of vrachtwagen", Rijksoverheid, 10 May, https:// www.rijksoverheid.nl/actueel/nieuws/2020/10/05/kabinet-komt-ondernemerstegemoet-bij-overstap-op-schone-bestelbus-of-vrachtwagen.

- 62 C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group and TDA (2020), "Zero emission zones for freight: Lessons from Beijing", May, https://www.c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/ Zero-Emission-Zones-for-Freight-Lessons-from-Beijing.
- 63 D. Wyatt, *Electric Trucks 2020-2030*, IDTechEx, https://www.idtechex.com/en/ research-report/electric-trucks-2020-2030/710.
- 64 US Environmental Protection Agency, "Cleaner Trucks Initiative", https://www. epa.gov/regulations-emissions-vehicles-and-engines/cleaner-trucks-initiative (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 65 L. J. Sibilski and F. Targa (2020), "An old solution to new challenges: The rebirth of the cargo bike", World Bank, 16 January, https://blogs.worldbank.org/transport/ old-solution-new-challenges-rebirth-cargo-bike.
- 66 D. Renton (2020), "Soulriders launches Scotland's first e-cargo bike delivery service in Glasgow", The Extra, 25 August, https://www.glasgowsouthandeastwoodextra.co.uk/news/people/soulriders-launches-scotlands-first-e-cargo-bikedelivery-service-glasgow-2951779.
- 67 L. Brown (2019), "Climate change: How green is your parcel?" *BBC News*, 29 March, https://www.bbc.com/news/science-environment-47654950.
- 68 C40 Cities, "C40 Green and Healthy Street Declaration (Fossil Fuel Free Streets Declaration)", https://www.c40.org/other/green-and-healthy-streets.
- 69 Paris Process on Mobility and Climate (PPMC), "MobiliseYourCity Partnership", http://www.ppmc-transport.org/mobiliseyourcity (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 70 ITDP, "About us", https://www.itdp.org/about (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 71 ITDP (2016), "Infographic: Rapid Transit to Resident Ratio (RTR)", 25 January, https://www.itdp.org/2016/01/25/infographic-rapid-transit-to-resident-ratio-rtr.
- 72 International Association of Public Transport (UITP), "One planet, one plan", https://www.uitp.org/campaigns/one-planet-one-plan (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 73 PPMC, "Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (TUM))", http://www.ppmc-trans port.org/transformative-urban-mobility-initiative-tumi (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 74 ICLEI-Sustainable Mobility, "EcoLogistics", https://sustainablemobility.iclei.org/ ecologistics (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 75 PPMC, "Global Green Freight Action Plan", http://www.ppmc-transport.org/globalgreen-freight-action-plan (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 76 Global Green Freight, "Smart Freight Centre", http://www.globalgreenfreight.org/ action-plan/partners/smart-freight-centre (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 77 VFEF Center of Excellence for Sustainable Urban Freight Systems, http://www. transp.rpi.edu (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 78 The Local (2019), "Berlin to spend €28 billion on improving public transport", 27 February, https://www.thelocal.de/20190227/berlin-public-transport-upgrade-to-invest-28-billion-until-2035.
- 79 M. Schäfer (2019), "Green urban mobility in India gets a one billion euro push", Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (TUMI), https://www.transformative-mobili ty.org/news/green-urban-mobility-in-india-gets-a-one-billion-euro-push.
- 80 Straits Times (2019), "Indonesia plans \$55b extension of Jakarta's metro network", 6 December, https://www.straitstimes.com/asia/se-asia/indonesia-plans-55b-extension-of-jakartas-metro-network.
- 81 Presidency of Strategy and Budget, Turkey (2020), Eleventh Development Plan (2019-2023), Ankara, https://www.sbb.gov.tr/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Eleventh_Development_Plan-2019-2023.pdf.
- 82 BBC News (2019), "Sturgeon demands agreement on 'legal' independence referendum", 3 September, https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-scotland-scotland-pol tics-49556793.
- 83 K. M. Phaneuf and M. Pazniokas (2019), "This is Lamont's vision for transportation - and how he'll sell it", CT Mirror, 6 November, https://ctmirror.org/2019/11/06/this is-lamonts-vision-for-transportation-and-how-hell-sell-it.
- 84 Metro Magazine (2019), "Sound Transit approves \$60M for Pierce Transit BRT", 26 August, https://www.metro-magazine.com/bus/news/735360/sound-transit-approves-60m-in-funding-for-pierce-transit-brt-system.
- 85 CBC News (2019), "More than 1 million boardings on ION trains since launch: Report", 18 October, https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/kitchener-waterloo/iontrain-boarding-numbers-report-1.5324341.
- 86 Al Jazeera (2019), "Indonesia's first subway opens in traffic-choked Jakarta", 24 March, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/03/indonesia-subway-opens-traffic-choked-jakarta-190324085142078.html; Wikipedia (2021), "Jakarta LRT", 4 May, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Jakarta_LRT.
- 87 G. Hitch (2019), "Canberra light rail finally opens its doors to the public", ABC News, 19 April, https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-04-20/canberra-light-rail-goeslive/11033076; M. Carter (2019), "Sydney CBD and South East light rail opens", International Railway Journal, 16 December, https://www.railjournal.com/news/ sydney-cbd-and-south-east-light-rail-opens.
- 88 F. Joo (2019), "Budapest tram Line 1 reaches Kelenföld", International Railway Journal, 10 July, https://www.railjournal.com/passenger/light-rail/budapest-tramline-1-reaches-kelenfold; D. Briginshaw (2019), "Nice opens its third light rail line", International Railway Journal, 14 November, https://www.railjournal.com/passenger/light-rail/nice-opens-its-third-light-rail-line.
- 89 K. Smith (2019), "Copenhagen Cityring metro opens", International Railway Journal, 30 September, https://www.railjournal.com/passenger/metros/copenh. gen-cityring-metro-opens.
- 90 Y. Freemark (2020), "Transit investments in North America 2020", The Transport Politic, 28 January, https://www.thetransportpolitic.com/2020/01/28/openings-

and-construction-starts-planned-for-2020

- 91 ITDP (2019), "No cars needed when visiting Minneapolis", 3 May, https://www. itdp.org/2019/05/03/no-cars-needed-when-visiting-minneapolis.
- 92 F. Guerrini (2019), "LMAD's Nokia campus trial hints at future of last mile delivery in Europe", EIT Digital, 9 December, https://www.eitdigital.eu/newsroom/news/ article/Imads-nokia-campus-trial-hints-at-future-of-last-mile-delivery-in-europe.
- 93 A. Dellinger (2019), "Self-driving truck completes first cross-country freight delivery", Mic, 11 December, https://www.mic.com/p/self-driving-truck-completes first-cross-country-freight-delivery-19440102; N. Abt (2019), "Plus.ai completes cross-country delivery with self-driving truck", FleetOwner, 10 December, https:// www.fleetowner.com/technology/autonomous-vehicles/article/21704522/plusai-completes-crosscountry-delivery-with-selfdriving-truck.
- 94 Starship, https://www.starship.xyz (accessed 24 May 2021); K. Korosec (2020), "Starship Technologies is sending its autonomous robots to more cities as demand for contactless delivery rises", TechCrunch, 9 April, https://techcrunch.com/2020/04/09/starship-technologies-is-sending-its-autonomous-robots-to-more-cities-as-demand-for-contactless-delivery-rises.
- 95 R. Ngueyap (2019), "Kinshasa: 50 nouveux bus de marque Zhong Tong pour la société des transports du Congo (TRANSCO)", Agence Ecofin, 14 August, https:// www.agenceecofin.com/transports/1408-68403-kinshasa-50-nouveaux-bus-demarque-zhong-tong-pour-la-societe-des-transports-du-congo-transco; Ministry of Infrastructure, Public Works and Reconstruction and Democratic Republic of the Congo (2019), Project for Urban Transport Master Plan in Kinshasa City, Kinsasha, https://openjicareport.jica.go.jp/pdf/12340295_01.pdf.
- 96 Tehran Times (2019), "100 buses in Tehran transport fleet renovated within 4 months", 15 July, https://www.tehrantimes.com/news/438157/100-buses-in-Tehran-transport-fleet-renovated-within-4-months.
- 97 S. Janko and P. M. Cham (2020), "GTSC commissions 20 new buses", The Point, 13 January, http://thepoint.gm/africa/gambia/article/gtsc-commissions-20-newbuses.
- 98 B. Badmus (2019), "LASG set to roll out 820 medium, high-capacity buses for operation", Nigerian Tribune, 11 April, https://tribuneonlineng.com/lasg-set-to-roll-out-820-medium-high-capacity-buses-for-operation; V. Ekwealor (2019), "In Nigeria, Google officially launches Maps feature for informal transit in Lagos", Techpoint Africa, 6 November, https://techpoint.africa/2019/11/06/google-map-informal-transit.
- 1 If not stated otherwise, then the assessment of policy landscape indicators is based on desk research with a focus on the 31 country factsheets and information outlined in the section. More countries might have such policies in place or similar policies implemented. Bus rapid transit data from BRT+ Centre of Excellence and EMBARQ (2020), "Global BRTData." Version 3.50, last modified 9 June 2020, http://www.brtdata.org; urban rail data based on various sources summarised in SLOCAT (2020), "Transport Knowledge Base", https://slocat.net/our-work/knowledge-and-research/trakb; rapid transit-to-resident ratio based on ITDP, op. cit. note 3.

3.5 Passenger and Freight Railways

- International Union of Railways (UIC) (2020), "Passenger", 13 October, https://uic. org/passenger.
- 2 UIC (2020), "Freight", 13 October, https://uic.org/freight.
- 3 International Energy Agency (IEA) (2019), The Future of Rail, Paris, https://www.iea. org/reports/the-future-of-rail; IEA, "Rail", https://www.iea.org/fuels-and-technologies/rail (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 4 Ibid., both references.
- 5 Box based on the following sources: UIC (2020), "Traffic trends in first half of 2020 for member railways in the UIC Europe region and elsewhere", 19 November, ber-railways-in-the-uic-europe; A. Schwilling (2020), "Global rail market to grow despite drop in transport volumes due to COVID-19", Roland Berger, 2 October, html; UBS Investment Bank (2021), "Air or train: An accelerated path to carbon neutrality?" 1 February, https://www.ubs.com/global/en/investm cus/2021/carbon-neutrality.html; D. Burroughs (2020), "Rail industry face strong growth post-coronavirus, UBS says", 16 April, https://www.railjou ct-strong-growth-post-coronavirus-ubs-says; UIC (2020), Man agement of COVID-19: First Estimation of the Global Economic Impact of COVID-19 on Rail Transport, Paris, https://uic.org/IMG/pdf/economic_impa Briginshaw (2020), "Air France ordered to curb competition with rail in France" International Railway Journal, 1 May, https://www.railjournal.com/pa rdered-to-curb-competiton-with-rail-in-france; Germany from F. Youd (2021), "Can railways accelerate post-Covid-19 economic recovery?" Railway Technology, 12 May, https://www.railway-technology ate-post-covid-19-economic-recovery; The White House (2021), "Fact Sheet: The American Jobs Plan", 31 March, https://www.whitehouse plan; T. Fried, B. Welle and S. Avelleda (forthcoming), Steering a Green, Healthy, and Inclusive Recovery Through Transport, World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C.
- 6 Figure 1 from UIC (2019), "Passenger kilometers, tonne kilometers and line kilometers timeseries over the period 2004-2018", https://uic.org/IMG/pdf/passen ger-tonne-line-kilometers-timeseries-over-period-2004-2018.pdf.

- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Prothom Alo English Desk (2019), "Dhaka-Benapole direct train service opens", 17 July, https://en.prothomalo.com/bangladesh/news/199088/Dhaka-Benapole-di-rect-train-service-opens; United News of Bangladesh (2019), "PM opens first-ever non-stop train service on Dhaka-Rajshahi route", 25 April, https://unb.com.bd/category/Bangladesh/pm-opens-first-ever-non-stop-train-service-on-dhaka-rajsha-hi-route/17144; Dhaka Tribune (2020), "Dhaka-Soliguri train service from June", 14 February, https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/nation/2020/02/14/dhaka-siliguri-train-service-from-june; H. Kabir (2019), "Railways to get record high allocation in next ADP", The Financial Express, 21 May, https://thefinancialexpress.adb.1557546431.
- 9 Wikipedia (2021), "Vande Barat Express", 22 May, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ Vande_Bharat_Express; D. Burroughs (2020), "India launches Amhedabad – Mumbai Tejas Express", International Railways Journal, 22 January, https://www. railjournal.com/passenger/main-line/india-launches-ahmedabad-mumbai-tejas-express.
- New Africa Channel (2021), "The first phase of Senegal's \$2 billion Dakar Regional Express Train to start operation this year", https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=iAX-To5l8hKw.
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 W. Vantuono (2019), "Amtrak reports record results for 2019 financial year", International Railway Journal, 11 November, https://www.railjournal.com/financial. amtrak-reports-record-results-for-2019-financial-year.
- 13 UIC (2020), "Railisa UIC Statistics", https://uic-stats.uic.org (accessed 8 October 2020).
- 14 Figure 2 from Ibid. and from Railway Technology (2011), "How Japan's rail network survived the earthquake", 27 June, https://www.railway-technology.com/ features/feature122751.
- 15 IEA (2019), The Future of Rail, op. cit. note 3.
- 16 X. Sun, Y. Zhang and S. Wandelt (2017), "Air transport versus high-speed rail: An overview and research agenda," *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, Hindawi Limited, https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8426926.
- 17 ONFC, "Morocco's 2040 Rail Strategy", https://www.oncf.ma/en/Development/ Strategy/Morroco-s-2040-rail-strategy (accessed 27 May 2021).
- 18 Ibid.
- 19 Wikipedia (2021), "Haramain high speed railway", 23 March, https://en.wikipedia. org/wiki/Haramain_high-speed_railway.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 Presidency of Strategy and Budget, Turkey (2020), Eleventh Development Plan (2019-2023), Ankara, https://www.sbb.gov.tr/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Eleventh_Development_Plan-2019-2023.pdf.
- 22 D. Burroughs (2020), "Testing on Ankara Sivas high-speed line begins", International Railway Journal, 9 May, https://www.railjournal.com/passenger/ high-speed/testing-on-ankara-sivas-high-speed-line-begins; Railway Gazette International (2020), "Testing underway on Ankara – Sivas high speed line", 9 March, https://www.railwaygazette.com/high-speed/testing-underway-on-anka ra-sivas-high-speed-line/55979.article.
- 23 IEA, The Future of Rail, op. cit. note 3.
- 24 UIC, op. cit. note 2.
- 25 UIC and IEA (2017), Railway Handbook 2017. Energy Consumption and CO2 Emissions, Paris, https://uic.org/IMG/pdf/handbook_iea-uic_2017_web3.pdf. Figure 3 from UIC, op. cit. note 6.
- 26 A. Boadle and J. Spring (2019), "Brazil to privatize more airports, railways for grains", *Reuters*, 21 January, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-brazil-privatiza-tion/brazil-to-privatize-more-airports-railways-for-grains-idUSKCN1PF25C; United Nations Environment Programme (2019), *Emission Gap Report 2019*, Nairobi, https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/30797/EGR2019.pdf; D. Mello (2019), "Gov't to double railway-freight transport in Brazil in eight years", AgénciaBrasil, 8 August, https://agenciabrasil.ebc.com.br/en/economia/notl-cia/2019-08/govt-double-railway-freight-transport-brazil-eight-years.
- 27 S. Jacob (2019), "Indian Railways targets at least 50% of freight traffic by 2030", Business Standard, 2 April, https://www.business-standard.com/ article/economy-policy/indian-railways-targets-at-least-50-of-freight-trafficby-2030-119040201291_1.html.
- 28 Wikipedia (2021), "Dedicated Freight Corridor Corporation of India", 21 May, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dedicated_Freight_Corridor_Corporation_of_India.
- 29 L. Ferreira (2019), "Kenya opens 2nd phase of Chinese-built railway", CGTN, 17 October, https://news.cgtn.com/news/2019-10-17/Kenya-opens-2nd-phase-of-Chinese-built-railway--KRapceUesw/index.htmi; D. Briginshaw (2019), "Kenya Railways opens standard gauge Naivasha container terminal", International Railway Journal, 19 December, https://www.railjournal.com/africa/kenya-railways-opens-standard-gauge-naivasha-container-terminal.
- 30 IEA (2019), "GHG intensity of passenger transport modes 2019", https://www.iea. org/data-and-statistics/charts/ghg-intensity-of-passenger-transport-modes-2019.
- 31 J. P. Loubinoux (2017), "Rail can help deliver a low-carbon future", International Railway Journal, 10 January, http://www.railjournal.com/index.php/policy/rail-canhelp-deliver-a-low-carbon-future.html.
- 32 UIC (2020), Railway Statistics Synopsis, Paris, https://uic.org/IMG/pdf/uic-statistics-synopsis-2020.pdf.

- 33 IEA, The Future of Rail, op. cit. note 3.
- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Economic Times (2020), "Indian Railways gears up to become 'Green Railway' by 2030", 13 July, https://energy.economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/power/indian railways-gears-up-to-become-green-railway-by-2030/76938990.
- 36 D. Burroughs (2019), "EU to fund €318.5m Latvian electrification project", International Railway Journal, 12 July, https://www.railjournal.com/infrastructure/ eu-to-fund-e318-5m-latvian-electrification-project.
- 37 BBC News (2019), "Sturgeon demands agreement on 'legal' independence referendum", 3 September, https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-scotland-scotland-poli tics-49556793.
- 38 Interim Programme Business Case (2020), "Traction Decarbonisation Network Strategy - Executive Summary", https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Traction-Decarbonisation-Network-Strategy-Executive-Summary pdf.
- 39 Based on the countries reporting to UIC, from UIC, op. cit. note 32, and from UIC and IEA, op. cit. note 25.
- 40 Ibid., both references.
- 41 Ibid., both references.
- 42 Ibid., both references.
- 43 Ibid., both references.
- 44 Ibid., both references.
- 45 N. Mazzino et al. (2017), Rail 2050 Vision, European Rail Research Advisory Council, Brussels, https://www.ptferroviaria.es/docs/Documentos/122017_ERRAC%20 RAIL%202050.pdf.
- 46 Ibid.
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 International Renewable Energy Agency (2020), Green Hydrogen: A Guide to Policy Making, Abu Dhabi https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Pub lication/2020/Nov/IRENA_Green_hydrogen_policy_2020.pdf.
- 49 Techxplore (2019), "France climbs aboard hydrogen train revolution", Techxplore, 29 August, https://techxplore.com/news/2019-08-france-climbs-aboard-hydrogenrevolution.html.
- 50 Railway Technology (2019), "Alstom to test Coradia iLint train for first time in Netherlands", 4 November, https://www.railway-technology.com/news/alstom-coradia-ilint-netherlands.
- 51 IEA, The Future of the Rail, op. cit. note 3.
- 52 GlobalData (2019), "Chile's government launches its biggest railway investment programme in history", Railway Technology, 23 September, https://www. railway-technology.com/comment/chiles-government-launches-its-biggest-railway-investment-programme-in-history.
- 53 A. Zúňiga (2019), "Costa Rica takes first steps to rebuild railroad to the Pacific", Tico Times, 26 November, https://ticotimes.net/2019/11/26/costa-rica-takes-firststeps-to-rebuild-railroad-to-the-pacific.
- 54 Daily News (2018), "Minister launches 20-year railway development plan", 14 May, http://www.dailynews.lk/2018/05/14/local/150762/minister-launches-20-year-railway-development-plan.
- 55 Railway Gazette (2019), "Turkey publishes 2020 rail plan", 12 November, https:// www.railwaygazette.com/infrastructure/turkey-publishes-2020-rail-plan/55085. article.
- 56 UIC, op. cit. note 13.
- 57 UIC (2019), "High speed lines in the world (summary)", 1 October, https://uic.org/ IMG/pdf/20181001-high-speed-lines-in-the-world.pdf.
- 58 Global Construction Review (2019), "Iran to draw \$2.4bn Chinese credit line for Tehran-Isfahan high-speed railway", 10 June, https://www.globalconstructionreview.com/news/iran-draw-24bn-chinese-credit-line-tehranisfahan-h.
- 59 L. Hielscher (2019), "Rahim Yar Khan Power Plant", Belt and Road Initiative, 17 June, https://www.beltroad-initiative.com.
- 60 Railway Technology (2019), "Indonesia and Japan sign deal for \$4.3bn Jakarta-Surabaya rail project", 26 September, https://www.railway-technology.com/ news/indonesia-japan-rail-project.
- 61 Railway Pro (2020), "Jordan unveils its railway development strategy", 26 February, https://www.railwaypro.com/wp/jordan-unveils-its-railway-development-strategy".
- 62 R. L. Kato (2020), "Nigeria commences Lagos-Ibadan railway operations", Africa News, 9 December, https://www.africanews.com/2020/12/09/nigeria-commences-lagos-Ibadan-railway-operations.
- 63 Wikipedia (2021), "China Pakistan Economic Corridor", https://en.wikipedia.org/ wiki/China%E2%80%93Pakistan_Economic_Corridor (accessed 28 May 2021).
- 64 Daily Sabah (2020), "1st China-bound freight train departs on 12-day journey from Istanbul", 4 December, https://www.dailysabah.com/business/economy/1st-china-bound-freight-train-departs-on-12-day-journey-from-istanbul.
- 65 Figure 4 from IEA, *The Future of Rail*, op. cit. note 3.
- 66 Q. Vosman (2019), "Dutch government to support return of international night train", International Railway Journal, 11 October, https://www.railjournal.com/passenger/main-line/dutch-government-to-support-return-of-international-night-train.
- 67 J. Rankin (2020), "Brussels-Vienna night train returns as Europe eyes flying alterna-

tives", The Guardian (UK), 20 January, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/ jan/20/brussels-vienna-night-train-returns-as-europe-eyes-flying-alternatives.

- 68 BBC News (2021), "France moves to ban short-haul domestic flights", 12 April, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-56716708.
- 69 BBC News (2019), "Virgin Trains says more passengers are using rail on London-Glasgow route", 11 November, https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-scotland-scot land-business-50368894.

- 71 UIC, "The Worldwide Railway Organisation", https://uic.org (accessed 28 May 2021).
- 72 Ibid.
- 73 Shift2Rail, https://shift2rail.org (accessed 28 May 2021).
- 74 Rail Freight Forward, "About Rail Freight Forward", https://www.railfreightforward. eu (accessed 28 May 2021).
- 75 European Union, "The European Year of Rail", https://europa.eu/year-of-rail/index_en (accessed 28 May 2021).
- 76 If not stated otherwise, then the assessment of policy landscape indicators is based on desk research with a focus on the 31 country factsheets and information outlined in the section. More countries might have such policies in place or similar policies implemented. UIC, op. cit. note 6; high-speed rail is defined as travelling at speeds of over 160 kilometres per hour; electrification share based on the countries reporting to UIC, *UIC Railway Synopsis 2019 and 2020*, https://uic.org/IMG/pdf/uic-statistics-synopsis-2020.pdf; IEA (2020), "Energy intensity of passenger transport modes, 2018", 16 April, https://www.lea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/energy-intensity-of-passenger-transport-modes-2018.
- 77 S. Mamun (2018), "High-speed train planned for Dhaka-Chittagong route", Dhaka Tribune, 20 July, https://www.dhakatribune.com/bangiadesh/develop ment/2018/07/20/high-speed-train-planned-for-dhaka-chittagong-route.
- 78 O. Cuenca (2020), "Ghana orders new standard gauge rail equipment", International Railway Journal, 30 June, https://www.railjournal.com/africa/ghana-ordersnew-standard-gauge-rail-equipment.
- 79 Railway Technology (2019), "Nigeria awards \$3.9bn Abuja-Lokoja rail line contract to CRCC", 11 October, https://www.railway-technology.com/news/nigeria-abuja-lokoja-rail-line.
- 80 International Trade Administration, "Ethiopia Country Commercial Guide", 20 July, https://www.trade.gov/knowledge-product/ethiopia-road-and-railways.
- 81 Z. Islam (2018), "Railways to launch new train service on Dec 23", The News, 11 December, https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/404333-railways-to-launch-newtrain-service-on-dec-23.
- 82 Reuters (2019), "Thailand gives green light for US\$7.4 billion high-speed rail link between Bangkok and Pattaya", South China Morning Post, 24 October, https:// www.scmp.com/news/asia/southeast-asia/article/3034467/thailand-gives-greenlight-us74-billion-high-speed-rail.
- 83 M. Ochoma (2020), "Abuja-Kaduna, Lagos-Ibadan rail corridors to receive 44 new coaches, locos", Business Day, 16 January, https://businessday.ng/news/article/abuja-kaduna-lagos-Ibadan-rail-corridors-to-receive-44-new-coaches-locos.

3.6 Shared Mobility Services

- 1 A compilation of studies on shared autonomous vehicles and a discussion of expected demand patterns and required policy frameworks is found in S. Narayanan, E. Chaniotakis and C. Antoniou (2020), "Shared autonomous vehicle services: A comprehensive review", Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies. Vol. 11, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 255-93, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0968090X19303493?via%3Dihub.
- 2 See, for example, J. Edwards (2019), "Carpocalyspe now: Lyft's founders are right - we're in the endgame for traditional 'car ownership'", Business Insider, 3 March, https://www.businessinsider.com/carpocalypse-cars-automobile-sales-data-us-europe-2019-3.
- Box based on the following sources: Reuters (2020), "Ola to cut about 35% 3 workforce amid COVID-19 crisis", The Wire, 20 May, http nid-covid-19-crisis; Reuters (2020), "Food delivery overtakes ride-hailing as Grab's biggest business in Covid-19 crisis", The Straits Times, 14 August, https://www.straitstimes.co vers-to-grab-its-first-crisis-lessons; Kuntzman (2020), "BOOM! New Citi Bikes stats show cycling surge is real - but mayor is not acting", StreetsBlog NYC, 12 March, https://nyc.streetsblog.org/2020/03 g-surge-is-real-but-mayor-is-not-acting; July 2020 status from New Urban Mobility Alliance (NUMO) (2020), "NUMO New Mobility Atlas Update - July 1 2020", 1 July, https://www.numo.globa ly-1-2020; D. Meyer (2020), "NYC suspends e-bike crackdown as eateries move to takeout, delivery-only", New York Post, 16 March, https://nypost.com/2020/03 rackdown-as-eateries-move-to-takeout-delivery-only; T. Bellon (2020), "New York City legalizes electric bikes and scooters, will create e-scooter pilot program", Reuters, 25 June, https://www.reuters.com/artic us-new-york-city-scooters/new-york-city-legalizes-electric-bikes-and-scoot create-e-scooter-pilot-program-idUSKBN23W3GR; M. Kelley (2021), "Micromobility Is thriving in the new 'safety economy'", Brink, 17 March, https://www.brinknew com/how-bicycle-and-s virus-economy, Figure 1 from SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport calculations based on bike-sharing data from individual cities; see

⁷⁰ Ibid.

SLOCAT (2021), Transport Knowledge Base, https://www.slocat.net/trakb.

- 4 Figure 2 from S. Shaheen and A. Cohen (2020), Innovative Mobility: Carsharing Outlook; Carsharing Market Overview, Analysis, and Trends, University of California, Berkeley, https://escholarship.org/uc/item/61q03282.
- 5 Ibid.; S. Phillips (2019), "Carsharing market and growth analysis 2019", Movmi, 10 July, https://movmi.net/carsharing-market-growth-2019.
- 6 P. Wadhwani and P. Saha (2020), Car Sharing Market Size by Model (P2P, Statio-Base, Free-Floating), By Business Model (Round Trip, One Way), By Application (Business, Private), Industry Analysis Report, Regional Outlook, Application Potential, Price Trend, Competitive Market Share and Forecast, 2020-2026, Global Market Insights, Selbyville, https://www.gminsights.com/industry-analysis/carsharing-markot
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Movmi (2018), "South East Asia", 16 October, https://movmi.net/shared-mobilitysouth-east-asia.
- 9 Graphic Research (2018), Asia Pacific Car Sharing Market Size by Model (P2P, Statio-Base, Free-Floating), By Business Model (Round Trip, One Way), By Application (Business, Private), Industry Analysis Report, Regional Outlook (China, Japan, South Korea, India, Taiwan, Malaysia, Singapore, Australia), Growth Potential, Competitive Market Share and Forecast, 2018-2024, Pune, https://www.graphicalresearch.com/ industry-insights/1001/asia-pacific-car-sharing-market.
- C. Rodier and J. Michaels (2019), The Effects of Ride-Hailing Services on Greenhouse Gas Emissions, University of California, Davis, https://escholarship.org/uc/ item/4vz52416.
- 11 A. Henao and W. E. Marshall (2019), "The impact of ride-hailing on vehicle miles traveled," *Transportation*, Vol. 46/6, Springer, pp. 2173-94, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11116-018-9923-2.
- 12 O. R. Tarek and S. Amit (2020), "With 7.5m rides a month, ridesharing services take over Bangladesh", The Business Standard, 17 February, https://tbsnews.net/ economy/75m-rides-month-ridesharing-services-take-over-bangladesh-45453.
- 13 N. Akter, F. N. Rahman and M. I. Hossain (2019), "Transforming ride-sharing into sustainable business", The Daily Star, 29 October, https://www.thedailystar.net/ business/news/transforming-ride-sharing-sustainable-business-1820065.
- 14 A. Tirachini and A. Gomez-Lobo (2020), "Does ride-hailing increase or decrease vehicle kilometers traveled (VKT)? A simulation approach for Santiago de Chile," International Journal of Sustainable Transportation, Vol. 14/3, Taylor and Francis Ltd., pp. 187-204, https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2018.1539146.
- 15 D. Oviedo, I. Granada and D. Perez-Jaramillo (2020), Ridesourcing and Travel Demand: Potential Effects of Transportation Network Companies in Bogotá, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute (MDPI), Basel, https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/5/1732/pdf.
- 16 Y. Kazeem (2020), "Lagos has banned its most effective methods of transport - including bikehailing startups", Quartz Africa, 28 January, https://qz.com/africa/1792504/lagos-bans-okada-oride-gokada-keke-tricycles.
- 17 C. Moon-Miklaucic et al. (2019), The Evolution of Bike Sharing: 10 Questions on the Emergence of New Technologies, Opportunities, and Risks, World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C., https://wrirosscities.org/sites/default/files/the-evolution-bikesharing.pdf; J. Zhang et al. (2021), "Life duration of bike sharing systems", Case Studies on Transport Policy, Vol. 9/2, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 674-80, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cstp.2021.03.005.
- 18 Figure 3 from SLOCAT calculations based on P. Demalo et al. (2020), "The Meddin Bike-sharing World Map", PBSC, https://bikesharingworldmap.com.
- 19 Figure 4 from National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO) (2020), Shared Micromobility in the U.S.: 2019, New York, https://nacto.org/shared-micromobility-2019, and from NACTO (2019), Shared Micromobility in the U.S.: 2018, New York, https://nacto.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/NACTO_Shared-Micromobility-in-2018_Web.pdf. D. Fitch, H. Mohiuddin and S. Handy (2020), Investigating the Influence of Dockless Electric Bike-share on Travel Behavior, Attitudes, Health and Equity, University of California Institute of Transportation Studies, Davis, https://escholarship.org/uc/item/2x53m37z.
- 20 SLOCAT, op. cit. note 18.
- 21 B. B. Kabeja (2019), "E-bikes to revolutionize mobility in Rwanda", Clean Leap, 15 March, https://cleanleap.com/e-bikes-revolutionize-mobility-rwanda.
- 22 International Association of Public Transport (UITP), "Mena", https://mena.uitp. org/dubai-rta-and-careem-operate-3500-bikes-and-350-stations (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 23 NACTO (2020), op. cit. note 19
- 24 K. Canales and G. Rapier (2020), "The rise and fall of the Jump bike, the electric machine that wooed Uber into a \$200 million sale and is now being discarded by the thousands", Business Insider, 26 June, https://www.businessinsider.com/what happened-to-iump-bike-rise-and-fall-uber-2020-6.
- 25 M. López (2020), "E-scooter startup Lime retreats in Latam, a warning sign for Grow?" Contxto, 10 January, https://www.contxto.com/en/brazil/electric-scooterstartup-lime-retreats-latam-warning-sign-grow.
- 26 Esferasoft Solutions, "Global e-scooter market trends and statistics: Increasing popularity of e-scooter sharing services to boost market growth", https://www. esferasoft.com/blog/global-escooter-market-trends-statistics-and-micromobility-report (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 27 Figure 5 from NUMO, "New Mobility Atlas", https://www.numo.global/new-mobility-atlas#2/51.94/12.25 (accessed 31 May 2021).

- 28 A. Schmitt (2018), "Is pedal dockless bike share going extinct", StreetsBlog USA, 10 October, https://usa.streetsblog.org/2018/10/10/is-pedal-dockless-bike-sharegoing-extinct.
- 29 NUMO, op. cit. note 27.
- 30 NACTO (2020), op. cit. note 19; NACTO (2019), op. cit. note 19.
- 31 NACTO (2020), op. cit. note 19.
- 32 NACTO (2019), op. cit. note 19.
- 33 L. Hodgson (2020), "Investors bet on micromobility's post-COVID-19 future", PitchBook, 1 June, https://pitchbook.com/news/articles/investors-bet-on-micrombilitys-post-covid-19-future.
- 34 K. Wilson (2020), "Why do micromobility companies keep losing money?" Streets-Blog USA, 14 January, https://usa.streetsblog.org/2020/01/14/why-do-micromobility-companies-keep-losing-money.
- J. Eliasen (2021), "The future of micromobility", Medium, 15 January, https://medium.com/swih/the-future-of-micromobility-2d4d96d4e2dd.
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 Red Herring (2020), "Layoffs hit hard as unicorns place new focus on profitability", 13 January, https://www.redherring.com/north-america/layoffs-hit-hard-as-unicorns-place-new-focus-on-profitability.
- 38 Hodgson, op. cit. note 33.
- 39 Figure 6 from Bloomberg Philanthropies (2020), "Initiative on Cities and Autonomous Vehicles", https://avsincities.bloomberg.org (accessed 8 October 2020).
- 40 Reuters (2019), "Elon Musk on Telsa's self-driving capabilities", 22 April, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-tesla-autonomous-factbox/factbox-elon-musk-on-teslas-self-driving-capabilities-idUSKCN1RY0QY. For predictions from Elon Musk and others, see D. Faggella, "The self-driving car timeline – predictions from the top 11 global automakers", Emerj, 14 March, https://emerj. com/ai-adoption-timelines/self-driving-car-timeline-themselves-top-11-automakers.
- 41 J. Plautz (2019), "Survey: 57% of people willing to ride in AV's", Smart Cities Dive, 5 June, https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/news/survey-57-of-people-willing-toride-in-avs/556194; A. Short (2019), "Brake time: Autonomous vehicle testing endangers pedestrians", StreetsBlog USA, 21 August, https://usa.streetsblog. org/2019/08/21/brake-time-automatic-vehicle-testing-endangers-pedestrians; K. Wiggers (2019), "11 companies propose guiding principles for self-driving vehicles", Venture Beat, 2 July, https://venturebeat.com/2019/07/02/self-driving-car-report-safety-first-for-automated-driving; Daimler (2019), "Safety First for Automated Driving (SaFAD)", 2 July, https://www.daimler.com/innovation/case/autonomous/ safety-first-for-automated-driving-2.html; P. Koopman (2019), "An overview of draft UL4600: 'Standard for Safety for the Evaluation of Autonomous Products", Medium, 20 June, https://medium.com/@pr_97195/an-overview-of-draft-ul-4600standard-for-safety-for-the-evaluation-of-autonomous-products-a50083762591; H. Grabar (2019), "The hyperloop has taken a detour", Slate Group, 31 May, https:// slate.com/technology/2019/05/elon-musks-hyperloop-is-borrowing-ideas-fromtrains-and-cars.html.
- 42 M. Bayern (2020), "Autonomous vehicles: How 7 countries are handling the regulatory landscape", Tech Republic, 5 February, https://www.techrepublic.com/ article/autonomous-vehicles-how-7-countries-are-handling-the-regulatory-landscape.
- 43 FFM Aktuell (2019), "Getting on board for the future test operation for autonomous vehicles in Frankfurt", Frankfurt-Tipp, 10 January, https://www.frankfurt-tipp. de/en/news/s/ugc/getting-started-in-the-future-test-operation-for-autonomous-vehicles-in-frankfurt.html.
- 44 Sustainable Bus (2019), "Artificial Intelligence under the bonnet. Volvo Buses unveiled the first driverless bus in Singapore", 6 March, https://www.sustainable-bus.com/news/artificial-intelligence-under-the-bonnet-volvo-buses-unveiled-the-first-driverless-bus-in-singapore.
- 45 A. Dellinger (2019), "Self-driving truck completes first cross-country freight delivery", Mic, 11 December, https://www.mic.com/p/self-driving-truck-completes-firstcross-country-freight-delivery-19440102.
- 46 A. J. Hawkins (2020), "GM will spend \$2.2 billion to build electric and autonomous vehicles at Detroit plant", The Verge, 27 January, https://www.theverge. com/2020/1/27/21083356/gm-cruise-ev-av-production-announcement-detroit-hamtramck-origin.
- 47 Bird Cities Blog (2020), "Life cycle analysis reveals vast CO2 emissions gap between cars and scooters, 27 April, https://www.bird.co/blog/life-cycle-analysis co2-emissions-gap-between-cars-scooters.
- 48 Lime (2019), "New report examines the sustainability impact of e-scooters in Paris", 10 October, https://www.li.me/second-street/new-report-examines-sustainability-impact-e-scooters-paris.
- 49 Lime (2019), "E-scooters and Earth Day: Measuring micromobility's impact on the environment", 22 April, https://www.li.me/second-street/e-scooters-earth-day-measuring-micromobility-impact-environment.
- 50 A. Schuller and M. Aboukrat (2019), White Paper: The Role of E-scooters and Light Electric Vehicles in Decarbonizing Cities, Carbone 4, http://www.carbone4.com/ wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Carbone-4-for-Bird-E-Scooter-and-Cities-decarbonization.pdf.
- 51 Portland Bureau of Transportation (2018), 2018 E-Scooter Findings Report, Portland, Oregon, https://www.portlandoregon.gov/transportation/article/709719.
- 52 North Carolina State University (2019), "Shared e-scooters aren't always as 'green' as other transport options", ScienceDaily, 2 August, https://www.sciencedaily.com/

releases/2019/08/190802104535.htm.

- 53 A. Henao and W. E. Marshall (2019), "The impact of ride-hailing on vehicle miles traveled", *Transportation*, Vol. 46/6, Springer, pp. 2173-94, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11116-018-9923-2.
- 54 Figure 6 from Rodier and Michaels, op. cit. note 10.
- 55 B. Schaller (2021), "Can sharing a ride make for less traffic? Evidence from Uber and Lyft and implications for cities," *Transport Policy*, Vol. 102, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 1-10, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2020.12.015.
- 56 S. Shaheen et al. (2019), Shared Mobility Policy Playbook, Transportation Sustainability Research Center, University of California at Berkeley, Berkeley, https:// escholarship.org/uc/item/9678b4xs.
- 57 J. Khurana (20201), "Ride-hailing platforms will lead the global EV transition", World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 25 January, https://www. wbcsd.org/Overview/News-Insights/WBCSD-insights/Ride-hailing-platforms-will lead-the-global-EV-transition.
- 58 D. Gardiner (2021), "California requires Uber, Lyft to switch mostly to electric cars by 2030", San Francisco Chronicle, 21 May, https://www.sfchronicle.com/politics/ article/California-requires-Uber-Lyft-to-switch-mostly-16194997.php.
- 59 D. Hall, M. Nicholas and M. R. Bernard (2021), Guide to Electrifying Ride-hailing Vehicles for Cities, International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT), https:// theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/Ride-hailing-cities-guide-mar2021.pdf.
- 60 D. Hall et al. (2020), Electric Vehicle Capitals: Cities Aim for All-electric Mobility, ICCT, Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/ev-capitals-update-sept2020.pdf.
- 61 Lime (2020), "Lime commits to 100% zero-emissions operations fleet vehicles", 6 February, https://v1.li.me/second-street/lime-commits-to-100-zero-emissions-operations-fleet-vehicles.
- 62 Lyft (2020), "Leading the transition to zero emissions: Our commitment to 100% electric vehicles by 2030", 17 June, https://www.lyft.com/blog/posts/lead-ing-the-transition-to-zero-emissions.
- 63 Connected to India (2019), "Singapore's Grab adds 200 electric vehicles to its fleet", 10 January, https://www.connectedtoindia.com/singapores-grab-adds-200 electric-vehicles-to-its-fleet-4970.html.
- 64 E. Bannon (2020), "Uber to electrify half of its rides in Europe after T&E public appeal", Transport and Environment, 8 September, https://www.transportenviron ment.org/press/uber-electrify-half-its-rides-europe-after-te-public-appeal; Uber, "Millions of rides a day. Zero emissions.", https://www.uber.com/be/en/about/ sustainability (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 65 M. Beedham (2020), "Estonia is finally gearing up to regulate e-scooters on its roads - EU adoption increasing", TNW, 7 May, https://thenextweb.com/news/estnia-government-amend-laws-that-pave-way-for-e-scooters-uk-trials.
- 66 A. Tidey (2019), "Germany legalizes e-scooters but bans them from the pavement", Euronews, 20 May, https://www.euronews.com/2019/05/17/germany-legalisese-scooters-but-bans-them-from-the-pavement; Uffici di Diretta Collaborazione del Ministro Dipartimento per I Transporti (2019), Il Ministro delle infrastrutture e dei transporti, Governo Italiano, http://www.mit.gov.it/sites/default/files/media/ notizia/2019-06/schema%20DM%20micromobilit%C3%A0%20229_2019%20 %283%29.pdf; Republika (2019), "Driving electric scooters to be regulated by law, Government decides", 29 October, https://english.republika.mk/news/macedonia/ driving-electric-scooters-to-be-regulated-by-law-government-decides.
- 67 Library of Congress (2019), "Brazil: City of São Paolo enacts decree regulating use of electric scooters", 23 May, https://www.loc.gov/law/foreign-news/article/brazilcity-of-so-paulo-enacts-decree-regulating-use-of-electric-scooters.
- 68 Unagi, "The Comprehensive Guide to Electric Scooter Laws", https://unagiscooters.com/articles/the-comprehensive-guide-to-electric-scooter-laws (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 69 Land Transport Authority Singapore (2019), "E-scooters to be prohibited on all footpaths following safety review", 4 November, https://www.lta.gov.sg/ content/ltagovien/newsroom/2019/11/1/e-scooters_tobe_prohibited_on_allfootpaths_following_safety_review.html. For an analysis of the regulations around micromobility, see J. Halfon (2019), "A lawyer explains why electric scooter laws don't work", Bloomberg CityLab, 28 June, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2019-06-28/electric-scooter-laws-are-defective-a-lawyer-says.
- 70 For a review of this standard and some of the concerns related to it, see A. J. Hawkins (2019), "New startup aims to bring controversial scooter tracking system to more cities", The Verge, 23 September, https://www.theverge. com/2019/9/23/20872421/lacuna-startup-mds-scooter-tracking-ladot-data-collection.
- 71 Unagi, op. cit. note 68.
- 72 NUMO, "About NUMO", https://www.numo.global/about (accessed 2 June 2021); R. Chase (2017), "Shared Mobility Principles for Livable Cities", https://www. sharedmobilityprinciples.org.
- 73 NUMO (2020), "World Economic Forum releases guidelines for city mobility: Steering towards collaboration", 17 March, https://www.numo.global/news/world-economic-forum-releases-guidelines-city-mobility-steering-towards-collaboration; World Economic Forum (2020), Guidelines for City Mobility: Steering Towards Collaboration, Geneva, https://www.weforum.org/reports/guidelines-for-city-mobility-2020.
- 74 B. Welle and T. Fried (2019), "Tech startups offer new answers to African transport woes. How can cities capitalize?" The City Fix, 14 November, https://thecityfix.com/ blog/tech-startups-offer-new-answers-african-transport-woes-can-cities-capitalize-

ben-welle-travis-fried

- 75 GoMetro, http://www.getgometro.com (accessed 31 May 2021); WhereIsMy-Transport, "Trusted Mobility Data and Solutions for Emerging-Market Cities", https://www.whereismytransport.com (accessed 31 May 2021); SafeBoda, "Why SafeBoda?" https://safeboda.com/ng (accessed 31 May 2021); A.L. Dahir (2019), "Ride-hailing services want to disrupt – and bring order to – Kenya's unruly public bus system", Quartz Africa, 23 January, https://qz.com/africa/1531062/ kenyas-matau-buses-face-disruption-by-little-swul-safir; J. Mueni (2019), "Matatu hailing app launches for Nairobi commuters", Capital Business, 7 March, https:// www.capitalfm.co.ke/business/2019/03/matatu-hailing-app-launched-for-nairobi-commuters.
- 76 D. Taylor (2020), "How technology is upgrading traditional mobility services in Africa", World Economic Forum, 27 November, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/11/south-africa-mobility-technology.
- 77 T. Fried and I. Abubaker (2019), "In African cities, mapping paratransit makes for smarter mobility", The City Fix, 27 May, https://thecityfix.com/blog/african-cities-mapping-paratransit-makes-smarter-mobility-travis-fried-iman-abubaker.
- 78 R. Chase (2017), "Shared Mobility Principles for Livable Cities", https://www. sharedmobilityprinciples.org (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 79 NUMO, https://www.numo.global (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 80 For a good overview of global initiatives, see Micromobility Industries (2021), "The Micromobility Landscape", https://micromobility.io/landscape (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 81 World Economic Forum, "Global New Mobility Coalition", https://www.weforum. org/projects/global-new-mobility-coalition (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 82 Innovative Mobility, "About IMR", http://innovativemobility.org/?page_id=47 (accessed 31 May 2021); University of California at Berkeley, "About TSRC", https://tsrc.berkeley.edu/about (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 83 Shared-Use Mobility Center, "About us", https://sharedusemobilitycenter.org/ about-us (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 84 MaaS Alliance, "Join MaaS Alliance", https://maas-alliance.eu/join (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 85 Mobility on Demand Alliance, "Why an Alliance?" https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5b1e8a4be2ccd113109d86d9/t/5d214a189813d8000 1c21546/1562462744462/MOD+Alliance+Fact+Sheet+July+2019.pdf (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 86 European Commission (2018), "1st Partner Meeting of the EIP SCC New Mobility Services Initiative", 26 February, https://smart-cities-marketplace.ec.europa.eu/ news-and-events/news/2018/1st-partner-meeting-eip-scc-new-mobility-services-initiative.
- 87 If not stated otherwise, then the assessment of policy landscape indicators is based on desk research with a focus on the 31 country factsheets and information outlined in the section. More countries might have such policies in place or similar policies implemented. SLOCAT, op. cit. note 18; Carsharing Association (2021), "Carsharing World Map", https://carsharing.org/carsharing-world-map (accessed 20 April 2021); S. Shaheen and A. Cohen (2020), "Innovative mobility: Carsharing outlook", https://escholarship.org/uc/item/61q03282 (accessed 20 October 2020); Bloomberg Philanthropies, op. cit. note 39.

3.7 Fuel Economy

- 1 Diesel Technology Forum (2009), Climate Change, Black Carbon & Clean Diesel, https://cleanenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/dtfblack_carbon_final.pdf.
- 2 Global Fuel Economy Initiative (GFEI) (2020), Vehicle Efficiency and Electrification: A Global Status Report, London, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/ media/791561/gfei-global-status-report-2020.pdf.
- 3 Ibid.
- 4 D. Kodjak and D. Meszler (2019), Prospects for Fuel Efficiency, Electrification and Fleet Decarbonisation, GFEI, London, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/ media/708302/gfei-working-paper-20.pdf.
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 Box from the following sources: A. Deo (2020), "Atmanirbhar Bharat and COVID-19: Fuel consumption standards aren't a problem, they're a part of the solution", International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT), 13 July, https://theicct.org/ blog/staff/atmanirbhar-bharat-and-covid-19-jul2020; International Energy Agency (IEA) (2020), "Promoting vehicle efficiency and electrification through stimulus packages", 23 November, https://www.iea.org/articles/promoting-vehicle-efficiency-and-electrification-through-stimulus-packages; S. Wappelhorst (2020), "Economic recovery packages in response to COVID-19: Another push for electric vehicles in Europe?" ICCT, 3 August, https://theicct.org/blog/staff/economic-recovery-covid-19-ev-europe-aug2020.
- 7 GFEI, "About GFEI", https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/about-gfei (accessed 25 May 2021).

8 Ibid.

- 9 IEA (2020), Fuel Consumption of Cars and Vans, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/ fuel-consumption-of-cars-and-vans.
- 10 GFEI (2019), Global Fuel Economy Initiative for Zero Carbon Vehicles by 2050, London, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/data-and-research/publications/gfei re-launch-document.

- 11 IEA (2019), Fuel Economy in Major Car Markets: Technology and Policy Drivers 2005-2017, GFEI, London, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/media/708177/ gfei-wp19.pdf.
- 12 Figure 1 from Ibid.
- 13 GFEI, op. cit. note 10.
- 14 S. Diaz et al. (2017), Shifting Gears: The Effects of a Future Decline in Diesel Market Share on Tailpipe CO2 and NOx Emissions in Europe, ICCT, Berlin, https://theicct. org/publications/shifting-gears-effects-future-decline-diesel-market-share-tailpipeco2-and-nox.
- 15 Ibid.
- 16 European Automobile Manufacturers' Association (2021), "Fuel types of new passenger cars in the EU", 24 May, https://www.acea.auto/figure/fuel-types-ofnew-passenger-cars-in-eu.
- 17 IEA (2021), Global EV Outlook 2021, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2021.
- 18 European Commission (EC), "CO2 emission performance standards for cars and vans", https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport/vehicles/regulation_en (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 19 GFEI, op. cit. note 2.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 L. Cozzi and A. Petropoulos (2019), "Growing preference for SUVs challenges emissions reductions in passenger car market", IEA, 15 October, https://www.iea. org/commentaries/growing-preference-for-suvs-challenges-emissions-reductions-in-passenger-car-market.
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), "Highlights of the Automotive Trends Report", https://www.epa.gov/automotive-trends/highlights-automotive-trends-report (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 24 Ibid.
- 25 EC (2021), "Average CO2 emissions from new cars increased in 2019 ahead of stricter 2020 targets", 1 June, https://ec.europa.eu/clima/news/average-co2-emis sions-new-light-duty-vehicles-registered-europe-2019_en.
- 26 GFEI, op. cit. note 2.
- 27 Ibid.
- 28 United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2020), Global Trade in Used Vehicles Report, Nairobi, https://www.unep.org/resources/report/glob al-trade-used-vehicles-report.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 Ibid.
- 31 Ibid.
- 32 Ibid.
- 1010.
- 33 IEA (2019), Energy Efficiency 2019, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-efficiency-2019; IEA (2020), "Factors influencing passenger transport energy use, 2015-2018", 6 March, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/factors-influencing-passenger-transport-energy-use-2015-2018.
- 34 US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), "Carbon pollution from transportation", https://www.epa.gov/transportation-air-pollution-and-climate-change/ carbon-pollution-transportation (accessed 24 May 2021).
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 EC, op. cit. note 25.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 GFEI (2020), "Status of GFEI Country Projects", https://www.globalfueleconomy. org/media/791539/gfei-map-2020-status.pdf (accessed 25 May 2021)
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 GFEI, op. cit. note 10.
- 41 GFEI, op. cit. note 2.
- 42 Figure 2 from GFEI, op. cit. note 10.
- 43 Ibid.
- 44 Kodjak and Meszler, op. cit. note 4.
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 GFEI, "Reducing air pollution", https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/transport/ gfei/autotool/understanding_the_problem/Reducing_air_polution.asp (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 GFEI, op. cit. note 2. Figure 3 from IEA, op. cit. note 11.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 M. M. Velasco (2019), "Government to require energy efficiency rating for vehicles", Manila Bulletin, 31 December, https://mb.com.ph/2019/12/31/gover ment-to-require-energy-efficiency-rating-for-vehicles.
- 51 TransportPolicy.net, "Vietnam: Motorcycles: Fuel consumption", https://www. transportpolicy.net/standard/vietnam-motorcycles-fuel-consumption (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 52 GFEI, op. cit. note 2.
- 53 GFEI (2018), "Malaysia announces plans for new fuel economy test cycle", 20

November, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/blog/2018/november/malaysia-announces-plans-for-new-fuel-economy-test-cycle.

- 54 UNEP (2019), "Namibia proposes tougher fuel economy measures to tackle climate change", 5 November, https://www.unenvironment.org/news-and-stories, story/namibia-proposes-tougher-fuel-economy-measures-tackle-climate-change.
- 55 Bloomberg Tax (2019), "North Macedonia MOF announces vehicle tax incentives for reduced CO2 emissions", 31 December, https://news.bloombergtax.com/ daily-tax-report-international/north-macedonia-mof-announces-vehicle-tax-incentives-for-reduced-co2-emissions.
- 56 B. Khutasoane (2018), Green Transport Strategy: 2018-2050, Department of Transport, Republic of South Africa, Pretoria, https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/ Green%20transport%20strategy%202018-2050.pdf.
- 57 UNEP (2018), "Zambia proposes a review of its carbon tax to promote cleaner vehicles", 30 November, https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/story/zambia-proposes-review-its-carbon-tax-promote-cleaner-vehicles.
- 58 Figure 4 from Kodjak and Meszler, op. cit. note 4.
- 59 GFEI (2018), "ASEAN countries adopt fuel economy roadmap", 20 November, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/blog/2018/november/asean-countries-adopt-fuel-economy-roadmap; GFEI (2020), "West Africa adopts first ever Africa regional fuel economy roadmap", 13 February, https://www.globalfuelecon omy.org/blog/2020/february/west-africa-adopts-the-first-ever-africa-regional-fuel-economy-roadmap.
- 60 GFEI, "ASEAN countries adopt fuel economy roadmap", op. cit. note 59; Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) (2019), ASEAN Fuel Economy Roadmap for Transport Sector 2018-2025: With Focus on Light-Duty Vehicles, Jakarta, https://asean.org/storage/2019/03/ASEAN-Fuel-Economy-Roadmap-FINAL.pdf.
- 61 M. Chan (2019), "Government to announce revised NAP in Q2, 2019", Paultan, 9 April, https://paultan.org/2019/04/09/government-to-announce-revised-napin-q2-2019.
- 62 GFEI, "West Africa adopts first ever Africa regional fuel economy roadmap", op. cit. note 59.
- 63 ICCT (2019), "Comments on China's proposed 2021-2025 fuel consumption limits, evaluation methods, and targets for passenger cars", 11 March, https:// theicct.org/news/comments-chinas-proposed-2021-2025-fuel-consumption-limits evaluation-methods-and-targets.
- 64 Z. Yang (2019), "Looking back to look ahead: India's fuel consumption standards", ICCT, 26 June, https://theicct.org/blog/staff/looking-back-look-ahead-india-fuelconsumption-standards.
- 65 Figure 5 from ICCT (2020), "Chart library: Passenger vehicle fuel economy", https://theicct.org/chart-library-passenger-vehicle-fuel-economy (accessed 20 May 2021).
- 66 Z. Yang and D. Rutherford (2019), "Japan 2030 fuel economy standards", ICCT, 29 September, https://theicct.org/publications/japan-2030-fuel-economy-standards.
- 67 Ibid.
- 68 ICCT (2020), "The SAFE rule is fundamentally flawed", 31 March, https://theicct. org/news/safe-rule-fundamentally-flawed.
- 69 K. Hall and R. Beggin (2021), "Biden to tell U.S. agencies to review fuel efficiency standards, overturning Trump", Detroit News, 20 January, https://www.detroitnews.com/story/business/autos/2021/01/20/biden-tells-agencies-review-fuel-standards/4230766001.
- 70 Government of Canada (2021), "Government of Canada review of fuel efficiency standards confirms the economic and environmental benefits of ambitious action", 12 February 2021, https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/ news/2021/02/government-of-canada-review-of-fuel-efficiency-standards-confirms-the-economic-and-environmental-benefits-of-ambitious-action.html.
- 71 Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources (SEMARNAT) and National Institute of Ecology and Climate Change (INECC) (2016), Mexico's Climate Change Mid-Century Strategy, Mexico City, https://unfccc.int/files/focus/long-term_strategies/application/pdf/mexico_mcs_final_cop22nov16_red.pdf.
- 72 SLOCAT (2018), Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report 2018, https:// slocat.net/tcc-gsr.
- 73 Ibid.
- 74 A. Bandivadekar (2019), "ICCT: Clock ticking for fuel economy in India", GFEI, 23 January, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/blog/2019/january/icct-clockticking-for-fuel-economy-in-india; Transportpolicy.net, "China: Light-duty: Fuel consumption", https://www.transportpolicy.net/standard/china-light-duty-fuel-consumption (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 75 EC, "Reducing CO2 emissions from heavy-duty vehicles", https://ec.europa.eu/ clima/policies/transport/vehicles/heavy_en (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 76 Diesel.net (2018), "Emission standards India", https://dieselnet.com/standards/in (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 77 Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (METI) (2019), "New fuel efficiency standards for trucks and buses formulated", 29 March, https://www.meti.go.jp/english/ press/2019/0329_003.html.
- 78 IEA (2020), "Trucks and buses", in *Tracking Transport 2020*, Paris, https://www.iea. org/reports/tracking-transport-2020/trucks-and-buses.
- 79 J. Miller and L. Jin (2019), Global Progress Toward Soot-Free Diesel Vehicles in 2019, ICCT, Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/ Global_progress_sootfree_diesel_2019_20190920.pdf.

- 80 H. Cui (2018), "China's New Energy Vehicle Mandate Policy (Final Rule)", ICCT, 11 January, https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/China-NEV-mandate_ICCT-policy-update_20032018_vF-updated.pdf.
- 81 D. Kodjak (2017), "China publishes updated fuel economy standards with mandate for EVs", GFEI, 11 October, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/blog/2017/ october/china-publishes-updated-fuel-economy-standards-with-mandate-for-evs; Cui, op. cit. note 80.
- 82 Interfax-Ukraine (2017), "Introduction of Euro-6 standards for cars in Ukraine slated for 2020", 6 September, https://en.interfax.com.ua/news/general/427466.html.
- 83 Climate Initiatives Platform (2020), "Below50", 9 November, http://climateinitiativesplatform.org/index.php/Below50.
- 84 Climate & Clean Air Coalition, "Heavy-duty vehicles", https://www.ccacoalition.org/ en/initiatives/heavy-duty-vehicles (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 85 GFEI, op. cit. note 7.
- 86 Ibid.
- 87 PPMC, "Global Strategy for Cleaner Fuels and Vehicles", http://www.ppmc-transport.org/global-strategy-for-cleaner-fuels-and-vehicles (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 88 UNEP, "Partnership for Clean Fuels and Vehicles", https://www.unenvironment. org/explore-topics/transport/what-we-do/partnership-clean-fuels-and-vehicles (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 89 Fuel economy benchmarking from GFEI, op. cit. note 38; fuel economy standards for light-duty vehicles from ICCT, op. cit. note 65; fuel economy standards for heavy-duty vehicles and average fuel consumption from GFEI, op. cit. note 2; green freight schemes from Smart Freight Centre (2019), "UN Climate Week 2019: Countries with green freight programs doubles to 26 since 2014", 27 September, https://www.smartfreightcentre.org/en/news/un-climate-week-19/970.
- 90 GFEI (2018), "Bangladesh starts process of developing fuel economy policies", 22 June, https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/blog/2018/june/bangladesh-starts-process-of-developing-fuel-economy-policies.
- 91 N. King (2019), "2020 tax changes to impact residual values in France", Autovista Group, 28 November, https://autovistagroup.com/news-and-insights/2020-taxchanges-impact-residual-values-france.
- 92 I. Mensah (2018), "Ghana disseminates draft motor vehicle emission standards and regulations", UNEP, 17 July, https://www.unenvironment.org/news-andstories/blogpost/ghana-disseminates-draft-motor-vehicle-emission-standards-and-regulations.
- 93 D. Saygin et al. (2019), Transport Sector Transformation: Integrating Electric Vehicles into Turkey's Distribution Grids, SHURA Energy Transition Center, Istanbul, https://www.shura.org.tr/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Transport-sector-transformation.Integrating-electric-vehicles-into-Turkey%E2%80%99s-distribution-grids. pdf.
- 94 T. Krishner and E. Knickmeyer (2019), "California signs deal with automakers to raise gas mileage standards", PBS Newshour, 25 July, https://www.pbs.org/ newshour/economy/california-signs-deal-with-automakers-to-raise-gas-mileagestandards.
- 95 GFEI, "National Workshop on Developing Clean and Efficient Vehicle Policy for Bangladesh", https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/media/708285/02_noorealam. bangladesh-baseline-and-trends.pdf (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 96 Sistema Costarricense de Información Jurídica, "Reglamento para el control de las emisiones contaminantes producidas por los vehículos automotores con motor de combustion interna", http://www.pgrweb.go.cr/scij/Busqueda/Normativa/Normas/ nrm_texto_completo.aspx?nValor1=1&nValor2=81619 (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 97 Miller and Jin, op. cit. note 79.

3.8 Electric Mobility

Box from the following sources: 3 million from International Energy Agency (IEA) 1 (2021), Global EV Outlook 2021, Paris, htt look-2021; diesel and petrol sales from International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA), "Sales statistics" https://www. accessed 2 June 2021); e-bikes from A. J. Hawkins (2020), "How to keep the bike boom from fizzling out", The Verge, 18 December, https:// ructure; EU market share from Acea (2020), "Fuel types of new cars: petrol 47.5%, hybrids 12.4%, electric 9.9% market share third quarter 2020", 5 November, https:// 4-electric-9.9-market-share-t; Norway from Z. Shahan (2020), "69% of autos sold In Norway in 2020 have a plug", CleanTechnica, 9 July, https://www.action.com/actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actionala-plug; China, France and Spain from S. Evans and J. Gabbatiss (2020), "Coronavirus: Tracking how the world's 'green recovery' plans aim to cut emissions", CarbonBrief, 16 June, https://www.carbonbrief.org/coronavirus-tracking-how-the-worlds-g plans-aim-to-cut-emissions; Europe from European Commission (EC), "Recovery plan for Europe", https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy. (accessed 17 May 2021), and from Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020), Making the Green Recovery Work for Jobs, Income and Growth, Paris, https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/view/?ref=136_136201-ctwt German Federal Ministry of Finance (2020), "Public finances", 4 June, https://www. Articles/2020-06-04-fiscal-package.html; V. Clements (2020), "How to get an EV

subsidy in Italy", Wallbox, https://blog.wallbox.com/en/italy-ev-incentives (accessed 25 May 2021); Republic of Korea from OECD, op. cit. this note; The White House (2021), Fact Sheet: The American Jobs Plan, Washington, D.C., https://www. whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/03/31/fact-sheet-theamerican-jobs-plan.

- 2 L. Sheldon (2021), "Electric bike sales in the U.S. grew 145% from 2019 to 2020", Cycling Industry News, 17 March, https://cyclingindustry.news/e-bike-sales-3-7m-17m-2030-industry-experts.
- 3 Figure 1 from IEA (2020), Global EV Outlook 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/ reports/global-ev-outlook-2020.
- 4 IEA, op. cit. note 1.
- 5 Bloomberg News (2021), "In China's biggest cities, one in five cars sold is now electric", 9 May, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2021-05-10/in-china-s biggest-cities-one-in-five-cars-sold-is-now-electric.
- 6 European Alternative Fuels Conservatory (2020), "AF Market Share New Registration M1", EC, https://www.eafo.eu/vehicles-and-fleet/m1#; Shahan, op. cit. note 1.
- 7 Figure 2 from Statens Vegvesen, "Shortcuts", https://www.vegvesen.no/en/home (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 8 IEA (2020), Global EV Outlook 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2020.
- 9 Figure 3 from UITP (2019), Global Bus Survey, https://cms.uitp.org/wp/wp-content/ uploads/2020/07/Statistics-Brief_Global-bus-survey-003.pdf.
- 10 IEA (2020), Electric Vehicles, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/electric-vehicles; IEA, op. cit. note 1.
- 11 IEA, op. cit. note 1.
- 12 International Association of Public Transport (UITP) (2019), The Impact of Electric Buses on Urban Life, Brussels, https://cms.uitp.org/wp/wp-content/up loads/2020/06/UITP-policybrief-June2019-V6-WEB-OK.pdf.
- 13 Sustainable Bus (2020), "Record year 2019. The big leap forward of e-bus market in Western Europe", 10 February, https://www.sustainable-bus.com/news/recordyear-2019-the-big-leap-forward-of-e-bus-market-in-western-europe.
- 14 Semana (2021), "Bogotá, la cuidad con mayor número de buses eléctricos en Latinoamérica", 1 November, https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/bogota-la-ciudad-con-mayor-numero-de-buses-electricos-en-latinoamerica/202119.
- 15 E-Bus Radar (2021), "Latin America", https://www.ebusradar.org/en/home-en (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 16 E. Rosen (2020), "Making yellow school buses a little more green", New York Times, 22 January, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/22/business/energy-environment/electric-school-buses.html.
- 17 Infrastructure Canada (2021), "Government of Canada investing to electrify transit systems across the country", Cision, 21 March, https://www.newswire. ca/news-releases/government-of-canada-investing-to-electrify-transit-systems-across-the-country-895599052.html.
- 18 Sustainable Bus (2020), "Kiira Motors and the electric bus 'made in Uganda'", 28 May, https://www.sustainable-bus.com/news/kiira-motors-corporations-kayoo-la-electric-bus-made-in-uganda.
- 19 IEA, op. cit. note 1.
- 20 IEA, op. cit. note 10.
- 21 IEA, op. cit. note 3; K. Moskvitch (2019), "The problem with China's electric scooter revolution? It's too quiet", Wired, 29 March, https://www.wired.co.uk/article/ why-electric-metor-scooters-are-leading-electric-webicle-revolution-in-asia
- 22 Moskvitch, op. cit. note 21.
- 23 Ibid.
- 24 C. Kanuri, R. Roa and P. Mulukutla (2020), A Review of State Government Policies for Electric Mobility, World Resources Institute India, Bengaluru, https://wri-india. org/sites/default/files/Full-report_EV_State_Policy.pdf.
- 25 Government of Nepal (2020), Second Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC), Kathmandu, https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/ Nepal%20Second/Second%20Nationally%20Determined%20Contribution%20 (NDC)%20-%202020.pdf.
- 26 G. P. Felongco (2018), "900 'e-trikes' deployed in Manila", Gulf News, 2 June, https://gulfnews.com/world/asia/philippines/900-e-trikes-deployed-in-manila-1.2230670; M. Balbin (2019), "100 e-trike units seen to boost Malolos City's tourism", Philippine News Agency, 3 June, https://www.pna.gov.ph/articles/1071350.
- 27 Cycling Industries Europe (2020), "New European Cycling Industry forecast shows huge growth in bike and e-bike sales", 2 December, https://cyclingindustries.com/ news/details/new-european-cycling-industry-forecast-shows-huge-growth-in-bikeand-e-bike-sales; IEA (2021), "Global EV Data Explorer", 29 April, https://www.lea. org/articles/global-ev-data-explorer.
- 28 Cycling Industries Europe, op. cit. note 27.
- 29 Urban Electric Mobility Initiative (UEMI), "UEMI partner cities in Latin America", http://www.uemi.net/latin-america.html (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 30 E. Glusac (2021), "Farther, faster and no sweat: Bike-sharing and the e-bike boom", New York Times, 2 March, https://web.archive.org/web/20210304004603/https:// www.nytimes.com/2021/03/02/travel/ebikes-bike-sharing-us.html.
- 31 Ibid.
- 32 V. Henze (2020), "Battery pack prices cited below \$100/kWh for the first time in

2020, while market average sits at \$137/kWh", BloombergNEF, 16 December, first-time-in-2020-while-market-average-sits-at-137-kwh; Z. Shahan (2020), "The electric car cost tipping point", CleanTechnica, 21 March, https://www.cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active-point/cleanTechnica.com/active-point//cleanTechnica.com/active 020/03/21/the-electric-car-price-tipping-point. Figure 4 from Henze, op. cit. this note.

- 33 Henze, op. cit. note 32.
- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 S. O'Kane (20201), "Gogoro is bringing its electric scooter and battery tech to India", The Verge, 21 April, https://www.theverge.com/2021/4/21/2 ero-motorcorp-electric-scooters-battery-swap-stations.
- R. Palmer et al. (2021), Progress and Insights Report, EV100, https://www.thecli-37
- 38 IEA, op. cit. note 1.
- 39 Ibid.
- Green Car Congress (2020), "Amazon to deploy 10,000 electric delivery 40 rickshaws in India by 2025", 26 January, https://www.greencarcongu
- S. Edelstein (2020), "Amazon shows Rivian electric delivery vans it will use 41 starting 2021", Green Car Reports, 9 October, https://www.greencarreports.com/
- 42 India Block (2018), "IKEA makes deliveries with electric rickshaws from first Indian store", Dezeen, 10 August, https://www.dezeen.com/2018/08/10/ike
- E. Anzilotti (2019), "In Shanghai, every Ikea delivery is now made with an electric 43 vehicle", 28 January, https://www.fastcompany.com/90297201/in-shanghai-e ery-ikea-delivery-is-now-made-with-an-electric-vehicle.
- M. Whybrow (2020), "Ikea assembles a sustainable transport future", Smarter 44 Communities, 12 February, https://smartercommunities.media/ikeas-push
- C. Watkiss (2019), "Royal Mail trials e-trikes to deliver letters and parcels in a more 45 environmentally-friendly way", Climate Action, 22 March, http://www.cli
- 46 V. Tomlinson (2020), "UPS invests in Arrival and orders 10,000 generation 2 electric vehicles", Arrival, 24 April, https://arrival.com/news/ups-in
- Stakeholders include hardware manufacturers, software designers, and service 47 providers and operators, as well as new participants such as electric utilities government-owned or private network operators, oil and gas companies, electrical equipment manufacturers, digital payment companies, web app developers municipal government bodies, parking authorities and business owners who have premises to set up charging points.
- 48 International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT) (2020), Charging Infrastructure in Cities: Metrics for Evaluating Future Need, Washington, D.C., https://theicct.
- Xinhua (2020), "China to optimize policy support for NEV charging infrastructure", 49 9 April, http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2020-04/09/c_138961704.htm.
- 50 Ibid
- 51 Acea (2019), "Interactive map - correlation between electric car sales and availability of charging points (update)", 12 July, https://www.acea.be
- Wallbox, "EV and EV charger incentives in Europe: A complete guide for business-52 es and individuals", https://blog.wallbox.com/en/ev-andeurope-a-complete-guide-for-businesses-and-individuals (accessed 2 June 2021).
- S. Asad (2020), "Kahramaa launches Qatar's first electric vehicle charging station", 53 IloveQatar, 12 November, https://www.iloveqatar.net/news/general/ta
- D. Harrison (2019), "ChargePoint, Electrify America collaborate on agreement 54 to expand public EV charging access," 11 June, https://www.chargepoin
- Northwestern University (2019), "Electric vehicle adoption improves air quality 55 and climate outlook", Science Daily, 12 April, https://www.science
- Transport and Environment (2020), T&E's Analysis of Electric Car Lifecycle CO2 56 Emissions, Brussels, https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/
- 57 Ibid.
- 58 E-Bus Radar, op. cit. note 15.
- W. Kai Yi (2019), "Quieter, cleaner rides next year with 60 electric buses on roads" 59 Straits Times, 12 November, https://www.straitstimes.com/singapore/transport/
- J. Eun Oh et al. (2019), Addressing Climate Change in Transport. Volume 1: 60 Pathway to Low-Carbon Transport, World Bank, Washington, D.C., https://www. Change_in_Transport_Volume-1.pdf.

- Q. Dai et al. (2019), "Life cycle analysis of lithium-ion batteries for automotive 61 applications", Batteries, Vol. 5/2, MDPI Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, p. 48, https://doi.org/10.3390/batteries5020048
- IEA, op. cit. note 3. 62
- United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2020), Challenges for the Growth 63 of the Electric Vehicle Market, Nairobi, https://wedocs.unep.org/bi
- 64 IEA, op. cit. note 3.
- 65 Battery 2030 (2021), "The Roadmap", 24 February, https://battery2030.eu/
- P. Wheeler, Y. Teng and D. Ogilvy (2019), "Why are battery companies investing in 66 mines? Strategies for vertical integration in the mining industry, L.E.K. Consulting/ Executive Insights, Volume XXI/55, https://www.lek.com/sit
- 67 Figure 5 from SLOCAT Partnership for Sustainable Low Carbon Transport (2020), "E-mobility trends and targets", September, https://slocat.net/e-mobility.
- 68 Ibid.
- 69 Ibid
- 70 Ibid.
- Government of British Columbia, "CleanBC", https://cleanbc.gov.bc.ca (accessed 71 2 June 2021).
- 72 Ibid
- UK Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) and The Rt Hon 73 Alok Sharma MP (2020), "Joint statement of Zero Emission Vehicle Transition Council", 27 November, https://www.gov.uk/gov
- 74 Ibid.
- 75 Ibid.
- Reuters (2021), "BMW aims to double fully-electric vehicle sales in 2021", 15 76 January, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-autos-bmw-electric/bmw-aims-to-douelectric-vehicle-sales-in-2021-idUSKBN29K1CI.
- 77 Reuters (2021), "GM aims to end sale of gasoline-powered cars, light trucks by 2035", VOA News, 28 January, https://www.voanews.com/economy-business/gm-
- Korea JoongAng Daily (2021), "Hyundai Motor Group stops developing diesel en-78 gines", 13 January, https://koreajoongangdaily.joins.com/2021/01/13/business
- Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft (2019), "MED: Six advantages of the modular electric drive matrix", 14 May, https://www.volkswagenag.
- J. Jolly (2021), "Volvo says it will make only electric cars by 2030", The Guardian 80 (UK), 2 March, https://www.theguardian.com/business/2021/mar/02/volvo-el
- Africanews (2019), "Rwandans switching from petrol to electric motorcycles", 31 81 August, https://www.africanews.com/2019/08/31/rwandans-switching-from-pet
- T. Jackson (2020), "This startup is rolling out electric motorcycle taxis across 82 Kenya", Disrupt Africa, 30 September, https://disrupt-africa.com/2020/09/30/this-
- C. Hampel (2019), "Rwanda: electric two-wheelers and battery swapping", 83 Electrive, 29 August, https://www.electrive.com/2019/08/29/rw
- J. Pearson (2019), "Fast and serious Vietnam's first domestic car manufacturer 84 bets big", Euronews, 12 September, https://www.euronews.com/2018/10/01
- UEMI, "EV Readiness Analysis", http://www.uemi.net/ev-readiness.html (accessed 85 2 June 2021).
- Deloitte Insights (2017), Powering the Future of Mobility: How the Electric Power 86 Sector Can Prepare for Its Critical Role in the New Transportation Ecosystem, er-and-utilities/DeloitteInsights_FoM-P&U.pdf.
- Ibid. 87
- 88 G. M. Gomis (2019), Status of Electric Mobility in Latin America and the Caribbean 2019, UNEP, Nairobi, https://movelatam.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Report
- K. Singh (2020), "Oil and gas companies hedge bets with investments in green 89 energy", Indian Express, 12 July, https://indianexpress.com/article/bus
- Civitas (2019), Master Plan for Developing Electric Vehicle Charging in Stockholm, 90 Stockholm, http://civitas.eu/sites/default/files/sto_6.6_master_plan_for_develop ric_vehicle_charging_in_stockholm.pdf.
- E. Livni (2019), "The Tesla of Thailand is also an electric utility", Quartz, 30 June, 91 //qz.com/1655720/the-tesla-of-thailand-is-also-an-electri
- 92 Electrify America (2019), "Evgo, Electrify America join forces to increase EV public charging accessibility across the U.S.", 22 August, https://media.electrifyar
- City of Vancouver (2015), Renewable City Strategy 2015-2050, Vancouver, https:// 93

- 94 B. Finamore and H. M. Kim (2020), "How EV charging can clean up China's electricity grid", Natural Resources Defense Council, 23 June, https://www.nrdc.org/ experts/barbara-finamore/how-ev-charging-can-clean-chinas-electricity-grid.
- 95 J. Starn (2019), "Sweden's EV boom is under threat from power crunch", Automotive News Europe, 12 June, https://europe.autonews.com/automakers/swedensev-boom-under-threat-power-crunch.
- 96 SLOCAT (2020), "ACT Initiative", https://slocat.net/act-initiative.
- 97 Clean Energy Ministerial, "EV 2020 increasing uptake of electric vehicles: A campaign of the Clean Energy Ministerial", http://www.cleanenergyministerial.org/campaign-clean-energy-ministerial/ev3030-campaign (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 98 The Climate Group, "Climate Group EV100", https://www.theclimategroup.org/ ev100 (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 99 ZEV Alliance (2015), "International ZEV Alliance announcement", 3 December, http://www.zevalliance.org/international-zev-alliance-announcement.
- 100 Taxis4SmartCities, "Reduction of carbon emissions", http://www.taxis4smartcities. eu/our-commitments/reduction-of-carbon-emissions (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 101 UEMI, "Who we are", http://www.uemi.net/who-we-are.html (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 102 Electric vehicle targets and internal combustion engine vehicle phase-out targets from SLOCAT, op. cit. note 67; all other indicators from IEA, op. cit. note 3.
- 103 C. Teague (2019), "Amsterdam to ban gasoline and diesel vehicles completely by 2030 to curb air pollution", The Drive, 6 May, https://www.thedrive.com/ news/27838/amsterdam-to-ban-gasoline-and-diesel-vehicles-completely-by-2030 to-curb-air-pollution; F. Lamber (2017), "The Dutch government confirms plan to ban new petrol and diesel cars by 2030", Electrek, 10 October, https://electrek. co/2017/10/10/netherlands-dutch-ban-petrol-diesel-cars-2030-electric-cars.
- 104 M. Uddin (2020), "Pakistan's National Electric Vehicle Policy: Charging towards the future", ICCT, 10 January, https://theicct.org/blog/staff/pakistan%E2%80%99s-national-electric-vehicle-policy-charging-towards-future.
- 105 A. Lee (2019), "Balearic Islands target 100% renewables, inspiring 26 EU islands", EURACTIV, 18 February, https://www.euractiv.com/section/energy/news/balearicislands-aim-for-100-renewables-inspiring-26-eu-islands.
- 106 S. Hanley (2019), "Sweden will ban sale of gasoline & diesel cars after 2030. Germany lags behind", Clean Technica, 23 January, https://cleantechnica. com/2019/01/23/sweden-will-ban-sale-of-gasoline-diesel-cars-after-2030-germany-lags-behind.
- 107 Ministry of Infrastructure of Ukraine (2018), National Transport Strategy of Ukraine 2030, Kyiv, https://mtu.gov.ua/files/for_investors/230118/National%20Transport%20Strategy%200f%20Ukraine.pdf.
- 108 BBC News (2020), "Petrol and diesel car sales ban brought forward to 2035", 4 February, https://www.bbc.com/news/science-environment-51366123.
- 109 P. Dzikiy (2019), "San Francisco aims for emission-free transportation by 2040, moves to increase EV charging options", Electrek, 16 July, https://electrek. co/2019/07/16/san-francisco-emission-transporation-2040.
- 110 Government of Canada (2019), "Zero-emissions vehicles", 14 August, https://www. tc.gc.ca/en/services/road/innovative-technologies/zero-emission-vehicles.html.
- 111 Government of Nepal, op. cit. note 25.
- 112 BYD (2019), "BYD launches the first pure electric taxi fleet in Panama and Central America", 20 May, http://www.byd.com/en/news/2019-05-29/BYD-launches-the-First-Pure-Electric-Taxi-Fleet-in-Panama-and-Central-America; C. Hampel (2019), "Panama: BYD delivers first e-taxi fleet in Central America", Electrive, 6 June, https://www.electrive.com/2019/06/06/panama-the-first-e-taxi-fleet-in-centralamerica.
- 113 M. Temizer, N. E. Kaya and F. Yuksel (2020), "Minister Dönmez: We predict that there will be over 1 million electric cars in Turkey by 2030", Anadolu Ajansi, 16 January, https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/ekonomi/bakan-donmez-2030da-turkiyede-1-milyonun-uzerinde-elektrikli-otomobil-olacagini-ongoruyoruz/1704125.
- 114 K. Fehrenbacher (2020), "The top 25 most sustainable fleets", GreenBiz, 26 October, https://www.greenbiz.com/article/top-25-most-sustainable-fleets.
- 115 SLOCAT, op. cit. note 67; national purchases for EVs include purchase subsidies and tax reduction, from IEA, op. cit. note 3.
- 116 Summit Mobilidade Urbana (2020), "Quais cidades já têm ônibus eléctricos no Brasil?" Estadão, 18 May, https://summitmobilidade.estadao.com.br/guia-do-trans porte-urbano/quais-cidades-ja-tem-onibus-eletricos-no-brasil.
- 117 New Energy (2020), "Chile aims for 100% electric public transportation by 2040", 9 March, https://newenergyevents.com/chile-aims-for-100-electric-public-transportation-by-2040.
- 118 UNEP (2019), "Electric buses put Chile on the path to a healthier tomorrow", 27 May, https://www.unenvironment.org/news-and-stories/story/electric-buses-put-chile-path-healthier-tomorrow.
- 119 UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (2019), "Costa Rica commits to fully decarbonize by 2050", 4 March, https://unfccc.int/news/costa-rica-commits-to-fully-decarbonize-by-2050; S. Rodriguez (2019), "Costa Rica launches 'unprecedented' push for zero emissions by 2050", Reuters, 25 February, https://www. reuters.com/article/us-costa-rica-climatechange-transportati/costa-rica-launches-unprecedented-push-for-zero-emissions-by-2050-idUSKCN1QE253.
- 120 Gomis, op. cit. note 88.
- 121 Solutions Plus, "Quit-Ecuador", http://www.solutionsplus.eu/quito.html (accessed 2 June 2021).

- 122 Xinhua (2019), "Ecuador opens its largest electric charging station built by China's BYD", 9 November, http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2019-11/09/c_138542357. htm.
- 123 EC, "Clean Vehicles Directive", https://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/urban/ clean-vehicles-directive_en (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 124 P. Dzikiy (2019), "Milan to receive 250 electric buses from Solaris in one of Europe's largest e-bus orders yet", Electrek, 10 July, https://electrek.co/2019/07/10/ milan-250-electric-buses-solaris.
- 125 Government of India Press Information Bureau and Ministry of Heavy Industries & Public Enterprises (2019), "Sanction for 5595 electric buses under Fame Phase-II", 8 August, https://pib.gov.in/Pressreleaseshare.aspx?PRID=1581525.
- 126 ICCT (2019), Electric Vehicle Capitals: Showing the Path to a Mainstream Market, Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/EV_Capitals_2018_20191121.pdf.
- 127 B. Wehrmann (2019), "Germany's Climate Action Programme 2030", Clean Energy Wire, 16 December, https://www.cleanenergywire.org/factsheets/germanys-climate-action-programme-2030.
- 128 Office Journal of the European Union (2018), Directive (EU) 2018/844 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 amending Directive 2010/21/ EU on the energy performance of buildings and Directive 2012/27/EU on energy efficiency, Brussels, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?toc=O-J%3AL%3A2018%3A156%3ATOC.
- 129 PTI (2020), "Government approves 2,636 new charging stations in 62 cities: Prakash Javadekar", *Economic Times*, 3 January, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/industry/auto/auto-news/government-approves-2636-new-chargingstations-in-62-cities-prakash-javadekar/articleshow/73083792.cms.
- 130 PTI (2019), "NTPC working on charging infrastructure for electric cars in India", The Quint, 7 November, https://www.thequint.com/tech-and-auto/car-and-bike/ ntpc-india-set-up-charging-point-electric-vehicle-more.
- 131 Government of the UK (2020), "Policy paper: Budget 2020", 12 March, https:// www.gov.uk/government/publications/budget-2020-documents/budget-2020.
- 132 Government of Canada (2019), "Electric Vehicle and Alternative Fuel Infrastructure Deployment Initiative", 17 May, https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/energy-efficiency/energy-efficiency-transportation/electric-vehicle-alternative-fuels-infrastructure-deployment-initiative/18352.
- 133 IEA (2019), Global EV Outlook 2019, Paris, https://webstore.iea.org/download/ direct/2807?fileName=Global_EV_Outlook_2019.pdf.
- 134 IEA, op. cit. note 1.
- 135 E. Huang (2019), "China is leaning on ride-hailing to boost sales of electric vehicles", Quartz, 4 September, https://qz.com/1687137/china-counts-on-ride-hailingto-boost-ev-sales.
- 136 South China Morning Post (2019), "Hi-tech Shenzen charges ahead in China with all-electric taxi fleet", 8 January, https://www.scmp.com/news/china/society/article/2181159/hi-tech-shenzhen-streaks-ahead-china-all-electric-taxi-fleet.
- 137 S. Prateek (2019), "National Electric Mobility Plan 2020 targets deployment of up to 7 million EVs across India", Mercom India, https://mercomindia.com/national-electric-mobility-plan); IEA, op. cit. note 133.
- 138 Norsk elbilforening, "Norwegian EV policy", https://elbil.no/english/norwegian-ev-policy (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 139 S. Hussain (2019), "California pulls back clean-vehicle rebates to point them at lower-income buyers", Los Angeles Times, 13 November, https://www.latimes. com/business/autos/story/2019-11-13/california-pulls-back-clean-vehicle-rebatesto-point-them-at-lower-income-buyers.
- 140 E-Bus Radar, op. cit. note 15.
- 141 Sustainable Bus (2019), "Santiago de Chile makes another electric step. 183 BYD ebuses ordered", 19 June, https://www.sustainable-bus.com/electric-bus/santiago-de-chile-makes-another-electric-step-183-byd-ebuses-ordered.
- 142 ICCT (2019), "Medellin Business Roundtable Summary, Medellin", https:// theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/ZEBRA%20Medellin%20Workshop%20 Report.pdf.
- 143 L. Poon (2019), "Why U.S. cities aren't using more electric buses", Bloomberg CityLab, 27 June, https://www.citylab.com/transportation/2019/06/electric-bus china-grid-ev-charging-infrastructure-battery/591655.
- 144 Alcadia de Santiago de Cali, "El progreso de Cali continúa su marcha con buses eléctricos", Puro Corazón por Cali, https://www.cali.gov.co/movilidad/publicaciones/149423/el-progreso-de-cali-continua-su-marcha-con-buses-electricos (accessed 2 June 2021); M. Gallucci (2019), "An increasingly urbanized Latin America turns to electric buses", Yale Environment360, 9 September, https://e360. yale.edu/features/an-increasingly-urbanized-latin-america-turns-to-electric-buses.
- 145 Sustainable Bus (2021), "Another batch of 406 e-buses for Bogota (Colombia) - again with BYD's logo", 5 January, https://www.sustainable-bus.com/news/ byd-e-buses-bogota.
- 146 Kanuri, Roa and Mulukutla, op. cit. note 24.
- 147 O. Georgieva (2019), "E-bike subsidy scheme in Portugal", Mayor of Europe, 22 February, https://www.themayor.eu/mt/e-bike-subsidy-scheme-in-portugal.
- 148 Offshore Energy (2018), "Thailand launches its first all-electric passenger ferry", 29 November, https://worldmaritimenews.com/archives/265744/thailand-launchesits-first-all-electric-passenger-ferry; S. Wanchareon (2020), "Canal service gets new lease on life", *Bangkok Post*, 13 April, https://www.bangkokpost.com/thailand/ special-reports/1898705.

3.9 Renewable Energy in Transport

- Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century (REN21) (2020), Renewables 2020 Global Status Report, Paris, https://www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/gsr_2020_full_report_en.pdf.
- Plug-in hybrids differ from simple hybrid vehicles, as the latter use electric energy 2 produced only by braking or through the vehicle's internal combustion engine Therefore, only plug-in hybrid electric vehicles allow for the use of electricity from renewable sources. Although not an avenue for increased penetration of renew able electricity, hybrid vehicles contribute to reduced fuel demand and remain far more numerous than electric vehicles. Electro-fuels, also known as e-fuels, are synthetic fuels that do not chemically differ from conventional fuels such as diesel or petrol, generated in procedures known as Power-to-Liquids (PtL) and Power-to-Gas (PtG). Renewable electro-fuels are generated exclusively from electricity from renewable sources. Verband der Automobilindustrie (2017), "Synthetic fuels power for the future", https://www.vda.de/en/topics/environm s.html (accessed 1 May 2021); N. Aldag (2018), "Role for e-fuels in EU transport?" Sunfire, 12 January, https://www.transportenvironment.org/si 00n%20the%20future%20development%20 of%20electrofuels%2C%20Nils%20Aldag.pdf.
- 3 Alternative Fuels Data Center, "Fuels & vehicles", www.afdc.energy.gov (accessed 3 June 2021).
- 4 C. Huizenga, personal communication with REN21, 13 April 2020.
- 5 P. Erickson et al. (2020), "Why fossil fuel producer subsidies matter," Nature, Vol. 578/7793, Nature Research, pp. E1–E4, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1920-x.
- 6 Box from REN21 (2020), "COVID-19 Renewables Hub", 29 May, https://www.ren21. net/covid-19-renewables-hub.
- 7 REN21 (2020), "Decarbonising the transport sector with renewables requires urgent action", 18 November, https://www.ren21.net/decarbonise-transport-sector-2020, Figure 1 from International Energy Agency (IEA) (2019), World Energy Statistics and Balances, 2019 edition, Paris, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/ data-product/world-energy-balances-highlights, and from IEA (2019), "Renewable energy in transport 2018 and 2024", updated 25 November, https://www.iea.org/ data-and-statistics/charts/renewable-energy-in-transport-2018-and-2024.
- 8 Renewable hydrogen refers to hydrogen produced from renewable energy, most commonly through the use of renewable electricity to split water into hydrogen and oxygen in an electrolyser. Virtually all hydrogen globally is still produced from fossil fuels, and the majority of policies and programmes focused on hydrogen do not include a focus on renewables-based production. International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA), IEA and REN21 (2018), *Renewable Energy Policies in a Time of Transition*, Abu Dhabi and Paris, https://www.irena.org/publications/2018/Apr/ Renewable-energy-policies-in-a-time-of-transition; Financial Times (2017)," Japan is betting future cars will use hydrogen fuel cells", 24 October, https://www.it.com/ content/98080634-a1d6-11e7-8d56-98a09be71849; more than 95% of hydrogen production is from fossil fuels, from IRENA (2018), *Hydrogen from Renewable Pow-er*. Technology Outlook for the Energy Transition, Abu Dhabi, https://www.itena.org/publications/2/18/Apr/ enewable-power_2018,pdf.
- 9 US Energy Information Administration (EIA) (2017), "Passenger transportation energy use: OECD: Light-duty vehicles", https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/data/ browser/#/?id=50-IEO2017®ion=0-0&cases=Reference&start=2010&end=202 0&f=A&linechart=Reference-d0&2317.2-50-IEO2017&sourcekey=0.
- 10 IEA (2019), World Energy Statistics 2019, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/ world-energy-statistics-2019.
- 11 M. Zasiadko (2019), "Melbourne tram network becomes more solar-powered", RailTech, 13 August, https://www.railtech.com/policy/2019/08/13/melbournetram-network-becomes-more-solar-powered.
- 12 BBC News (2019), "Sturgeon demands agreement on 'legal' independence referendum", 3 September, https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-scotland-scotland-politics-49556793.
- 13 Based on IEA, op. cit. note 10.
- 14 REN21, op. cit. note 1.
- 15 Figure 2 from Ibid.
- 16 Ibid.
- 17 Ibid.
- 18 IRENA, IEA and REN21, op. cit. note 8.
- 19 Z. Radosavljevic (2017), "E-fuels may be an option for aviation but not road transport, study finds", EURACTIV, 1 December, https://www.euractiv.com/section. aviation/news/e-fuels-may-be-an-option-for-aviation-but-not-road-transport-studyfinds; J. Zhang et al. (2021), "Life duration of bike sharing systems," Case Studies on Transport Policy, Vol. 9/2, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 674-80, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cstp.2021.03.005.
- 20 C. Hampel (2019), "Airbus & Audi reveal electric air taxi CityAirbus", Electrive, 12 March, https://www.electrive.com/2019/03/12/airbus-electric-air-taxi-cityairbus-revealed-before-maiden-flight; B. Cogley (2019), "World's first commercial electric plane takes off near Vancouver", Dezeen, 17 December, https://www.dezeen.com/2019/12/17/worlds-first-commercial-electric-plane-canada-seaplane. Some airports and private companies have already been envisioning fully electric airliner to carry more than 120 passengers in recent years. For example, Weight Electric and EasyJet have partnered to build an electric airliner in the 120-186 seat

range, from M. Ros (2017), "7 electric aircraft you could be flying in soon", CNN, 21 November, http A group of European manufacturers announced plans to trial a hybrid electric plane in 2021, from Airbus (2020), "E-Fan X", https://www future-technology/electric-flight/e-fan-x html (accessed 16 March 2021) In 2018 Norway became the first country - and as of early 2020, still the only country - to see its airports announce a target for electric air travel, with its goal of having all short-haul domestic flights run on electricity by 2040, from Agence France-Presse (2018), "Norway aims for all short-haul flights 100% electric by 2040", Tech Xplore, 17 January, h electric.html. For hydrogen, for example, ZeroAvia has conducted test flights as of early 2019 with a target of supplying its technology to manufacturers and operators by 2022, citing its use of renewable hydrogen as not only improving power train efficiency and avoiding the volatility of jet fuel pricing, but also more cost effective than conventional turbine aircraft due to its supply through fixed prices on long-term contracts. C. Alcock (2019), "ZeroAvia aims to halve operating costs with hydrogen power", AIN online, 16 August, https://www.ainonline.com drogen-power; A. J. Hawkins (2019), "This company wants to fill the skies with hydrogen-powered planes by 2022", The Verge, 14 August, https://www.theverge

- 21 International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), "SAF stocktaking what is it about?" https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/Pages/SAF_Stocktaking. aspx (accessed 25 May 2021).
- ICAO, "Climate change: State action plans and assistance", https://www.icao.int/ 22 teChange_ActionPlan.aspx (accessed 12 March 2020); ICAO, "Environment", https://www.icao.int/environ default.aspx (accessed 12 March 2020). In early 2020, the ICAO also agreed on the types of carbon offset units eligible under its target for carbon-neutral growth from 2020, although only using average emissions from 2019 as the baseline. Air Transport Action Group (2020), "Aviation industry welcomes progress on CORSIA, despite global emergency", 16 March, http =pressrelease&id=119. Eighty-two countries will take part in the first (voluntary) phase of the scheme with a target of covering about 80% of the growth in international aviation emissions by the end of 2020. The European Commission has stated that CORSIA is not ambitious enough, from D. Keating, (2019), "EU countries urged to reject UN scheme that could thwart action on aviation emissions", EURACTIV, 23 September, https://www.euractiv that-could-thwartaction-on-aviation-emissions; ICAO, "Alternative fuels: Questions and answers", https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/Pages/AltFuel-Su
- 23 ICAO, "Environment", op. cit. note 22.
- 24 Ongoing deliveries in: Bergen and Oslo (Norway); Stockholm Arlanda, Stockholm Broma, Halmstad City, Vaxjo Smaland and Kalmar Öland (Sweden); and Los Angeles (United States). Batch delivery in: in the United States, San Francisco and Van Nuys (California), Jackson Hole (Wyoming), Chicago O'Hare (Illinois); in Canada, Toronto-Pearson (Ontario) and Montreal Trudeau (Québec); Brisbane (Australia); Luleå, Umeå, Åre Östersund, Karlstad, Visby, Göteborg Landvetter and Malmö (Sweden). ICAO, "Environment", op. cit. note 22.
- 25 International Transport Forum (ITF) (2018), "Is low-carbon road freight possible?" 6 December 2018, https://www.itf-oecd.org/low-carbon-road-freight.
- 26 Ibid.
- ITF (2018), "Towards road freight decarbonisation", 5 December, https://www. 27 on. Still, auto manufacturers increased their focus on electric vehicles during the year, with some offering an increasing number of models and others dramatically scaling up investment. See the following: M. Matousek (2019), "Electric vehicles are a tiny piece of the global car market, but Volkswagen is making a huge bet on them. It doesn't have a choice", Business Insider France, 8 November, https://www.bus nuge-bet-on-electricvehicles-in-next-decade-2019-11; N. Winton(2020), "VW will be the 1st mass market electric car profit maker: Report", Forbes, 9 March, https://www.forbes.com/sites/neilwir ket-electric-car-profit-maker-report; D. Etherington (2017), "Volvo will only make electric and hybrid cars starting in 2019", The Crunch, 5 July, https://techcrunch more models on offer from M. Coren (2019), "2019 was the year electric cars grew up", Quartz, 6 December, https://gz.com/1762465/2019-w w-up; P. Eisenstein (2019), "Detroit's Big Three automakers are looking to a battery-powered future, but each is forging its own path", CNBC, 8 December, future-but-forge-theirown-paths.html; A. J. Hawkins (2019), "Volvo unveils its first fully electric car - and a bold pledge to go carbon-neutral", The Verge, 16 October,
- 28 Alternative fuels for heavy-duty vehicles refer to alternative propulsion systems to the traditional diesel (or petrol) internal combustion engine and are not exclusively from renewable sources. Alternative fuels include biofuels, synfuels or low carbon liquid fuels produced from agriculture crops or waste, liquid natural gas (LNG) or compressed natural gas (CNG), and biomethane. Other propulsion systems that are reaching commercial viability include hydrogen fuel cells, electric and hybrid vehicles, and electric roads (electric-powered vehicles where the energy source is external, e.g., through overhead wires). Another option under development is the use of solar PV for road surfaces to charge vehicles while they are in motion.
- 29 Gasum and Valio (2019), "Valio adds Volvo FH LNG as Finland's first biogas-fueled milk collection truck", NGV Global News, 18 February, https://www.ngvglobal.

com/blog/valio-adds-volvo-fh-Ing-as-finlands-first-biogas-fueled-milk-collectiontruck-0218; Gasum (2019), "Volvo trucks using liquefied biogas trialled by Swedish electronics company", NGV Global News, 8 April, https://www.ngvglobal.com/ blog/volvo-trucks-using-liquefied-biogas-trialled-by-swedish-electronics-company-0408.

- 30 Diesel Technology Forum (2020), "Diesel-powered trucks vital to California and the U.S. economy achieving climate and clean air goals", Global Newswire, 25 June, https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2020/06/25/2053652/0/en/ Diesel-Powered-Trucks-Vital-to-California-and-the-U-S-Economy-Achieving-Climate-and-Clean-Air-Goals.html.
- 31 SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport (2018), Transport and Climate Change 2018 Global Status Report, http://slocat.net/sites/default/files/ slocat_transport-and-climate-change-2018-web.pdf.
- 32 Ibid.
- 33 REN21, op. cit. note 1.
- 34 ITF, op. cit. note 25.
- 35 REN21, op. cit. note 1.
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 In Austria, a quota system applies for renewable energy sources used in transport, but investment grants for vehicle conversion or e-mobility are also available within the scope of the country's "klimaaktiv mobil" programme; see Bundesministerium Nachaltigkeit und Tourismus (2019), "#mission2030 'Mobilitätsoffensive", https://www.klimaaktiv.at/mobilitaet/leektromobilitaet/foerderaktion_emob2019.html; Japan Times (2020), "Japan to offer up to ¥800,000 in subsidies for electric vehicles", 25 November, https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2020/11/25/business/subsidies-electric-vehicles.
- 39 REN21, op. cit. note 1.
- 40 Figure 3 from Ibid.
- 41 The eight countries are Bulgaria, Croatia, France, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, the Slovak Republic and the United States. European Commission Joint Research Centre (2019), Sustainable Advanced Biofuels: Technology Market Report, Brussels, https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC118309/ jrc118309_1.pdf.
- 42 IRENA, IEA and REN21, op. cit. note 8; IEA (2019), "Does security of supply drive key biofuel markets in Asia?" 21 October, https://www.iea.org/newsroom/ news/2019/october/does-security-of-supply-drive-key-biofuel-markets-in-asia.html.
- 43 L. Alves (2019), "Brazil announces incentives and seeks new investments in ethanol fuel", Rio Times, 19 June, https://riotimesonline.com/brazil-news/brazil/ brazil-announces-incentives-and-seeks-new-investments-in-ethanol-fuel.
- 44 IEA, Renewables 2019, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/renewables-2019.
- 45 C. Bernadette (2019), "Indonesia launches B30 biodiesel to cut costs, boost palm oil", *Reuters*, 23 December, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-indonesia-biodiesel/indonesia-launches-b30-biodiesel-to-cut-costs-boost-palm-oil-idUSKB-N1YR0D2.
- 46 The blending requirement would be 9% instead of 10% in 2021, and 13.5% instead of 15% 2025. Biofuels International (2019), "Government proposes increased use of renewable fuels in Québec, Canada", 4 October, https://biofuels-news.com/ news/government-proposes-increased-use-of-renewable-fuels-in-ouebec-canada.
- 47 N. Chestney (2019), "IMO agrees on stricter efficiency targets for some ships", *Reuters*, 17 May, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-imo-shipping-efficiency/ imo-agrees-on-stricter-efficiency-targets-for-some-ships-idUSKCN1SN2BV; International Shipping News (2019), "New fuel, emission standards for shipping from January", Hellenic Shipping, 30 December, https://www.hellenicshippingnews. com/new-fuel-emission-standards-forshipping-from-january; Euronews (2019), "Shipping industry plans speed limit reductions to cut emissions", 13 May, https:// www.euronews.com/2019/05/13/shipping-industry-plans-speed-limitreducetions-to-cut-emissions. Previously, in 2018, the International Maritime Organization (IMO) had adopted energy efficiency standards for international shipping, targeting a 40% reduction in total carbon intensity by 2030 and a 50% reduction in overall greenhouse gas emissions for the sector by 2050, relative to 2008 levels, from IMO (2018), "UN body adopts climate change strategy for shipping", 13 April, http://www.imo.org/en/MediaCentre/PressBriefings/Pages/06GHGinitialstrategy. aspx.
- 48 Green Car Congress (2020), "Wärtsilä launches first combustion trials with ammonia", 26 March, https://www.greencarcongress.com/2020/03/20200326-wartsila. html.
- 49 Global Maritime Forum, "Getting to Zero Coalition", https://www.globalmaritimeforum.org/getting-to-zero-coalition/ambition-statement (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 50 Examples include Shell and Maersk. N. Sauer (2019), "Maersk aims for zero emissions vessels by 2030", Climate Home News, 23 September, https://www.climatechangenews.com/2019/09/23/maersk-aims-zero-emissions-vessels-shipping routes-2030. "Clean" fuels here include those based on biomass and hydrogen produced from renewable electricity, but the coalition's definition also includes natural gas combined with carbon capture and storage.
- 51 The programme was established in 2017 led by the Port of Rotterdam (Netherlands) along with Antwerp (Belgium), Barcelona (Spain), Hamburg (Germany), Long Beach and Los Angeles (US) and Vancouver (Canada). New additions from 2019 include Amsterdam (Netherlands), Le Havre (France), Gothenburg (Sweden), and New York and New Jersey (US). Greenport (2019), "Climate action congress plans underway", 6 September, https://www.greenport.com/news101/Proj-

ects-and-Initiatives/climate-action-congress-plans-underway.

- 52 Renewable Energy Magazine (2020), "Preem signs agreement for renewable maritime fuel", 25 March, https://www.renewableenergymagazine.com/biogas/ preem-signs-agreementfor-renewable-maritime-fuel-20200325; Maritime Executive (2019), "Hurtigruten buys fish-based fuel for its future fleet", 24 May, https:// www.maritime-executive.com/article/hurtigruten-buys-fish-based-fuel-for-its-future-fleet.
- 53 Port Houston (2019), "Port Commission approves move on renewable energy", Houston, 23 October, https://porthouston.com/wp-content/uploads/Port_Commission_October_Press_Release_revised_Roger_en-002.pdf; B. Hensel, Port Houston, personal communication with REN21, 21 January 2020.
- 54 Government of Norway, Ministry of Climate and Environment (2019), The Government's Action Plan for Green Shipping, Oslo, p. 7, https://www.regieringen.no/ contentassets/00f527e95d0c4dfd88db637f96ffe8b8/the-governments-actionplan-for-green-shipping.pdf.
- 55 Government of the UK, Department for Transport and Nusrat Ghani MP (2019), "Clean maritime plan", 11 July, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/773178/maritime-2050.pdf.
- 56 D. Gielen et al. (2019), "The role of renewable energy in the global energy transformation," *Energy Strategy Reviews*, Vol. 24, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 38-50, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.esr.2019.01.006.
- 57 REN21, op. cit. note 1.
- 58 S. Nadel (2018), "How might electrification affect electric and gas systems? Recent studies shed both light and heat", American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, 18 September, https://aceee.org/blog/2018/09/how-might-electrification-affect.
- 59 Transport Decarbonization Alliance (TDA) (2019), "Resolution No. 13 / 2019", 1 February, http://tda-mobility.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Cabo-Verde-Electric-Mobility-Policy-Chapter.pdf.
- 60 Economic Times (2018), "With renewable energy, rail ministry to transform Indian Railways into 'Green Railways'", 3 December, https://economictimes.indiatimes. com/small-biz/productline/power-generation/with-renewable-energy-rail-ministry-to-transform-indian-railways-into-green-railways/articleshow/72360511.cms.
- 61 M. Uddin (2020), "Pakistan's National Electric Vehicle Policy: Charging towards the future", International Council on Clean Transportation, 10 January, https://theicct.org/blog/staff/pakistan%E2%80%99s-national-electric-vehicle-policy-charging-to-wards-future.
- 62 Nippon.com (2019), "Train service in Tokyo powered fully by renewable energy", 25 March, https://www.nippon.com/en/news/yjj2019032500565/train-service-in-tokyo-powered-fully-by-renewable-energy.html.
- 63 Biofuture Platform (2016), "About", http://www.biofutureplatform.org/about.
- 64 Business for Social Responsibility, "Future of fuels overview", https://www.bsr.org/ en/collaboration/groups/future-of-fuels (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 65 We Mean Business, "LCTPi", https://www.wemeanbusinesscoalition.org/commitment/join-the-low-carbon-technology-partnership-initiative (accessed 25 May 2021).
- 66 RE100, "About us", https://www.there100.org/about-us (accessed 25 May 2021); Le Groupe La Poste (2020), "20 years of concrete commitments to fight climate change", https://www.groupelaposte.com/en/news/20-years-of-concrete-commitments-to-fight-climate-change.
- 67 TDA, http://tda-mobility.org (accessed 25 May 2021).
- Biofuel mandates from REN21 (2020), "Table R5. Renewable transport, targets as 68 of end-2019 and status in 2017", in REN21, op. cit. note 1, https:// 2020/tables/table_05/table_05; advanced biofuel mandates from REN21, "GSR 2020 Data Pack", https://www.ren21.net/wp-co data_pack.xlsx; renewable transport targets and 100% renewables targets from REN21 (2018), Renewables 2018 Global Status Report, Paris, http://www.action.com/actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actional-actiona r-2018, and from REN21 (2020), "Table R5", op. cit. this note; EVs plus renewables policies, and electricity and EV targets, from REN21 (2019), REN21 "GSR 2020 Data Pack", op. cit. this note, and from SLOCAT (2020), "E-mobility trends and targets", https://slocat.net/e-mobility; share of renewables in transport. share of biofuels in transport and share of renewable electricity in transport from IEA (2019), World Energy Statistics and Balances, op. cit. note 7; Eurostat (2020), "Energy for transport: 8% from renewable sources", https://ec.europa.eu /DDN-20200123-2?inheritRedirect=true, and from IEA (2019), "Renewable energy in transport 2018 and 2024", op. cit. note 7; share of renewables in road transport from IEA, "Final consumption", https://www.iea. ld&s=Final%20consumption (accessed 25 May 2021); share of renewables in rail transport from IEA and International Union of Railways (UIC) (2017), Railway Handbook 2017, Paris, https 2017, and from IEA, op. cit. note 10; biofuel production from REN21 (2019), Renewables 2019 Global Status Report, Paris, http 2019/05/gsr_2019_full_report_en.pdf; regional distribution from IRENA (2020), Global Renewables Outlook, Annex: Regional Factsheets, https://www al_Factsheets.pdf; REN21 op. cit. note 1; IEA, op. cit. note 44; ethanol, FAME biodiesel and HVO from REN21, Renewables 2019 Global Status Report, op. cit. this note, and from REN21, op. cit. note 1; biofuels in road transport, aviation and maritime from IEA (2020), Transport Biofuels, Paris ht transport-biofuels, and from IEA (2019), World Energy Outlook 2019, Paris, https:// www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2019
- 69 Countries with biofuel targets in aviation include Brazil (10% by 2030), Finland (30% by 2030), Indonesia (5% by 2025) and Norway (0.5% by 2020 and 30% by

2030), from S. Widiyanto (2017), "Indonesian aviation biofuels and renewable energy initiatives", ICAO, 8-9 February, https://www.icao.int/Meetings/altfuels17/ Documents/4%20-Indonesia%20Initiative_Ministries.pdf; J. Moss (2018), "What to expect from Brazil's RenovaBio programme", informaconnect, 5 September, https://informaconnect.com/what-to-expect-from-brazils-renovabio-programme; Aviation Benefits Beyond Borders (2019), "Finland to join Nordic forefront in reducing emissions in aviation", 3 June, https://aviationbenefits.org/newswire/2019/06/ finland-to-join-nordic-forefront-in-reducing-emissions-in-aviation; E. Voegele (2018), "Norway to implement biofuel mandate for aviation fuel in 2020", Biodiesel Magazine, 11 October, http://www.biodieselmagazine.com/articles/2516476/norway-to-implement-biofuel-mandate-for-aviation-fuel-in-2020.

- 70 Aviation Benefits Beyond Borders, op. cit. note 69.
- 71 BBC (2019), "Sturgeon demands agreement on 'legal' independence referendum", 3 September, https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-scotland-scotland-politics-49556793.
- 72 US Department of Energy (2019), "Department of Energy announces \$55 million in funding for electric aviation programs", 17 December, https://www.energy.gov/ articles/department-energy-announces-55-million-funding-electric-aviation-programs.
- 73 Y. Praiwan (2019), "B10 and B20 price subsidies kick in on Tuesday", Bangkok Post, 1 October, https://www.bangkokpost.com/business/1762204/b10-and-b20 price-subsidies-kick-in-on-tuesday.
- 74 S. Kelly (2019), "Biodiesel tax credit renewal attached to U.S. spending package", *Reuters*, 17 December, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-biodiesel-subsidy/ biodiesel-tax-credit-renewal-attached-to-us-spending-package-idUSKBN1YL1T9; Des Moines Register (2019), "Spending bill includes long-sought biodiesel tax credit renewal", 17 December, https://www.desmoinesregister.com/story/ news/2019/12/17/spending-bill-includes-long-sought-biodiesel-tax-credit-renewal/2677476001.
- 75 City of Toronto, "Turning waste into renewable natural gas", https://www.toronto. ca/services-payments/recycling-organics-garbage/solid-waste-facilities/renewable-natural-gas (accessed 19 November 2019).
- 76 B. Osgood (2019), "City's bus fleet to transition to renewable diesel", Santa Barbara Independent, 3 December, https://www.independent.com/2019/12/03/citys-busfleet-to-transition-to-renewable-diesel.
- 77 R. Kotrba (2019), "Minn. grant funding available for biofuel blending infrastructure", Biodiesel Magazine, 29 April, http://biodieselmagazine.com/articles/2516581/minn-grant-funding-available-for-biofuel-blending-infrastructure.
- 78 S. Bajaj (2019), "Uttar Pradesh approves EV charging tariffs for various segments of consumers", Mercom India, 15 March, https://mercomindia.com/uttar-pradeshapproves-ev-charging-tariffs.
- 79 New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (2019), "New statewide initiatives to spur widespread adoption of electric vehicles and increase charging infrastructure", 19 November, https://www.nyserda.ny.gov/About/ Newsroom/2018-Announcements/2018-11-19-New-Statewide-Initiatives-to-Spur-Widespread-Adoption-of-Electric-Vehicles-and-Increase-Charging-Infrastructure; C. Campbell (2019), "Maryland Public Service Commission authorizes utilities to install 5,000 electric vehicle charging stations statewide", *Baltimore Sun*, 14 January, https://www.baltimoresun.com/news/environment/bs-md-electric-vehicle-charging-stations-20190114-story.html.

3.10 Aviation

- I International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) (2018), "Solid passenger traffic growth and moderate air cargo demand 2018", 31 December, https://www.icao. int/Newsroom/Pages/Solid-passenger-traffic-growth-and-moderate-air-cargo-demand-in-2018.aspx.
- 2 H. Fearnehough, C. Warnecke and T. Day (2019), "Robust eligibility restrictions for offset credits are needed for CORSIA to truly compensate for the growth in aviation's carbon emissions", New Climate Institute, 25 February, https://newclimate. org/2019/02/25/robust-eligibility-restrictions-for-offset-credits-are-needed-for-corsia-to-truly-compensate-for-the-growth-in-aviations-carbon-emissions-2.
- 3 ICAO (2020), Effects of Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) on Civil Aviation: Economic Impact Analysis, Air Transport Bureau, Montreal, https://www.icao.int/sust Economic%20Impact.pdf. Box from the following sources: ICAO, "Economic impacts of COVID-19 on civil aviation", https://www.ic -of-COVID-19.aspx (accessed 31 May 2021); reshaping discussions from A. Murphy, Transport and Environment, personal communication with SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport, August 2020; International Institute for Sustainable Development (2020), "Climate conditions for Austrian Airlines bailout", 1 July, https://ww litions-for-austrian-airlines-bailout; E. Bannon (2020), "Austrian Airlines 'bailout' climate conditions explained", Transport and Environment, 30 June, https://www.transportenvironi out-climate-conditions-explained; BBC News (2020), "Coronavirus aid: Air France 'must cut domestic flights to get state loan'", 4 May, htt rld-europe-52527517; C. Farand (2020), "German environment minister defends airline bailout, promises green recovery", Climate Home News, 27 April, https://www.climatechangenews.com/2020/04/27 ter-defends-airline-bailout-promises-green-recovery; M. Abate, P. Christidis and A. J. Purwanto (2020), "Government support to airlines in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic," Journal of Air Transport Management, Vol. 89, Elsevier Ltd,

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jairtraman.2020.101931_Figure 6 from ICAO, "Economic impacts of COVID-19 on civil aviation", op. cit. this note.

- 4 L. Phillips (2020), "Airlines brace for climate strings attached to coronavirus bailouts", Politico, 17 April, https://www.politico.eu/article/airlines-brace-for-climate-strings-attached-to-covid19-coronavirus-bailouts; E. Bannon (2020), "Air France's bailout 'climate conditions' explained", Transport and Environment, 3 June, https://www.transportenvironment.org/publications/air-frances-bailout-climate-conditions-explained.
- 5 Box from the following sources: ICAO, "2. What is CORSIA and how does it work?", https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/Pages/A39_CORSIA_FAQ2.aspx (accessed 31 May 2021); L. Harper (2020), "CORSIA airline emissions baseline to exclude 2020 data, says ICAO", Flight Global, 1 July, https://www.flightglobal. com/strategy/corsia-airline-emissions-baseline-to-exclude-2020-data-saysicao/139081.article.
- 6 Figure 1 from ICAO, op. cit. note 1; International Air Transport Association (IATA) (2019), World Air Transport Statistics 2019, Geneva, https://go.updates.iata.org/l/123902/2019-06-13/839xw4.
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 J. Teter (2020), Aviation, International Energy Agency (IEA), Paris, https://www.iea. org/reports/aviation.
- 10 E. Bannon (2016), "Airbus ruling shows it's high time to stop the aviation subsidies binge, says NGO", Transport and Environment, 22 September, https://www. transportenvironment.org/press/airbus-ruling-shows-it%E2%80%99s-high-timestop-aviation-subsidies-binge-says-ngo.
- 11 E. Bannon (2019), "Leaked European Commission study on aviation taxes", Transport and Environment, 13 May, https://www.transportenvironment.org/ publications/leaked-european-commission-study-aviation-taxes.
- 12 Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century (REN21) (2020), Renewables 2020 Global Status Report, Paris, https://www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/gsr_2020_full_report_en.pdf.
- 13 Z. Radosavljevic (2017), "E-fuels may be an option for aviation but not road transport, study finds", EURACTIV, 1 December, https://www.euractiv.com/section/ aviation/news/e-fuels-may-be-an-option-for-aviation-but-not-road-transportstudy-finds; J. Larsson et al. (2019), "International and national climate policies for aviation: A review," *Climate Policy*, Vol. 19/6, Taylor and Francis Ltd., pp. 787-99, https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2018.1562871.
- 14 A. Murphy (2020), Making Aviation Fuel Mandates Sustainable, Transport and Environment, Brussels, https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/files/publications/2020_12_Aviation_SAF_mandates_rating_final.pdf.
- 15 C. Mestre (2020), RED II National Implementation: How Member States Can Deliver Sustainable Advanced Transport Fuels, Transport and Environment, Brussels, https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/files/publications/2020_01_RE-DII_general_implementation_briefing.docx_.pdf.
- 16 Aviation Benefits Beyond Borders (2019), "Finland to join Nordic forefront in reducing emissions in aviation", 3 June, https://aviationbenefits.org/newswire/2019/06/ finland-to-join-nordic-forefront-in-reducing-emissions-in-aviation; E. Huuhtanen (2019), "Investigation: new biofuel law puts palm oil products in your tank that Neste fights to claim as waste", News Now, 21 February, https://web.archive.org/ web/20201112003056/https://newsnowfinland.fi/news-now-original/investigation-new-biofuel-law-puts-palm-oil-products-in-your-tank-that-neste-fights-toclaim-as-waste.
- 17 Connexion (2020), "France to oblige airlines to use green but expensive biofuel", 12 December, https://www.connexionfrance.com/French-news/France-to-obligeairlines-to-use-green-but-expensive-biofuel.
- 18 German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (2020), The National Hydrogen Strategy, Berlin, https://www.bmbf.de/files/bmwi_Nationale%20Wasser stoffstrategie_Eng_s01.pdf.
- 19 C. Buyck (2019), "Sweden makes a sustainability leap", AIN Online, 13 June, https://www.ainonline.com/aviation-news/air-transport/2019-06-13/sweden-makes-sustainability-leap.
- 20 Teter, op. cit. note 9.
- 21 Ibid.
- 22 Ibid. Figure 2 from Climate Action Tracker (CAT) (2020), "International aviation", 23 July, https://climateactiontracker.org/sectors/aviation.
- 23 Ibid.
- 24 Figure 3 from Wikipedia Commons (2020), "File: Aviation efficiency (RPK per kg CO2),svg", 13 December, https://commons.wikimedia.org/w/index.php?cu-rid=97500452, and from Figure 2 in D. S. Lee et al. (2021), "The contribution of global aviation to anthropogenic climate forcing for 2000 to 2018," *Atmospheric Environment*, Vol. 244, Elsevier Ltd, p. 117834, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2020.117834.
- 25 K. Seymour et al. (2020), "Fuel estimation in air transportation: Modeling global fuel consumption for commercial aviation," *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 88, Elsevier Ltd, p. 102528, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. trd.2020.102528_iCAO (2019), 2019 Environmental Report: Aviation and Environment Destination Green, The Next Chapter, Montreal, https://www.icao.int/environmental.protection/Documents.
- 26 Figure 4 from Wikipedia (2021), "Fuel economy in aircraft", 9 May, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fuel_economy_in_aircraft.
- 27 European Commission (2020), Updated analysis of the non-CO2 climate impacts

of aviation and potential policy measures pursuant to EU Emissions Trading System Directive Article 30(4), Brussels, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar.7bc666c9-2d9c-11eb-b27b-01aa75ed71a1.0001.02/DOC_18format=PDF.

- 28 R. Teoh et al. (2020), "Mitigating the climate forcing of aircraft contrails by smallscale diversions and technology adoption", *Environmental Science and Technolo*gy, Vol. 54/5, pp. 2941-50, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b05608.
- 29 European Commission (2019), The European Green Deal, Brussels, https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/european-green-deal-communication_en.pdf.
- 30 European Commission, "EU Green Deal Revision of the Energy Taxation Directive", https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/better-regulation/have-your-say/initiatives/12227-Revision-of-the-Energy-Tax-Directive- (accessed 31 May 31 2021).
- S1 FFC Aviation, "French eco tax" https://www.fccaviation.com/regulation/france/ eco-tax (accessed 31 May 2021); H. Brandler (2021), "France and its new environmental eco tax on aviation", Business Traveller, 20 January, https://www. businesstraveller.com/features/france-and-its-new-environmental-eco-tax-on-aviation.
- 32 L. Ash (2019), "Germany's increased aviation taxes are set to come into force In April 2020", Simple Flying, 16 October, https://simpleflying.com/germany-aviation-tax-april-2020; Zoll, "Tax rates", https://www.zoll.de/DE/Fachthemen/Steuern/ Verkehrsteuern/Luftverkehrsteuer/Grundsaetze-Besteuerung/Steuersaetze/steuersaetze_node.html (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 33 Majorca Daily Bulletin (2020), "Spanish government to introduce air transport tax", 20 February, https://www.majorcadailybulletin.com/news/international/2020/02/29/63393/spanish-government-introduce-air-transport-tax.html.
- 34 Le News (2020), "Swiss parliament votes in favour of flight tax", 6 December, https://lenews.ch/2020/06/12/swiss-parliament-votes-in-favour-of-flight-tax.
- 35 S. Laville (2020), "UK climate assembly: Tax frequent flyers and ban SUVs as part of Covid recovery", The Guardian (UK), 10 September, https://www. theguardian.com/world/2020/sep/10/uk-climate-assembly-economic-recovery-from-covid-must-tackle-global-heating.
- 36 Box from M. Cames et al. (2016), How Additional Is the Clean Development Mechanism? Analysis of the Application of Current Tools and Proposed Alternatives, Öko-Institut e.V., Berlin, https://ec.europa.eu/clima/sites/clima/files/ets/docs/ clean_dev_mechanism_en.pdf, and from Transport and Environment, "Flying and climate change", https://www.transportenvironment.org/what-we-do/flying-andclimate-change (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 37 IATA, "Working towards ambitious targets", https://www.iata.org/en/programs/ environment/climate-change (accessed 31 May 2021); Airlines for America, "A4A's Climate Change Commitment", https://www.airlines.org/a4as-climate-change-commitment (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 38 CAT (2020), "International shipping and aviation emissions goals both 'critically insufficient'", 26 June, https://climateactiontracker.org/press/international-shipping-and-aviation-emissions-goals-both-critically-insufficient.
- 39 ICAO, "Trends in emissions that affect climate change", https://www.icao.int/ environmental-protection/Pages/ClimateChange_Trends.aspx (accessed 31 May 2021)
- 40 Figure 5 from Ibid.
- 41 R. Cooper (2020), "Delta Airlines invests \$1 billion in cutting carbon emissions", Climate Action, 18 February, www.climateaction.org/news/delta-air-lines-invests-1-billion-in-cutting-carbon-emissions; Carbon Pulse (2020), "US airline Delta halves 2019 offset purchases due to COVID-19", 31 July, https://carbon-pulse. com/105523.
- 42 B. Kollmeyer (2019), "Easyjet's carbon-free pledge may win more green-conscious fliers", Market Watch, 19 November, https://www.marketwatch.com/story/easyjetscarbon-free-pledge-may-win-more-green-conscious-fliers-2019-11-19.
- 43 Cames et al., op. cit. note 36.
- 44 D. Holger (2019), "Lufthansa passengers can offset travel with green aviation fuel", Market Watch, 14 November, https://www.marketwatch.com/story/lufthansa-passengers-can-offset-travel-with-green-aviation-fuel-2019-11-14.
- 45 R.-C. Jou and T.-Y. Chen (2015), "Willingness to pay of air passengers for carbon-offset", Sustainability, Vol. 7, pp. 3071-85, https://doi.org/10.3390/su7033071.
- 46 A. Murphy (2018), "Roadmap to decarbonising European aviation", Transport and Environment, https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/files/publications/2018_10_Aviation_decarbonisation_paper_final.pdf
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 The Guardian (UK) (2020), "The Guardian view on 'flight shame': Face it life must change", 17 January, https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2020/jan/17/ the-guardian-view-on-flight-shaming-face-it-life-must-change.
- 49 I. Hervey-Bathurst (2019), "'Flygskam' the very real impact of climate change on Swedish airlines", Schroders, 28 May, https://www.schroders.com/en/insights/ economics/flygskam-the-very-real-impact-of-climate-change-on-swedish-airlines.
- 50 A. Kotoky (2019), "'Flight shame' is real, will make carbon big business, Citi says", Bloomberg, 22 October, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-10-23/flight-shame-is-real-will-make-carbon-big-business-citi-says.
- 51 C. Duxbury (2020), "Sweden looks to break out of its northern isolation", Politico, 19 May, https://www.politico.eu/article/sweden-break-out-of-northern-isolation-trains-coronavirus.
- 52 L. Phillips (2020), "Airlines brace for climate strings attached to coronavirus bailouts", Politico, 17 April, https://www.politico.eu/article/airlines-brace-for-climateor-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-brace-for-climate-br

strings-attached-to-covid19-coronavirus-bailouts.

- 53 CAT (2020), "International aviation", 23 July, https://climateactiontracker.org/ sectors/aviation.
- 54 International Coalition for Sustainable Aviation, https://www.icsa-aviation.org (accessed 31 May 2021);
- 55 A. Kharina, D. Rutherford and M. Zeinali (2016), Cost Assessment of Near- and Midterm Technologies to Improve New Aircraft Fuel Efficiency, International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT), Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/publications/ cost-assessment-near-and-mid-term-technologies-improve-new-aircraft-fuel-efficiency; ICCT, "Airline fuel efficiency", https://theicct.org/spotlight/airline-fuel-effficiency (accessed 31 May 2021); ICCT, "Aircraft CO2 emissions", https://theicct. org/spotlight/aircraft-co2-emissions (accessed 31 May 2021); S. E. Takriti, N. Pavlenko and S. Searle (2017), Mitigating International Aviation Emissions: Risks and Opportunities for Alternative Jet Fuels, ICCT, Washington, D.C., https://theicct. org/publications/mitigating-international-aviation-emissions-risks-and-opportunities-alternative-jet.
- 56 Sustainable Aviation, "Our mission", https://www.sustainableaviation.co.uk (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 57 Transport and Environment, "Flying and climate change", https://www.transportenvironment.org/what-we-do/flying-and-climate-change (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 58 Airport Carbon Accreditation (2021), "Accredited airports", https://airportco2.org/ airports-across-the-world.html (accessed May 13, 2021); IATA (2019), World Air Transport Statistics 2019, Geneva, https://go.updates.lata.org/1/123902/2019-06-13/839xw4; IATA (2020), World Air Transport Statistics 2020, Geneva, https://www. lata.org/contentassets/a686ff624550453e8bf0c9b3f7f0ab26/wats-2020-mediakit pdf.
- 59 E. C. Wormslev and M. K. Broberg (2020), Sustainable Jet Fuel for Aviation: Nordic Perspectives on the Use of Advanced Sustainable Jet Fuel for Aviation - Update 2019, Nordic Energy Research, https://www.nordicenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Sustainable-Jet-Fuel-Update-FinalNER.pdf.
- 60 C. C. Ambel (2017), Electrofuels What Role in EU Transport Decarbonization? Transport and Environment, https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/files/ publications/2017_11_Briefing_electrofuels_final.pdf.
- 61 R. Cooper (2019), "British Airways submits proposal for plant which will turn waste into fuel", Climate Action, 23 August, http://www.climateaction.org/news/britishairways-submits-proposal-for-new-plant-which-will-turn-waste-into-f.
- 62 A. Curran (2019), "Boeing starts offering biofuel on delivery flights", Simple Flying, 24 July, https://simpleflying.com/boeing-biofuel-delivery-flights.
- 63 IATA, "The Single Africa Air Transport Market (SAATM)", https://www.iata.org/en/ policy/business-freedom/saatm (accessed 31 May 2021); BBC News World Service (2017), "What will fix Africa's air transport?" 28 May, https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p053bmtb.
- 64 Institute of Atmospheric Physics, "Reduction of air traffic climate impact", https:// www.dlr.de/pa/en/desktopdefault.aspx/tabid-4618/7598_read-11401 (accessed 31 May 2021).
- 65 M. Darby (2019), "Marseille airport expansion stalled on climate grounds", Climate Home News, 30 August, https://www.climatechangenews.com/2019/07/30/marseille-airport-expansion-stalled-climate-grounds.
- 66 P. Cooke (2020), "UK's Heathrow airport expansion ruled unlawful over climate change", Climate Home News, 27 February, https://www.climatechangenews.com/2020/02/27/uks-heathrow-airport-expansion-ruled-unlawful-climate-change; D. Carrington (2020), "Top UK court overturns block on Heathrow's third runway", The Guardian (UK), 16 December, https://www.theguardian.com/environ-ment/2020/dec/16/top-uk-court-overturns-block-on-heathrows-third-runway.
- 67 M. Taylor (2021), "Expansion of English airports could threaten climate commitments – report", The Guardian (UK), 21 May, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/may/21/expansion-of-english-airports-could-threaten-climate-commitments-report; AFP (2019), "Rome Fiumicino's fourth runway plan rejected over environmental fears", The Local, 29 October, https://www.thelocal.it/20191029/ rome-fiumicinos-fourth-runway-plan-rejected-over-environmental-fears/.
- 68 Z. Phillips (2021), "How 7 global airport projects are faring during the pandemic", Construction Dive, 5 May, https://www.constructiondive.com/news/how-7-globalairport-projects-are-faring-during-the-pandemic/599318.
- 69 D. Zimmatore (2019), "Norwegian airline Widerøe teams with Rolls-Royce to research zero emission flights", Climate Action, 3 September, http://www.climateaction.org/news/norwegian-airline-widere-teams-with-rolls-royce-to-research-zeroemission-f.
- 70 US Department of Energy (2019), "Department of Energy announces \$55 million in funding for electric aviation program", 17 December, https://www.energy.gov/ articles/department-energy-announces-55-million-funding-electric-aviation-programs.
- 71 The Guardian (UK) (2019), "World's first fully electric commercial aircraft takes flight in Canada", 10 December, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/ dec/11/worlds-first-fully-electric-commercial-aircraft-takes-flight-in-canada.
- 72 S. Morgan (2020), "Electric plane certified by EU regulator in world-first", EURAC-TIV, 12 June, https://www.euractiv.com/section/aviation/news/electric-plane-certified-by-eu-regulator-in-world-first.
- 73 German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy, op. cit. note 18.
- 74 Airport Carbon Accreditation, op. cit. note 58.

Endnotes

3.11 Shipping

- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (2020), Review of Maritime Transport 2020, New York, https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/rmt2020_en.pdf_
- 2 M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https:// ec.europa.eu/irc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020-report.
- 3 International Energy Agency (IEA) (2020), Energy Technology Perspectives 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2020.
- 4 Climate Action Tracker (CAT) (2020), "International shipping", 25 June, https:// climateactiontracker.org/sectors/shipping (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 5 International Maritime Organization (IMO), "Initial IMO GHG strategy", http://www. imo.org/en/MediaCentre/HotTopics/Pages/Reducing-greenhouse-gas-emissionsfrom-ships.aspx (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 6 IMO (2020), "Third Virtual Briefing to Permanent Representatives / Members of Permanent Missions / Liaison Officers", https://www.imo.org/en/MediaCentre/ MeetingSummaries/Pages/Third-Briefing-to-Permanent-Representatives-and-Liai son-Officers.aspx (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 7 IMO (2020), "IMO working group agrees further measures to cut ship emissions", 23 October, https://www.imo.org/en/MediaCentre/PressBriefings/Pages/36-ISWG-GHG-7.aspx.
- 8 CAT, op. cit. note 4.
- 9 Box based on the following sources: UNCTAD, op. cit. note 1; volume declines from G. Knowler (2020), "Alliances outline extensive blank sailings for Q3", Journal of Commerce, 3 June, https://www.joc.com/maritime-news/alliances-outline-extensive-blank-sailings-q3_20200603.html; CAT, op. cit. note 4; IEA (2020), The Covid-19 Crisis and Clean Energy Progress, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/thecovid-19-crisis-and-clean-energy-progress/transport, Figure 4 from CAT, op. cit. note 4.
- 10 UNCTAD, op. cit. note 1.
- 11 UNCTAD (2019), Review of Maritime Transport 2019, New York, https://unctad.org/ system/files/official-document/rmt2019_en.pdf.
- 12 Ibid.
- 13 UNCTAD, op. cit. note 1.
- 14 Figure 1 from UNCTAD (2019), "UNCTADstat Bulk Download (7-Zip)", 4 April, https://unctadstat.unctad.org/EN/BulkDownload.html.
- 15 UNCTAD, op. cit. note 1.
- 16 M. Pape (2020), Decarbonising Maritime Transport: The EU Perspective, European Parliamentary Research Service, Brussels, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2020/659296/EPRS_BRI(2020)659296_EN.pdf.
- 17 UNCTAD, "Liner shipping connectivity index, quarterly", UNCTADStat, https:// unctadstat.unctad.org/wds/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=92 (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 18 Figure 2 from Ibid.
- 19 Data for 2018 based on IMO (2020), Fourth IMO GHG Study 2020, London, https:// www.imo.org/en/OurWork/Environment/Pages/Fourth-IMO-Greenhouse-Gas-Study-2020.aspx.
- 20 Ibid.; Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2.
- 21 Crippa et al., op. cit. note 2.
- 22 UNCTAD, op. cit. note 1.
- 23 International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT) (2020), "New IMO study highlights sharp rise in short-lived climate pollution", 4 August, https://theicct.org/ news/fourth-imo-ghg-study-finalreport-pr-20200804.
- 24 Ibid.; Clean Climate and Clean Air Coalition, "Short-Lived Climate Pollutants (SL-CPs), https://www.ccacoalition.org/en/content/short-lived-climate-pollutants-slcps (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 25 Journal of Commerce (2019), "Container lines reject mandatory speed limit proposal", 6 May, https://www.joc.com/maritime-news/container-lines/containerer-lines-reject-mandatory-speed-limit-proposal_20190506.html; G. L. Reynolds (2019), The Multi-use Mitigation Potential of Reducing Ship Speeds, Seas at Risk, https://seas-at-risk.org/24-publications/988-multi-issue-speed-report.html.
- 26 IMO (2020), "IMO 2020 cutting sulphur oxide emissions", 1 January, http://www. imo.org/en/MediaCentre/HotTopics/Pages/Sulphur-2020.aspx.
- 27 IMO (2019), Reduction of the Impact on the Arctic of Black Carbon Emissions from International Shipping, Finland and Germany, https://www.euractiv.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/01/PPR-7-8-Initial-results-of-a-Black-Carbon-measurement-campaign-with-emphasis-on-the-impact-of-the...-Finland-and-Germany.pdf.
- 28 CAT, op. cit. note 4; European Commission (EC) (2019), The European Green Deal, https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/european-green-deal-communication_en.pdf.
- 29 CAT, op. cit. note 4.
- 30 UNCTAD, op. cit. note 11.
- 31 Y. Wang (2017), "Pacific leads High Ambition Coalition for Shipping emission reduction", SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable Low Carbon Transport, https:// slocat.net/1830-2 (accessed 27 April 2021).

- 32 European Commission (2020), "Innovation Fund", https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/innovation-fund_en (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 33 UK Department for Transport (2019), Maritime 2050: Navigating the Future, London, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/maritime-2050-navigating-the-future; UK Department for Transport and N. Ghani (2019), "Ambitious targets to cut shipping emissions", 11 July, https://www.gov.uk/government/news/ ambitious-targets-to-cut-shipping-emissions.
- 34 A. Adamopoulos (2020), "Marshall Islands demands carbon pricing measure from the IMO", Lloyd's List, 16 November, https://lloydslist.maritimeintelligence.informa. com/LL1134705/Marshall-Islands-demands-carbon-pricing-measure-from-the-IMO.
- 35 B. Doherty (2019), "Pacific islands seek \$500m to make ocean's shipping zero carbon", The Guardian (UK), 24 September, https://www.theguardian.com/enviro ment/2019/sep/24/pacific-islands-seek-500m-ocean-shipping-zero-carbon.
- 36 A. Bouman et al. (2017), "State-of-the-art technologies, measures, and potential for reducing GHG emissions from shipping – a review", *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 52, Elsevier Ltd, pp. 408-21, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.03.022.
- 37 International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) (2019), Navigating to a Renewable Future: Solutions for Decarbonising Shipping, preliminary findings, Abu Dhabi, https://irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2019/Sep/IRENA_Renewable_Shipping_Sep_2019.pdf.
- 38 CAT, op. cit. note 4.
- 39 Safety4Sea (2019), "Biofuel test programme successfully concluded on CMA CGM vessels", 28 November, https://safety4sea.com/biofuel-test-programme-success-fully-concluded-on-cma-cgm-vessels.
- 40 F. Normani (2020), "Ammonia as a green shipping fuel: The Viking Energy Project", AZO Cleantech, 27 May, https://www.azocleantech.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=1092.
- 41 Y. Zhou, N. Pavlenko and D. Rutherford (2020), The Potential of Liquid Biofuels in Reducing Ship Emissions, ICCT, Washington, D.C., https://theicct.org/publications/ marine-biofuels-sept2020.
- 42 D. Englert et al. (2021), Volume 2: The Role of LNG in the Transition Toward Lowand Zero-Carbon Shipping, World Bank, Washington, D.C., https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/35437/158016.pdf.
- 43 EC, op. cit. note 28.
- 44 E. Bannon (2018), "Battery, hydrogen and ammonia-powered ships by far the most efficient wat to decarbonise the sector – analysis", Transport and Environment, 15 November, https://www.transportenvironment.org/press/battery-hydrogen-and-ammonia-powered-ships-far-most-efficient-way-decarbonise-sector-%E2%80%93.
- 45 T. Haahr (2020), "Shipping industry must contribute to climate neutrality, says MEPs", European Parliament News, 7 July, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/ en/press-room/20200703IPR82633/shipping-industry-must-contribute-to-climate-neutrality-say-meps; Hellenic Shipping News (2020), "The implementation of EU ETS system in International Maritime Transport Challenges & Prospects", 27 October, https://www.hellenicshippingnews.com/the-implementation-of-eu-ets-system-in-international-maritime-transport-challenges-prospects.
- 46 Haahr, op. cit. note 45.
- 47 German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (2020), The National Hydrogen Strategy, Berlin, https://www.bmbf.de/files/bmwi_Nationale%20Wasser stoffstrategie_Eng_s01.pdf.
- 48 UNCTAD, op. cit. note 11.
- 49 CAT, op. cit. note 4.
- 50 EC. op. cit. note 28.
- 51 S. Morgan (2020), "Norway's green hydrogen ship granted €8m in EU funding", EURACTIV, 27 October, https://www.euractiv.com/section/shipping/news/norways-green-hydrogen-ship-granted-e8m-in-eu-funding.
- 52 S. Morgan (2020), Denmark's e-ferry passes sea trials in style", EURACTIV, 22 June, https://www.euractiv.com/section/shipping/news/denmarks-e-ferry-passes-seatrials-in-style.
- 53 I. Filks (2019), "Batteries included: Sweden's emissions-free ferries lead the charge", Reuters, 14 March, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-denmark-battery-ferry/batteries-included-swedens-emissions-free-ferries-lead-the-chargeidUSKCN1QV1W7.
- 54 Havyard (2019), "Ferry in Estonia upgraded to battery-hybrid by Norweigian Electric System", 21 August, https://www.havyard.com/news/2019/ferry-in-estonia-upgraded-to-battery-hybrid-by-norwegian-electric-system.
- 55 Bouman et al., op. cit. note 36.
- 56 Ibid.
- 57 Figure 3 from Ibid.
- 58 Friends of Ocean Action, "Fast-tracking solutions for a healthy ocean", World Economic Forum, https://www.weforum.org/friends-of-ocean-action (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 59 Ibid.
- 60 Global Maritime Forum, "Getting to Zero Coalition", https://www.globalmaritimeforum.org/getting-to-zero-coalition (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 61 Global Maritime Forum, *Getting to Zero Coalition*, Ambition statement, Global Maritime Forum, Friends of Ocean Actions and World Economic Forum, https://

www.globalmaritimeforum.org/content/2019/09/Getting-to-Zero-Coalition_Ambiion-statement_230919.pdf.

- 62 High Ambition Coalition, "About", https://www.highambitioncoalition.org/work (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 63 Ibid.
- 64 Doherty, op. cit. note 35; Micronesian Center for Sustainable Transport, "Current projects", https://mcst-rmiusp.org/index.php/projects/current-projects/pacific-blue-shipping-partnership (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 65 Sea Cargo Charter, "About", https://www.seacargocharter.org (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 66 F. Abbasov, "Shipping and the environment", Transport and Environment, https:// www.transportenvironment.org/what-we-do/shipping-and-environment_(accessed 1 June 2021); Clean Shipping Coalition, http://www.cleanshipping.org (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 67 A. Kedzierski and A. O'Leary (2012), Energy Efficiency of Ships: What Are We Talking About? Transport and Environment, Brussels, p. 3, https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/files/publications/2012_12_Ship_efficiency_briefing. pdf; UNCTAD, "Container port throughput, annual", UNCTADStat, https://unctadstat.unctad.org/wds/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=13321 (accessed 1 June 2021); UNCTAD, "Merchant fleet by flag of registration and by type of ship, annual", UNCTADStat, https://unctadstat.unctad.org/wds/TableViewer/tableView. aspx?ReportId=93 (accessed 1 June 2021).
- 68 Norwegian Government (2019), The Government's Action Plan for Green Shipping, Oslo, https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/00f527e95d-0c4dfd88db637f96ffe8b8/the-governments-action-plan-for-green-shipping.pdf.
- 69 M. Darby (2019), "Swedish shipping industry prepares to go fossil-free by 2045", Climate Home News, 2 December, https://www.climatechangenews. com/2019/02/12/swedish-shipping-industry-prepares-go-fossil-free-2045.
- 70 C. B. Arias (2018), "A.P. Moller Maersk aims at having carbon neutral vessels commercially viable by 2030 and calls for strong industry involvement", Maersk, 4 December, https://www.maersk.com/news/articles/2018/12/04/maersk-sets-netzero-co2-emission-target-by-2050.
- 71 S. Morgan (2020), "World's first 'carbon-capture at sea' set for shipping trials", EURACTIV, 2 September, https://www.euractiv.com/section/shipping/news/ worlds-first-carbon-capture-at-sea-set-for-shipping-trials.
- 72 T. Pedersen (2020), "MISC, Samsung Heavy, Lloyd's Register and MAN partner to develop ammonia-fueled tanker", Green Car Congress, 23 January, https://www. greencarcongress.com/2020/01/20200117-nh3.html.
- 73 EC, op. cit. note 28.
- 74 Hellenic Shipping News (2020), "Nigeria: Transformation of eastern ports", 1 April, https://www.hellenicshippingnews.com/nigeria-transformation-of-eastern-ports.
- 75 Port Houston (2019), "Port commission approves move on renewable energy", Houston, https://porthouston.com/wp-content/uploads/Port_Commission_October_Press_Release_revised_Roger_en-002.pdf.
- 76 Asian Development Bank (2019), Pacific Transport Update 2019, Manila, https:// www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/543681/pacific-transport-2019.pdf.

Section 4. Financing Climate Action In Transport

- Oxford Economics (2017), Global Infrastructure Outlook, Global Infrastructure Hub, https://cdn.gihub.org/outlook/live/methodology/Global+Infrastructure+Out look+-+July+2017.pdf.
- 2 Ibid.
- 2 Ibid.
 3 Ibid.
- S IDIU.
- 4 Global Infrastructure Hub, "Global Infrastructure Outlook", https://outlook.gihub. org (accessed 20 May 2021).
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 International Transport Forum (ITF), "ITF Transport Statistics", Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) iLibrary, https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/finance-and-investment/data/itf-transport-statistics/transport-infrastruc ture-investment-and-maintenance_g2g55573-en (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 7 Figure 1 from Ibid.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 Ibid.
- D. Briginshaw (2020), "Serbia 2025 programme includes €3.5bn for rail", International Railway Journal, 5 February, https://www.railjournal.com/infrastructure/ serbia-2025-programme-includes-e3-5bn-for-rail.
- 11 L. Mofor (2019), "Africa has a \$100 billion infrastructure problem. What's missing?" Brink News, 20 March, https://www.brinknews.com/africa-has-a-100-billion-infrastructure-problem-whats-missing.
- 12 T. Serebrisky et al. (2018), Lifting the Veil on Infrastructure Investment Data in Latin America and the Caribbean, Inter-American Development Bank, Washington, D.C., https://publications.iadb.org/publications/english/document/Lifting-the-Veil-on-Infrastructure-Investment-Data-in-Latin-America-and-the-Caribbean.pdf.
- 13 Development Bank of Latin America (CAF), Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, and Inter-American Development Bank (2021), "Infralatam: Data on public investment in economic infrastructure in Latin America and the

Caribbean", http://www.infralatam.info/en/home (accessed 20 May 2021).

- 14 Figure 2 from International Energy Agency (IEA) (2020), "Global Investment in energy efficiency by sector, 2014-2019", 26 May, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/global-investment-in-energy-efficiency-by-sector-2014-2019.
- 15 IEA (2020), World Energy Investment 2020, Paris, https://www.iea.org/reports/ world-energy-investment-2020.
- 16 Figure 3 from IEA (2020), "Employment multipliers for investment in the transport sector", 17 June, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/employment-multipliers-for-investment-in-the-transport-sector.
- 17 International Finance Corporation (2021), A Green Reboot for Emerging Markets: Key Sectors for Post-COVID Sustainable Growth, Washington, D.C., https://www.ifc org/wps/wcm/connect/26f79a1b-c191-494b-b2d9-c891e138bb37/IFC_GreenReport_FINAL_web.pdf.
- 18 C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group (2020), Technical Report: The Case for a Green and Just Recovery, London, https://c40.my.salesforce.com/sfc/p/#36000001Enhz/a/1Q000000gRCH/240gSbRwj1hZ305yJbyPMZJQKhXX-WNYE8k8sr2ADsi8.
- 19 Figure 4 estimates based on A. Bhattacharya, J. Oppenheim and N. Stern (2015), Driving Sustainable Development Through Better Infrastructure: Key Elements of a Transformation Program, Brookings Institution, Washington, D.C., https://www. brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/07-sustainable-development-infrastructure-v2.pdf.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 Ibid.
- 22 Coalition for Urban Transitions (2019), *Climate Emergency, Urban Opportunity,* World Resources Institute (WRI) Ross Center for Sustainable Cities and C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group, London and Washington, D.C., https://urbantransitions. global/urban-opportunity.
- 23 Global Infrastructure Hub, "Transport", https://www.gihub.org/sectors/transport (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 24 OECD (2017), Investing in Climate, Investing in Growth, Paris, https://doi. org/10.1787/9789264273528-en.
- 25 Ibid.
- 26 Global Infrastructure Hub, op. cit. note 4.
- 27 Ibid.
- 28 International Road Assessment Programme, "3 star or better", https://irap.org/3star-or-better (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 29 High Volume Transport (2021), Value Walking, Priorities for Valuing and Investing in African Cities.
- 30 Word Bank (2020), "Rural Access Index", 23 April, https://datacatalog.worldbank. org/dataset/rural-access-index-rai.
- 31 K. Alexopoulos and L. Wyrowski (2017), Transport Trends and Economics 2016-2017: Innovative Ways for Financing Transport Infrastructure, United Nations, New York and Geneva, https://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/trans/main/wp5/publications/ECE_TRANS_264_E_Web_Optimized.pdf.
- 32 OECD, "OECD work on mobilising private investment in sustainable transport infrastructure", https://www.oecd.org/env/cc/financing-transport-brochure.pdf (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 33 Box 1 from Global Infrastructure Hub, op. cit. note 4, and from S. Baker (2020), "Global ESG-data driven assets hit \$40.5 trillion", Pensions and Investments, 2 July, https://www.pionline.com/esg/global-esg-data-driven-assets-hit-405-trillion
- 34 M. Siemiatycki, "Pension Fund Investors in Transport Infrastructure: Opportunities and Barriers", Universitat de Barcelona, http://www.ub.edu/graap/Workshop%20 2013/Matti%20Siemiatycki.pdf
- 35 A. Barnard (2020), "New York's \$226 billion pension fund is dropping fossil fuel stocks", New York Times, 9 December, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/12/09/nyregion/new-york-pension-fossil-fuels.html.

- 37 Siemiatycki, op. cit. note 34; R. Della Croce, C. Kaminker and F. Stewart (2011), The Role of Pension Funds in Financing Green Growth Initiatives, OECD, Paris, http:// www.oecd.org/finance/private-pensions/49016671.pdf.
- 38 F. Rudolph and S. Werland (2019), Public Procurement of Sustainable Urban Mobility Measures, European Commission, Brussels, https://www.eltis.org/sites/default/ files/public_procurement_of_sustainable_urban_mobility_measures.pdf.
- 39 P. Defranceschi (2016), CIVITAS Guide: Procuring Sustainable Mobility Solutions, CIVITAS Initiative, https://civitas.eu/sites/default/files/civitas-capital-procurement-guide-www_0.pdf.
- 40 L. Germán and A. E. Bernstein (2018), Land Value Capture Tools to Finance Our Urban Future, Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, Cambridge, https://www.lincolninst. edu/sites/default/files/pubfiles/land-value-capture-policy-brief.pdf.
- 41 World Bank (2020), "How to develop a national green taxonomy for emerging markets - a new World Bank Guide", 13 July, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news. press-release/2020/07/12/how-to-develop-a-national-green-taxonomy-for-emerging-markets-a-new-world-bank-guide.
- 42 Ibid.
- 43 Reed Smith (2020), "EU Taxonomy Regulation the environmental finance classification framework moves forward", 25 June, https://www.reedsmith.com/en/ perspectives/2020/06/eu-taxonomy-regulation.

³⁶ Ibid.
- 44 K. Abnett and S. Jessop (2020), "Analysis: Tested by taxonomy EU green finance rules leaky ships, tight for houses", *Reuters*, 23 November, https://www.reuters. com/article/us-europe-regulations-sustainable-analys/analysis-tested-by-taxonomy-eu-green-finance-rules-leaky-for-ships-tight-for-houses-idUSKBN2832QU.
- 45 OECD, "Infrastructure finance by bilateral and multilateral development partners", http://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-topics/infrastructure-finance.htm (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 46 OECD (2013), "Glossary of statistical terms", 11 June, https://stats.oecd.org/ glossary/detail.asp?ID=1893; OECD, "ODF for infrastructure at a glance by donor", Tableau, https://public.tableau.com/views/infrastructure_6/bydonor?:embed=y&:dlsplay_count=yes&publish=yes&:toolbar=no?&:showVizHome=no#1 (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 47 OECD, op. cit. note 45.
- 48 OECD (2018), Enhancing Connectivity Through Transport Infrastructure: The Role of Official Development Finance and Private Investment, The Development Dimension, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264304505-en.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 Ibid.
- 51 Ibid
- 52 Figure 5 from OECD (2021), "Query Wizard for International Development Statistics", https://stats.oecd.org/gwids.
- 53 SLOCAT Partnership for Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport (2021), "Multilateral Development Banks work on sustainable transport", https://slocat.net/mdb-sustainable-transport
- 54 Ibid.
- 55 Figure 6 from African Development Bank et al. (2019), Progress Report (2016-2018) of the MDB Working Group on Sustainable Transport, https://www.eib.org/ attachments/mdbs-report-on-sustainable-transport.pdf.
- 56 European Investment Bank (EIB) (2020), Transport Overview 2020, Luxembourg, https://www.eib.org/attachments/thematic/transport_overview_2020_en.pdf.
- 57 Asian Development Bank (2019), "ADB's transport investments in Pacific projected at over \$1 billion for 2017-2020", 12 December, https://www.adb.org/news/ adbs-transport-investments-pacific-projected-over-1-billion-2017-2020.
- 58 European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) (2020), "MDB climate finance 2019 key figures", www.ebrd.com/2019-joint-report-on-mdbs-climate-finance-infographic.
- 59 EBRD (2020), 2019 Joint Report on Multilateral Development Banks' Climate Finance, London, https://www.ebrd.com/2019-joint-report-on-mdbs-climate-finan
- 60 Ibid.
- 61 EIB (2019), "EU Bank launches ambitious new climate strategy and energy lending policy", 14 November, https://www.eib.org/en/press/all/2019-313-eu-bank-launches-ambitious-new-climate-strategy-and-energy-lending-policy.
- 62 C. Farand (2020), "Asian multilateral bank promises to end coal-related financing", Climate Home News, 9 November, https://www.climatechangenews com/2020/09/11/asian-multilateral-bank-promises-end-coal-related-financing.
- 63 Ibid.
- 64 V. Bennett (2019), "EBRD's new Transport Strategy promotes sustainable and well-connected systems", EBRD, 1 November, https://www.ebrd.com/news/2019/ ebrds-new-transport-strategy-promotes-sustainable-and-wellconnected-systems. html.
- 65 Islamic Development Bank (2020), 2020-2050 Climate Action Plan, Jeddah, https://www.isdb.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/2020-07/IsDB_Climate Action_Plan_2020%20-%202025%5B12%5D.pdf.
- 66 SLOCAT (2021), "Transport Knowledge Base", https://slocat.net/our-work/knowledge-and-research/trakb.
- 67 Figure 7 from various sources compiled in Ibid.
- 68 Green Climate Fund, "Project portfolio", https://www.greenclimate.fund/projects (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 69 Green Climate Fund, "FP085 Green BRT Karachi", https://www.greenclimate.fund/ project/fp085 (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 70 International Climate Initiative (IKI), "Projects", https://www.international-climate-initiative.com/en/projects (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 71 NAMA Facility (2020), "Cabo Verde Promotion of Electric Mobility", https://www. nama-facility.org/projects/cabo-verde-promotion-of-electric-mobility (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 72 Nordic Development Fund (2018), "National Road 13 North Lao PDR [NDF C110]", https://www.ndf.fi/project/national-road-13-north-lao-pdr-ndf-c110.
- 73 City Climate Finance Gap Fund, "Turn resilient low-carbon ideas into strategies and finance-ready projects", https://www.citygapfund.org (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 74 Climate Bonds Initiative (2015), 2015 Green Bond Roundup Market, London, https://www.climatebonds.net/files/files/2015%20GB%20Market%20Roundup%20 03A.pdf; Climate Bonds Initiative (2018), Green Bond Highlights 2017, London, https://www.climatebonds.net/files/reports/cbi-green-bonds-highlights-2017. pdf; Climate Bonds Initiative (2020), Green Bonds Global State of the Market 2019, London, https://www.climatebonds.net/system/idf/reports/cbi_sotm_2019_ vol1_04c_0.pdf?file=16type=node&id=47577&force=0.
- 75 Figure 8 from Ibid., all references.

- 76 B. K. Buchner et al. (2015), The Global Landscape of Climate Finance 2015, Climate Policy Initiative, http://climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/ Global-Landscape-of-Climate-Finance-2015.pdf.
- 77 Climate Bonds Initiative (2020), 2019 Green Bond Market Summary, London, climatebonds.net/files/reports/2019_annual_highlights-final.pdf.
- 78 L. Jones (2020), "Update V2.0 of Climate Bonds Low Carbon Transport Criteria released to market: New stage in green transport development", Climate Bonds Initiative, 1 December, https://www.climatebonds.net/2020/12/update-v20-climate-bonds-low-carbon-transport-criteria-released-market-new-stage-green.
- 79 Ibid.
- 80 Ibid.
- 81 Ibid.
- 82 Ibid.
- 83 Ibid.
- 84 OECD, op. cit. note 32.
- 85 World Bank, "Carbon Pricing Dashboard", https://carbonpricingdashboard.worldbank.org/map_data (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 86 Ibid.
- 87 World Bank (2020), State and Trends of Carbon Pricing 2020, Washington, D.C., https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/33809.
- 88 C. Meyer (2020), "Carbon pricing not going anywhere, Trudeau says", National Observer, 31 March, https://www.nationalobserver.com/2020/03/31/news/carbon pricing-not-going-anywhere-trudeau-says; Government of Canada (2020), "Fuel charge rates", 31 March, https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/ forms-publications/publications/fcrates/fuel-charge-rates.html.
- 89 World Bank, op. cit. note 87.
- 90 European Commission (2019), European Green Deal, Brussels, https://eur-lex. europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar.b828d165-1c22-11ea-8c1f-01aa75ed71a1.0002.02/DOC_1&format=PDF.
- 91 International Carbon Action Partnership (2021), "China National ETS", https:// icapcarbonaction.com/en/?option=com_etsmap&task=export&format=pdf&layout=list&systems%5B%5D=55.
- 92 Carbon Market Watch (2019), "Carbon taxes globally too low to address the climate crisis - OECD", 25 October, https://carbonmarketwatch.org/2019/10/25/ carbon-taxes-globally-too-low-to-address-the-climate-crisis-oecd.
- 93 SLOCAT (2018), Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report 2018, https:// slocat.net/tcc-gsr.
- 94 P. Erickson et al. (2020), "Why fossil fuel producer subsidies matter", Nature, Vol. 578/7793, Nature Research, pp. E1-E4, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1920-x.
- 95 D. Coady et al. (2019), Global Fossil Fuel Subsidies Remain Large: An Update Based on Country-Level Estimates, IMF, Washington, D.C., https://www.imf.org/en/ Publications/WP/Issues/2019/05/02/Global-Fossil-Fuel-Subsidies-Remain-Large-An-Update-Based-on-Country-Level-Estimates-46509.
- 96 Ibid.
- 97 Ibid.
- 98 Ibid.
- 99 Coalition for Urban Transitions, op. cit. note 22.
- 100 Figure 9 from IEA, "Energy subsidies", https://www.iea.org/topics/energy-subsidies (accessed 17 May 2021).
- International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) (2020), "G20 backtracks on fossil fuel funding phase-out in COVID-19 recovery", 9 November, https://www Box 2 from the following sources: M. Andrijevic et al. (2020), "COVID-19 recovery funds dwarf clean energy investment needs", Science, Vol. 370/6514, American Association for the Advancement of Science, pp. 298-300, http 14/298; B. O'Callaghan (2020), Global Recovery Observatory, Oxford University Recovery Project, http:// x.ac.uk/tracking; Vivid Economics (2021), Greenness of Stimulus Index, 9 February, https://www.vivideconomics.com/wp-content/uploads nulus-Index-5th-Edition-FINAL-VERSION-09.02.21.pdf; Figure 11 from T. Fried, B. Welle, and S. Avelleda (2021), Steering a Green, Healthy, and Inclusive Recovery Through Transport, WRI, Washington, D.C.; China from S. Evans and J. Gabbatiss (2020), "Coronavirus: Tracking how the world's 'green recovery' plans aim to cut emissions", CarbonBrief, 16 June, https://www.carbonbrief.org/c ery-plans-aim-to-cut-emissions; Europe from Euro pean Commission, "Recovery plan for Europe", https://ec.europa.eu ery-plan-europe_en (accessed 17 May 2021), and from OECD (2020), Making the Green Recovery Work for Jobs, Income and Growth, https://read.oecd-ilibra Jobs-Income-and-Growth; IISD (2020), "Green stimulus for Finland's transport sector", 15 June, https://www.iisd.org/sustainable lus-for-finlands-transport-sector; France from Evans and Gabbatiss, op. cit. this note: German Federal Ministry of Finance (2020), "Public finances", 4 June, https:// nances/Articles/2020-06-04-fiscal-package.html; K. O'Sullivan (2020), "Urban transport could be transformed in 6 months under stimulus plan, Ryan says", Irish Times, 24 July, https://www.irishtimes.com/news/politics/urban-trans d-in-6-months-under-stimulus-plan-ryan-says-1.4312838; Italy from S. Wappelhorst (2020), "Economic recovery packages in response to COVID-19:

Another push for electric vehicles in Europe?" International Council on Clean Transportation, 3 August, https://theicct.org/blog/staff/economic-recovery-covid-19-ev-europe-aug2020; Railway Technology (2020), "New Zealand allocates \$717m to boost railway infrastructure", 15 May, https://www.railway-technology. com/news/new-zealand-allocates-717m-to-boost-railway-infrastructure; Republic of Korea from OECD (2020), op. cit. this note; Spain from Evans and Gabbatiss, op. cit. this note; UK Department for Transport (2020), "Active travel fund: Local transport authority allocations", 13 November, https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/emergency-active-travel-fund-local-transport-authority-allocations; The White House (2021), "Fact Sheet: The American Jobs Plan, Briefing Room", 31 March, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/03/31/fact-sheet-the-american-jobs-plan; C40 Cities (2020), "Mayors of 12 major cities commit to divest from fossil fuel companies, invest in green and just recovery from COVID-19 crisis", 22 September, https://www.e40.org/press_releases/cities-commit-divest-invest_S-J. Kim et al. (2020), "City policy responses", OECD, 23 July, https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/view/?ref=126_126769-yen45847kf6title=Coronavirus-COVID-19-Cities-Policy-Responses.

- 102 Sustainable Development Solutions Network, "Targets", https://indicators.report/ targets/12-c (accessed 17 May 2021).
- 103 Coady et al., op. cit. note 95.
- 104 Figure 10 from L. Merrill and N. Quintas (2019), "One step forward, two steps back: Fossil fuel subsidies and reform on the rise", IISD, 23 May, https://www.lisd.org/gsi/ subsidy-watch-blog/fossil-fuel-subsidies-and-reform-on-the-rise.
- 105 Ibid.
- 106 B. Udo (2020), "Fuel subsidy gone forever in Nigeria NNPC GMD", Premium Times, 7 April, https://www.premiumtimesng.com/news/headlines/386370-fuel-subsidy-gone-forever-in-nigeria-nnpc-gmd.html.
- 107 Merrill and Quintas, op. cit. note 104.
- 108 F. Funke and L. Merrill (2019), "How reforming fossil fuel subsidies can go wrong: A lesson from Ecuador", IISD, 24 October, https://www.iisd.org/gsi/subsidy-watch-blog/how-reforming-fossil-fuel-subsidies-can-go-wrong-lesson-ecuador.
- 109 Ibid.
- 110 Merrill and Quintas, op. cit. note 104.
- 111 EIB (2020), EIB Group Climate Bank Roadmap 2021-2025, Luxembourg, https:// www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/eib_group_climate_bank_roadmap_en.pdf
- 112 S. Jessop, K. Abnett and M. Green (2020), "U.N. chief 'encouraged' by development bank climate pledge, urges more", *Reuters*, 12 November, https://www. reuters.com/article/us-climate-change-united-nations-idUSKBN27S2OA.

Focus Feature 1 | Impact of COVID 19 on Travel Behaviour

- J. J. V. Bavel et al. (2020), "Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response," *Nature Human Behaviour*, Nature Research, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0884-z.
- 2 B. Sutrisno (2020), "Public transportation use in Greater Jakarta plummets during COVID-19 pandemic: BPTJ", Jakarta Post, 20 April, https://www.thejakartapost. com/news/2020/04/20/public-transportation-use-in-greater-jakarta-plummetsduring-covid-19-pandemic-bptj.html (accessed 23 June 2021).
- 3 G. Serafini et al. (2020), "The psychological impact of COVID-19 on the mental health in the general population," *QJM*, Oxford University Press, https://doi. org/10.1093/qjmed/hcaa201.
- 4 B. Charoenwong, A. Kwan and V. Pursiainen (2020), "Social connections with COVID-19-affected areas increase compliance with mobility restrictions," *Science Advances*, Vol. 6/47, pp. 3054–3072, American Association for the Advancement of Science, https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abc3054.
- 5 L. Laskowski-Jones (2020), "COVID-19 and changing social norms," Nursing management, Vol. 51/6, p. 5, NLM (Medline), https://doi.org/10.1097/01. NUMA.0000662692.59015.98.
- 6 L. Laskowski-Jones (2020), "COVID-19 and changing social norms," Nursing management, Vol. 51/6, p. 5, NLM (Medline), https://doi.org/10.1097/01 NUMA.0000662692.59015.98.
- 7 M. Abdullah et al. (2020), "Exploring the impacts of COVID-19 on travel behavior and mode preferences," *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, Vol. 8, p. 100255, Elsevier Ltd, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2020.100255.
- 8 G. Polakovic (2020), "To manage COVID-19 stress, develop healthy new habits and consume news in moderation", USC News, 31 March, https://news.usc. edu/167512/covid-19-stress-coping-healthy-habits-usc-social-science-experts/ (accessed 23 June 2021).
- 9 United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA)(2020), World Social Report 2020: Inequality in a Rapidly Changing World, United Nations, Geneva, https://www.un.org/development/desa/dspd/wp-content/uploads/ sites/22/2020/01/World-Social-Report-2020-FullReport.pdf
- 10 L.C. Rubiano and G. Darido (2020), "Protecting public transport from the coronavirus...and from financial collapse", World Bank Blogs, 24 April, https://blogs.worldbank.org/transport/protecting-public-transport-coronavirus-and-financial-collapse (accessed 23 June 2021).
- 11 Union Cycliste Internationale (2020), "Pop-up bike lanes: a rapidly growing trans-

port solution prompted by coronavirus pandemic", 4 June, https://www.uci.org/ news/2020/pop-up-bike-lanes-a-rapidly-growing-transport-solution-prompted-by coronavirus-pandemic (accessed 23 June 2021).

12 R. Steiner (2021), "Pandemic-stricken mass transit would get \$85 billion in Biden stimulus plan - a down payment on reviving American cities", The Conversation, 21 May, https://theconversation.com/pandemic-stricken-mass-transit-wouldget-85-billion-in-biden-stimulus-plan-a-down-payment-on-reviving-american-cities-158589 (accessed 23 June 2021).

Focus Feature 2 | Addressing Climate Change and Improving Access to Opportunities

- 1 World Resources Center (2019), "RELEASE: New Research Finds Growing Traffic and Lack of Transport Options Leave Many Without Access to Urban Opportunities", 23 May, https://www.wri.org/news/release-new-research-finds-growing-traffic-and-lack-transport-options-leave-many-without (accessed 21 June 2021).
- 2 C. Venter, A. Mahendra and D. Hidalgo (2019), From Mobility to Access for All: Expanding Urban Transportation Choices in the Global South, World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C., https://files.wri.org/s3fs-public/from-mobility-to-access for-all pdf
- 3 Ibid.
- 4 Ibid.
- 5 M. A. Replogle and L. M. Fulton (2014), A Global High Shift Scenario: Impacts and Potential for More Public Transport, Walking, and Cycling With Lower Car Use, Institute for Transportation and Development Policy and University of California at Davis, New York and Davis, https://itdpdotorg.wpengine.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/A-Global-High-Shift-Scenario_WEB.pdf.
- 6 World Bank (n.d.), "Rural Access Index (RAI)", https://datacatalog.worldbank.org/ dataset/rural-access-index-rai (accessed 21 June 2021).
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Ibid.

Focus Feature 3 | Adaptation Policy Measures in the Transport Sector

- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (2012), Slow Onset Events, Technical paper, Bonn, https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2012/tp/07.pdf;
 C. B. Field et al., eds. (2012), Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation: Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge and New York, https://www.ipcc.ch/ report/managing-the-risks-of-extreme-events-and-disasters-to-advance-climatechange-adaptation.
- 2 World Association for Waterborne Transport Infrastructure (PIANC) (2020), Climate Change Adaptation Planning for Ports and Inland Waterways, Report of EnviCom Technical Working Group 178, PIANC Secrétariat Général, Brussels, https://www. pianc.org/publications/envicom/wg178; T. F. Stocker et al., eds., (2013), Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge and New York, https://www.ipcc.ch/ report/ar5/wg1.
- 3 L. L. W. Field et al., eds. (2014), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge and New York, https://www.ipcc.ch/ report/ar6/wg2.

Focus Feature 4 | Gender and Sustainable Mobility

- I. Kawgan-Kagan. (2020), "Are women greener than men? A preference analysis of women and men from major German cities over sustainable urban mobility," Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives, Vol. 8, p. 100236, Elsevier Ltd, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2020.100236.
- 2 C40 (2019), Gender Inclusive Climate Actions in Cities: How Women's Leadership and Expertise Can Shape Sustainable and Inclusive Cities, London, https://w4c. org/sites/default/files/2019-02/W4C_REPORT_Gender%20Inclusive%20Climate%20Action%20in%20Cities_BD.pdf.
- 3 International Transport Forum (2018), Women's Safety and Security: A Public Transport Priority, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/ files/docs/womens-safety-security_0.pdf.
- 4 C. Miralles-Guasch, M. M. Melo and O. Marquet (2016), "A gender analysis of everyday mobility in urban and rural territories: From challenges to sustainability," Gender, Place and Culture, Vol. 23/3, pp. 398-417, Routledge, https://doi.org/10.10 80/0966369X.2015.1013448.
- 5 S. Tobin (2017), "Gender equality: What causes gender gaps in the labour market?" International Labour Organization, August 1, https://www.ilo.org/global/ about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS_566891/lang_en/index.html.
- 6 UN Women (2019), "UN Commission on the Status of Women delivers roadmap

on ensuring women's social protection, mobility, safety, and access to economic opportunities," March 22, https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2019/3/ press-release-csw-63-delivers-roadmap-on-ensuring-womens-social-protection,

- 7 A. M. Golla et al. (2018), Understanding & Measuring Women's Economic Empowerment: Definition, Framework & Indicators, International Center for Research on Women, Washington, D.C., https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/ ICRW_MeasuringWomensEconomicEmpowerment_v4_WebReady.pdf.
- 8 H. Allen and M. Alam (2019), Global Roadmap of Action Toward Sustainable Mobility: Gender, Sustainable Mobility for All, Washington, D.C., https://pubdocs. worldbank.org/en/229591571411011551/Gender-Global-Roadmap-of-Action.pdf.
- 9 UN Women (2019), "CSW 63", https://www.unwomen.org/en/csw/csw63-2019 (accessed 21 June 2021)
- 10 L. M. Gomez (2000), Gender Analysis of Two Components of the World Bank Transport Projects in Lima, Peru: Bikepaths and Busways, World Bank, Washington, D.C., http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTGENDERTRANSPORT/Resources/ handout.pdf.
- 11 R. Steinbach et al. (2011), "Cycling and the city: A case study of how gendered, ethnic and class identities can shape healthy transport choices," Social Science and Medicine, Vol. 72/7, pp. 1123-30, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. socscimed.2011.01.033.
- 12 J. Scheiner (2020), "Couples, the car, and the gendering of the life course," in T. P. Uteng, H. R. Christensen and L. Levin, Gendering Smart Mobilities, pp. 28-56, Routledge, https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429466601-3.
- 13 European Commission (2017), "Declaration on equal opportunities for women and men in the transport sector," Brussels, https://ec.europa.eu/transport/sites/ transport/files/2017-declaration-equal_opportunities_en.pdf.
- 14 United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (n.d.), "Gender and transport," https://unece.org/gender-and-transport (accessed April 14, 2021); UN Women, op. cit. note 6; Allen and Alam, op. cit. note 8; C40, op. cit. note 2.

Focus Feature 5 | Health Impacts of Transport

- C. Dora et al. (2011), "Urban transport and health," Sustainable Transport: Sourcebook for Policy Makers in Developing Cities, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH and World Health Organization (WHO), Eschborn, Germany, p. 60, https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241502443.
- 2 WHO (2019), "Global health estimates: Life expectancy and leading causes of death and disability," The Global Health Observatory, https://www.who.int/data/ gho/data/themes/mortality-and-global-health-estimates (accessed April 9, 2021).
- 3 C. Dora et al., op. cit. note 1, p. 60.
- 4 Ibid., p. 60.
- 5 J. Hosking, P. Mudu and C. Dora (2012), Health in the Green Economy: Health Co-benefits of Climate Change Mitigation – Transport Sector, World Health Organization, Geneva, https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/70913/9789241502917_eng.pdf.
- 6 Ibid.; N. Mueller et al. (2015), "Health impact assessment of active transportation: A systematic review," Preventive Medicine, Vol. 76, pp. 103-14, Academic Press Inc., https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.04.010; M. Stevenson et al. (2016), "Land use, transport, and population health: Estimating the health benefits of compact cities," The Lancet, Urban Design, Transport, and Health Series, Vol. 388/10062, pp. 2925-35, Lancet Publishing Group, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30067-8.
- 7 Stevenson et al., op. cit. note 6.
- 8 C. Brand et al. (2021), "The climate change mitigation impacts of active travel: Evidence from a longitudinal panel study in seven European cities," Global Environmental Change, Vol. 67, p. 102224, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2021.102224.

Focus Feature 6 | Paratransit as a Complement to Formal Transport Networks

- 1 SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport, "Informal transport," global Transport Knowledge Partnership, International Road Federation, https:// www.gtkp.com/themepage.php&themepgid=467 (accessed April 9, 2021).
- 2 I. Ndibatya and M. J. Booysen (2020), "Minibus taxis in Kampala's paratransit system: Operations, economics and efficiency," Journal of Transport Geography, Vol. 88, p. 102853, Elsevier Ltd, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0966692320304415.
- 3 Government of South Africa, "Transport," https://www.gov.za/about-sa/transport (accessed April 9, 2021).
- 4 Ndibatya and Booysen, op. cit. note 2.
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 S. Dumba (2017), "Informal public transport driver behaviour and regulatory policy linkage: An expose," Journal of Transport and Supply Chain Management, Vol. 11/0, AOSIS, https://doi.org/10.4102/jtscm.v11i0.315.
- 7 R. Kaenzig, D. C. Mettke and P. Mariano (2019), Reforming the (Semi-)informal

Minibus System in the Philippines: The 'Public Utility Vehicle Modernization Program' Early Route Evaluation, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH, Bonn and Eschborn, https://www.changing-transport.org/ wp-content/uploads/2019-11_GIZ_Jeepney-Modernisation_Early-Evaluation_final pdf; C. Venter, A. Mahendra and D. Hidalgo (2019), From Mobility to Access for All: Expanding Urban Transportation Choices in the Global South, World Resources Institute, Washington, DC, https://files.wri.org/s3fs-public/from-mobility-to-accessfor-all.pdf.

- 8 J. M. Klopp and C. Cavoli (2019), "Mapping minibuses in Maputo and Nairobi: engaging paratransit in transportation planning in African cities," Transport Reviews, Vol. 39/5, pp. 657-76, Routledge, https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2019.159851 3.
- 9 Ibid.; T. H. Tun et al. (2020), Informal and Semiformal Services in Latin America: An Overview of Public Transportation Reforms, Inter-American Development Bank, Washington, D.C., https://doi.org/10.18235/0002831.
- 10 Digital Matatus (2015), "The Digital Matatus Project," http://digitalmatatus.com/ about.html (accessed April 9, 2021).
- 11 V. K. Phun and Y. Tetsuo (2016), "State of the art of paratransit literatures in Asian developing countries," Asian Transport Studies, Vol. 4/1, pp. 57-77, Eastern Asia Society for Transportation Studies, https://doi.org/10.11175/eastsats.4.57; J. R. F. Regidor, K. N. Vergel and S. G. Napalang (2009), "Environment friendly paratransit: Re-engineering the jeepney," Proceedings of the Eastern Asia Society for Transportation Studies (Vol. 7), https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/eastpro/2009/0/2009_0_272/_pdf/-char/ja.
- 12 Ndibatya and Booysen, op. cit. note 2.
- 13 A. Ardila-Gomez and A. Ortegon-Sanchez (2016), Sustainable Urban Transport Financing from the Sidewalk to the Subway: Capital, Operations, and Maintenance Financing, World Bank, Washington, D.C., https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0756-5.
- 14 R. Á. Fernández (2019), "Method for assessing the environmental benefit of road transport electrification and its influence on greenhouse gas inventories," Journal of Cleaner Production, Vol. 218, pp. 476-85, Elsevier Ltd, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2019.01.269.
- 15 Ibid.

Focus Feature 7 | Multi-stakeholder Mobilisation for Climate Action in Transport

- Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (TUMI), "Climate-friendly Transport Initiative (ACT)", https://www.transformative-mobility.org/campaigns/climate-friendly-transport-initiative-act (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 2 Changing Transport, "TraCS", https://www.changing-transport.org/project/tracs (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 3 International Transport Forum, "Decarbonising Transport initiative", https://www. itf-oecd.org/decarbonising-transport (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 4 Institute for Transportation and Development Policy, "About us", https://www.itdp. org/about (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 5 Changing Transport, "MobiliseYourCity Partnership", https://www.changing-transport.org/project/mobiliseyourcity-partnership (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 6 Ibid.
- 7 C. Huizenga and K. Peet, "Transport and climate change: How nationally determined contributions can accelerate transport decarbonization", NDC Partnership, https://ndcpartnership.org/transport-and-climate-change-how-nationally-determined-contributions-can-accelerate-transport (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 8 New Urban Mobility Alliance, https://www.numo.global (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 9 Safetipin, https://safetipin.com (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 10 SOLUTIONSplus, "The SOLUTIONSplus Project", http://www.solutionsplus.eu (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 11 TUMI, "About", https://www.transformative-mobility.org/about (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 12 International Association of Public Transport (UITP), "UITP Academy", https://www. uitp.org/uitp-academy (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 13 Ibid.
- 14 J. Walker (2021), "The Africa Network for Walking and Cycling", Walk21, 25 April, https://www.walk21.com/single-post/the-africa-network-for-walking-and-cycling.
- 15 AMEND, "About AMEND", https://www.amend.org/about-amend (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 16 AMEND, "Our work", https://www.amend.org/our-work (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 17 Digital Transport for Africa, https://digitaltransport4africa.org (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 18 First African Bicycle Information Organization, "About us", https://fabio.or.ug/about (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 19 Sustainable Transport Africa, "About us", https://sustainabletransportafrica.co.ke/ site/about-us (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 20 AIP Foundation, "About us", https://www.aip-foundation.org/who-we-are/about-us (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 21 SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport, "Asian Transport

Outlook", https://slocat.net/ato (accessed 16 June 2021).

- 22 Clean Air Asia, "Air Quality and Climate", https://cleanairasia.org/our-work/ aqcc-program (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 23 Changing Transport, "NDC Transport Initiative for Asia", https://www.changing-transport.org/project/ndc-tia (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 24 Changing Transport, "EUROCLIMA+", https://www.changing-transport.org/project/euroclima (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 25 Movilidad Eléctrica Latinoamerica y el Caribe (MOVE) (2019), "La sociedad civil latinoamericana define hoja de ruta para acelerar la movilidad sostenible en la región", United Nations Environment Programme, 19 February, https://movelatam. org/la-sociedad-civil-latinoamericana-define-hoja-de-ruta-para-acelerar-la-movilidad-sostenible-en-la-region.
- 26 MOVE, https://movelatam.org (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 27 Mujeres en Movimiento, "Why?" https://mujeresenmovimiento.net/por-que (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 28 C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group, International Council on Clean Transportation and Dalberg Medellin (2020), "Accelerating a market transition in Latin America: New business models for electric bus deployment", https://www.c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/Accelerating-a-market-transition-in-Latin-America-New-business-models-for-electric-bus-deployment (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 29 C40 Cities, "About C40", https://www.c40.org/about (accessed 16 June 2021); C40 Cities, "Programmes", https://www.c40.org/programmes (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 30 ICLEI-Local Governments for Sustainability, "EcoLogistics", https://iclei.org/en/ EcoLogistics.html (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 31 ICLEI, "EcoMobility Alliance", https://iclei.org/en/EcoMobility_Alliance.html (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 32 Child Health Initiative, "Our mission", https://www.childhealthinitiative.org/about/ our-mission (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 33 HealthBridge, "Projects: Livable Cities", https://healthbridge.ca/projects/category/ livable-cities (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 34 Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century (REN21), "Who we are", https://www.ren21.net/about-us/who-we-are (accessed 16 June 2021); REN21 (2020), "Decarbonising the transport sector with renewables requires urgent

action", 18 November, https://www.ren21.net/decarbonise-transport-sector-2020.

- 35 Michelin, "The Movin'On Ecosystem", https://www.michelin.com/en/sustainable-development-mobility/sustainable-mobility/movinon-ecosystem (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 36 Climate Group, "Climate Group EV100", https://www.theclimategroup.org/ev100 (accessed 16 June 2021).
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 Transport Decarbonisation Alliance, http://tda-mobility.org (accessed 16 June 2021).

Annex: Methodological Note

- M. Crippa et al. (2020), Fossil CO2 Emissions of All World Countries, JRC Science for Policy Report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https:// ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/fossil-co2-emissions-all-world-countries-2020-report.
- 2 US Energy Information Administration (2020), "Energy and the environment explained: Greenhouse gases," https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/energy-and-the-environment/greenhouse-gases.php (accessed 14 April 2021).
- 3 International Organization of Motor Vehicle Manufacturers (OICA), "Definitions", https://www.oica.net/wp-content/uploads/DEFINITIONS-VEHICLE-IN-USE1.pdf (accessed 20 May 2021).
- 4 United Nations Statistics Division, "Standard country or area codes for statistical use (M49)", https://unstats.un.org/unsd/methodology/m49 (accessed 20 May 2021).
- 5 World Bank (2021), "World Bank Country and Lending Groups", https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519 (accessed 20 May 2021).
- 6 United Nations (2019), "World Population Prospects 2019", https://population. un.org/wpp (accessed 20 May 2021); World Bank, "GDP (constant 2010 US\$)", http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD (accessed 20 May 2021).
- 7 SLOCAT (2021), "Transport Knowledge Base", https://slocat.net/our-work/knowledge-and-research/trakb (accessed 20 May 2021).

